
BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 

Tuesday, June 16, 2015 
6 PM 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) 

Public may address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in 
the meeting (this includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public 
hearings have taken place, any remaining speakers will be allowed to address Council.  
All speakers are limited to three minutes. 
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 
motion at this time. ( Roll Call vote required ) 

 
A. Consideration of a motion to approve the minutes for the January 15, 2015 Special 

Meeting  
  

B. Consideration of a motion to accept the April 14, 2015 City Council Study Session 
Summary on the financial update and potential ballot issues 

 
C. Consideration of a motion to accept the April 28, 2015 City Council Study Session 

Summary regarding the University Hill Reinvestment Strategy Update 
 
D. Consideration of a motion to accept the May 12, 2015  City Council Study Session 

Summary regarding Boulder Energy Future  
 
E. Consideration of a motion to accept the May 12, 2015 City Council Study Session 

Summary regarding the Commercial & Industrial Energy Ordinance  
 
F. Consideration of a motion to accept the May 12, 2015 City Council Study Session 

Summary regarding Resilient Boulder- Phase I summary and Phase II 
preliminary focus areas 

 
G. Consideration of a motion to move the regularly scheduled meeting of the Boulder 

City Council on July 21st to July 28, 2015  
 
H. Consideration of a motion to authorize the city manager to execute an agreement 

in the form that is generally described in the attachment to this memo related to the 
disbursement of funds associated with the “Community, Culture, and Public Safety” 
sales and use tax to fund improvements for the Boulder Historical Society’s 
Museum of Boulder located at 2205 Broadway, Boulder 

 
 

Packet Page 1



I. Consideration of a motion to approve the disposal of an interest in Open Space 
lands pursuant to Boulder City Charter Section 177 through the grant easements to 
Public Service Company of Colorado for overhead power lines along Thomas 
Lane and on the T.H.P. Open space property, as described in attachment D, 
conditioned upon Public Service Company of Colorado executing a quit claim deed in 
a form acceptable to the City terminating whatever rights and interest it may have to 
the Lower Big Bluestem power line access route 

 
J. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution No. 1161 declaring the city of  

Boulder’s official intent to participate in a future issuance of Water and Sewer 
revenue bonds and to reimburse itself for capital expenditures undertaken in 
advance of such financing made from the Water and Wastewater funds, including, 
without limitation, architectural, engineering, appraisal, surveying, acquisition, site 
preparation and other costs incidental to the commencement of construction of the 
financed project 

 
K. Third reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8045 

Amending Title 6, “Health Safety and Sanitation,” B.R.C. 1981 to add Universal 
Zero Waste Requirements 

 
L. Introduction, first reading consideration of a motion to publish by title only, and 

adopt as an emergency measure ordinance No. 8051 authorizing the issuance by 
the City of Boulder, Colorado, of its Storm Water and Flood Management 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, in the aggregate principal amount of $23,235,000 
for the purpose of providing funds to finance storm water and flood 
management improvements by the Utility and pay the costs of issuance of the 
Series 2015 Bonds; prescribing the form of said Series 2015 Bonds; providing for the 
sale of said Series 2015 Bonds; providing for the payment and redemption of said 
Series 2015 Bonds from and out of the revenues derived directly or indirectly by the 
City from the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee billed to customers of the 
City’s water and sewer systems; providing other details and approving other 
documents in connection with said Series 2015 Bonds; and declaring an emergency 
and providing the effective date hereof 

 
M. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 

only Ordinance No. 8052 setting the ballot title of an initiated amendment to the 
Boulder Charter regarding City Council compensation, and setting forth related 
details  

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN  

Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item listed under 
8-A. 

Concept Plan Review of a proposal for the expansion and renovation of an 
existing automobile sales and service facility at 2465 48th Court (Larry H. Miller 
Toyota), Case No. LUR2015-00026 

 

Packet Page 2



ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  
Note:  Any items removed from the Consent Agenda will be considered after any City 
scheduled Public Hearings. 

 
A. Consideration of a motion to adopt on second reading as an emergency measure 

and order published by title only Ordinance No. 8043 amending chapter 10-12 
“Mobile homes” adding a new section 10-12-25 “limitation on Park Owner’s 
Right to Prohibit sales,” adding a new section 10-12-26 “Limitation on the 
Required Upgrades to Existing Mobile Homes,” amending section 10-12-2 to add 
definitions, amending section 10-12-3 to make section 10-12-25 applicable to all 
mobile home parks amending section 10-12-4 to provide for administrative remedies 
and setting forth related details 
 

B. Consideration of a motion to:  
1. Accept the Boulder Civic Area Master Plan 
2.  Direct Staff to initiate discussions with Boulder Community Health regarding 
the Broadway property, pursue financing options, and conduct a more detailed 
space programming analysis using the council feedback on the Municipal Services 
location options 
3. Request Council Support on recommended action to address city office space 
needs in order to improve customer service 

 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER 

 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY 

 
A. Report of the City Attorney Regarding  February 19, 2015 Planning Board 

Meeting 
 

8. MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 
 
A. Potential Call-Ups 

Concept Plan Review of a proposal for the expansion and renovation of an existing 
automobile sales and service facility at 2465 48th Court (Larry H. Miller 
Toyota), Case No. LUR2015-00026 

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS (15 min.)  

Public comment on any motions made under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS: Action on motions made under Matters 
 

11. DEBRIEF (5 mins) Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted. 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 

Packet Page 3



This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast 
at 6 p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council 
meeting.  DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.   

 
Anyone requiring special packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded 
versions may contact the City Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday 
through Friday.  48 hours notification prior to the meeting or preparation of special materials 
IS REQUIRED.   

 
If you need Spanish interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, 
please call (303) 441-1905 at least three business days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita 
interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor 
comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 negocios días antes de la junta.  

 
Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at the time of sign up 
and will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  Electronic media 
must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical support is provided 
by staff 
 

 
 

Packet Page 4

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


THE CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Thursday, January 15, 2015 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
Mayor Appelbaum called the Special January 15, 2015 City Council meeting to
order at 5:32 PM in Council Chambers.

Those present were: Mayor Appelbaum, Council Members Cowles, Jones,
Karakehian, Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker, Weaver, and Young.

Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Weaver, to amend the
agenda by adding a motion to call a special meeting on January 22, 2015. The
motion carried 9:0 at 6:04 PM.

2. PUBLIC HEARING

A. CONCEPT PLAN REVIEW AND COMMENT 
Request for public and City Council comment on a proposal for a 
redevelopment (the Reve) located at 3000 Pearl Street; 2170, 2100 30th  
Street and 2120 32nd Place, with a mix of uses including office, retail, 
restaurant, and multi-family residential apartments.  6:05 PM 

Presentation of this item was provided by Land Use Review Manager 
Charles Ferro and Senior Planner Elaine McLaughlin followed by Council 
questions. 

Aaron Brockwell, chair of the Planning Board spoke to the process to date 
for this project and the actions taken by Planning Board. 

The applicant representatives then addressed the concept plan. 
Shane White, an architect with Southern Land Co. and Danica Powell with 
TRESTLE Strategy Group provided an overview. 

The Public Hearing was Open: 
1) Sue Prant – 3172 29th St.  Executive Director of Community cycles –

in support of building places where people can live car free. 
Applauds connection of the Slough path and the unbundled parking 
that with a high cost. Liked the idea of bringing in projects for public 
places. Urge TDM with teeth.  

2) Gavin McMillan – 3345 Martin Drive, Representing Better Boulder,
noted that this project seemed right for the site and was what was 
envisioned for the transit village. Approach for public space was 
good.  Encouraged council to provide direction that would be 
implementable. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page 5



3) Lynn Segal – 538 Dewey – Entire project should be beyond Net
Zero, it should be a power producer. It should have “passive house”
type modifications. Also noted the continued issue of Jobs housing
balance would be negatively impacted.

4) Carole Driver, 2343 18th Street – Traffic study for the whole corridor
should be provided to understand potential impacts. Fifty five foot
high buildings are a common concern. Good architecture for the
development will be critical.

5) Pam Howell 17th Dellwood, resident since 1976, knows no one that
likes the development that is going in on the 30th street corridor.
Esthetics are important, distinctive architecture is important, the
buildings still seem monolithic, suggested height variations.

6) Ruth Blackmore 7574 – main concerns is the cumulative impacts of
all the buildings going in.  What are the impacts? Turnover in
ownership of affordable housing buildings is now having a
significant impact on lower income renters.

7) Ben Binder, South Boulder – spoke to the impacts from the number
of high density buildings in Boulder. No one in the City is studying
the level of transportation services once GOOGLE, Reve and are
built.

8) Ed Byrne 250 Arapahoe – Thanked the applicant for the thoughtful
Approach to the project. Suggested stitching this development across
the street with whatever Google builds. Suggested a community
garden and green roofs. Urged council to give the developer an
additional .25 FAR to allow them to make units that would be
affordable.

There being no further speakers, the public hearing was closed. 

Council feedback included the following: 

Council Member Morzel - Liked the idea of a community garden in the 
Quonset Hut. Asked what staff was doing about tracking cumulative 
impacts. Urged staff to track quantitative data.  Also voiced support for the 
Transportation study. Suggested using different grades/levels of finishes to 
create various price ranges (ex. Granite counters and high end flooring could 
be replaced with more affordable options) 

Council Member Plass – Voiced appreciation for the focus on the slough. 
Felt they were on the tight track. Expressed that the quality of the finishes on 
the buildings would be very important. Agreed with the need for height 
variations in the buildings, specifically lowering some of the buildings along 
30th street. However, anchoring the building on the corner was also 
important so suggested that the corner element be full height with the wings 
stepped down. Vehicular access needed more consideration. He was 
interested in the Woonerf concept but noted it might mean changing the 
connections plan.  He also supported the planned use of the Quonset Hut. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page 6



Council Member Jones – agreed with comments from Council Member Plass 
and also supported the approach of preserving the slough. She noted the 
importance of interesting architecture and avoiding monolithic type building 
heights. Since the development is located in the Transit Village Area Plan 
(TVAP) she urged focus on making it a car free friendly. She also supported 
inclusion of market affordable housing and that it should be a zero waste 
development. 

Council Member Shoemaker -   Expressed that the Planning Board had done 
an exceptional job working with developer.  He indicated that the TVAP was 
coming together really well and thought the project was on track. He 
recommended the developer look into becoming part of the Boulder Junction 
Parking District.  He was not concerned about building heights as he thought 
the number and types of buildings involved would keep it interesting. He felt 
the quality of the building materials was primary and that this project could 
be really good for Boulder. He agreed that access points on 30th Street 
needed to be addressed, particularly the shared street on the north side. He 
would support having that be pedestrian only.  

Council Member Young – Agreed with comments of colleagues with the 
exception of Council Member Shoemaker who indicated support of the 
building heights. She wondered if using some of the open space could be a 
trade off for some of the building height. She also agreed that the Woonerf 
should be closed off to traffic with some restaurant along the side. Access to 
the garage and service areas would be cleaner on the south side and would 
separate the curb cuts further. Was pleased that the level of service study for 
2014 was coming in to establish a baseline for impacts on infrastructure. She 
also noted that authentic and natural materials such as wood, bricks, stone 
and glass should be utilized if possible. 

Council Member Karakehian – Very impressed with the job that planning 
board had done.  Great presentation. He expressed that this project will turn 
this neighborhood into a vibrant place where people can live, work and walk.  
Finishes of high quality would be important. He had concerns of vehicles 
crossing the sidewalk on 30th Street.  Like the Woonerf concept without cars 
or at least have it limited for deliveries only in the morning. 

Mayor Appelbaum – agreed with colleagues that the development had the 
potential to be a really good project.  He supported an FAR of 1.9. Public 
space plan was also really good. He also agreed with Council Member 
Young’s suggestion of trading off some of the open space to for the building 
heights. Some places actually work better with narrower spaces. Regarding 
parking he noted that it all needed to be unbundled. He wasn’t sure if the 
project could be added to the Boulder Junction Parking District. But, at a 
minimum, all of the residential parking should be unbundled and paid for. 
With regard to the Woonerf, he agreed that it should be pedestrians and bikes 
only. Corner was important and looked for something very interesting at that 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page 7



location.  These will be expensive units which will serve a market niche in 
Boulder. On sight affordable units would be great but he worried about high 
HOA fees that would in fact keep the units unaffordable.  

Council Member Cowles – Planning Board did a good job with the exception 
of the building heights. He agreed with the Mayors comments regarding 
affordable units. He wanted to see brick and stone in the buildings, with 
good fenestration and traditional aspect ratios. He also wanted to see lentils 
and architectural detail. That said you can’t ask for all of that and still ask for 
market rate units to be affordable. Regarding integrative design he suggested 
the developer get people involved in zero waste, energy and environment 
early on in the charrette process. Consider creative trash receptacles. He also 
suggested incorporating planning pattern 116 which looks at the cascading 
roofs of the Hagia Sophia in Istanbul/Constantinople. He thought that could 
be utilized towards the ends of the buildings tapering towards the slough. He 
also noted pattern 53 that could create a gateway.  Pattern 114 addresses the 
hierarchy of open space and pattern 61 and 69 also provide ideas.  He 
questioned whether the 30th Street profile was realistic for the next 30 years. 
Commercial activity may need to focus inward more. 

Council Member Morzel – Noted that the project was consistent with the 
Boulder Valley Comp Plan Land Use Designation. She expressed that the 
TVAP had been a vision for a long time. Some of the developments in the 
area were not what many in community would envision so the aesthetics for 
this development were really important.  She stressed the need to have 
windows that work.  Keeping the Slough open as an amenity was great. 
Range of housing is great in that allowed a range of options. Noted that a 
Coop would be cool but not sure it would work. Agreed with previous 
speakers regarding vehicular access and the need to look at the boundary on 
the south street. Suggested reducing amount of parking which would save 
money which could go to other aspects.  Suggested using some of the office 
space for Boulder’s Non-profit organizations.  Agreed that the Woonerf 
should not have vehicles. Agreed with the need for quality materials and also 
supported height variations in the buildings. Urged the use of the roofs for 
gardens, solar and other roof top amenities.  She also suggested backing off 
from the 30th street corner. 

Council Member Weaver -  agreed that the Planning Board did a great job 
and that he would address some possibilities that would benefit the developer 
at site re4view.  Renewable energy – provide gardens and green space on 
roofs with solar panels.  Use of Open Space is fantastic, eliminate cars but 
maintain connections on the 30th Street side.   He agreed that council should 
be open to amending the Connections Plan. Find a way to become part of  
the parking district.  Buildings on west side should be real focus on 
articulation and perhaps drop one story on the 30th St. side. Affordable 
housing - diversity - would go a long way. Perhaps a private nonprofit   
partnership could be established. Housing component for expanding work 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page 8



force was great. Also supported the pool heating through a renewable low 
carbon fashion. Everything that could be done with regard to traffic demand 
management was critical. Supported the need for staff to create a dashboard 
for development metrics. 

Council Member Plass asked about HOA fees. Danica Powell responded that 
while not an HOA fee an annual fee was built into each unit. Council 
Member Plass indicated that he would still like to see an effort to create 
affordable housing on the sight. 

Council Member Cowles noted that affordable housing would require adding 
addition FAR to the development. 

Council Member Plass responded that it would depend on how it was 
presented but he thought council should remain open that consideration.  

Council Member Showemaker  maintained that his number one priority was 
to see a really high quality set of buildings in this location. The affordable 
housing would be built regardless. 

Council Members Cowles and Morzel agreed. 

B. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO CALL A SPECIAL 
MEETING ON JANUARY 22, 2015 AT 6PM FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
HOLDING AN EXECUTIVE SESSION FOR LEGAL ADVICE AND 
DISCUSSION REGARDING MUNICIPALIZATION STRATEGY -  
10:07 PM 

Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Shoemaker, to call 
a special meeting on January 22, 2015 at 6 PM for the purpose of holding an 
executive session for legal advice and discussion regarding municipalization 
strategy. The motion carried 9:0 at 10:09 PM.   

3. ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY MOTION
REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED on January 15,
2015 at 10:11 PM.

Approved this ___ day of ___________, 2015.

APPROVED BY: 
Attest: 

____________________________ 
_________________________ Matthew Appelbaum, Mayor 
Alisa D. Lewis, City Clerk  

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page 9



Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page 10



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE  

Consideration of a motion to accept the April 14, 2015 study session summary on the 

financial update  and potential ballot issues. 

PRESENTERS  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 

Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This agenda item provides a summary of the April 14, 2015 City Council study session to 

provide an update regarding the City’s financials and potential ballot issues (Attachment 

A). The purpose of the study session was to provide an update to council regarding 2014 

financial results, local economic conditions, the 2016 budget development process and 

potential ballot items.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 

motion: 

Motion to accept the study session summary from April 14, 2015,  included in this 

agenda item as Attachment A. 

ATTACHMENTS  
A. Summary of the April 14, 2015 Study Session on financial update and potential 

ballot issues.

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page 11



ATTACHMENT A 

April 14, 2015 Study Session Summary 

 April 14, 2015 

City Council Study Session Summary 

Financial Update and Potential Ballot Measures 

PRESENT: 

City Council: Council Members Appelbaum, Jones, Karakehian, Morzel, Plass, 

Shoemaker, Weaver, and Young. 

Staff Members: Jane Brautigam, City Manager; Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer; 

Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer; Alisa Lewis, City Clerk; Cheryl Patelli, Director of 

Finance.  

PURPOSE: 

The objective of this study session was to provide City Council with an update on the 

2014 financial results, local economic conditions, the 2016 budget development process 

and potential ballot items.  

PRESENTATION OVERVIEW: 

 A financial update for 2014 and current economic conditions that affect the city

 An update on 2015 budget development

 Potential ballot items

 Charter items for consideration

Financial Update 

In 2014, the revenues met the projections while the expenditures were within budget. The 

economic conditions continue to make steady progress and staff will continue to monitor 

revenue collections as we start preparing for the 2016 budget.  

Sales and Use tax without recreational marijuana in 2014 increased by 4.85%, exceeding 

the expectations of 3.11% growth. However, majority of the increase over the projection 

was due to collection to one time revenue.  

Nearly $11.3 million more was collected than in 2013. However, nearly $5 million of this 

was due to the new transportation tax. Recreation marijuana resulted in about $2 million 

of new revenues. Also, $3.42 million of the increase had already been budgeted. The 

resulting net new revenue was $850,000 and of this, only about $370,000 was in the 

General Fund. 

Property valuation will likely go up, and the City Council will have opportunity to decide 

what the City’s mill levy would be. These discussions will occur during the 2016 Budget 

development process. 

A big part of long-term planning includes review of expiring taxes. Near term (5 year) 

revenue collections will be impacted by the sunsetting taxes. These include both the 

General Fund and the Energy Strategy portions of the Unity Occupation tax, which 

expires in 2017. In addition, the CAP tax expires in March of 2018 and the Community, 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page 12



ATTACHMENT A 

April 14, 2015 Study Session Summary 

Culture and Safety tax expires at the end of 2017. In the long term, expiring taxes include 

the .15% Sales and Use Tax for the  General Fund, which expires in 2024, the .25% Parks 

and Recreation portion in 2035, and the .15% sales and use tax in 2039. 

 

The long range fiscal planning process for the City of Boulder provides stability. Due to 

the policy of ongoing revenues to meet ongoing expenditures budgets are balanced 

annually. Any changes to this policy will result in deficits. Long term revenue impacts on 

the horizon will result from demographic shifts in spending and diminishing return on 

sales and use tax over time. 

 

City Council Questions regarding the financial update 

Councilmember Cowles asked what the revised gap is.  

Bob Eichem noted that the BRC Model was econometric model. We have made changes 

and because of the one-time expenditures for one time money, the gap is lower. The 

budget has been balanced on an annual basis. We have to keep this policy to keep the gap 

from growing. 

 

Mayor Appelbaum asked about the gap in funds other than the General Fund.  While our 

revenue is diversified, we cannot operate the city without Transportation or Open Space. 

If we include these, the City would be more reliant on sales and use tax. 

Bob Eichem noted that Boulder has chosen to fund transportation and OSMP separately, 

and they are independent and stand on their own. This doesn’t happen in other cities.  

 

Mayor Appelbaum noted that in terms of dependence on sales tax, we are a lot more 

depented on sales tax if you include these funds. It is more than 45%. It is strange that we 

look at these in silos.  

Bob Eichem noted that if revenues drop, these funds will be down. The General Fund 

will be the stop gap. We will have to funds when revenues go down and cut costs.  

 

Councilmember Young asked how the gap could be narrowing when the taxable 

expenditures are doing down? 

Bob Eichem explained that many changes are made on the expenditures side and how we 

do things. Since 2012, there have been 11 changes in the revenue streams and removing 

restrictions. All of these contributed to the closing of the gap. 

 

Councilmember Karakehian noted that the January sales and use tax was up substantially, 

up about 6%.  

Bob Eichem noted that January and February are not good indicators mostly due to filling 

timeframes and timing changes. By the end of March, we’ll have a better idea of the 

revenues in 2015 and we’ll be making initial budget projections based on these.  

 

Councilmember Karakehian asked what the trigger was to move medical marijuana from 

one time to ongoing revenue source. 

Bob Eichem noted that 23 states have authorized medical marijuana. Recreational 

marijuana is in just few states, not big states with federal impact. When that happens, we 

will align it as an ongoing revenue source.  

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page 13



ATTACHMENT A 

April 14, 2015 Study Session Summary 

Councilmember Jones stated that going from $130M gap to $10M is significant and a lot 

of work.  

Bob Eichem noted that that there is a lot of pinned up demand for money. It will be so 

easy to get the gap again.  

 

Councilmember Morzel stated that in this period when we reduced the gap, we have also 

increased our reserves. This helped us being resilient in the flood.  

Bob Eichem noted that part of balancing the budget included increasing the reserves.  

  

Councilmember Cowles stated that this has not been done without effort. The reserves 

were really small. Ballot efforts to deburce and increase taxes were great, the community 

understands that our fiscal policies were solid. In addition, it is important to understand 

the efforts on the expenditures side and the role of PBB in the budget process. As we are 

looking at revenues and excise tax to fund affordable housing, we should consider 

whether this is something we want to impose or we might do something else.   

 

 

2016 Budget Process 

The 2016 Budget development process was initiated with the Council reaffirming their 

goals in the January retreat. The preparation of the budget will include programmatic 

review of the Priority Based Budgeting. The recommended budget will be presented to 

council in early fall. There will be a study session and public hearings to provide 

opportunity for public comments.  

 

 

2015 Ballot Items 

Potential 2015 ballot consideration include 5-year extension of the General Fund portion 

of the Utility Occupation Tax, and potential Short Term Rental tax. In addition, the 

Charter committee has provided recommendations regarding changes to the Library 

charter language as well as council compensation.   

 

The Utility Occupation Tax collects over $4M per year and funds all GF programs. Staff 

wanted to bring the possibility of a 5-year extension of this tax in order to initiate the 

planning process. 

 

In terms of Short Term Rentals, staff recommends a separate tax. Staff does not 

recommend sharing any revenue of this tax until we receive information on what is 

generated and how much it costs to administer it.  

 

City Council Questions regarding ballot items 

Mayor Appelbaum stated that we want to keep licensing fees low to encourage people to 

sign up and that licensing costs should be to cover the staff effort. Encouraging 

compliance will be difficult in this arena.   

Bob Eichem noted that the current business license is low enough in order to encourage 

them to comply with the city’s licensing processes.  

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page 14



ATTACHMENT A 

April 14, 2015 Study Session Summary 

Councilmember Jones stated that the key will be to separate General Fund Utility 

Occupation Tax.  It would be useful to know what others taxes will be on the ballot 

 

Councilmember Shoemaker asked how the restrictions on VRBOs would counteract with 

the taxation of VRBOs and how much revenue the city might receive.  

Bob Eichem noted that this is very hard to project. There will be a range of what the 

revenue will be, but it is uncertain. Staff will provide additional information and policy 

options in the near future. These options will include the level of compliance and how it 

fits into the sharing economy.  

 

Councilmember Plass asked about the revenue sharing with BCVB. 

Bob Eichem noted that we need to get solid data first and analyze the impact on city 

operations. For couple of years, there might not be any sharing. Future years may include 

sharing, but we will need to have good information in order to make that decision.   

 

Councilmember Waver noted that there have been good discussions with the charter 

committee and that the recommendation on the Library changes came from the library 

commission. 

 

Mayor Appelbaum noted that the library commission has decision powers of the spending 

of library funds, and that the language may limit some flexibility.  

 

City Council had a discussion of the proposal to increase council compensation. More 

definitive decision will be made at a future council meeting.  

  

Mayor Appelbaum raised the possibility of exposing the addition of Head Tax on the 

2015 ballot. Denver has a good model to explore. 

Staff will provide additional information regarding Head Tax and various options in the 

near future.   

 

Council Member Karakehian asked whether the move of the Fire station will come 

forward as a ballot issue. 

City Manager Brautigam noted the earliest would be in 2016. We currently have a 3 year 

additional taxes for the Community Culture and Safety projects. We need to figure out 

how open voters are to raise taxes and do bonding.  

 

 

NEXT STEPS 
Based on the input, staff will: 

 Continue to monitor economic indicators and city revenue receipts  

 Continue to align the budget process with the priorities of the City Council and the 

community 

 Provide council with the City Manager’s 2016 Recommended Budget in the early fall  

 Bring back charter items requested by council. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 5Packet Page 15



AGENDA ITEM #     PAGE  1  

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of a motion to accept the April 28, 2015 City Council 
Study Session Summary – University Hill Reinvestment Strategy Update 

PRESENTERS 
Molly Winter, Downtown University Hill Management/Parking Services Director 
Sarah Wiebenson, Hill Community Development Coordinator 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this item is approval of the April 28, 2015 Study Session Summary. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to accept the April 28, 2015 study session summary on the University Hill 
Reinvestment Strategy Update. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: April 28, 2015 City Council Study Session Summary 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page 16



Attachment A: April 28, 2015 City Council Study Session Summary 

City Council, April 28, 2015 Study Session Summary 
University Hill Reinvestment Strategy Update 

PRESENT 
City Council: Mayor Matt Appelbaum, Mayor Pro Tem Suzanne Jones, Council Members Macon 
Cowles, George Karakehian, Lisa Morzel, Tim Plass, Andrew Shoemaker, Sam Weaver and Mary 
Young. 

Staff members: Community Planning and Sustainability Director David Driskell, Downtown University 
Hill Management Division/Parking Services (DUHMD/PS) Director Molly Winter, Boulder Police 
Commander Jack Walker, Boulder Police Commander Thomas Trujillo, Parking Services Manager Kurt 
Matthews, Senior Preservation Planner James Hewat, Boulder Police Code Enforcement Supervisor 
Jennifer Riley, AACT Coordinator Jennifer Korbelik, and Hill Community Development Coordinator 
Sarah Wiebenson. 

STUDY SESSION SUMMARY 

Hill Reinvestment Strategy Update         

Downtown University Hill Management Division/Parking Services Director Molly Winter introduced 
the discussion item and reiterated the purpose of the meeting.  Specific questions for Council were 
presented relative to the current Hill Reinvestment Strategy Work Plan; the process for evaluating 
progress; and related strategies that emerged out of the Uni Hill Moratorium project. 

Hill Community Development Coordinator Sarah Wiebenson was introduced, and the Work Plan and 
details on both the current initiatives and related strategies were presented. 

Questions for Staff 

Mayor Matt Appelbaum invited Council members to begin by asking staff any questions they may have. 

Pilot EcoPass Program for Hill Employees 

L. Morzel:  Thanked staff for the presentation, and noted the high drive-alone rates for Hill employees 
relative to Downtown employees. It was requested that staff explain why it was anticipated that an 
EcoPass would make a difference.   
M. Winter response: Downtown employees have had an EcoPass program since the 1990s, and 
possession of an EcoPass (along with education and outreach efforts by DUHMD/PS and GOBoulder) 
has been a good motivator for usage of public transit.  Hill survey results were a surprise – previously 
assumed most Hill employees were CU students. The EcoPass has been a key strategy toward achieving 
multi-modal access in the Do 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page 17



Attachment A: April 28, 2015 City Council Study Session Summary 

‘Catalyst’ Sites: Permanently Affordable Housing on 14th Street 

S. Weaver:  Asked staff to explain how the City will prohibit students from occupying the affordable 
housing planned for the 14th Street ‘catalyst’ site, especially in light of the goal to diversify the district.   
D. Driskell response: There are a couple of options. We’ve had discussions with CU – they have a 
Workforce Housing Task Force. Creating affordable housing opportunities for staff and faculty is high on 
their list. There are a few variations of what that might look like.  We have a housing lottery, with 
preferences that are given, e.g. if you’re already a resident, or if you work for the City of Boulder. One 
option, if CU participates, is to give preference if you are a CU faculty or staff member.  The vision for 
the housing is something that would be more attractive to a young professional.  If CU weren’t to occupy 
all of the units, the rest would roll into the city’s affordable housing program. 

A. Shoemaker: Asked staff to provide more information on a threshold or requirement that would not 
allow the affordable housing to become student housing, toward the goal of pursuing greater residential 
diversity on the Hill. 
D. Driskell response: As far as limiting it to CU faculty and staff, that will depend on CU’s participation 
in the project. 
A. Shoemaker: It was explained to me earlier that you couldn’t be a full time student and be a part of 
BHP’s program.  Is that correct? 
D. Driskell response: You could be a part-time student, you could be a part of the work force; there are a 
lot of variations on types of students. I do not believe there are any undergrad students that are part of the 
city’s permanently affordable housing program. 
M. Winter response: City has been working with Del Mar Interests for a number of years on the 
redevelopment plans.  Originally market rate student housing proposed, then changed to permanently 
affordable.  Developer has been working with Housing Division staff and Boulder Housing Partners to 
identify the financing tools and mechanisms to facilitate this use. Pro formas are being drafted, and the 
city will conduct an independent analysis of the financial projections and pro formas. Key component is 
how the public parking would be financed.  There are a number of issues that still need to be resolved. 

CU Conference Center 

S. Jones:  Asked staff for an update on the status of the CU conference center site selection, and how that 
might affect the timing of the ‘catalyst’ sites. 
D. Driskell response: At the moratorium study session in January, staff shared a report that was a 
collaborative effort between CU and the city looking at two sites.  Based on that conversation, the city has 
taken next steps, which is an addendum to the initial study.  In particular, the addendum will be looking at 
the off-site improvements needed to make either of the sites work. Other issues will be looked at: traffic 
access, transit access, and utilities issues. On the Folsom site, flood issues will need to be investigated.  
On the Hill site, there are historic resources that need to be looked at; in particular, the former church that 
is now occupied by CU offices.  The preservation consultant will look at opportunities for its reuse or 
relocation.  Hoping to complete the analysis by July 2015.  CU is hoping to select a site by the end of the 
year, which will set other things in motion at that point. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page 18



Attachment A: April 28, 2015 City Council Study Session Summary 

 Public Art 

S. Jones: Asked staff to clarify whether the plans for additional public art ties in to the Arts Commission 
and the Community Cultural Plan. 
S. Wiebenson response: The Hill Reinvestment Strategy has a focus on the arts, and staff is working 
closely with the City’s Office of Arts + Culture.  The 2A funding includes money for additional public 
art, and specific locations or types of art would not be determined until completion of the Community 
Cultural Plan.   

Code Enforcement 

M. Appelbaum: Additional information was requested on public safety and code enforcement trends.   
J. Walker response: As far as criminal or alcohol-related incidents: the officers initially took a gentle 
approach at the start of the school year to encourage student cooperation, but the city heard from 
neighbors that they were suffering, so enforcement has been ramped up.  No change in the number of 
incidents has been evident yet. Anytime improvements are made to the Hill, however, it’s going to help – 
people are less likely to want to destroy something if it’s nicer. 
J. Riley response: As far as Code Enforcement: the city has been able to dedicate an officer to the Hill 
through the bear-proof trash cans effort.  This has helped form more direct contacts and relationships with 
both the violators and those affected, and problems with loose trash in the alleys have improved.  Trash 
violations are slightly down, and it is believed this is a result of the change in containers. New 
administrative officer has also increased the productivity of all officers, providing each of them with more 
field time. Code Enforcement has also teamed up with Neighborhood Impact Team: if there was a 
problem with a specific property in the evening, Code Enforcement officers return the next day to ensure 
the party was cleaned up.  They are also coordinating with the CU Office of Off-Campus Housing’s party 
registration program: approximately 90 percent of the registered parties are cleaned up the next day.  The 
new officer has allowed them to conduct Code Enforcement activities on the weekend as well. 

M. Cowles: Two questions: confirmation of the planned 2A lighting improvements in addition to 11th 
Street; and please inform Council about the Property Enforcement Database that was mentioned at the 
CU/City Oversight meeting. 

2A Lighting Locations 

M. Winter response: Before the item was put on the ballot, staff worked with Hill stakeholders, including 
CU students and Boulder Police, to identify critical corridors for pedestrian safety. The 2A funding is 
around $2 million, and the scale of lighting that can be installed for that amount has yet to be finalized.  It 
will not be possible to install pedestrian lighting throughout the Hill within that budget.  11th Street is the 
primary corridor, and other areas are being considered. 
S. Wiebenson response: The darkest areas vary by block. The Hill is one of the areas in the City with the 
densest tree cover, and staff has coordinated with the Forestry Division to complete strategic pruning 
around light poles in those darkest areas as an interim solution.  The critical corridor areas outside of 11th 
Street range throughout the high-density areas of the Hill. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page 19



Attachment A: April 28, 2015 City Council Study Session Summary 

M. Young: The memo mentioned relative to the Neighborhood Parking Program (NPP) commuter 
permits that usage by Hill employees may be lowered by the distance to the Hill Commercial Area and 
night-time safety concerns.  Would be interested in knowing if lighting improvements could increase Hill 
employee usage. 
M. Winter response: It potentially could. Would depend on the location of the improvements.  The 
parking tends to be further south and further west than the critical corridors. 

Property Enforcement Database 

J. Riley response: Not a new program, but public feedback indicated that system was broken. With new 
IT system for Boulder Police, opportunity for greater integration.  It is now available on the Code 
Enforcement page through Inquire Boulder as a GIS layer, and is searchable through a website interface. 

L. Morzel: What is the website to access the database? 
J. Riley response: Go to the Inquire Boulder site at www.bouldercolorado.gov to link from the Code 
Enforcement page.  Efforts have been made to improve its user-friendliness. 

M. Cowles: Is the site color-coded so that the worst violators are, say, the color of the red cups? 
J. Riley response: No, and is now only searchable by address.  One of the recent updates, however, was to 
show accessory addresses.  Code Enforcement continues to work with GIS to build a database for officer 
use to identify repeat violators, and there may be a public interface with that some day.  You can currently 
do this with crime stats online. 

L. Morzel: On Inquire Boulder, looking at the Code Enforcement section: there are 10-12 categories.  
Where would you go if your landlord needed to fix your electrical system? 
J. Riley response: On the Inquire Boulder site, you can pull up “Tenant-Landlord Issue.”  You can pull up 
a specific address.  You don’t need to know which department to go to; the system will do that for you.  
Code Enforcement will take service requests through Inquire Boulder. 

National Register Historic District 

A. Shoemaker: Frequently asked if the historic district would be forced upon property owners. 
M. Winter introduced J. Hewat, Senior Preservation Planner, to provide information on the process.  
Historically, staff approach has been to focus on education, conveying what is included and what is not, 
as well as the real benefits of the tax credits for investing in your building. 
J. Hewat response: interdepartmental staff group already meeting to discuss process. Idea is to start with 
National Register district, and we would explain to property owners the state and federal tax benefits. 
National Register doesn’t come with many requirements or local review. We feel that is important to try 
to encourage the kind of change and improvements desired on the Hill.  This summer we would begin by 
talking informally with property owners, and idea is not to force anything on anyone. 
M. Winter added: As mentioned in presentation, UHCAMC voted unanimously to support moving 
forward with the National Register district nomination process. A good portion of this can be done 
internally, but the application itself will require an expenditure of funds, at the soonest in 2016. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page 20



Attachment A: April 28, 2015 City Council Study Session Summary 

T. Plass: Two questions: first, why expend funds to survey when have already surveyed and re-surveyed 
to support past efforts? Especially when past survey showed that district was eligible for both national and 
local designation. 
J. Hewat response: The last survey was in 2008, and current survey would expand area to include 
buildings along Broadway.  Surprising number of changes to buildings in the district. Different from a 
residential neighborhood: as businesses come and go, buildings are modified. Survey process would look 
to see if what we have is still consistent with what seen in 2008.  Before submitting the application, we 
also request a determination of eligibility from the State of Colorado, and they say whether they think the 
district in its current form is still National Register eligible. 
T. Plass: Second question is about local district designation; what is the difference between National 
Register and local designation? 
J. Hewat response: With National Register district, have ability to access state and federal tax credits.  
Leveraging federal credits can make a big difference in ability to remodel buildings.  In Downtown 
Boulder, a lot of renovation did occur as a result of National Register designation. Evolved into local 
district, but would want to make sure first that there was a high level of understanding of what it means to 
be a local historic district, and a high level of property owner support, before entering into the design 
review process with staff and Landmarks Board, which is required with local district designation. 

Signage District 

M. Young: Additional information was requested on the idea of a signage district as a funding 
mechanism for the Hill.  
Molly Winter response: The City was approached by the organization that manages a similar program in 
downtown Denver: the Denver Arts District. The district was created with a very strict guidelines and 
governance structure, including review of the types of signage and signage design. In Denver this 
provides opportunities for large-scale public art, with revenues shared among the property owners and the 
district, which can go toward arts/performance programming. Flexibility in signage regulations would be 
required, although for a public purpose: generating funds to be reinvested in the district, for example, to 
cover overall governance costs or arts programming.  The City has a proposal that will be explored to 
understand the trade-offs and implications.  It will be brought back to Council for feedback among a 
variety of funding and structure options for sustainable Hill governance over the long-term. 

Mayor Appelbaum directed Council to the specific questions from staff needing Council feedback. 

Feedback on Staff Questions 

A. Shoemaker: Thanked staff for the professional presentation and the meaningful change represented in 
the work program.  The amount of trash being picked up in the pilot RSD and the visible difference was 
noted, as well as the partnerships among community members; would like to see momentum continue. 
Support was expressed for the pilot EcoPass program, understanding that the impact would need to be 
measured.  National Register district worthwhile, something that in the long-run will positively impact 
people’s property values; although need to communicate benefits, get buy-in. ‘Catalyst’ sites are very 
exciting; exploration of financing options and incentives encouraged to maintain momentum on projects 
that will provide anchors needed to move Hill forward in meaningful way.  Would really like to see alley 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page 21



Attachment A: April 28, 2015 City Council Study Session Summary 

enhancements, especially between 13th and Broadway, to increase pedestrian area and potentially the size 
of the revenue area.  Getting parking moved to garages would help, maybe zoning changes needed.  
Change would be consistent with character and desired identity for the Hill.  Lastly, need to explore 
governance and funding options; city funding not sustainable in long-run. 

S. Jones: Agree with A. Shoemaker.  Feels like finally gaining critical momentum, and work plan and 
related strategies are more than cosmetic. Support pilot EcoPass program: exploring where else in the city 
this type of program can work will support citywide program effort and city priorities, values. Would like 
to make sure that activities are coordinated: caution against repeating mistakes of the past, wasting time 
and money.  This is really exciting. Glad that we’re making our priority a priority. 

M. Young: Also want to express support for pilot EcoPass program, and would like to see it start in 
summer 2015 to start gathering data ASAP.  Relates to cost of underground parking: good to reduce 
parking need and therefore cost of building sufficient parking.  Should also tie placement of safety 
lighting to location of parking, to be strategic and take advantage of those existing NPP spaces to extent 
possible. Have reservations about signage district, as explore option; recognize that we’re in a different 
context from Downtown Denver.  Please provide visuals of what we’re considering. 

S. Weaver: Agree with getting started on pilot EcoPass program right away.  Also agree with pursuing 
National Register historic district. Both have good long-term potential. General enlivening of the Hill is 
fabulous.  Had CU-City Oversight meeting yesterday – saw great history of MIPs from Courts.  Was 
uptick in 2014, holding steady in 2015, but way down from years past.  Interesting improvements to 
Restorative Justice program to bring in better representation of party hosts to account for violations. 

L. Morzel: Agree with others’ comments. Would like to see EcoPass pilot move forward, as well as the 
historic district and ‘catalyst’ sites.  Also interested in alley improvements: exciting. Replace parking with 
more interactive activities, i.e. murals, especially on walkway up to Harbeck House.  Would like to see 
Harbeck House integrated into Hill planning. Some concerns about signage district: need to understand 
more about it, but seems contrary to Boulder County pride in not having billboards. Revenue is from 
advertising.  Would like to see art, but not billboards. It would be great to have more information. 

A. Shoemaker response: Have seen a lot more information on the signage district proposal than what was 
mentioned in the memo, and there is a huge spectrum of possibilities. We talk about being a progressive 
community, and the potential to program and activate the street by inviting people out to watch a sporting 
event on a screen in the Hill Commercial Area – you ask the students and they don’t see any controversy 
in that idea.  Being able to show film shorts and movies – you talk to the artists and they see screens as a 
way to draw the next generation into art.  Would request keeping an open mind.  Will learn lots more 
about it.  One clarification: alley proposal was for enhancing the one behind the bookstore between 13th 
and College. 

G. Karakehian: Adequate parking is extremely important on the Hill. It is a problem now, and with the 
ideas being considered, need to communicate message that parking is important.  Without it, the Hill will 
not move forward. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page 22



Attachment A: April 28, 2015 City Council Study Session Summary 

Mayor Appelbaum thanked staff for the interesting presentation. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 8Packet Page 23



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the summary of the May 12, 2015 

study session on Boulder’s Energy Future. 

PRESENTER/S  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

Tom Carr, City Attorney 

Heather Bailey, Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development 

David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This agenda item provides a summary of the May 12, 2015 City Council study session on 

Boulder’s Energy Future. The purpose of the study session was to provide City Council and the 

community with updates on 2015 energy work program and initiatives; future energy services; 

2016 innovations and budget; partnerships and policy reform; and municipalization. 

Attachment A is a summary of council’s discussion of the issues and the questions presented at 

the study session. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 

motion: 

Motion to accept the summary of the May 12, 2015, study session on Boulder’s Energy 

Future. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page 24



NEXT STEPS 

 Staff will: 

1. Come back to council during the 2016 budget process with recommendations to support

proposed programs and services.

2. Continue implementing the municipalization transition plan and report back on progress

related to the power supply RFP.

3. Continue to utilize the Energy Future working groups, as needed, to provide

recommendations related to the municipalization transition process and the evaluation of

short-term energy services.

4. Provide an update on grant funding submissions and related projects as part of the

Climate Commitment July study session.

5. Keep council informed as to who joins the regional legislative Colorado Climate Future

coalition which focuses on achieving carbon reduction by removing regulatory and

legislative barriers.

6. Come back to council with two or three specific priority legislative items for next year.

7. Provide information on how the state Commercial PACE program may affect some of

our ideas and initiatives, the previous residential PACE program, and how both differ

from our local Partners for a Clean Environment (PACE) program.

8. Explore the creation of a local carbon offset fund, which would eventually be self-

funding and revenue generating.

9. Explore options to update the city’s website in order to create a central location for

energy related projects and initiatives.

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: January 27, 2015, Study Session Summary 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page 25



ATTACHMENT A 

May 12, 2015 

City Council Study Session Summary 

Boulder’s Energy Future  

PRESENT: 

City Council:  Macon Cowles, Mayor Pro Tem Suzanne Jones, George Karakehian, Lisa 

Morzel, Tim Plass, Andrew Shoemaker and Mary Young 

Staff Members Presenting: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager; Tom Carr, City Attorney; 

Heather Bailey, Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development; 

Jonathan Koehn, Regional Sustainability Coordinator  

OVERVIEW OF PRESENTATIONS: 

H. Bailey presented an overview on activities related to Boulder’s Energy Future including 

updates on the 2015 energy work program and initiatives; future energy services for 2016; 

partnerships and policy reform; and municipalization. The presentation covered the following 

areas: 

Background and Context 

H. Bailey highlighted several of Boulder’s on-going innovative energy-related projects and 

energy efficiency programs that are helping to reduce greenhouse gas emissions including the 

Energy Advisor program, the SmartRegs program, the Boulder Energy Challenge, and the Solar 

Grant program. The city is also leveraging other funding opportunities such as a $76K grant from 

the Urban Sustainability Directors Network (USDN). This grant will fund a convening of five 

cities (Boulder, Minneapolis, Boston, San Antonio and Sacramento) to talk about best practices 

and strategies for cities to achieve their climate reduction goals which will take place in Boulder 

later this summer. There are great opportunities to seek other sources of funding and to continue 

to develop partnerships that look at innovative pilot programs and studies that will take us to the 

next level in our goal to reduce emissions. 

2015 Work Program - Existing and New Initiatives 

H. Bailey highlighted existing initiatives in the 2015 work program including SmartRegs, the 

Boulder Energy Challenge, and Partners for a Clean Environment; and reviewed four new energy 

initiatives that have been added to the 2015 work program: 

1. Targeted solar outreach

Building on the ongoing solar potential study in partnership with NREL, the city is 

identifying actual potential for solar generation and sites that would benefit the most from 

on-site energy generation. This will help building owners see the potential for solar on their 

buildings and allow the city to target grant programs to areas that can benefit the most. It 

could also increase the ability to make solar available for all population sectors.  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page 26



2. DOE nanogrids pilot

The city, in partnership with the NREL, the Colorado Clean Energy Cluster, Schneider 

Electric and PosEn Energy consulting, just recently submitted a grant application in the 

amount of  $395K, for a nanogrid pilot project at the city’s water treatment facility. The 

project includes an AC to DC conversion, on-site energy generation and energy storage. The 

project will provide critical learning for additional projects at vulnerable facilities like 

hospitals, multi-family dwellings, emergency centers and schools. The pilot will explore how 

to create localized generation options under current legal and regulatory limitations, and is 

intended to increase the ability of these facilities to weather significant natural events, be 

energy efficient and save money.  

3. Carbon offset fund

Following the lead of Boulder County’s program, the city will explore a potential new source 

of funding for local energy projects where marijuana growers could choose to offset their 

energy use by contributing to a fund for renewable and energy efficiency and innovative 

technologies to reduce carbon.  Currently, growers are required to offset one hundred percent 

of their electricity consumption through on-site generation, or subscribing to a REC 

purchasing program such as WindSource.  

4. Innovations studies

The city submitted three letters of intent to the Carbon Neutral Cities Alliance, two of which 

were chosen to move to the next step of full project submission. The first is a pilot study and 

potential demonstration project that will take energy efficiency, localized generation, 

microgrids, and other energy strategies combined with economic and resilient strategies to 

create a new way of addressing resilience and carbon in communities. The second would 

study replacing natural gas as a source of energy – a fossil fuel replacement evaluation. This 

study is targeted to cities who want to reduce fossil fuel use at a local level.  

2016 Ideas for Energy Initiatives 

H. Bailey presented an illustrative list of energy initiatives staff is considering for the 2016 work 

program. The Energy Services Working Group provided input to staff on energy initiatives that 

might be a good fit for the Boulder community. The list will be prioritized and evaluated and 

staff will come back to council with recommendations as part of the 2016 budget process. 

Policy Reform: The “Top 10” List 

H. Bailey went on to present a “top ten” list of specific legislative and regulatory changes that 

are critical to achieving Boulder’s energy goals.  These included concepts such as: peer to peer 

sharing of electricity, community choice aggregation, an energy data center, alternative energy 

efficiency management, removing the 120 percent cap on solar, performance-based rates and 

grid modernization, a state carbon tax, promoting electric vehicle uptake, green electric resource 

planning, and time-of-use electric rates. The items on this list could remove barriers that would 

allow the city to truly make a difference in decreasing greenhouse gas emissions. The city is 

working with the Colorado Climate Future Coalition to form a group comprised of cities within 

the region to focus on carbon reduction legislation. The coalition is focused on sustainability and 

climate change. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Packet Page 27



Transition Plan  

H. Bailey completed her presentation with an update on the municipalization transition plan 

schedule and highlighted the following issues: 

 Due to a court order and timing of the PUC filing, the transition plan timeline has been

extended – with a target date to form the utility by the end of 2017.

 Numerous investments, infrastructure, start-up costs and staffing have been moved to

after the PUC process.

H. Bailey shared a list of completed steps since council’s last update on the Transition Plan: 

 Issued a Power Supply RFP to Xcel Energy to ask about Xcel’s interest in providing the

city with generation and power services for a five year period.

 Received qualifications (20 responses, five were from national firms) from potential

vendors to provide operations and maintenance, customer service, and other services

needed to operate the utility.

 Began an IT systems analysis – Schneider Engineering is performing an evaluation of our

existing systems and looking at what we would need on day one and beyond to operate

the utility.

 Established four working groups we have been working with since December: energy

services, resource acquisition, reliability and safety, and rates.

H. Bailey described the following next steps in the Transition Plan: 

 Staff will return to council during the 2016 budget cycle with recommendations to

support potential new initiatives.

 Staff will continue implementing the municipalization transition plan and report back on

progress related to the power supply RFP.

 Staff will continue to utilize the Energy Services and Resource Acquisition working

groups to evaluate short-term energy services. Pause the Rates Working Group during the

PUC application process and reconvene it later in 2015.

 Staff members will provide an update on grant funding and related efforts as part of the

Climate Commitment July study session. After that – update goals on greenhouse gas

emissions.

 Staff will focus on legislative reform and coalition building.

COUNCIL DISCUSSION: 

A council member suggested including three to five of the items included on the “top 10” list on 

council’s legislative agenda. 

Council asked staff their thoughts about adding some of Councilmember Weaver’s suggestions 

(from a council Hotline) to the list. 

Staff responded that staff will explore the ideas, but noted some may not be possible in Colorado. 

A council member was impressed with the progressive work, and was specifically excited about 

the partnership opportunity with the Colorado Climate Future Coalition. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 5Packet Page 28



Council suggested energy-related projects, such as those described at the Study Session, and 

updates on various initiatives (all things energy) be placed in a central location on the city’s 

website where they are easily accessible. For the local renewable energy fund, a council member 

asked if staff explored other potential funding sources in addition to marijuana grow industries. 

Staff replied that there are other potential funding sources, but this concept focused on existing 

requirements and existing spend within the community that would not be additive. Staff can 

come back to council with more ideas. 

A council member supported having a resolution to adopt the 80 percent greenhouse gas 

reduction by 2050 goal come before council. 

Staff replied that the July study session on Climate Commitment will address this goal. 

Council said it makes sense for our goals to resonate with other cities to push for consistent 

policy at the state, regional, national and international level. 

Council asked if energy efficiency upgrades could pass as a tax through the Colorado PACE 

program. A council member requested more information on how the state PACE program may 

affect some of our ideas and initiatives. (Note: The June 16, 2015 Commercial and Industrial 

Energy Ordinance Study Session Summary provides supplemental information on the Colorado-

PACE and PACE programs.)   

Another council member was excited about the Colorado Climate Future Coalition and said we’ll 

be more effective at the state legislature working with like-minded communities. 

A staff member said there are other areas where there needs to be a strong local voice, such as 

the implementation of the EPA Clean Power Plan. Staff has been working with the Rocky 

Mountain Climate Organization and the Colorado Climate Network -- organizations with great 

connections across the state that have reached out to a number of communities to work together 

to exchange ideas and have representation across Colorado.  

Council said next year council should fine tune the legislative agenda with more focus on energy 

goals and policies. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 6Packet Page 29



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the May 12, 2015 Study Session 
Summary on the Commercial and Industrial Energy Ordinance.  

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Kendra Tupper, Energy Services Manager/Lead Strategist 
Elizabeth Vasatka, Business Sustainability Coordinator  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This agenda item provides a summary (Attachment A) of the May 12, 2015 City Council study 
session on the proposed Commercial and Industrial (C&I) Energy Efficiency Ordinance.  The study 
session provided council with options for the development of a C&I Ordinance that would require 
building owners to rate and report their buildings’ energy performance and implement periodic energy 
efficiency.  

Attachment A is a summary of the presentation and discussion with City Council on May 12, 2015. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff recommends Council consideration of the summary and action in the form of the 
following motion: 

Motion to accept the May 12, 2015 study session summary on the proposed Commercial 
and Industrial Energy Efficiency Ordinance.  

NEXT STEPS 
City Council’s feedback from the May 12, 2015 discussion will be incorporated into the first reading 
ordinance memo.  Staff will continue to research and organize formal and informal conversations with 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page 30



building owners and tenants to work through specific issues council discussed.  The next steps 
identified for the development of the C&I Energy Efficiency Ordinance are the following: 

1. Work with the City Attorney’s Office —To understand the energy use data privacy issues if the
city obtains all commercial and industrial building owners’ energy metrics yet some of this data
would not be publically disclosed due to security or proprietary reasons. How does the
Colorado Open Records Act come into play with this exemption?

2. Hold formal and informal discussions with local building owners and tenants—To seek more
understanding on the split incentive issues and tenant responsibilities of providing data and
access to their spaces for a building owner to comply with the proposed ordinance
requirements. How are most commercial leases structured in Boulder, and how can the owners
pass through these costs to the tenants (who will see the savings on their energy bills)?

3. Engage with other cities – Re-connect with the Institute for Market Transformation (IMT) and
other cities that have passed similar ordinances to request more feedback on issues pertaining to
existing lease terms and requirements, and how tenants can be required to bear some of the
costs of these requirements.

ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment A – Proposed Commercial and Industrial (C&I) Energy Efficiency Ordinance Study 
Session Summary dated May 12, 2015  

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page 31



Attachment A - Study Session Summary 
Proposed Commercial and Industrial Energy Efficiency Ordinance 

May 12, 2015 

PRESENT 
City Council:  George Karakehian, Macon Cowles, Mayor Pro Tem Suzanne Jones, Lisa Morzel, Tim 
Plass, Andrew Shoemaker and Mary Young 

Staff members presenting:  Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and 
Sustainability and Kendra Tupper, Energy Services Manager/Lead Strategist. 

STAFF PRESENTATION ON THE PROPOSED COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL 
ENERGY EFFICIENCY ORDINANCE  
Susan Richstone introduced the study session topic and introduced Kendra Tupper, the city’s new 
Energy Service Manager as the presenter.   

Kendra Tupper proceeded to present background information and the proposed options for the 
Commercial and Industrial (C&I) Energy Efficiency Ordinance including: 

• What would be required under the proposed ordinance: Commercial and industrial building
owners (of a certain building size) would be required to rate and report the energy use of their
buildings, and to take certain energy efficiency actions.

• A summary of the key components of such ordinances and options that council needs to
provide direction on.
• What buildings would be affected?

i. Private sector C&I buildings larger than 20,000 square feet (sf)
ii. Newly built private sector C&I buildings larger than 10,000 sf, and

iii. City owned buildings larger than 5,000 sf.
• What is the timeline for compliance?

i. In 2016, only large C&I buildings (> 50,000 sf), newly constructed C&I buildings
(>10,000 sf), and city- owned buildings (> 5,000 sf) would have to comply.

ii. Over time, compliance by smaller existing private sector buildings (> 20,000 sf)
would be phased in by 2020. Efficiency requirements could be phased in as soon as
2019 or as late as 2030, depending on the option chosen.

• What metrics would be disclosed (reported) to the public?
i. As a basic requirement for reporting, building owners would be required to report on

an annual basis total energy use and other energy performance metrics to the city and
to their tenants.

ii. Additional options for Public Disclosure:
1. Option 3A: Building Specific Public Disclosure (Recommended)
2. Option 3B: Limited Public Disclosure

• What efficiency improvements would be required?
i. Option 4A: Various Prescriptive Requirements (NOT Recommended)

ii. Option 4B: Energy Assessment with No Required Action (NOT Recommended)
iii. Option 4C: Energy Assessments with Limited Required Action
iv. Option 4D: Energy Assessments with Custom Required Action
v. Option 4E (NOT Recommended until 2030) : Whole Building Performance Standards

Attachment A - SS Summary May 12, 2015 C and I Energy Efficiency Ordinance

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page 32



• The impacted buildings and compliance strategy for phasing in various building sizes and
efficiency requirements.

• Options for public disclosure of energy use information, with a discussion of the pros and cons.
• Options for energy efficiency requirements and identified ranges of associated costs and

savings.
• A list of exemptions to the rating and reporting, and efficiency requirements.
• Resource, staffing and costs to implement and administer the program.

COUNCIL DISCUSSION 
The following were the major council discussion themes regarding the proposed C&I Energy 
Efficiency Ordinance presentation. 

Formal Adoption of Climate Commitment 
A council member raised the issue that the city has yet to formally adopt a climate commitment goal, 
such as an 80% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 (compared to 2005 levels). Staff 
responded that they will provide a full briefing on the community Climate Commitment at the July 28, 
2015 study session.  This will include both a proposed modification to the baseline year used for 
progress tracking as well as an overview an overview of the proposed strategy for achieving an 80% 
reduction goal by 2050. Staff will request feedback from Council at that time regarding the proposed 
timeframe for formal adoption of the reduction goal. This timeframe may be informed in part based a 
community consultation and engagement process proposed for the second half of 2015. 

Energy Savings from These Types of Policies 
Council members asked what kind of energy savings were being seen in other cities that had adopted 
these policies. Staff responded that a Department of Energy (DOE) study had shown rating and 
reporting alone leads to an average annual energy savings of about 2 percent, with the savings leveling 
out after a few years when all the low to no cost fixes have been implemented. Only a few cities have 
had the policies in place long enough to report year to year savings. In Washington DC, buildings 
reported on average a 6% reduction in energy use from 2010-2013 and a 3-point increase in their 
ENERGY STAR scores. 

Additionally, DOE just published a summary report evaluating the impacts of New York City’s 
Benchmarking and Transparency Policy. Top-line findings from the NYC report are that covered 
buildings reduced energy use by 5.7% between 2010 and 2013 while NYC’s GDP grew and electricity 
prices fell.  More importantly, the findings suggest that early indicators of market transformation are 
beginning to appear, so that the policies are likely to have their intended long-term effects of changing 
the way the real estate sector looks at energy efficiency.   

Split Incentives and Building Owner/Tenant Responsibilities 
Council members discussed the issue of the split incentive in commercial buildings. This is where 
building owners pay for energy efficiency /capital improvements and business tenants pay the utility 
bills. This situation is disproportionate to who pays and who benefits from potential energy and cost 
savings. Existing lease terms can be up to ten years between building owners and tenants. It was asked 
of staff, if that is the case, who will be responsible for paying for the energy efficiency upgrades?   

Council asked staff to continue to evaluate and discuss how this issue would best be addressed in the 
city’s ordinance. Council requested that staff reconnect with other cities that have adopted these types 
of ordinances and investigate how this has played out with the impacted parties. 

Attachment A - SS Summary May 12, 2015 C and I Energy Efficiency Ordinance

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page 33

http://energy.gov/eere/slsc/downloads/new-york-city-benchmarking-and-transparency-policy-impact-evaluation-report


Staff commented that they will do further stakeholder engagement with other cities as well as key 
building owners/managers and their tenants.  

Reporting and the Level of Disclosure 
Council members generally agreed with disclosing building specific energy use and rating information 
on a public, outward facing web site. However, council asked for clarification of the intent of 
disclosing this level of information.  Staff replied that these types of ordinance are structured to 
transform the market place with intent to create peer pressure for building owners and businesses to 
take energy performance into account when deciding on leasing, buying or investing in buildings.   

Staff noted that C&I ordinances are a local government tool that allows for the collection of 
commercial building energy data and performance metrics, and that the city will eventually use this 
building data to develop demand side management programs.   

As for disclosing building specific energy metrics publically, staff explained there would be an 
exemption for this reporting requirement for any proprietary information.  For example, a building 
that, if targeted, could shut down critical business operations would not have it’s energy use 
information disclosed. However, it was identified that all information in the city’s possession could be 
subject to CORA (Colorado Open Records Act).  

The City Attorney responded that the Attorney’s Office will research how this information will be 
protected or subject to CORA.  

Energy Efficiency 
Council members agreed with the need to have energy efficiency requirements as part of this ordinance 
and discussed the options presented.  Some council members acknowledged that in the long term a 
whole building performance standard (Option 4E) is where the city is heading, but for now it needs to 
start with simpler efficiency measures like lighting and retrocommissioning.  It was mentioned that 
these measures can be evaluated and revised periodically, (i.e. five year cycle). 

Colorado-PACE (Co-PACE) Financing  
During the study session two separate PACE programs were mentioned and staff would like to clarify 
the different programs to reduce confusion. The CO-PACE (Colorado Property Assessed Clean 
Energy) financing was mandated by the Colorado State Legislature in 2013.  The Colorado Energy 
Office (CEO) was tasked with developing a statewide program that Colorado counties could opt into 
and operate local PACE programs out of the county treasury departments. The CEO released a request 
for proposal (RFP) for parties to administer the program, and they expect to have a contract finalized in 
June of 2015.   

PACE programs are financing lending mechanisms to help building owners pay for energy efficiency 
upgrades or renewable energy with the loan attached to the property and not the property owner.  Since 
the county is responsible for assessing property value and taxes, PACE loans and liens are orchestrated 
through county treasures’ offices. In 2009, Boulder County launched a residential and commercial 
Property Assessed Clean Energy program, called the ClimateSmart Loan Program, that launched two 
residential lending cycles and one commercial lending cycle.  

The ClimateSmart Loan Program offered loans to Boulder County property owners who wanted to 
make energy efficiency and renewable energy improvements to their property. Effective June 29, 2010, 
the third round of residential financing was cancelled and the loan program was put on-hold until 

Attachment A - SS Summary May 12, 2015 C and I Energy Efficiency Ordinance

Agenda Item 3E     Page 5Packet Page 34



issues with the Federal Housing Finance Agency and federal mortgage regulators, Fannie Mae and 
Freddie Mac, could be resolved.  

Now that the state is developing its commercial CO-PACE program, the goal is to have the “heavy 
lifting” taken care of by the state and the counties simply opt in to run the local program. Since 
Boulder County has extensive experience with this type of program, the county will likely be among 
the first to opt into the state program (possibly as soon as third quarter of 2015); therefore allowing 
commercial building owners in Boulder County to take advantage of the PACE lending opportunity.  

Council would like more information on CO-PACE and how this can assist building owners with the 
proposed ordinance energy efficiency requirements.  

Staff explained that they are meeting with the county and state on the program and will have an update 
to council in the ordinances’ first reading memo packet.   

Partners for a Clean Environment (PACE) 
The City of Boulder, in collaboration with Boulder County has had a business sustainability program 
in place for over 20 years.  The Partners for a Clean Environment program originally started as a 
pollution prevention certification program for businesses that were not regulated by the Environmental 
Protection Agency but had end products that needed to be disposed of appropriately (i.e. grease from 
restaurants, used oils, paints and other toxic solvents from auto body and auto repair shops, etc). The 
program has been updated multiple times and now re-launched to be the one-stop-shop for business 
sustainability best practices. The focus areas are to assist building owners and business tenants to 
reduce energy use, practice zero waste management, conserve water inside and out and promote 
alternative transportation options.  PACE Partners are businesses that work with PACE advisors to 
assist them in implementing sustainability best practices and help their business or building achieve 
efficiencies, savings, and recognition and participate in helping the community reach its climate goals.  

Staff will ensure that there is distinction when we discuss one or both programs in the future; as they 
will be referred to as Colorado-PACE (CO-PACE) and Partners for a Clean Environment (PACE).  

Attachment A - SS Summary May 12, 2015 C and I Energy Efficiency Ordinance

Agenda Item 3E     Page 6Packet Page 35



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Summary of May 12, 2015 Study Session on Resilient Boulder - Phase I 
and Phase II preliminary focus areas  

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability (CP&S) 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of CP&S 
Greg Guibert, Chief Resilience Officer  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This agenda item provides a summary of the May 12, 2015 City Council study session on 
Resilient Boulder (Attachment A). The purpose of the study session was to provide an update to 
City Council on findings from Resilient Boulder Phase I engagements and receive Council 
feedback on potential Focus Areas for Phase II. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

BACKGROUND 
The background information for this topic can be found by clicking the link to review the study 
session memorandum dated May 12, 2015.  

NEXT STEPS 

• Reach out to 100RC Network on whether any cities are addressing student loan debt as a
vulnerability or resilience challenge

• Phase 2 Focus Areas finalized and adopted in early June 2015

Staff requests council consideration of this summary and action in the form of the 
following motion: 

Motion to accept the summary (Attachment A) of the May 12, 2015 study session on 
Resilient Boulder - Phase I update and Phase II preliminary focus areas   

Agenda Item 3F     Page 1Packet Page 36

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/129030/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/129030/Electronic.aspx


• Intermediate focus area and phase 2 updates through November 2015 will come via
existing program updates with close alignment to activities (ex. BVCP or Climate
Action)

• October 13 Study Session on draft resilience strategy

• October 23-25, Understanding Risk Boulder conference at CU

• Anticipated final draft of the resilience strategy end of November 2015

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Summary of May 12, 2015 City Council Study Session on Resilient Boulder - 
Phase I and Phase II preliminary focus areas   

Agenda Item 3F     Page 2Packet Page 37



ATTACHMENT A: 
City Council May12, 2015 Study Session Summary 

Resilient Boulder - 100 Resilient Cities Phase I Update and 
Phase II Preliminary Focus Areas   

PRESENT 
City Council: Mayor Pro Tem Suzanne Jones, Macon Cowles, George Karakehian, Lisa 
Morzel, Tim Plass, Andrew Shoemaker, and Mary Young 

Staff Presenters: Greg Guibert, Chief Resilience Officer 

Other Staff Present: Jane Brautigam, Susan Richstone, Lesli Ellis, Sarah Huntley, Jonathan 
Koehn 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of the study session was to provide an update to City Council on findings from 
Resilient Boulder Phase I and receive Council feedback on potential Focus Areas for Phase II. 

Key questions for council consideration:  
1. Does City Council have any questions about the Phase I process to date?
2. Does City Council have any feedback on the initial scoping of potential Phase II focus

areas?

PRESENTATION SUMMARY 
The objective of the City Resilience Strategy is to provide a roadmap for building resilience in 
the city. The strategy should trigger action, investment, and support within city government and 
from outside groups. Rather than a static road map, the resilience strategy should be a living 
document to be continuously fine-tuned as priorities are addressed and initiatives get 
implemented.  

The strategy development process is divided into two phases: Phase I establishes the foundation 
for the resilience strategy. Phase II encompasses strategy build-out. Boulder is now at the end of 
Phase I, during which the city has conducted a series of workshops, diagnostics, and analyses in 
order to identify areas for focused activity in Phase II.  

Initial outputs from the Preliminary Resilience Assessment would suggest the potential to focus 
additional analysis in some of the following areas, not necessarily in order of priority: 

1. Resilient Recovery
2. Resilient Governance
3. Climate Wealth and Security
4. Understanding Changing Risk
5. Business Community Resilience
6. Economic Resilience
7. Ecological Services

Attachment A - SS Summary for May 12, 2015 Resilient Boulder item

Agenda Item 3F     Page 3Packet Page 38



DISCUSSION SUMMARY 
Below are summary points of council’s discussion of the issues and the questions presented at 
the study session. 

• The Phase 1 public perceptions survey captured too much of current community
discussion on growth and development as opposed to resilience over the long term

• Boulder Valley School District (BVSD) must be on the resilience strategy steering
committee

• Student debt and workforce education are weaknesses that are not acknowledged in the
phase 1 assessments, although the ability to develop meaningful local actions to mitigate
the community risk was questioned

• A potential study area could be to assess effect of in-commuters on the workforce if they
cannot get to Boulder during an emergency

• Some council members indicated that they thought the neighborhood liaison would be
focusing on resilience, but that perception was corrected by the City Manager who
indicated that the Liaison position would have other priority activities.

• Council members repeatedly expressed the need to focus on areas in which city can make
a difference/effect change

• Worry was expressed about city’s ability to respond to catastrophes and demonstrate
resilience under a city-owned utility

• Natural disasters and lessons learned from recent events are real and grounded issues,
especially groundwater intrusion and public works infrastructure

• Integration with existing city Master Plans will make an impact

Attachment A - SS Summary for May 12, 2015 Resilient Boulder item

Agenda Item 3F     Page 4Packet Page 39



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: JUNE 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE 

Consideration of a motion to authorize the city manager to execute an agreement in the 

form that is generally described in the attachment to this memo related to the 

disbursement of funds associated with the “community, culture, and public safety” sales 

and use tax to fund improvements for the Boulder Historical Society’s Museum of 

Boulder located at 2205 Broadway, Boulder. 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  

Tom Carr, City Attorney 

David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 

Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 

Joanna Crean, Public Works Projects Coordinator 

Joe Castro, Facilities & Fleet Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On November 4, 2014, Boulder voters approved Ballot Measure 2A for the purpose of 

funding a variety of capital improvement projects for specific Community, Culture and 

Safety projects, including renovation of the Museum of Boulder located at 2205 

Broadway.  Pursuant to Ordinance 7983 regarding Ballot Measure 2A, the City intends to 

appropriate $4,000,000 for the Museum of Boulder.  The City will appropriate the entire 

amount if all of the terms of the Agreement (Attachment A) are satisfied and the City 

collects all of the revenue that it anticipated in Ballot Measure 2A.   

The purpose of this item is to seek city council’s authorization for the disbursement of 

funds to the Boulder Historical Society for the purposes of creating the Museum of 

Boulder in the Masonic lodge building located at Broadway and Pine Street. 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 1Packet Page 40



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 

motion: 

Motion to authorize the city manager to enter into an agreement with the Museum of 

Boulder to approve the disbursement of funds in accordance with Ballot Measure 2A, the 

form which is attached to this memorandum as Attachment A. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic – Improvements to the facility are expected to increase travel and

visitation to the arts, cultural, and historical facilities and to the City of Boulder.

 Environmental – Although it is expected that the improvements to the facility will

generate more travel to the City of Boulder, the project includes efficient and

effective improvements to infrastructure, which would help address

environmental sustainability.

 Social – The projects and improvements would provide more opportunities for

everyone to enjoy the uniqueness of Boulder and provide more cultural,

educational, and interpretative activities to enhance the quality of life in Boulder.

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal – The Boulder Historical Society will operate the museum.  It has a long

history of operating a museum in the City and has been a partner with the City on

matters such as historical archives at Carnegie Library and leasing the Harbeck-

Bergheim House to the society for use as a museum.  Disbursements to the

Museum of Boulder will be matched by private fundraising efforts in the spirit of

partnership.

 Staff time – Some staff time will be required to administer and monitor

compliance with the Disbursement Agreement and to process payments to the

Museum of Boulder. This can be accomplished with existing staff resources.

BACKGROUND 

On November 4, 2014, at the special municipal coordinated election, Boulder voters 

approved Ballot Measure 2A pursuant to Ordinance No. 7983.  Ballot Measure 2A 

authorized a temporary sales tax increase of up to 0.3 cents on every dollar from January 

1, 2015 through December 31, 2017, the revenue of which could be spent on funding a 

variety of capital improvement projects for the purposes of community, culture and 

safety.  

Ballot Measure 2A authorized funding for up to appropriate $4,000,000 for the Museum 

of Boulder (“Museum”), to be matched by private fund raising efforts. The Museum, with 

purchase money debt, recently acquired the historic Masonic Lodge at Broadway and 

Pine with plans to convert the building into an expanded museum that will accommodate 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 2Packet Page 41



larger displays as well as traveling exhibits in a specially designed gallery.  The 

Museum’s scope would be expanded to allow for science and technology exhibits, as well 

as enhanced programming and space for children.  Conceptual plans have been prepared 

but the precise content of the Museum of Boulder will be determined through a 

subsequent collaborative process involving members of the Museum’s staff and the 

Museums’ designers and professionals, with appropriate public input.  The estimated cost 

of debt retirement and renovation and improvements to the Museum of Boulder is 

estimated to be at least $8 million dollars.   

At the May 19, 2015 city council meeting, the council discussed and provided direction 

to staff on the extent of any security interest that the City would have in the Museum in 

the early years of its operation.  Council members discussed a security interest of 5 to 10 

years.  A majority of the council members present favored a 5 year security interest. 

ANALYSIS 

The Disbursement Agreement is intended to constitute the terms and conditions 

anticipated in Ballot Measure 2A (Ordinance No. 7983) for the disbursement and use of 

up to $4,000,000 from the approved tax revenues and allocated to the Museum of 

Boulder and more specifically the Boulder Historical Society, d/b/a Boulder History 

Museum.  Major points of the Disbursement Agreement are as follows:   

 The City intends to appropriate $4,000,000 towards renovation, capital

improvement and debt retirement for the Museum pursuant to Ballot Measure 2A.

The City will appropriate the entire amount if all of the terms of the Agreement

are satisfied. In the event that the City does not meet tax revenue collection

expectations estimated for Ballot Measure 2A, the City agrees that it will not

request a return of any funds previously paid as Interim Disbursements under the

Agreement.

 Prior to disbursements of any funds to the Museum of Boulder (“Museum”) the

Museum must first raise and dedicate private funds up to $2,500,000 to match the

City’s contributions.  The Museum will provide the City with “Contribution

Certificates,” which will certify the amount of private contributions made to the

Museum.  Once the Museum has certified that is has received $2,500,000 in

private contributions, the City, subject to prior appropriation, will then remit an

amount equal to the amount identified in the Contribution Certificate.  Thereafter,

the City will tender Interim Disbursements to the Museum in an amount equal to

that identified in subsequent Contribution Certificates. The aggregate amount of

the Interim Disbursements by the City to the Museum will not exceed $4,000,000.

 Disbursements will be used only for the creation of the Museum, including

exhibit design, fabrication and installation, as well as renovation of the Masonic

Lodge into a museum and retirement of debt incurred to purchase the Museum

property at 2205 Broadway.  The Museum anticipates final costs of approximately

$8,000,000 to become operational, with approximately 1/3 of the funds to go to

acquisition costs, 1/3 for renovation costs, and 1/3 towards creating exhibit space.

 Until such time as the Museum is open to the public, the Museum will deliver

Agenda Item 3H     Page 3Packet Page 42



annual reports to the City identifying how the disbursements have been spent 

towards the creation of the Museum and other progress made towards the 

completion of the Museum.  

 The Boulder Historical Society also agrees to keep the museum open to the public

for at least ten years after it opens.

The agreement includes a requirement that the Museum provide the City with a security 

interest for a period of 5 years by granting the City a deed of trust.  The security interest 

will be subordinate to the existing and future encumbrances on the property in an amount 

of $3 million. 

The Boulder Historical Society is a nonprofit corporation that has provided historical and 

cultural resources to the community for over 70 years.  The disbursement agreement is 

intended to provide the City with some level of security while the museum transitions 

into the new facility at 2205 Broadway.  The City’s investment will match those of 

private donors.  The agreement is intended to strike a balance between responsible use of 

the community, culture, and safety sales and use tax revenues and the need for the 

Museum to be able to plan for its financial future.  A letter from Nancy Geyer, the 

Executive Director of the Boulder Historical Society and Museum of Boulder, can be 

found in Attachment B.  The letter summarizes the Museum’s perspective on the 

disbursement agreement. 

ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment A: Proposed Disbursement Agreement with the Boulder Historical Society, 

d/b/a Museum of Boulder. 

Attachment B: Letter from Museum of Boulder, Nancy Geyer, dated June 9, 2015. 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 4Packet Page 43



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 5Packet Page 44



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 6Packet Page 45



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 7Packet Page 46



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 8Packet Page 47



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 9Packet Page 48



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 10Packet Page 49



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 11Packet Page 50



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 12Packet Page 51



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 13Packet Page 52



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 14Packet Page 53



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 15Packet Page 54



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 16Packet Page 55



Attachment A - Proposed Agreement

Agenda Item 3H     Page 17Packet Page 56



June 9, 2015 

Dear Members of the Boulder City Council, 

I will begin by thanking you all for your support of the Museum of Boulder by placing on the 
November 2014 ballot the 2A temporary tax measure to support community, culture and safety 
in Boulder. With nearly 64% of voters approving this tax, we can feel confident that our 
community recognizes the value of cultural assets in our city. 

The Museum of Boulder is well on our way to securing the additional $4 million that we need to 
match the $4 million we will receive from the 2A tax. We are looking forward to finalizing the 
agreement between the City and the Museum on the distribution of the 2A dollars. There has 
been much discussion regarding whether the City should have a security interest in the property 
at 2205 Broadway. The Museum’s position on this issue is that we would prefer that the City not 
have a security interest on the property. However, if Council believes this is important, please 
consider limiting the duration of that interest. There are several reasons for this: 

1. The first, as George Karakehian expressed at the May 19, 2015 council meeting, there are
potential negative impacts to our ability to secure funding from potential donors if the 
City has a protracted security interest in the building. 

2. The security interest prevents the Museum from selling the building. Should we become
extremely successful in the future and have an opportunity to move to a larger facility, 
the security interest would prevent us from seizing that opportunity to move because we 
would not be able to sell the building. 

3. The security interest prevents the Museum from incurring more than $3 million in
secured bank debt. Again, if we are very successful and have an opportunity to expand, 
we would not be able to borrow money for the expansion. 

The Museum can commit to these contingencies for the next five years, however, the farther out 
the security interest extends, the more difficult it becomes for the Museum to predict future 
needs or opportunities. We request that if the City Council feels strongly that the City have a 
security interest in the Museum building, you consider about five years. That would ensure that 
the 2A funds will be applied to the creation of the Museum of Boulder, which we hope to open in 
2017, but will not impair the Museum’s flexibility in the more distant future. 

Thank you so much for your consideration. 

Best regards, 

Nancy Geyer 
Executive Director & CEO 
Museum of Boulder 

Cc: David Gehr 
      Jane Brautigam 

Attachment B - Letter

Agenda Item 3H     Page 18Packet Page 57



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of a motion to approve the disposal of an interest in Open 
Space lands pursuant to Boulder City Charter Section 177 through the grant of easements to 
Public Service Company of Colorado for overhead power lines along Thomas Lane and on 
the T.H.P. Open Space property, as described in Attachment D, conditioned upon Public 
Service Company of Colorado executing a quit claim deed in a form acceptable to the city 
terminating whatever rights and interest it may have to the  Lower Big Bluestem power line 
access route. 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tracy Winfree, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Jim Schmidt, Property Agent 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Public Service Company of Colorado (PSCo) has been upgrading the power lines in the 
Shanahan Ridge area of the city of Boulder over the past two years. The lines provide electrical 
service to over 300 residences in that area, many of which rely predominantly on electricity to 
heat their homes in the cooler months.  The proposed project will upgrade 1,750 feet of the 
existing 13-kilovolt electrical distribution line that runs from State Highway (SH) 93 (S. 
Broadway) westerly along the south side of Thomas Lane to where it will tie into the new 
underground line (which Open Space Board of Trustees and City Council granted an easement 
for in 2014) that crosses the Dover-Blacker Open Space to the Shanahan Ridge neighborhood at 
Greenbriar (see Attachments A and B). The existing overhead line on Thomas Lane needs to be 
upgraded to match the operating capacity and reliability of the newly installed underground line. 
The new poles will be five feet taller than the existing poles (new poles are 45 feet tall).  PSCo 
has agreed to modify its proposed alignment to keep the new power line on the south side of 
Thomas Lane at the urging of the Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) staff which was 
concerned over the impacts to the trees, shrubs and wetlands should the new line be placed on 
the north side of Thomas Lane as originally envisioned by PSCo. 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 1Packet Page 58



The economic value of this easement grant is approximately $10,500.  In lieu of requiring 
compensation to the Open Space Fund from PSCo in that amount, staff desires that PSCo agrees 
to cease and desist from using the Lower Big Bluestem Trail (see Attachment C) as its access to 
the large north-south power line and thus recommends that council conditions its approval of the 
grant of the requested easements upon PSCo executing a quit claim deed to the city terminating 
whatever rights and interest it may have to this power line access route. Staff is working with 
PSCo to identify an alternative route by which the power line can be accessed. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to approve the disposal of an interest in Open Space lands pursuant to Boulder City 
Charter Section 177 through the grant of easements to PSCo for overhead power lines along 
Thomas Lane and on the T.H.P. Open Space property, as described in Attachment D, 
conditioned upon PSCo executing a quit claim deed in a form acceptable to the city 
terminating whatever rights and interest it may have to the Lower Big Bluestem power line 
access route. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic –This project improves electric service reliability to residences in the

Shanahan Ridge area of Boulder 
• Environmental – There are few environmental impacts associated with the granting of

these easements or the construction of the new overhead power line. The termination of 
the usage of the Lower Big Bluestem Trail by PSCo enhances Open Space lands and 
allows for a reclamation and possible realignment of the trail to a more sustainable 
location. 

• Social – This project improves electric service reliability to residences in the Shanahan
Ridge area of Boulder. 

OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal – This easement will have no fiscal impact on the city.
• Staff time – The only staff time involved is the time needed to create and execute the

easement document.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
At its May 13, 2015 public meeting, the Open Space Board of Trustees unanimously approved 
this disposal. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
This item was heard at the May 13, 2015 Open Space Board of Trustees public meeting, 
advertised in the Daily Camera on May 10, 2015.  A Notice of Disposal of Open Space Lands 
was published in the Daily Camera on May 1 and 2, 2015 pursuant to Section 177 of the City 
Charter.  There was no public comment about this agenda item. 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 2Packet Page 59



ANALYSIS 
Given that the existing overhead power line servicing the Shanahan Ridge neighborhood needs 
to be upgraded and replaced, rebuilding this line parallel to its current alignment is the best 
alternative from an environmental perspective.  OSMP staff has been successful in convincing 
PSCo to modify its original plans that would have shifted the location of the line to the north side 
of Thomas Lane.  Such an alignment shift would have required the removal of two large 
cottonwood trees, a very healthy mulberry bush and disturbed a riparian area, all located on the 
Shanahan Ranch property. The old power line and its attendant poles will be removed once the 
new line is constructed and put into service. 

While the new power poles will average some five feet taller than the poles they will replace, the 
visual impact will not be overly offensive as the new poles will be made of wood with only one 
cross beam at the top. 

The power line spur off of Thomas Lane that services residences south of South Boulder Creek 
has been in existence for a long time (possibly since the 1940s) but there is no recorded easement 
agreement that legitimizes its presence.  The granting of an easement across the T.H.P. Open 
Space property would resolve this inconsistency.   

The economic value of this easement grant is approximately $10,500.  In lieu of requiring 
compensation to the Open Space Fund from PSCo in that amount, staff desires that PSCo agrees 
to cease and desist from using the Lower Big Bluestem Trail as its access road to the north-south 
transmission line, therefore staff  recommends that the Board condition its approval of the grant 
of the requested easement upon PSCo executing a quit claim deed in a form acceptable to the 
city terminating whatever rights and interest it may have to this transmission line access route. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A: Vicinity Map 
B: Location Map 
C: PSCo Access: Lower Big Bluestem Trail 
D1-3: Legal Descriptions of the Power Line Easements 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 3Packet Page 60



Approximate property boundaries from 
Boulder County Assessor's data.

VICINITY MAP - Thomas Lane and THP
ATTACHMENT A - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

BoulderBoulder

LouisvilleLouisville

LongmontLongmont

I
0 1 2 3 4 50.5

Miles

SUBJECT

City of Boulder OSMP
Other Public Lands

Subject Property© 2015 City of Boulder, Colorado

All rights reserved. The map information contained hereon is
intended for the sole use of the purchaser and may not be copied, 
duplicated or redistributed in any way, in whole or in part, without 
the expressed written consent of the City of Boulder.
The information depicted is provided as a graphical representation 
only. While source documents were developed in compliance with 
National Map Accuracy Standards, the City of Boulder provides no 
guarantee, express or implied, as to the accuracy and/or 
completeness of the information contained hereon.

Path: \\osmpmap\Data\MapFiles\Property\dispositions\ThomasLane_THP\VICINITY-ThomasLane_THP.mxd

Agenda Item 3I     Page 4Packet Page 61



Document Path: \\osmpmap\Data\MapFiles\Property\Work\dispositions\ThomasLane_THP\ThomasLand_THP3.mxd AGENDA ITEM#_____PAGE_____

0 0.1 0.2 Miles
I

ATTACHMENT B - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks
LOCATION MAP - Thomas Lane and T.H.P. Easements 

 © 2015 City of Boulder, Colorado
All rights reserved. The map information contained hereon is
intended for the sole use of the purchaser and may not be copied, 
duplicated or redistributed in any way, in whole or in part,
without the expressed written consent of the City of Boulder.
The information depicted is provided as a graphical representation
only. While source documents were developed in compliance with
National Map Accuracy Standards, the City of Boulder provides no
guarantee, express or implied, as to the accuracy and/or 
completeness of the information contained hereon.

OSMP Conservation Easement
OSMP Fee Property
Proposed Power Line Easement

Agenda Item 3I     Page 5Packet Page 62



!(A

!(A

!(A

!(A
!(A

Lower Big Bluestem

ATTACHMENT C - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks
PSCo Access: Lower Big Bluestem Trail

Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Property\dispositions\ThomasLane_THP\PSCoAccessExtiguished_AttC.mxd

Agenda Item 3I     Page 6Packet Page 63



Agenda Item 3I     Page 7Packet Page 64



Agenda Item 3I     Page 8Packet Page 65



Agenda Item 3I     Page 9Packet Page 66



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution No. 1161 

declaring the city of Boulder’s official intent to participate in a future issuance of a 

Water and Sewer revenue bonds and to reimburse itself for capital  expenditures 

undertaken in advance of such financing made from the Water and Wastewater 

funds, including, without limitation, architectural, engineering, appraisal, 

surveying, acquisition, site preparation and other costs incidental to the 

commencement of construction of the financed project.  

PRESENTER/S  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 

Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance  

Jeff Arthur, Director of Utilities 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The passage of this resolution will allow the Utilities Department to use some of their fund 

balance to fund expenditures if they have the opportunity to do so prior to receiving bond 

proceeds anticipated in September.  By allowing an advance from their fund balance, Utilities 

can continue to actively pursue capital improvements with currently available appropriated funds 

up to $10,000,000 until the closing of the upcoming water and sewer bonds occurs in September.  

When the Series 2015 bonds are issued, the current available funds can be reimbursed from the 

bond proceeds.  This reimbursement is available for funds expended up to sixty days prior to the 

date of this resolution. This is being done to provide maximum flexibility for the Water and 

Wastewater funds so they can continue to address capital improvement issues, and to help meet 

the three year 85 percent Internal Revenue Service requirements for the expenditure of municipal 

bond proceeds.  The use of a reimbursement resolution is commonly used when issuing debt. 

The City has used the methodology with other bond issues to provide for effective and efficient 

use of resouces.    

Agenda Item 3J    Page 1Packet Page 67



The passage of this resolution is a formality required by federal tax law to allow the City to 

reimburse itself from bond proceeds for capital improvements prior to the bond proceeds 

arriving. This resolution does not authorize the bond sale.  Therefore, the impact analysis of 

using board and commission feedback and public feedback will be addressed when the Notice of 

Sale Resolution is brought to Council at a future date. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  

Move to adopt Resolution No. 1161 authorizing up to $10,000,000 of reimbursement 

from bond proceeds for Water and Wastewater funds that could be expended between 

now and the arrival of the bond proceeds. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

The passage of a reimbursement resolution has no economic, environmental or social impact on 

residents of the City of Boulder.  These impacts do occur with the Notice of Sale Resolution that 

is being brought to Council at the August 18
th

 meeting.

OTHER IMPACTS 

 There are no fiscal or other impacts that occur due to the passage of a reimbursement

resolution.

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

On some occasions, the receipt of bond proceeds cannot be timed to coincide with when money 

will be needed. By passing a reimbursement resolution, the Water and Wastewater fund balances 

could be used to fund capital improvement projects. The funds will then be reimbursed from the 

bond proceeds when they are received.  If the fund balance money is not needed, the 

reimbursement resolution expires when the bond proceeds are received and no reimbursement 

occurs. 

The resolution is required by federal law to comply with tax exempt bonding requirements. The 

following items must be included in the resolution: 

 An announcement and acknowledgement of the municipality’s expectation to issue

bonds.

 An announcement and acknowledgement that the municipality will reimburse itself from

bond proceeds for capital expenditures.

If this action is not approved, the Water and Wastewater funds cannot reimburse themselves 

from bond proceeds if there is an unforeseen delay in the issuance of the bonds.  The resolution 

is written to allow flexibility in the timeline in case some unexpected delay occurs. 

ATTACHMENT  

A:  Reimbursement Resolution No. 1161 

Agenda Item 3J    Page 2Packet Page 68



RESOLUTION No. 1161 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO (ACTING THROUGH ITS WATER UTILITY ENTERPRISE 

AND ITS WASTEWATER UTILITY ENTERPRISE), TO PARTICIPATE IN A 

FUTURE ISSUANCE OF WATER AND SEWER REVENUE BONDS AND TO 

REIMBURSE ITSELF FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURES UNDERTAKEN IN 

ADVANCE OF SUCH FINANCING IN CONNECTION WITH THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF THE PROJECTS 

WHEREAS, the City of Boulder (the “City”), in the State of Colorado (the “State”), is a 

political subdivision duly organized and existing pursuant to the constitution and laws of the 

State; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City (the “Governing Body”) is the governing body 

of the City and the City’s Water Utility Enterprise and Wastewater Utility Enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body has determined that it is in the best interest of the City 

to make or cause to be made certain capital expenditures relating to the construction, acquisition, 

improvement and equipping of certain treatment and capacity improvements to the City’s 

wastewater treatment system (collectively the “Projects”); and  

WHEREAS, the Governing Body currently intends and reasonably expects to participate 

in a tax-exempt borrowing to finance such capital expenditures for the Projects, including an 

amount not-to-exceed $10,000,000 for reimbursing the City for capital expenditures for the 

Projects incurred or to be incurred subsequent to a period commencing 60 days prior to the date 

hereof, and ending prior to the later of 18 months of the date of such capital expenditures or the 

placing in service of the Projects (but in no event more than 3 years after the date of the original 

expenditure of such moneys); and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body hereby desires to declare its official intent, pursuant to 

26 C.F.R. § 1.150-2, to reimburse the City for such capital expenditures with the proceeds of the 

City’s future tax-exempt borrowing. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO THAT: 

Section 1.  Declaration of Official Intent.  The City shall, presently intends, and 

reasonably expects to finance the Projects in part with proceeds of tax exempt bonds to be issued 

by the City at a later date. 

Section 2.  Dates of Capital Expenditures.  All of the capital expenditures covered by 

this Resolution will be made on and after the date which is 60 days prior to the effective date of 

this Resolution. 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3J    Page 3Packet Page 69



Section 3.  Issuance of Bonds, Notes or Other Obligations.  The City presently intends 

and reasonably expects to participate in a tax-exempt borrowing within 18 months of the date of 

the expenditure of moneys on the Projects or the date or dates upon which the Projects are placed 

in service, whichever is later (but in no event more than 3 years after the date of the original 

expenditure of such moneys), and to allocate from said borrowing an amount not to exceed 

$10,000,000 of the proceeds thereof to reimburse the City for its expenditures in connection with 

the Projects. 

Section 4.  Confirmation of Prior Acts.  All prior acts and doings of the officials, agents 

and employees of the City which are in conformity with the purpose and intent of this 

Resolution, and in furtherance of the Projects, shall be and the same hereby are in all respects 

ratified, approved and confirmed. 

Section 5.  Effective Date of Resolution.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately 

upon its passage. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting this 16
th

 day of June, 2015.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

________________________________________  

Mayor 

[SEAL] 

Attest: 

_________________________________  

Clerk 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3J    Page 4Packet Page 70



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Third reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 
No. 8045 Amending Title 6, “Health Safety and Sanitation,” B.R.C. 1981 to add 
Universal Zero Waste Requirements. 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Janet Michels, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Kara Mertz, Environmental Project Manager 
Jamie Harkins, Sustainability Specialist II 
Kelle Boumansour, Sustainability Specialist I 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On June 2, 2015, City Council amended and approved on second reading Ordinance No. 
8045 (7-0; T. Plass absent; S. Jones recused), amending B.R.C. Title 6, “Health Safety 
and Sanitation,” B.R.C. 1981 to add Universal Zero Waste Requirements. Attachment 
A includes the revised ordinance language for adoption. The language removed from the 
ordinance on second reading was from subsection 6-12-6(c) and read as follows: 

“However, each customer may designate another recyclables processing center 
by notifying the hauler of that designation in writing. This written notification 
must be given at the initiative of the customer, not the hauler and may not be 
written on a form furnished by the hauler.” 

On June 2, council was also advised of three compliance schedules for all businesses and 
this, along with other rules of interpretation will be incorporated into a City Manager’s 
Rule (an outline of which is included in Attachment B) to be published for public 
comment later this year.  
The second reading memo can be found at: https://www-
static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20150602_Agenda_Packet_final-1-201505281121.pdf. 
Upon review of the amendments made at the June 2 council meeting, it became clear that 
removal of the two sentences from subsection 6-12-6(c) did not delete enough of this 
subsection, and an additional, non-substantive deletion must be made. That is, the phrase, 
“In the absence of an express written designation to the contrary initiated by the customer,” 
must also be removed from this subsection in order to be clear and consistent. 

Agenda Item 3K     Page 1Packet Page 71

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20150602_Agenda_Packet_final-1-201505281121.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20150602_Agenda_Packet_final-1-201505281121.pdf


Therefore, staff is recommending council adopt this ordinance on third reading and this 
non-substantive amendment be presented and voted upon during a future Supplemental 
Ordinance. As an alternative, council may choose to remove this phrase now and 
schedule this Ordinance 8045 for a fourth reading. 
Regardless of the procedural decision around this non-substantive change, the final 
ordinance requires the following: 

• All property owners provide adequate trash, recycling and composting service to
their tenants and occupants;

• All businesses separate recyclables and compostables from the trash; providing
properly placed containers and signage to facilitate the collection of recyclables
and compostables;

• All special events in Boulder provide both recycling and composting collection;
• The “six-day review” special trash collection period for student move-in begin to

also include a requirement for twice per week recycling collection; and
• All recyclable materials be directed to the Boulder County Recycling Center,

with a provision allowing the City Manager to set conditions under which clean,
pre-sorted paper may be sold elsewhere.

II. STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8045 amending Title 6, “Health Safety and 
Sanitation,” B.R.C. 1981 to add Universal Zero Waste Requirements contained in 
Attachment A. 
Furthermore, council directs staff to return to council with a supplemental ordinance to 
correct the remaining inconsistent language from subsection 6-12-6(c). 

III. COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS
• Economic – Universal Zero Waste requirements level the playing field between

various businesses in the Boulder community, ensuring a consistent level of
service is provided to employees and customers throughout the community. While
the cost to some businesses may increase by requiring additional compostables
and recyclables be collected separately from trash, some businesses will find their
efforts toward zero waste allow them to decrease the frequency of trash collection
from the business. The economic sustainability is addressed in more depth in the
Analysis section of this memo.

• Environmental – Based on the goals and criteria for analysis included in the draft
Zero Waste Strategic Plan, the Universal Zero Waste ordinance moves the
Boulder community closer to its zero waste and greenhouse gas emissions
reduction goals. A comparison of the relative environmental impacts of the
alternative compliance schedules is contained in the Analysis section of this
memo.

Agenda Item 3K     Page 2Packet Page 72



• Social – The intent of the Universal Zero Waste ordinance requirements is to level
the playing field between sectors of the population in Boulder. The multi-family
property owner requirements assure that whether you are renting or own your
home or whether you live in a single-family or multi-family residence, you will
have equal access to recycling and composting collection services. Furthermore,
wherever you work in Boulder or where your children attend school, the “rules”
will all be the same. This helps minimize confusion and facilitates standardized
and understandable guidelines for everyone in the community.

IV. OTHER IMPACTS
• Fiscal – Implementation support for this ordinance is covered by 2015 trash tax

revenues and fund balance from 2014.1 The estimated expenses for ordinance
implementation are $738,000, detailed in the Budget section of this memo. Future
enforcement and compliance tracking expenses are also anticipated to be covered
by existing trash tax revenues.

• Staff time – Ordinance implementation and assistance represent a significant
amount of work  over the coming year, covered by a total of 3.0 FTEs spread
between five city staff members, additional work through city contractors,
community partners, two interns and many volunteers.

V.  PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
Twelve community members spoke during the public hearing on June 2. While all 
speakers were very supportive of the ordinance, representatives from the Boulder County 
Resource Conservation Division expressed concern that the ordinance language and 
proposed draft City Manager’s Rule do not go far enough to prevent high-value paper 
from being directed away from the Boulder County recycling Center. A representative of 
Western Disposal expressed concern that the City Manager’s Rule could be too restrictive 
and result in higher costs to Boulder businesses that pre-sort their cardboard. A 
representative from Boulder Tomorrow stated he was also troubled by the language that 
directed materials to the Boulder County Recycling Center. 

VI. NEXT STEPS:
After adoption of the ordinance, staff will prepare for its implementation. Staff will draft 
the City Manager Rule and post it for public comment. Staff will return to council with a 
final Zero Waste Strategic Plan and associated Action Plan (as well as partners’ action 
plans) in the fall of 2015, and will report to council on a quarterly basis regarding any 
compliance, tracking or enforcement issues. One year after the ordinance compliance 
date, staff will return to council with any recommended ordinance clean-up based on any 
compliance or enforcement issues that might arise. 

ATTACHMENTS  
A: Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading 
B: City Manager’s Rule outline 

1 The adjustment to base for Trash Tax fund balance was included in the budget supplemental request on 
May 19, 2015. 

Agenda Item 3K     Page 3Packet Page 73



K:\cmen\o-8045-3rd-1974.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

ORDINANCE NO. 8045 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS 6-3-2, 
“DEFINITIONS,” 6-3-3, “ACCUMULATION OF TRASH, 
RECYCLABLES, AND COMPOSTABLES PROHIBITED,” 6-3-
9, “SPECIAL TRASH SERVICE REQUIREMENTS ON 
CERTAIN RESIDENTIAL RENTAL PROPERTIES AT 
CERTAIN TIMES,” AND 6-12-6, “DISPOSITION OF 
RECYCLABLE OR COMPOSTABLE MATERIALS,” B.R.C. 
1981, AND ADDING NEW SECTIONS 6-3-13, PROPERTY 
OWNER REQUIREMENTS FOR RECYCLABLES AND 
COMPOSTABLES COLLECTION,” 6-3-14, “BUSINESS 
OWNER REQUIREMENTS FOR RECYCLABLES AND 
COMPOSTABLES COLLECTION,” 6-3-15, SPECIAL EVENTS 
REQUIREMENTS FOR RECYCLABLES AND  
COMPOSTABLES COLLECTIONS,” 6-3-16, 
“APPLICABILITY,” 6-3-17, “EXEMPTIONS,” 6-3-18, 
“VIOLATIONS,” B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

WHEREAS, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, 

FINDS AND RECITES THE FOLLOWING: 

The city, through its policies, programs, and laws, supports efforts to reduce the amount 

of waste that must be disposed of in landfills and pursues "zero waste" as a long-term goal by 

emphasizing waste prevention efforts;  

A. The City of Boulder has been managing recycling and composting programs since 

1981 when the Trash Tax, Chapter 3-10, B.R.C. 1981, was first instituted; 

B. The City has found the most effective way to ensure maximum recovery of 

recyclable and compostable materials from  trash is to require they be separated from trash; 

C. City Council encourages businesses that prepare, serve or sell food to investigate 

donating or repurposing edible food waste prior to composting it; 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading

Agenda Item 3K     Page 4Packet Page 74



K:\cmen\o-8045-3rd-1974.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

D. No entity currently exists in Boulder County that will accept mixed trash and 

separate it into recyclable and compostable materials offsite. Such post-collection processing of 

mixed trash and recyclable materials is not an environmentally effective or efficient method of 

managing trash; 

E. The Boulder County Recycling Center is a publicly owned facility that can bolster 

the City’s goals of increasing both the amount of recyclables being processed and the efficiency 

of implementing the City’s Zero Waste Strategic and Action plans; 

F. Therefore, the purpose of this Ordinance is to ensure every person within the City 

of Boulder is able to separate recyclables and compostables from trash and that the materials 

designated by the City Manager to be recyclable and compostable are recycled and composted 

properly. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  6-3-2, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-3-2.  - Definitions. 

The definitions in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, shall apply to this chapter, 
including, without limitation, the definitions of compostables, hauler, recyclable materials, trash, 
trash container, visible to the public, and wildlife-resistant container. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context 
clearly indicates otherwise: 

Bear-resistant container shall mean a container that meets the requirements for such a 
container established by the city manager in a rule adopted pursuant to Section 6-3-11, "City 
Manager Authorized to Issue Rules," B.R.C. 1981. 

Bear-resistant dumpster shall mean a dumpster that meets the requirements for such a 
container established by the city manager in a rule adopted pursuant to Section 6-3-11, "City 
Manager Authorized to Issue Rules," B.R.C. 1981. 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading

Agenda Item 3K     Page 5Packet Page 75



K:\cmen\o-8045-3rd-1974.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

Bear-resistant enclosure shall mean a fully enclosed structure that meets the 
requirements for such a container established by the city manager in a rule adopted pursuant to 
Section 6-3-11, "City Manager Authorized to Issue Rules," B.R.C. 1981. 

Business shall have the meaning set forth in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and 
as used in this section shall also include, without limitation, educational institutions, and 
charitable or nonprofit organizations. 

Owner shall have the meaning set forth in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and 
as used in this section, shall include a business operator or business manager. With respect to 
requirements relating to the provision of recyclable and compostable materials collection for a 
condominium or cooperatively owned development, “owner shall include the owners’ 
association or its equivalent. 

Person shall have the meaning set forth in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and 
shall also include, without limitation, owner of any property or vacant land; occupant, owner, 
operator, or manager of any single-unit dwelling, multi-unit dwelling, mobile home, mobile 
home park, private club, or other similar property; or owner, operator, manager, or employee of 
any business or business property. 

Property Manager shall mean any person who is an owner’s representative, has charge 
of, or controls any property of an owner appointed to manage on-site property operations 
including trash collection services for the property. 

Refuse attractant shall mean any trash or other substance which could reasonably be 
expected to attract wildlife or does attract wildlife, including, but not limited to, soiled diapers, 
sanitary pads, food products, pet food, feed, kitchen organic waste, food, food packaging, 
toothpaste, deodorant, cosmetics, spices, seasonings, or grease. Attractants do not include 
recyclable materials properly enclosed in a recycling container, or materials that do not meet the 
definition of trash in Section 1-2-1, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and is fruit associated with a 
fruit tree or bush, produce associated with a garden, or a bird feeder. 

Self-haul when used in reference to trash, recyclable and/or compostable materials 
generated by a business or person, shall mean the collection and transportation of such materials 
from a property where an owner, employee or agent of the property or business hauls the 
material rather than  a hauler or to perform this function 

Venue facility means any structure used for temporary events. 

Section 2.  6-3-3(b), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-3-3. - Accumulation of Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables Prohibited. 

… 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading

Agenda Item 3K     Page 6Packet Page 76



K:\cmen\o-8045-3rd-1974.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

(b)  No owner of any property containing one or more rental dwelling units shall fail to 
maintain in effect a current and valid contract with a one or more haulers  providing for 
the removal of accumulated trash, recyclables and compostables from the property, which 
contract shall provide for sufficient trash, recyclables and compostable materials hauling 
to accommodate the regular accumulation of trash, recyclables and compostables from 
the property. Properties containing one or more rental dwelling units shall maintain a 
contract for the collection of trash no less frequently than on a biweekly basis.  

… 

Section 3.  6-3-9(c), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-3-9. - Special Trash Service Requirements on Certain Residential Rental Properties at 
Certain Times.  

(c) Within the special trash service zone and during a designated period, no owner of 
property required to be licensed by Section 10-3-2, "Rental License Required Before 
Occupancy and License Exemptions," B.R.C. 1981, shall fail to maintain in effect a 
current and valid contract with a commercial trash hauler providing for the removal of 
accumulated trash from the property, which contract provides for trash hauling: 
(1) The hauler will check the regular trash containers for the property every day, 

excluding Sundays and holidays. 
(1)(2) The recyclables hauler will check the regular recycling containers for the property 

at least two times per week during the city manager’s designated consecutive days in 
the third quarter of the calendar year.  

(2)(3) Any trash container which is full Monday through Friday will be emptied by the 
hauler. On Saturdays, containers will be emptied if more than half full. 

(4) Any trash which is on the ground or otherwise near the container is picked up by the 
hauler. 

(3)(5) Any recycling container which is more than half full when checked will be 
emptied by the recyclables hauler. 

Section 4.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-13. - Property Owner Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection. 

(a) For all services that meet the requirements of this section, the property owner or property 
manager must establish on-site collection areas for recyclable and compostable materials 
that are convenient to occupants and tenants. The recycling and compost collection 
containers shall be placed in a location or locations within reasonable and convenient 
proximity to all buildings and other uses on site and be at least as convenient to occupants 
and tenants as trash containers.  

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading

Agenda Item 3K     Page 7Packet Page 77



K:\cmen\o-8045-3rd-1974.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

(b) When a property owner or property manager provides janitorial services to its tenants, 
employees or occupants, the contract for janitorial services shall include recyclables and 
compostables collection service that meets the requirements of this section. 

(c) At least once per year, the property owner or property manager shall conduct training and 
distribute to all tenants information about how to use the on-site system established for 
collection of recyclables and compostables pursuant to this section. Property owners and 
managers shall provide new tenants with this information within 30 days of tenant move-
in and no later than the thirtieth day after a substantive change in the recycling or 
composting location or service offered at the property. 

(d) Property owners or managers must maintain and make available upon request, to the city 
manager for inspection and copying during normal business hours, any contracts and 
invoices for collection and disposition of recyclable and/or compostable materials for a 
period covering the most recent three years. 

Section 5.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-14. - Business Owner Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection. 

(a) All business owners must separate recyclable and compostable material from the trash 
and wherever business owners provide trash containers to employees or customers, they 
must also provide recyclables and compostables containers for employees and customers’ 
use. Containers must be at least as conveniently located as trash and be of adequate size 
and number to prevent recyclables and compostables from being mixed with trash.  

(b) At least once per year, business owners must conduct training that instructs all employees 
how to use the containers established for collection of recyclables and compostables 
pursuant to this section. Business owners shall provide new employees with this 
information within 30 days of when the employee begins work and no later than the 
thirtieth day after a substantive change in the recycling or composting service offered at 
the business. 

(c) All business owners must provide Spanish and English or picture-only signs at each 
recyclables and compostables container, clearly indicating the appropriate materials to be 
placed inside the container in accordance with rules issued by the city manager. 

(d) Business owners or managers must maintain and make available upon request, to the city 
manager for inspection and copying during normal business hours, any contracts and 
invoices for collection and disposition of recyclable and/or compostable materials for a 
period covering the most recent three years. 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading

Agenda Item 3K     Page 8Packet Page 78



K:\cmen\o-8045-3rd-1974.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

Section 6.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-15. - Special Events Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection. 

All special events and temporary events at a venue facility in the City of Boulder must 
provide recyclables and compostables collection in compliance with the city’s Special Event 
Permit requirements. 

Section 7.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-16. – Applicability. 

(a)   The requirements of section 6-3-13, “Property Owner Requirements for Recyclables and 
Compostables Collection” shall apply to all property owners within the City of Boulder 
beginning one year from the date this Ordinance is adopted by city council. 

(b)   The requirements of section 6-3-14, “Business Owner Requirements for Recyclables and 
Compostables Collection,” shall apply to all businesses existing within the City of 
Boulder by the date established in a rule adopted by the city manager in accordance with 
Chapter 1-4, “Rulemaking,” B.R.C. 1981.  

(c)   The requirements of section 6-3-15, “Special Events Requirements for Recyclables and 
Compostables Collection” shall apply to all special events and temporary events at venue 
facilities beginning on January 1, 2016. 

Section 8.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-17. - Exemptions. 

(a) Applications for exemptions from complying with the requirements of sections 6-3-13, 
“Property Owner Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection,” or 6-3-
14, “Business Owner Requirements, must be made by the owner of the property or 
business. Any exemption shall be for a period of one year. Property or business owners 
may re-apply for one additional exemption at the expiration of the initial exemption 
period. City staff will review exemption applications and work with the applicants to 
bring the property owner or business owner into compliance. Applications must be 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading

Agenda Item 3K     Page 9Packet Page 79



K:\cmen\o-8045-3rd-1974.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

received within sixty days of the start of the compliance period established in section 6-3-
17, “Applicability.” The city manager may issue additional rules that govern the 
conditions under which an application for an exemption may be submitted and granted. In 
order to be granted an exemption, applicants must demonstrate they have considered all 
reasonable options that would bring their business or property into compliance and must 
explain to the satisfaction of the city manager why none of these options are viable. The 
city manager shall determine whether an exemption will be granted. Applications for an 
exemption may require submission of an application processing fee. 

(b) The following persons are exempt from the provisions of this chapter: 

(1) The owner of a business that occupies less than fifty percent of the floor area of a 
residence. 

(2) A business or property owner or manager that can demonstrate extreme economic 
hardship as defined by the city manager. 

(3) Businesses that generate a de minimis volume of trash, recyclables or compostables 
as defined by the city manager. 

(4) Any business owner or manager who can demonstrate that compliance would require 
the business to violate other municipal codes or regulations, or applicable state or 
federal regulations. 

(5) A businesses or property owner that hauls its own trash, recyclables or compostables 
as certified by a self-hauling certification, the contents and format of which is defined 
by the city manager, may be granted an exemption from section 6-3-3(b). 

(6) A property or business owner that composts on-site in compliance with all applicable 
laws pertaining to Title 6, Chapter 3, Section 6-3-6, “Compost piles permitted if not a 
nuisance.” 

(7) Property owners that share collection service as certified by a shared service 
certification, the contents and format of which is defined by the city manager, may be 
granted an exemption from section 6-3-3(b). 

(8) A business or property owner that can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the city 
manager that the property is sufficiently space constrained so as to preclude 
compliance with the provisions of these sections.   

(9) Innovation exemption - business or property owner may apply for an exemption if 
they are reusing or repurposing a significant portion of their waste stream. 

Section 9.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-18. - Violations. 

If the city manager finds a violation of any provision of this chapter, the manager, after 
notice and an opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by Chapter 1-3, "Quasi-

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading

Agenda Item 3K     Page 10Packet Page 80



K:\cmen\o-8045-3rd-1974.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981, may impose a civil penalty according to the following 
schedule: 

(a)   For the first violation of the provision, $500; 

(b)   For the second violation of the same provision, $1,000; 

(c)   For the third and subsequent violations of the same provision, $2,000; and 

(d)   The city manager's authority under this section is in addition to any other authority the 
manager has to enforce this chapter, and election of one remedy by the manager shall 
not preclude resorting to any other remedy as well.  

(e)   Violations of this chapter are also punishable as provided in Section 5-2-4, "General 
Penalties," B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 10.  6-12-6, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-12-6. - Disposition of Recyclable or Compostable Materials. 

(a) No person other than the person placing the recyclables or compostables for collection or 
that person's designated hauler shall take physical possession of any recyclables or 
compostables separated from trash, set out in the vicinity of the curb or alleys, and 
plainly marked for recyclables or compostables collection. 

(b) Each property owner, property manager, residential customer, commercial customer, or 
multifamily customer shall relinquish recyclable materials to a hauler only on the 
condition that the hauler deliver the recyclable materials only to a recyclables processing 
center as set forth in subparagraph (c) below. 

(c) In the absence of an express written designation to the contrary initiated by the customer, 
it shall be presumed that each property owner, property manager, residential customer, 
commercial customer  or multifamily customer has designated both single stream and 
source-separated, clean fiber recyclable materials as defined by city manager rules to be 
hauled to the recyclables processing center owned by Boulder County or its successor in 
interest (“Boulder County Recycling Center”).  However, each customer may designate 
another recyclables processing center by notifying the hauler of that designation in 
writing. This written notification must be given at the initiative of the customer, not the 
hauler, and may not be written on a form furnished by the hauler. The City Manager may 
designate conditions under which the presumption in this subsection (c) shall not apply 
with respect to source-separated, clean fiber recyclable materials.   

(d) Haulers shall take all compostable materials collected to a state permitted compost 
facility that is in compliance with state composting regulations and can certify that the 
material is processed into a compost or biogas product. Alternatively, haulers may deliver 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading

Agenda Item 3K     Page 11Packet Page 81



K:\cmen\o-8045-3rd-1974.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

compostable materials to a facility that repurposes the materials for beneficial uses, such 
as feeding animals, if the facility is in compliance with all federal, state and local laws. 
Haulers shall maintain receipts and records for a period of five years. Upon request by 
any customer or the city manager, haulers shall produce receipts from the facility utilized. 

Section 11.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 12.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 5th day of May, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of June, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading

Agenda Item 3K     Page 12Packet Page 82



K:\cmen\o-8045-3rd-1974.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of June, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

_____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8045, as amended on second reading

Agenda Item 3K     Page 13Packet Page 83



Universal Zero Waste Ordinance 
City Manager’s Rules 

Outline 
I. Definition of Recyclable Materials Interpreting Subsection 6-3-2. - Definitions 

• “Single Stream recyclable materials” is defined as …
• “Clean fiber recyclable materials” are defined as source-separated corrugated

cardboard, newsprint, or any other source-separated paper that conforms to national
marketing standards as established and reported by the North American Pulp and
Paper Industry Market Indices

II. Reporting Requirements Interpreting Subsections 6-3-13. - Property Owner
Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection and 6-3-14. - Business
Owner Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection.

• May require a Zero Waste Report in an electronic format provided by the City.

III. Guidelines for signage Interpreting Subsection 6-3-14. - Business Owner Requirements
for Recyclables and Compostables Collection.

• Specific requirements for English and Spanish or picture-only signs at businesses

IV. Compliance Schedule Interpreting Subsection 6-3-16. – Applicability.

(a) The requirements of section 6-3-13, “Property Owner Requirements for Recyclables and
Compostables Collection” shall apply to all property owners within the City of Boulder
beginning one year from the date this Ordinance is adopted by City Council.

(b) The requirements of section 6-3-14, “Business Owner Requirements for Recyclables and
Compostables Collection,” shall apply to all businesses existing within the City of Boulder by
the following dates:

• Fifteen months from the date this Ordinance is adopted by City Council.
• All new businesses and property owners must comply with these sections within 30

days of operating within the City of Boulder.

V. Exemption Applications Interpreting Subsection 6-3-17. - Exemptions. 
• Exemption application process
• Exemption application fees, if applicable
• Definition of extreme financial hardship
• Definition and process for filing with the City a Self-hauling Certification
• Definition and process for filing with the City a Shared Service Certification

VI. Violation Process Interpreting Subsection 6-3-18. – Violations.

If the city manager finds a violation of any provision of this chapter, the manager, after
notice and an opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by Chapter 1-3,
"Quasi-Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981, may impose a civil penalty according to the following
schedule:

(a) For the first violation of the provision, $500;  

(b) For the second violation of the same provision, $1,000; 

Attachment B - City Manager's Rule outline

Agenda Item 3K     Page 14Packet Page 84



(c) For the third and subsequent violations of the same provision, $2,000; and 

(d) The city manager's authority under this section is in addition to any other 
authority the manager has to enforce this chapter, and election of one remedy by the 
manager shall not preclude resorting to any other remedy as well.  

(e) Violations of this chapter are also punishable as provided in Section 5-2-4, 
"General Penalties," B.R.C. 1981.  

Three written warnings will be issued prior to any finding of violation. 

Notice under this subsection is sufficient if warnings and/or notices of violation are hand 
delivered, emailed, mailed, or telephoned to such person, or by posting on the premises. 

VII. Directing Materials to the Boulder County Recycling Center Interpreting Subsection 6-
12-6. – Disposition of Recyclable or Compostable Materials

The intent of this subsection of the code is to prevent high grade recyclable materials from
being diverted to recyclable processing centers, and thereby undermine the public benefit
and taxpayer investment in the Boulder County Recycling Center.

In the absence of an express written designation to the contrary initiated by the customer, it
shall be presumed that each property owner, property manager, residential customer,
commercial customer or multifamily customer has designated both single stream and
source-separated, clean fiber recyclable materials as defined above to be hauled to the
recyclables processing center owned by Boulder County or its successor in interest
(“Boulder County Recycling Center”). However, each customer may designate another
recyclables processing center by notifying the hauler of that designation in writing. This
written notification must be given at the initiative of the customer, not the hauler, and may
not be written on a form furnished by the hauler.

The presumption in this subsection (c) shall not apply with respect to source-separated,
clean fiber recyclable materials if the hauler can demonstrate in writing to the city manager
that the revenue received from the Boulder County Recycling Center is less than eighty-five
percent of the hauler rebate offered by or the net profit received from another recycling
center that also accepts single stream recyclable materials. For the purposes of this rule,
“Net Profit” shall mean the gross revenue received by a hauler for the source-separated,
clean fiber recyclable materials less the baling and any other processing costs incurred by
the processor.

Attachment B - City Manager's Rule outline

Agenda Item 3K     Page 15Packet Page 85



C I T Y  O F  B O U L D E R 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  June 16, 2015  

AGENDA TITLE: 

First reading, consideration of a motion to publish by title only, and adopt as an emergency 

measure Ordinance No. 8051 authorizing the issuance by the City of Boulder, Colorado, of its 

Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, in the aggregate principal 

amount of $23,235,000 for the purpose of providing funds to finance storm water and flood 

management improvements by the Utility and pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2015 

Bonds; prescribing the form of said Series 2015 Bonds; providing for the sale of said Series 

2015 Bonds; providing for the payment and redemption of said Series 2015 Bonds from and 

out of the revenues derived directly or indirectly by the City from the Storm Water and Flood 

Management Fee billed to customers of the City’s water and sewer systems; providing other 

details and approving other documents in connection with said Series 2015 Bonds; and 

declaring an emergency and providing the effective date hereof. 

PRESENTERS: 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 

Jeffrey Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 

Tom Carr, City Attorney 

Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 

Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 

Ron Gilbert, Assistant Controller 

Claire Stratton, Accountant II 

Ken Baird, Financial Manager, Utilities 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 1Packet Page 86



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On June 2, 2015 the City Council approved Resolution No. 1160 authorizing the City 

Manager to call for a public sale of City of Boulder, Colorado (acting through its Storm 

Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise) Storm Water and Flood Management 

Revenue Bonds, Series 2015. The public sale of the bonds is scheduled to be held on June 

16, 2015. 

The bond proceeds will be used to finance storm water and flood management 

improvements by the Utility and pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds. The 

charter of the City of Boulder requires that all bonds be competitively bid. The public sale 

will be held at 9:30 a.m. and the results of that sale will be put into the attached ordinance 

prior to the City Council meeting the night of June 16th. The bond sale ordinance must be 

adopted as an emergency measure because the bid for the bonds is only valid for 24 

hours.  

At the meeting, the following items will be distributed to the City Council: 

Change in principal amount (if any) - $_______ 

Interest rate bids by maturity – 

Maturity 

(August 15) Principal Amount         Interest Rate 

2015 $375,000 

2016 1,025,000 

2017 1,030,000 

2018 1,035,000 

2019 1,045,000 

2020 1,060,000 

2021 1,080,000 

2022 1,095,000 

2023 1,120,000 

2024 1,140,000 

2025 1,170,000 

2026 1,195,000 

2027 1,225,000 

2028 1,260,000 

2029 1,295,000 

2030  1,335,000 

2031 1,375,000 

2032   1,415,000 

2033  1,455,000      
      2034  1,505,000 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 2Packet Page 87



Bid amounts and total interest cost (TIC): 

Bidder Name TIC 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 

motion: 

A motion to publish by title only, and adopt as an emergency measure Ordinance No. 

8051 authorizing the issuance by the City of Boulder, Colorado, of its Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, in the aggregate principal amount of 

$23,235,000 for the purpose of providing funds to finance storm water and flood 

management improvements by the Utility and pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2015 

Bonds; prescribing the form of said Series 2015 Bonds; providing for the sale of said 

Series 2015 Bonds; providing for the payment and redemption of said Series 2015 Bonds 

from and out of the revenues derived directly or indirectly by the City from the Storm 

Water and Flood Management Fee billed to customers of the City’s water and sewer 

systems; providing other details and approving other documents in connection with said 

Series 2015 Bonds. 

COUNCIL SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic:  Property damage and transportation and utilities disruption from

flooding can cause substantial economic costs.  The project associated with these

bond proceeds will provide flood mitigation along Wonderland Creek from

Foothills Parkway to Winding Trail Drive and also along Fourmile Canyon Creek

from 22
nd

 Street to 19
th

 Street, reducing the risk to life and property and

disruptions to business.

Agenda Item 3L     Page 3Packet Page 88



 Environmental:   The flood mitigation measures include water quality and habitat

improvement components. In addition, the project creates a path connection

between Foothills Highway and the Diagonal Highway which will help reduce

greenhouse gas emissions by promoting non motorized transportation. Reducing

vehicle miles traveled helps meet the goals of the Transportation Master Plan and

Climate Action Plan.

 Social: The flood mitigation measures will reduce the risk to life and damage to

property along a portion of Wonderland Creek including an at-risk population

facility. The proposed multi-use path will improve health and safety by providing

a trail connection that includes a safe crossing of the railroad to the city’s multi-

use trail system that can be used by all members of the community.

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Staff time:  Administration of the revised debt service on this bond issue is part of

normal staff time that is included in the appropriate department budgets.

ADDITIONAL BOND INFORMATION 

 Fiscal impact: The 2015 Bonds are payable from the revenues derived directly or

indirectly by the City from the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee billed to

customers of the City’s water and sewer systems.

 Ratings:  The City applied to Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s for ratings on these

bonds. They are two of the major rating services in the United States. On June 2,

the City was notified the 2015 Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue

Bonds were given ratings of Aa1 from Moody’s and AAA from Standard and

Poor’s. Credit ratings are made after analyzing the credit worthiness of the issuer

and the quality of the bonds being issued. The ratings are then used by potential

buyers of the bonds as one of the determinants in whether they will purchase the

bonds or not. The highest investment grade rating given is AAA and the lowest is

BBB.

ATTACHMENTS 

A: Ordinance 8051 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 4Packet Page 89



ORDINANCE NO. 8051 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE BY THE 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, OF ITS STORM WATER AND FLOOD 

MANAGEMENT REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2015 IN THE AGGREGATE 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $__________ FOR THE PURPOSE OF 

PROVIDING FUNDS TO CONSTRUCT, IMPROVE, REPAIR, REPLACE 

AND EQUIP VARIOUS STORM WATER AND FLOOD MITIGATION 

IMPROVEMENTS IN THE CITY, AND TO PAY COSTS OF ISSUANCE OF 

THE SERIES 2015 BONDS; PRESCRIBING THE FORM OF THE SERIES 

2015 BONDS, PROVIDING FOR THE SALE OF THE SERIES 2015 BONDS; 

PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT AND REDEMPTION OF THE SERIES 

2015 BONDS FROM AND OUT OF THE STORM WATER AND FLOOD 

MANAGEMENT FEE; PROVIDING OTHER DETAILS AND APPROVING 

OTHER DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE SERIES 2015 BONDS; 

AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY AND PROVIDING THE EFFECTIVE 

DATE HEREOF. 

W I T N E S S E T H : 

WHEREAS, the City of Boulder (the “City”), in the County of Boulder and the State of 

Colorado (the “State”), is a municipal corporation duly organized and existing as a home-rule 

city pursuant to Article XX of the Constitution of the State (the “Constitution”) and the charter of 

the City (the “Charter”); and 

WHEREAS, the City now owns, operates and maintains a storm water and flood 

management utility in the department of public works (as hereinafter defined the “Storm Water 

and Flood Management Utility Enterprise”); and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 5601, introduced, read, passed and adopted on the 9th day of 

November 1993, and Ordinance No. 7400 (2004) (collectively, the “Enterprise Ordinance”), 

added Sections 11-5-1 to 11-5-20 to the Boulder Revised Code, 1981 (the “City Code”), and 

Section 11-5-17 of the City Code established the City’s “Storm Water and Flood Management 

Utility Enterprise” to operate and maintain City’s storm water and flood management facilities; 

and 

WHEREAS, the City has established a Storm Water and Flood Management Fee 

pursuant to Section 4-20-45, B.R.C. 1981 (the “Fee”), and the Fee is billed monthly to customers 

of the City’s sewer and water system; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Charter and Section 11-5-18 of the City Code, the Storm 

Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise may issue revenue bonds payable from the Fee 

and other revenues derived from the operation of such enterprise without voter approval so long 

as such Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise qualifies as an “Enterprise” 

within the meaning of TABOR (as hereinafter defined) in the City’s fiscal year of the issuance of 

such revenue bonds; and 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 5Packet Page 90



WHEREAS, Article X, Section 20 of the State Constitution (“TABOR”) requires that 

bonded debt (other than certain refunding bonds) not be issued without prior voter approval 

unless the issuer is an “Enterprise” as defined in TABOR; and 

WHEREAS, the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise is an 

“Enterprise” within the meaning of TABOR; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City (the “Council”) is the governing body of the 

Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, the City has previously issued its Storm Water and Flood Management 

Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2010 in the principal amount of $3,165,000 (the “Series 2010 

Bonds”), of which $1,465,000 remain outstanding; and  

WHEREAS, for the purpose of providing funds to construct, acquire, improve and equip 

certain storm water and flood mitigation improvements in the City and pay all necessary, 

incidental and appurtenant expenses in connection therewith, including the costs of issuance, the 

Council has determined, and does hereby declare its intent to issue, acting through its Storm 

Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise, its City of Boulder, Colorado Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 in the aggregate principal amount of 

$[_____________] (the “Series 2015 Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, a reserve fund for the Series 2015 Bonds will be funded with other monies 

of the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2010 Bonds and the Series 2015 Bonds shall be payable from Net 

Income derived from the Fee as provided herein; and 

WHEREAS, after advertising the sale of the Series 2015 Bonds, the Council hereby 

finds, in accordance with Section 98 of the Charter, that the highest responsible bidder is the 

hereinafter defined Original Purchaser, whose bid is in all cases to the best advantage of the City, 

and the City hereby determines to sell the Series 2015 Bonds to the Original Purchaser; and 

WHEREAS, it is now necessary by ordinance to authorize the issuance, sale and delivery 

of the Series 2015 Bonds, and to provide details of and the security for the Series 2015 Bonds 

hereinafter described. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

ARTICLE I 

SHORT TITLE, DEFINITIONS, INTERPRETATION, RATIFICATION, 

AUTHENTICATION, PUBLICATION AND EFFECTIVE DATE 

Section 1.01.  Short Title.  This bond ordinance may be designated by the short title 

“Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bond Ordinance” (the “Bond Ordinance”). 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 6Packet Page 91



Section 1.02.  Meanings and Construction. 

(a) Definitions.  The terms in this Section defined for all purposes of this 

Bond Ordinance and of any ordinance amendatory hereof or supplemental hereto, and of 

any other ordinance or any other document appertaining hereto), except where the 

context by clear implication otherwise requires, shall have the meanings herein specified: 

 “Chief Financial Officer” shall mean the Chief Financial Officer of the City. 

“Continuing Disclosure Undertaking” means the Continuing Disclosure 

Undertaking of the City, dated the date of issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds, in the form 

set forth as Appendix C to the Official Statement. 

 “Council” shall mean the City Council of the City. 

 “Event of Default” shall mean any of the events stated in Section 10.03 hereof. 

“Fee” shall mean the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee billed to 

customers of the City’s water and sewer systems pursuant to Section 4-20-45, B.R.C. 

1981, as amended. 

“Federal Securities” shall mean bills, certificates of indebtedness, notes, bonds, or 

similar securities which are direct obligations of, or the principal and interest of which 

securities are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America or evidences 

of such indebtedness which are noncallable at the option of the city thereof. 

“Fiscal Year” for the purposes of this Bond Ordinance means the Fiscal Year of 

the City as provided by State law. 

“Flood Control System” shall mean the City’s storm water and flood management 

system operating as the City’s Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise 

and constituting an “enterprise” under Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution. 

“Gross Income” shall mean all income and revenues derived directly or indirectly 

by the City from the Fee, including interest earnings on moneys in any fund or account 

created by this Bond Ordinance and includes all revenues earned by the City therefrom. 

“Hereby,” “herein,” “hereinabove,” “hereinafter,” “hereinbefore,” “hereof,” 

“hereto,” “hereunder,” and any similar term refer to this Bond Ordinance and not solely 

to the particular portion thereof in which such work is used; “heretofore” means before 

the adoption of this Bond Ordinance; and “hereafter” means after the adoption of this 

Bond Ordinance. 

“Independent Accountant” shall mean any certified public accountant, or any firm 

of such certified public accountants, duly licensed to practice and practicing as such 

under the laws of the State, appointed and paid by the Council, in the name of the City, as 

determined by the Council: 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 7Packet Page 92



(i) who is, in fact, independent and not under the domination of the 

City; 

(ii) who does not have any substantial interest, direct or indirect, with 

the City; and 

(iii) who is not connected with the City as an officer or employee 

thereof, but who may be regularly retained to make annual or similar audits of any 

books or records of the City. 

“Insured Bank” shall mean a bank which is a member of the Federal Deposit 

Insurance Corporation or Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation. 

“Issuance Expense Fund” means the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water 

and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 Issuance Expense Fund” created in 

Section 4.01(a) hereof. 

“Manager” shall mean the city manager of the City. 

“Mayor” shall mean the mayor of the City. 

 “Net Income” shall mean Gross Income, less Operations and Maintenance 

Expenses. 

“Operation and Maintenance Expenses” shall mean all reasonable and necessary 

current expenses of the City, paid or accrued, of operating, maintaining and repairing the 

Flood Control System as may be designated; and the term may include at the City’s 

option (except as limited by law), without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 

engineering, auditing, reporting, legal and other overhead expenses of the City directly 

related to the administration, operation and maintenance thereof, insurance and fidelity 

bond premiums, the reasonable charges of the Paying Agent and any other depositary 

bank appertaining thereto, payments to pension, retirement, health and hospitalization 

funds, any taxes, assessments or other charges which may be lawfully imposed on the 

City or its income or operations of any properties under its control and appertaining 

thereto, ordinary and current rentals of equipment or other property, refunds of any 

revenues lawfully due to others, expenses in connection with the issuance of bonds or 

other securities evidencing any loan to the City and payable from Gross Income, the 

expenses and compensation of any trustee or other fiduciary, contractual services and 

professional services required by this Bond Ordinance, salaries, labor and the cost of 

materials and supplies used for current operation, and all other administrative, general 

and commercial expenses, but: 

(i) excluding any allowance for depreciation or any amounts for 

capital replacements; 

(ii) excluding the costs of improvements, extensions, enlargements and 

betterments (or any combination thereof) that qualify as capital items in 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 8Packet Page 93



accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or any reserves 

therefor; 

(iii) excluding any reserves for operation, maintenance or repair of the 

Flood Control System; 

(iv) excluding any allowance for the redemption of any bond or other 

security evidencing a loan, or the payment of any interest on any bond or other 

security evidencing a loan, or any reserve therefor; and 

(v) excluding liabilities incurred by the City as the result of its 

negligence in the operation of the Flood Control System or other ground of legal 

liability not based on contract, or any reserve therefor. 

“Original Purchaser” shall mean the original purchaser of the Series 2015 Bonds 

as designated in Section 4.02 hereof. 

“Outstanding” shall mean, when used with reference to bonds and as of any 

particular date, all bonds payable from the Fee in any manner theretofore and thereupon 

being executed and delivered: 

(i) except any bond canceled by the City, by the Paying Agent, or 

otherwise on the City’s behalf, at or before said date; 

(ii) except any bond for the payment or the redemption of which 

moneys at least equal to the principal amount of, any prior redemption premium 

due in connection with, and the interest on the bond to the date of maturity or the 

prior redemption date, shall have theretofore been deposited with a commercial 

bank in escrow or in trust for that purpose, as provided in Section 9.01 hereof; and 

(iii) except any bond in lieu of or in substitution for which another 

bond shall have been executed and delivered pursuant to Section 3.08, 3.09 or 

11.08 hereof. 

“Parity Bonds” shall mean bonds or other obligations payable from the Fee on a 

parity with the Series 2015 Bonds herein authorized to be issued, including the Series 

2010 Bonds. 

“Paying Agent” shall mean U.S. Bank National Association, or its successors or 

assigns, acting as, among other things, paying agent, registrar and authenticating agent 

under this Bond Ordinance. 

“Paying Agent Agreement” shall mean the Paying Agent Agreement, by and 

between the City and the Paying Agent, dated as of the date of issuance of the 

Series 2015 Bonds. 

“Permitted Investments” means any investment permitted by the laws of the State 

and the City’s investment policies. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 9Packet Page 94



“Person” shall mean a corporation, firm, other body corporate, partnership, 

association, or individual, and also includes an executor, administrator, trustee, receiver 

or other representative appointed according to law. 

“Project” means the construction, improvement, acquisition and equipping of 

certain storm water and flood mitigation improvements in the City and any other capital 

improvements with respect to the Flood Control System. 

“Project Fund” means the “City of Boulder, Colorado Storm Water Revenue 

Bonds, Series 2015 Project Fund” created in Section 4.01(c) hereof. 

“Record Date” shall mean the May 15
th

 or November 15
th

 (whether or not a

business day) prior to each interest payment date with respect to the Series 2015 Bonds. 

“Registered Owner” shall mean the Person or Persons in whose name or names a 

Series 2015 Bond shall be registered on the registration books of the City maintained by 

the Paying Agent. 

“Series 2015 Bonds” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015.” 

“State” shall mean the State of Colorado. 

“Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder 

Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund” created in Section 5.02 hereof. 

“Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise” shall have the meaning 

set forth in the introductory clauses of this Ordinance. 

“Subordinate Bonds” shall mean bonds payable from Net Income subordinate and 

junior to the lien of the Series 2015 Bonds herein authorized to be issued. 

“Tax Certificate” shall mean the Tax Compliance Certificate of the City, dated as 

of delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds. 

“Tax Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any 

Income Tax Regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“Tax Letter of Instructions” shall mean the Tax Letter of Instructions, dated the 

date of delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds, delivered by Kutak Rock LLP to the City as 

part of the Tax Certificate, as the same may be superseded or amended as provided in 

Section 5.10 hereof. 

“2010 Bond Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2010, Bond Fund” created in 

Ordinance No. 7720. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 10Packet Page 95



 “2010 Minimum Bond Reserve” means the “Minimum Bond Reserve,” as defined 

in Ordinance No. 7720. 

“2010 Reserve Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water 

and Flood Management Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2010, Reserve Fund” created 

in Ordinance No. 7720. 

“2015 Bond Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, Bond Fund.” 

“2015 Minimum Bond Reserve” shall mean with respect to the Series 2015 Bonds 

an amount equal to $[________], which shall equal the lesser of 125% of the average 

annual debt service on the Series 2015 Bonds or 10% of the principal amount of the 

Series 2015 Bonds at the time the Series 2015 Bonds are issued. 

“2015 Rebate Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, Rebate Fund.” 

“2015 Reserve Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water 

and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, Reserve Fund,” which will be 

funded with other monies of the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise. 

(b) Construction.  This Bond Ordinance, except where the context by clear 

implication herein otherwise requires, shall be construed as follows: 

(i) definitions include both singular and plural; 

(ii) pronouns include both singular and plural and cover all genders; 

(iii) any percentage of Series 2015 Bonds is to be figured on the unpaid 

principal amount thereof then Outstanding; 

(iv) articles, sections, clauses, paragraphs and subparagraphs 

mentioned by number, letter, or otherwise, correspond to the respective articles, 

sections, clauses, paragraphs and subparagraphs of this Bond Ordinance so 

numbered or otherwise so designated; and 

(v) the titles applied to articles, sections, clauses, paragraphs and 

subparagraphs of this Bond Ordinance are inserted only as a matter of 

convenience and ease in reference and in no way define, limit or describe the 

scope or intent of any provisions of this Bond Ordinance. 

Section 1.03.  Successors.  Whenever herein the City or the Council is named or is 

referred to, such provision shall be deemed to include any successors of the City or the 

Council, respectively, whether so expressed or not.  All of the covenants, stipulations, 

obligations and agreements by or on behalf of and other provisions for the benefit of the 

City or the Council contained herein shall bind and inure to the benefit of any such 

successors and shall bind and inure to the benefit of any officer, board, district, commission, 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 11Packet Page 96



authority, agent or instrumentality to whom or to which there shall be transferred by or in 

accordance with law any right, power or duty of the City or the Council or of their 

respective successors, if any, the possession of which is necessary or appropriate in order to 

comply with any such covenants, stipulations, obligations, agreements or other provisions 

hereof. 

Section 1.04.  Parties Interested Herein.  Nothing herein expressed or implied is 

intended or shall be construed to confer upon or give to any Person, other than the City, the 

Council, and the Registered Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds any right, remedy or claim 

under or by reason hereof or any covenant, condition or stipulation hereof.  All the 

covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements herein contained by and on behalf of the 

City shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the City, the Council and any Registered 

Owner of any Series 2015 Bonds. 

Section 1.05.  Ratification.  All action heretofore taken (not inconsistent with the 

provisions of this Bond Ordinance) by the Council, the officers of the City and otherwise by 

the City directed toward the sale and delivery of the City’s Series 2015 Bonds, shall be, and 

the same hereby is, ratified, approved and confirmed, including without limiting the 

generality of the foregoing, the public sale of the Series 2015 Bonds and giving notice 

thereof. 

Section 1.06.  Bond Ordinance Irrepealable.  After any of the Series 2015 Bonds 

are issued, this Bond Ordinance shall constitute an irrevocable contract between the City 

and the Registered Owner or Registered Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds; and this Bond 

Ordinance (subject to the provisions of Article XI hereof), if any Series 2015 Bonds are in 

fact issued, shall be and shall remain irrepealable until the Series 2015 Bonds and the 

interest thereon shall be fully paid, canceled and discharged, as herein provided. 

Section 1.07.  Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or other provision of 

this Bond Ordinance shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the 

invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph, clause or other provision shall not 

affect any of the remaining provisions of this Bond Ordinance. 

Section 1.08.  Repealer.  All bylaws, orders, and other ordinances, or parts thereof, 

inconsistent herewith are hereby repealed to the extent only of such inconsistency.  This 

repealer shall not be construed to revive any bylaw, order, or other ordinance, or part 

thereof, heretofore repealed. 

Section 1.09.  Recordation and Publication.  This Bond Ordinance, immediately 

on its final passage, shall be recorded in the City’s Bond Ordinance Record kept for that 

purpose, authenticated by the Mayor and the City Clerk, and shall be published by title only 

in the (Boulder) Daily Camera, a daily newspaper printed, published and of general 

circulation in the City, in accordance with the provisions of the Charter. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 12Packet Page 97



ARTICLE II 

COUNCIL’S DETERMINATIONS 

Section 2.01.  Authority for Bond Ordinance.  This Bond Ordinance is adopted by 

virtue of the City’s powers as a city organized and operating pursuant to Articles X and XX 

of the State Constitution, the Charter; the Enterprise Ordinance, the City Code and the 

Supplemental Public Securities Act (being Part 2, Article 57, Title 11 of the Revised 

Statutes of the State of Colorado) as now in effect and as it may from time to time be 

amended (the “Supplemental Public Securities Act”); and the City has ascertained and 

hereby determines that each and every matter and thing as to which provision is made herein 

is necessary in order to carry out and to effectuate the purposes of the City in accordance 

with the Charter. 

Section 2.02.  Bond Ordinance To Constitute Contract.  In consideration of the 

purchase and the acceptance of the Series 2015 Bonds by those who shall hold the same 

from time to time, the provisions hereof shall be deemed to be and shall constitute contracts 

between the City and the Registered Owners from time to time of the Series 2015 Bonds; 

and the covenants and agreements herein set forth to be performed on behalf of the City 

shall be for the equal benefit, protection and security of the Registered Owners of any and 

all of the Outstanding Series 2015 Bonds, all of which, regardless of the time or times of 

their issue or maturity, shall be of equal rank without preference, priority or distinction of 

any of the Series 2015 Bonds over any other thereof, except as otherwise expressly provided 

in or pursuant to this Bond Ordinance. 

Section 2.03.  Special Obligations.  All of the Series 2015 Bonds, together with the 

interest accruing thereon, shall be payable and collectible solely out of the Fee so pledged; 

the Registered Owner or Registered Owners thereof may not look to any general or other 

fund for the payment of principal of and interest on such obligations except the herein 

designated special funds pledged therefor; the Series 2015 Bonds shall not constitute an 

indebtedness or a debt within the meaning of any constitutional, Charter or statutory 

provision or limitation; and the Series 2015 Bonds shall not be considered or held to be 

general obligations of the City but shall constitute its special obligations.  None of the 

covenants, agreements, representations and warranties contained herein or in the Series 

2015 Bonds issued hereunder, in the absence of any breach thereof, shall ever impose or 

shall be construed as imposing any liability, obligation or charge against the City or its 

general credit, payable out of its general fund or out of any funds derived from taxation. 

ARTICLE III 

AUTHORIZATION, TERMS, EXECUTION 

AND ISSUANCE OF THE SERIES 2015 BONDS 

Section 3.01.  Authorization of the Series 2015 Bonds.  The “City of Boulder, 

Colorado Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015,” in the 

principal amount of $[_______], payable both as to principal and interest solely out of the 

Net Income derived from the Fee, are hereby authorized to be issued, pursuant to the City’s 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 13Packet Page 98



powers as a home-rule city; and the City pledges irrevocably but not necessarily exclusively, 

such Net Income to the payment of the Series 2015 Bonds and the interest thereon.  In 

issuing the Series 2015 Bonds, the City is acting through its Storm Water and Flood 

Management Utility Enterprise. 

Section 3.02.  Series 2015 Bond Details. 

(a) The Series 2015 Bonds shall be issued as fully registered bonds without 

coupons and shall be executed and delivered only in global book-entry form registered in 

the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), 

New York, New York, acting as securities depository of the Series 2015 Bonds, unless 

DTC shall be removed or replaced.  The Series 2015 Bonds shall be issued in the 

denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  The original issue date of the 

Series 2015 Bonds shall be July 20, 2015.  Interest on the Series 2015 Bonds shall be 

payable on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing December 1, 2015.  The 

Series 2015 Bonds shall provide that if interest on the Series 2015 Bonds shall be in 

default, Series 2015 Bonds issued in exchange for Series 2015 Bonds surrendered for 

transfer or exchange shall bear interest from the date to which interest has been paid in 

full, or if no interest has been paid, then from the original issue date. 

(b) The Series 2015 Bonds shall be consecutively numbered, shall mature on 

December 1 in the principal amounts and years, and shall bear interest from their original 

issue date at the rates per annum, as shown in the following schedule: [FILL IN 

MATURITY SCHEDULE] 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 14Packet Page 99



Maturity 

(December 1) Amount 

Interest 

Rate 

2015 $ % 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

2022 

2023 

2024 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

2030 

2031 

2032 

2033 

2034 

(c) If upon presentation at maturity payment of any Series 2015 Bond is not 

made as herein provided, interest shall continue to accrue thereon at the interest rate 

designated in the Series 2015 Bond until the principal thereof is paid in full. 

(d) Principal of the Series 2015 Bonds shall be payable to the registered 

owner (Cede & Co.) upon presentation and surrender of the Series 2015 Bonds at the 

principal office of the Paying Agent (or in the case of U.S. Bank National Association, at 

its operations center in St. Paul, Minnesota).  Interest on the Series 2015 Bonds shall be 

payable by check or draft of the Paying Agent mailed (or, so long as Cede & Co. shall be 

the Registered Owner, such amount may be paid by wire transfer) on the interest payment 

date to said Registered Owner thereof as of the close of business on the Record Date.  All 

payments of the principal of and interest on the Series 2015 Bonds shall be made in 

lawful money of the United States of America. 

Section 3.03.  Paying Agent; Transfer and Exchange.  The Paying Agent is 

hereby appointed as authenticating agent, paying agent and bond registrar for the City for 

purposes of the Series 2015 Bonds unless the City shall designate and appoint a successor 

Paying Agent.  The Paying Agent may resign or may be removed by the City at any time; 

provided, however, that no such resignation or removal shall be effective until the City shall 

have appointed a successor thereto.  The Paying Agent shall maintain on behalf of the City 

books for the purpose of registration and transfer of the Series 2015 Bonds, and such books 

shall specify the persons entitled to the Series 2015 Bonds and the rights evidenced thereby.  

The Series 2015 Bonds may, subject to Section 3.02(a), be transferred or exchanged, upon 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 15Packet Page 100



payment of a transfer fee, for any tax or governmental charge required to be paid with 

respect to such transfer or exchange and any cost of printing bonds in connection therewith, 

at the principal office of the Paying Agent.  Subject to Section 3.02(a) hereof, the Series 

2015 Bonds may be exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of Series 2015 Bonds 

of other authorized denominations of the same maturity and interest rate.  Upon surrender 

for transfer of any Series 2015 Bond, duly endorsed for transfer or accompanied by an 

assignment duly executed by the Registered Owner or his or her attorneys duly authorized in 

writing, the City shall execute and the Paying Agent shall authenticate and deliver in the 

name of the transferee or transferees a new Series 2015 Bond or Series 2015 Bonds of the 

same maturity and interest rate for a like aggregate principal amount.  The person in whose 

name any Series 2015 Bond shall be registered shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute 

owner thereof for all purposes whether or not payment on any Series 2015 Bond shall be 

overdue, and neither the City nor the Paying Agent shall be affected by any notice to the 

contrary. 

Section 3.04.  Redemption. 

(a) Optional Redemption.  The Series 2015 Bonds maturing on and after 

December 1, 2026 shall be callable for redemption at the option of the City, in whole or 

in part, and if in part in such order of maturities as the City shall determine and by lot 

within a maturity on December 1, 2025, and on any date thereafter, at a redemption price 

equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(b) Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The Series 2015 Bonds maturing 

on December 1, ____ shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption by lot, in the 

manner designated by the Paying Agent, on the dates and in the principal amounts as 

follows: 

Series 2015 Bonds Maturing 
December 1, ____ 

Date 
(December 1) 

Principal 
Amount 

$ 
*

____________________ 
* Final Maturity.

The Series 2015 Bonds maturing on December 1, ____ shall be subject to 

mandatory sinking fund redemption by lot, in the manner designated by the Paying 

Agent, on the dates and in the principal amounts as follows: 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 16Packet Page 101



Series 2015 Bonds Maturing 
December 1, ____ 

Date 
(December 1) 

Principal 
Amount 

$ 
*

____________________ 
* Final Maturity.

(c) The City shall give the Paying Agent notice of its intent to redeem Series 

2015 Bonds at least 45 days prior to the redemption date. 

Section 3.05.  Notice of Redemption.  Notice of any redemption of Series 2015 

Bonds shall be given by the Paying Agent in the name of the City, by sending a copy of 

such notice by certified or registered first-class, postage prepaid mail, at least 30 days prior 

to the redemption date to the Registered Owner of each of the Series 2015 Bonds being 

redeemed.  Such notice shall specify the number or numbers of the Series 2015 Bonds so to 

be redeemed (if redemption shall be in part) and the redemption date.  If any of the Series 

2015 Bonds shall have been duly called for redemption and if, on or before the redemption 

date, there shall have been deposited with the Paying Agent in accordance with this Bond 

Ordinance funds sufficient to pay the redemption price of such Series 2015 Bonds at the 

redemption date, then said Series 2015 Bonds shall become due and payable at such 

redemption date, and from and after such date interest will cease to accrue thereon.  Any 

Series 2015 Bond redeemed prior to its maturity by call for prior redemption or otherwise 

shall not be reissued and shall be cancelled. 

Section 3.06.  Execution of Series 2015 Bonds.  The Series 2015 Bonds shall be 

executed in the name and on behalf of the City with the manual or facsimile signature of the 

Mayor or the Mayor Pro Tem, shall bear a manual or facsimile of the seal of the City and 

shall be attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the City Clerk, or his or her 

designee.  Should any officer whose manual or facsimile signature appears on the Series 

2015 Bonds cease to be such officer before delivery of any Series 2015 Bond, such manual 

or facsimile signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes.  The Mayor, 

the Mayor Pro Tem and the City Clerk, or his or her designee, are hereby authorized and 

directed to prepare and to execute the Series 2015 Bonds in accordance with the 

requirements of this Ordinance.  When the Series 2015 Bonds have been duly executed and 

sold, the officers of the City are authorized to, and shall, deliver the Series 2015 Bonds to 

the Paying Agent for authentication.  No Series 2015 Bond shall be secured by this 

Ordinance or entitled to the benefit hereof, or shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose, 

unless the certificate of authentication of the Paying Agent, in substantially the form set 

forth in this Ordinance, has been duly executed by the Paying Agent.  Such certificate of the 

Paying Agent upon any Series 2015 Bond shall be conclusive evidence and the only 

competent evidence that such Series 2015 Bond has been authenticated and delivered 

hereunder.  The Paying Agent’s certificate of authentication shall be deemed to have been 

duly executed by it if manually signed by an authorized representative of the Paying Agent, 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 17Packet Page 102



but it shall not be necessary that the same representative sign the certificate of authentication 

on all of the Series 2015 Bonds issued hereunder. 

Section 3.07.  Delivery of Series 2015 Bonds.  Upon the authentication of the 

Series 2015 Bonds, the Paying Agent shall deliver the same to the Original Purchaser or its 

designee as directed by the City as hereinafter provided.  Prior to the authentication and 

delivery by the Paying Agent of the Series 2015 Bonds there shall be filed with the Paying 

Agent the following:   

(a) a certified copy of this Bond Ordinance; 

(b) an executed copy of the Paying Agent Agreement; and 

(c) a request and authorization to the Paying Agent on behalf of the City and 

signed by its Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem, to authenticate the Series 2015 Bonds and to 

deliver the Series 2015 Bonds to the Original Purchaser or the persons designated therein, 

upon payment to the City of a sum specified in such request and authorization plus 

accrued interest thereon to the date of delivery.  The proceeds of such payment shall be 

paid over to the City and deposited as follows: (i) accrued interest on the Series 2015 

Bonds, if any, shall be deposited into the 2015 Bond Fund, and (ii) the remainder of the 

proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds shall be deposited as provided in Section 4.01 hereof. 

Section 3.08.  Replacement of Series 2015 Bonds.  If any outstanding Series 2015 

Bond shall become lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken, it may be replaced in the 

form and tenor of the lost, destroyed or taken bond upon the Registered Owner furnishing, 

to the satisfaction of the Paying Agent: (a) proof of ownership (which shall be shown by the 

registration books of the Paying Agent); (b) proof of loss, destruction or theft; (c) an 

indemnity to the City and the Paying Agent with respect to the Series 2015 Bond lost, 

destroyed or taken; and (d) payment of the cost of preparing and executing the new security, 

in which case the Paying Agent shall then authenticate the Series 2015 Bonds required for 

replacement. 

Section 3.09.  Form of Series 2015 Bonds.  The Series 2015 Bonds shall be in 

substantially the following form, with such omissions, insertions, endorsements and 

variations as may be required by the circumstances. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 18Packet Page 103



[FORM OF SERIES 2015 BOND] 

EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THE HEREINAFTER DEFINED BOND 

ORDINANCE, THIS GLOBAL BOOK-ENTRY BOND MAY BE TRANSFERRED, IN 

WHOLE BUT NOT IN PART, ONLY TO ANOTHER NOMINEE OF THE SECURITIES 

DEPOSITORY (AS DEFINED HEREIN) OR TO A SUCCESSOR SECURITIES 

DEPOSITORY OR TO A NOMINEE OF A SUCCESSOR SECURITIES DEPOSITORY. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

(acting through its Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise) 

STORM WATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT REVENUE BONDS 

SERIES 2015 

R-1 $[__________] 

INTEREST 

RATE 

MATURITY 

DATE 

ORIGINAL  

ISSUE DATE CUSIP 

[__________]% December 1, [______] July 20, 2015 [_________] 

REGISTERED OWNER:  Cede & Co. 

PRINCIPAL SUM:  [_________________________________________________] DOLLARS 

The City of Boulder (the “City), in the County of Boulder (the “County”) and State of 

Colorado (the “State”), acting through its Storm Water and Flood Management Utility 

Enterprise, for value received, hereby promises to pay to the order of the registered owner named 

above or registered assigns, solely from the special funds as hereinafter set forth, on the maturity 

date stated above, the principal sum stated above, in lawful money of the United States of 

America, with interest thereon from the original issue date stated above, at the interest rate per 

annum stated above, payable semiannually thereafter on the first day of June and the first day of 

December of each year, the principal of this bond being payable upon the surrender of this bond 

at the office of U.S. Bank National Association, Denver, Colorado, or at the office of its 

successor, as Paying Agent (the “Paying Agent”), and the interest hereon to be paid by check or 

draft, mailed on the interest payment date to such person as is the Registered Owner on the 

Record Date, except that so long as Cede & Co. is the Registered Owner, by wire transfer to 

Cede & Co. on the interest payment date.  The Record Date is the May 15 or November 15 

(whether or not a business day) preceding any interest payment date. 

This bond is one of an issue of bonds of the City designated “Storm Water and Flood 

Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015” issued in the aggregate principal amount of 

$[_________] (the “Series 2015 Bonds”) in accordance with the provisions of bond ordinance 

adopted by the city council of the City on June 16, 2015 (the “Bond Ordinance”).  The Series 

2015 Bonds are being issued by the City for the purpose of providing funds to construct, acquire, 

improve and equip certain storm water and flood mitigation improvements in the City and pay all 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 19Packet Page 104



necessary, incidental and appurtenant expenses in connection therewith, including the costs of 

issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds, pursuant to and in full conformity with the constitution and 

laws of the State, the Supplemental Public Securities Act, the Charter of the City of Boulder (the 

“Charter”), Colorado, the City Code and the Bond Ordinance duly passed and adopted by the 

City. A reserve fund for the Series 2015 Bonds will be funded with other monies of the Storm 

Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise. 

The Series 2015 Bonds maturing on and after December 1, 2026 shall be callable for 

redemption at the option of the City, in whole or in part, and if in part in such order of maturities 

as the City shall determine and by lot within a maturity on December 1, 2025, and on any date 

thereafter, at a redemption price equal to the par amount thereof plus accrued interest to the 

redemption date. 

The City shall give the Paying Agent notice of its intent to redeem Series 2015 Bonds at 

least 45 days prior to the redemption date. 

Notice of any redemption will be given by the Paying Agent in the name of the City by 

sending a copy of such notice by certified or registered first-class, postage prepaid mail, at least 

30 days prior to the redemption date specified in such notice, to the registered owners of each of 

the Series 2015 Bonds being redeemed.  Such notice will specify the number or numbers of the 

Series 2015 Bonds so to be redeemed and the redemption date.  If this bond shall have been duly 

called for redemption and if on or before the redemption date there shall have been deposited 

with the Paying Agent, in accordance with the Bond Ordinance, funds sufficient to pay the 

redemption price of this bond at the redemption date, then this bond shall become due and 

payable at such redemption date, and interest hereon shall cease to accrue after the redemption 

date. 

This bond is transferable by the registered owner hereof at the operations office of the 

Paying Agent in St. Paul, Minnesota, or at the office of its successor as Paying Agent, but only in 

the manner, subject to the limitations and upon payment of the charges provided in the Bond 

Ordinance (including any tax or governmental charge required to be paid with respect thereto 

and any cost of printing bonds in connection therewith), and upon surrender and cancellation of 

this bond.  Upon surrender for any transfer, a new registered Series 2015 Bond or Series 2015 

Bonds of the same maturity and interest rate and of authorized denomination or denominations 

($5,000 and integral multiples thereof) for the same aggregate principal amount will be issued to 

the transferee in exchange therefor.  The City and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the 

registered owner hereof as the absolute owner hereof (whether or not payment on this bond shall 

be overdue) for the purpose of receiving payment of or on account of principal hereof, and 

neither the City nor the Paying Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary. 

The Series 2015 Bonds do not constitute a debt or an indebtedness of the City within the 

meaning of any constitutional, charter or statutory provision or limitation, shall not be considered 

or held to the general obligations of the City, and are payable and collectible solely out of the net 

revenues attributable to the City’s Storm Water and Flood Management Fee collected pursuant to 

Section 4-20-45, B.R.C. 1981 (hereinafter the “Fee”), the net revenues from which Fee and 

certain interest earnings with respect thereto are so pledged; and the Registered Owner hereof 

may not look to any general or other fund for the payment of the principal of and the interest on 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 20Packet Page 105



this bond except the special funds pledged therefor.  Payment of the Series 2015 Bonds and the 

interest thereon shall be made solely from and as security for such payment there are irrevocably 

and exclusively pledged, pursuant to the Bond Ordinance, two special accounts identified as the 

“City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 

Bond Fund” (the “2015 Bond Fund”) and as the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 Reserve Fund” (the “2015 Reserve Fund”).  

The City covenants to pay into the 2015 Bond Fund from the Fee and interest earnings 

hereinbefore described, less only for all necessary and reasonable current expenses of the 

operation and maintenance of the Flood Control System (as defined in the Bond Ordinance), 

sums sufficient to pay when due the principal of and the interest on the Series 2015 Bonds.  The 

Series 2015 Bonds are also secured by certain proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds and other 

amounts deposited into the 2015 Reserve Fund. 

Subject to expressed conditions in the Bond Ordinance, the Series 2015 Bonds are 

equitably and ratably secured by a lien on the Fee and interest earnings, net of expenses as 

described above, and the Series 2015 Bonds constitute an irrevocable and first lien (but not 

necessarily an exclusive first lien) upon said net revenues on a parity with the lien thereon of the 

outstanding City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue 

Refunding Bonds, Series 2010 (the “Series 2010 Bonds”).  Subject to expressed conditions in the 

Bond Ordinance, bonds and other obligations, in addition to the Series 2015 Bonds and the 

Series 2010 Bonds, may be issued and made payable from the Fee and interest earnings on a 

subordinate and junior basis.  Subject to additional expressed conditions in the Bond Ordinance, 

additional bonds and other obligations may be issued and made payable from the Fee on a parity 

with the Series 2015 Bonds and the Series 2010 Bonds. 

The City covenants and agrees with the Registered Owner of this bond and with each and 

every person who may become the Registered Owner hereof that it will keep and will perform all 

of the covenants of the Bond Ordinance. 

Reference is made to the Bond Ordinance and any and all modifications and amendments 

thereof, and to the Charter of the City, as from time to time amended, for an additional 

description of the nature and extent of the security for the Series 2015 Bonds, the accounts, funds 

or income pledged, the nature and extent and manner of enforcement of the pledge, the rights and 

remedies of the Registered Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds with respect thereto, the terms and 

conditions upon which the Series 2015 Bonds are issued, and a statement of rights, duties, 

immunities and obligations of the City, and other rights and remedies of the Registered Owners 

of the Series 2015 Bonds. 

To the extent and in the respects permitted by the Bond Ordinance, the provisions of the 

Bond Ordinance or any ordinance amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto may be modified 

or amended by action of the City taken in the manner and subject to the conditions and 

exceptions prescribed in the Bond Ordinance.  The pledge of the Fee and other obligations of the 

City under the Bond Ordinance may be discharged at or prior to the respective maturities or 

redemption of the Series 2015 Bonds upon the making of provision for the payment thereof on 

the terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Ordinance. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 21Packet Page 106



It is hereby certified that all conditions, acts and things required by the constitution and 

laws of the State of Colorado, and the Charter and ordinances of the City, to exist, to happen and 

to be performed, precedent to and in the issuance of this bond, exist, have happened and have 

been performed, and that the Series 2015 Bonds do not exceed any limitations prescribed by said 

constitution or laws of the State of Colorado, the Supplemental Public Securities Act or the 

Charter, the Code or ordinances of the City. 

The Series 2015 Bonds are issued pursuant to the Supplemental Public Securities Act, 

constituting Part 2, Article 57, Title 11 of Colorado Revised States, as amended.  This recital 

shall conclusively impart full compliance with all of the provisions of the Bond Ordinance and 

shall be conclusive evidence of the validity and regularity of the issuance of the Series 2015 

Bonds after their delivery for value and that all of the Series 2015 Bonds issued are incontestable 

for any cause whatsoever after their delivery for value. 

This bond shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Bond Ordinance authorizing the 

Series 2015 Bonds, or become valid or obligatory for any purpose, until the Paying Agent shall 

have signed the certificate of authentication hereon. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 22Packet Page 107



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Boulder, Colorado, has caused this bond to be 

signed with the manual or facsimile signature of its Mayor, sealed with the impression of its seal 

or a facsimile thereof, and attested with the manual or facsimile signature of its City Clerk. 

APPROVED THIS 20th DAY OF JULY, 2015. 

[SEAL] 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

By 

Mayor 

Attest: 

By 

City Clerk 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 23Packet Page 108



[FORM OF PAYING AGENT’S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION] 

Date of Authentication: 

This is one of the Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, 

described in the within-mentioned Bond Ordinance. 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 

as Paying Agent 

By 

Authorized Representative 

[END OF FORM OF PAYING AGENT’S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION] 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 24Packet Page 109



[FORM OF ASSIGNMENT] 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, ____________________ , the undersigned, hereby sells, 

assigns and transfers unto ____________________ (Tax Identification or Social Security No. 

____________________ the within bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably 

constitutes and appoints ____________________ attorney to transfer the within bond on the 

books kept for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Dated: 

NOTICE: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as it appears upon the 

face of the within bond in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change 

whatever. 

[END OF FORM OF ASSIGNMENT] 

[END OF FORM OF SERIES 2015 BOND] 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 25Packet Page 110



Section 3.10.  Authentication Upon Exchange or Reissuance of the Series 2015 

Bonds.  The Paying Agent shall authenticate any Series 2015 Bonds exchanged or reissued 

under Sections 3.03, 3.08 and 3.09 hereof upon the written direction of the Chief Financial 

Officer; such Series 2015 Bonds exchanged or reissued shall not be valid until so 

authenticated. 

ARTICLE IV 

USE OF SERIES 2015 BOND PROCEEDS AND OTHER FUNDS  

Section 4.01.  Disposition of Series 2015 Bond Proceeds and Other Funds.  The 

proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds (including premium), upon the receipt thereof, shall be 

deposited promptly by the Chief Financial Officer in an Insured Bank (except as otherwise 

provided hereafter) and shall be accounted for in the following manner and priority and are 

hereby pledged therefor: 

(a) A portion of the proceeds derived from the sale of the Series 2015 Bonds 

in an amount equal to $_____________ shall be credited to a separate account hereby 

created and to be known as the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and Flood 

Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 Issuance Expense Fund” and shall be used to 

pay costs of issuance in connection with the Series 2015 Bonds. Upon the determination 

of the City that all costs of issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds have been paid or are 

determinable, any balance remaining in this account shall be transferred to the Project 

Fund. 

(b) A portion of the proceeds derived from the sale of the Series 2015 Bonds 

in an amount equal to $_________ shall be deposited to the Project Fund. 

(c) Other funds of the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise 

in the amount of $______ shall be deposited to the 2015 Reserve Fund. 

Section 4.02.  Acceptance of Bid; Sale of Series 2015 Bonds. 

(a) As a result of the public sale held pursuant to the City’s Resolution 

No. [____] and that Resolution’s accompanying Notice of Public Sale, in accordance 

with Section 98 of the Charter, the Council hereby sells the Series 2015 Bonds to the 

bidder offering to purchase the Series 2015 Bonds at the lowest true interest cost and to 

the best advantage of the City, and in furtherance thereof the Council hereby accepts and 

approves the offer to purchase the Series 2015 Bonds as bid by [_________________] as 

the Original Purchaser.  The Series 2015 Bonds, when executed as provided by law, shall 

be delivered to the Original Purchaser, upon receipt by the City of $[___________] 

(equal to the par amount of the Series 2015 Bonds, plus an original issue premium of 

$[___________], less an underwriting discount paid to the Original Purchaser of 

$[__________]).  The arbitrage yield on the Series 2015 Bonds shall be ___________%, 

as computed by the City’s financial advisor in accordance with the resolution authorizing 

the public sale of the 2010 Bonds.   

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 26Packet Page 111



(b) The proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds shall be used exclusively for the 

paying costs of the Project, funding the 2015 Reserve Fund and paying the costs of 

issuing the Series 2015 Bonds. 

(c) Neither the Original Purchaser nor the subsequent Registered Owner or 

Registered Owners of any of the Series 2015 Bonds shall be responsible for the 

application or disposal of the funds derived from the sale thereof by the City or any of its 

officers.  The issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds by the City shall constitute a warranty 

by and on behalf of the City, for the benefit of each and every Registered Owner of the 

Series 2015 Bonds, that the Series 2015 Bonds have been issued for valuable 

consideration in full conformity with law. 

Section 4.03.  Use of Project Fund.  The moneys in the Project Fund, except as 

herein otherwise expressly provided, shall be used and paid out solely for the purpose of 

paying costs of the Project including, without limitation, interest during construction of the 

Project, engineering, inspection, fiscal and legal expenses, costs of financial, professional 

and other estimates and advice, contingencies, any reimbursements due to the federal 

government, or any agency, instrumentality or corporation thereof, of any moneys 

theretofore expended for or in connection with the Project, and all such other incidental 

expenses as may be necessary or incidental to the financing and construction of the Project, 

or any part thereof, the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds and the placing of the Project in 

operation. 

Section 4.04.  Application of Project Fund.  Moneys, except as herein otherwise 

expressly provided, shall be withdrawn from the Project Fund for the purposes designated in 

Section 4.03 hereof upon written direction of the Chief Financial Officer or his designee.  

Moneys shall be disbursed only upon receipt of bills or invoices indicating that the required 

sum is then due and owing for materials supplied or work satisfactorily completed in 

substantial accordance with the plans and specifications for the work involved. Any interest 

earnings on moneys deposited to the Project Fund shall be retained in the Project Fund until 

the Project shall have been completed and then shall be transferred as provided in Section 

4.05 below. 

Section 4.05.  Prevention of Bond Default.  The Chief Financial Officer shall use 

any 2015 Bond proceeds credited to the Project Fund, without further order or warrant, to 

pay the interest on and the principal of the Series 2015 Bonds as the same become due 

whenever and to the extent moneys in the Bond Fund or otherwise available therefor are 

insufficient for that purpose, unless such 2015 Bond proceeds shall be needed to defray 

obligations accrued and to accrue under any contracts then existing and appertaining to the 

Project.  The Chief Financial Officer shall promptly notify the Council of any such use.  

Any moneys so used shall be restored to the Project Fund, as permitted by Section 5.11 

hereof, from the Net Income derived from the Fee thereafter received and not needed to 

meet the requirements provided in Sections 5.03 through 5.09 hereof. 

Section 4.06.  Completion of Project.  When the Project shall have been completed 

in accordance with the relevant plans and specifications and all amounts due therefor, 

including all proper incidental expenses, shall have been paid, or for which full provision 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 27Packet Page 112



shall have been made, the Chief Financial Officer shall cause to be transferred to the 2015 

Reserve Fund, all surplus moneys remaining in the Project Fund, if any, to the extent the 

amount on deposit in the 2015 Reserve Fund is less than the 2015 Minimum Bond Reserve, 

and any remaining surplus moneys shall be transferred to the Bond Fund, except for moneys 

to be retained to pay any unpaid accrued costs or contingent obligations.  Nothing herein 

contained shall be construed as preventing the Chief Financial Officer from causing to be 

transferred from the Project Fund to the 2015 Reserve Fund, to the extent of any deficiency, 

at any time prior to the termination of the Project Fund any moneys which will not be 

necessary for the Project. 

ARTICLE V 

ADMINISTRATION OF AND ACCOUNTING FOR PLEDGED REVENUES 

Section 5.01.  Pledge Securing the Series 2015 Bonds.  The Gross Income and all 

moneys and securities paid or to be paid to or held or to be held in any account under 

Article V of this Bond Ordinance or under Section 4.01 hereof, less only the reasonable 

Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the Flood Control System (as defined herein, the 

“Net Income”), is hereby pledged to secure the payment of the principal of and the interest 

on the Series 2015 Bonds; and this pledge of the Net Income derived from the Fee shall be 

valid and binding from and after the date of the first delivery of any Series 2015 Bonds, and 

the moneys, as received by the City and hereby pledged, shall immediately be subject to the 

lien of this pledge without any physical delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of this 

pledge and the obligation to perform the contractual provisions hereby made shall have 

priority over any or all other obligations and liabilities of the City, and the lien of this pledge 

shall be valid and binding as against all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or 

otherwise against the City irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof. 

Section 5.02.  Fee Deposits.  So long as any of the Series 2015 Bonds shall be 

Outstanding, either as to principal or interest, or both, the Fee shall be set aside and credited 

to a separate account to be known as the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Fee Fund” (the “Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund”).  So 

long as any of the Series 2015 Bonds shall be Outstanding, either as to principal or interest, 

all Gross Income shall continue to be credited to the Storm Water and Flood Management 

Fee Fund. 

Section 5.03.  Administration of the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee 

Fund.  So long as any of the Series 2015 Bonds hereby authorized shall be Outstanding, 

either as to principal or interest, or both, as provided herein in Sections 5.03 through 5.08 

hereof, the following payments shall be made from the Storm Water and Flood Management 

Fee Fund: First, as a first charge thereon, there shall be withdrawn from the Storm Water 

and Flood Management Fee Fund moneys sufficient to pay Operation and Maintenance 

Expenses of the City’s storm management and flood control system (the “Flood Control 

System”) as they become due and payable, and thereupon they shall be promptly paid. 

Section 5.04.  2010 Bond Fund Payments.  Second, and concurrently with the 

payments required by Section 5.05 hereof, from any moneys remaining in the Storm Water 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 28Packet Page 113



and Flood Management Fee Fund after the application of moneys as provided in Section 

5.03 hereof, there shall be credited to the 2010 Bond Fund the following amounts: 

(a) Interest Payments.  Monthly, commencing on the first day of the month 

immediately succeeding the delivery of the Series 2010 Bonds, an amount in equal 

monthly installments necessary, together with any other moneys from time to time 

available therefor from whatever source, to pay the next maturing installment of interest 

on the Series 2010 Bonds then Outstanding shall be transferred to the 2010 Bond Fund. 

(b) Principal Payments.  Monthly, commencing on the month immediately 

succeeding the delivery of the Series 2010 Bonds, an amount in equal monthly 

installments necessary, together with any other money from time to time available 

therefor from whatever source, to pay the next maturing installment of principal on the 

Series 2010 Bonds then Outstanding. 

Section 5.05.  2015 Bond Fund Payments.  Third, and concurrently with the 

payments required by Section 5.04 hereof, from any moneys remaining in the Storm Water 

and Flood Management Fee Fund after the application of moneys as provided in Section 

5.03 hereof, there shall be credited to the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 Bond Fund” (the “2015 Bond Fund”) 

hereby created, the following amounts: 

(a) Interest Payments.  Monthly, commencing on the first day of the month 

immediately succeeding the delivery of any of the Series 2015 Bonds, an amount in equal 

monthly installments necessary, together with any other moneys from time to time 

available therefor from whatever source, including without limitation the moneys, if any, 

provided in Section 4.01 hereof, to pay the next maturing installment of interest on the 

Series 2015 Bonds then Outstanding shall be transferred to the 2015 Bond Fund. 

(b) Principal Payments.  Monthly, commencing on the month immediately 

succeeding the delivery of any Series 2015 Bonds, an amount in equal monthly 

installments necessary, together with any other money from time to time available 

therefor from whatever source, to pay the next maturing installment of principal on the 

Series 2015 Bonds then Outstanding. 

Section 5.06.  2010 Reserve Fund Payments.  Fourth, and concurrently with the 

payments required by Section 5.07 hereof, from any moneys remaining in the Storm Water 

and Flood Management Fee Fund after the deposits required by Sections 5.03, 5.04 and 5.05 

hereof, except as provided in Section 5.08 hereof, there shall be credited to the 2010 

Reserve Fund any moneys necessary to make up any deficiency in the 2010 Reserve Fund, 

to the extent moneys on deposit in the 2010 Reserve Fund are less than the 2010 Minimum 

Bond Reserve.  No payment need be made into the 2010 Reserve Fund so long as the 

moneys therein are at least equal to the 2010 Minimum Bond Reserve.  The moneys in the 

2010 Reserve Fund shall be maintained as a continuing reserve to be used, except as 

hereinafter provided in Section 5.08 hereof, only to prevent deficiencies in the payment of 

the principal of and the interest on the Series 2010 Bonds resulting from the failure to 

deposit into the 2010 Bond Fund sufficient funds to pay said principal and interest as the 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 29Packet Page 114



same accrue. Any moneys at any time in the 2010 Reserve Fund in excess of the 2010 

Minimum Bond Reserve, including investment earnings derived from amounts on deposit in 

the 2010 Reserve Fund, may be withdrawn therefrom and transferred to the 2010 Bond 

Fund. 

Section 5.07.  2015 Reserve Fund Payments.  Fifth, and concurrently with the 

payments required by Section 5.06 hereof, from any moneys remaining in the Storm Water 

and Flood Management Fee Fund after the deposits required by Sections 5.03, 5.04 and 5.05 

hereof, except as provided in Section 5.08 hereof, there shall be credited to the “City of 

Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 

Reserve Fund” (the “2015 Reserve Fund”) hereby created, any moneys necessary to make 

up any deficiency in the 2015 Reserve Fund, to the extent moneys on deposit in the 2015 

Reserve Fund are less than the 2015 Minimum Bond Reserve.  No payment need be made 

into the 2015 Reserve Fund so long as the moneys therein are at least equal to the 2015 

Minimum Bond Reserve.  The moneys in the 2015 Reserve Fund shall be maintained as a 

continuing reserve to be used, except as hereinafter provided in Section 5.08 hereof, only to 

prevent deficiencies in the payment of the principal of and the interest on the Series 2015 

Bonds resulting from the failure to deposit into the 2015 Bond Fund sufficient funds to pay 

said principal and interest as the same accrue. 

Section 5.08.  Termination of Deposits.  No payment need be made into the 

2015 Reserve Fund if the amount in the 2015 Reserve Fund totals a sum at least equal to the 

entire amount of the Outstanding Series 2015 Bonds, both as to principal and interest to 

their respective maturities, or to any prior redemption date on which the City shall have 

exercised or shall have obligated itself to exercise its option to redeem prior to their 

respective maturities the Series 2015 Bonds then Outstanding and thereafter maturing, and 

both accrued and not accrued, in which case moneys in said account in an amount, except 

for any interest or other gain to accrue from any investment of moneys in Permitted 

Investments from time to time of any such deposit to the time or respective times the 

proceeds of any such investment shall be needed for such payment, at least equal to such 

principal and interest requirements, shall be used together with any such gain from 

investments solely to pay such as the same become due; and any moneys in excess thereof 

in said account and any other moneys derived from the Fee may be used in any lawful 

manner determined by the Council. 

Section 5.09.  Payment of Additional Bonds.  Sixth, but either concurrently with, 

in the case of additional Parity Bonds, or subsequent to, in the case of additional 

Subordinate Bonds, the payments required by Section 5.04 through 5.07 hereof, as provided 

in Sections 7.03 through 7.13 hereof, any moneys remaining in the Storm Water and Flood 

Management Fee Fund, after making the payments hereinabove provided, may be used by 

the City for the payment of interest on and the principal of additional bonds hereafter 

authorized to be issued and payable from the Fee, including reasonable reserves therefor, as 

the same accrue; provided, however, that the lien of such additional bonds on the Fee and 

the pledge thereof for the payment of such additional bonds shall be on a parity with, in the 

case of additional Parity Bonds, or subordinate to in the case of additional Subordinate 

Bonds, the lien and pledge of the bonds herein authorized, as hereinafter provided. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 30Packet Page 115



Section 5.10.  Fee Pledge.  Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, if 

moneys in the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund are at any time insufficient to 

pay the amounts required to be paid therefrom, after permitted transfers from the 2015 

Reserve Fund, then moneys in either such fund shall be used to pay all items payable 

therefrom pursuant to this Article V. 

Section 5.11.  Use of Remaining Revenues.  After making the payments 

hereinabove required to be made by Sections 5.03 through 5.09 hereof, any remaining 

income derived from the Fee in the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund shall be 

used for any one or any combination of the following purposes in any order: 

(a) Purchase of Obligations.  For the purchase in the open market of the 

Series 2015 Bonds or any other Outstanding bonds or other obligations incurred for any 

such purpose or purposes and payable from the Fee, at the best price obtainable, not, 

however, in excess of the call price therefor then applicable, or if none be then applicable, 

not in excess of a reasonable price therefore. 

(b) Prior Redemption.  For the prior redemption of the Series 2015 Bonds or 

any other outstanding bonds or other obligations payable from the Fee, in accordance 

with the provisions of the Series 2015 Bonds or other obligations and any ordinance 

authorizing their issuance, including but not necessarily limited to this Bond Ordinance, 

but not in excess of a price at which such Series 2015 Bonds or other obligations can be 

purchased in the open market. 

(c) Improvement.  For the repair, enlargement, extension, betterment and 

improvement of the Flood Control System. 

(d) Operation & Maintenance Expenses.  For defraying any Operation and 

Maintenance Expenses for which provision has not otherwise been made of the Flood 

Control System. 

(e) Lawful Purposes.  For any other lawful purpose of the City. 

Section 5.12.  2015 Rebate Fund. 

(a) There is hereby created and established by the City a separate special fund 

to be designated the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and Flood Management 

Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 Rebate Fund” (the “2015 Rebate Fund”), which shall be 

expended in accordance with the provisions hereof and the Tax Letter of Instructions.  

The City shall make deposits and disbursements from the 2015 Rebate Fund in 

accordance with the Tax Letter of Instructions, shall invest the 2015 Rebate Fund only in 

legal investments for funds of the City and pursuant to said Tax Letter of Instructions, 

and shall deposit income from said investments immediately upon receipt thereof in the 

2015 Rebate Fund, all as set forth in the Tax Letter of Instructions.  The City shall make 

the calculations, deposits, disbursements and investments as may be required by the 

immediately preceding sentence, or, to the extent it deems necessary in order to ensure 

the tax-exempt status of interest on the Series 2015 Bonds, shall employ at its expense a 

person or firm with recognized expertise in the area of rebate calculation, to make such 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 31Packet Page 116



calculations.  The Tax Letter of Instructions may be superseded or amended by a new 

Tax Letter of Instructions drafted by, and accompanied by an opinion of, nationally 

recognized bond counsel addressed to the City to the effect that the use of said new Tax 

Letter of Instructions will not cause the interest on the Series 2015 Bonds to become 

includible in gross income for purposes of federal income taxation. 

(b) The City shall make the rebate deposit described in the Tax Letter of 

Instructions.  Records of the determinations required by this Section 5.12 and the Tax 

Letter of Instructions shall be retained by the City until four years after the final 

retirement of the Series 2015 Bonds. 

(c) Not later than 30 days after the end of the fifth Bond Year (i.e., the year 

ended July 19, 2020) and every five years thereafter, the City shall pay to the United 

States of America 90% of the amount required to be on deposit in the 2015 Rebate Fund 

as of such payment date.  Not later than 60 days after the final retirement of the Series 

2015 Bonds, the City shall pay to the United States of America 100% of the balance 

remaining in the 2015 Rebate Fund.  Each payment required to be paid to the United 

States of America pursuant to this Section 5.12 shall be filed with the Internal Revenue 

Service Center, Ogden, Utah 84201.  Each payment shall be accompanied by a copy of 

the Internal Revenue Form 8038-G originally filed with respect to the Series 2015 Bonds, 

and a statement summarizing the determination of the amount to be paid to the United 

States of America. 

ARTICLE VI 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION 

Section 6.01.  Administration of Accounts.  The special accounts designated in 

Articles IV and V hereof shall be administered as provided in this Article VI. 

Section 6.02.  Places and Times of Deposits.  Each of the special accounts 

hereinabove designated in Article IV and Article V hereof shall be separately accounted for 

in the records of the City, which special accounts shall be in one bank account or more in an 

Insured Bank or Insured Banks as determined and designated by the Council (except as 

otherwise expressly stated herein).  Each such account shall be continuously secured to the 

fullest extent required or permitted by the laws of the State for the securing of public funds 

and shall be irrevocable and not withdrawable by anyone for any purpose other than the 

respective designated purposes.  Each periodic payment shall be credited to the proper 

account not later than the date therefor herein designated, except that when any such date 

shall be a Sunday or a legal holiday, then such payment shall be made on or before the next 

preceding secular day.  Notwithstanding any other provision herein to the contrary, moneys 

shall be deposited with the Paying Agent prior to each interest payment date herein 

designated sufficient to pay the interest, and principal and any prior redemption premiums 

then becoming due on the Series 2015 Bonds. 

Section 6.03.  Investment of Moneys.  Any moneys in any account designated in 

Articles IV and V hereof, and not needed for immediate use, may be invested or reinvested 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 32Packet Page 117



by the Chief Financial Officer in securities or obligations which are lawful investments for 

such funds of the City and which constitute Permitted Investments.  The Permitted 

Investments so purchased as an investment or reinvestment of moneys in any such account 

shall be deemed at all times to be part of the account, and (unless otherwise expressly 

provided herein) any interest accruing thereon and any other gain realized therefrom shall be 

credited to the account, and any loss resulting from such investment shall be charged to the 

account; provided, however, that any yield from investments of moneys in the Reserve Fund 

in excess of the 2015 Minimum Bond Reserve may be credited to the Storm Water and 

Flood Management Fee Fund.  In computing the amount in any such account for any 

purpose hereunder, except as herein otherwise expressly provided, such obligation shall be 

valued at the lower of the cost or market value thereof, exclusive of any accrued interest or 

any other gain.  The expenses of purchase, safekeeping, sale and all other expenses incident 

to any investment or reinvestment of moneys pursuant to this Section 6.03 shall be 

accounted for as Operation and Maintenance Expenses.  The Chief Financial Officer shall 

present for redemption or sale on the prevailing market at the best price obtainable any 

Permitted Investments so purchased as an investment of moneys in the account whenever it 

shall be necessary so to do to provide moneys to meet any withdrawal, payment or transfer 

from such account.  The Chief Financial Officer shall not be liable or responsible for any 

loss resulting from any such investment made in accordance with this Bond Ordinance. 

Section 6.04.  Character of Funds.  The moneys in any account herein authorized 

shall consist either of lawful money of the United States of America or Permitted 

Investments, or both such money and such securities.  Moneys deposited in a demand or 

time deposit account in or evidenced by a certificate of deposit of an Insured Bank pursuant 

to Section 6.02 hereof, appropriately secured according to the laws of the State, shall be 

deemed lawful money of the United States of America. 

Section 6.05.  Accelerated Payments.  Nothing contained in Article V hereof shall 

be construed to prevent the accumulation in any account herein designated of any monetary 

requirements at a faster rate than the rate or minimum rate, as the case may be, provided in 

Article V; provided, however, that no payment shall be so accelerated if such acceleration 

shall cause the Council to default in the payment of any obligation of the City appertaining 

to the Flood Control System.  Nothing herein contained shall be construed to require in any 

fiscal year the accumulation in any account for the payment of the principal of, the interest 

on, and any prior redemption premiums due in connection with any series of bonds payable 

from Net Income and herein or hereafter authorized, in excess of any principal, the interest, 

and any prior redemption premiums, but excluding any reserves required to be accumulated 

and maintained therefor. 

Section 6.06.  Payment of Series 2015 Bond Requirements.  The moneys credited 

to any account designated in Article V hereof for the payment of the principal of, the 

interest on, and any prior redemption premiums due in connection with any series of bonds 

or other securities herein or hereafter authorized shall be used, without requisition, voucher 

or other direction or further authority than is contained herein, to pay promptly the principal 

of, the interest on, and any prior redemption premiums due in connection with the bonds 

payable therefrom as the same become due, as herein provided, except to the extent any 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 33Packet Page 118



other moneys are available therefor, including without limitation moneys accounted for in 

the 2015 Bond Fund. 

Section 6.07.  Payment of Redemption Premiums.  Nothing herein contained shall 

be construed as not requiring the accumulation in any account designated in Article V 

hereof for the payment of any series of bonds payable from Net Income of amounts 

sufficient to pay not only the principal thereof and interest thereon but also the prior 

redemption premiums due in connection therewith, as the same become due, whenever the 

City shall have exercised or shall have obligated itself to exercise a prior redemption option 

appertaining thereto, except to the extent provision is otherwise made therefor, if any prior 

redemption premium be due in connection therewith. 

ARTICLE VII 

SECURITIES LIENS AND ADDITIONAL BONDS 

Section 7.01.  First Lien Bonds.  The Series 2015 Bonds authorized herein, subject 

to the payment of all necessary and reasonable Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the 

Flood Control System, constitute an irrevocable and first lien (but not necessarily an 

exclusive first lien) upon the resulting Net Income derived from the Fee on a parity with the 

lien thereon of the Outstanding Series 2010 Bonds. 

Section 7.02.  Equality of Series 2015 Bonds.  The Series 2015 Bonds authorized 

to be issued hereunder and from time to time Outstanding are equitably and ratably secured 

by a lien on the Net Income of the Fee and shall not be entitled to any priority one over the 

other in the application of the Fee regardless of the time or times of the issuance of the 

Series 2015 Bonds, it being the intention of the Council that there shall be no priority among 

the Series 2015 Bonds regardless of the fact that they may be actually issued and delivered 

at different times. 

Section 7.03.  Issuance of Parity Bonds.  Nothing in this Bond Ordinance 

contained shall be construed in such a manner as to prevent the issuance by the City of 

additional bonds payable from any Net Income of the Fee and constituting a lien thereupon 

on a parity with, but not prior nor superior to, the lien of the Series 2015 Bonds, nor to 

prevent the issuance of bonds refunding all or a part of the Series 2015 Bonds; provided, 

however, that before any such additional Parity Bonds are authorized or actually issued 

(excluding any parity refunding bonds other than any bonds refunding Subordinate Bonds as 

permitted in Section 7.10 hereof): 

(a) Absence of Default.  The City shall not have defaulted in making any 

payments required by Article V hereof. 

(b) Fee Test.  The annual Gross Income for the fiscal year immediately 

preceding the date of the issuance of such additional Parity Bonds shall have been 

sufficient to pay the annual Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the Flood Control 

System for said fiscal year, and, in addition, sufficient to pay an amount representing 

125% of the combined average annual principal and interest requirements of the 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 34Packet Page 119



Outstanding Series 2015 Bonds of the City payable from and constituting a lien upon Net 

Income from the Fee and the additional Parity Bonds proposed to be issued, except as 

hereinafter otherwise expressly provided; provided that in calculating the Gross Income 

during the test period, the City may add an amount by which the City reasonably 

estimates the Gross Income would have been increased during the test period from any 

increase in rates, fees, and charges for services furnished by or the use of the Flood 

Control System during or since said test period, the effect of which is to estimate a sum 

which would have been realized had the increase been in effect during the entire test 

period. 

(c) Reduction of Annual Requirements.  The respective annual principal and 

interest requirements (including as a principal requirement the amount of any prior 

redemption premiums due on any prior redemption date as of which any outstanding 

bonds have been called or have been ordered to be called for prior redemption) shall be 

reduced to the extent such requirements are scheduled to be paid each of the respective 

fiscal years with moneys held in trust or in escrow for that purpose by any Insured Bank 

located within or without the State and exercising trust powers, including the known 

minimum yield from any investment in Permitted Investments. 

(d) Consideration of Additional Expenses.  In determining whether or not 

additional Parity Bonds may be issued as aforesaid, consideration shall be given to any 

probable increase (but not reduction) in Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the 

Flood Control System, that will result from the expenditure of the funds proposed to be 

derived from the issuance and sale of the additional bonds. 

(e) Reserve Fund.  There shall be established a reserve fund in an amount 

equal to at least the lesser of 125% of the average annual debt service on such additional 

Parity Bonds or 10% of the principal amount of such additional Parity Bonds at the time 

such Parity Bonds are issued. 

Section 7.04.  Certification of Gross Income.  A written certification by an 

Independent Accountant that said annual Gross Income is sufficient to pay said amounts, as 

provided in Section 7.03(b) hereof, shall be conclusively presumed to be accurate in 

determining the right of the City to authorize, issue, sell and deliver additional bonds on a 

parity with the Series 2015 Bonds. 

Section 7.05.  Subordinate Bonds Permitted.  Nothing herein contained shall be 

construed so as to prevent the City from issuing additional bonds, including refunding 

bonds, payable from the Net Income of the Fee and having a lien thereon subordinate, 

inferior and junior to the lien of the Series 2015 Bonds authorized to be issued by this Bond 

Ordinance. 

Section 7.06.  Superior Bonds Prohibited.  Nothing herein contained shall be 

construed so as to permit the City to issue additional bonds payable from the Fee and having 

a lien thereon prior and superior to the Series 2015 Bonds. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 35Packet Page 120



Section 7.07.  Payment Dates of Additional Bonds.  Any additional parity or 

subordinate bonds (including any refunding bonds) issued in compliance with the terms 

hereof shall bear interest payable semiannually on the first days of June and December in 

each year, except that the first interest payment date may be for interest accruing for any 

period not in excess in the aggregate of one year; and such additional bonds shall mature on 

the first day of December in the years designated by the Council during the term of the 

additional bonds. 

Section 7.08.  Refunding Bonds.  The provisions of Sections 7.03 and 7.04 hereof 

are subject to the exceptions provided in Sections 7.09 through 7.12 hereof for the issuance 

of refunding bonds. 

Section 7.09.  Issuance of Refunding Bonds.  If at any time after the Series 2015 

Bonds, or any part thereof, shall have been issued and remain Outstanding, the Council shall 

find it desirable to refund any Outstanding Series 2015 Bonds payable from and constituting 

a lien upon Net Income, said Series 2015 Bonds or any part thereof, may be refunded. 

Section 7.10.  Issuance of Parity Refunding Bonds.  No refunding bonds payable 

from Net Income shall be issued on a parity with the Series 2015 Bonds herein authorized 

unless: 

(a) Parity Lien.  The lien on the Fee of the Outstanding bonds so refunded is 

on a parity with the lien thereon of the Series 2015 Bonds herein authorized. 

(b) Tests.  (i) The refunding bonds are issued in compliance with Section 7.03 

hereof or (ii) the City shall not have defaulted in making any payments required by 

Article V hereof and the maximum annual principal of and interest due on the proposed 

refunding bonds is not greater than the maximum annual principal of and interest due on 

the Outstanding Bonds that will be refunded. 

Section 7.11.  Partial Refundings.  The refunding bonds so issued shall enjoy 

complete equality of lien with the portion of any bonds of the same issue which is not 

refunded, if any there be; and the Registered Owner or Registered Owners of such refunding 

bonds shall be subrogated to all of the rights and privileges enjoyed by the Registered 

Owner or Registered Owners of the unrefunded bonds of the same issue partially refunded 

by the refunding bonds. 

Section 7.12.  Limitations Upon Refundings.  Any refunding bonds payable from 

Net Income of the Fee shall be issued with such details as the Council may provide, subject 

to the provisions of Section 7.08 hereof, and subject to the inclusion of any such rights and 

privileges designated in Section 7.11 hereof, but without any impairment of any contractual 

obligation imposed upon the City by any proceedings authorizing the issuance of any 

unrefunded portion of such Outstanding bonds of any one or more issues (including but not 

necessarily limited to the Series 2015 Bonds herein authorized).   

Section 7.13.  Supplemental Bond Ordinance.  Additional bonds payable from Net 

Income shall be issued only after authorization thereof by a supplemental ordinance of the 

Council stating the purpose or purposes of the issuance of such additional bonds, directing 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 36Packet Page 121



the application of the proceeds thereof to such purpose or purposes, directing the execution 

thereof, and fixing and determining the date, principal amount, maturities, designation and 

numbers thereof, the maximum rate or the rate or rates of interest to be borne thereby, any 

prior redemption privileges of the City with respect thereto and other provisions thereof in 

accordance with this Bond Ordinance. 

All additional bonds shall bear such date, shall bear such numbers and series designation, 

letters or symbols prefixed to their numbers distinguishing them from each other security, shall 

be payable at such place or places, may be subject to redemption prior to maturity on such terms 

and conditions, and shall bear interest at such rate or at such different or varying rates per 

annum, as may be fixed by ordinance of the Council. 

ARTICLE VIII 

MISCELLANEOUS PROTECTIVE COVENANTS 

Section 8.01.  General.  The City hereby particularly covenants and agrees with the 

Registered Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds and makes provisions which shall be a part of 

its contract with such holders to the effect and with the purpose set forth in the following 

provisions and sections of this Article VIII hereof. 

Section 8.02.  Performance of Duties.  The City, acting by and through the Council 

or otherwise, will faithfully and punctually perform or cause to be performed all duties with 

respect to the Fee and the Flood Control System required by the Constitution and laws of the 

State and the various ordinances and Charter of the City, including but not limited to the 

making and collection of reasonable and sufficient rates and charges for services rendered or 

furnished by or the use of the Flood Control System, as herein provided, and the proper 

segregation of the Fee and its application to the respective accounts or funds provided from 

time to time therefor. 

Section 8.03.  Further Assurances.  At any and all times the City shall, so far as it 

may be authorized by law, pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver all and every 

such further ordinances, acts, deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers, other documents, 

and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the better assuring, conveying, granting, 

assigning and confirming all and singular the rights, the Fee, and other funds and accounts 

hereby pledged or assigned, or intended so to be, or which the City may hereafter become 

bound to pledge or to assign, or as may be reasonable and required to carry out the purposes 

of this Bond Ordinance and to comply with the Charter.  The City, acting by and through the 

Council, or otherwise, shall at all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and 

protect the pledge of the Net Income of the Fee and other funds and accounts pledged 

hereunder and all the rights of every holder of any Series 2015 Bond hereunder against all 

claims and demands of all persons whomsoever. 

Section 8.04.  Conditions Precedent.  Upon the date of issuance of any Series 2015 

Bonds, all conditions, acts and things required by the Constitution or statutes of the State or 

this Bond Ordinance to exist, to have happened, and to have been performed precedent to or 

in the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds shall exist, have happened, and have been 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 37Packet Page 122



performed; and the Series 2015 Bonds, together with all other obligations of the City, shall 

be within every debt and other limitation prescribed by the State Constitution, statutes, or 

Charter of the City. 

Section 8.05.  Efficient Operation and Maintenance.  The City shall at all times 

operate the Flood Control System properly and in a sound and economical manner such that 

the City shall be able to perform the duties provided in Sections 8.02 and 8.16 hereof. 

Section 8.06.  Prejudicial Action Prohibited.  No contract will be entered into nor 

any other action taken by the City which the rights of any Registered Owner of any Series 

2015 Bond might be impaired or diminished. 

Section 8.07.  Protection of Security.  The City, the officers, agents and employees 

of the City, and the Council shall not take any action in such manner or to such extent as 

might prejudice the security for the payment of the Series 2015 Bonds and the interest 

thereon according to the terms thereof. 

Section 8.08.  Accumulation of Interest Claims.  In order to prevent any claims for 

interest after maturity, the City will not directly or indirectly extend or assent to the 

extension of the time for the payment of any claim for interest on any of the Series 2015 

Bonds; and the City will not directly or indirectly be a party to or approve any arrangements 

for any such extension or for the purpose of keeping alive any such claims.  In case the time 

for the payment of any interest shall be extended, such installment or installments of interest 

after such extension or arrangement shall not be entitled in case of default hereunder to the 

benefit or the security of this Bond Ordinance, except upon the prior payment in full of the 

principal of all Series 2015 Bonds then Outstanding and of all matured interest on such 

Series 2015 Bonds the payment of which has not been extended. 

Section 8.09.  Prompt Payment of Series 2015 Bonds.  The City will promptly pay 

the principal of and the interest on every Series 2015 Bond issued hereunder and secured 

hereby at the place, on the dates, and in the manner specified herein and in the Series 2015 

Bonds according to the true intent and meaning hereof. 

Section 8.10.  Use of 2015 Reserve Fund.  The 2015 Reserve Fund shall be used 

solely and only and the moneys credited therein are hereby pledged for the purpose of 

paying the interest on and the principal of the Series 2015 Bonds, except for those moneys 

in the 2015 Reserve Fund as are in excess of the interest on and the principal of the Series 

2015 Bonds, accrued and not accrued, to their respective maturities (subject to the 

provisions of Section 9.01 hereof), and except for those moneys in the respective accounts 

of the 2015 Reserve Fund in excess of the 2015 Minimum Bond Reserve, as hereinabove 

provided. 

Section 8.11.  Additional Bonds.  The City shall not hereafter issue any bonds 

payable from the Fee and having a lien on a parity with the Series 2015 Bonds herein 

authorized so long as any Series 2015 Bonds herein authorized are Outstanding, unless such 

additional bonds (other than bonds issued pursuant to Sections 7.08 through 7.11 hereof and 

refunding bonds on a parity with the Series 2015 Bonds) on a parity with the bonds herein 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 38Packet Page 123



authorized are issued in such manner as provided in Sections 7.03, 7.10 and 7.11 hereof.  

Any other bonds hereafter authorized to be issued and payable from the Fee shall not 

hereafter be issued, unless such additional bonds are also issued in conformance with the 

provisions of Articles V and VIII hereof. 

Section 8.12.  Corporate Existence.  The City will maintain its corporate identity 

and existence so long as any of the Series 2015 Bonds herein authorized remain 

Outstanding, unless another body corporate and politic by operation of law succeeds to the 

duties, privileges, powers, liabilities, immunities and rights of the City and is obligated by 

law to operate and maintain the Flood Control System as herein provided without adversely 

affecting to any substantial degree the privileges and rights of any Registered Owner of any 

Outstanding Series 2015 Bond at any time. 

Section 8.13.  Reserved. 

Section 8.14.  Budgets.  The Council and officials of the City shall annually and at 

such other times as may be provided by law prepare and adopt a budget appertaining to the 

Flood Control System. 

Section 8.15.  Reasonable Charges.  While the Series 2015 Bonds or any of them 

remain Outstanding and unpaid, the Fee rendered by City and to its inhabitants and to all 

other consumers within or without the boundaries of the City shall be reasonable and just, 

taking into account and consideration the costs and value of the Flood Control System, the 

Operation and Maintenance Expenses thereof, the proper and necessary allowances for the 

depreciation thereof, and the amounts necessary for the retirement of all Series 2015 Bonds 

and other bonds and obligations payable from Net Income the accruing interest thereon, and 

reserves therefor. 

Section 8.16.  Adequacy and Applicability of Charges.  There shall be charged 

against all customers of the City paying the Fee, such rates, fees and other charges as shall 

be adequate to meet the requirements of this and the preceding sections hereof.  Such rates 

and amounts from the Fee shall be sufficient to produce Gross Income annually to pay the 

annual Operation and Maintenance Expenses and 125% of both the principal of and the 

interest on the Series 2015 Bonds and any other bonds payable annually from Gross Income 

(excluding the reserves therefor), all of which Gross Income, including any income received 

from the City, shall be subject to distribution to the payment of Operation and Maintenance 

Expenses of the Flood Control System and to the payment of principal of and interest on all 

bonds payable from the Fee, including reasonable reserves therefor.  

Section 8.17.  Collection of Charges.  The City shall cause the Fee to be collected 

as soon as reasonable, shall prescribe and enforce rules and regulations for the payment 

thereof and shall provide methods of collection and penalties, including but not limited to 

denial of municipal water service for nonpayment of such Fee to the end that net revenues of 

the Fee shall be adequate to meet the requirements hereof. 

Section 8.18.  Procedure for Collecting Charges.  All bills for water, water flood 

system, electric current appertaining thereto, and sanitary sewer service or flood system 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 39Packet Page 124



furnished or served by or through the Flood Control System shall be rendered to customers 

on a regularly established and orderly basis when needed.  The fees, rates and other charges 

due shall be collected in a lawful manner, including without limitation discontinuance of 

service by the City. 

Section 8.19.  Records.  So long as any of the Series 2015 Bonds remain 

Outstanding, proper books of record and account will be kept by the City, separate and apart 

from all other records and accounts, showing complete and correct entries of all transactions 

relating to the Flood Control System.  Such books shall include (but not necessarily be 

limited to) monthly records showing: 

(a) Numbers.  The number of customers required to pay the Fee by classes. 

(b) Receipts.  The revenues received from the Fee by classes of customers. 

(c) Expenses.  A detailed statement of the expenses of the Flood Control 

System. 

All requisitions, requests, certificates, opinions and other documents received by any 

Person on behalf of the City in connection with the Flood Control System under the provisions of 

this Bond Ordinance shall be retained in such Person’s possession or in the City’s official 

records. 

Section 8.20.  Rights Concerning Records and Flood Control System.  Any 

Registered Owner of any of the Series 2015 Bonds or any duly authorized agent or agents of 

such holder shall have the right at all reasonable times to inspect all records, accounts and 

data relating thereto, concerning the Flood Control System or the Net Income from the Fee, 

or both, to make copies of such records, accounts and data, and to inspect the Flood Control 

System and all properties comprising the Flood Control System. 

Section 8.21.  Audits Required.  The City shall, following the close of each fiscal 

year, order an audit for the fiscal year of such books and accounts to be made forthwith by 

an Independent Accountant. 

Section 8.22.  Distribution of Audits and Reports.  The City agrees to furnish by 

first-class mail, postage prepaid, forthwith, and in any event within 180 days from the end of 

each fiscal year, a copy of each of such audits and reports to the Registered Owner of any of 

the Series 2015 Bonds at the Registered Owner’s request and without request to: 

(a) Original Purchaser.  The Original Purchaser, or any known successor 

thereof. 

(b) Paying Agent.  The Paying Agent, or any known successor thereof. 

(c) Others.  Any other person designated in any ordinance or other 

proceedings appertaining to any Outstanding bonds payable from Net Income other than 

the Series 2015 Bonds. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 40Packet Page 125



After each such audit and report has been prepared; and any such holder shall have the right to 

discuss with the Independent Accountant or with the person making the audit and report the 

contents thereof and to ask for such additional information as such holder may reasonably 

require. 

Section 8.23.  Additional Tax Covenants. 

(a) The City covenants that it shall not use or permit the use of any proceeds 

of the Series 2015 Bonds or any other funds of the City from whatever source derived, 

directly or indirectly, to acquire any securities or obligations and shall not take or permit 

to be taken any other action or actions, which would cause any of the Series 2015 Bonds 

to be an “arbitrage bond” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Tax Code, or would 

otherwise cause the interest on the Series 2015 Bonds to be includible in gross income for 

federal income tax purposes.  The City covenants that it shall at all times do and perform 

all acts and things permitted by law and which are necessary in order to assure that 

interest paid by the City on the Series 2015 Bonds shall, for purposes of federal income 

taxation, not be includible in gross income under the Tax Code or any other valid 

provision of law. 

(b) In particular, but without limitation, the City further represents, warrants 

and covenants to comply with the following restrictions of the Tax Code, unless it 

receives an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel stating that such compliance is 

not necessary: 

(i) Gross proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds shall not be used in a 

manner which will cause the Series 2015 Bonds to be considered “private activity 

bonds” within the meaning of the Tax Code. 

(ii) The Series 2015 Bonds are not and shall not become directly or 

indirectly “federally guaranteed.” 

(iii) The City shall timely file Internal Revenue Form 8038-G which 

shall contain the information required to be filed pursuant to Section 149(e) of the 

Tax Code. 

(iv) The City shall comply with the Tax Certificate and the Tax Letter 

of Instructions delivered to it on the date of issue of the Series 2015 Bonds with 

respect to the application and investment of Series 2015 Bond proceeds subject to 

Section 5.10 hereof. 

ARTICLE IX 

DEFEASANCE, DELEGATION OF POWERS, 

STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 9.01.  Defeasance.  When all principal and interest due in connection with 

the Series 2015 Bonds have been duly paid, the pledge and lien and all obligations 

hereunder shall thereby be discharged and the Series 2015 Bonds shall no longer be deemed 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 41Packet Page 126



to be Outstanding within the meaning of this Bond Ordinance.  There shall be deemed to be 

such due payment when the City has placed in escrow or in trust with a commercial bank 

located within or without the State and exercising trust powers on amount sufficient 

(including the known minimum yield from Federal Securities in which such amount wholly 

or in part may be initially invested) to meet all requirements of principal, interest and any 

prior redemption premiums due as the same become due to the final maturities of the Series 

2015 Bonds or upon any prior redemption date as of which the City shall have exercised or 

shall have obligated itself to exercise its prior redemption option by a call of the Series 2015 

Bonds for payment then.  The Federal Securities shall become due prior to the respective 

times on which the proceeds thereof shall be needed in accordance with a schedule 

established and agreed upon between the City and such bank at the time of the creation of 

the escrow or trust, or the Federal Securities shall be subject to redemption at the option of 

the Registered Owners thereof to assure such availability as so needed to meet such 

schedule. 

Section 9.02.  Delegated Powers.  The officers of the City be, and they hereby are, 

authorized and directed to take all action necessary or appropriate to effectuate the 

provisions of this Bond Ordinance including, without limitation, the generality of the 

foregoing: 

(a) Printing Bonds.  The printing of the Series 2015 Bonds including, without 

limitation, the printing on each bond of a certified true copy of bond counsel’s approving 

opinion. 

(b) Final Certificates.  The execution of such certificates as may be 

reasonably required by the Original Purchaser relating, inter alia, to the signing of the 

Series 2015 Bonds, the tenure and identity of the officials of the Council and of the City, 

the delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds, the receipt of the bond purchase price and, if it be 

in accordance with fact, the absence of litigation, pending or threatened, affecting the 

validity thereof. 

Section 9.03.  Statute of Limitations.  No action or suit based upon any Series 2015 

Bond or other obligation of the City shall be commenced after it is barred by any statute of 

limitations appertaining thereto.  Any trust or fiduciary relationship between the City and 

the Registered Owners of any Series 2015 Bond or other obligee regarding any such 

obligation shall be conclusively presumed to have been repudiated on the maturity date or 

other due date thereof unless the bond is presented for payment or demand for payment of 

any such obligation is otherwise made before the expiration of the applicable limitation 

period.  Any moneys from whatever source derived remaining in any fund or account 

reserved, pledged or otherwise held for the payment of any such obligation, action or suit 

for the collection of which is barred shall revert to the Storm Water and Flood Management 

Fee Fund unless the Council shall otherwise provide by bond ordinance of the City.  

Nothing herein contained shall be so construed as to prevent the payment of any such 

obligation after any action or suit for its collection has been barred if the Council deems it in 

the best interests of the public so to do and orders such payment to be made. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 42Packet Page 127



Section 9.04.  Evidence of Bondholders.  Any request, consent or other ordinance 

which this Bond Ordinance may require or may permit to be signed and to be executed by 

the Registered Owner of any Series 2015 Bonds may be in one or more ordinances of 

similar tenor and shall be signed or shall be executed by each such holder in person or by his 

attorney appointed in writing as shown on the registration books of the Paying Agent 

although the Paying Agent may nevertheless, in its discretion, require further or other proof 

as it deems advisable. 

Section 9.05.  Warranty Upon Issuance of Series 2015 Bonds.  Any Series 2015 

Bonds authorized as herein provided, when duly executed and delivered for the purpose 

provided for in this Bond Ordinance, shall constitute a warranty by and on behalf of the City 

for the benefit of each and every future holder of any of the Series 2015 Bonds that the 

Series 2015 Bonds have been issued for a valuable consideration in full conformity with 

law. 

ARTICLE X 

PRIVILEGES, RIGHTS AND REMEDIES 

Section 10.01.  Bondholder’s Remedies.  Each holder of any Series 2015 Bond 

issued hereunder shall be entitled to all of the privileges, rights and remedies permitted at 

law or in equity or by statute, except no real or personal property appertaining to the Flood 

Control System or otherwise has been conveyed to secure the payment of the Series 2015 

Bonds by deed of trust or mortgage to a trustee for the benefit and the security of the 

Registered Owner or Registered Owners from time to time of the Series 2015 Bonds, or by 

any other encumbrance or other pledge of property, subject to the provisions herein 

concerning the pledge of and the covenants and the other contractual provisions concerning 

the Net Income of the Flood Control System. 

Section 10.02.  Right To Enforce Payment.  Nothing in this Bond Ordinance 

article contained shall affect or impair the right of any Registered Owner of any Series 2015 

Bond or Parity Bond issued hereunder to enforce the payment of the principal of and the 

interest on such Series 2015 Bond or Parity Bond or the obligation of the City to pay the 

principal of and the interest on each Series 2015 Bond or Parity Bond issued hereunder to 

the Registered Owner thereof at the time and the place expressed in the Series 2015 Bond or 

Parity Bond. 

Section 10.03.  Events of Default.  Each of the following events is hereby declared 

an “event of default,” that is to say: 

(a) Nonpayment of Principal and Premium.  Payment of the principal of any 

of the Series 2015 Bonds or any Parity Bonds or any prior redemption premium due in 

connection therewith or both shall not be made by the City when the same shall become 

due and payable either at maturity or by proceedings for prior redemption or otherwise. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 43Packet Page 128



(b) Nonpayment of Interest.  Payment of any installment of interest on the 

Series 2015 Bonds or any Parity Bonds shall not be made by the City when the same 

becomes due and payable. 

(c) Incapable To Perform.  The City shall for any reason be rendered 

incapable of fulfilling its obligations hereunder. 

(d) Nonperformance of Duties.  The City shall have failed to carry out and to 

perform (or in good faith to begin the performance of) all acts and things lawfully 

required to be carried out or to be performed by it under any contract relating to Gross 

Income or to the Flood Control System or otherwise and such failure shall continue for 

60 days after receipt of notice from either the Original Purchaser of the Series 2015 

Bonds or from the Registered Owners of 10% in principal amount of the Series 2015 

Bonds authorized by this Bond Ordinance and then outstanding. 

(e) Failure To Reconstruct.  The City shall discontinue or shall unreasonably 

delay or shall fail to carry out with reasonable dispatch the reconstruction of any part of 

the Flood Control System which shall be destroyed or damaged and shall not be promptly 

repaired or replaced unless such failure to repair due to obsolescence. 

(f) Appointment of Receiver.  An order or decree shall be entered by a court 

of competent jurisdiction with the consent or acquiescence of the City appointing a 

receiver or receivers for the Flood Control System or for the Net Income of the Flood 

Control System or both or if an order or decree having been entered without the consent 

or acquiescence of the City shall not be vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within 

60 days after entry. 

(g) Default of Any Provision.  The City shall make default in the due and 

punctual performance of any other of the covenants, conditions, agreements and 

provisions contained in the Series 2015 Bonds or any Parity Bonds or in this Bond 

Ordinance on its part to be performed, and such default shall continue for 60 days after 

written notice specifying such default and requiring the same to be remedied shall have 

been given to the City by either the Registered Owners of 10% in principal amount of the 

Series 2015 Bonds and Parity Bonds then Outstanding. 

Section 10.04.  Remedies for Defaults.  Upon the happening and continuance of 

any of the events of default as provided in Section 10.03 hereof, then and in every case, the 

Registered Owner or Registered Owners of not less than 10% in principal amount of the 

Series 2015 Bonds and Parity Bonds then outstanding, may proceed against the City to 

protect and to enforce the rights of any Registered Owner of the Series 2015 Bonds and 

Parity Bonds under this Bond Ordinance by mandamus or by other suit, action or special 

proceedings in equity or at appointment of a receiver or for the specific performance of any 

covenant or agreement contained herein or in an award of execution of any power herein 

granted for the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy as such Registered 

Owner or Registered Owners may deem most effectual to protect and to enforce the rights 

aforesaid, or thereby to enjoin any act or thing which may be unlawful or in violation of any 

right of any Registered Owner or Registered Owners of any bond, or to require the City to 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 44Packet Page 129



act as if it were the trustee of an express trust or any combination of such remedies.  All 

such proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained for the equal 

benefit of all Registered Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds and Parity Bonds then 

outstanding. 

Section 10.05.  Rights and Privileges Cumulative.  The failure of any Registered 

Owner of any Outstanding Series 2015 Bond to proceed in any manner herein provided shall 

not relieve the City, its Council or any of its officers, agents or employees of any liability 

for failure to perform or carry out any duty, obligation or other commitment.  Each right or 

privilege of any such holder (or trustee thereof) is in addition and is cumulative to any other 

right or privilege, and the exercise of any right or privilege by or on behalf of any 

Registered Owner shall not be deemed a waiver of any other right or privilege thereof. 

Section 10.06.  Duties Upon Defaults.  Upon the happening of any of the events of 

default as provided in Section 10.03 hereof, the City, in addition, will do and perform all 

proper acts on behalf of and for the Registered Owner of the Series 2015 Bonds to protect 

and to preserve the security created for the payment of their bonds and to insure the payment 

of the principal of and the interest On the Series 2015 Bonds promptly as the same become 

due.  During any period of default, so long as any of the Series 2015 Bonds herein 

authorized either as to principal or as to interest are outstanding, all Net Income shall be 

paid in the 2015 Bond Fund or, in the event of bonds issued and Outstanding during said 

period of time on a parity with the Series 2015 Bonds herein authorized, shall be paid into 

bond funds for all “parity” bonds on an equitable and prorated basis and used for the 

purposes therein provided.  In the event the City fails or refuses to proceed as in this Section 

provided, the Registered Owner or Registered Owners of not less than 10% in principal 

amount of the Series 2015 Bonds then outstanding, after demand in writing, may proceed to 

protect and to enforce the rights of the Registered Owner of the Series 2015 Bonds as 

hereinabove provided; and to that end any such Registered Owners of outstanding Series 

2015 Bonds shall be subrogated to all rights of the City under any agreement, lease or other 

contract involving the Flood Control System entered into prior to the effective date of this 

Bond Ordinance or thereafter while any of the Series 2015 Bonds herein authorized are 

Outstanding. 

Section 10.07.  Duties in Bankruptcy Proceedings.  In the event any user of the 

Flood Control System proceeds under any laws of the United States relating to bankruptcy, 

including any action under any law providing for corporate reorganization, it shall be the 

duty of the City, and it appropriate officers are hereby authorized and directed, to take all 

necessary steps for the benefit of the Registered Owner of the Series 2015 Bonds in said 

proceedings, including the filing of any claims for unpaid fees, rates and other charges or 

otherwise arising from the breach of any of the covenants, terms or conditions of any 

contract involving the Flood Control System. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 45Packet Page 130



ARTICLE XI 

AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE 

Section 11.01.  Limitations Upon Amendments.  This Bond Ordinance may be 

amended or supplemented by ordinances adopted by the Council in accordance with the 

laws of the State without receipt by the City of any additional consideration but with the 

written consent of the Registered Owners of more than 50% of the Series 2015 Bonds 

authorized by this Bond Ordinance and Outstanding at the time of the adoption of such 

amendatory or supplemental ordinance (not including in any case any Series 2015 Bonds 

which may then be held or owned for the account of the City but including such refunding 

any of the Series 2015 Bonds herein authorized if such refunding securities are not owned 

by the City). 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Bond Ordinance may be amended or supplemented 

by ordinances adopted by the Council in accordance with the constitution and laws of the State 

without receipt by the City of any additional consideration and without receipt by the City of any 

additional consideration and without notice to and consent from the Registered Owners of any of 

the Series 2015 Bonds, for the purposes of (a) curing any ambiguity or defective or inconsistent 

provision contained in this Bond Ordinance as the City may deem necessary and desirable and 

not inconsistent with the provisions of this Bond Ordinance and which shall not adversely affect 

the interests of the owners of the Series 2015 Bonds or any other Parity Bonds or (b) subjecting 

additional properties to the lien of this Bond Ordinance. 

The foregoing paragraphs are subject to the condition, however, that no such ordinance 

shall have the effect of permitting: 

(a) Changing Payment.  A change in the maturity or in the terms of 

redemption of the principal of any Outstanding bond or any installment of interest 

thereon. 

(b) Reducing Return.  A reduction in the principal amount of any bond, the 

rate of interest thereon or any prior redemption premium payable in connection, therewith 

without the consent of the Registered Owner of the bond. 

(c) Prior Lien.  The creation of a lien upon or a pledge of revenues ranking 

prior to the lien or to the pledge created by this Bond Ordinance. 

(d) Modifying Any Bond.  A reduction of the principal amount, percentages 

or otherwise affecting the description of Series 2015 Bonds the consent of the Registered 

Owners of which is required for any such modification or amendment. 

(e) Priorities Between Bonds.  The establishment of priorities as between 

Series 2015 Bonds issued and Outstanding under the provisions of this Bond Ordinance. 

(f) Partial Modification.  The modification of or otherwise affecting the 

rights of the Registered Owners of less than all of the Series 2015 Bonds then 

Outstanding. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 46Packet Page 131



Section 11.02.  Notice of Amendment.  Whenever the Council shall propose to 

amend or modify this Bond Ordinance under the provisions of this article, unless otherwise 

not required it shall cause notice of the proposed amendment to be provided in the same 

manner specified in Section 3.05 hereof.  Such notice shall briefly set forth the nature of the 

proposed amendment and shall state that a copy of the proposed amendatory ordinance is on 

file in the office of the Chief Financial Officer for public inspection. 

Section 11.03.  Time for Amendment.  Whenever at any time within one year from 

the date of the publication or mailing of said notice there shall be filed in the office of the 

Chief Financial Officer an ordinance or ordinances executed by the Registered Owners of 

more than 50% in aggregate amount of the Series 2015 Bonds then Outstanding as in this 

article defined, which ordinance or ordinances shall refer to the proposed amendatory 

ordinance described in said notice and shall specifically consent to and approve the adoption 

thereof, thereupon, but not otherwise (except as provided in Section 11.01 whereby consent 

is not required), the Council may adopt such amendatory ordinance and such ordinance shall 

become effective. 

Section 11.04.  Binding Consent to Amendment.  If the Registered Owners of 

more than 50% in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2015 Bonds Outstanding as in 

this article defined at the time of the adoption of such amendatory ordinance, or in the 

predecessors in title of such holders, shall have consented to and approved the adoption 

thereof as herein provided, no holder of any bond, whether or not such holder shall have 

consented to or shall have revoked any interest to object to the adoption of such amendatory 

ordinance or to object to any of the terms or provisions therein contained or to the operation 

thereof or to enjoin or restrain the City from taking any action pursuant to the provisions 

thereof. 

Section 11.05.  Time Consent Binding.  Any consent given by the Registered 

Owner of a bond pursuant to the provisions of this article shall be irrevocable for a period of 

six months from the date of the publication or mailing of the notice above provided for and 

shall be conclusive and binding upon all future holders of the same bond during said period.  

Such consent may be revoked at any time after six months from the date of the publication 

or mailing of such notice, by the Registered Owner who gave such consent or by a successor 

in title by filing notice of such revocation with the Chief Financial Officer, but such 

revocation shall not be effective if the Registered Owners of 50% in aggregate principal 

amount of the Series 2015 Bonds Outstanding as in this article defined have, prior to the 

attempted revocation, consented to and approved the amendatory ordinance referred to in 

such revocation. 

Section 11.06.  Unanimous Consent.  Notwithstanding anything contained in the 

foregoing provisions of this article, the terms and the provisions of this Bond Ordinance or 

of any ordinance amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto and the rights and the 

obligations of the City and of the Registered Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds thereunder 

may be modified or amended in any respect upon the adoption by the City and upon the 

filing with the Chief Financial Officer of an ordinance to that effect and with the consent of 

the Registered Owners of all the then Outstanding Series 2015 Bonds, such consent to be 

given as provided in Section 9.04 hereof; and no notice to holders of bonds shall be required 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 47Packet Page 132



as provided in Section 11.02 hereof, nor shall the time of consent be limited except as may 

be provided in such consent. 

Section 11.07.  Exclusion of City’s Series 2015 Bonds.  Series 2015 Bonds owned 

or held by or for the account of the City shall not be deemed Outstanding and shall be 

excluded for the purpose of consent or of other action or of any calculation of Outstanding 

Series 2015 Bonds provided for in this article, and the City shall not be entitled with respect 

to such Series 2015 Bonds to give any consent or to take any other action provided for in 

this article.  At the time of any consent or of other action taken under this article, the City 

shall furnish the Chief Financial Officer and the Paying Agent a certificate of the Treasurer 

upon which the City may rely describing all Series 2015 Bonds so to be excluded. 

Section 11.08.  Notation on Series 2015 Bonds.  Series 2015 Bonds authenticated 

and delivered after the effective date of any action taken as in this article provided may bear 

a notation by endorsement or otherwise in form approved by the Council as to such action; 

and if any such bond so authenticated and delivered shall bear such notation, then upon 

demand of the Registered Owner of any bond Outstanding at such effective date and upon 

presentation of his bond for the purpose at the principal office of the Paying Agent, suitable 

notation shall be made on such bond by the Chief Financial Officer and the Paying Agent as 

to any such action.  If the Council shall so determine, new bonds so modified as in the 

opinion of the Council to conform to such action shall be prepared, authenticated and 

delivered and upon demand of the Registered Owner of any bond then Outstanding shall be 

exchanged without cost to such holder for bonds then Outstanding upon surrender of such 

bonds. 

Section 11.09.  Proof of Instruments.  The fact and date of execution of any 

ordinance under the provisions of this article may be proved as provided in Section 9.04 

hereof. 

Section 11.10.  Proof of Series 2015 Bonds.  The amount and number of the Series 

2015 Bonds held by any Person executing such ordinance and the date of his holding the 

same may be proved as provided by Section 9.04 hereof. 

ARTICLE XII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 12.01.  Approval of Official Statement, Paying Agent Agreement, Tax 

Certificate and Miscellaneous Documents.  All action heretofore taken by any of the 

City’s officials and the efforts of the City directed toward the issuance and sale of the Series 

2015 Bonds, including use of a Preliminary Official Statement which is hereby approved, 

are hereby ratified, approved and confirmed.  The Council hereby authorizes the use of a 

final Official Statement in substantially the form of the Preliminary Official Statement for 

use in connection with the sale of the Series 2015 Bonds, and the Mayor is hereby 

authorized and directed to execute the final Official Statement, with such changes therein as 

he shall deem necessary or appropriate.  The Mayor, the Mayor Pro Tem, the Chief 

Financial Officer and the City Clerk, or his or her designee and all other officers of the City 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 48Packet Page 133



and their designees are hereby authorized and directed to execute all other documents and 

certificates necessary or desirable to effectuate the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds and 

the transactions contemplated thereby, including without limitation, the Paying Agent 

Agreement and the Tax Certificate.   

Section 12.02.  Undertaking To Provide Ongoing Disclosure. The City agrees to 

enter into the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, dated the date of issuance of the Series 

2015 Bonds for the benefit of the Registered Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds required by 

Section (b)(5) of Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (17 CFR Part 240, § 240.15c2-12). 

Section 12.03.  Emergency and Effective Date.  Due to fluctuations in municipal 

bond prices and interest rates, due to currently favorable interest rates, due to requirements 

with respect to the construction of certain improvements, and due to the need to finally act 

upon and accept the bid of the highest responsible bidder (in accordance with the Charter) 

for the Series 2015 Bonds in an expeditious manner (said bids being submitted for 

immediate acceptance), it is hereby declared that, in the opinion of the Council, an 

emergency exists, and therefore this Bond Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon 

its passage. 

Section 12.04.  Publish by Title Only.  The Council deems it appropriate that this 

Bond Ordinance be published by title only and directs the Chief Financial Officer to make 

available in his office copies of the text of this Bond Ordinance for public inspection and 

acquisition. 

Section 12.05.  Severability.  Should any one or more sections or provisions of this 

Bond Ordinance be judicially determined to be invalid or unenforceable, such determination 

shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remaining provisions hereof, the intention being that 

the various provisions hereof are severable. 

Section 12.06.  Repeals.  All ordinances, or parts thereof, in conflict with this Bond 

Ordinance, are hereby repealed.  After the Series 2015 Bonds have been issued, this Bond 

Ordinance shall be and remain irrepealable until the Series 2015 Bonds and the interest 

thereon shall be fully paid, satisfied and discharged in the manner herein provided, or 

sufficient provision shall have been made for such payment, satisfaction and discharge. 

Section 12.07.  Records.  A true copy of this Bond Ordinance shall be kept in a 

book marked “Ordinance Record” maintained by the appropriate officers of the City. 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED BY A TWO-THIRDS VOTE OF THE COUNCIL 

MEMBERS PRESENT, ADOPTED AS AN EMERGENCY MEASURE AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE THIS 16
TH

 DAY OF JUNE, 2015.

[SEAL] 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 49Packet Page 134



By 

Mayor 

Attest: 

By 

City Clerk 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 3L     Page 50Packet Page 135



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE – Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 8052 setting the ballot title for an initiated 
amendment to the Boulder Charter regarding City Council compensation, and setting 
forth related details. 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Alisa Lewis, City Clerk 
Joyce Lira, Human Resource Director 
Casey Earp, Assistant City Manager I 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Council Charter Committee convenes annually to research and provide recommendations 
on potential Charter changes to be considered for placement on the November ballot. On 
March 17, the Charter Committee met to discuss items it would propose to bring forward to 
the full City Council to place on the November 2015 ballot. One of the items identified was 
City Council Compensation. 

At the April 14, 2015 study session, the topic was discussed and Council requested that 
staff bring back potential ballot options for 1st reading consideration. The three options 
discussed were: 

1. Add a base amount of $10,000 in addition to the current rate of pay per meeting.
(Attachment A)

2. Double the current per meeting compensation amount. (Attachment B)

Agenda Item 3M     Page 1Packet Page 136



3. Base the total amount of compensation per year on a percent of the Area Median
Income (AMI) for the Boulder Valley area.  (Attachment C)

Council members are currently compensated on a per meeting basis at the rate of 
$206.97, for a maximum of 52 meetings annually. Council’s maximum compensation 
under the current format is $10,762.44 annually. (Attachment D)   

Information from other municipalities is located in Attachment G. This information is 
from the 2015 Compensation Salary System (CSS) maintained by the Colorado 
Municipal League.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only an ordinance setting 
the ballot title for an initiated amendment to the Boulder Home Rule Charter regarding 
City Council compensation. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic –The impact of this potential ballot question would be the incremental

amount of the compensation that would be proposed. 
• Environmental – Council compensation should not have an impact on the

environmental sustainability. 
• Social – There is the potential that increasing the amount of the council

compensation may attract a broader range of council candidates in future 
elections.  

OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal – The incremental fiscal impact of each option can be found in

Attachment E. 
• Staff time – The work on this potential ballot item can be absorbed in the normal

work processes conducted by staff. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
Various members of the public have spoken during prior Open Comment segments of 
council meetings supporting a change in council compensation.   

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 
During the past year, various members of the community have spoken to Council during the 
Open Comment segment of council meetings suggesting that the current council 
compensation is inadequate.  Reasons cited included the amount of work council members 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 2Packet Page 137



are expected to perform and the number of meetings they are expected to attend (sometimes 
the number of meetings exceed current compensation amounts).  This may contribute to why 
people cannot run for City Council due to the time it requires to miss or be away from work 
and family. The topic was brought forward by the Council Charter Committee and was 
discussed at a study session on April 14, 2015.   

The current CSS (Attachment G) has compensation information from ten municipalities for 
2015. The comparable data has information from Arvada, Aurora, Colorado Springs, Denver, 
Fort Collins, Greeley, Lakewood, Longmont, Loveland, Thornton, and Westminster on 
council compensation rates.   

MATRIX OF OPTIONS   
There is a summary of options in table format that can be found in Attachment E. 

Ballot Option 1 (Attachment A): Add a base amount to the current per meeting compensation 
rate.  This was one of the options discussed during the study session as an additional 
alternative to the current per meeting compensation.  The premise would be that the base 
amount would cover all other duties not covered by the current per meeting amount. The 
language for the existing meeting compensation is amended in this ordinance to reflect the 
present per meeting compensation amount for 2016, $210 per meeting. This change is 
necessary to insure that both the base compensation and the per meeting compensation will 
be tied to the same consumer price index calculation.  

Ballot Option 2 (Attachment B): Double the per meeting compensation rate. This option 
would maintain the current compensation framework based on pay per meeting that was 
originally passed by the voters.  The compensation increase is to recognize that there are 
many additional duties other than the ones currently recognized in the charter.  

Option 3 (Attachment C): Link Council’s annual compensation to the published area median 
income (AMI) using a percentage of the AMI annually published by the Colorado Housing 
and Finance Authority (CHFA)  for a family of three.  Council discussed this concept at the 
study session and asked staff to provide additional information on this potential option.  AMI 
means that one half of the salaries are greater and one half of the salaries are less than the 
median amount of income. The proposed ordinance is set at 75% AMI. The current AMI for 
the Boulder area for a family of three is $89,500 and various annual amounts based on a 
percentage of income are as follows: 

25% of AMI = $  22,375 
50% of AMI = $  44,750 
75% of AMI = $  67,125 

NEXT STEPS 
If council wishes to move this ballot item forward to second reading, staff will prepare 
the agenda item.  If council prefers to defer first reading and discuss this ballot item 
more, there will be a Council Study Session on July 14 when any potential ballot items 
can be discussed. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 3Packet Page 138



Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance - Base salary plus current per meeting compensation 
Attachment B – Proposed Ordinance - Double current compensation 
Attachment C – Proposed Ordinance - Compensation tied to a percent of AMI 
Attachment D – Extract from the City of Boulder Charter re: City Council Compensation 
Attachment E – Matrix of options for consideration  
Attachment F – 2015 Compensation Salary System information prepared by the Colorado      

Municipal League  
Attachment G – 2015 Area Median Income for Boulder County  
 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 4Packet Page 139



K:\ccco\o-8052-1st rdg-option 1-2391.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8052 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED 

ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE SPECIAL 

MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 3, 2015, THE QUESTION OF 

AMENDING SECTION 7 OF THE BOULDER HOME RULE 

CHARTER, RELATING TO COUNCIL COMPENSATION, BY 

ADDING AN ANNUAL SALARY IN THE AMOUNT OF 

$10,000, SUBJECT TO ANNUAL ESCALATION IN A 

PERCENTAGE EQUAL TO THE INCREASE IN THE 

CONSUMER PRICE INCREASE AND SETTING FORTH 

RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the city of 

Boulder, county of Boulder and state of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 3, 2015.  

Section 2. At that election, a question shall be submitted to the electors of the city of 

Boulder entitled by law to vote, that will allow voters to consider the following amendment to 

Section 7 of the city Charter pertaining to compensation for council members.  The material to 

be added to the Charter is shown by double underlining and material to be deleted is shown 

stricken through with solid lines. 

Sec. 7. - Compensation. 

Council members shall receive as compensation $100.00 per meeting at which a quorum of 

city council is present, not to exceed fifty-two meetings per calendar year, plus an annual 

salary of $10,000 per year, paid periodically on the same schedule used for salaried city 

employees with both the per meeting payment and annual salary subject to an annual 

escalation each January 1 in a percentage equivalent to any increase over the past year in the 

Consumer Price Index (All Items) for the statistical area which includes the city maintained 

by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics; this amendment shall 

become effective January 1, 20161990. For purposes of this section only, a "meeting" shall 

mean a gathering of a quorum of the council, which gathering is noticed to the public as a 

regular or special meeting as provided in this Charter. 

Attachment A - Option 1

Agenda Item 3M     Page 5Packet Page 140



 

K:\ccco\o-8052-1st rdg-option 1-2391.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Section 3. The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also 

be the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

Ballot Question No. ____ 
 

Amending Charter Provisions regarding  
Compensation for Council Members 

Shall Section 7 of the Charter be amended pursuant to 
Ordinance No. 8052 to add an annual salary for council 
members in the amount of $10,000, with an annual increase 
equal to the percentage increase in the consumer price 
index? 
 
For the measure____ Against the measure____ 

 

Section 4. If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted 

are for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the charter shall be 

amended as provided in this ordinance.  

Section 5. The election shall be conducted under the provisions of the Colorado 

Constitution, the Charter and ordinances of the city, the Boulder Revised Code, 1981, and this 

ordinance, and all contrary provisions of the statutes of the state of Colorado are hereby 

superseded. 

Section 6. The officers of the city are authorized to take all action necessary or 

appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this ordinance and to contract with the county clerk to 

conduct the election for the city.   

Section 7. If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall for 

any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect any of the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance. 

Attachment A - Option 1

Agenda Item 3M     Page 6Packet Page 141



 

K:\ccco\o-8052-1st rdg-option 1-2391.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Section 8. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 9. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16 day of June, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this ___day of ____________, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

 
 

 

Attachment A - Option 1

Agenda Item 3M     Page 7Packet Page 142



K:\ccco\o-8052-1st rdg-option 2-2391.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8052 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED 

ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE SPECIAL 

MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 3, 2015, THE QUESTION OF 

AMENDING SECTION 7 OF THE BOULDER HOME RULE 

CHARTER, RELATING TO COUNCIL COMPENSATION, BY 

INCREASING THE AMOUNT THAT COUNCIL MEMBERS 

RECEIVE AS COMPENSATION FROM $100 PER MEETING, 

WHICH ADJUSTED FOR INFLATION IS NOW $206.97 PER 

MEETING, TO $425 PER MEETING, AND SETTING FORTH 

RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the city of 

Boulder, county of Boulder and state of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 3, 2015.  

Section 2. At that election, a question shall be submitted to the electors of the city of 

Boulder entitled by law to vote, that will allow voters to consider the following amendment to 

Section 7 of the city Charter pertaining to compensation for council members.  The material to 

be added to the Charter is shown by double underlining and material to be deleted is shown 

stricken through with solid lines. 

Sec. 7. - Compensation. 

Council members shall receive as compensation $100.00 $425.00 per meeting at which a 

quorum of city council is present, not to exceed fifty-two meetings per calendar year, plus an 

annual escalation each January 1 in a percentage equivalent to any increase over the past year 

in the Consumer Price Index (All Items) for the statistical area which includes the city 

maintained by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics; this 

amendment shall become effective January 1, 1990 2016. For purposes of this section only, a 

"meeting" shall mean a gathering of a quorum of the council, which gathering is noticed to 

the public as a regular or special meeting as provided in this Charter. 

Section 3. The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also 

be the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

Attachment B - Option 2

Agenda Item 3M     Page 8Packet Page 143



 

K:\ccco\o-8052-1st rdg-option 2-2391.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

Ballot Question No. ____ 
 

Amending Charter Provisions regarding  
Compensation for Council Members 

Shall Section 7 of the Charter be amended pursuant to 
Ordinance No. 8052 to increase council member 
compensation from $100 per meeting, which adjusted for 
inflation is now $206.97 per meeting, to $425 per meeting? 
 
For the measure____ Against the measure____ 

 

Section 4. If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted 

are for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the charter shall be 

amended as provided in this ordinance.  

Section 5. The election shall be conducted under the provisions of the Colorado 

Constitution, the Charter and ordinances of the city, the Boulder Revised Code, 1981, and this 

ordinance, and all contrary provisions of the statutes of the state of Colorado are hereby 

superseded. 

Section 6. The officers of the city are authorized to take all action necessary or 

appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this ordinance and to contract with the county clerk to 

conduct the election for the city.   

Section 7. If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall for 

any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect any of the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance. 

Section 8. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Attachment B - Option 2

Agenda Item 3M     Page 9Packet Page 144



 

K:\ccco\o-8052-1st rdg-option 2-2391.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Section 9. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16 day of June, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this ___day of ____________, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

 
 

 

Attachment B - Option 2

Agenda Item 3M     Page 10Packet Page 145



K:\ccco\o-8052-1st rdg-option 3-2391.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8052 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED 

ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE SPECIAL 

MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 3, 2015, THE QUESTION OF 

AMENDING SECTION 7 OF THE CHARTER, RELATING TO 

COUNCIL COMPENSATION BY DELETING THE CURRENT 

PER MEETING PAYMENT AND REPLACING IT WITH A 

PROVISION ESTABLISHING COUNCIL COMPENSATION 

AT 75% OF THE AREA MEDIUM INCOME, AND SETTING 

FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the city of 

Boulder, county of Boulder and state of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 3, 2015.  

Section 2. At that election, a question shall be submitted to the electors of the city of 

Boulder entitled by law to vote, that will allow voters to consider the following amendment to 

Section 7 of the city Charter pertaining to compensation for council members.  The material to 

be added to the Charter is shown by double underlining and material to be deleted is shown 

stricken through with solid lines. 

Sec. 7. - Compensation. 

Council members shall receive as compensation an annual salary paid periodically on the 

same schedule used for salaried city employees in an amount equal to 75 percent of the area 

median income for Boulder County for a family of three as reported by the United States 

Department of Housing and Urban Development or such other equivalent index that the city 

manager may identify if such information is not available. The city manager shall calculate 

the annual salary as of November 1 of the preceding year.  $100.00 per meeting at which a 

quorum of city council is present, not to exceed fifty-two meetings per calendar year, plus an 

annual escalation each January 1 in a percentage equivalent to any increase over the past year 

in the Consumer Price Index (All Items) for the statistical area which includes the city 

maintained by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics; this This 

amendment shall become effective January 1, 1990 2016. For purposes of this section only, a 

"meeting" shall mean a gathering of a quorum of the council, which gathering is noticed to 

the public as a regular or special meeting as provided in this Charter.

Attachment C - Option 3

Agenda Item 3M     Page 11Packet Page 146



 

K:\ccco\o-8052-1st rdg-option 3-2391.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

Section 3. The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also 

be the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

Ballot Question No. ____ 
 

Amending Charter Provisions regarding  
Compensation for Council Members 

Shall Section 7 of the Charter be amended pursuant to 
Ordinance No. 8052 to delete the current per meeting 
payment and replace it with a provision establishing a 
council salary in an amount equal to 75% of the area 
medium income? 
 
For the measure____ Against the measure____ 

 

Section 4. If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted 

are for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the charter shall be 

amended as provided in this ordinance.  

Section 5. The election shall be conducted under the provisions of the Colorado 

Constitution, the Charter and ordinances of the city, the Boulder Revised Code, 1981, and this 

ordinance, and all contrary provisions of the statutes of the state of Colorado are hereby 

superseded. 

Section 6. The officers of the city are authorized to take all action necessary or 

appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this ordinance and to contract with the county clerk to 

conduct the election for the city.   

Section 7. If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall for 

any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect any of the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance. 

Attachment C - Option 3

Agenda Item 3M     Page 12Packet Page 147



 

K:\ccco\o-8052-1st rdg-option 3-2391.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Section 8. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 9. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16 day of June, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this ___day of ____________, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

Attachment C - Option 3

Agenda Item 3M     Page 13Packet Page 148



Attachment D 
Charter Compensation 

Boulder City Charter Section 7- Council Compensation 

The current compensation for City Council members is found in the Boulder City Charter in Section 
 7 - Compensation. Council members shall receive as compensation $100.00  per meeting at which a 
quorum of city council is present, not to exceed fifty-two meetings per calendar year, plus an annual 
escalation each January 1 in a percentage equivalent to any increase over the past year in the 
Consumer Price Index (All Items) for the statistical area which includes the city maintained by the 
United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics; this amendment shall become 
effective January 1, 1990 (currently this compensation rate is $206.97).  For purposes of this section 
only, a "meeting" shall mean a gathering of a quorum of the council, which gathering is noticed to 
the public as a regular or special meeting as provided in this Charter.  

Agenda Item 3M     Page 14Packet Page 149



Attachment E 
Matrix of Options 

Matrix of Options 

Current 
compensation 

Base salary plus meeting 
pay 

Increasing per meeting 
amount 

Linking pay to area 
median income 

-$100 per meeting 
-Up to 52 meetings 
annually 
-Annual increase 
based on CPI 
-Current 
compensation per 
meeting $206.97 
-Current maximum 
payment to 
individual is 
$10,762.44 

-Setting a base salary at 
$10,000 
-Continue to receive 
current compensation rate 
plus annual increase. 
-Maximum payment to 
individual would be 
$20,762.44 

-Double the base amount 
for the per meeting to 
$413.97 
-Continue the same annual 
adjustment based on CPI 
-Continue the 52 meeting 
maximum 
-Maximum payment to 
individual would be 
$21,524.88 

-Create a base salary 
linked to a percentage of 
area the median income 
(AMI) for a family of 
three. Boulder County 
AMI for a family of three 
is $89,500 
-25% AMI = $22,375 
-50% AMI = $44,750 
-75% AMI = $67,125 

2016 incremental impact 
$10,000 

2016 incremental impact 
$10,762 

2016 incremental impact 
depends on percentage of 
AMI 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 15Packet Page 150



Compensation Survey System 
Elected Official Comparison Report 
05/07/2015 

1..t. #27MI. AUDITOR 

Entity #Inc Pav Baals Salarv!Comb 
DENVER 1 Annual $125,924.00 

�ob #2705 • CITY COUNCIL I � /ALDERMAN 

•ntlty #Inc Pay Baal• Salan1 Comb 
FORT COLLINS 6 Annual $9,108.00 
DENVER 12 Annual $78,173.00 

,O.URORA 9 Annual $13,451.0C 
r,,vtSTMINSTER 5 Annual $12,000.0C 

!THORNTON 0 Annual $10,800.00 
OVELAND 7 Monthly $600.00 

COLORADO SPRINGS 9 Annual $6,250.40 

P,.ONGMONT 6 Monthly $1,000.00 

GREELEY 6 Annual $9,800.00 

LAKEV\OOD 10 Annual $12,873.00 
ARVADA 5 Monthly $1,150.00 

Job #2735 • CLERK 
Entity #Inc Pay Basia SalaryjComb 
DENVER I 0 I Annual I $0.001 I 

Lloh #2704 • "'""NCIL PRESIDENT I VICE MAYOR 
Entity #Inc Pay Basis Salarv!Comb 
DENVER I 1 I Annual $87,539.00 

.lob #2715 • COUNTY COMMISSIONER 

Entity #Inc Pay Basia Salarv!Comb 
LAKEV\OOD I 0 I Annual I $0.001 I 

c.ifth #2710 • JUSTICE I MUNICIPAL JUDGE 

Entity #Inc Pay Basis Salarvlcomb 
P-AKEV\OOD 1 Annual $142,376.00 

Llob #2700 • MAYOR 
�tlty #Inc Pay Basis Sal•l'll Comb 
FORT COLLINS 1 Annual $13,692.00 
r,,vESTMINSTER 1 Annual $16,800.00 

PENVER 1 Annual $145,601.00 
if,.URORA 1 Annual $58,014.00 
!THORNTON 0 Annual $15,000.00 
P,.OVELAND 1 Monthly $1,000.00 
K;OLORADO SPRINGS 1 Annual $96,000.0C 
P,.ONGMONT 1 Monthly $1,500.0C 

�REELEY 1 Annual $14,400.00 

l'.RVADA 1 Monthly $1,500.00 
LAKEV\OOD 1 Annual $38,800.00 

Job #2701 • MAYOR PRD TEM 
!Entity #Inc Pay Basia Salan Comb 
r,,vESTMINSTER 1 Anooal $14,400.0C 

AURORA 1 Annual $15,382.00 
THORNTON 0 Annual $12,000.00 

OVELAND 1 Monthly $800.00 
l'.RVADA 1 Monthly $1,250.00 

Joh #2745 • RECORDER/REGISTER OF DEEDS 
Entity #Inc Pav Basia Salarv!Comb 
DENVER I 0 I Annual SD.DOI 

FIT Ret I Healttil Den tad Life 

""I ...,, I ...,, I ...,, I ...,, 

FIT Ret Health Dental Ufe 

...,, ...,, ...,, ...,, ...,, 

...,, ...,, ...,, ...,, 

...,, ...,, 

...,, ...,, ...,, 

...,, ...,, ...,, ../ 

...,, ...,, 

...,, ...,, 

../ ...,, 

../ ../ 

FIT Ret Healttil Den ta� Ufe 
I I I I 

FIT Ret IHealttilDentall Ufe 
v I ...,, I ...,, I v I ...,,

FIT Ret HealthlDentad Ufe 
I I 

FIT Ret HoalttilDenta� Ufa 
..... ...,, ../ ...,, ../ 

FIT Rot Health Dental Ufe 

../ ...,, 

...,, ...,, ...,, ../ ...,, 

...,, ...,, ...,, .,/ 

.,/ ...,, ...,, 

...,, ../ ../ ../ ../ 
...,, ../ 

../ ...,, 

../ ..,, 

../ ...,, 

FIT Rot Heam Den ta Ufe 
../ ..... 

...,, ...,, ...,, ...,, 

...,, ..... ...,, 

...,, ...,, 

FIT Ret HealthlDental Ufo 

http://www.comp-survey.com/ReportController 

Attachment - F

401 457 Updatad ·!comments 
..... 02/24/2011 

401 457 Updated tomments 
03/09/2015 

..,, 02/24/2011 
...,, ..... 02/11/2015 

..... 02/17/2015 Heal1h/Oental may be elected, they pay 100% of our 
t,lended rate. 

..... 02/16/2010 
..,, 03/03/2015 

...,, ..... 02/27/2012 City Council benefit rate sheets wtl be provided 10 
Iha CML office. City Council members can 
participate In PERA, ICMA457 or 401a. The 
majority of our Council members participate in the 
457=ram. 

02/01/2013 f Medical or Dental are elected, they must pay Iha 
full cost 

02/05/2014 City Council members also racaive $50 internet and 
$40 phone allowances per month. 

..... 12/09/2013 
..,, 02/27/2014 

401 457 Updated !comments 
I I 10212412011 I 

401 I 457 Updated !comments 
..,, 02/24/2011 

401 I 457 Updated !comments 
I I I 

401 457 Updated lconvnents 
..... ..... 08/20/2014 C,

residing Municipal Judge. Pension same as mgmt 
mployees. 

401 457 Updated Comments 
03/09/2015 

..,, 02/17/2015 Health/Dental may be elected, they pay 100% of our 
blended rate. 

..,, 02/24/2011 
.,/ ..,, 02/11/2015 

..,, 02/16/2010 
..,, 03/03/2015 

..,, ..,, 02/27/2012 
02/01/2013 f Medical or Danial an, elected, they must pay the 

full cost. 
02/05/2014 The Mayor also receives a $50 internet and $40 

phone allowance per month. 
..,, 02/27/2014 
..... 12/09/2013 

401 457 Ulldated omments 
..... 02/17/2015 Health/Dental may be elected, they pay 100%. of our 

t,Jended rato. 
.,/ .,/ 02/11/2015 

..... 02/16/2010 
..,, 03/03/2015 
..... 02/27/2014 

401 457 Updated !comments 
02/24/2011 

5/7/2015 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 16Packet Page 151



Attachment G 
Median Income in Boulder County 

FY 2015 Area Median Income for Boulder County 
Definitions AMI 1 Person 2 Person 3 Person 4 Person 5 Person 6 Person 7 Person 8 Person 

Median 100% 69,600 79,600 89,500 99,400 107,400 115,400 123,300 131,300 

80% 55,680 63,680 71,600 79,520 85,920 92,320 98,640 105,040 
HUD Low 66.2% 46,100 52,650 59,250 65,800 71,100 76,350 80,600 86,900 

65% 45,240 51,740 58,175 64,610 69,810 75,010 80,145 85,345 
60% 41,760 47,760 53,700 59,640 64,440 69,240 73,980 78,780 
55% 38,280 43,780 49,225 54,670 59,070 63,470 67,815 72,215 

HUD Very Low 50% 34,800 39,800 44,750 49,700 53,700 57,700 61,650 65,650 
45% 31,320 35,820 40,275 44,730 48,330 51,930 55,485 59,085 
40% 27,840 31,840 35,800 39,760 42,960 46,160 49,320 52,520 

HUD Extremely Low 30% 20,880 23,880 26,850 29,820 32,220 34,620 36,990 39,390 

IMPORTANT NOTE: All CDBG funded projects subject to HUD Low income limits for Boulder County. HUD requires that 51% of the total 
persons or households served in Boulder have a combined household income at or below 66.2% AMI based on household size. 

Agenda Item 3M     Page 17Packet Page 152



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to adopt on second reading as an 
emergency measure and order published by title only Ordinance No. 8043 amending 
chapter 10-12 “Mobile homes” adding a new section 10-12-25 “Limitation on Park 
Owner’s Right to Prohibit sales,” adding a new section 10-12-26 “Limitation on the 
Required Upgrades to Existing Mobile Homes,” amending section 10-12-2 to add 
definitions, amending section 10-12-3 to make section 10-12-25 applicable to all mobile 
home parks amending section 10-12-4 to provide for administrative remedies and setting 
forth related details. 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 
Jeff Yegian, Acting Housing Division Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The purpose of this agenda item is to allow Council to consider an ordinance limiting the 
restrictions on the sale of mobile homes.  At the April 7, 2015 council meeting, Council 
considered several options to address concerns raised by mobile home owners.  Council 
directed the city attorney to draft an ordinance based upon a Connecticut statute that 
would limit the ability of a park owner to prohibit the sale of a safe and sanitary home.  
At the April 21, 2015, council meeting Council amended and adopted on first reading the 
proposed ordinance.  At that same meeting, an attorney for the owner of the Vista Village 
mobile home park provided Council with a letter stating the owner’s intent to allow the 
sale of pre-1976 mobile homes.  Council directed staff to meet with mobile home 
residents and work on a more refined version of the ordinance passed on first reading.  In 
the interim, park residents have come to council meetings and reported continued concern 
regarding their ability to sell pre-1976 homes.  At the June 2, 2015, council meeting, 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page 153



Council directed the city attorney to arrange for second reading at the June 16, 2015 
council meeting.  Council also directed that the city attorney prepare a version that could 
be passed on emergency.  The version passed on first reading is Attachment A.  An 
alternate version for passage as an emergency is Attachment B.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the following motion:   
Motion to adopt on second reading and order published by title only Ordinance No. 8043 
amending chapter 10-12 “Mobile Homes” adding a new section 10-12-25 “Limitation on 
Park Owner’s Right to Prohibit Sales,” adding a new section 10-12-26 “Limitation on the 
Required Upgrades to Existing Mobile Homes,” amending section 10-12-2 to add 
definitions, amending section 10-12-3 to make section 10-12-25 applicable to all mobile 
home parks, amending section 10-12-4 to provide for administrative remedies and setting 
forth related details; 

 or in the alternative 

Motion to adopt on second reading as an emergency measure and order published by title 
only Ordinance No. 8043 amending chapter 10-12 “Mobile Homes” adding a new section 
10-12-25 “Limitation on Park Owner’s Right to Prohibit Sales,” adding a new section 10-
12-26 “Limitation on the Required Upgrades to Existing Mobile Homes,” amending 
section 10-12-2 to add definitions, amending section 10-12-3 to make section 10-12-25 
applicable to all mobile home parks, amending section 10-12-4 to provide for 
administrative remedies and setting forth related details. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic:  Mobile homes provide a relatively low cost option for affordable
housing in Boulder.

 Environmental:  Mobile homes provide lower income workers with local housing
options, which may reduce the environmental impact associated with commuting.

 Social:  The ability for lower income individuals to reside in Boulder provides
important economic diversity.

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal-Budgetary:  There will be no budget impact from the adoption of the
proposed ordinance.  If the ordinance results in an increase in administrative
hearings, there will be additional budget impacts.

 Staff work necessary will fall mostly on the city attorney’s office and the Office
of Housing.

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page 154



PUBLIC INPUT 

At the March 3, 2015, March 17, 2015, April 7, 2015, April 21, 2015, May 5, 2015, May 
19, 2015 and June 2, 2015 council meetings, several residents spoke about issues related 
to mobile homes.  In addition, Council has received numerous emails from mobile home 
residents in Boulder.   

BOARD AND COMMISSION INPUT 

None.  

BACKGROUND 

There are five mobile home parks in the City of Boulder.  These parks provide an 
affordable housing option for individuals and families of moderate means.   

Several homeowners have alleged that the Vista Village park owner has refused to allow 
owners to sell their mobile homes, because of the age of the homes.  Effective June 15, 
1976, the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development adopted 
standards for manufacturing mobile homes.  There has long been an issue over the sale of 
pre June 15, 1976 homes.  This issue appears to be driven in part by the strong economy.  
There is a significant demand for mobile home park spaces.  A park owner can easily fill 
a spot with a brand new home.  Substituting a new home for one over 40 years old 
improves the appearance of and ultimately the value of a mobile home park. 

The park owner has written to council to state that since April 21, 2015, three pre-1976 
mobile homes have been sold in Vista Village.  Of these, two were sold in place and one 
was removed by the homeowner.     

The proposed ordinance is based on Connecticut General Statute § 21-79, which prohibits 
a park owner from restricting a home owner’s right to sell.   Chapter 10-12 of the Boulder 
Revised Code addresses mobile home issues.  The proposed ordinance would add a new 
section, 10-12-25 that would limit the restrictions on sales of mobile homes.  The new 
section would include the following provisions: 

 Subsection A would prohibit a park owner from requiring a home owner to
move a home at time of sale if the home is safe and sanitary as long as the
seller agrees to be bound by the lease and park rules.

 Subsection B establishes that a home is safe and sanitary if it met a nationally
recognized building or construction code or standard in effect at the time of
construction.

 Subsection C provides that a home that passed the equivalent of a rental
housing inspection within six months would be considered safe and sanitary.

 Subsection D limits the ability of a park owner to refuse a purchaser.
 Subsection E allows a home owner to get a written statement of whether the

park owner intends to allow the owner to sell a home.

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page 155



At the April 21, 2015 council meeting, the Council amended the proposed ordinance to 
add a new section 10-12-261 “Limitation on the Required Upgrades to Existing Mobile 
Homes.”  This section is intended to limit park owners’ ability to force residents to 
upgrade their homes for reasons other than health and safety.   

The proposed ordinance also would amend section 10-12-4 to provide for an 
administrative remedy.  The proposed administrative process would include a maximum 
fine of $2000 and provide the city manager with the authority to issue an order.  There is 
a provision for the city attorney to bring an action to enforce an order, or, for the home 
owner to do so.   

A council member expressed concern regarding the use of the City’s Baseline Inspection 
Checklist for mobile homes.  Section 10-12-25(c) of the proposed ordinance excludes 
from that checklist two sections that did not appear applicable: A.III Light and C.II 
Boilers.  Staff has added to the emergency version exclusion of section E. IPMC 
Appendix C Energy Efficiency Requirements (Future).  Although these provisions are not 
currently applicable, staff recommends excluding them, because they do not relate 
directly to health and safety.  A copy of the Baseline Inspection Checklist is Attachment 
C. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 
Attachment B – Proposed Emergency Ordinance 
Attachment C – City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist 

1 In the material provided to Council, this section was erroneously labeled as section 10-12-25, which is the 
same number as the preceding new section.  This has been corrected in both versions of the ordinance.   

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page 156



K:\CMAD\o-8043 Limitation of right to prohibit sale - as passed on first reading-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

ORDINANCE NO.  8043 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 10-12 “MOBILE HOMES” 
ADDING A NEW SECTION 10-12-25 “LIMITATION ON THE 
PROHIBITION OF SALES,” AMENDING SECTION 10-12-2 TO ADD 
DEFINITIONS, AMENDING SECTION 10-12-3 TO MAKE SECTION 10-12-
25 APPLICABLE TO ALL MOBILE HOME PARKS, AMENDING SECTION 
10-12-4 TO PROVIDE FOR ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A new section 10-12-25 is added as follows: 

10-12-25. – Limitation on the Prohibition Sales of Mobile Homes 

(a) No person, including without limitation a park owner, shall require a resident to remove a 
safe and sanitary mobile home from a mobile home park at the time such mobile home is 
sold or a loan on such a home is foreclosed provided that the purchaser or lender shall 
assume and be bound by the rental agreement of the seller or borrower and shall be bound 
by the rules and regulations of the park.  

(b) A mobile home shall be presumed to be safe and sanitary if the mobile home was 
constructed in accordance with any industry or nationally recognized building or 
construction code or standard in effect at the time of construction.  Failure to meet any such 
standard or the provisions of any such code shall not automatically raise a presumption that 
the mobile manufactured home is unsafe or unsanitary. Such failure shall not be used as a 
reason for withholding approval of an on-site sale unless such failure renders the mobile 
home unsafe or unsanitary. 

(c) A mobile home shall be presumed to be safe and sanitary if within six months prior to the 
proposed sale the home passed an inspection conducted by an appropriately licensed 
inspector using the City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist or substantially similar 
inspection protocol.  The inspection need not address sections A.III Light or C.II Boilers of 
the City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist.   

(d) Any purchaser of a mobile home sold by a resident may become a resident of the mobile 
home park provided the purchaser meets the entry requirements for the mobile home park 
that  are applied equally to all purchasers and prospective residents.  The park owner must 
also approve the entry of the new resident.  Such approval may not be withheld except for 
good cause. For the purposes of this section good cause means a reasonable basis for the 
park owner to believe (1) that the purchaser intends to use the purchased mobile home for 
an illegal or immoral purpose or for any purpose that would disturb the quiet enjoyment of 
the other residents of the mobile park or (2) that the purchaser is or will be financially 
unable to pay the rent for the lot upon which the purchased mobile home is located. If the 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page 157



K:\CMAD\o-8043 Limitation of right to prohibit sale - as passed on first reading-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

park owner denies approval to a purchaser, the park owner shall, in writing, state any 
reason for such disapproval. Such statement shall be delivered to the resident and the 
purchaser within ten days after the park owner receives the completed application of the 
purchaser or prospective resident. Failure to deliver such notification within fifteen days 
shall be deemed to be approval.  

(e) Any resident wishing to sell a mobile home shall request a written statement of the park 
owner’s intentions regarding the condition of the home. Within twenty days after receipt of 
such a request, the park owner shall approve the home’s condition for resale or deliver a 
written statement to the resident specifying the reasons why the home is not safe or 
sanitary. Failure of the park owner to respond within twenty days shall be deemed to be an 
approval of the mobile home’s sale. If the resident disputes the park owner’s response, the 
resident may attempt to correct defects identified by the owner and may again request the 
owner’s approval of the home’s condition for resale. The resident may also arrange for an 
inspection by an appropriately licensed inspector using the City of Boulder Baseline 
Inspection Checklist or substantially similar inspection protocol.  Any mobile home that 
passes such an inspection shall be presumed to be safe and sanitary. 

Section 2.  A new section 10-12-26 is added as follows: 

10-12-26. – Limitation on the Required Upgrades to Existing Mobile Homes 

No person, including without limitation a park owner, shall require a resident to make 
improvements to mobile home if the mobile home is demonstrated to be safe and sanitary under 
the provisions of section 10-12-25 B.R.C. 1981 (“Limitation on the Prohibition Sales of Mobile 
Homes”) 

Section 3.  Section 10-12-2  B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

10-12-2. - Definitions. 

The following words used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context clearly 
indicates otherwise:  

Accessory structure means any structural addition to a mobile home or a mobile home space, 
including without limitation, awnings, carports, porches, storage cabinets and similar appurtenant 
structures.  

Camper means a unit containing cooking or sleeping facilities that is designed to be loaded onto 
or affixed to the bed or chassis of a truck to provide temporary living quarters for recreational 
camping or travel use.  

Mobile home means a transportable, single-family dwelling unit, suitable for year-round 
occupancy that contains the same water supply, waste disposal and electrical conveniences as 
immobile housing, that has no foundation other than wheels or removable jacks for conveyance 
on highways, and that may be transported to a site as one or more modules, but the term does not 
include "travel trailers," "campers," "camper buses," or "motor homes," or modular homes 
designed to be placed on a foundation.  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page 158



K:\CMAD\o-8043 Limitation of right to prohibit sale - as passed on first reading-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

Mobile home park means any lot or tract of land designed, used, or intended to provide a 
location or accommodation for one or more mobile homes and upon which any mobile home or 
homes are parked or located, whether or not the lot or tract or any part thereof is held or operated 
for profit, but the term excludes automobile or mobile homes sales lots on which mobile homes 
are parked only for inspection and sale.  

Mobile home space means a plot of ground within a mobile home park designed for the 
accommodation of one mobile home and its accessory structures.  

Motor home means a motor vehicle containing cooking or sleeping facilities and designed as 
temporary living quarters for recreational camping or travel use and includes, without limitation, 
vehicles designated as "camper buses" and those that may have been originally designed for use 
as vans or buses but that have been converted to use as living quarters. 

Park owner means the owner of a mobile home park, or any agent, representative or employee of 
an owner of a mobile home park. 

Resident means the owner of a mobile home in a mobile home park. 

Section 3.  Section 10-12-3 B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

10-12-3. - Application of Chapter to Existing Mobile Homes and Mobile Home Parks. 

(a) Any mobile home park in existence in the city on July 5, 1973, or annexed to the city after 
such date that complies with all applicable legal requirements then in effect is deemed to be 
legally nonconforming and is not subject to the provisions of this chapter except those 
concerning blocking and tying down of mobile homes (Section 10-12-8, "Blocking and 
Tie-Down Required," B.R.C. 1981), use of gas fuel, and fire protection (paragraphs 10-12-
21(a)(7), (a)(8) and (a)(10), B.R.C. 1981) limitation on park owner’s right to prohibit sales 
(Section 10-12-25) and limitation on required upgrades to existing mobile homes (Section 
10-12-26). But any person who alters or extends such a legally nonconforming mobile 
home park shall conform to all applicable provisions of this chapter for such alterations and 
extensions. 

(b) An individual mobile home may be replaced or relocated within a legally nonconforming 
mobile home park if such mobile home is blocked and tied down in compliance with the 
requirements of Section 10-12-8, "Blocking and Tie-Down Required," B.R.C. 1981, and if 
gas connections are made in compliance with the requirements of paragraphs 10-12-
21(a)(7) and (a)(8), B.R.C. 1981.  

(c) Any mobile home in existence in the city on July 5, 1973 or annexed to the city after such 
date that complied with all applicable legal requirements then in effect is considered to be 
legally nonconforming and is not subject to the provisions of this chapter except the 
requirements relating to blocking and tying down of mobile homes (Section 10-12-8, 
"Blocking and Tie-Down Required," B.R.C. 1981).  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page 159



 

K:\CMAD\o-8043 Limitation of right to prohibit sale - as passed on first reading-854.docx  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(d) If any such legally nonconforming mobile home is removed from its location, whether 
within a mobile home park or elsewhere, the mobile home may not be replaced or relocated 
except in conformity with all applicable requirements of this chapter. If the use of such a 
legally nonconforming mobile home is discontinued for a period of twelve consecutive 
months or more, no person shall occupy the mobile home until it conforms with all 
requirements of this chapter.  

 
(e) No person may replace an existing mobile home located on a mobile home space that is not 

large enough to provide the minimum requirements of Section 9-7-13, "Mobile Home Park 
Form and Bulk Standards," B.R.C. 1981, by a larger mobile home, but such person may 
replace such existing mobile home with a mobile home of the same or smaller length and 
width dimensions.  

 
(f) No person shall replace an existing mobile home located on a lot outside a mobile home 

park with a larger mobile home, but such person may replace such mobile home with a 
mobile home of the same or smaller length and width, if the replacement is made within 
thirty days after the removal of the existing mobile home. 

Section 4.  Section 10-12-4 B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

10-12-4. - Enforcement.  

(a) The city manager may enter any mobile home park in the city to inspect and investigate 
conditions relating to the enforcement of this chapter at all reasonable times. 
 

(b) For alleged violations of the provisions of this chapter, other than section 10-12-25,  
“Limitation on Prohibition of Sales,” B.R.C. 1981 and section 10-12-26 “Limitation on 
Required Upgrades to Existing Mobile Homes”, Wwhenever, after inspection of any 
mobile home or mobile home park, the city manager finds any violation of this chapter, the 
manager shall give to the owner of the mobile home or the mobile home park a notice that 
specifies: 
 

(1)   The provisions of this chapter that are alleged to be violated; 
 

(2)   A reasonable period of time in which to correct the alleged violation; and 
 

(3)   The right to appeal the violation notice within thirty days from the date of its 
issuance to the board of zoning adjustment or board of building appeals under 
the procedures prescribed by Section 10-12-24, "Appeals and Variances," and 
Chapter 1-3, "Quasi-Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981. 
 

(c) The city manager shall reinspect the mobile home or the mobile home park for which a 
notice of violation was issued upon expiration of the period of time stated in the violation 
notice for correction of the alleged violation. 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page 160



K:\CMAD\o-8043 Limitation of right to prohibit sale - as passed on first reading-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

(d) For alleged violations of section 10-12-25 B.R.C. 1981(“Limitation on Park Owner’s Right 
to Prohibit Sales”) and section 10-12-26 B.R.C. 1981 (“Limitations on Required Upgrades 
to Mobile Homes”): 

(1)   If the city manager finds that a violation of any provision of section 10-12-25 or 
section 10-12-26, the manager, shall issue a notice of violation and provide an 
opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by Chapter 1-3, "Quasi-
Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981,  

(2)   At any such hearing the mobile home owner shall bear the burden of proving 
the violation, provided however that the park owner shall bear the burden of 
proving that mobile home is unsafe or unsanitary.   

(3)   If after hearing all of the evidence, the city manager finds a violation, the city 
manager may take any one or more of the following action to remedy the 
violation: 

(A) Impose a civil penalty of not more than $2000 per violation; or 

 (B) Issue an order reasonably calculated to ensure compliance with the 
provisions of section 10-12-25 or section 10-12-26. 

(4)   No person shall fail to comply with any action taken by the manager under this 
section.  

(5)   The city attorney is authorized to bring a civil action to enforce any order issued 
by the city manager under this section.  If the city is the prevailing party in such 
civil action, the defendant shall be responsible for the city’s costs and attorneys’ 
fees.   

(6)   Criminal Penalties. Violations section 10-12-25 also are punishable as provided 
in Section 5-2-4, "General Penalties," B.R.C. 1981.  

(7)   Any person injured by a violation of any provision of section 10-12-25 or 
section 10-12-26 may maintain an action for damages, declaratory relief, 
specific performance, injunction or any other appropriate relief in the District 
Court in and for the County of Boulder against the person causing the violation. 
If plaintiff prevails, plaintiff shall be entitled to an award of attorney's fees. 
Upon filing such an action, plaintiff shall send notice thereof to the city, but 
nothing in this title authorizes the city or its employees or agents to be named as 
a defendant in such litigation. 

Section 5.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page 161



K:\CMAD\o-8043 Limitation of right to prohibit sale - as passed on first reading-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

Section 6.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 21st day of April, 2015. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 5th day of May, 2015. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page 162



K:\CMAD\o-8043-Emergency Version-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

ORDINANCE NO.  8043 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 10-12 “MOBILE 
HOMES” ADDING A NEW SECTION 10-12-25 “LIMITATION ON THE 
PROHIBITION OF SALES,” ADDING A NEW SECTION 10-12-26 
“LIMITATION ON THE REQUIRED UPGRADES TO EXISTING MOBILE 
HOMES,” AMENDING SECTION 10-12-2 TO ADD DEFINITIONS, 
AMENDING SECTION 10-12-3 TO MAKE SECTION 10-12-25 
APPLICABLE TO ALL MOBILE HOME PARKS, AMENDING SECTION 10-
12-4 TO PROVIDE FOR ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A new section 10-12-25 is added as follows: 

10-12-25. – Limitation on the Prohibition Sales of Mobile Homes 

(a) No person, including without limitation a park owner, shall require a resident to remove a 
safe and sanitary mobile home from a mobile home park at the time such mobile home is 
sold or a loan on such a home is foreclosed provided that the purchaser or lender shall 
assume and be bound by the rental agreement of the seller or borrower and shall be bound 
by the rules and regulations of the park.  

(b) A mobile home shall be presumed to be safe and sanitary if the mobile home was 
constructed in accordance with any industry or nationally recognized building or 
construction code or standard in effect at the time of construction.  Failure to meet any such 
standard or the provisions of any such code shall not automatically raise a presumption that 
the mobile manufactured home is unsafe or unsanitary. Such failure shall not be used as a 
reason for withholding approval of an on-site sale unless such failure renders the mobile 
home unsafe or unsanitary. 

(c) A mobile home shall be presumed to be safe and sanitary if within six months prior to the 
proposed sale the home passed an inspection conducted by an appropriately licensed 
inspector using the City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist or substantially similar 
inspection protocol.  The inspection need not address sections A.III Light, C.II Boilers or 
E. IPMC Appendix C Energy Efficiency Requirements (Future) of the City of Boulder 
Baseline Inspection Checklist.   

(d) Any purchaser of a mobile home sold by a resident may become a resident of the mobile 
home park provided the purchaser meets the entry requirements for the mobile home park 
that  are applied equally to all purchasers and prospective residents.  The park owner must 
also approve the entry of the new resident.  Such approval may not be withheld except for 
good cause. For the purposes of this section good cause means a reasonable basis for the 
park owner to believe (1) that the purchaser intends to use the purchased mobile home for 

Attachment B - Proposed Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page 163



K:\CMAD\o-8043-Emergency Version-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

an illegal or immoral purpose or for any purpose that would disturb the quiet enjoyment of 
the other residents of the mobile park or (2) that the purchaser is or will be financially 
unable to pay the rent for the lot upon which the purchased mobile home is located. If the 
park owner denies approval to a purchaser, the park owner shall, in writing, state any 
reason for such disapproval. Such statement shall be delivered to the resident and the 
purchaser within ten days after the park owner receives the completed application of the 
purchaser or prospective resident. Failure to deliver such notification within fifteen days 
shall be deemed to be approval.  

(e) Any resident wishing to sell a mobile home shall request a written statement of the park 
owner’s intentions regarding the condition of the home. Within twenty days after receipt of 
such a request, the park owner shall approve the home’s condition for resale or deliver a 
written statement to the resident specifying the reasons why the home is not safe or 
sanitary. Failure of the park owner to respond within twenty days shall be deemed to be an 
approval of the mobile home’s sale. If the resident disputes the park owner’s response, the 
resident may attempt to correct defects identified by the owner and may again request the 
owner’s approval of the home’s condition for resale. The resident may also arrange for an 
inspection by an appropriately licensed inspector using the City of Boulder Baseline 
Inspection Checklist or substantially similar inspection protocol.  Any mobile home that 
passes such an inspection shall be presumed to be safe and sanitary. 

Section 2.  A new section 10-12-26 is added as follows: 

10-12-26. – Limitation on the Required Upgrades to Existing Mobile Homes 

No person, including without limitation a park owner, shall require a resident to make 
improvements to mobile home if the mobile home is demonstrated to be safe and sanitary under 
the provisions of section 10-12-25 B.R.C. 1981 (“Limitation on the Prohibition Sales of Mobile 
Homes”) 

Section 3.  Section 10-12-2  B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

10-12-2. - Definitions. 

The following words used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context clearly 
indicates otherwise:  

Accessory structure means any structural addition to a mobile home or a mobile home space, 
including without limitation, awnings, carports, porches, storage cabinets and similar appurtenant 
structures.  

Camper means a unit containing cooking or sleeping facilities that is designed to be loaded onto 
or affixed to the bed or chassis of a truck to provide temporary living quarters for recreational 
camping or travel use.  

Mobile home means a transportable, single-family dwelling unit, suitable for year-round 
occupancy that contains the same water supply, waste disposal and electrical conveniences as 
immobile housing, that has no foundation other than wheels or removable jacks for conveyance 

Attachment B - Proposed Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page 164



K:\CMAD\o-8043-Emergency Version-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

on highways, and that may be transported to a site as one or more modules, but the term does not 
include "travel trailers," "campers," "camper buses," or "motor homes," or modular homes 
designed to be placed on a foundation.  

Mobile home park means any lot or tract of land designed, used, or intended to provide a 
location or accommodation for one or more mobile homes and upon which any mobile home or 
homes are parked or located, whether or not the lot or tract or any part thereof is held or operated 
for profit, but the term excludes automobile or mobile homes sales lots on which mobile homes 
are parked only for inspection and sale.  

Mobile home space means a plot of ground within a mobile home park designed for the 
accommodation of one mobile home and its accessory structures.  

Motor home means a motor vehicle containing cooking or sleeping facilities and designed as 
temporary living quarters for recreational camping or travel use and includes, without limitation, 
vehicles designated as "camper buses" and those that may have been originally designed for use 
as vans or buses but that have been converted to use as living quarters. 

Park owner means the owner of a mobile home park, or any agent, representative or employee of 
an owner of a mobile home park. 

Resident means the owner of a mobile home in a mobile home park. 

Section 3.  Section 10-12-3 B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

10-12-3. - Application of Chapter to Existing Mobile Homes and Mobile Home Parks. 

(a) Any mobile home park in existence in the city on July 5, 1973, or annexed to the city after 
such date that complies with all applicable legal requirements then in effect is deemed to be 
legally nonconforming and is not subject to the provisions of this chapter except those 
concerning blocking and tying down of mobile homes (Section 10-12-8, "Blocking and 
Tie-Down Required," B.R.C. 1981), use of gas fuel, and fire protection (paragraphs 10-12-
21(a)(7), (a)(8) and (a)(10), B.R.C. 1981) limitation on park owner’s right to prohibit sales 
(Section 10-12-25) and limitation on required upgrades to existing mobile homes (Section 
10-12-26). But any person who alters or extends such a legally nonconforming mobile 
home park shall conform to all applicable provisions of this chapter for such alterations and 
extensions. 

(b) An individual mobile home may be replaced or relocated within a legally nonconforming 
mobile home park if such mobile home is blocked and tied down in compliance with the 
requirements of Section 10-12-8, "Blocking and Tie-Down Required," B.R.C. 1981, and if 
gas connections are made in compliance with the requirements of paragraphs 10-12-
21(a)(7) and (a)(8), B.R.C. 1981.  

(c) Any mobile home in existence in the city on July 5, 1973 or annexed to the city after such 
date that complied with all applicable legal requirements then in effect is considered to be 
legally nonconforming and is not subject to the provisions of this chapter except the 

Attachment B - Proposed Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13Packet Page 165



K:\CMAD\o-8043-Emergency Version-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

requirements relating to blocking and tying down of mobile homes (Section 10-12-8, 
"Blocking and Tie-Down Required," B.R.C. 1981).  

(d) If any such legally nonconforming mobile home is removed from its location, whether 
within a mobile home park or elsewhere, the mobile home may not be replaced or relocated 
except in conformity with all applicable requirements of this chapter. If the use of such a 
legally nonconforming mobile home is discontinued for a period of twelve consecutive 
months or more, no person shall occupy the mobile home until it conforms with all 
requirements of this chapter.  

(e) No person may replace an existing mobile home located on a mobile home space that is not 
large enough to provide the minimum requirements of Section 9-7-13, "Mobile Home Park 
Form and Bulk Standards," B.R.C. 1981, by a larger mobile home, but such person may 
replace such existing mobile home with a mobile home of the same or smaller length and 
width dimensions.  

(f) No person shall replace an existing mobile home located on a lot outside a mobile home 
park with a larger mobile home, but such person may replace such mobile home with a 
mobile home of the same or smaller length and width, if the replacement is made within 
thirty days after the removal of the existing mobile home. 

Section 4.  Section 10-12-4 B.R.C. 1981 is amended to read: 

10-12-4. - Enforcement. 

(a) The city manager may enter any mobile home park in the city to inspect and investigate 
conditions relating to the enforcement of this chapter at all reasonable times. 

(b) For alleged violations of the provisions of this chapter, other than section 10-12-25, 
“Limitation on Prohibition of Sales,” B.R.C. 1981 and section 10-12-26 “Limitation on 
Required Upgrades to Existing Mobile Homes”, Wwhenever, after inspection of any 
mobile home or mobile home park, the city manager finds any violation of this chapter, the 
manager shall give to the owner of the mobile home or the mobile home park a notice that 
specifies: 

(1)   The provisions of this chapter that are alleged to be violated; 

(2)   A reasonable period of time in which to correct the alleged violation; and 

(3)   The right to appeal the violation notice within thirty days from the date of its 
issuance to the board of zoning adjustment or board of building appeals under 
the procedures prescribed by Section 10-12-24, "Appeals and Variances," and 
Chapter 1-3, "Quasi-Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981. 

(c) The city manager shall reinspect the mobile home or the mobile home park for which a 
notice of violation was issued upon expiration of the period of time stated in the violation 
notice for correction of the alleged violation. 

Attachment B - Proposed Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14Packet Page 166



K:\CMAD\o-8043-Emergency Version-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

(d) For alleged violations of section 10-12-25 B.R.C. 1981(“Limitation on Park Owner’s Right 
to Prohibit Sales”) and section 10-12-26 B.R.C. 1981 (“Limitations on Required Upgrades 
to Mobile Homes”): 

(1)   If the city manager finds that a violation of any provision of section 10-12-25 or 
section 10-12-26, the manager, shall issue a notice of violation and provide an 
opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by Chapter 1-3, "Quasi-
Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981,  

(2)   At any such hearing the mobile home owner shall bear the burden of proving 
the violation, provided however that the park owner shall bear the burden of 
proving that mobile home is unsafe or unsanitary.   

(3)   If after hearing all of the evidence, the city manager finds a violation, the city 
manager may take any one or more of the following action to remedy the 
violation: 

(A) Impose a civil penalty of not more than $2000 per violation; or 

 (B) Issue an order reasonably calculated to ensure compliance with the 
provisions of section 10-12-25 or section 10-12-26. 

(4)   No person shall fail to comply with any action taken by the manager under this 
section. 

(5)   The city attorney is authorized to bring a civil action to enforce any order issued 
by the city manager under this section.  If the city is the prevailing party in such 
civil action, the defendant shall be responsible for the city’s costs and attorneys’ 
fees. 

(6)   Criminal Penalties. Violations section 10-12-25 or sectin 10-12-26 also are 
punishable as provided in Section 5-2-4, "General Penalties," B.R.C. 1981. 

(7)   Any person injured by a violation of any provision of section 10-12-25 or 
section 10-12-26 may maintain an action for damages, declaratory relief, 
specific performance, injunction or any other appropriate relief in the District 
Court in and for the County of Boulder against the person causing the violation. 
If plaintiff prevails, plaintiff shall be entitled to an award of attorney's fees. 
Upon filing such an action, plaintiff shall send notice thereof to the city, but 
nothing in this title authorizes the city or its employees or agents to be named as 
a defendant in such litigation. 

Section 5.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Attachment B - Proposed Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15Packet Page 167



K:\CMAD\o-8043-Emergency Version-854.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

Section 6.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Section 7.   The city council finds this ordinance is necessary to protect mobile home 

owners in the city of Boulder for the immediate preservation of public peace, health, safety, and 

property justifying the adoption of this ordinance as an emergency measure.  This ordinance 

shall become effective immediately. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 21st day of April, 2015. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of June, 2015. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment B - Proposed Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16Packet Page 168



6

Baseline Inspection Checklist
Includes All Single and Multi-Unit Rental Properties 

Effective January 2011

Rental Property Address:________________________________________________________Unit #_____________

________________________________________________________________________________________________

The Baseline Inspection Checklist and the Baseline Inspection Compliance Verification Forms are required to be com-
pleted and signed by the appropriate City of Boulder licensed inspector(s) and the owner/operator and returned to:

Planning and Development Services
c/o Rental Licensing Program
1739 Broadway, Third Floor

P. O. Box 791
Boulder, Colorado 80306

During all inspections, a property owner, tenant or agent must be present. The inspector(s) will do a visual inspection 
for compliance with this checklist based on the Boulder Property Maintenance Code [Boulder Revised Code 1981, 
Chapter 10-2]. Each inspection is only a visual examination of those elements and areas that are safely and readily 
accessible at the time of the inspection.

The licensed inspector(s) is/are not responsible for compliance with the city’s property maintenance code either at the 
time of inspection or anytime thereafter. Compliance with the city property maintenance code is the responsibility 
of the owner. The owner must also verify that the smoke and carbon monoxide alarms are functioning properly and 
that a contract is signed for trash removal from the site and certify these actions by signing the attached Compliance 
Verification Form (page 13).

Existing structures and premises that comply with all applicable codes in place at the time of construction will be 
deemed to comply with this code except where the code official determines that the deviations from this code pose a 
danger to health, safety or welfare of the public or occupants and issues an order for the owner to correct those specific 
conditions or alterations (B.R.C. 1981, 10-2 Section 102.2, “Maintenance”).

Please note the following:
 Common areas of condominium complexes that provide access to individual units and are subject to homeown-

er association control may require life-safety issues to be addressed for individual units to obtain a rental license.

All items listed on the following pages must be inspected. An inspector must inspect each item or indicate not 
applicable (N/A) where such requirement does not apply. All outstanding safety issues must be corrected and veri-
fied by the inspector.

New Rental Licenses: Baseline Inspection Checklist

Attachment C - City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist

Agenda Item 5A     Page 17Packet Page 169



7New Rental Licenses: Baseline Inspection Checklist

A. General Requirements: Light, Ventilation, and 
Occupancy Limitations

Section I – V License Qualifications: 
City of Boulder licensed D-9, OR 
General A, B or C Contractor, OR
Colorado Licensed Design Professional, OR
ICC Certified Combination Inspector.

I. Exterior Structure
1. General. The exterior of a structure shall be main-

tained so as not to pose a threat to public health, safety or 
welfare. (IPMC 304.1.1, 1-13)

2. Floodplain safety signage. Structures located in a 
100-year floodplain shall be posted with a warning sign that 
states: “This property is located in an area that is subject to 
sudden and severe flooding. In case of flood emergency be 
prepared to seek high ground immediately.” For informa-
tion visit www.boulderfloodinfo.net. 

The sign shall be a metal plaque with minimum ¼" letters 
in a contrasting color attached to the structure with non-
removable fasteners posted on the exterior of the building at 
the entrance. (IPMC 310; 9-3-3 (a) (10), B.R.C. 1981)

Note: The rental license inspector is responsible for inform-
ing the owner or operator if their unit is located in a desig-
nated floodplain requiring the safety signage.

3. Address numbers. Numbers are plainly visible from 
the street. (IPMC 304.3)

4. Structural members. All visible structural members 
appear to be properly installed and functioning as intended. 
(IPMC 304.4)

5. Foundation walls. All foundation walls shall be 
free from open cracks and breaks which compromise wall 
integrity and shall be maintained so as to prevent the entry 
of rodents and other pests. (IPMC 304.5)

6. Roofs. The roof shall be sound, tight and not have 
defects that admit rain in order to prevent dampness or de-
terioration in the walls or interior portion of the structure. 
(IPMC 304.7)

7. Window, skylight and door frames. Every window, 
skylight, door and frame shall be kept in sound condition, 
good repair and weather tight. All glazing shall be main-
tained free from loose and broken glass. (IPMC 304.13, 
30413.1)

8. Exterior handrails and guards. Safely maintained. 
(IPMC 304.12)

9. Stairs, decks, porches and balconies. Safely main-
tained. (IPMC 304.10)

II. Interior Structure
1. General. The interior and equipment therein shall

be maintained in good repair, and in sanitary condition.
(IPMC 305.1)

2. Maintenance. Equipment, systems, devices and 
safeguards required by the code in effect when the structure 
or premises was constructed, altered or repaired shall be 
maintained in good working order. (IPMC 101.3)

3. Structural members. All visible interior structural 
members appear to be properly installed and functioning as 
intended. (IPMC 305.2)

4. Interior handrails and guards. Safely maintained. 
(IPMC 305.5)

5. Interior stairs, decks, porches and balconies. Safely 
maintained. (IPMC 305.4)

III. Light
1. Habitable spaces. Every habitable space shall have at 

least one window of approved size (as required by the code 
in effect when the structure was built) facing directly to the 
outdoors or to a court, or shall be provided with artificial 
light in accordance with IBC 1205.3. (IPMC 402.1)

2. Common halls and stairways. Every common hall 
and stairway in residential occupancies, other than one-and 
two-family dwellings, shall be illuminated at all times with 
at least 765 lumens (60 watt incandescent or 14 watt cfl) for 
each 200 square feet of floor area, provided spacing between 
lights does not exceed 30 feet. (IPMC 402.2).

IV. Ventilation
1. Habitable spaces. Every habitable space shall have

at least one openable window or mechanical ventilation.
(IPMC 403.1)

2. Bathrooms and toilet rooms. An openable window 
or mechanical ventilation must be provided. (IPMC 403.2)

V. Occupancy Limitations
1. Water closet accessibility. Every bedroom shall have 

access to at least one water closet and one lavatory without 
passing through another bedroom. Every bedroom in a 

Attachment C - City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist

Agenda Item 5A     Page 18Packet Page 170



8 New Rental Licenses: Baseline Inspection Checklist

dwelling unit shall have access to at least one water closet 
and lavatory located in the same story as the bedroom or an 
adjacent story. (IPMC 404.4.3)

2. Prohibited occupancy. Kitchens and non-habitable 
spaces shall not be used for sleeping rooms. (IPMC 404.4.4)

3. Food preparation. All spaces to be occupied for 
food preparation purposes shall contain suitable space and 
equipment to store, prepare and serve foods in a sanitary 
manner. There shall be adequate facilities and services for 
the sanitary disposal of food wastes and refuse, including 
facilities for temporary storage. (IPMC 404.7)

4. Dwelling units. Every dwelling unit shall contain its 
own bathtub or shower, lavatory, water closet and kitchen 
sink which shall be maintained in a sanitary, safe working 
condition. The lavatory shall be placed in the same room 
as the water closet or located in close proximity to the door 
leading directly into the room in which such water closet is 
located. A kitchen sink shall not be used as a substitute for 
the required lavatory (502.1)

5. Rooming houses. At least one water closet, lavatory 
and bathtub or shower shall be supplied for each four room-
ing units (502.2)

B. Plumbing Facilities and Fixture Requirements

Section I –III License Qualifications: 
City of Boulder licensed D-9 or General A, B or C 
       Contractor, OR 
City of Boulder Licensed Plumber, OR
Colorado Licensed Design Professional, OR 
ICC Certified Combination Inspector

I. Toilet Rooms
1. Privacy. Toilet rooms and bathrooms shall provide 

privacy and shall not constitute the only passageway to a 
hall or other space, or to the exterior. A door and interior 
locking device shall be provided for all common or shared 
bathrooms and toilet rooms in a multiple dwelling (503.1)

2. Location. Toilet rooms and bathrooms serving room-
ing units or housekeeping units shall have access from a 
common hall or passageway (503.2)

II. Plumbing Systems and Fixtures
1. General. All plumbing fixtures shall be properly

installed and maintained in working order, and shall be kept
free from obstructions, leaks and defects and be capable of
performing the function for which such plumbing fixtures
are designed. All plumbing fixtures shall be maintained in a

safe, sanitary and functional condition. (IPMC 504.1)

2. Fixture clearance. Plumbing fixtures shall have ad-
equate clearances for usage and cleaning. (IPMC 504.2)

III. Water Systems
1. General. All kitchen sinks, lavatories, laundry facili-

ties, bathtubs and showers shall be supplied with hot or
tempered and cold running water in accordance with the
International Plumbing Code. (IPMC 505.1)

C. Mechanical and Electrical Requirements

Sections I – III License Qualifications: 
City of Boulder licensed Mechanical A, B or C 
  contractor, OR 
Colorado Licensed Design Professional, OR 
ICC Certified Electrical or Combination Inspector, OR 
Qualified Xcel service personnel

Section IV License Qualifications: 
City of Boulder Electrician’s license, OR 
Colorado Licensed Design Professional, OR 
ICC Certified Electrical or Combination Inspector, OR
ASHI or NAHI Certified Inspector

I. General Mechanical Requirements
Note: Electric baseboard heating systems are exempt from 
heating system tune-up requirements. If applicable, submit this 
form and clearly state “All Electric Heating.”

 1. Mechanical appliances. All mechanical appliances, 
fireplaces, solid fuel-burning appliances, cooking appliances 
and water heaters shall be properly installed and maintained 
in a safe working condition, and shall be capable of per-
forming the intended function. (IPMC 603.1)

2. Fireplaces and kitchen appliances. Checked for safe 
installation. (IFGC 503, 504, 602.2, 604, 605, 623; IMC 
Chapter 8, 902-905, 917)

3. Clothes dryer exhaust systems. Shall be independ-
ent of all other systems and shall be exhausted outside the 
structure in accordance with the manufacturer’s instruc-
tions. (IPMC 403.5) 

Exception 1. Approved condensing (ductless) clothes dryers. 

Exception 2. For electric clothes dryers, an approved com-
mercially manufactured lint containment system within the 
appliance space and accessible for maintenance.

4. Heating Facilities. Every dwelling unit must be 

Attachment C - City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist

Agenda Item 5A     Page 19Packet Page 171



9New Rental Licenses: Baseline Inspection Checklist

equipped with heating facilities capable of safely and ad-
equately heating all habitable rooms and bathrooms to 68 
degrees (measured at a location two feet away from walls 
and three feet above the floor). (IMC 309)

5. Gas Piping Materials. Verify use of approved materi-
als for gas piping. Non-complying gas pipe must be replaced 
with approved materials. (IFGC 403 & 406.1) 

Gas Leaks: Where any gas leak is detected the inspector 
may shut off the gas at the appropriate location. The owner 
or operator of the facility must be contacted immediately. 
(IFGC 108.7)

6. Shutoff valves. The appliance gas shutoff valve must 
be accessible, in the same room and not further than six feet 
from the appliance. (IFGC 409.5)

 7. Furnace Location. Gas fired furnaces accessed 
through bedrooms and bathrooms and not otherwise ap-
proved for those locations shall be provided with a solid 
weather-stripped door equipped with a self-closing device. 
All combustion air shall be taken from outside the build-
ing, and ducted to the room containing the furnace. (IFGC 
303.3 & 304.6)

8. Venting. Appliance vents, connectors and draft 
diverters must be in sound condition, be of approved mate-
rial, securely in place and free of obstructions and combus-
tible deposits. The appliance venting system shall meet the 
draft requirements for the appliance in accordance with 
the manufacturer’s instructions. (IFGC 501.15.2, 503.3.1, 
503.12 & 801.2) Secure and replace as necessary.

9. Combustion Air. Verify adequate combustion air is 
provided for fuel burning appliances in mechanical rooms 
and enclosures. (IFGC 304.5-304.9) Correct combustion 
air supply as necessary.

 10. Clearances. All single wall vent connectors for 
appliances shall maintain a minimum of six inches of clear-
ance from combustibles. All B-vents serving appliances 
shall maintain a minimum of one inch of clearance from 
combustibles. Sufficient clearance must be maintained 
for cleaning and replacement of appliances (IFGC 306, 
503.10.1-503.10.16) Correct clearance deficiencies.

 11. Piping identification. Gas piping from multiple gas 
meter installations shall be marked with permanent identi-
fication so that the piping system supplied by each meter is 
readily identifiable. Each meter shall have a separate shutoff 
valve. (IFGC 401.7)

 12. Service requirement. Conduct or verify service of 
all fuel burning appliances at time of inspection to include: 

Clean combustible materials, dust and dirt in and around 
appliance, blower, motor, burners and controls.

Lubricate and adjustment of moving parts as needed.

Clean or replace of all filters (cleaning/replacement must 
occur as required by the appliance manufacturer).

Check all limit switches and replace if necessary.

Perform carbon monoxide testing of fuel-burning ap-
pliances with commercial testing instrument in accord-
ance with testing instrument manufacturer’s operating 
instructions and correct safety issues revealed by testing.

Check to assure heat exchangers are sound.

II. Boilers: Boilers serving six or more dwelling units must
maintain a valid certificate of inspection from the State of 
Colorado. 

Exception: Hot water supply storage tanks, including those 
designed for space heating, domestic or sanitary purposes, that 
are not recirculating and not exceeding a heat input of 200,000 
Btu/hour, a water temperature of 210 F and a capacity of 120 
gallons or less.

Note: the cert. may be an annual or biennial certificate depend-
ing on the type of boiler (CRS 9-4-101-18 & ANSI/NB-23)

III. Water Heaters
 1. Access through bathrooms and bedrooms. Water

heaters accessed through bathrooms and bedrooms and not
otherwise approved for those locations shall be provided
with a solid weather-stripped door equipped with a self-clos-
ing device. All combustion air shall be taken from outside
the building, and ducted to the room. (IFGC 303.3)

 2. Required features.Water heaters must have a tempera-
ture and pressure relief valve, discharge piping a maximum of 
six inches above floor or waste receptor, an accessible shut-off 
valve and safety pilot assembly. (IPC 504)

IV. General Electrical Equipment
 1. Installation. All electrical equipment, wiring and ap-

pliances shall be properly installed and maintained in a safe
and approved manner. (IPMC 605.1)

 2. Electrical faceplates. Sound and maintained in place. 
(IPMC 604.3)

Attachment C - City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist

Agenda Item 5A     Page 20Packet Page 172



10 New Rental Licenses: Baseline Inspection Checklist

 3. Extension cords. Not to be used for permanent 
wiring where run through holes in walls, structural ceil-
ings, suspended ceilings, dropped ceilings, floors, through 
doorways, windows, or similar openings. (IPMC 605.5)

 4. Electrical circuits. Each occupant shall have ready 
access to all circuit breakers protecting the conductors sup-
plying that occupancy. [NEC sec.240.24 (B)] Exception: 
Rental housing units constructed or converted to rental 
housing units and licensed prior to Dec. 7, 1971. 

 5. Electrical panelboards. Panelboard covers shall be 
removed and panelboards inspected to verify safety of all 
wiring, grounding, breakers and fuses as detailed in the 
National Electrical Code. (NEC chapters 1-4)

 6. Receptacles. Every habitable space in a dwelling shall 
contain at least two separate and remote receptacle outlets. 
Every laundry area shall contain at least one grounded-
type receptacle or a receptacle with a ground fault circuit 
interrupter. Any new bathroom receptacle outlet shall have 
ground fault circuit interrupter protection. (IPMC 605.2)

 7. Non-grounding-type electrical receptacles (two-
prong receptacles). Where attachment to an equipment 
grounding conductor (two-wire circuits) does not exist in 
the receptacle enclosure, the installation shall comply with 
a, b or c below. 

Two-prong receptacle shall be permitted to be replaced with 
another two-prong receptacle.

A two-prong receptacle shall be permitted to be replaced 
with a ground-fault circuit interrupter type (GFCI) three-
prong receptacle. These receptacles shall be marked “No 
Equipment Ground.” An equipment grounding conductor 
shall not be connected from the GFCI-type receptacle to 
any outlet supplied from the GFCI-type receptacle.

A two-prong receptacle shall be permitted to be replaced 
with a three-prong, grounding-type receptacle where sup-
plied through a GFCI device. Three-prong, grounding-type 
receptacles, supplied through the GFCI shall be marked 
“GFCI Protected” and “No Equipment Ground.” 
An equipment grounding conductor shall not be connected 
between the grounding-type receptacles.

 8. Luminaires. Every public hall, interior stairway, toilet 
room, kitchen, bathroom, laundry room, boiler room and 
furnace room shall contain at least one electric luminaire 
(light fixtures). (IPMC 605.3) 

D. Fire Safety Requirements

Section I – III License Qualifications: 
City of Boulder licensed D-9 or General A, B or C 
   contractor, OR 
Colorado Licensed Design Professional, OR
ICC Certified Combination Inspector

I. General
1. General. A safe continuous and unobstructed path 

of travel shall be provided from any point in a building or 
structure to the public way. Means of egress shall comply 
with the International Fire Code. (IPMC 702.1)

2. Locked doors. All means of egress doors shall be 
readily openable from the side from which egress is to be 
made without the need for keys, special knowledge or effort, 
except where the door hardware conforms to that permitted 
by the International Building Code. (IPMC 702.3)

3. Emergency escape openings. Required emergency 
escape openings shall be maintained in accordance with the 
code in effect at the time of construction, and the following. 
Required emergency escape and rescue openings shall be 
operational from inside of the room without the use of keys 
or tools. Bars, grilles, grates or similar devices are permitted 
to be placed over emergency escape and rescue openings 
provided the minimum net clear opening size complies with 
the code that was in effect at the time of construction and 
such devices shall be removable from the inside without the 
use of a key, tool or force greater than that which is required 
for normal operation of the escape and rescue opening. 
(IPMC 702.4)

4. Fire Resistance-rated assemblies. The required fire-
resistance rating of fire-resistance rated walls, fire stops, shaft 
enclosures, partitions and floors shall be maintained. (IPMC 
703.1)

5. Barbeque safety. Charcoal burners and other open-
flame cooking devices shall not be operated on combustible 
balconies or within 10 feet of combustible construction. 
(IFC 308) 

Exception 1: One-and two-family dwellings. 

Exception 2: Where buildings, balconies and decks are 
protected by an automatic sprinkler system. 

Exception 3: LP-gas cooking devices having an LP-gas 
container with a water capacity not greater than 2½ pounds 
(nominal 1lb. LP-gas capacity). 

Attachment C - City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist

Agenda Item 5A     Page 21Packet Page 173



11New Rental Licenses: Baseline Inspection Checklist

6. Portable fire extinguishers. Portable fire extinguish-
ers shall be installed in structures containing three or more 
rental units with interior corridors and/or common areas as 
detailed below. (IFC 906)

Install fire extinguisher where access is not obstructed or 
obscured from view.

Install fire extinguisher with mounting bracket provided by 
manufacturer.

Fire extinguisher installed in a cabinet shall not be locked 
unless subject to malicious use or damage.

Provide means for ready access for fire extinguisher locked 
in a cabinet.

The minimum rating for a fire extinguisher is 2-A.
A fire extinguisher is required on each floor level.

The maximum travel distance to a fire extinguisher is 75 feet.

The maximum height of a fire extinguisher is 5 feet above 
the floor.

II. Smoke Alarms
1. Smoke alarm inspections. Smoke alarm inspec-

tions are required to be conducted by the property owner as
detailed below.

Smoke alarms. Smoke alarms which receive their primary 
power from the building wiring shall be checked for good 
operating condition once each year and if supplied with 
battery backup, the battery shall be replaced as necessary for 
proper function of the smoke alarm.

Battery-powered smoke alarms. Battery-powered smoke 
alarms shall be tested for proper function on an annual 
basis. Batteries shall be replaced as necessary for proper 
function of the smoke alarm.

Single- or multiple-station smoke alarms: shall be installed 
and maintained in Groups R-2, R-3, R-4 and in dwellings 
regulated in Group R occupancies, regardless of occupant 
load at all of the following locations. (IPMC 704.2):
On the ceiling or wall outside of each separate sleeping area 
in the immediate vicinity of bedrooms.

In each room used for sleeping purposes.
In each story within a dwelling unit, including basements 
and cellars, but not crawl spaces and uninhabitable attics. In 
dwelling units with split levels and without an intervening 
door between the adjacent levels, a smoke alarm installed 

on the upper level shall suffice for the adjacent lower level 
provided that the lower level is less than one full story below 
the upper level.

Listed and labeled combination smoke and carbon monox-
ide alarms are approved for use when installed in accordance 
with manufacture’s installation instructions.

III. Carbon Monoxide Alarms
1. Carbon monoxide alarms. Carbon monoxide alarm 

inspections are required to be conducted by the property 
owner or agent as detailed below. Carbon monoxide alarms 
are to be installed in existing residential structures in ac-
cordance with Colorado state law effective on July 1, 2009. 
(IPMC 608.1) 

Carbon monoxide alarms are required to be installed in 
existing dwellings and rented single and multi-family dwell-
ings that have fuel fired heaters, appliances or fireplaces or 
attached garages based on the following guidelines:

Carbon monoxide alarms which receive their primary power 
from the building wiring shall be checked for good operating 
condition once each year and supplied with battery back-up, 
the battery shall be replaced as necessary for proper function 
of the carbon monoxide alarm.

Battery-powered carbon monoxide alarms shall be tested for 
proper function on an annual basis. Batteries shall be replaced 
as necessary for proper function of the carbon monoxide alarm. 

Listed and labeled combination smoke and carbon monoxide 
alarms are approved for use when installed in accordance with 
manufacture’s installation instructions.

E. IPMC Appendix C Energy Efficiency 
Requirements (Future) 

License Qualifications: 
City of Boulder licensed General Class G contractor*

* In addition to the base detailed license requirements, must
also be certified through a City of Boulder sponsored training 
program to inspect prescriptive energy efficiency measures.

Compliance. Effective January 2, 2019, the energy efficiency 
of existing residential rental dwelling units must comply with 
Section C101.2.1 for performance-based energy efficiency 
requirements or Section C101.2.2 for prescriptive-based energy 
efficiency requirements.  

The City of Boulder encourages applicants to achieve compli-
ance as early as possible. www.bouldercolorado.gov/smartregs

Attachment C - City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist

Agenda Item 5A     Page 22Packet Page 174



New Rental Licenses: Baseline Inspection Checklist12

Additional Code Related Safety Items Noted Here:

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

The inspector will not certify a completed baseline inspection until all outstanding issues have been addressed and 
confirmed at re-inspection. Scheduling a re-inspection is the responsibility of the owner/agent and is performed by a 
licensed rental-housing inspector.

Attachment C - City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist

Agenda Item 5A     Page 23Packet Page 175



13

Baseline Inspection Compliance Verification Form
Please return this portion of the Baseline Inspection Checklist

NNote: By signing this form, the licensed inspector certifies that he/she performed the housing inspection 
for the rental property indicated below and found it complied with the requirements included in the 
checklist at the time of inspection. The inspector also certifies that he/she has no financial interest in the 
property and is not related in any way to the owner/agent or tenant.

Property Address_________________________________________________Unit #_____________________ 

Owner/Agent Name_________________________________________________________________________ 

PART A – General Requirements

Company Name________________________________________Contractor license #___________________ 

Type of license ________________________________________Telephone #___________________________

Name of Inspector___________________________________________________________________________    
Signature     Please print name

Date of inspection compliance____________________ (Must be completed within the previous 12 months)        

PART B – Plumbing Facilities and Fixture Requirements 

Company Name________________________________________Contractor license #___________________ 

Type of license ________________________________________Telephone #___________________________

Name of Inspector___________________________________________________________________________    
Signature     Please print name

Date of inspection compliance____________________ (Must be completed within the previous 12 months)    

Attachment C - City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist

Agenda Item 5A     Page 24Packet Page 176



14

BASELINE INSPECTION COMPLIANCE VERIFICATION FORM CONTINUED 

PART C Sec. I-III – Mechanical Requirements

Company Name________________________________________Contractor license #___________________ 

Type of license ________________________________________Telephone #___________________________

Name of Inspector___________________________________________________________________________  
Signature     Please print name

Date of inspection compliance____________________ (Must be completed within the previous 12 months)

PART C Sec. IV – Electrical Requirements

Company Name________________________________________Contractor license #___________________ 

Type of license ________________________________________Telephone #___________________________

Name of Inspector___________________________________________________________________________  
Signature     Please print name

Date of inspection compliance____________________ (Must be completed within the previous 12 months)    

PART D – Fire Safety Requirements

Company Name________________________________________Contractor license #___________________ 

Type of license ________________________________________Telephone #___________________________

Name of Inspector___________________________________________________________________________  
Signature     Please print name

Date of inspection compliance____________________ (Must be completed within the previous 12 months)    

Attachment C - City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist

Agenda Item 5A     Page 25Packet Page 177



15

BASELINE INSPECTION COMPLIANCE VERIFICATION FORM CONTINUED 

Number and location(s) of smoke alarms_________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Number and location(s) of carbon monoxide alarms________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Owner/Agent Signature   Print Name     Date

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Owner/Agent Signature   Print Name     Date

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Owner/Agent Signature   Print Name     Date

Attachment C - City of Boulder Baseline Inspection Checklist

Agenda Item 5A     Page 26Packet Page 178



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to: 
1. Accept the Boulder Civic Area Master Plan (Attachment A).
2. Direct staff to initiate discussions with Boulder Community Health regarding 

the Broadway property, pursue financing options, and conduct a more detailed 
space programming analysis using the council feedback on the Municipal 
Services location options.

3. Request for Council Support on recommended actions to address city 
office space needs in order to improve customer service.

PRESENTER/S 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Bob Eichem, City Financial Officer 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
Yvette Bowden, Director of Parks and Recreation 
Jeff Dillon, Capital Investment Manager, Parks and Recreation 
Sam Assefa, Senior Urban Designer, Project Coordinator 
Jeff Haley, Project Coordinator 
Joanna Crean, Project Coordinator 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
With the passage of the Community, Culture and Safety tax initiative in November 2014, a 
Civic Area Park Site Plan is being developed to implement the $8.7 million in phase I 
improvements and coordinate with the more than $5 million from the tax devoted to Boulder 
Creek Path, 11th Street lighting and Arapahoe underpass improvements. In order to advance 
implementation items for the near-term Park Site Plan and guide further work on longer-term 
investments, the 1992 Boulder Civic Center Master Plan is being updated. Highlighted in the 
updated Civic Area Master Plan (Attachment A) is a roadmap for how the Civic Area can 
transform into an even more extraordinary place that reflects the community's shared values 
as well as the opportunity to improve life and property safety by removing existing city 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page 179



buildings (New Britain and Park Central) from the High Hazard Flood Zone. As a result, 
some city services and programs would need to be relocated. One potential option for 
relocation is to purchase the Boulder Community Health (BCH) facility on Broadway. The 
BCH Broadway campus is an opportunistic site given the build-out status within the 
boundaries of the city, however; this is a long-term and expensive solution.   

The purpose of this agenda item is to discuss and seek City Council:  

1. Acceptance of the updated Civic Area Master Plan,
2. Direction on the BCH Broadway campus and relocation of municipal services, and
3. Support to address short-term city office space needs to improve customer service.

While each council action is independent and separate from one another, the information is 
related so it is included in one memorandum with two main parts: (1) Civic Area Master Plan, 
including an update on the Park Site Plan, and (2) BCH Analysis and Options, including 
short-term city office space needs. 

The Planning Board reviewed and recommended City Council acceptance of the Civic Area 
Master Plan by unanimous vote on May 21, 2015. However, staff follow up with Planning 
Board is underway in order to clarify information presented relative to the floodplain as 
indicated on page 9 of this memorandum. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

4. Motion to accept the Boulder Civic Area Master Plan (Attachment A).
5. Motion to direct staff to initiate discussions with Boulder Community Health

regarding the Broadway property, pursue financing options, and conduct a more
detailed space programming analysis using the council feedback on the Municipal
Services location options.

6. Motion to support recommended actions to address city office space needs in
order to improve customer service.

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic – Overall, the investment in the Civic Area called for in the Master Plan as

well as an investment in the BCH, Broadway campus will help support the continued 
economic vitality of the downtown and surrounding area. More detailed analysis of the 
financial feasibility and economic impacts of implementing specific elements of the 
plan will be prepared during implementation phases and reviewed by City Council. 
Major elements include a redesigned urban park at the core flanked by mixed-use, 
24/7 activity potentially including a public market hall, wrapped structured parking, 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page 180



performing arts space, and a mixed-use community services/innovation and events 
center.  

• Environmental – The Master Plan aims to improve the ecological health and water
quality of Boulder Creek by expanding and improving adjacent green space, while
providing opportunities for its enjoyment by the public. In addition, future pedestrian,
bicycle and transit improvements will help reduce or minimize vehicular trips and
their associated greenhouse gas emissions. The removal of surface parking lots will
improve ground permeability and reduce the urban heat island effect in the area.
Furthermore, large healthy mature trees in the area will be retained as part of the new
park.

• Social – A key component of the Master Plan is to improve life and property safety by
removing buildings and parking from the Boulder Creek High Hazard Flood Zone
(HHZ). In addition, the enhancements to the Civic Area will be planned and designed
to be inclusive, welcoming and appealing to a diverse population of all ages, incomes,
ethnicities, abilities and interests. Numerous local organizations and groups have and
will continue to partner with the city in creating and realizing the vision for the area.

OTHER IMPACTS  
• Fiscal – Implementation of the Civic Area Master Plan will take place over a number

of years. With the passage of the Community, Culture and Safety tax initiative that
passed in November 2014, $8.7 million is being used to implement phase I
improvements of the Civic Area park site and coordinate with the more than $5
million from the tax devoted to Boulder Creek Path, 11th Street lighting and Arapahoe
underpass improvements. The budgetary impact of future improvements referenced in
the plan will be assessed as those implementation phases are developed and will be
reviewed by City Council. Possible funding sources for public improvements have
been identified in Part 3 of the plan (Attachment A). Financial resources related to
purchasing the BCH and constructing a new facility would require the city to borrow
to finance the project. Depending on the amount that would be financed, this would
determine if a ballot item would be needed.

• Staff Time – Additional staff time from numerous departments will be required in
varying amounts to implement the plan over the next six years and beyond.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The city’s Planning Board discussed the Civic Area Master Plan at its May 21, 2015 meeting 
and recommended acceptance (7-0) of the Civic Area Master Plan to City Council. Planning 
Board also recommended several amendments including: 

(1) Recommend that existing historic resources be preserved including the Atrium and 
that the Bandshell should be kept east of Broadway somewhere in the Civic Area (5-2, 
B. Bowen and L. Payton opposed). L. Payton supported the general preservation goals 
but did not support moving the band shell. B. Bowen supported the premise of the 
motion but did not support limiting the Bandshell location to the east side of 
Broadway. He thought there were locations near that library that would be well suited 
to accommodate the Bandshell. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page 181



Staff Response: The Civic Area Master Plan already includes language within the guiding 
principles, performance criteria and strategies that indicate an appreciation of the historic 
resources within the Civic Area and recommends that all applicable requirements and 
processes are observed in determining future use of the structures.  Many opportunities 
and constraints exist within the Civic Area such as floodplain designation, flood limits, 
existing historic structures and sensitive ecological areas. Careful balance must be 
achieved to find the appropriate design to meet the goals of the community for the Civic 
Area to be transformative. However, all of the currently landmarked structures are 
proposed to remain with the exception of the Bandshell. The location and functionality of 
the Bandshell is being examined. A Design Inspiration Initiative public online survey, 
launched in May, is currently soliciting ideas from the community to inspire the location 
of the Bandshell. The community inspirations will help inform the final design for the 
Civic Area Park Site, which will be brought forward in the fourth quarter of 2015. 

As recommended in the Civic Area Master Plan, several key studies and processes will be 
completed in the coming months that will further inform the long-term plans for the 
potential historic resources such as the Atrium. A Market Hall Feasibility Analysis, which 
will include an architectural and program analysis, will explore this option either within 
the Atrium Building, or as part of a new mixed-use building. In April 2015, Historic 
Boulder, Inc. submitted a landmark designation application for the Atrium Building. An 
initiation hearing to consider landmark designation is scheduled for the August 5, 2015 
Landmarks Board meeting. If the board finds that the building meets the designation 
criteria for individual landmarks (Section 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C., 1981), staff 
recommends that the designation hearing be scheduled after the Feasibility Analysis and 
Historic Resource Study is complete so that a greater understanding of how the building 
might fit the Civic Area vision could be assessed. It is estimated that the Feasibility 
Analysis would be completed in fourth quarter 2015/ first quarter 2016. 

(2) Recommend that the ditch remain open and the safety and utility issues related to the 
diversion dam be addressed, and that the city work with the ditch companies to 
address liability issues to maximize potential public use of those facilities (7-0). 

Staff Response: One of the guiding principles in the Civic Area Master Plan is the 
importance of outdoor culture and nature. Specifically highlighted in the plan is the 
private irrigation ditch that runs through Central Park and that the city should improve the 
park-like quality. The ditch is owned and managed by several different companies and 
their respective shareholders, including Boulder & Whiterock Ditch, North Boulder 
Farmer’s Ditch, Boulder & Lefthand Ditch, and Smith & Goss Ditch. As part of the Civic 
Area Park Site Plan development, staff met with representatives from all companies and 
determined the critical topics for consideration and coordination include access, 
infrastructure improvements, operational efficiencies and liability concerns.  Staff will be 
coordinating with the ditch companies throughout the design development phase to work 
towards a balanced solution and present the outcomes as part of the Park Site Plan 
approval. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page 182



(3) Recommend that City Council adopt a section on family and inclusion and take ideas 
from Growing Up Boulder including inclusion of a tree house for children (7-0). 

Staff Response: Extensive outreach to the community and involvement with City Council, 
Boards and Commissions has allowed staff and the consultant team to develop a robust 
plan that meets the goals of the community for the transformation of the Civic Area. The 
Master Plan includes seven guiding principles that are uniquely distinct to Boulder. The 
first guiding principle focuses on being the “Civic Heart of Boulder” and the importance 
of diversity and cultural richness and history within the community. Also mentioned is a 
“space for all” representing the goal of providing opportunities for all age groups, income 
levels and avoiding any predominance by one individual group. Staff and the consultants 
are very aware of the need to provide experiences for all members of the community and 
will achieve those goals through the Park Site final design later this year as well as careful 
coordination with Human Services and other relevant departments. 

(4) Amend the “How the Plan will be Used” section to say that future developments or 
improvements in the Civic Area will be required to conform to the plan’s vision and 
guiding principles. The vision and guiding principles can be amended by the City 
Council in the future. 

Staff Response: The Master Plan has been changed to reflect the new language proposed 
by Planning Board. Below are the changes shown as strikeouts and with red font.  

Details of the plan will change, especially because of its dependence on funding and 
coordination with multiple parties. As details change, it will not be necessary for the city 
to formally amend the plan. If changes to the vision, or principles or general direction are 
proposed, City Council will consider amending the plan. Periodically, City Council may 
revisit the work program and implementation schedule. Additionally, City Council and 
appropriate city boards and commissions will review and give direction or approval on 
the various specific improvements to make the plan's vision a reality. The implementation 
section (page 42) details the role of council as well as boards and commissions in the 
transformation of the Civic Area. 

Staff is following up with Planning Board in order to clarify information presented relative to 
the floodplain as indicated on page 9 of this memorandum. 

PUBLIC PROCESS  
As mentioned, the intent is to amend the adopted Civic Area Vision Plan to replace the 
existing 1992 Boulder Civic Center Master Plan to serve as the updated Civic Area Master 
Plan. The vision plan was developed through an 18-month collaboration with the Boulder 
community, boards and commissions and City Council. The vision plan, approved by City 
Council on Sept. 3, 2013, established the goals, guiding principles and core themes for the 
Civic Area.  

The updated Civic Area Master Plan builds on the public engagements held by the city and its 
consultant team (Tom Leader Studio, along with real estate and economic development 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page 183



consultant HR&A). In the fall of 2014, community feedback was collected about program 
preferences and park design themes. In March 2015, the city hosted a stakeholder1 workshop 
and a public open house as well as a joint board and commission workshop. The purpose was 
to collect feedback on draft Park Site Plan options and long-term improvement strategies 
related to the master plan update. On March 31, 2015, this information was presented to City 
Council during a Study Session. After receiving City Council feedback on strategies for the 
long-term improvements, the Civic Area Master Plan was revised accordingly.    

BACKGROUND 
In January 1993, the City Council adopted the 1992 Civic Center Master Plan, which serves 
as an implementation tool to translate the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) into 
action. While the 1992 Civic Area Master Plan guided some implementation efforts 
subsequent to its adoption, many of its proposals were never realized.  

On Sept. 3, 2013 City Council approved the Vision Plan for Boulder’s Civic Area that reflects 
18-month collaboration with the Boulder community, boards and commissions and City 
Council. The long-term vision is to transform the Civic Area into an even more unique place 
that reflects the community’s shared values and its diversity, providing space and programs 
for people to gather, recreate, eat, learn, deliberate and innovate. The vision plan established 
site performance goals, guiding principles and core themes for the Civic Area. 

However, the vision plan was not adopted as a master plan. A master plan is a necessary 
implementation document that provides a common framework for planning the delivery and 
funding of city services, facilities and programs. Therefore, amending the vision plan and 
presenting it for adoption as the updated Civic Area Master Plan is needed. The updated plan 
will integrate technical and site analysis and public input, including amendments to enhance 
the goals, guiding principles and core themes. 

With the passage of the Community, Culture and Safety tax initiative in November 2014, a 
Civic Area Park Site Plan is being developed to implement the $8.7 million in phase I 
improvements and coordinate with the more than $5 million from the tax devoted to Boulder 
Creek Path, 11th Street lighting and Arapahoe underpass improvements. In order to advance 
these Phase I improvements and guide further work on longer-term investments, updating the 
Civic Area Master Plan is necessary.  

PART I: CIVIC AREA MASTER PLAN 

The Civic Area Master Plan defines the overall concept for the site and establishes criteria and 
guidelines for the consideration of specific improvements, including the parkland and 
programs related to the Civic Area. As with all master plans, the Civic Area Master Plan takes 
its overall policy direction from the BVCP. Core values from the BVCP are reflected in the 
seven key principles that guide the vision for Boulder’s Civic Area. A high level summary of 
the seven guiding principles are included below: (For more details, see Attachment A, pages 
8 - 11.) 

1 Stakeholders, for the purpose of this workshop, included on-site property owners and tenants, organizations 
with a clear interest in the project, and participants from previous Civic Area focus groups. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page 184



1. The Civic Heart of Boulder – Boulder’s Civic Area has symbolic, geographic, and
functional importance and should serve as an inclusive place for people to interact
with each other and with government. The area should be complementary to Pearl
Street (the commercial heart) and downtown.

2. Life & Property Safety – Boulder’s Civic Area is located within the 100-year
floodplain, and much of the land lies within the High Hazard Zone (HHZ). The city
will meet or exceed existing flood standards, including avoiding placing new
structures and parking in the HHZ and will be proactive about planning for and
educating about floods.

3. Outdoor Culture & Nature – Boulder’s Civic Area is a central place to enjoy the
outdoors in the middle of the city. The linear “green” along Boulder Creek will be a
unifying focus, providing natural beauty, ecological function and flood safety as well
as recreational, art, and cultural opportunities.

4. Celebration of History & Existing Assets – Boulder’s Civic Area has a historical
focus and many long-standing functions and facilities highly valued by the
community, such as the library, Sister City Plaza, Farmers’ Market, and Teahouse.
Existing community assets will continue to play a vital role in the area.

5. Enhanced Access and Connections – Boulder’s Civic Area has well-used bicycle
and pedestrian amenities and convenient transit connections, serving as both an
important destination and connector. Travel and access to the area will continue to be
improved.

6. Place for New Community Activity & Arts – Boulder’s Civic Area offers potential
to expand civic services or cultural, arts, science, educational or entertainment
amenities that are otherwise lacking in the community. Any new facilities will provide
a high level of public benefit.

7. Sustainable & Viable Future – All future uses and changes in Boulder’s Civic
Area’s public properties will exemplify the community’s sustainability values (i.e.,
economic, social and environmental).

These guiding principles were approved by City Council early in the planning process to 
inform development of the vision plan. The principles provide direction as the Civic Area 
Master Plan is implemented, when analyses are prepared, and as detailed planning, design and 
financing decisions are made.  

The Boulder Civic Area Master Plan outlines a roadmap for the future enhancement and 
transformation of the Boulder’s “Civic Heart” into a place for community inclusiveness and 
activity—a cohesive and expanded central “green” at the core, bookended by vibrant “built” 
mixed-use blocks on the west and east ends. Boulder Creek serves as the defining feature that 
establishes much of the natural beauty of the Civic Area and captures the beauty of 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page 185



Downtown Boulder. The roadmap is articulated in the key section of the plan, which includes 
the Guiding Principles, illustrative plans, phasing, park and “bookend” development criteria, 
land use priorities, and financing strategies and options, all of which were developed 
consistent with the BVCP. 

One of the specific uses identified in the Civic Area Master Plan is a year-round Market Hall 
that would complement the existing Farmers’ Market as well as advance local foods and 
activate the East End. The project team will initiate a feasibility analysis to identify the type 
and scale of a year-round Market Hall appropriate for Boulder and the Civic Area, including 
associated programming, governance, financing and infrastructure. 

The city-owned Atrium Building that is located within the east bookend has been suggested as 
a potential location for the year-round Market Hall. The Feasibility Analysis will include an 
architectural and program analysis that will explore this option either within the Atrium 
Building, or as part of a new mixed-use building. In 2013, a Structural Flood Assessment was 
completed to understand the flood implications to the Atrium building. It was determined that 
structural improvements are needed to withstand the 100-year flood with costs for 
improvements estimated at $187,130. This information will also be factored into the 
feasibility of the Atrium to understand its long-term use.  Additionally, in April 2015, Historic 
Boulder, Inc. submitted a landmark designation application for the Atrium Building. An 
initiation hearing to consider landmark designation is scheduled for the August 5, 2015 
Landmarks Board meeting. If the board finds that the building meets the designation criteria 
for individual landmarks (Section 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C., 1981), staff recommends that 
the designation hearing be scheduled after the Feasibility Analysis and Historic Resource 
Study is complete so that a greater understanding of how the building might fit the Civic Area 
vision could be assessed based on implications from the flood designation as well as other 
factors to be explored. It is estimated that the Feasibility Analysis would be completed in 
fourth quarter 2015/first quarter 2016. 

Implementation of the Boulder Civic Area Master Plan is expected to take place over the next 
10 to 20 years. However, due to the passage of the Community, Culture and Safety tax 
initiative in November 2014, the first phase of improvements in the Civic Area are moving 
forward. A Civic Area Park Site Plan is being developed to implement the $8.7 million Phase 
I improvements and coordinate with the more than $5 million from the tax devoted to Boulder 
Creek Path, 11th Street lighting, public art and Arapahoe underpass improvements.  

The Boulder Civic Area Master Plan provides likely phasing and timing to implement the 
remainder of the plan. This phasing plan is preliminary and depends on the availability of 
funding sources (public, private and other). These sources vary in their revenue generation 
potential and may require specific governance structures. The Civic Area team will continue 
to explore both finance and governance strategies for future implementation phases.  

In addition to the updated Civic Area Master Plan, the city will be developing guidelines for 
future improvements for the west and east “bookends” of the Civic Area. The primary goal is 
to serve as an implementation tool to provide clear design guidelines on urban form that 
address scale, mass, height and architectural character of buildings and set standards for the 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page 186



public realm including connections and public spaces such as plazas. This work will be 
developed later in 2015 and early 2016 through a robust public process, including the 
engagements of boards, commissions and council, and will be presented for council’s 
acceptance in 2016. The Civic Area design guidelines for the bookends will be informed by 
the update to the Downtown Design Guidelines and the Form Based Code pilot, both of which 
are scheduled to be completed later this year.  

Master Plan Changes Related to Performing Arts Facility 
Based on feedback during the public outreach in March 2015, including the City Council 
Study Session on March 31, the feasibility of a performing arts facility in the north wing of 
the Main Library was further examined.  One of the guiding principles of the Civic Area 
Master Plan relates to life/property safety and the goal of meeting or exceeding existing flood 
standards. Boulder’s Civic Area is located within the 100-year floodplain, with much of the 
land, including the Main Library, located within the High Hazard Zone (HHZ) and the 
Conveyance Zone (CZ). The September 2013 Flood event occurred subsequent to the 
adoption of the Vision Plan for the Civic Area, impacted the Civic Area lands and city 
facilities as a result of flooding along Boulder Creek and Gregory Creek, and has further 
highlighted the need to carefully consider risk and uses in the floodplain.   

In considering the regulatory framework that is in place for the HHZ surrounding the north 
wing of the Main Library, and existing and updated floodplain mapping, staff determined that 
the structure could be improved up to 50 percent of the value of the structure within the 
existing square footage. However, the expansion or major enhancement to the north wing of 
the Main Library would not be supported given existing regulations, and existing and updated 
mapping. 

While it is not subject to the recently adopted Critical Facilities regulations, any potential 
investment to the north wing of the Main Library, made within the parameters of the HHZ 
regulations, should include the implementation of an Emergency Management Plan and 
associated education and public information necessary to support the activation of the area. It 
is important to note that while a new bridge over Canyon Boulevard to connect to a future use 
at the Civic Use Pad is still possible, the HHZ regulations would likely prohibit its connection 
to the north wing of the library. Staff believes that the synergy with the Civic Use Pad can still 
be achieved with enhanced connectivity between the sites.    

The city will continue to explore the feasibility of a performing arts facility in the context of 
alternative locations and as an outdoor venue. This change to the Master Plan occurred after 
the Planning Board discussion and recommendation on May 21 and an update will be 
provided to Planning Board accordingly.    

Additional building assessments and the evaluation of potential flood mitigation work are 
being undertaken in order to further examine the feasibility and risk of the on-going public 
use of existing buildings currently identified as being maintained and/or potentially modified 
in the Civic Area, including the Municipal Building, West Senior Center and the Atrium. For 
additional Civic Area Floodplain Information, please refer to www.bouldercivicarea.com.     

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page 187



PARK SITE PLAN UPDATE 
Concurrently with the Civic Area Master Plan, the first phase of improvements in the Civic 
Area continue to move forward through the development of the Park Site Plan to implement 
the $8.7 million funded through the Community, Culture and Safety tax initiative. These 
initial improvements complement the $5 million from the tax devoted to Boulder Creek Path 
enhancements, 11th Street lighting, public art and Arapahoe underpass improvements.  

Priorities for Implementation 
The Park Site Plan combines all the elements supported by the community and City Council 
such as a promenade along Canyon, 11th Street “spine,” creek terraces, nature play, improved 
creek path, plaza spaces and an enhanced Farmers’ Market. The plan (see Attachment B) will 
continue to be refined through an ongoing design process throughout this year with 
construction anticipated in 2016. While the design progresses, construction cost estimates are 
continuously updated to inform the amenities that will be implemented through the $8.7M. 
Primarily due to ongoing increases in construction costs, staff will need to carefully prioritize 
what amenities will be constructed with the current funding based on the goals of the plan 
developed through community input and City Council direction. Currently, staff recommends 
the following aspects of the plan will be prioritized for implementation with current funding: 

1. The Creek at the Core $5.6M:  Boulder Creek is a symbol of what defines
Boulder—outdoor space and nature – and it is located at the heart of the Civic Area.
Many cities need to re-create this type of urban park feature; in Boulder, it is not only
present but serves as the cohesive thread across the entire site. The proposed amenities
within the site plan that improve the creek experience will include:

• Creek Lawn (north of the creek)
• Creek Walk Terrace
• Nature Play Areas

2. Community Spaces $1.9M:  The community vision is for the Civic Area to serve as a
place for people to gather, for events, both planned and impromptu that activate the
public space and create a vibrant destination. The proposed amenities within the site
plan that achieve this will include:

• Café Terraces
• Performance Hill
• Farmers’ Market Enhancements
• Interactive Public Art

3. Connections and Access $1.2M:  There are limited physical connections between the
Civic Area and other parts of the city. In addition, one of the tenets of the site
redevelopment and activation is that downtown and the Civic Area should function as
a unit to together attract greater numbers of citizens and visitors; this will not occur
without better connectivity. The proposed amenities within the site plan that achieve
this will include:

• 11th Street Spine and Bridge
• Expanded Farmers’ Market Loop

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page 188



Ongoing Community Engagement 
As part of the design development, staff continues to engage the community in determining 
the design of key park improvements. One of the outcomes of the City Council Study Session 
on March 31 is the Design Inspiration Initiative which invites the public to participate by 
responding to questions and submit ideas to help inform design. The ideas generated will be 
collected and shared with the community as part of an open house on July 15, 2015. The 
outcomes of which will then be shared with City Council at a briefing on July 28, 2015. The 
initiative is focused on options related to: 

Nature Play – Nature play is interaction with the natural environment that allows for 
hands-on contact, exploration, contemplation, planning and education. A nature play 
area is included as a key element in the design of the Civic Area and the community is 
invited to help inform the final design of this area. A public workshop on nature play 
will be held June 10th to engage citizens in design of nature play areas under the 
guidance of two international nature play experts – Louise Chawla and Robin Moore. 
This information will be shared with the design team for final implementation in the 
site plan.  

11th Street Spine and Bridge – A goal of the Civic Area design is to provide 
connectivity from Pearl Street and University Hill to the Civic Area. This will be 
accomplished with a new pathway aligning with 11th Street through the Civic Area 
and crossing Boulder Creek with an iconic bridge that becomes a destination. The 
public is encouraged to provide input on the design. 

Bandshell - The Bandshell is an historic landmark, which provides a specific 
framework to preserve its historical character. However, many factors including its 
location and design limit its current effectiveness as a performance venue as well as 
programmatic functionality. As part of the Civic Area improvements, council and the 
community are interested in finding a new location and opportunities to increase its 
use. The community is encouraged to share ideas and responses to questions related to 
the location of the Bandshell. 

Parking  
A multi-departmental staff team has been working to develop strategies and options to address 
potential impacts and opportunities for multimodal access to/from the civic area. These 
options include a wide range of Transportation Demand Management (TDM) techniques as 
well as parking management strategies to accommodate existing and future needs by city 
employees, library patrons, city/downtown customers, and visitors to the Civic Area. In 
addition to serving the goals of the Civic Area, the parking and TDM strategies being 
explored support the city’s Transportation Master Plan objectives and overall sustainability 
goals. City employees have been engaged in this process through focus group discussions and 
open houses to review the potential strategies. As part of the continued Civic Area Park Site 
planning process in 2015, the TDM and parking management strategies will be refined and 
the selected options will be deployed on a broader scale in 2016. In addition to seeking 
feedback from city employees, additional outreach to broader downtown user groups (library 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 11Packet Page 189



patrons, city/downtown customers, and civic area visitors) will be conducted in summer/fall 
2015. 

Irrigation Ditch  
As noted in response to the comments provided by Planning Board, staff continues to work 
closely with the various ditch companies who own and have interest in the ditch located 
within Central Park. The topics of discussion and coordination relate to access, infrastructure, 
operations and liability. These topics will be addressed in the Park Site Plan with the goal 
towards achieving a balanced approach. Council will continue to be informed of the proposed 
design of the ditch through upcoming memos and briefing. 

Access & Circulation 
Understanding the importance of access and circulation throughout the site with the various 
paths and sidewalks, staff is working closely with the consultant team as well as cycling 
advocates within the community to ensure a safe and efficient route for the multiple users 
within the park. The park site plan will continue to build on the Civic Area Master Plan by 
providing detailed design and analysis of the key circulation routes and facilities. 

Activation & Programming  
Several events and initiatives are scheduled for the upcoming summer and fall to continue 
activation of the Civic Area. A current listing of activities will continue to be updated on the 
Civic Area website throughout the summer and can be viewed at www.bouldercivicarea.com. 

PART II: BOULDER COMMUNITY HEALTH, BROADWAY CAMPUS 

Background 
As highlighted in the vision plan, the first guiding principle is the “civic heart of boulder” 
meaning that the Civic Area will serve as the primary location for city government. The plan 
also identifies the opportunity to improve life and property safety by removing existing city 
buildings (New Britain and Park Central) from the High Hazard Flood Zone (HHZ). In 
addition, the master plan also describes the opportunity for a new mixed-use community 
services center for public and private offices and city hall functions (suggested in 13th/14th 
Street block).  

As part of the Civic Area public outreach and discussions with City Council in March 2015, it 
was affirmed that municipal services should continue to be in the Civic Area. However, there 
is also an opportunity to consider purchasing the Boulder Community Health (BCH) 
Broadway property which could provide another centralized location for municipal services. 
BCH has relocated its acute care services to its Foothills hospital and has put the Broadway 
campus on the market. At the request of council, staff further evaluated the possibility of 
purchasing the BCH Broadway property, working with a consultant team, including Trestle 
Strategy Group and McKinstry Consulting. The analysis also includes the extent to which city 
services and programs currently located across the Boulder community, including those on the 
city’s Municipal Campus, could be a potential fit for the BCH Broadway site.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 12Packet Page 190



Analysis 
The analysis provided by the consultants and staff team includes options related to the 
type of municipal services that could be provided within the Civic Area and at an off-site 
location, such as BCH Broadway. The analysis also includes the cost of purchasing the 
BCH Broadway property and financing mechanisms. 

Municipal Services Location Options within Civic Area and Off-Site  
Currently, municipal services are located in the Civic Area as well as other locations 
across the city (see Attachment C for a map of city locations). The city owns 41 facilities 
and leases 53,536 square feet of space throughout the community. Of the total city leased 
space, only 43,106 square feet could be eliminated through department relocation due to 
the uses of these different spaces. City leases total approximately $916,000/year in annual 
least payments, and the city is considering leasing an additional 5,300 square feet for 
approximately $230,000/year. More than 25,000 customers are served each year in seven 
city buildings in the Civic Area (excluding the Main Library and Senior Center), and 
multiple events and meetings occur.  

As mentioned previously, the Civic Area Master Plan identified the removal of city office 
buildings in the High Hazard Flood Zone (New Britain and Park Central) as well as the 
possibility of repurposing the Municipal and/or Atrium Buildings and creating a new “one 
stop” city service center, potentially on the 13th/14th Street block. Another option includes 
potentially purchasing the BCH Broadway site and consolidating most, not all, city 
services into one satellite campus. Using the BCH Broadway site for this purpose, may 
provide some efficiencies and opportunities in the long-term plan for the “bookends” 
(such as 13th/14th Street block) of the Civic Area by allowing other uses and innovative 
strategies for development. However, this also needs to be balanced with the goal of 
keeping some municipal services in the Civic Area to continue the “civic heart of 
Boulder,” improving life and property safety in the Civic Area and the opportunity to 
encourage other active uses as well as taking advantage of the transit options and the 
downtown infrastructure.  

Based on a space study conducted in 2013 and recently updated in 2015, replacement facility 
needs for city staff is approximately 220,000 square feet (SF), depending on what downtown 
functions would be consolidated into a single facility. The space needs include: 

• Customer service areas
• Public meeting and training rooms
• Support space
• Office/work rooms
• Parking

The space study also identified affinities between many workgroups that function better when co-
located. Additionally, the study found that groups providing internal support functions, such as IT, 
were better candidates for relocation as they support all staff and do not necessarily need to be co-
located with any one particular workgroup. These groups also have a very limited public interface 
and could be satellite location. See Attachment D for more details related to the space study. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 13Packet Page 191



At the request of council, the consultant and staff team completed additional analysis in 
order to provide options of which municipal services could remain in the downtown area 
to support the “civic heart of Boulder” and which services could be placed in a satellite 
location (i.e., BCH Broadway). These core services specific to the “civic heart of 
Boulder” are identified as “Downtown Anchors,” including the City Manager’s Office 
(CMO), City Attorney’s Office (CAO), City Clerk, and Council Chambers and Office. 
Under all options discussed, these Downtown Anchors will remain in the Civic Area 
either in the existing Municipal Building or a future East Bookend building (13th/14th 
Street). 

Relocating the West Senior Center and Main Library were not considered in this analysis. In 
addition, the city's municipal court, prosecution and related support staff are tenants in the 
Boulder County owned Justice Center at 1777 6th Street, and they may need to be relocated. 
The city has been made aware of county’s space needs both for the near term and long term, 
which requires city planning for the potential relocation of the city uses. The municipal court 
has special needs related to building requirements (i.e., security and parking) as well as 
affinities with other city staff. Three possible scenarios for configuring municipal services in the 
downtown area and at an off-site location, such as the BCH Broadway are illustrated below. In 
scenarios 1 and 3, costs include the renovation of the entire usable portions of BCH property 
buildings (293,111 SF). Both of these scenarios would result in an excess of available space that 
could be used for other purposes. The Future Scenarios: Overview table summarizes the location, 
square footage, and costs associated with the three different scenarios. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page 192



DRAFT JUNE 8, 2015

23,600 23,600 23,600 23,600 23,600
CMO, CAO, City Council CMO, CAO, City Council Muni Courts Community Space Community Space

143,635 39,123 39,123
CMO CMO CMO
CAO CAO CAO

Energy Future/LEAD City Council City Council
Public Works/Engin. Muni Courts Muni Courts

P&DS
Housing
OSMP

Building Permits
Central Records

Permits
Sales Tax & Licensing

Utility Billing
Parks & Rec

16,200 16,200 16,200 16,200 16,200

23,600 23,600 167,235 62,723 62,723

BCH Rehab BCH New Build Pavilion Rehab BCH Rehab BCH New Build
195,538 195,538 63,503 180,015 180,015

Muni Courts Muni Courts Communications Building Permits Building Permits
Building Permits Building Permits Channel 8 Central Records Central Records
Central Records Central Records HR, IT Energy Future/LEAD Energy Future/LEAD

Energy Future/LEAD Energy Future/LEAD Fire Admin Fire Admin Fire Admin
Fire Admin Fire Admin IR OSMP OSMP

OSMP OSMP Finance P&R P&R
P&R P&R Permits Permits

Permits Permits Community Planning Community Planning
Community Planning Community Planning Public Works/Engin. Public Works/Engin.
Public Works/Engin. Public Works/Engin. Sales Tax & Licensing Sales Tax & Licensing

Sales Tax & Licensing Sales Tax & Licensing Utility Billing Utility Billing
Utility Billing Utility Billing Housing Housing

Housing Housing Channel 8 Channel 8
Channel 8 Channel 8 Communications Communications

Communications Communications Finance Finance
Finance Finance HR, IT, IR HR, IT, IR 

HR, IT, IR HR, IT, IR 

97,573 537 113,096
Leasable Space Leasable Space Leasable Space

293,111 195,538 64,040 293,111 180,015

316,711 219,138 231,275 355,834 242,738

n/a n/a $66,585,250 $18,080,450 $18,080,450
Parking $9,131,250 $2,431,250 $2,431,250

New Construction $57,454,000 $15,649,200 $15,649,200

BCH Rehab BCH New Build Pavilion Rehab BCH Rehab BCH New Build
$94,918,135 $83,068,825 $13,903,084 $94,918,135 $76,859,625

Demolition $4,853,625 $4,853,625
New Construction $78,215,200 $72,006,000

$50,600,000 $50,600,000 $50,600,000 $50,600,000 $50,600,000

$145,518,135 $133,668,825 $131,088,334 $163,598,585 $145,540,075

$459 $610 $567 $460 $600

* Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 8, 2015, estimates approximately 293,111 usable square feet within BCH hospital buildings. 

NOTES:
 $       400.00 

323.83$       
217.10$       
25,000$       

15.00$    

Civic Area Total SF

North Campus Total SF

B
ou

ld
er

 C
om

m
un

ity
 H

os
pi

ta
l*

BCH

Unused BCH Space

* Medical Pavilion Only
 Demo Remaining 

Building

* Medical Pavilion Only 
Demo Remaining Building

2. East Campus +
BCH Pavilion 3. Split Campus + Repurposed Muni

Future Scenarios: Overview

West Bookend
Human Services, Senior Services, CYF 

(all scenarios)

Scenario:
C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
Municipal Building

1. North Campus

New parking for East Bookend building is calculated at 1 space per 400 sf, and new parking construction is estimated at $25,000/space above ground
Demolition of BCH building is calculated at $15/sf

East Bookend Cost

Total SF

Price/SF

Total Cost per Scenario

BCH Assessed Value

 BCH Cost

BCH Pavilion Rehab (includes costs for demolition of remaining building)

New construction costs estimated at $400/SF
BCH Rehab costs estimated at $323

East Bookend 
(New Building)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 15Packet Page 193



Pros & Cons of Each Option 
OPTIONS PROS CONS 

(1) North 
Campus 

• Keeps Downtown Anchor functions in Civic Area
• Consolidates remaining departments into one

location that is transit friendly and central to the City
• BCH currently zoned Public, which allows for civic

uses
• Relocates Muni Court into City owned location
• Eliminates City of Boulder leased office space.

Savings near $1million per year
• Adequate parking available (800 spaces) at BCH

without additional costs
• Allows for additional city uses or subleases for

profit/nonprofit partners (approximately 100,000
SF)

• BCH purchase price negotiations  and
competitive acquisition process

• Requires extensive renovation or
redevelopment

• Additional due diligence needed
• Potential BCH surrounding

neighborhood opposition and
resistance

• Relocates Muni Court out of the
Civic Area

• Depending on the cost and method of
funding the changes made to the area,
new revenues and permission from
the voters to issue debt may be
needed

• Restrictions on the use of tax exempt
debt may limit some partnerships. As
an alternative taxable debt may need
to be considered for some parts of the
project

(2) East 
Campus + 
BCH 
Pavilion 

• Keeps Downtown Anchor functions in Civic Area
• Consolidates remaining departments into one central

location that is transit friendly and central to the city
• BCH currently zoned Public, which allows for civic

uses
• Relocates Muni Court into City of Boulder owned

location
• Relocates Muni Court within the Civic Area
• Eliminates City of Boulder leased office space.

Savings near $1million per year
• Adequate parking (approximately 800 parking

spaces) without additional costs
• Allows for other civic, housing or office uses to be

collocated at remaining space

• BCH purchase price negotiations and
competitive acquisition process

• Requires renovation of BCH
• Construction costs of the East

Bookend 13/14th Street Block
including structured or underground
parking

• Potential BCH surrounding
neighborhood opposition and
resistance

• Depending on the cost and method of
funding the changes made to the area,
new revenues and permission from
the voters to issue debt may be
needed

• Restrictions on the use of tax exempt
debt may limit some partnerships. As
an alternative taxable debt may need
to be considered for some parts of the
project

Agenda Item 5B     Page 16Packet Page 194



(3) Split 
Campus + 
Repurpose 
Muni 

• Keeps Downtown Anchor functions in Civic Area
• Consolidates remaining departments into one central

location
• BCH currently zoned Public, allows for civic uses
• Relocates Muni Court into City of Boulder owned

location
• Relocates Muni Court within the Civic Area
• Eliminates City of Boulder leased office space.

Savings near $1million per year
• Approximately 800 parking spaces at BCH
• Allows for additional city uses or subleases for

profit/nonprofit partners (approximately 113,000
SF)

• BCH purchase price negotiations and
competitive acquisition process

• Requires renovation of BCH
• Potential surrounding neighborhood

opposition and resistance
• Construction costs of the East

Bookend 13/14th Street Block
• Depending on the cost and method of

funding the changes made to the area,
new revenues and permission from
the voters to issue debt may be
needed

• Restrictions on the use of tax exempt
debt may limit some partnerships. As
an alternative taxable debt may need
to be considered for some parts of the
project

Cost Estimate for Purchasing BCH Broadway Site 
The consultants analyzed the feasibility of acquiring the existing hospital facility, BCH 
Broadway property, in order to either convert the existing facility into offices, to demolish 
the existing structure and build new offices in this location, or a combination. A summary 
of the preliminary assessment is included below and Attachment E includes a more 
detailed report. 

Based on preliminary analysis, the Boulder County assessed value of the BCH Broadway site 
is approximately $50.6 million and includes: 

• 1100 Balsam Avenue, the main hospital facility with 404 surface parking spaces;
• 1155 Alpine Avenue, the Medical Pavilion connected to the hospital; and
• 2655 Broadway, the structured parking with 391 parking spaces.

It is not expected that the assessed valuation will be the fair markets value price. Assessed 
valuations do not represent current market value nor do they take into consideration potential 
future uses of the area. The city has the option of using certificates of participation (COPs). 
COPs are considered a lease purchase arrangement and based on a Colorado Supreme Court 
case is not subject to TABOR’s voter approval requirements.    

Renovation costs used in the analysis of BCH Broadway rehabilitation were broken into four 
different pricing tiers/costs depending on the extent of renovation required in a specific space 
(not floor level) of BCH. In total, the preliminary cost to purchase and renovate the BCH 
facility (293,111 SF) is approximately $151.8 million. To purchase, demolish the existing 
facility and build a new structure (200,000 SF) is estimated to cost $128.3 million. To 
purchase, renovate the Medical Pavilion (64,040 SF) and demolish the remainder of BCH is 
estimated at approximately $64.6 million. The Medical Pavilion is expected to be easily 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 17Packet Page 195



convertible to office space at a lower pricing tier/cost compared to other spaces in BCH. 
(These cost estimates are based on a one-hour site tour and review of diagrammatic plans 
from BCH. These general cost estimates are the first step in the analysis process. The 
consultant team did consult with a local construction firm to review these estimates; however, 
a more extensive cost analysis and estimating exercise is needed.) 

Additional analysis was conducted on the development cost of city offices in the East 
Bookend of the existing downtown Civic Area, in the 13th/14th Street Block. To develop 
39,100 SF (Scenario #3 discussed previously) of offices and parking is estimated to cost 
approximately $18 million. To develop 143,000 SF (Scenario #2 discussed previously) of 
offices and parking is estimated to cost approximately $66.6 million.   

This cost analysis of BCH is the first step in the due diligence process and is intended to 
provide a broad overview of the scope of work that would be required. Given the range of 
possibilities and opportunities for redevelopment, further study regarding the potential 
acquisition of the property is warranted. 

Potential Financing Mechanisms  
Given the unknown purchase price for the BCH site and approximately $18 to $66.6 million 
to build on existing city-owned property in the 13th/14th Street Block in the Civic Area, 
neither option can be paid for from current operating revenues without significant reductions 
in expenditures for programs and services. However, the city could issue bonds through voter 
approval to cover a portion of the debt service with a new source of revenue. The hospital has 
expressed a willingness to accept payment over an extended, but relatively short period of 
three years. Any purchase of this size would require the city to borrow to finance the project.  

The city is fortunate to be in the middle of a substantial upward trend in property values. 
Preliminary reports from the Boulder County Assessor suggest that the city will see as much 
as a 20 percent increase in property tax revenue in 2016. Of course, the final number will 
depend on final resolution of tax appeals, which could significantly reduce the actual amount 
collected.  In addition, the council will need to make a policy decision regarding what 
percentage of the new assessed value increase should be reflected in the city’s share of the 
property tax. While the city's portion of a property tax bill is relatively small, the council may 
be asked by residents and businesses to moderate the impact of increased taxes by phasing in 
the tax increase over more than one year.   

Nevertheless, depending on the purchase price the projected increase in revenues may allow 
the city to fund the purchase of the BCH Broadway site without significantly affecting other 
city priorities. This would, however, make any increased revenues unavailable for new 
investments in other areas and would still likely require reductions in some areas. Finance 
staff is working on projecting the potential costs and options and will be prepared to address 
this issue at the June 16 meeting. 

Another consideration is whether council will wish to seek voter approval of such an 
acquisition. If council decides to fund this project with municipal debt, that debt would need 
voter approval. Please note that a municipality can only issue tax free municipal debt for 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 18Packet Page 196



public purpose  projects. Any portion of the property to be acquired for the purpose of private 
enterprise or non-profits has restrictions. If the restrictions would be too great,  taxable debt 
may be a viable alternative.  

Current City Office Space Needs 
While the BCH Broadway campus may provide a promising long-term solution to the city’s 
office needs, there remains an immediate need for additional space for downtown employees. 
In particular, there is a need for additional space for the current occupants of the Municipal 
Building. This includes City Attorney Office staff associated with the municipalization effort 
and other council priorities, as well as sales tax and licensing staff associated with marijuana 
licensing. Over the past several years, there has been an ongoing process of small renovation 
projects aimed at providing workspaces. As a result, meeting rooms have been repurposed and 
common areas have been reduced. At this time, there is simply no available space to expand. 
A previous plan presented to City Council (June 3, 2014 council memo) to expand into the 
lobby and add five office stations will now not meet customer needs and staffing levels and 
has been put on hold. 

Based on feedback from council, staff’s current plan is to retain the City Manager’s Office, 
the City Attorney’s Office, utility payments and licensing in the Municipal Building. To 
accommodate these uses, which face significant space challenges, staff is proposing to move 
Finance, Risk Management, Budget and the tax auditors to rented space in the immediate 
area. This is necessary not only to meet space needs for the other departments, but also to 
address needs in the Finance Department, including the transfer of payroll from Human 
Resources to Finance. City staff has located space in the building at One Boulder Plaza (1800 
Broadway) which is conveniently located across the street from the Municipal Building. 
There is 5,363 square feet available for rental at $26 to $30 per square foot, depending on 
negotiations. 1800 Broadway has limited existing finishes, allowing for the flexibility needed 
to convert the space into a combination of private offices and open work areas. Staff proposes 
to move the offices of Finance, Budget, Risk Management and the tax auditors to this 
location, which would be a good fit for the space as their functions require limited public 
interface. Moving these work groups should address the immediate and projected space needs 
in the Municipal Building.   

NEXT STEPS 
Upon City Council acceptance, the Civic Area Master Plan implementation will take place 
over a number of years. During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Civic Area Park Site Plan will 
be brought to the PRAB, Planning Board and City Council for review and consideration. As 
part of the design for the Park Site Plan, the city is seeking community input, Civic Area 
Design Inspiration Initiative, to inspire the design of the 11th Street Bridge, Nature Play areas 
throughout the park and the location of the Bandshell. These ideas will be collected and 
shared with the community as part of an open house on July 15, 2015. The outcomes of which 
will then be shared with City Council at a briefing on July 28, 2015. Later in 2015 and early 
2016, a more detailed urban design plan for the east and west bookends will be discussed. See 
Attachment F for a more detailed timeline of the Civic Area process. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 19Packet Page 197



In addition, based on council feedback, staff will initiate discussions with BCH regarding the 
Broadway property, pursue financing options and execute the lease for 1800 Broadway to 
improve customer service in the Municipal Building. In addition, based on council guidance, 
staff will present an offer to BCH. A letter of intent is due June 29, 2015. Best and final offers 
are due July 6, 2015. The staff and consultant team will also conduct a more detailed space 
programming analysis using the council feedback on the Municipal Services location options 
for downtown and a satellite campus.  

ATTACHMENTS 
A – Boulder Civic Area Master Plan  
B – Updated Park Site Plan 
C – Map of City of Boulder Facilities 
D – City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015  
E – Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015  
F – Civic Area: 2015/2016 Process & Timeline 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 20Packet Page 198



THE MASTERPLAN FOR

BOULDER'S CIVIC AREA

Revised June 2015
BoulderCivicArea.com

DRAFTAttachment A: Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 21Packet Page 199



   Contents     2 3

Acknowledgments
Special thanks to the people and organizations below who contributed their time and ideas throughout the Civic Area 
Master Plan update process.

Contents
Overview �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 5

The Vision ......................................................................................................................6
How Will the Plan Be Used  ..........................................................................................7
Guiding Principles .........................................................................................................8

Creating the Place ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 13
PARK AT THE CORE  ...................................................................................................16
EAST END: FOOD AND INNOVATION .........................................................................20
WEST END: ARTS AND CULTURE ..............................................................................24
Access and Mobility .....................................................................................................28
Key Improvements ......................................................................................................30

Implementation and Phasing  ���������������������������������������������������������������������� 37
Strategies ....................................................................................................................38
Phasing Plan ...............................................................................................................40
Implementation Roles .................................................................................................42

View from the park looking south towards Boulder Creek

City Council Members 
Matt Appelbaum, Mayor 
Suzanne Jones, Mayor Pro Tem 
Suzy Ageton
KC Becker 
Macon Cowles 
George Karakehian 
Lisa Morzel 
Tim Plass
Andrew Shoemaker
Sam Weaver
Mary Young

Boards and Commissions
Boulder Arts Commission
Boulder Design Advisory Board 
Downtown Management Commission 
Human Relations Commission 
Landmarks Board
Library Commission
Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 
Planning Board
Transportation Advisory Board 
Water Resources Advisory Board 

Consultants
Tom Leader Studio
Anderson Consulting
ERO Resources Corporation
HR&A
JVA Consulting
Tuttle
Re: Architecture
Russell + Mills Studios 

City Staff
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities
Sam Assefa, Senior Urban Designer, Project Coordinator
Michael Banuelos, Communication Specialist
Joanna Bloom, Source Water Administrator
Yvette Bowden, Director of Parks and Recreation
Kathleen Bracke, GO Boulder Manager 
Jane Brautigam, City Manager
Joe Castro, Facilities and Fleet Manager
Matt Chasansky, Arts and Cultural Services Manager
Bill Cowern, Traffic Operation Engineer
Joanna Crean, Project Coordinator
Jeff Dillon, Capital Investment Manager, Parks and 
Recreation
David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning 
and Sustainability
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer
David Farnan, Director of Library and Arts
Jeff Haley, Parks Planning Manager, Project Coordinator
Heidi Hansen, Civil Engineer II
James Hewat, Senior Planner
Lauren Holm, Administrative Specialist
Katie Knapp, Engineer Project Manager
Lane Landrith, Business Coordinator, Downtown and 
University Hill Management Division & Parking Services
Glenn Magee, Facilities Design and Construction Manager
Lisa Martin, Urban Parks Operations Manager
Annie Noble, Flood and Greenways Engineering 
Coordinator
Karen Rahn, Director of Human Services
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
Michael Sweeney, Interim Director of Public Works for 
Transportation 
Molly Winter, Director of Downtown and University Hill 
Management Division & Parking Services
Patrick von Keyserling, Communications Director

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 22Packet Page 200



4 5

Part 1
Overview

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 23Packet Page 201



Part1: Overview |   How Will the Plan Be UsedPart1: Overview |  The Vision6 7

The Vision
Just imagine... It's 2025 and you are walking through the Civic Area. You see a variety of people 
and activities surrounding Boulder Creek, interspersed between timeless architecture and a great 
downtown park. 

Boulder's Civic Area will be the heart of Boulder with nature at its core, flanked by bookends of civic, cultural, and 
commercial buildings that are alive with activity, collaboration, and innovation at the east and west. It will be a place 
for everyone - a lively and distinct destination that reflects our community's values, where people of all ages, abilities, 
backgrounds and incomes feel welcome to 
recreate, socialize, deliberate, learn and 
access city services.  The green space and 
beauty along Boulder Creek will provide 
significant open space and will be the 
unifying design that weaves existing and 
new facilities with a rich diversity of civic, 
commercial, recreational, artistic, cultural 
and educational amenities and programs. 
The Civic Area also will continue to be 
a service center for Boulder municipal 
government and a new center for innovation, 
where community members, officials, and 
partners can meet, interact, and innovate.  
All together, these elements create a true 
civic heart for the Boulder community, a 
place where the city's past, present, and 
future are debated, celebrated, and realized.   

How Will the Plan Be Used
The Civic Area Master Plan reflects robust multi-
year community collaboration.  Over that period, the 
community came together to define a future for the Civic 
Area - one that reaffirms shared values and provides 
a path for engagement while addressing change over 
time.  Reflecting back, Boulder began with a series of 
questions:   What if ...the area could be a transformative 
place for gatherings, recreation, dialogue and innovation?  
What if...it could showcase sustainability values?  What 
if... it could have an expanded farmers' market and 
provide space for arts, culture, education and other 
events?    

The Civic Area Master Plan provides a roadmap for how the 
Civic Area can transform into an even more extraordinary 
place that reflects the community's shared values as well 
as its diversity.  The plan maintains beloved places - the 
Dushanbe Teahouse, the Boulder Public Library, the Farmers' 
Market, Sister Cities Plaza, and others - and views of the 
Flatirons and access to Boulder Creek. It also:

 identifies future facility needs;

 makes more space for art, food and culture; and

 provides a framework that allows Boulder to maintain 
a sense of place in the heart of the city - 

 while positioning the area to be a model of future 
innovation.

This plan illustrates future prospects for the largest publicly-
owned place in the heart of Boulder. The plan area is located 
south of downtown and includes some private properties. 
The plan is intended to be consistent with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan and provide direction for a specific 
geographic area and its land use. 

The plan provides a generalized picture of the desired future 
of the Civic Area and is advisory in nature. The city zoning map 
assigns every parcel of land in the city a zoning district. The 
zoning regulates allowable uses and building forms and more.  
The plan defines policies, priorities, facility needs, and capital 
budgeting. The plan's intent is to:

1.  provide flexible guidance, allowing for change over 
time based on further analysis and new information;

2. present an illustrative future plan for mostly public 
owned land and guide decision making, coordination, 
and detailed site design;

3.  give direction for the future of adjacent private lands, 
encouraging coordinated planning and proposals that 
are consistent with the intent of this plan; 

4. support continued interdepartmental 
coordination and collaboration to create 
integrated outcomes; and,

5. provide the foundation for a comprehensive 
and multi-faceted financing strategy, including 
capital budgeting for facilities and multiple 
types of financing sources - public, private, 
non-profit, grants, and others - to accomplish 
the expressed vision. Implementation of the plan 
is dependent on funding from already available 
and newly identified sources.

This plan is intended for use by the public, businesses, 
property owners, city officials and staff. It provides the 
community with an idea of what to expect in the future 
in the Civic Area and will guide decisions about private 
development, and public facilities and services in the 
area. 

The pace of area redevelopment will be determined 
by private property owners who voluntarily choose to 
redevelop their properties.  The publicly owned areas 
will be guided by the schedule for development of the 
Civic Area park site. The plan helps ensure that when 
redevelopment occurs, property owners can design 
their projects to be consistent with the vision for the 
area. It also helps ensure that public improvements will 
be in place to support the new development.

Details of the plan will change, especially because of its 
dependence on funding and coordination with multiple 
parties. If changes to the vision or principles are 
proposed, City Council will consider amending the plan. 
Periodically, City Council may revisit the work program 
and implementation schedule.  Additionally, City Council 
and appropriate city boards and commissions will 
review and give direction or approval on the various 
specific improvements to make the plan's vision a 
reality.  The implementation section (page 42) details 
the role of council as well as boards and commissions 
in the transformation of the Civic Area.

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 24Packet Page 202



Part1: Overview |   Guiding PrinciplesPart1: Overview |  Guiding Principles8 9

Guiding Principles
Seven key principles guide the vision for Boulder's Civic 
Area. They were approved by City Council early in the 
planning process to inform development of the plan.  The 
principles will continue to provide direction as the plan is 
implemented, when analyses are prepared, and as detailed 
planning, design and financing decisions are made.

1. The Civic Heart of Boulder
Boulder's Civic Area has symbolic, 
geographic, and functional importance 
and should serve as an inclusive place 
for people to interact with each other 
and with government. The area should 
be complementary to Pearl Street (the 
commercial heart) and Downtown.  In 
the future, the Civic Area will adhere 
to the following principles.

City Center: Serve as the primary location for city 
management and government, including functional and 
interactive places for the community to interface and 
conduct city business and be creative;  

Diversity: Represent the cultural richness, history, and 
diversity of our community;

Art Center: Continue to be one of the major centers for art 
in Boulder;

Phasing: Allow for phasing, with flexibility for new ideas to 
be ever-evolving and incorporated over time; 

the idea...

Unified Public Space: Be maintained as the largest 
thematically cohesive, unified public outdoor space in  
Central Boulder; 

Design Excellence: Be a model of design excellence with 
compelling architecture and design reflecting forward 
thinking;

Destination: Be an enjoyable destination for the community 
and visitors; Be an integrated place that blends "natural" 
and "built" environments;

Welcoming and Safe: Be designed to be welcoming, 
accessible, comfortable, clean and safe;

Space for All: Foster programming and design of spaces 
and facilities to encourage use and participation by all age 
groups, income levels, and visitors and locals, avoiding the 
predominance of any one group of people; 

Linking Areas: Complement and link with surrounding 
neighborhoods and destinations, including Downtown, 
Goss-Grove, CU and University Hill, and Boulder High 
School; and,

Canyon Boulevard as Complete Street: Include a new 
urban design and streetscape character for Canyon 
Boulevard - to make it more of a "boulevard" with attractive 
landscaping that is comfortable for pedestrians, bicycles, 
and accessible by transit.

2. Life & Property Safety
Boulder's Civic Area is located within 
the 100-year floodplain, and much of 
the land lies within the High Hazard 
Zone (HHZ).  The city will meet or 
exceed existing flood standards, 
including avoiding placing new 
structures and parking in the HHZ 
and will be proactive about planning 
for and educating about floods.  
Specifically, the city will adhere to the 
following principles. 

Flood Regulations: Ensure any proposal meets or exceeds 
all current flood-related codes and regulations, which 
prohibit new development and substantial improvement to 
existing facilities in the HHZ;

Parking and Structures Relocation: Pro-actively develop 
a plan for removal of surface parking and structures, 
including the New Britian and Park Central buildings that 
are in the HHZ. In their place will be expanded park space 
with amenities and activities. Also, plan how to relocate 
facilities and uses after a flood;

the idea...

Cohesive Green Space: Create a unifying "linear green" 
theme and cohesive outdoor spaces - uniting the parks 
south of downtown as a significant asset to the city's overall 
park system; 

Protect Significant Trees: Protect existing significant trees 
and shrubs (taking into consideration their anticipated 
lifespan) and maintain an ecologically healthy creek 
channel;

Public Art: Blend public art into outdoor spaces to attract, 
inspire, educate, and encourage exploration and play;

Boulder Creek: Allow safe access to Boulder Creek in 
locations that will not damage ecological value; 

Views: Provide and maintain views and breathing room;

Private Irrigation Ditch*: Improve the park-like quality and 
linear connections along the Farmer's Ditch; 

Welcoming Space: Make outdoor spaces feel safe and 
welcoming (e.g., through lighting, seating, strategic 
landscape and design, programs and activity, and 
enforcement); and,

Recreation: Provide increased opportunities for outdoor 
recreation including  nature exploration and play, fishing, 
kayaking, jogging, yoga, tai chi, etc.

Flood Safety Education: Educate the public and Civic 
Area and building users about safety and risks associated 
with flooding and natural and public values of water (e.g., 
through public art, landscape elements, and interpretive 
signage);

Landscape Plans: Create future landscape plans that 
enhance public safety and orientation of visitors to flood 
egress routes, while also enhancing the aesthetic or artistic 
character of the area; and,  

Critical Facilities: Ensure that any new facilities (e.g., 
emergency services, critical government operations, and 
facilities that house vulnerable populations such as day 
cares and nursing homes) will be in compliance with the 
adopted Critical Facilities ordinance.

3. Outdoor Culture & Nature
Boulder's Civic Area is a central place 
to enjoy the outdoors in the middle 
of the city.  The linear "green" along 
Boulder Creek will be a unifying focus, 
providing natural beauty, ecological 
function and flood safety as well 
as recreational, art, and cultural 
opportunities.  The city will follow 
these principles. 

Maintain/Expand Green: Maintain or expand the green, 
open space (no net loss), particularly in the High Hazard 
Flood Zone - as a blend of natural, restored creek, urban 
parks and playgrounds, and community gardens;

the idea...

* Boulder & Whiterock Ditch, North Boulder Farmers 
Ditch, Boulder & Lefthand Ditch, and Smith & Goss Ditch

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 25Packet Page 203



Part1: Overview |   Guiding PrinciplesPart1: Overview |  Guiding Principles10 11

4. Celebration of History & Assets
Boulder's Civic Area has a historical 
focus and many long-standing 
functions and facilities highly valued 
by the community, such as the library, 
Sister City Plaza,  Farmers' Market 
and Teahouse.  Existing community 
assets will continue to play a vital role 
in the area.  The following principles 
will guide the community.

Farmers' Market: Continue and expand the Farmers' 
Market as a vital component of the area, source of 
community pride and economic benefit, and source for 
local and healthy food.  Partner to expand the Farmers' 
Market extent and function as an outdoor market, and 
possibly expand it as a year-round (or extended season) 
local foods marketplace;   

Local Food and Farms: Encourage sharing of information 
about local food and farms and regional relations  
(e.g., Farmer's Ditch);

Inclusive History: Preserve, reflect and celebrate the 
area's fully inclusive history (e.g., indigenous populations, 
mining, the railroad, Olmsted's linear park and landmarked 
structures);

Historic Structures: Preserve historic structures in 
accordance with city policies and regulations; 

Integration of History: Integrate history with arts, culture, 
local food, and any new structures or designs; and, 

Existing Assets: Ensure that existing assets contribute 
positively to the area and are vital and useful (e.g., address 
Bandshell use, access and delivery/noise; increase 
enjoyment of Sister City Plaza).

the idea...

6. Place for Community Activity & Arts
Boulder's Civic Area offers potential to 
expand civic services or cultural, arts, 
science, educational or entertainment 
amenities that are otherwise lacking in 
the community.  Any new facilities will 
provide a high level of public benefit 
and will be guided by the following 
principles.

Architecture and Design: Increase the area's potential for 
great beauty and attention through artistically compelling 
architecture and site design; 

Indoor & Outdoor Space: Elegantly blend indoor and outdoor 
spaces to encourage movement and gathering; 

Mixed-Use: Provide a vibrant mix of uses and design to 
encourage activity and inclusiveness throughout daytime and 
evening hours and around the year; and,

Harmonious with Downtown: Fit the area's overall public 
purpose and be harmonious with (but not a replication of) 
activity on Pearl Street and Downtown.

the idea...

7. Sustainable & Viable Future
All future uses and changes in 
Boulder's Civic Area's public 
properties will exemplify the 
community's sustainability 
values (i.e., economic, social and 
environmental) and will be guided by 
the following principles. 

Partnerships: Rely on and encourage partnerships in 
which key roles, such as administrative, maintenance 
operations, financial and program services, are 
collaboratively but formally shared between the city and 
other entities;

Financial Analysis: Demonstrate consideration of sound 
financial analysis, including likely capital and ongoing 
operations and maintenance costs for public and private 
uses;

Community Benefits: Prove community and social benefit, 
increase inclusiveness, and minimize impact to like-uses, 
venues and nearby neighborhoods; 

Environmental Considerations: Conserve energy, consider 
the use of renewable energy, minimize waste and carbon 
emissions, conserve water and improve water and air 
quality; and,

Experiential: Provide educational and experiential 
components.

the idea...

5. Enhanced Access & Connections
Boulder's Civic Area has well-used 
bicycle and pedestrian amenities 
and convenient transit connections, 
serving as both an important 
destination and connector.  Travel and 
access to the area will continue to be 
improved.  The following principles 
will guide the city. 

Improvements: Continue to improve the pedestrian and 
bicycle experience and amenities;

Wayfinding: Continue to improve connections and 
wayfinding to/from Downtown for those on foot or bike or 
using transit;

Parking: Explore replacement of surface lots with 
structured parking; Assess the parking needs for proposed 
new uses to address the carrying capacity for all modal 
access and potential for shared parking;

Boulder Creek Path: Address conflicts and connectivity 
along the Boulder Creek Path, which is a significant 
transportation route and recreational amenity (in and 
through the area); 

Thoroughfares: Reduce the barrier-effect of major 
thoroughfares (e.g., Canyon Boulevard, Arapahoe Avenue 
and Broadway) and improve their aesthetic quality; and,

Streets: Explore feasibility of shared, closed, or event 
street(s)(e.g., 13th Street).

the idea...

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 26Packet Page 204



12 13

Part 2
Creating the Place

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 27Packet Page 205



Part 2: Creating the Place |    Part 2: Creating the Place |   14 15

The Place
The Civic Area vision embodies thousands of community-
driven ideas� It adds green space for recreation, while 
creating new built spaces for essential community functions� 
It addresses public safety and environmental issues while 
at the same time meeting the community's recreational, 
cultural, and diversity objectives� Boulder's Civic Area 
is envisioned to transform into a place for community 
inclusiveness and activity-a cohesive and expanded central 
"green" at the core, bookended by vibrant "built" mixed-use 
blocks on the west and east ends� 

Park at the Core

Boulder Creek serves as the defining feature that establishes 
much of the natural beauty of the Civic Area and captures the 
beauty of Downtown Boulder. Along the creek will be a variety 
of park spaces, play areas, art, mobile food, and programmed 
activities filled with a diversity of people. To encourage safety 
and night use, the park will be better lit, landscaping will 
be cleared and maintained, and new adjacent day and night 
uses will provide more "eyes on the park." Buildings and 
urban plazas on the east and west ends will complement 
and bookend this expansive outdoor "playground," offering 
more places for people to gather, shop, learn, meet, dine 
and be entertained. These uses will harmonize with existing 
and historic structures and places, such as the Dushanbe 
Teahouse, Sister Cities Plaza, Municipal Building, Storage 
and Transfer Building (Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art/
BMoCA). The whole area will complement Downtown to meet 
broad community needs.

Additionally, removing buildings and parking lots 
currently in the High Hazard Flood Zone (HHZ) will 
improve safety and create additional park land. The 
vision approximately doubles the area's usable pervious 
surface, promoting "green" infrastructure to help 
mitigate storm water run-off and urban heat island 
effects. Green infrastructure also improves the quality 
of place and increases surrounding property values. 
In turn, the land outside of the HHZ on both ends of 
the area will be redeveloped to add more vitality and 
excitement to the Civic Area. For more information on 
the park, see page 16

The East End: Food and Innovation

The East End (from 13th Street to 14th Street between 
Canyon Boulevard and Arapahoe Avenue) will likely 
include an expanded Farmers' Market and plaza space, 
the Dushanbe Teahouse, the BMoCA building, possibly a 
year-round  public market hall, a mixed-use community 
services /innovation center and structured parking to 
support these functions. Additionally, a vibrant mix of 
uses are encouraged at the East End that could include  
small restaurants, cafes, incubator offices, hotel and/
or residential units mixed in with city services and civic 
functions, such as event and meeting space. This will 
ensure activity and interest throughout the day and night, 
all week long and all year. For more information on the 
East End, see page 20.

The West End: Arts and Culture

The West End (the area west of Broadway between 
Canyon and Arapahoe) will include the existing library 
on both sides of the creek; a cafe; the Senior Center; the 
landmarked Municipal Building; a new multi-use building 
on the St. Julien Civic Use Pad, as well as structured 
parking. The north library currently accommodates small 
performing arts uses within the existing gallery space and 
Canyon Theater.  With the redevelopment of the adjacent 
park areas on site, many opportunities exist for enhanced 
cultural programming and outdoor performance venues 
to activate the area.  Further study will determine options 
for enhancing the existing facility to accommodate a mix 
of uses to create a flexible arts and cultural facility.  This 
enhancement could also better accommodate gatherings 
and community uses. There is also the possibility of mixing 
private and public development to generate 24/7 vitality. A 
new pedestrian bridge across Boulder Creek west of the 
existing covered library bridge will better connect the west 
park area, as well as any future new activities and uses if 
the Senior Center and the north library are redeveloped. 
The Municipal Building may be repurposed for a hands-on 
arts center, museum or other civic related uses should any 
or all current municipal services relocate elsewhere in the 
Civic Area. For more information on the West End, see page 
24. 

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 28Packet Page 206



Part 2: Creating the Place |   PARK AT THE COREPart 2: Creating the Place |  PARK AT THE CORE16 17

 Performance Criteria
Public parks are central to the vision for the Civic Area. 
These criteria establish program and design standards for 
parks within the area. 

Plazas and Gathering Places: Generally, large open 
spaces should be spatially defined into smaller, more 
easily identifiable and relatable areas. People commonly 
gather at articulated edges in or around a plaza. A distinct 
sense of place can be achieved by defining edges and 
establishing a sense of enclosure through the use of 
canopies, trees, shrub plantings, arcades, and trellises, 
which must be balanced with visibility and defensibility. 
For plazas, small parks, and portions of larger parks, 
peripheral uses that generate activity, such as eating and 
drinking outlets, small retail, and music performances 
are particularly important to the park's attractiveness and 
liveliness.

Plazas will generally have a "human scale" if they are 
less than 60 feet across. Avoid large, unarticulated areas, 
except for those intended for public gathering. Provide a 
variety of sizes and shapes to encourage socializing and 
community building.

Park Access: The Boulder Civic Area has well-used 
bicycle and pedestrian amenities and convenient transit 
connections. Travel through and access to the area will 
continue to be improved with enhanced pedestrian and 
bike as well as limited vehicular access.

Traffic calming features and pedestrian-
oriented streetscape amenities for all streets 
surrounding and intersecting parks, including: 
Canyon Boulevard, Arapahoe Avenue, 9th 
Street, Broadway, and 11th, 13th, 14th and 15th 
Streets.

Pedestrian access across Canyon Boulevard 
should be improved at key crossing points.

Establish a hierarchy of types of paths that 
includes: commuter biking paths, children's 
biking paths, soft (unpaved) walking paths and 
health paths (perhaps incorporating stone 
inlays or other interactive art).

Pathways should provide safe, protected pedestrian 
links from the park to adjacent uses, such as transit 
stops and Downtown.

Pathways should consider those park users who may 
wish to meander through or around the park as well 
as those who wish to move efficiently from point to 
point.

Art and Entertainment: Encourage visual and performance 
arts by integrating art and opportunities for art to take 
place throughout parks. Visual art may include earthworks, 
temporary or permanent sculptures, lighting installations 
and murals. Visual art may also be incorporated into park 
fixtures and furnishings such as park signage, gateway 
markers, pedestrian light posts, banners, pavement, seating, 
tree grates and guards, and bike corrals. Performance art 
spaces may include multiple performance venues of different 
types, including a stage with an amphitheater as well as 
open plazas.

Food: Incorporate access to a variety of existing and new 
food establishments and vendors in the park, including 
permanent and temporary seasonal outdoor and indoor 
facilities. Recognize the community values of existing 
food establishments such as the Dushanbe Tea House, 
the Boulder Farmers' Market, and Mustard's Last Stand, 
and provide opportunities for enhancing their social and 
economic viability in the area. When Park Central Building is 
relocated, consider opportunities for Mustard's to continue to 
be part of the future development of the Civic Area.

Provide cafe seating opportunities with flexible 
furniture, including permanent, fixed picnic seating at 
appropriate locations.

Expand outdoor seating and cafe opportunities at the 
North Library garden, including external access to the 
library cafe.

Provide opportunities for an ice cream vendor and 
food trucks.

Services Extending the Range of Uses: At plazas and 
performance spaces, provide secure electrical outlets, water 
spigots, restrooms, and other services that will encourage a 
greater range of uses.

Views and Viewpoints: Design parks to take advantage 
of views to the mountains, the creek and other amenities. 
Use vegetation and path orientation to frame and direct 
views. Incorporate park edge vegetation to screen views 
of surrounding roadways and parking and create a sense 
of place and enclosure. Plan for views into the park from 
access points.

Noise Mitigation: Mitigate and detract attention from 
traffic and other ambient noise, in strategic locations 
for performance spaces as well as quiet contemplative 
places, by using elements such as fountains, waterfalls and 
vegetation.

Public Amenities: Provide site furniture and amenities, 
such as waste receptacles, bicycle racks, drinking fountains, 
game tables, kiosks, children's play equipment and artwork 
at key locations within the park. Provide restrooms that are 
accessible from outdoors within existing buildings, such 
as the library, and in new buildings. Wayfinding elements, 
such as signage, lighting, entry gateways and pavement 
treatment, should be designed to provide a unified look to 
the park.

Build Green:

Exceed minimum energy performance and take 
advantage of renewable resources.

Conserve water for landscaping.

Mitigate urban heat island and stormwater 
runoff.

Safety and Security: Crime Prevention through 
Environmental Design (CPTED) refers to a group of 
strategies intended to reduce the fear of crime and the 
opportunities to commit crime.

Natural Surveillance: This type of "passive 
surveillance" occurs when areas of the park are 
open to view by the public and neighbors, and is 
a major crime deterrent. Maximize the number 
of "eyes on the park." Ensure that an officer 
driving by or through the park can see the 
facilities that might be targeted by offenders. 
Orient restrooms, shelters, and other structures 
so that they are easily visible from the roadways 
and parking areas.

Defensible Space: Design parks so that 
potential perpetrators cannot lurk or commit 
a crime and then flee via a convenient escape 
route.

Lighting: Lighting along pathways, plazas, 
entrances, parking structures, play areas, etc., 
should suit the intended hours of operation and 
level of activity, and should not create glare and 
deep shadows.

Windows: Encourage windows and adjacent 
uses that look out onto parks and provide good 
natural surveillance to discourage criminal 
activity.

Landscaping: Provide landscaping that is open 
and allows visibility and natural surveillance and 
doesn't allow places to hide. Hedges should be 
no higher than 3 feet and tree canopies should 
start no lower than 8 feet. This is especially 
important around entryways and windows. 
Native, riparian vegetation should be restored 
and maintained along Boulder Creek in a 
manner that addresses both ecological health 
and safety concerns.

Territoriality: Visual cues show that the 
community "owns" its parks. Good maintenance 
and seasonal displays send a clear message 
that people care and won't tolerate crime in the 
area.

PARK AT THE CORE
Over half of the 27 acres - and the core - of the Civic Area is Civic and Central parks with Boulder Creek flowing through, 
a green spine that unifies spaces and provides natural beauty, ecological richness, shade, recreation,  art and places 
to gather. Park amenities and activities, such as kiosks, food and seating, lighting, and cohesive signage will be added 
throughout for a consistent look and feel, and green space will expand through the relocation  of parking and structures 
from the High Hazard Zone (HHZ) to other places. Adjacent buildings will create  "eyes on the park" and make the area feel 
more inclusive, safe, and family-friendly. 

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 29Packet Page 207



Part 2: Creating the Place |   PARK AT THE COREPart 2: Creating the Place |  PARK AT THE CORE18 19

Dynamic topography 
A large contiguous lawn with dynamic 

topography and necessary infrastructure 
to accommodate large formal 

gatherings and special events as well as 
less formal daily uses and activities.

Cafe Terrace & 
Cherry Tree Plazas

Distinct plaza areas adjacent to the 
Library and Municipal building that 

feature urban design elements to 
support a range of activities and flexible 

uses.

Gateway 
Promenade
A continuous promenade along 
Canyon and repeated along Arapahoe 
as feasible for access, arts and 
events, inviting visitors to the Civic 
Area and creating a strong edge for 
the park.

Expanded Farmers' 
Market
Development of picnic areas and 
gathering spaces within Central Park 
to better accommodate the market 
and allow expansion into the park 
areas for stalls and tents on market 
days.

Nature Play along the Creek
Nature play and interactive physical play spaces primarily south of the 
creek and incorporated throughout the park for innovative activation and 
to create a destination for families.

11th Street Spine + Signature Bridge
Continuous paved access corridor aligning the north and south areas of the 
park to connect Pearl Street through the Civic Area and south to University Hill 
that features a signature bridge across the creek as well as distinct gateways 
located at both Canyon and Arapahoe entrances.

Potential 
Relocation of 
the Bandshell

Enhanced circulation

PARK AT THE CORE
Key Elements

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 30Packet Page 208



Part 2: Creating the Place |   EAST END: FOOD AND INNOVATIONPart 2: Creating the Place |  EAST END: FOOD AND INNOVATION20 21

 

Performance Criteria
 Arts and Culture: The East End of 

the Civic Area has a rich history and 
foundation of arts and cultural uses 
within the 13th Street Block.  Current 
facilities include the Dushanbe Tea 
House and the Boulder Museum 
of Contemporary Art that provide 
opportunities for cultural programs and 
activities.  The Boulder County Farmers' 
Market also provides programmatic and 
activation focused on arts, culture and 
local foods.  These facilities and uses will 
be maintained and enhanced to support a 
mix of uses within the East End.

 Service Center: Develop civic uses 
such as municipal services as part of a 
mixed-use development vertically and/
or horizontally integrated with other uses 
to encourage innovation and creative 
collaboration. Day and evenings, during 
the week, Boulder residents, business 
owners and government officials will 
gather to meet and deliberate over 
local choices and policies, and conduct 
business and work with partnering 
non-profits.

 Day and Night Time Uses: Integrate uses 
that generate 24 hour activities such as 
residential or hotel.

 Public Plaza: Develop an urban plaza 
space to serve as an organizing feature 
within the block and to provide a variety 
of public and outdoor functions as a 
complement to the more "green" park 
spaces to the west and Farmers' Market.

 Structured Parking: Provide the 
appropriate amount of parking for 
adequate and convenient access to 
existing and future uses, balanced 
with area wide Transportation Demand 
Management. 

EAST END: FOOD AND INNOVATION
(13th/14th Street Block)
The East End is envisioned as a mixed-use block that incorporates a variety of uses in existing 
buildings and future new developments. Desired uses include civic functions integrated vertically and/
or horizontally with private uses such as a center for innovation, incubator offices, residential/hotel 
and commercial uses. The area's proximity and link to the Pearl Street Mall via 13th Street, as well 
as access to transit services, make this block conducive to maximizing synergy with existing public 
and private amenities. As the site with the most potential for new development, special attention is 
required for a careful mix of uses and their design to achieve the guiding principles. Since all desired 
uses may not fit within the block, all effort should be made to make sure the final plan reflects a 
balance in the type, mix, and scale of uses. The following performance criteria will guide program 
choices and site planning.

Illustrative example of 13th Street Plaza  with 
Farmers' Market and market hall

Illustrative example of a mixed-use facility on 13th St block

Illustrative example of 
performing arts lobby

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 31Packet Page 209



Part 2: Creating the Place |   EAST END: FOOD AND INNOVATIONPart 2: Creating the Place |  EAST END: FOOD AND INNOVATION22 23

Building Form and Massing
The Civic Area Masterplan will be used as the basis of future 
land use map changes in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan (BVCP), as well as the basis for rezoning. The 
performance criteria  for Building Form and Massing will be 
used in the Site Review process to help determine whether 
a project meets the Site Review criteria. The East End 
includes five private properties. As the plan is implemented, 
the City will coordinate with the owners on development 
opportunities.

 Building heights should range from two to four 
stories. Along Canyon, provide up to four stories to 
help create a more urban character, while buildings 
along Arapahoe should help transition to the relatively 
lower height of the residential buildings in the vicinity.

 At the ground level, buildings should have 
permeability and transparency with visual and 
physical connections to the outdoors and public 
spaces.

 At least 60% of the ground floor area should be 
visually transparent along all major public streets, 
including Canyon Boulevard, Arapahoe Ave., 13th and 
14th Streets, as well as along public plazas.

 Use high quality, durable materials that enhance the 
building and convey a sense of permanence.

 Employ sustainable green building standards.

 To the extent possible, include active market hall and 
food-related uses along Canyon Boulevard, 13th and 
14th Streets, and facing new plazas.

 Consider the effect of building height on shading and 
views.

 Building orientation should enhance the opportunity 
for views of the Flatirons and publicly accessible 
roof-tops.

 Building entrances should be clear, direct, and 
welcoming and orient to public areas, streets, plazas, 
and parks.

 Locate parking structures with active uses to 
avoid visibility and degradation of the pedestrian 
environment. Structures should be well lit and easy to 
navigate in the interior.

The East End: Food and Innovation Possible Program Elements
 Market Hall

 Service/Innovation Center

 Museum

 Night time uses

 Performance Facility

For Continued Consideration...
The block will include the outdoor Farmers' 
Market (expanded), Teahouse, City Storage 
and Transfer Building (BMoCA), outdoor space 
and parks, and structured parking. The Atrium 
Building could be repurposed or redeveloped.  
With further analysis, any of the above possible 
program elements could also occur here, 
provided they meet the performance criteria. 

ARAPAHOE AVE

13 TH ST

14 TH ST

13 TH ST

14 TH ST

ARAPAHOE AVE

CANYON BLVD

CANYON BLVD

The plan graphics and drawings shown here are
 

intended to illustrate the concepts and principles 
contained in the plan.  They are not meant to

 
prescribe the exact location, type or size of future

 
buildings or amenities.  The actual physical form 
of the area will evolve over 10 or more years and 
will likely be different from these illustrations.

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 32Packet Page 210



Part 2: Creating the Place |   WEST END: ARTS AND CULTUREPart 2: Creating the Place |  WEST END: ARTS AND CULTURE24 25

WEST END: ARTS AND CULTURE
(Library and Senior Center)
The West End is envisioned as a cultural/arts core within the Civic Area that builds on the existing 
civic and cultural functions including the Main Library and the West Senior Center. Building on this 
site provides opportunity to enhance both the indoor and outdoor functions of the existing amenities, 
as well as redevelopment and/or new development opportunities. The consideration of the Civic Use 
Pad for a mix of public and private uses provides a potential synergetic relationship of land uses 
throughout the West End. In addition, a potential repurposed Municipal Building to the east, and the 
park in-between, provide further opportunity to create a unique and vibrant mix of outdoor/indoor uses 
primarily focused on arts and cultural uses.

Performance Criteria
Library North: The north library currently accommodates 
small performing arts uses within the existing gallery 
space and Canyon Theater.  With the redevelopment of the 
adjacent park areas on site, many opportunities exist for 
enhanced cultural programming and outdoor performance 
venues to activate the area.  Further study will determine 
options for enhancing the existing facility to accommodate 
a mix of uses to create a flexible arts and cultural facility.  
This enhancement could also better accommodate 
gatherings and community uses.  

Library Cafe: As part of the new cafe at the bridge, expand 
opportunities for outdoor seating and gathering to spill out 
onto the adjacent garden to the east.

Library South: The redesign of Civic Park south of the 
creek will create a more kid and family friendly as well as 
a community destination and gathering place. The interior 
space and function of the library should be integrated 
with the outdoor space through art, park design, play 
area and future programming of the library. Features may 
include public art that enhance the physical and visual link 
between the outdoor and indoor spaces, a nature play tot 
lot, a children's reading garden, a water play sculpture, 
and intimate picnic and seating areas among shade trees 
along the creek.

Senior Center: If redeveloped as a new senior facility, 
explore providing a wider range of services, including 
relevant city and community services, in a more integrated 
"one stop shop" model. If the senior center is relocated 
elsewhere outside the Civic Area, consider the site for 
residential development, including potential micro units. 
Consider also potential coordination with Boulder Housing 
Partners and federal H.U.D. for incorporation of Arapahoe 
Apartments into new residential development.

Structured Parking: Provide the appropriate amount of 
parking for adequate and convenient access to existing 
and future uses, balanced with area wide Transportation 
Demand Management. 

Illustrative example of Nature Play near the Library

Illustrative example of 
performance space in the park

Illustrative example of outdoor seating at Library Cafe 

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 33Packet Page 211



Part 3: Creating the Place |   WEST END: ARTS AND CULTUREPart 2: Creating the Place |  WEST END: ARTS AND CULTURE26 27

Building Form and Massing
The Civic Area Masterplan will be used as the basis 
of future land use map changes in the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan (BVCP), as well as the basis for 
rezoning. The performance criteria  for Building Form 
and Massing will be used in the Site Review process to 
help determine whether a project meets the Site Review 
criteria. 

 Building heights should range from two to four 
stories along Canyon to create a more urban 
character along this wide public right of way, and to 
establish a better formal relation in mass and scale 
with St. Julien and the future development at the 
Civic Use Pad.

 Along Arapahoe, building scale and mass should 
help transition to the relatively lower height of 
residential buildings in the vicinity. Building heights 
should be limited to no more than three stories.

 At the ground level, buildings facing Canyon 
Boulevard and Arapahoe Avenue should have 
permeability and transparency with visual and 
physical indoor/outdoor connections and public 
spaces, with at least 60% visual transparency along 
all major public streets and park space.

 Use high quality, durable and timeless materials 
that enhance the buildings and convey a sense of 
permanence.

 Employ sustainable green building standards.

 Consider the effect of building height on shading 
and views.

 Building orientation should enhance the 
opportunity for views of the Flatirons, especially 
along west building facades.

 To the extent possible, include opportunities for 
publicly accessible roof-top spaces.

 Building entrances should be clear, direct, and 
welcoming and orient to public areas, streets, 
plazas, and parks.

 Locate parking structures either underground, 
or above ground wrapped with active uses to 
avoid visibility and degradation of the pedestrian 
environment. Structures should be well lit and easy 
to navigate in the interior.

The West End: Arts and Culture Possible Program Elements
 Multi-Purpose Senior Center   

              (Redeveloped)

 Expanded Cafe

 Civic Use Pad

 Night Time Uses

 Outdoor performance 

For Continued Consideration...
The West End will include the existing south 
wing of the library as it is today, the Municipal 
Building, structure parking, and outdoor space 
and parks. With further analysis, any of the 
above possible program elements could also 
occur here, provided they meet the performance 
criteria.

The plan graphics and drawings shown here are
 

intended to illustrate the concepts and principles 
contained in the plan.  They are not meant to

 
prescribe the exact location, type or size of future

 
buildings or amenities.  The actual physical form 
of the area will evolve over 10 or more years and 
will likely be different from these illustrations.

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 34Packet Page 212



Part 2:    Access and MobilityPart 2:   Access and Mobility28 29

Access and Mobility
Access and mobility are important to the vitality of the Civic Area. People using all transportation modes-
whether on foot, bicycle, bus or car-need to be able to get around easily. People also need to be able to 
connect to surrounding destinations safely and conveniently. The Civic Area and Downtown already have 
well-used multi-modal amenities and connections, including the 13th Street contra-flow bike lane, local 
and regional transit services and the Transit Center, bike parking,  Boulder Creek Path, Pearl Street Mall, 
and a parking district. However, improvements throughout the area could still be made.

Access and Mobility Elements

Canyon Boulevard: Canyon Boulevard will be enhanced from 9th to 
17th Street to become a complete street, incorporating dedicated 
bike lanes, safe pedestrian environments and more street trees and 
landscaping while still accommodating cars and buses.

Broadway: Reduce Broadway as a barrier by employing design 
elements to improve pedestrian safety at the Arapahoe 
and Canyon intersections. Design treatments similar to 
the special brick pavers used at the Pearl Street Mall 
and Broadway crossing would help to reduce the barrier 
perception while improving safety.

11th Street: 11th Street will be improved to allow 
enhanced physical and visual connectivity from Pearl 
Street to the Civic Area and to the University Hill area. This 
improvement will provide a pedestrian and bike friendly 
corridor that allows visitors to easily access these core 
areas of downtown.

13th Street: 13th Street could be remain unchanged, which 
is open to vehicular traffic except during the Farmers' 
Market, or could be transformed into an urban plaza with 
bike access and a stronger connection to Pearl Street Mall.

14th Street: 14th Street could remain unchanged, or converted 
to transit-only with bike and pedestrian access, or converted to 
a transit and general use street.

Public Transit: Local and regional transit public 
transportation services, including the SKIP, JUMP, DASH, 
BOLT, BX, and AB, will continue to provide access to the Civic 
Area and the Downtown.

Bicycle/Pedestrian: Maintain and expand current bicycle and 
pedestrian pathways to facilitate better circulation as well 
as connections to nearby areas, including Pearl Street Mall, 
Goss/Grove, CU and University Hill.

Goss/Grove Access: Create an east-west bike/pedestrian corridor 
through the Goss/Grove neighborhood starting at 14th Street and 
continuing to 17th Street.

Parking: Over time, the surface parking in the HHZ will be removed 
to improve life safety and to open up more parkland; however, these 
spaces will be replaced with parking structures on either or both the 
west and east end of the Civic Area.

P

P

P

P

P

B

B

P

P

P

Canyon Blvd.

Arapahoe Ave.

To Campus

Boulder
Transit
Center

To Campus

Walnut St.

Pearl St.

Pedestrian Only

Broadway

13Th St.

14Th St.

15Th St.

16Th St.

17Th St.

9Th St. 

11Th St.

10Th St.

B

B

B

New Ped/Bike Connection - Canyon Blvd.

Major Ped/Bike Connection

Boulder Creek Trail - Ped/Bike

Ped/Bike Connection

Internal East/West Connection

Bike Lane

New Ped/Bike Connection - Goss/Grove Access

Existing Parking Structure

B-Cycle Station

Enhanced Ped Crossing

Transit Station and/or Stop

Potential Parking Structure
Boulder Transit Center

Transit Corridor

Potential Transit Corridor

Legend

P

B

P

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 35Packet Page 213



Part 2:    Key Improvements Part 2:   Key Improvements30 31

Key Improvements 
Many different possible elements will enliven the Civic Area and attract 
people and activity. The elements listed below represent potential ways 
to develop the area.

Park at the Core
The green space and beauty along 
Boulder Creek will provide significant 
natural and programmed park spaces 
and will be a "ribbon" that weaves 
together existing and new parks 
facilities.  The park will be active and 
safe, with a rich diversity of civic, 
recreational, artistic and cultural 
amenities and programs. The four major 
focus areas are:

1. The Creek

2. The Civic Front Door

3. Nature in the City

4. Central Park

The Creek: Boulder Creek will continue to be a focal point 
and unifying element running through the park. The creek 
will be enhanced by creating opportunities for access, 
designing viewpoints, maintaining the riparian vegetation 
(in a manner compatible with safety concerns), and varying 
the shoreline treatment with vegetation in some areas and 
terraced rock shores in others.

the idea...

The Civic Front Door: Civic Park north of the creek will 
remain an open, sunny  Great Lawn for gathering and 
unstructured sport, but it will also be newly activated with 
outdoor dining, musical and dance performances, yoga 
and exercise classes, and other events, such as "Picnic in 
the Park."  Seating for a new library cafe will spill out onto 
adjacent terraces.  Food trucks and carts will add culinary 
diversity, while folks enjoy live music and games, like 
ping-pong and chess, and browse demonstration gardens 
and sculpture displays.

Nature in the City: Civic Park south of the creek will be 
a naturalistic, shady refuge that relates to the library, 
and Boulder Creek will be designed with children and 
families in mind.  Improvements will be coordinated with 
the planned renovation and reconfiguration of the library's 
interior space and function, aimed at better integrating 
the interior physically and programmatically with 
nearby outdoor space.  Features may include public art 
enhancing the physical and visual link between outdoor 
and indoor spaces, a nature play tot lot, a children's 
reading garden, a water play sculpture, intimate picnic 
and seating areas among shade trees and along the 
creek, and themed gardens, such as edible, shade or 
xeric/low water.

Central Park: This area is characterized by the historic 
bandshell and several state champion trees that demonstrate 
the history of the park while also providing a park experience 
for the adjacent Farmers' Market along 13th Street.  In the 
near-term, the bandshell programming will be increased to 
encourage an array of performances and cultural activities 
that are multi-generational and attract more visitors to the 
area.  However, due to various constraints determined in the 
current location, the bandshell will be relocated to improve 
the functionality and use of the current site.  This will provide 
opportunities for enhancements to the Farmers' Market 
within the park and a promenade along Canyon Boulevard 
that is complimentary to the future "complete street." This 
relocation will also achieve better visibility through the site 
and increased lawn areas for park uses.

Farmers' Market
The Farmers' Market will continue 
to operate on 13th Street and expand 
to the west and into the Teahouse 
Plaza, improve access and function, 
and possibly extend days or hours of 
operation. 

In 2012, the Farmers' Market celebrated 25 years of 
operation, and it is one of the most notable draws in the Civic 
Area.  It operates on 13th Street on Wednesday afternoons 
and Saturday mornings from April to October. The locally 
grown fresh produce fits Boulder's values for healthy living, 
eating fresh, and supporting local businesses and farmers. 

The city has invested in improvements along 13th Street to 
provide better space for the market stalls.  The Farmers' 
Market, working with the city, is exploring how to better 
provide drop-off/pick-up access for customers, easier access 
for vendors, and closer and more accessible parking. Also 
with the city, it will explore how a year-round "public market 
hall" could complement its mission to provide a marketplace 
for local and Colorado agricultural producers.     

the idea...

Public Market Hall
The public market hall, or food 
hall, may supplement (not replace) 
the outdoor seasonal market on 
13th Street, subject to further 
coordination with the Farmers' 
Market and analysis.  It could be a 
new vertically mixed-use structure or 
repurposed Atrium building.

A public market hall would provide a year-round venue 
for local food and other locally produced goods and 
provide additional space for the Farmers' Market to 
expand during the peak season.  A new building could 
be in the 13th/14th Street block that would complement 
the park uses across the street and enhance the market 
experience within the park.  On 13th Street, it would 
ideally be mixed vertically with other uses.  Additionally, 
the building could be designed for specific market 
needs.  If the market hall were to be located in the Atrium 
building, city offices would have to be relocated, and 
the functionality of the market would be limited by the 
building configuration and size.  The market hall concept 
will be further analyzed by the city in partnership with the 
Farmers' Market. Considerations will include synergy with 
the Farmers' Market function; cost; prospective tenant 
interest, projected market demand and impact; usability 
on non-market days; suitability of adjunct uses; synergy 
with adjacent uses; and access and parking.

the idea...

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 36Packet Page 214



Part 2:    Key Improvements Part 2:   Key Improvements32 33

Bandshell   
 Explore relocating the bandshell 
within the Civic Area or other 
locations that allow increased 
usefulness as an outdoor structure.

The Glen Huntington Bandshell, built in 1938, is a local 
historic landmark and protected under the city's Historic 
Preservation Ordinance.  It is architecturally significant 
as an example of Art Deco architecture in Boulder. Today, 
it faces challenges, including limited programming, worn 
appearance, uncomfortable seating, frequent transient 
occupation, and traffic noise and access challenges for 
performances. The context also has changed significantly 
from the 1930s.  The north end of the bandshell is 
within the 65-foot setback from the centerline of Canyon 
Boulevard, which is needed for creating a "complete 
street" design along Canyon from 9th Street to 16th Street. 
The current location of the bandshell would prohibit 
implementation of a "complete street" between Broadway 
Avenue and 13th Street.

Recent outreach and public involvement has concluded 
that the bandshell is not currently functional and faces 
many challenges relating to its physical location and 
programmatic effectiveness.  Additionally, many proposed 
uses and physical improvements have been identified for 
the current space that is occupied by the bandshell within 
Central Park.  Consideration has been given to relocate the 
bandshell to increase its effectiveness and functionality 
while allowing improvements to the park area in its current 
location.  The community will be further engaged in the 
relocation initiative through an outreach to gather ideas 
and thoughts about its new location and programmatic 
opportunities.  This process will balance the framework of 
historic preservation while achieving the goals outlined by 
the community for the improvement to the Civic Area.

the idea...

Arts, Culture & Science Opportunities
 Continue to explore a blend of 
indoor and outdoor arts, cultural and 
science facilities and spaces as an 
integral and important components of 
the Civic Area, including: 

Permanent and temporary art installations or outdoor 
cultural, arts, and science displays throughout parks;

Ideas to incorporate an art and cultural related 
multi-use event space into at the Civic Use Pad.

Housing the Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art 
(BMoCA) in a new facility, or in an expanded facility at 
its existing location. 

Possible repurposing of the Municipal Building (if city 
facilities are consolidated in new building(s)) for art or 
cultural related uses; and, 

New facilities as an addition to (or as a redevelopment 
of) the north wing of the library.

The community wants new arts, culture, and science in 
the Civic Area and has expressed interest in a community 
events venue for meetings, banquets, reception dinners, 
charitable events, etc.  BMoCA is exploring expansion of 
its facility, either at its current location on 13th Street or 
moving to a new facility within the Civic Area.  Additionally, 
outdoor arts and science are ideas that resonate with the 
community. 

the idea...

Performing Arts Facility
Continue to explore the feasibility 
of a performing arts facility, either 
as an outdoor facility near the 
library or on 13th St. as part of a 
mixed-use complex. A facility may 
generate excitement and should 
reflect emerging trends in arts 
facility programming and usage. 
The demand for and capital and 
operation costs of a facility requires 
further study, as does its projected 
impact on the Downtown and other 
venues in and near Boulder. Any 
facility would need to meet the 
Guiding Principles and performance 
criteria in this plan.

In 2013, a local nonprofit, the Boulder Center for the 
Performing Arts (BCPA), commissioned a feasibility study 
for a performing arts center in Boulder. Their results were 
published in April of 2014. The group expressed preference 
for a mid-sized performing arts center (700-1,200 fixed 
seats) that would be built through a private/public 
partnership on city-owned land. The city's Community 
Cultural Planning process executed in 2014 and 2015 has 
also identified a need within the community for a mid-sized 
performance venue.  An independent analysis of the BCPA 
study commissioned by the City of Boulder suggests that 
the greatest need is for a flexible performance venue of 
approximately 500-700 seats depending upon the program 
expectations of the space.  The independent analysis 
stresses the importance of constructing a technically 
well-equipped venue capable of adapting to future needs 
in order to host multiple types of events. A well-equipped 
flexible venue will be of interest to many in Boulder if it 
has a flexible design capable of hosting large meetings 
and events as well as performances.  The next step is to 
complete a comprehensive business plan for a performing 
arts facility.  Any performance facility must ensure many 
uses to avoid creating an inactive zone when it is not in 
use.

the idea...

Mixed-Use Community Services /  
Innovation and Events Center

 Create a mixed-use community 
services/innovation and events center 
(one or several buildings on the 
13th/14th Street block) as a space 
for public/private collaboration, 
gathering, and celebration through 
events.  Buildings will integrate 
well with outdoor plazas, theatre, 
etc. and exemplify the community's 
sustainability values.  The building 
may accommodate replacement 
of city functions removed from the 
HHZ or any repurposed buildings 
(possibly the Municipal Building and/
or  Atrium), other city functions, and/
or other community needs. 

To optimize day/night uses, any new building should be 
part of a mix of uses, including possibly a vertical mix with 
the public market hall, other small restaurants or cafes, 
community event space, and plazas and outdoor spaces.  
More than 25,000 customers are served each year in seven 
city buildings in the Civic Area (excluding the Main Library 
and Senior Center), and multiple events and meetings occur.  
A center with private incubator space could accommodate 
multiple community needs. 

the idea...

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 37Packet Page 215



Part 2:    Key Improvements Part 2:   Key Improvements34 35

West Senior Center
 Continue to explore the creation 
of a 21st century Senior Center 
consistent with best practices and 
models providing a wider range of 
access for older adults to resources, 
socialization, and continuous 
learning and enrichment.  Explore 
co-location of the center with other 
services, activities, and amenities 
- either in its current location 
(redeveloping existing center) or 
elsewhere, possibly including 
Downtown, close to other services 
and amenities. 

The West Senior Center is west of the library and south 
of Boulder Creek and was built in 1974. The center, a 
16,200 square foot facility, serves 56,400 customers 
a year, including Meals on Wheels, and the city offers 
many other senior programs here.  The Human Services 
Department is currently updating its masterplan, and is 
exploring the senior center's future, consistent with 21st 
century best practices and models.  Often, newer centers 
are co-located with other services (such as for children, 
youth, and families) to be convenient for customers and 
providers.  Additionally, they provide both dedicated 
space for senior adults and flexible, intergenerational 
community space .

the idea...

Structured Parking
 Relocate most surface parking in the Civic 
Area to structured parking on the west and 
east ends.  Some handicapped spaces and 
spaces for seniors may remain near building 
entrances;  however, most parking would 
be in structures designed to be convenient 
and attractive, and to include a mix of 
uses around the outside, similar to other 
downtown parking structures. 

To create a strong pedestrian environment for the Civic Area, 
"just enough" parking spaces will be provided for those who 
chose to arrive by car.  Parking demand is expected to increase 
with the new, additional uses and amenities, increased events 
and programming, and higher park visitorship envisioned by this 
plan.  However, that demand will be minimized to the greatest 
extent possible by providing facilities, services and a physical 
environment that support and encourage walking, biking and 
transit use, and by ensuring that parking spaces are shared by 
uses with different peak periods.  The appropriate number of 
parking spaces and their location will be determined through 
further analysis and discussion, and will take into account: current 
and projected parking supply and demand for specific uses and 
activities at different days, times and seasons, within and adjacent 
to the Civic Area; potential for coordinating uses and sharing 
spaces; pedestrian, bicycle and transit enhancements; floodplain 
issues; site configurations; surrounding street network and 
access; and other factors.

the idea...

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 38Packet Page 216



36 37

Part 3
Implementation and Phasing

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 39Packet Page 217



Part 3: Implementation and Phasing |   StrategiesPart 3: Implementation and Phasing |  Strategies38 39

Strategies
The following strategies will help 
accomplish the plan.

1 Phasing/Prioritization "Roadmap." Key steps 
and phasing will be necessary to sequentially 
and systematically work toward the vision in the 
near-term and over time. (See phasing diagrams on 
pages 42 and 43 for initial prioritization and phasing.)

2 Coordination. Using designated staff coordinators 
and other staff within the city to work across city 
departments and with community partners to 
carry out the plan (e.g., nonprofit organizations, 
such as the Farmers' Market and BMoCA, private 
land owners and developers, and others, such as 
the Ocean Coalition, Bridge House and Boulder 
Chamber). See sidebar on right for further details.

3 Detailed Planning and Design. Develop detailed site 
plans for certain parts of the Civic Area (e.g., site 
plan for the core park, for the East and West Ends 
and for the future Canyon Boulevard). Further engage 
the community and boards and commissions to 
review and give feedback on detailed plans. Develop 
cost estimates for infrastructure and improvements.

4 Investment Strategy. Identify a comprehensive 
portfolio of financing tools and development 
structures to pay for capital improvements in 
phases and identify ongoing operations and 
maintenance funds. The financial and investment 
strategy could include any combination of:

 public financing through voter-approved bonds or 
sales tax;

private financing;

 districts such as general improvement districts, 
metropolitan districts and others;

 endowments;

certificates of participation (COPs);

General Fund and Capital Improvement Program 
(CIP) alignment of priorities;

public improvement fees;

state and federal grants (e.g., state Great Outdoors 
Colorado funds for parks and open space, and 
National Endowment for the Arts);

urban renewal financing; and,

crowd source funding.

The proposed land uses and ownership (e.g., 
private or public) to some degree determine what 
kind of financing strategies (financing tools and 
organizational structures) might be applicable.

5 Land Use Code Update. If the Land Use Code 
is inconsistent with the desired plan, update 
standards as necessary to incentivize or limit 
certain types of development.

6 Programs and Activities. Collaborate with 
appropriate partners to expand existing programs 
and activities or create new programs consistent 
with the Plan's vision and principles (e.g., 
programming new facilities, expanding flood 
education, and/or creating work opportunities for 
people who are homeless).

7 Construction. Following detailed site planning 
and engineering, construct infrastructure, street 
improvements, art, informational pieces, park 
improvements or structures, and buildings.

Partnerships: Cooperate with non-profit and 
service organizations to ensure that in 
all programming or built spaces, there 
are options for people of all incomes and 
abilities to use the space or participate in 
events together. As spaces are redeveloped 
or reprogrammed, enable ways to create 
space for service provision even if it is not a 
direct city-provided service.

Maintenance and Operations: Develop on-going 
community-oriented maintenance activities 
for the Civic Area. Develop regular ways to 
involve community members in clean-up 
and maintenance and to build civic pride 
and cooperation. Engender a different way 
of thinking about this area throughout the 
community. For example, have an on-going 
clean up paid program for low-income or 
homeless residents, possibly sponsored by 
the business community, and also structure 
regular times for full community projects.

A mix of uses will take a mix of strategies. For 
example some options may be:

Arts/Culture/Parks: private/public shared 
financing, supplemented with grants

City facilities: public financing 
supplemented with private development and 
city leasing

Offices or retail: private/public partnership, 
city lease or sale

Parking Structure: Central Area General 
Improvement District (CAGID) and user fees

Housing: private, public-private partnership, 
possible trust, lease/sale by city

Examples of Partners

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 40Packet Page 218



Part 3: Implementation and Phasing |   Phasing PlanPart 3: Implementation and Phasing |  Phasing Plan40 41

10
th St.

9
th St.

11
th st.

B
roadw

ay

13
th St.

14
th St.

15
th St.

16
th St. 17

th St.

Canyon Blvd.

Arapahoe Ave.

Legend

Parks & Plazas Implemented

Planning

Phase 1

Access & Mobility Implemented

Phasing Plan
The diagrams that follow identify the likely phasing and timing to implement the plan. This phasing plan is 
preliminary and depends on the availability of funding sources (public, private and other). The phases are broken 
into the following approximate time periods:

Phase 1: 2016 - 2018

Completed in a previous phase

10
th St.

9
th St.

11
th st.

B
roadw

ay

13
th St.

14
th St.

15
th St.

16
th St. 17

th St.

Canyon Blvd.

Arapahoe Ave.

Legend

Buildings Implemented

Parks & Plazas Implemented

Access & Mobility Implemented

Phase 2

Planning

Phase 2: 2018 - 2023

10
th St.

9
th St.

11
th st.

B
roadw

ay

13
th St.

14
th St.

15
th St.

16
th St. 17

th St.

Canyon Blvd.

Arapahoe Ave.

Legend

Buildings Implemented

Parks & Plazas Implemented

Access & Mobility Implemented

Phase 3

Planning

Completed in a previous phase

Phase 3: 2023+

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 41Packet Page 219



Part 3: Implementation and Phasing |  Implementation Roles42

Purview 
(as it relates to Civic Area)

Implementation Role 

City Council Whole plan; decisions 
about city-owned land and 
facilities 

Approval of any proposals related to city-owned land, 
facilities or financing; approval of any plan amendments

Arts Commission Art in public places, role of 
arts in the Civic Area 

Direction on public art and refinement of strategies related 
to arts 

Boulder Design  
Advisory Board 

Urban design Input on urban design for any new buildings or major 
changes to existing buildings

Downtown 
Management 
Commission

Parking and development 
in CAGID (Central Area 
General Improvement 
District, a.k.a. Downtown)

Input on parking implementation that affects Downtown, 
advice on parking strategies, approve any changes to CAGID

Human Relations 
Commission

Inclusiveness, homeless Advice on fostering inclusiveness, particularly as it relates to 
the homeless population, in proposed programs and designs

Landmarks Board Historic preservation and 
review of landmarked 
structure

Review of any landmark alteration permit, including moving 
bandshell or alterations to other area landmarks, or other 
proposals that emerge related to historic preservation during 
the implementation of the plan

Library 
Commission

Library Master Plan and 
any overlapping aspects 

Approval for any changes to the library and input on any 
changes adjacent to or affecting the library

Parks and 
Recreation 
Advisory Board

Parks planning, greenways, 
parks function

Advice on site planning and choices about activating the park

Planning Board Land use changes (private 
land)

Approval of any land use changes to private properties  (in 
the vicinity, and  any public or private development) review 
application in the area that normally requires zoning changes 
and/or Planning Board approvals

Transportation  
Advisory Board

Transportation and 
connections

Input on transportation connections and improvements, such 
as Canyon "complete street" design, recommendation on any 
Transportation Master Plan changes that affect the area

Water Resources 
Advisory Board

Changes to the floodplain Input on creek improvements and any proposed flood 
mitigation

City Council & Board/Commission 
Implementation Roles
Additional guidance from City Council and the boards and commissions with purview in the Civic Area 
will be needed to implement this plan. This table describes their roles.

Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Master Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 42Packet Page 220



CREEK VALLEY HYBRID- SITE PLAN

1

4

2

3 6

8

8

8

7

c

10 9
12

13

13

a

a

a

b

c

d

13

11

5

8

14

Limit of Near-Term 
Improvements

Complete Street ROW

Complete Street ROW

Canyon

Canyon

Arapahoe

B
roadw

ay

9th

13th

14th

11th

Arapahoe

a

b

c

d

Promenade

Picnic Plaza

Possible Location for 
Relocated Bandshell

Expanded Farmer’s 
Market Park Loop

1

9

Creek Lawn

2 Cafe Terrace

Oak Grove

3

10

Performance Hill

Seasonal Farmer’s 
Market Structure

4

11

Creek Walk/Terrace

5 Cherry Tree Plaza

6 11th Street Spine

Peformance Area

7

8

11th Street Spine 
Bridge

Nature Play

12

13

14

Oak Market Plaza

Transit Plaza
Restroom Building
Opportunity

46 parking spaces 
relocated

19 parking spaces 
relocated

Boulder Civic Area - Site Plan Concept
2015.04.30

Attachment B:Updated Park Site Plan Attachment B - Updated Park Site Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 43Packet Page 221



CREEK VALLEY HYBRID - MASTER PLAN

1

4

2

3

6

8

8

8

7

a

b

e
f

9
12

13

15

17

20

21
21

21

21

19

19

16

13

a

a

13

11

5

8

14

18

18

Peformance Area

10

Seasonal Farmer’s 
Market Structure

Possible Location for 
Relocated Bandshell
Expanded Farmer’s 
Market Park Loop

c

d

Boulder Civic Area - Site Plan Concept
2015.04.30

a

b

c

d

e

f

Promenade

Picnic Plaza

Ecological 
Playground
Possible Existing Gas 
Station Relocation 

1

9

Creek Lawn

2 Cafe Terrace

Oak Grove

3

10

Performance Hill

4

11

Creek Walk/Terrace

5 Cherry Tree Plaza

6 11th Street Spine

7

8

11th Street Spine 
Bridge

Nature Play

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

Oak Market Plaza

Transit Plaza
Restroom Building
Opportunity

Great Lawn

Stage Terrace

Event Hill

Park Support Building

Wetland Garden

Pedestrian Bridge

Site for Structured Parking

Limit of Near-Term 
Improvements

Complete Street ROW

Complete Street ROW

Canyon

Canyon

Arapahoe

B
roadw

ay

9th

13th

14th

11th

Arapahoe

Attachment B - Updated Park Site Plan

Agenda Item 5B     Page 44Packet Page 222



!(!(!(
!(
!(!(!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(!(
!(
!(!(!(

!(
!(

!(

Municipal Services Center
Park Maintenance
Fleet Services, Old BES Building

75th St Wastewater
Treatment Center

Center Green Dr

N Boulder Rec

S Boulder Rec

Public Safety
Building

OSMP Annex

63rd St Water
Treatment Plant

George Reynolds
Library

OSMP-Cherryvale

Iris Center

CYF

Municpal Court
See Inset

East Boulder 
Community Center

Betasso WTP

Fire Station 4

Creekside Elementary Manhattan MS

Meadows Library

Fire Station 2

Fire Station 7

Flatirons Golf Course

Fire Station 5

Fire Station 1

Crestview Elementary

Library-North Boulder Annex

Fire Station 3

Columbine Elementary

Whittier Elementary

OEM

Airport

Valmont Park

University Hill Elem

Police Annex

Boulder
Reservoir

Fire Station 6

Fire Station 8

B
ro

ad
w

ay

Jay Rd

Baseline Rd

Pearl Py

Arapahoe Av
Canyon Bv

Le
hi

gh
 S

t

55
th

 S
t

Balsam Av

Valmont Rd

Diag
on

al 
Hy

Table Mesa Dr

Iris Av

Lookout Rd

South Boulder Rd

76
th

 S
t

Mineral Rd

Fo
ot

hi
lls

H
y

US Hwy 36

S

Broadway

Marshall Rd

Foothills Py

N
 F

oo
th

ill
s 

H
w

17
th

 S
t

30 th
S

t

S
C

h e
rr

yv
al

e
R

d

28
th

 S
t

Fo
ls

om
 S

t

O
ld

e
S

ta
ge

R
d

63
rd

 S
t

Lee Hill Dr

75
th

 S
t

Boulder
Reservoir

!(

!(!(

!(

!(
!( !(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!( !(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

New 
Britain

Broadw
ay

MainLibrary
North

11th & 
Spruce

1301 Arapahoe

1720 14th

Police
Annex

DUHMD
Parking

West
Senior
Center

Park
Central

Atrium

FAM

Main
Library

Carnegie
Library

Municipal
Building

14th St

11th St

16th St

Arapahoe Ave

Pearl St

Canyon BvWalnut St

9th
St

Spruce St

11th St

10th St

15th St

Inset Map- Downtown

!( City Work Location

!( Proposal to Worksite

City OSMP

City Park

City of Boulder Facilities
Attachment C: Map of City of Boulder Facilities Attachment C - Map of City of Boulder Facilities

Agenda Item 5B     Page 45Packet Page 223



Trestle Strategy Group’s

City of Boulder Space Needs 
Analysis and Relocation Study

June 2015

Attachment D:  City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, 
June 2015

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 46Packet Page 224



2 TresTle sTraTegy group

TABLE OF CONTENTS
1. OVERVIEW 3

A. Purpose 3
B. Methodology 4

2. ANALYSIS 4

A. Existing Conditions 4
Space Needs 4
Locations Evaluated  5
City Lease Space 6 

B. Department Categorization 6
C. Affinities  6
D. Boulder Community Hospital (BCH) 7
E. Scenarios 8 

3. APPENDIX 10

A. List of Divisions and Buildings Evaluated in this Study 10
B. City Staff Count and Square Footage Spreadsheet 11

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 47Packet Page 225



3TresTle sTraTegy group

1. Overview

A. Purpose
The City of Boulder has an immediate need for additional space for multiple departments 
across the city.  Several space reallocation and expansion solutions have been explored 
and implemented over the last 5 years resulting in short-term solutions that do not 
meet the long term space needs of the city. Additionally, current city facilities are 
lacking adequate space to accommodate the needs of the public, including lobby areas, 
meeting/community spaces, accessibility, and wayfinding. The City of Boulder’s Civic Area 
Master Plan also identified the Civic Area as the primary location for city management 
and government and recognizes the opportunity to improve life and property safety by 
removing existing city buildings (New Britain and Park Central) from the High Hazard Flood 
Zone (HHZ). The existing opportunity to purchase the Boulder Community Health (BCH) 
Broadway property for civic use presents an opportunity for the city to relocate several 
departments in a more efficient manner, while providing improved customer service and  
improved employee interactions. 

The City of Boulder hired Trestle Strategy Group (Trestle) to conduct a Space Needs Analysis 
and Relocation Scenario Study of the City of Boulder’s various departments in relation to 
the available BCH Broadway site. The work completed for this space study was done in 
conjunction with the Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment 
report and the Space Needs Assessment 
of City of Boulder’s Municipal Court, 
which were also completed by Trestle 
in June 2015.  This Space Needs 
Analysis and Relocation Scenario Study 
identifies the total space needs of 28 
city departments that could potentially 
move to a future campus location 
(either Civic Center or BCH Broadway 
Property). The goal of this study is to 
create potential relocation scenarios 
for further discussion and evaluation 
by City Council at the June 16, 2015 
City Council meeting. 

Study Results:
• Quantified existing and future

space needs for 28 divisions in the
city

• Created categorizations based on
level of public interface and service
delivery, including downtown
anchor services

!(!(!(
!(
!(!(!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(!(
!(
!(!(!(

!(
!(

!(

Municipal Services Center
Park Maintenance
Fleet Services, Old BES Building

75th St Wastewater
Treatment Center

Center Green Dr

N Boulder Rec

S Boulder Rec

Public Safety
Building

OSMP Annex

63rd St Water
Treatment Plant

George Reynolds
Library

OSMP-Cherryvale

Iris Center

CYF

Municpal Court
See Inset

East Boulder 
Community Center

Betasso WTP

Fire Station 4

Creekside Elementary Manhattan MS

Meadows Library

Fire Station 2

Fire Station 7

Flatirons Golf Course

Fire Station 5

Fire Station 1

Crestview Elementary

Library-North Boulder Annex

Fire Station 3

Columbine Elementary

Whittier Elementary

OEM

Airport

Valmont Park

University Hill Elem

Police Annex

Boulder
Reservoir

Fire Station 6

Fire Station 8

B
ro

ad
w

ay

Jay Rd

Baseline Rd

Pearl Py

Arapahoe Av
Canyon Bv

Le
hi

gh
 S

t

55
th

 S
t

Balsam Av

Valmont Rd

Diag
on

al 
Hy

Table Mesa Dr

Iris Av

Lookout Rd

South Boulder Rd

76
th

 S
t

Mineral Rd

Fo
ot

hi
lls

H
y

US Hwy 36

S

Broadway

Marshall Rd

Foothills Py

N
 F

oo
th

ill
s 

H
w

17
th

 S
t

30 th
S

t

S
C

h e
rr

yv
al

e
R

d

28
th

 S
t

Fo
ls

om
 S

t

O
ld

e
S

ta
ge

R
d

63
rd

 S
t

Lee Hill Dr

75
th

 S
t

Boulder
Reservoir

!(

!(!(

!(

!(
!( !(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!( !(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

New 
Britain

Broadw
ay

MainLibrary
North

11th & 
Spruce

1301 Arapahoe

1720 14th

Police
Annex

DUHMD
Parking

West
Senior
Center

Park
Central

Atrium

FAM

Main
Library

Carnegie
Library

Municipal
Building

14th St

11th St

16th St

Arapahoe Ave

Pearl St

Canyon BvWalnut St

9th
St

Spruce St

11th St

10th St

15th St

Inset Map- Downtown

!( City Work Location

!( Proposal to Worksite

City OSMP

City Park

City of Boulder Facilities

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 48Packet Page 226



4 TresTle sTraTegy group

• Assigned workgroups and departments to future locations based on affinities,
functionality and service delivery

• Developed three scenarios for future campus configurations

B. Methodology
To gain a full understanding of the specific needs of the City of Boulder, Trestle met with 
City of Boulder Facilities and Fleet Manager Joe Castro, the Boulder Civic Area Steering 
Committee, consisting of Joanna Crean and Sam Assefa, and Kady Doelling of the City’s 
Parks & Recreation Department to learn about the operational characteristics and public 
interactions of the City’s various departments and to identify which departments can and 
cannot be relocated. Trestle received space department staff counts and existing facility 
square footage figures to conduct future space needs analysis using a 10% growth rate 
and 15% vacancy rate. 

As highlighted in the August 2013 Civic Area Master Plan, the first guiding principle is the 
“civic heart of Boulder” meaning that the Civic Area will serve as the primary location for 
city management and government.  To ensure a downtown presence was maintained by 
the City of Boulder, departments were grouped into three categories to determine the 
level of public interface each one has and to give guidance on where future siting could 
occur. Additionally, some departments, regardless of their public interface categorization, 
were highlighted as Downtown Anchors. These anchors are socially expected to maintain 
a downtown Civic Area presence. 

Scenarios were developed in collaboration with the Steering Committee. These scenarios 
use a combination of four different existing and future building locations in Boulder: 
• The existing Municipal Building
• The existing downtown Civic Area West Bookend site
• The 13th/14th Street Block on the East Bookend of the Downtown Civic Area
• The BCH Broadway Property

2. Analysis

A. Existing Conditions
Space Needs
This space needs assessment evaluates the space needs of 28 divisions and 14 buildings 
that are currently located downtown or could provide services in a municipal campus 
setting (Parks and Rec, OSMP, Fire Admin).  Facilities that were excluded from this study 
include recreation centers, fire and police stations, libraries, wastewater and water 
treatment plants, and other facilities or community assets that are either essential to 
their existing location or are immobile. 28 divisions were identified as relocation eligible 
to improve both working conditions and operational efficiencies. These divisions  currently 
operate out of 185,000 SF; however, the space needs total roughly 220,000 square feet 
(SF), without analyzing efficiencies. For a full listing of the divisions that were evaluated in 
this space study, please see Appendix B.

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 49Packet Page 227



5TresTle sTraTegy group

There is an immediate need for additional space for downtown employees. In particular, 
there is a need for additional space for the current occupants of the Municipal Building. 
Expanded program management and community enhancements have stimulated the 
addition of staff in several departments currently located at the Municipal Building. These 
include City Attorney Office staff associated with the municipalization effort and other 
council priorities, as well as sales tax and licensing staff associated with marijuana licensing. 
Over the past several years, there has been an ongoing process of small renovation projects 
aimed at providing workspaces. As a result, meeting rooms have been repurposed and 
common areas have been reduced. At this time, there is simply no available space to 
expand. A previous plan provided to City Council to expand into the lobby and add five 
office stations will now not meet staffing needs.

Specific space needs for the City of Boulder include:
• Customer service areas
• Public meeting and training rooms
• Support space
• Office/work rooms

Locations Evaluated
1. The existing Municipal Building – The landmarked Municipal Building located at 1777

Broadway was built in 1951. This 23,657 SF building includes the City Managers Office
and the City Attorneys Office, as well as the Finance, Utility Billing, and Central Records
Department.

2. The existing downtown Civic Area West Bookend site – The West Bookend consists
of the West Senior Center and the Main Library on both side of Boulder Creek.  The
Human Services Department, Channel 8 and Communications, and library operations
all function in the West Bookend.

3. The 13th/14th Street Block on the East Bookend of the Downtown Civic Area - Located
from 13th St to 14th St between Canyon Boulevard and Arapahoe Avenue, the East
Bookend includes the Atrium Building, the Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art,
the Dushanbe Teahouse, 1720 13th, and 1301 Arapahoe. Housing, Economic Vitality,
Finance-Risk management, Parks and Recreation, and Public Works operate in the East
Bookend.

4. The BCH Broadway Property  - The BCH facility located in central Boulder is currently
for sale. This includes the facility located at 1100 Balsam Ave (main hospital), 1155
Alpine (the connected Medical Pavilion building), and 2655 Broadway (the adjacent
parking structure consisting of 391 parking spaces).  The entire facility consists of
roughly 323,575 SF; however, only 293,111 SF is estimated to be capable of being
converted to usable/functional office space.  Boulder County assesses the value of
the property at $50.6 million. BCH is currently configured to operate as a hospital and
will require various levels of rehabilitation to convert to city office space. In addition
to these three parcels, BCH has lasted for sale 1136 Alpine, which includes a 22,107 SF
medical office building and associated parking, and two small lots at 1125 North and
1135 North Street, which includes a small house and parking. These properties were
not included in this analysis.

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 50Packet Page 228



6 TresTle sTraTegy group

City Leased Space
The City of Boulder currently leases 43,106 (SF) of space in 3 buildings for several 
departments that were evaluated in this study, including Fire Administration, IT, Human 
Resources, Information Resources, C&PS Finance, ROW Inspectors, and Municipal Court. 
By relocating the departments out of the three eligible leased buildings, the City of 
Boulder could save roughly $916,000 annually. The City is currently considering leasing 
another 5,300 SF for $230,000 annually. The City of Boulder’s Municipal Court currently 
leases space in the Boulder County Justice Center. The City has been made aware of the 
County space needs both for the near term and longer-term, which require planning for 
the potential relocation of City uses. 

B. Department Categorization
The departments that were recognized as candidates to be relocated were categorized 
into three different groups based on their level of interaction with the general public. 
These three categories were:

1. Community Services - Provides broad community service to all members of the
public

2. Business Services - Provides business service to the public
3. Internal Services - Provides business services to city employees

Additionally, Downtown Anchors were identified as core City services that would remain 
in the Downtown Civic Area to support the “civic heart of Boulder.”

C. Affinities
Several strong relationships exist between departments that must be considered in the 

West Bookend

East Bookend

City of Boulder Civic Area and identified East and West Bookends. 

West Bookend

East Bookend

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 51Packet Page 229



7TresTle sTraTegy group

relocation of city workgroups. These relationships, or affinities, are essential to maintaining 
strong and efficient operations that support the greater Boulder community in a wide 
variety of ways. Key affinities include:
• Public works  and engineering
• Transportation and utilities
• CMO, CAO, City Council, and central records
• Human services and senior services
• Channel 8 and communications
• Building permits, community planning, and permits
• Housing and community planning
• LEAD and energy future

D. Boulder Community Hospital (BCH) 
The possibility of purchasing and re-purposing the BCH Broadway facility presents the 
opportunity of consolidating some City staff into one large location, less than  one mile 
from the downtown Civic Area. Re-purposing the BCH facility or building a new facility on 
the site would create a North Campus for City employees, improve working conditions, 
create efficiencies, provide ample space for existing and future needs, and promote 
accessibility and a one-stop experience for the public. 

To conduct a thorough analysis, Trestle simultaneously conducted a Cost Analysis for the 
rehabilitation of the BCH Broadway campus. The purpose of the analysis was to provide 
a summary of the costs to convert the nearly vacant hospital to functional office space.  
In summary, Trestle’s Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment 
report identified:
• $50.6 million assessed value (based on Boulder County Assessor) for the entire hospital

and adjacent parking structure 
• Different tiers (level of work) of rehabilitation are required throughout the building

Community Services Business Services Internal Services
City Council Chambers & 

Chambers Offices * Building Permits City Attorney's Office *

City Manager's Office * Central Records Channel 8
Library Housing Communications

Municipal Court LEAD/Energy Services Finance
Human Services Fire Administration Human Resources
Senior Services Open Space Administration Information Technology

City Clerk's Office * Parks & Rec Administration Information Resources
Permits

Community Planning
Public Works
Engineering

Sales Tax & Licensing
Utility Billing

Below is table categorizing City departments. An * indicates a Downtown Anchor.

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 52Packet Page 230



8 TresTle sTraTegy group

depending on the current conditions of a specific space (not floor level)
• Approximately 293,111 SF of 323,575 SF was recognized as usable SF, or capable of

being converted to office use
• The Medical Pavilion, consisting of roughly 64,040 SF, could most easily be adapted to

suit the City’s immediate needs

E. Scenarios
Three different relocation scenarios were developed that incorporate the existing 
Downtown Civic Area, the East and West Bookend, and BCH. These scenarios identify 
where each department would be located, the total square footage at each location, and 
the associated costs needed to either develop or redevelop the facility. The graphic on 
the next page summarizes each scenario, including the location of each city division, the 
cost estimate, and a summary of additional space available for future uses. The three 
identified scenarios are:

1. North Campus
2. East Campus + BCH Pavilion
3. Split Campus + Muni (Community Use)

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 53Packet Page 231



9TresTle sTraTegy group

DRAFT JUNE 8, 2015

23,600 23,600 23,600 23,600 23,600
CMO, CAO, City Council CMO, CAO, City Council Muni Courts Community Space Community Space

143,635 39,123 39,123
CMO CMO CMO
CAO CAO CAO

Energy Future/LEAD City Council City Council
Public Works/Engin. Muni Courts Muni Courts

P&DS
Housing
OSMP

Building Permits
Central Records

Permits
Sales Tax & Licensing

Utility Billing

Parks & Rec

16,200 16,200 16,200 16,200 16,200

23,600 23,600 167,235 62,723 62,723

BCH Rehab BCH New Build Pavilion Rehab BCH Rehab BCH New Build
195,538 195,538 63,503 180,015 180,015

Muni Courts Muni Courts Communications Building Permits Building Permits
Building Permits Building Permits Channel 8 Central Records Central Records
Central Records Central Records HR, IT Energy Future/LEAD Energy Future/LEAD

Energy Future/LEAD Energy Future/LEAD Fire Admin Fire Admin Fire Admin
Fire Admin Fire Admin IR OSMP OSMP

OSMP OSMP Finance P&R P&R
P&R P&R Permits Permits

Permits Permits Community Planning Community Planning
Community Planning Community Planning Public Works/Engin. Public Works/Engin.
Public Works/Engin. Public Works/Engin. Sales Tax & Licensing Sales Tax & Licensing

Sales Tax & Licensing Sales Tax & Licensing Utility Billing Utility Billing
Utility Billing Utility Billing Housing Housing

Housing Housing Channel 8 Channel 8
Channel 8 Channel 8 Communications Communications

Communications Communications Finance Finance
Finance Finance HR, IT, IR HR, IT, IR 

HR, IT, IR HR, IT, IR 

97,573 537 113,096
Leasable Space Leasable Space Leasable Space

293,111 195,538 64,040 293,111 180,015

316,711 219,138 231,275 355,834 242,738

n/a n/a $66,585,250 $18,080,450 $18,080,450
Parking $9,131,250 $2,431,250 $2,431,250

New Construction $57,454,000 $15,649,200 $15,649,200

BCH Rehab BCH New Build Pavilion Rehab BCH Rehab BCH New Build
$94,918,135 $83,068,825 $13,903,084 $94,918,135 $76,859,625

Demolition $4,853,625 $4,853,625
New Construction $78,215,200 $72,006,000

$50,600,000 $50,600,000 $50,600,000 $50,600,000 $50,600,000

$145,518,135 $133,668,825 $131,088,334 $163,598,585 $145,540,075

$459 $610 $567 $460 $600

* Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 8, 2015, estimates approximately 293,111 usable square feet within BCH hospital buildings. 

NOTES:
 $      400.00 

323.83$       
217.10$       
25,000$       
15.00$         

East Bookend 
(New Building)

New parking for East Bookend building is calculated at 1 space per 400 sf, and new parking construction is estimated at $25,000/space above ground
Demolition of BCH building is calculated at $15/sf

East Bookend Cost

Total SF

Price/SF

Total Cost per Scenario

BCH Assessed Value

 BCH Cost

2. East Campus + 
BCH Pavilion 3. Split Campus + Repurposed Muni

Future Scenarios: Overview

West Bookend
Human Services, Senior Services, CYF 

(all scenarios)

Scenario:
C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
Municipal Building

1. North Campus

BCH Pavilion Rehab (includes costs for demolition of remaining building)

* Medical Pavilion Only
 Demo Remaining Building

* Medical Pavilion Only 
Demo Remaining Building

Civic Area Total SF

North Campus Total SF

B
ou

ld
er

 C
om

m
un

ity
 H

os
pi

ta
l*

BCH

Unused BCH Space

New construction costs estimated at $400/SF
BCH Rehab costs estimated at $323

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 54Packet Page 232



10 TresTle sTraTegy group

3. Appendix
A. List of Divisions and Building Evaluated in this Study

Divisions
• Finance
• Utility Billing
• CMO
• CAO
• Central Records
• Public Works
• CP&S
• Transportation
• Housing
• Economic Vitality
• Parks & Recreation
• Finance - Risk Management
• Public Works
• Engineering
• Building/ROW Inspectors
• Municipal Court
• HR
• IT
• Fire Administration
• IR
• Human Services
• MOW
• Library
• Channel 8
• Communications
• OSMP

Buildings
• Municipal Building
• Park Central
• New Britain
• Atrium
• 1301 Arapahoe
• 1720 13th Street
• 1720 14th Street
• Boulder County Justice Center
• Center Green
• West Senior Center
• 2160 Spruce Street
• Main Library - North
• Library - Carnegie Branch
• Library - George Reynolds Branch
• Library - Meadows Branch
• Library - North Boulder Annex
• 1401 Walnut Street
• 1104 Spruce
• Iris Center
• Cherryvale Open Space Operations

Center
• Open Space & Mountain Parks Annex

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 55Packet Page 233



11TresTle sTraTegy group

B. City Staff Count and Square Footage Spreadsheet

2"Jun"15

Location Address -Square-
footage-

Divisions-located-within Public-services-provided

#-of-Staff-
(not-

including-
vacancies*)

Functional-Services Category Civic-Area Civic-Area-or-
BCH

North-Campus-(BCH) OffGCampusGOther

1("(Community
2("Business/Commercial(

Services
3("(Internal(Service

((((((((((((((23,657( 86

CMO 2 ((((((((((((((((((((((((((9,720(

23 CAO 3 ((((((((((((((((((((((((10,800(

((((((((((((((((1,220( Central(Records 2 (((((((((((((((((1,500(

Finance( 3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((14,400(

UTB 2 (((((((((((((((((1,600(

2 Future(Leased(Space tbd ((((((((((((((((5,300(tbd tbd

3 Park(Central(Building 1739(Broadway ((((((((((((((20,910(PW,(CP&S Planning(review,(Building(
Permits

93 All(Park(Central 2 (((((((((((((((33,480(

CP&S((Energy(Future/LEAD) 2 (((((((((((((((((6,000(

Trans(Engr;(PW(Admin 3 (((((((((((((((((8,000(

Housing 2 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((((5,400(
Econ(Vitality 2 (((((((((((((((((1,440(

Civic(Area 3 ((((((((((((((((((((((((((1,080(
6 1301(Arapahoe 1301(Arapahoe ((((((((((((((((2,080(Finance"Risk(Management 5 Risk(Mgmt 3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((((1,500(

20

14 FAM 3 (Relocate(to(MSC(
6 Parks(Maintenance 3 2000

8 1720(14th(Street 1720(14th(Street ((((((((((((((((4,429(CP&S(Finance;(Building/ROW(
Inspectors

16 CP&S/PW(Finance(and(
Inspectors

3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((((5,000(

9 Justice(Center((Muni(Court) 1777(6th(Street ((((((((((((((((7,587(Municipal(Court;(Prosecutors Municipal(court 24 Muni(Court 1 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((12,000(
10 Center(Green 3065(Center(Green(Drive ((((((((((((((31,000(HR,(IT,(Fire,(IR Fire(plans(review 108 All(Center(Green 3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((31,000(

Human(Services 1 tbd
MOW tenant tbd

12 Children,(Youth,(And(Family(Services 2160(Spruce(Street ((((((((((((((((5,215(Human(Services CYF 14 CYF 1 tbd
13 Main(Library 1001(Arapahoe ((((((((((((((84,760(Library/Arts( Library 74 Library(/(Arts 1 Stay(in"place

14 Main(Library"north(section 1000(Canyon(Boulevard ((((((((((((((((3,185(Channel(8,(Communications 12 Channel(8(/(
Communications

3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((((7,520(

15 Library("(Carnegie(Branch 1125(Pine(Street ((((((((((((((((5,610(Library 3 1 Stay(in"place
16 Library("(George(Reynolds(Branch 3595(Table(Mesa(Drive ((((((((((((((10,371(Library 6 1 Stay(in"place
17 Library("(Meadows(Branch 4800(Baseline ((((((((((((((((7,812(Library 6 1 Stay(in"place
18 Library("(North(Boulder(Annex 4600(Broadway (((((((((((((((((((570(Library 0 1 Stay(in"place

19 D(U(H(M(D/(Parking(Services 1401(Walnut(Street (((((((((((100,000(DUHMD For(special(event,(mall(and(
parking(permits

44 2/3 Stay(in"place

20 11th(&(Spruce 1104(Spruce (((((((((((159,236(DUHMD 3 1 Stay(in"place

21 Iris(Center 3198(Broadway ((((((((((((((16,372(Parks(and(Recreation Reduced(Rate,(Shelter(
Rentals,(Class(registration

31 P&R(Staff 2/3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((11,160(

22 Cherryvale(Open(Space(Operations(Center 66(S(Cherryvale(Road ((((((((((((((10,436(OSMP 77 2/3 (((((((((((((((27,720(
*(Average(vacancy(rate(for(the(city(at(any(given(time(is(13"
15%

Civic-Area Civic-Area-or-
BCH

North-Campus-(BCH) Muni-Court Total-Space-Need

Space-Needs-Totals-
(Min)

------------------------23,600- (((((((((((((((79,740( ---------------------------76,780- 12,000

G-Add-15%-due-to-
vacancies

------------------------27,140- (((((((((((((((91,701( ---------------------------88,297- 12,000 219,138 

Scenario North-Campus-(BCH)
Muni(Building East(Bookend West(Bookend

23,600 0 16,200 (((((((((((((((((((((((((195,538(
CMO,(CAO,(City(
Council

Human(Services,(
Senior(Services,(CYF

23,600((((((((((((((((((((((( 143,635(((((((((((( 16,200 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((63,503(

Muni(Courts Human(Services,(
Senior(Services,(CYF

((((((((((((((((((((((((23,600( (((((((((((((((39,123( 16,200 (((((((((((((((((((((((((180,015(

Community(Space Human(Services,(
Senior(Services,(CYF

1(North(Campus

2(East(Campus(+(BCH(
Pavilion

3(Split(Campus(+(
Muni((Comm.(Use)

Finance/UTB/CMO(((((((((
CMO/CAO/Central(Records

Utility(billing,(green(tag,(
dog(licensing,(sales(tax,(

MMJ,(RMJ,(Central(
Records,(City(Clerk

Public(Works,(P&R,(Conf(Room

CP&S,(Transportation4

5

7

((((((((((((((12,392( 19
Housing;(Economic(Vitality,(

Civic(Area,(P&R Housing,(EV

1720(13th,(Unit(N ((((((((((((((((5,750(

909(Arapahoe(Avenue

1

New(Britain(Building 1101(Arapahoe(Avenue ((((((((((((((13,851( 32

11 ((((((((((((((16,188( 15Human(Services,(MOW Senior(services,(MOW

Civic-Area

Future-Scenarios-for-North-Campus-at-BCH-G-DRAFT
Recommended(SF(and(Location

Municipal(Building

Atrium(Building

Building(Maintenance((FAM)(/(Parks(Maintenance((P&R)

West(Senior(Center

1777(Broadway

1300(Canyon(Boulevard

Attachment D - City of Boulder Space Needs Analysis and Relocation Study, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 56Packet Page 234



Trestle Strategy Group’s

Boulder Community Hospital

Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment

June 2015

Attachment E: Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, 
June 2015 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 57Packet Page 235



2 TRESTLE STRATEGY GROUP

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. OVERVIEW 3

A. Purpose 3

B. Existing Conditions 4
Usable Area Analysis 4

2. COST ESTIMATES 5

A. Hard Costs 5
Cost Model (Options 0 through 3) 5
Basic Demolition & Reconstruction 5
Pricing Tiers 6
Allowances 7
Contractor’s Fees 8

B. Soft Costs 9
Assessed Value 9

Permitting & Review Fees 9
Special Inspections & Testing 9
Commissioning 9
City & County Sales & Use Tax 9
Contingency 9
A/E Fees 10
Entitlement 10
Miscellaneous Development Fees 10

3. APPENDIX 10

McKinstry Consulting Draft Report A
Options 0 - 3: Pricing Spreadsheet B
Usable Area Plans C
Tiered Pricing Area Plans D
Future Scenarios Spreadsheet E
Floodplain Map F

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 58Packet Page 236



3TRESTLE STRATEGY GROUP

1. Overview

A. Purpose

The City of Boulder is exploring an interest in purchasing Boulder Community 
Hospital, a 323,575 SF building situated on a 7.42 acre property located 
between Alpine and Balsam Avenues on the west side of Broadway in Boulder. 

In all scenarios, staff would look at the monetary impact (both positive and negative) and timing. Also,

during this analysis, staff will be working to better understand the value of the BCH facility and potential

renovation costs. Included in the future analysis would be the opportunity to increase public parking

options in the area of downtown.

 

Attachment F - Possible Funding Mechanisms to Relocate 

City Services & Programs to Boulder Community Health Facility

69

The property has been identified  as a possible site for the relocation and consolidation of 
City Offices from their current locations in multiple buildings including several buildings 
located in the Civic Center area of Downtown.  There is a broad of range options which could 
be considered in redeveloping the hospital property.  The purpose of this exercise is not 
to identify what combination of rehabilitation, adaptive re-use, and/or new construction 
represents the highest and best use of the parcel.

Trestle Strategy Group and McKinstry Consulting have been engaged to analyze the 
feasibility of acquiring the existing hospital facility in order to either convert the existing 
facility into offices or to demolish the existing structure and build new offices in this 
location.  This report is a first step in the due diligence process initiated by the City and is 
intended to provide a broad overview of the scope of work which would be required to 
either Renovate In Place (Option 0), Renovate Usable Only (Option 1), completely Remove 
and Replace (Option 2), or Partial Demotion and Renovate Medical Pavilion (Option 3) the 
Boulder Community Hospital building from the site.  Given the range of possibilities and 
opportunities for redevelopment, further study regarding the potential acquisition of the 
property is warranted.

6.76 Acre, Zoning: Public

.66 Acre, Zoning: Public

.69 Acre, Zoning: Public

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 59Packet Page 237



4 TRESTLE STRATEGY GROUP

B. Existing Conditions

Existing Conditions
Boulder Community Hospital is an amalgamation of numerous renovations, expansions and 
additions accomplished over many years.  The first building on the site was constructed in 
1922.  The total area of the existing building today is approximately 323,575 GSF.  A significant 
portion of the current building is comprised of administrative and medical offices and support 
spaces which may be generally adaptable to the uses proposed by the City, especially the 
largest and most recent addition to the project, the Medical Office Building also known as 
the Medical Pavilion.  The Pavilion represents approximately 64,040 GSF and is the portion 
of the existing structure which could be most easily adapted to suit the City’s immediate 
needs for consolidated office space.  There are other highly usable spaces in the existing 
building in addition to the Pavilion which currently function as offices and support spaces 
or which are configured in such a way that the conversion to offices could be accomplished 
with minimally invasive renovation.   Below is a summary of the Existing Area in the facility.

Usable Area

Usable Area in the analysis is defined as spaces that are available for a tenant or occupant 
for placement of furnishings fixtures and equipment (FF&E) and generally used by 
personnel for the primary purpose for which the building or space is intended.  This 
includes common areas such as aisles and walkways within tenant spaces for internal 
circulation, access to building services and public areas and corridors on multi tenant 
floors, as well as elevators, fire stairs and restrooms on single tenant floors.   Usable Area 
does not include Building Common Area, which includes but is not limited to service rooms 
such as mechanical, electrical and fire control rooms.  For the purpose of determining the 
Usable Area in the existing BCH Building, we have excluded the Building Common Areas 
listed above as well as the Loading Dock, Food Service and Vacant spaces.  A graphic 
presentation of the usable areas on each level of the existing building is presented in Part 
C of the Appendix. Below is a summary of the Usable Area in the existing facility.

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 60Packet Page 238



5TRESTLE STRATEGY GROUP

2. Cost Estimates

A. Hard Costs
In the pricing estimates presented in this report, we have developed four options.  In 
Option 0: Renovate Full Building; we have estimated the cost to renovate all existing areas 
within the existing building in order to be suitable for municipal office space.  Option 1: 
Renovate Usable only; we have estimated the cost to renovate the Usable Areas within 
the existing building only.  Option 2:  Remove and Replace estimates the cost to demolish 
the existing structure and rebuild a new 200,000 square foot office building. Option 3 
is a hybrid which estimates the cost to renovate the existing Medical Pavilion only and 
demolish the remainder of the existing building.

Cost Model
Four scenarios for redevelopment are presented in Part B of the Appendix

Option 0: Renovate In Place
The 323,575 square foot building has been used as a community serving hospital for 
over 93 years.  The interior space is divided into a diverse range of uses, including 
highly specialized medical uses (x-ray, MRI, surgery, intensive care) that are challenging 
and expensive to renovate into office space to less specialized areas that are more 
easily adapted to office uses.  In order to provide a comprehensive evaluation of the 
building, we divided each floor of the building into four tiers of suitability, each with an 
associated cost for rehabilitation.

Option 1: Renovate Usable Only
Of the 323,575 square foot program area in the existing building, approximately 
293,111 square feet would be considered Usable by BOMA Standards.  Option 1 of the 
Cost Model estimates the cost to renovate in place only this Usable Area in the existing 
facility.

Option 2: Remove and Replace with a New Building
This Option in the Cost Model estimates the cost to demolish the existing building in its 
entirety and to build a new 200,000 square foot office building.

Option 3: Partial Demolition and Renovate Medical Pavilion 
This Option of the Cost Model provides an estimate to keep and renovate only the 
64,040 square foot Medical Pavilion, and to demolish the remainder of the existing 
facility.  This scenario could presumably include construction of new office space in 
another location.

Basic Demolition & Reconstruction
Areas which are already office uses or could be adapted with minimal effort are primarily 
designated as Tier 1 and Tier 2.  Conversely, there are large portions of the existing facility 
which are truly not compatible with office conversion either because they have limited 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 61Packet Page 239



6 TRESTLE STRATEGY GROUP

access to natural light and natural ventilation, they are currently occupied by highly 
specialized equipment requiring major demolition and renovation, or they are burdened 
with intensive infrastructure and services such as an over abundance of plumbing fixtures, 
lead lined walls, piping for compressed air and gases, etc. which are not needed to support 
office use.  These areas have been designated as Tier 3 and Tier 4.   Please refer to the 
color coded floor plans presented in the appendix for additional information on these 
pricing classifications.

Pricing Tiers
We have analyzed the floor plans and briefly toured the building in order to gain a general 
sense of the condition of the facilities and the level of intervention which may be required 
to convert the building to offices.  To follow are four (4) ‘tiers’ which represent different 
levels of cost to convert the existing building into offices. 

Tier One: represents the least invasive level of work.  This applies to the majority of the 
existing Medical Pavilion, which is approximately 64,040 SF in size and currently houses 
medical offices.  Only minor modifications are required to this part of the facility since the 
majority of this portion of the structure is already primarily a Business Occupancy.  It is 
anticipated that both the core and a large portion of the distribution of the mechanical and 
plumbing systems can be used ‘as is’ with only minimal updates required to the existing 
service infrastructure.

Tier Two: represents a slightly higher level of renovation and can be characterized as an 
‘adaptive reuse’ of existing facilities.  This allocation primarily applies to perimeter spaces 
which are already compartmentalized into spaces that are ‘office-sized’ such as patient 
recovery and longer term stay rooms which have exterior windows. 

Tier Three: is characterized by a relatively high proportion of the interior requiring 
demolition and rehabilitation.  General layout and access to natural light from the exterior 
of the building can accommodate an office type use; however, the exterior shell may 
require significant remodeling. Examples of this are the surgery and recovery areas on 
Level 2, the Behavioral Health and Progressive Care areas on Level 3, and the Inpatient 
Rehabilitation area on Level 4.

Tier Four: is the most extreme of the pricing levels presented.  These areas include core 
areas that are uniquely specialized for medical use such as imaging, surgery suites and 
isolation wards which would require extreme levels of attention to the removal of highly 
specialized equipment.  They have little or no infrastructure that can be adapted or 
salvaged and there is no access to exterior walls for natural light or ventilation.  Almost 
complete demolition of existing interiors and exteriors is required.  Adaptive reuse of Tier 
4 areas are so costly that it appears there is little value in attempting to reprogram them, 
and it may be cheaper to completely remove and rebuild in these portions of the property.

A summary of the space allocation of a complete renovation in place is provided in the 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 62Packet Page 240



7TRESTLE STRATEGY GROUP

chart below.   A cost estimate for this scenario along with a graphic depiction of the Tier 1 
through Tier 4 spaces on each level of the building for Option 0 is provided in the Appendix.

Boulder(Community(Hospital( Estimate(of(Costs(for(Redevelopment Prepared(by(Trestle(Strategy(Group

DRAFT&FOR&REVIEW 5/13/15 Page(1

Tier(1 Tier(2 Tier(3 Tier(4 GSF (Cost(per(Floor( $/SF

Base(Hard(Costs
Basement 29,002 9,500 10,100 43,556 92,158 ($((((((((((((((((13,035,663( ($(((((((((((((((141.45(
First(Floor 1,082 13,565 0 89,232 103,879 ($((((((((((((((((21,698,754( ($(((((((((((((((208.88(
Second(Floor 0 18,319 24,935 18,738 61,992 ($((((((((((((((((((8,519,294( ($(((((((((((((((137.43(
Third(Floor 10,000 8,327 23,200 11,597 53,124 ($((((((((((((((((((6,291,886( ($(((((((((((((((118.44(
Fourth(Floor 0 7,639 0 4,783 12,422 ($((((((((((((((((((1,693,076( ($(((((((((((((((136.30(

GSF 40,084 57,350 58,235 167,906 323,575 51,238,673$((((((((((((((((
$/SF(Multiplier $38.50 $77.00 $111.50 $231.00 Check(Total Average

Subtotal(1 $1,543,234 $4,415,950 $6,493,203 $38,786,286 $51,238,673 ($(((((((((((((((158.35(

OPTION&0&/&Renovate&Full&Bldg

This table summarizes the base cost to renovate the entire building however, it DOES 
NOT include allowances  that would be required to determine a total estimated hard cost.  
These allowances are described in the following sections of the report. 

Inherently, there is some overlap between architectural demolition and renovation/
reconstruction and the removal and replacement of the mechanical, electrical and 
plumbing systems.  However, it is important to note that the pricing for Tiers 1 through 4 
have been adjusted to exclude the costs related to this work.  The mechanical, electrical, 
and plumbing (MEP) scope and estimated costs are documented in a separate report 
prepared by McKinstry Consulting which is included in the Appendix.   The costs estimated 
by McKinstry in this report have been included in the overall cost estimates in Part B of 
the Appendix.

Allowances 
In addition to basic demolition the renovation of the facility in its entirety, as represented 
by the graphic plans showing Tier 1 through 4 areas, there are a number of allowances 
which should be included in a summary of potential hard costs.  These specific and 
identifiable scopes of work are presented below as line item allowances in the cost model. 

1. MEP: The City has engaged McKinstry Consulting to analyze and quantify costs directly
associated with mechanical, electrical and plumbing removal and replacement.  Their
findings and recommendations are contained in the Assessment Report included in
the Appendix A.  The City has adopted very high standards with respect to the energy
efficiency of new development in Boulder which will dictate the use of daylighting
and the integration of ‘smart technologies’ in HVAC systems as well as the integration
of renewable energy technologies such as Rooftop PV, and the ‘super insulation’ of
the exterior shell of the building.  This scope represents the premium that can be
attributed to redeveloping this facility under current MEP Codes adopted by the City
of Boulder.  This portion of the estimate represents only the hard costs associated
with the MEP improvements. Contractor’s fees and other soft costs such as taxes and
permitting are captured in the allowances presented below.

2. Flood Protection: The footprint of the existing building is within  the 100 YR Floodplain,
and the facility experienced flood damages during the 2013 event including portions of
the basement and Level 1 of the building.  The building would be considered a Critical

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 63Packet Page 241



8 TRESTLE STRATEGY GROUP

Facility according to the City of Boulder Critical Facility and Lodging Ordinance, which 
would require flood protection of the existing building. Accordingly, we have included 
a line item to cover the costs to reinforce grade-level openings and to incorporate 
other flood-protection measures into the existing building which would not otherwise 
be required if the renovation were taking place outside the potential flood zone. Refer 
to Appendix F for additional clarification.

3. Abatement: The safe removal of hazardous materials is included as a line item in the
MEP document.

4. Elevator Refurbishment: It is assumed that each of the six (6) existing elevators
will require upgrades to function adequately to support the proposed use.  We are
suggesting that funds be set aside to upgrade each existing elevator.  This line item
DOES NOT include the addition of any new elevators.

5. Roof Replacement:  The age and condition of the existing roofing is unknown.  Since
large portions of the upper levels of the building will require some level of intervention
to convert the use of the property, it is assumed that the entire roof will need to be
replaced.  Accordingly, we have set aside an allowance to provide for full replacement.
This work would presumably be done at or near the same time of when an extensive
roof top PV system is installed.

6. Site Improvements: It is assumed that the majority of the existing site that is not covered
by building will be disturbed during redevelopment.  All parking surfaces, sidewalks,
and curb and gutter will be removed and replaced.  Additionally, all softscape areas
including private lands and ROW areas will be upgraded.  This line item is calculated
on a $/SF of site area basis as if the site were a greenfield.  Please refer to the next
line item for the premium that is associated with the classification of the site as a
Brownfield.

7. Remediation of Contaminated Soils: The soil conditions are unknown at this time and
we have included a contingency line item for future study and potential remediation.

8. FF&E: Where applicable, Furnishings, Fixtures and Equipment are noted as an
allowance in the new construction portions of the cost model(s).

Contractor’s General Conditions, Overhead and Profit 

We have consulted with a local expert, Wyatt Construction on this item.

Special Inspections and Testing 
We have consulted with a local expert, Wyatt Construction on this item.

B. Soft Costs
In addition to the hard costs presented above, certain assumptions can be made on soft costs 
associated with this complicated redevelopment project.   Below are additional line items that 
should be accounted for in estimating the true costs of  each Option:

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 64Packet Page 242



9TRESTLE STRATEGY GROUP

Concept Design 

Concept Design 

Assessed Value
The actual value of the property is still to be determined, therefore the cost to 
acquire Boulder Community Hospital and attached Medical Pavilion is listed as the 
assessed value, which, according to County records is currently  listed as $44,500,000. 
County records list the adjacent parking garage at $6,100,000.  Total assessed value 
is proximately $50,600,000. 

Permitting & Review Fees
The projected cost for review and processing of all required permits is estimated at 
this time. Actual costs would be determined at the time of submittal.

Special Inspections & Testing
The projected cost for testing and special inspections for the project is based on the 
estimated hard cost presented herein.  Actual cost would be determined at the time 
of construction.

Commissioning
The projected cost for commissioning of the project is based on the estimated hard 
costs presented herein. Actual cost would be determined at the time of construction

City and County Sales & the Use Tax
The combined cost of taxes due to the City for the project is based on the estimated 
hard cost presented herein. 

Contingency
No construction project is completed without unanticipated challenges which lead 
to the need to implement changes from the approved plans. Renovation projects 
are generally more difficult and complicated than new construction.  Accordingly, we 
suggest carrying a combined contingency in the amount of 10% of the estimated hard 
costs.  This contingency would be used to cover overruns in three primary categories: 
errors or omissions in the design documents, unforeseen conditions which arise 
during construction, and owner requested changes.  

A/E Fees

According to RS Means, design fees for a new 3-5 story office building would be in the 
range of 3-5%.  For large scale renovation projects we have seen AE fees range from 5 
to 10%.  Given the potential complexity of a ‘Renovate in Place’ scenario for project 
of this size, we have estimated the A/E fees to be 6.5%, inclusive of all specialty 
consultants that may be required, including but not limited to: elevator, acoustics, 
code compliance, accessibility, building envelope, energy use and sustainability.

Entitlement
The City of Boulder is known to have a very comprehensive review process for both 
new construction and redevelopment projects.  This particular project is very large, 
and the community has a particularly significant stake in its success since it will house 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 65Packet Page 243



10 TRESTLE STRATEGY GROUP

City Offices which will provide  City Services.  Accordingly, we anticipate a great deal of 
public engagement and scrutiny of the design prior to achieving approval of the project.  
Therefore, we are assigning a cost for entitlement of the project on the order of 1% of the 
total hard costs.

       Miscellaneous Development Fees
There will be miscellaneous development fees such as Water and Irrigation Tap Fees to 
account for in any redevelopment scenario. However,  given the quasi-public status of the 
City of Boulder, it is difficult to quantify the full impact of these fees so this allowance is a 
placeholder.

3. Appendix

A. McKinstry Consulting Draft Report
B. Options 0-3: Pricing Spreadsheets
C. Usable Area Plans
D. Tiered Pricing Area Plans
E. Future Scenarios Spreadsheet
F. Flood Plain Map

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 66Packet Page 244



City of Boulder 
Boulder Community Hospital  
Preliminary Assessment Report 

BOULDER, COLORADO 
04 JUNE 2015 

FO
R

 T
H

E 
LI

FE
 O

F 
Y

O
U

R
 

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 67Packet Page 245



1. Executive Summary

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

The City of Boulder is analyzing the potential purchase and renovation of the Boulder Community Hospital to 
determine whether it is more economical to renovate the existing facility or demolish it and replace with a new 
office building. Two major unknown factors in determining if renovation is the best solution are the cost of 
renovating an older existing building while also bringing the facility up to current code. 

Boulder Community Hospital Site View 

Much of the final cost will be driven by the City of Boulder’s decisions for infrastructure improvements and 
future building needs. Existing mechanical and electrical systems for hospitals designed for critical care 
environments are typically sized and designed for substantial loads and air change rates. Reusing these 
systems for future low load office space needs could be difficult to manage reducing energy waste and 
assuring comfort. 

With any renovation there will be surprises. There will always be hidden elements that need to be 
investigated, such as deteriorating mechanical and electrical systems. Asbestos removal, lead paint and other 
hazardous building products also must be removed. A preliminary assessment of asbestos containing 
materials (ACM) indicated limited risk in major mechanical rooms, however a total building assessment is 
needed to determine the total cost to mitigate these hazardous materials.  

With limited knowledge of how the building was constructed, what is above the ceiling or behind the walls, or 
what condition the structural systems are in makes it difficult to assess accurate renovation costs so 
appropriate contingencies should be included.  

Through initial surveys and discussions with various parties that have been involved with the building’s 
history, we found the condition of the building systems to vary significantly depending on the age and level of 
various remodels. For example, some sections of the building have up to date electrical infrastructure while 
older sections have aged and deteriorated systems that have exceeded their useful life. This variability 
continues throughout building systems and adds to the difficulty of a very high-level assessment such as this. 
Given these conditions, this report is intended to describe a high-level assessment of existing conditions and 
associated costs to renovate or replace existing systems. 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 68Packet Page 246



1. Executive Summary

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

McKinstry Essention, LLC (McKinstry) was hired to help evaluate the main mechanical, plumbing, and electrical 
(MEP) systems and determine reasonable budgets for replacement. The scope of work for this analysis 
included: 

• Evaluate the condition of existing systems

• Document those systems which warrant replacement due to:
o End of life
o Applicability for the City’s expected use of the facility
o Code compliance
o Otherwise inoperable or not capable of performing per current facilities operation and

maintenance practices
o Not compatible with related systems that need replaced for the above reasons

• Estimate cost of system replacement
o Utilizing prior experience on similar buildings/systems or other “high level” estimating tools.
o Resulting financials will not represent a bid or proposal to complete the work but an

expectation of the costs the City should consider when evaluating the option of purchasing this
property.

o Include cost of demo for existing systems

• Asbestos and lead containing materials
o Abatement costs cannot be estimated within even 50% of probable costs with the information

provided or within the cost of this effort. McKinstry will make best efforts to obtain market
information associated with the range of potential costs for abatement.

• Estimate related soft costs associated with replacement of the evaluated systems not included in this
assessment:

o LEED® modeling and commissioning
o MEP Design/Engineering

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 69Packet Page 247



2. Existing Building Systems

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

Boulder Community Hospital 

FACILITY DESCRIPTION 
Boulder Community Hospital located on the Broadway campus was originally built in the 1950’s with several 
remodels and renovations during the life of the facility. The 320,000 square foot building served as one of the 
City of Boulder’s main hospitals with patient rooms, surgical suites, clinics, emergency, offices, laundry, 
kitchen, and dining areas. Recently, most of the main hospital direct patient functions have been relocated to 
the new hospital and a large portion of the existing building is currently unoccupied.  

HOURS OF OPERATION 
Until recently the building was mostly operated and maintained 24/7. 

MECHANICAL SYSTEMS 
Most of the existing mechanical systems, even with regular maintenance, have exceeded their average life of 
20 to 30 years. Although much of them are in fair working order, upgrading the systems will be a prudent yet 
expensive step, but will provide economic benefits. The new mechanical systems should be designed with 
sophisticated controls that are more dependable. Individual spaces should be controlled with sensors that can 
lower temperatures and ventilation rates when a room is unoccupied to conform to new energy codes. 

Design guidelines such as ASHRAE 90.1 provide energy guidelines that can be used as a minimum benchmark 
for upgrading or replacing mechanical systems. New systems can be installed that meet the City of Boulder’s 
energy standards to exceed this benchmark. Designing to these standards will significantly decrease the 
energy and operational cost compared to the existing systems. 

ELECTRICAL & LIGHTING SYSTEMS 
The existing electrical system seems to be a mixed assembly of installations from 1979 through 2015. Most of 
the original systems are antiquated and have exceeded their useful life. The existing system is fed from three 
(3) separate utility transformers. The electrical distribution system seems to be in fair order and well 
maintained.   

Existing lighting fixtures in most of the buildings are recessed ceiling mounted 4’ linear fluorescent fixtures 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 70Packet Page 248



2. Existing Building Systems

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

with T-8 lamps with no apparent dimming sensors or occupancy controls. Mechanical rooms have hanging 4’ 
fluorescent fixtures with T-8 lamps. Lighting control is primarily from manual wall mounted switches.   

Re-using these systems would add considerable amounts in energy and operating costs, as well as diminish 
quality of light. Occupancy based control combined with daylight harvesting systems should be installed to 
save energy costs and meet current energy codes. 

CONTROL SYSTEMS 
The building automation system (BAS) has been upgraded over the years by replacing the pneumatic based 
air handler and variable air volume (VAV) box controls with JCI electronic controls controlled through the 
Metasys platform. However, the majority of the controls still have the original pneumatic control system. 
Utilizing existing systems will make controlling energy challenging and comfort issues prevalent. 

BUILDING ENVELOPE 
The building structure still needs to be fully evaluated, such as investigation of inadequate roof structure and 
leaky windows. Existing window seals were observed to be compromised and do not function properly. 

Re-roofing an existing older facility may require upgrading the structure because of changes in codes which 
are not addressed in this analysis. For example, snow-loading codes have dramatically tightened and should 
be investigated.  

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 71Packet Page 249



2. Existing Building Systems

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

EXISTING BUILDING CONDITION ASSESSMENT 

SYSTEM NAME EXISTING CONDITION 

HVAC Controls 

The controls and mechanical equipment in the building are of various vintages. The 
building was originally constructed in the 1950’s, and underwent various remodels in 
1960’s, 1980’s, and 1990’s, with upgrades as recent as within the last few years. Each 
of these distinct remodels changed or added to the existing control system. 

Current systems are predominately controlled by a mix of pneumatic and JCI Metasys 
direct digital control (DDC) systems. Most of the DDC controls are located at the main 
air handler and zone controls are predominately pneumatic. There appears to be limited 
economizer control and many systems are continuously operated, as was the intent for 
a critical care environment. 

As mechanical equipment ages and deteriorates, calibrating, resetting, and 
replacing/repairing worn equipment and sensors becomes more challenging. Optimizing 
control setpoints and equipment schedules to current building operation needs will 
cause significant operation and maintenance costs. 

Any existing systems to be re-used should be fully inspected and tested to correct 
operation of valves, dampers, motors, and sensors. Identified issues should be restored 
to proper operation and functionality of controlled systems and equipment to new load 
and occupancy conditions. Test the sensors and recalibrate or replace faulty devices. 
Repair and/or replace faulty valves, dampers, actuators, and other components as 
appropriate. Investigate and test AHU systems to identify noted issues and other new 
issues discovered during testing and inspection. Re-commission/replace existing AHU 
dampers, sensors, and other AHU items as appropriate to restore systems to design 
conditions, setpoints, and proper operation. Any devices abandoned or not needed for 
the future operation of the facility should be removed and discarded. 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 72Packet Page 250



2. Existing Building Systems

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

Electrical 

The electrical system as a whole appears to be in proper working order and from a load 
standpoint should be more than adequate for the City’s purposes to use this space for 
offices. Inspection and maintenance tags were visible on most all of the main switch 
gear. At the time of the inspection we were not able to get into each of the panel boards 
and load centers, but from the cursory inspection completed they all seem to be in 
proper working order. 

One electrical room visited consists of two (2) large main distribution sections, both 
consisting of six (6) sections, all of which seems to be circa 1979. Although each seems 
to be in good condition, they are all beyond their useful lifespan and may prove to be 
difficult to find replacement parts for servicing.  

The emergency portion of this distribution is not handled through conventional transfer 
switch, but instead is accomplished using four (4) “Kirk Key” interlock switches across 
eight (8) different breaks to manually isolate the loads from the utility power source to 
the standby power source. There are concerns on the appropriate clearances per the 
NEC requirements on the existing switchgear.  

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 73Packet Page 251



2. Existing Building Systems

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

Heating Systems 
Heating for the building is served by two boilers located in the basement mechanical 
room. Both are steam boilers that distribute low pressure steam to various heat 
exchangers and process loads throughout the building. One of the two boilers was 
recently replaced and in good working order. The second older boiler (circa 1974) is 
kept on hot standby for redundancy. 

The overall steam system appears to be in decent working order. During the inspection 
the steam and condensate piping, steam traps, and condensate pump stations appeared 
to be in sufficient working order, however there is currently plenty of evidence of leaks 
throughout the system. 

ACM was not prevalent throughout. Some ACM was observed in limited quantities on 
various piping systems and will need to be mitigated.  

Many of the systems are most likely oversized as they have been designed based on 
typical loads and operation conditions of a hospital environment as compared to an 
office facility. Specifically, autoclaves, steam humidification, sterilization, and other 
process loads should be eliminated and or replaced with smaller higher efficient 
equipment if needed. 

Chilled Water System 
Life expectancy of many of the chilled water components have reached the end of their 
useful life. Most systems appeared to be in good working order through visual 
inspection. The two existing chilled water plants are piped in parallel with a combined 
connected capacity of 840 tons. This system serves most of the existing occupied floor 
space. The existing system appears to be sized with sufficient capacity to serve the 
entire building however there appears to be little redundancy if a component fails.   

The chilled water plants distribution to building loads is through a series of primary and 
secondary constant volume chilled water pumps. Chilled water piping was observed to 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 74Packet Page 252



 

 

2. Existing Building Systems 

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 
 

 

be in good condition. There was some evidence of gasket seals and valves leaking 
throughout the facility. Most of the chilled water control valves are operated by 3-way 
pneumatic control valves. 

Two cooling towers are fairly old, however they were observed to be in fair working 
condition. One of the towers is scheduled for a full refurbishment in the next few 
months. The condenser water system was also observed to be in good working order, 
however, as with the chilled water side there is evidence of minor leaks. 

The entire system seems to be operating at near capacity as new direct expansion (DX) 
systems have been installed to avoid overloading the existing capacity. Current energy 
code may dictate replacement of existing systems implemented with the addition of 
energy conservation strategies, such as waterside economizing and variable flow. 

HVAC 
 

 

There are over thirty (30) air handlers in the facility. The units vary in age from the 
1950’s/60’s to a few units installed as part of recent renovations. Most of the units are 
constant volume reheat with hot water and chilled water coils. A few of the units have 
variable speed drives, although they are bypassed and are utilized as constant volume 
systems. Some units are kept at constant volume as they serve areas that have 
changed occupancy loads and or the equipment has deteriorated to where inadequate 
airflow is being delivered. Several components of existing AHUs are currently not 
functioning, or not functioning per the building facility staff (air side economizers, 
valves, actuators, etc.) 

Some of the older equipment appears to have been retrofitted with newer motors. A 
majority of the equipment and their associated devices have reached the end of their 
useful life. Since many of the existing system were designed for high air change and 
ventilation rates, each system should be inspected thoroughly if repurposed for the new 
office facility as some existing systems may be inadequately sized. 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 75Packet Page 253



2. Existing Building Systems

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

Crowded Ceiling 
Through many remodels and upgrades the ceiling/plenum space has become 
increasingly crowded. Many devices, conduits, wire, and the original pneumatic capsule 
transportation system have overcrowded the plenum space. Overcrowded ceiling 
plenums with abandoned infrastructure typically will impede design, remodeling, and 
construction coordination efforts. Crowded ceilings will also impede airflow through 
plenum air delivery systems. 

Ground Water 

The preliminary analysis indicated the building is within the 100-year floodplain. During 
the survey it was noticed that ground water is seeping into the basement mechanical 
room. 

Motor 
Replacement 

Many pump and fan motors are older vintage standard efficiency motors and past their 
useful life.   

Fire Alarm Systems 

The main Fire Alarm Control Panel was observed to be an extremely antiquated 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 76Packet Page 254



2. Existing Building Systems

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

conventional analog system, with a separate dialer, and communicator. Main facility 
seems to be properly sprinkled although this will need to be possibly reconfigured. 

Building Envelope Improvements 

A preliminary assessment survey revealed many issues with the building envelope 
systems. Issues include: 

• Window seals deteriorated
• Varying age of roofing systems
• Removal of antiquated equipment (some penetrations not patched)

Recommend having building envelope specialist inspect the building and provide a 
detailed assessment. Electrical and gas heating savings will be generated by 
implementing building envelope improvements (installing thermally efficient door 
sweeps, correcting door and window gaps, and repairing other unintended openings and 
cracks in the building envelope, and other possible repairs/improvements). 

DHW / Plumbing 

Less efficient water fixtures (i.e. sinks, toilets) were observed which contribute to 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 77Packet Page 255



2. Existing Building Systems

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

excess domestic hot water heating demand. Existing water heaters appear to be 
oversized for the intent of the new building use and should be removed and sized for 
appropriate usage. 

Individual bathrooms are in each of the patient rooms. Decommissioning these systems 
is recommended with design consideration for new ‘gang’ type facilities located in new 
locations. New systems should be designed with high efficiency water fixture 
replacements. 

Existing Plumbing 

Most of the piping systems where observed to be in fair to good condition. The facility 
has a substantial amount of piping systems that transport heating and cooling water to 
the various mechanical systems. With the abundance of mechanical systems through 
various vintages of many remodel projects there is an abundance of piping systems. 
Some of the piping systems seem to be cross connected and some abandoned, which 
will make re-use of systems difficult. During the survey, some of the existing piping 
observed was deteriorated with several leaks in mechanical rooms. 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 78Packet Page 256



2. Existing Building Systems

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

Hazardous Materials 

Most of the mechanical areas appear to be 90% abated. The areas constructed prior to 
1976 are certain to have ACM such as flooring, pipe fittings, wall textures, ceiling tiles, 
etc. Areas constructed following 1976 should have minimal asbestos issues and the 
areas that have been renovated are likely to have been abated at the time of 
construction. 

A comprehensive asbestos survey would probably take 45-60 days to compile and cost 
approximately $20,000-30,000. 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 79Packet Page 257



3. Cost Summary

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 

Replacement Cost Estimate Summary 
Scope Item Estimate 

Abatement $500,000 

Mechanical 

Demolition $500,000 

Plumbing Systems $1,500,000 

HVAC Central Systems $1,800,000 

HVAC Piping $3,400,000 

HVAC/Ventilation Distribution $2,000,000 

HVAC/Ventilation Supply $2,000,000 

Airside Systems $1,200,000 

Building Automation $1,400,000 

Electrical $1,100,000 

Envelope & Insulation Allowance $400,000 

Solar PV (300-400kW) $1,000,000 

SUM $16,800,000 

SYSTEMS EVALUATED 
• Mechanical/HVAC

o Including chillers, boilers, air handlers, cooling towers, floor level air distribution and piping
systems, building automation and control system.

o No exclusions.
• Electrical

o Including major infrastructure - service boards, generators, switchgear, floor level panels, and
floor level distribution wiring.

o Excluding: space level outlet or circuit reconfiguration associated with renovation.
• Renewables

o Solar PV System: roof top system.
• Assessment and abatement of potentially asbestos or lead containing hazardous materials

o Including cost of a hazardous materials assessment.
o Costs of abatement without an available assessment could be highly variable depending on

abatement activities that have been performed to date by the owner and materials used in the
facility. We do not expect that a reasonable estimate for abatement can be obtained without a
formal materials assessment and it does not appear that the current owner has such an
assessment.

o Excluding: anything other than asbestos or lead containing construction materials – such as
medical waste or sewage contamination.

• Building Plumbing System
o Including: hot water generation, distribution piping.
o Excluding: end use fixtures.

• Envelope
o Thermal and air barrier improvements.
o Sealing, patching of existing systems and systems to be removed.

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 80Packet Page 258



 

 

3. Cost Summary 

BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT REPORT 
 

SYSTEMS SPECIFICALLY NOT INCLUDED IN THE ASSESSMENT 
• Interior finishes 

o Flooring, walls, water fixtures 
• ADA compliance 
• Exterior finishes and architectural elements 

o Windows, fenestration,  
• Structural conditions 
• Exterior 

o Landscaping, parking lots, parking garage or other hardscape 
• Fire and life safety systems 
• Conveyance systems 
• Code compliance upgrades other than as part of the indicated systems 
• Building lighting system 
• Roofing system repair or replacement 
• Permits fees and associated costs 
• Any design fees associated with the work in this analysis. 

 

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 81Packet Page 259



Boulder(Community(Hospital( Estimate(of(Costs(for(Redevelopment Prepared(by(Trestle(Strategy(Group

DRAFT&FOR&REVIEW 6/10/15 Page(1

Tier(1 Tier(2 Tier(3 Tier(4 GSF % (Cost(per(Floor( $/SF Notes

Base(Hard(Costs
Basement 29,002 9,500 10,100 43,556 92,158 ($((((((((((((((((13,035,663( ($(((((((((((((((141.45(
First(Floor 1,082 13,565 0 89,232 103,879 ($((((((((((((((((21,698,754( ($(((((((((((((((208.88(
Second(Floor 0 18,319 24,935 18,738 61,992 ($((((((((((((((((((8,519,294( ($(((((((((((((((137.43(
Third(Floor 10,000 8,327 23,200 11,597 53,124 ($((((((((((((((((((6,291,886( ($(((((((((((((((118.44(
Fourth(Floor 0 7,639 0 4,783 12,422 ($((((((((((((((((((1,693,076( ($(((((((((((((((136.30(

GSF 40,084 57,350 58,235 167,906 323,575 51,238,673$((((((((((((((((
$/SF(Multiplier $38.50 $77.00 $111.50 $231.00 Check(Total Average

Subtotal(1 $1,543,234 $4,415,950 $6,493,203 $38,786,286 Sub(1 $51,238,673 ($(((((((((((((((158.35(

Allowances

MEP(Removal(&(Replacement ($((((((((((((((((16,300,000(

($(((((((((((((((((50.37(

See(Report(dated(5/1/2015(by(mcKinstry(Consulting(Engineers.((Estimate(includes;((((((((((((((((((Demolition(of(existing(MEP,(
Installation(of(new;(plumbing(systems,(HVAC(Central(Systems,(HVAC(Piping,(HVAC(Ventilation(Supply(&(Distribution(and(Airside(
Systes,(Buidling(Automation,(Electrical,,(Buidling(Envelope(and(Insulation(enhancement

Abatement((Non(HVAC) ($((((((((((((((((((((((200,000( ($(((((((((((((((((((0.62( ]1
Roof(Replacement ($((((((((((((((((((1,500,000( ($(((((((((((((((((((4.64(
Flood(Protection ($((((((((((((((((((1,000,000( ($(((((((((((((((((((3.09( Based(on(latest(500(YR(Floodplain(encroaches(on(Approx(60%(of(existing(building(footprint
Elevator(Refurbishment ($((((((((((((((((((((((300,000( ($(((((((((((((((((((0.93( (QTY(of((6)(at($50k(each;(Comparison(is(Colorado(Building

Site(Improvements Acreage(= 7.41 SF(= 322,780 ($/SF( $7.50 ($((((((((((((((((((2,420,847( ($(((((((((((((((((((7.48( Assuming(50%(of(site(requires(minimal(disturbance,(50%(full(demo(and(replacement(at(D(=(2']0"

Subtotal((2 Sub(2 ($((((((((((((((((21,720,847( ($(((((((((((((((((67.13(
Sub(1(+(Sub(2 ($(((((((((((((((225.48(

General(Cond.,(Overhead(&(Profit 15.00% ($((((((((((((((((10,943,928( ($(((((((((((((((((33.82( (Based(on(Sub(1(+(Sub(2(

Estimated&Construction&Cost &$&&&&&&&83,903,447& &$&&&&&&&&259.30&

Soft(Costs
Permitting(&(Review(Fees 0.50% ($((((((((((((((((((((((364,798( ($(((((((((((((((((((1.13( (Based(on(Sub(1(+(Sub(2;(includes(MEP(permits(

Special(Inspections(&(Testing 0.25% ($((((((((((((((((((((((182,399( ($(((((((((((((((((((0.56( (Based(on(Sub(1(+(Sub(2(
Commissioning 0.25% ($((((((((((((((((((((((182,399( ($(((((((((((((((((((0.56( (Based(on(Sub(1(+(Sub(2(
City(and(County(Sales(&(Use(Tax 4.845% ($((((((((((((((((((3,534,889( ($(((((((((((((((((10.92( (Based(on(Sub(1(+(Sub(2(
Contingency 10.00% ($((((((((((((((((((7,295,952( ($(((((((((((((((((22.55( (Based(on(Estimated(Total(Cost(

A/E(Fees 6.50% ($((((((((((((((((((4,742,369( ($(((((((((((((((((14.66( (Based(on(Estimated(Total(Cost(

Entitlment 0.25% ($((((((((((((((((((((((182,399( ($(((((((((((((((((((0.56( (Based(on(Estimated(Total(Cost(

Misc.(Development(Fees 1.00% ($((((((((((((((((((((((729,595( ($(((((((((((((((((((2.25( (Based(on(Estimated(Total(Cost(

Subtotal(3 ($(((((((((((((((((53.20(

Estimated&Reconstruction&Cost &$&&&&&&&&312.50&
Assessed(Value $44,500,000 Boulder(County(Assessed(Value

Parking(Structure]2655(Broadway]391(spaces ($((((((((((((((((((6,100,000( Boulder(County(Assessed(Value

Upgrade(Parking(Equipment ($((((((((((((((((((((((100,000( Allowance

TOTAL&COST&G&OPTION&1

(1)&The&presence&of&hazardous&materials&in&the&building&(asbestos,&lead,&etc.)&and/or&subgrade&contaminants&on&the&site&is&possible,&but&has&not&been&verified&at&this&time.&&Environmental&testing&is&recommended&so&that&potential&abatement&costs&can&be&confirmed.

OPTION&0&G&Renovate&Full&Bldg

$151,818,246

$101,118,246

($(((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((17,214,799(

$72,959,520

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015Appendix B

Agenda Item 5B     Page 82Packet Page 260



Boulder(Community(Hospital( Estimate(of(Costs(for(Redevelopment Prepared(by(Trestle(Strategy(Group

DRAFT&FOR&REVIEW 6/10/15 Page(2

USABLE(((((GSF AVERAGE(((
$/SF (Cost(per(Floor( Notes

Base(Hard(Costs
Basement 67,267 $141.45 ($((((((((((((((((((9,514,854( Excludes:(Mech((16,437),(Elec((617),(Food(Service((7,337),(Laundry((2,520)

First(Floor 102,682 $208.88 ($((((((((((((((((21,448,719( Excludes:(Mech((0),(Elec((115),(,(Loading(Dock((1,082)

Second(Floor 59,200 $137.43 ($((((((((((((((((((8,135,601( Excludes:(Mech((1,941),(Elec((14),(Vacant((837)

Third(Floor 52,002 $118.44 ($((((((((((((((((((6,158,999( Excludes:(Mech((1,076),(Elec((49)

Fourth(Floor 11,960 $136.30 ($((((((((((((((((((1,630,107( Excludes:(Mech((355),(Elec((107))

GSF 293,111 $159.97 46,888,280$((((((((((((((((

Allowances

MEP(Removal(&(Replacement ($((((((((((((((((16,300,000(

($((((((((((((((((((((55.61(

See(Report(dated(5/1/2015(by(mcKinstry(Consulting(Engineers.((Estimate(includes;((((((((((((((((((Demolition(of(existing(MEP,(
Installation(of(new;(plumbing(systems,(HVAC(Central(Systems,(HVAC(Piping,(HVAC(Ventilation(Supply(&(Distribution(and(Airside(
Systes,(Buidling(Automation,(Electrical,,(Buidling(Envelope(and(Insulation(enhancement

Abatement((Non(HVAC) ($((((((((((((((((((((((200,000( ($((((((((((((((((((((((0.68(
Roof(Replacement ($((((((((((((((((((1,500,000( ($((((((((((((((((((((((5.12(
Flood(Protection ($((((((((((((((((((1,000,000( ($((((((((((((((((((((((3.41( ]1
Elevator(Refurbishment ($((((((((((((((((((((((300,000( ($((((((((((((((((((((((1.02(

Site(Improvements ($((((((((((((((((((2,420,847( ($((((((((((((((((((((((8.26( Assuming(50%(of(site(requires(minimal(disturbance,(50%(full(demo(and(replacement(at(D(=(2']0"

Subtotal((2 ($((((((((((((((((21,720,847( ($((((((((((((((((((((74.10(
Sub(1(+(Sub(2 ($(((((((((((((((234.07(

General(Cond.,(Overhead(&(Profit 15.00% ($((((((((((((((((10,291,369( ($((((((((((((((((((((35.11( (Based(on(Sub(1(+(Sub(2(

Estimated&Construction&Cost &$&&&&&&&78,900,496& &$&&&&&&&&269.18&

Soft(Costs
Permit/Review(Fees 0.50% ($((((((((((((((((((((((343,046( ($((((((((((((((((((((((1.06( (Based(on(Sub(1(+(Sub(2(
Special(Inspections(&(Testing 0.25% ($((((((((((((((((((((((171,523( ($((((((((((((((((((((((0.53( (Based(on(Sub(1(+(Sub(2(
Commissioning 0.25% ($((((((((((((((((((((((171,523( ($((((((((((((((((((((((0.53( (Based(on(Sub(1(+(Sub(2(
City(and(County(Sales(&(Use(Tax 4.845% ($((((((((((((((((((3,324,112( ($((((((((((((((((((((10.27( (Based(on(Sub(1(+(Sub(2(
Combined(Contingency 10.00% ($((((((((((((((((((6,860,913( ($((((((((((((((((((((21.20( (Based(on(Estimated(Total(Cost(

A/E(Fees(( 6.50% ($((((((((((((((((((4,459,593( ($((((((((((((((((((((13.78( (Based(on(Estimated(Total(Cost(

Entitlment 0.25% ($((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((0( ($((((((((((((((((((((((0.00( (Based(on(Estimated(Total(Cost(

Misc.(Development(Fees 1.00% ($((((((((((((((((((((((686,091( ($((((((((((((((((((((((2.12( (Based(on(Estimated(Total(Cost(

Subtotal(3 ($((((((((((((((((((((49.50(

Estimated&Reconstruction&Cost &$&&&&&&&&323.83&
Assessed(Value $44,500,000 Boulder(County(Assessed(Value

Parking(Structure]2655(Broadway]391(spaces ($((((((((((((((((((6,100,000( Boulder(County(Assessed(Value

Upgrade(Parking(Equipment ($((((((((((((((((((((((100,000( Allowance

TOTAL&COST&G&OPTION&1

(1)&The&presence&of&hazardous&materials&in&the&building&(asbestos,&lead,&etc.)&and/or&subgrade&contaminants&on&the&site&is&possible,&but&has&not&been&verified&at&this&time.&&Environmental&testing&is&recommended&so&that&potential&abatement&costs&can&be&confirmed.

($(((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((16,016,801(

$94,917,297

$145,617,297

OPTION&1&G&Renovate&Usable&Only

$68,609,127

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 83Packet Page 261



Boulder(Community(Hospital( Estimate(of(Costs(for(Redevelopment Prepared(by(Trestle(Strategy(Group

DRAFT&FOR&REVIEW 6/10/15 Page(3

GSF $/SF (Cost( Notes

Preparation
Demolish(Existing(Structure 323,575 $15.00 $4,853,625
Clear(Existing(Site 322,780 $3.00 $968,340
Abatement $2,000,000

Subtotal(1 $7,821,965

New(Construction
New(Core(&(Shell(Office(Building 200,000 $200.00 $40,000,000
Tenant(Improvements(Allowance 200,000 $35.00 $7,000,000 Excludes(FF&E
FF&E(Allowance 200,000 $15.00 $3,000,000
Site(Improvements 322,780 $15.00 $4,841,700

Subtotal(2 $54,841,700

Soft(Costs((Based(on(Subtotal(2)
General(Conditions,(Overhead(&(Profit 10.00% $5,484,170
Permit/Review(Fees 0.50% $274,209
Special(Inspections(&(Testing 0.25% $137,104
Commissioning 0.25% $137,104
City(and(County(Sales(&(Use(Tax 4.845% $2,657,080
Contingency 5.00% $2,742,085
A/E(Fees(+(Entitlement 5.50% $3,016,294
Misc.(Development(Fees 1.00% $548,417

Subtotal(3 $14,996,463

Estimated&New&Construction&Cost &$&&&&&&&&388.30&
Assessed(Value $44,500,000 Boulder(County(Assessed(Value

Parking(Structure]2655(Broadway]391(spaces SF= ((((((((((((((((((((106,830( Built(1993 ($((((((((((((((((((6,100,000( Boulder(County(Assessed(Value

Upgrade(Parking(Equipment ($((((((((((((((((((((((100,000( Allowance

TOTAL&COST&G&OPTION&2

&$&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&77,660,128&

&$&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&128,360,128&

OPTION&2&G&Remove&&&Replace&with&New&
Bldg

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 84Packet Page 262



Boulder(Community(Hospital( Estimate(of(Costs(for(Redevelopment Prepared(by(Trestle(Strategy(Group

DRAFT&FOR&REVIEW 6/10/15 Page(4

GSF $/SF (Cost( Notes

Preparation
Demolish(Existing(Structure 259,535 $15.00 $2,932,425
Clear(Existing(Site 322,780 $3.00 $968,340
Abatement $2,000,000

Subtotal(1 $5,900,765

Renovation
Rehab(Existing(MOB 64,040 $48.13 $3,081,925 Assumes(75%(Tier(1(and(25%(Tier(2(pricing
Tenant(Improvements(Allowance 64,040 $35.00 $2,241,400 Excludes(FF&E
FF&E(Allowance 64,040 $15.00 $960,600

Subtotal(2 $6,283,925

Soft(Costs((Based(on(Subtotal(2)
General(Conditions,(Overhead(&(Profit 10.00% $628,393
Permit/Review(Fees 0.50% $31,420
Special(Inspections(&(Testing 0.25% $15,710
Commissioning 0.25% $15,710
City(and(County(Sales(&(Use(Tax 4.845% $304,456
Contingency 5.00% $314,196
A/E(Fees(+(Entitlement 5.50% $345,616
Misc.(Development(Fees 1.00% $62,839

Subtotal(3 $1,718,339

Estimated&New&Construction&Cost &$&&&&&&&&217.10&
Assessed(Value $44,500,000 Boulder(County(Assessed(Value

Parking(Structure]2655(Broadway]391(spaces SF= ((((((((((((((((((((106,830( Built(1993 ($((((((((((((((((((6,100,000( Boulder(County(Assessed(Value

Upgrade(Parking(Equipment ($((((((((((((((((((((((100,000( Allowance

TOTAL&COST&G&OPTION&3

OPTION&3&G&Partial&Demo&&&Renovate&MOB

&$&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&13,903,029&

&$&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&64,603,029&

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 85Packet Page 263



UP DN

UP

DNUP

UP

U
P

UP

UP

UP

UP

UP

MECH.

FIT STOP

MEETING ROOM

ACCOUNTINGFOUNDATION

ADMIN.

AREA LEGEND

ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE

DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT

EDUCATION

ELEC

ELEVATOR

FOOD SERVICE

MECHANICAL

PHARMACY

STAIRS

SUPPORT

SURGERY
EVS

FOOD SERVICE

IT

VOLUNTEER SERVICES

FACILITIES MAINTENANCE

MORGUE

PHARMACY

MECH.
PURCHASING

IMAGING

IT

SURGERY STORAGE

MED. RECORD

LAUNDRY MECH.

FINANCE

ACCOUNTING

EVS

MECH.

STERILE PROCESSING

MED RECORDS

MEDICAL LIBRARY

MED RECORDS
ADMISSIONS

MECH.

MED RECORDS

PURCHASING

FOOD SERVICE

BIO-MED

SAFETY & SECURITY

V F

STAFF LOCKERS

PRE ADMISSIONS

FOUNDATION STORAGE

Project Number:

Drawn By:

Date: Sheet Number:Boulder  Associates, Inc.
Architecture + Interior Design
1426 Pearl Street, Suite 300
Boulder, Colorado 80302
303.499.7775 F 303.499.7767

101745.20

A. Keil

6.7.10

A2.0

BASEMENT

NORTH
1" = 40'-0"

Department Schedule (Basement)
Name Department Type Area FTE

ACCOUNTING ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 991 SF 12
ACCOUNTING ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1236 SF 13
ADMIN. ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 3977 SF 13
ADMISSIONS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1082 SF
BIO-MED ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1167 SF 4
ELEC ELEC 271 SF 0
ELEC ELEC 346 SF 0
EVS SUPPORT 1401 SF 39
EVS SUPPORT 511 SF
FACILITIES MAINTENANCE ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 2631 SF 12
FINANCE ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 921 SF
FIT STOP ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 733 SF 0
FOOD SERVICE FOOD SERVICE 6880 SF 35
FOOD SERVICE FOOD SERVICE 324 SF
FOOD SERVICE FOOD SERVICE 133 SF
FOUNDATION ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 810 SF 4
FOUNDATION ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 220 SF
FOUNDATION STORAGE ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 210 SF
IMAGING DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 2875 SF
IT SUPPORT 1315 SF
IT ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 267 SF
LAUNDRY SUPPORT 2443 SF 0
LAUNDRY SUPPORT 77 SF
MECH. MECHANICAL 5566 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 5015 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 3037 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 1099 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 1642 SF 0
MECH. SUPPORT 78 SF 12
MED RECORDS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 518 SF
MED RECORDS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 2678 SF 20
MED RECORDS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 336 SF
MED. RECORD ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1075 SF
MEDICAL LIBRARY EDUCATION 1165 SF 0
MEETING ROOM ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 2114 SF 0
MORGUE ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 890 SF 0
PHARMACY PHARMACY 2800 SF 22
PRE ADMISSIONS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1616 SF 0
PURCHASING ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 4032 SF 18
PURCHASING ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 2594 SF
RECYCLE SUPPORT 231 SF
SAFETY & SECURITY ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 82 SF 12
STAFF LOCKERS SUPPORT 1068 SF 39
STERILE PROCESSING SUPPORT 2950 SF 12
SURGERY STORAGE SURGERY 308 SF
VOLUNTEER SERVICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 428 SF
VOLUNTEER SERVICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 269 SF

92,407 GSF

BASEMENT:

67,267 USABLE SF

USABLE SF SUMMARY

BASEMENT:       67,267  SF
FLOOR 1:          102,682 SF
FLOOR 2:            59,200 SF
FLOOR 3:            52,002 SF
FLOOR 4:            11,960 SF
TOTAL 293,111 SF

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Appendix C

Agenda Item 5B     Page 86Packet Page 264



101A
CONSULT

104
ADMIT

103
TRIAGE

102
SECURITY

101
AITING

3

14 13 12 11 10 9 8

4 5 6 721

+44

+60

+44

+44

+44
+44

+44

+56

+44

+44

+44

+56 +56 +56 +56 +56 +56

+56

+48

+44

+56+56+56+56+56 +56

C

C

C

C

10

10

D D
S

C
P

FI
CAB

C
F

C P I

B
S

C
P

C
P

AB

D

D

S
P S

S

SPC

D

PCK
S D S

S
P S

S

AD ISSI

D
P

U  BA

S

P

PUS

PFA

S

S A

C
P

S

S

C
F

FI
CAB

C
S

AD

A D
C

P
A

B A
S

C
I

IC  A C

P
I CUB

F I

K

S A I

C
P

P
U

P
U

C

C
P

B
D
F I

P AS A

F

K

S A I

I

P

U D

C U
IS

A
F I

S
D U

F I

A BI

C

I
U

CAP

A UA

C

PUS

C
I

IK
C

I

C

P
AB

B
K

S
F

I
S

250

CI 1

AD IA

S A

S A

F I

A S
 B

AD IA

FUSI

CI 2

21A23A

P IS

F I .

I
CA

IC B A K
A UB  S A I

P U A IC

CA
C A S

P 4

P 6

P 4

P 5

I 2I 1

7  DI A.  C U  C
PI C  S I S 2000

 U I  P I  7

8 4

9 6

9 6

8 68 4

. . I
C SS D

 BU I I
IK

. .  I  C
A  U D

C

8 0

8 0

7 6

7 6

7 6

7 6

8 0

8 0

8 0

8 0

8 0

8 0

 A  B

S+30

S
+30

DN

UP DN

UP

DN

DN UP

C

D

101A

101

103A

103B

102102

104

AREA LEGEND

ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE

DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT

ELEC

ELEVATOR

EMERGENCY

IP CRITICAL CARE

LAB

STAIRS

SUPPORT

SURGERY

EMERGENCY DEPT. IMAGING

ADMISSIONS

MRI

LABORATORY

IMAGING INT. SUITE

SURGERY

CARDIOVASCULAR (CVC)

PACUICU

ADMISSIONS

ICU ADDITION

CMO

CHAPLAIN SERVICES

CHAPLAIN SERVICES

OCC

CARDIOVASCULAR
RECOVERY

CVC

SECURITY & SAFETY

LOADING DOCK

ELEC

EVS

ADMISSIONS

COFFEE KIOSK
TEMP REFERENCE LAB

PATIENT REP

Project Number:

Drawn By:

Date: Sheet Number:Boulder  Associates, Inc.
Architecture + Interior Design
1426 Pearl Street, Suite 300
Boulder, Colorado 80302
303.499.7775 F 303.499.7767

101745.20

A. Keil

6.7.10

A2.1

FLOOR 1
NORTH

1" = 40'-0"

Department Schedule (Fl r 1)
Name Department Type Area FTE

ADMISSIONS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 731 SF 36
ADMISSIONS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1949 SF
ADMISSIONS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 885 SF
CARDIOVASCULAR (CVC) DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 2301 SF 48
CARDIOVASCULAR RECOVERY DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 2590 SF
CHAPLAIN SERVICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 116 SF 2
CHAPLAIN SERVICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 170 SF
CMO ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 234 SF
COFFEE KIOSK ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 183 SF 36
CVC DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 844 SF
ELEC ELEC 115 SF
EMERGENCY DEPT. EMERGENCY 7713 SF 41
EVS SUPPORT 112 SF
ICU IP CRITICAL CARE 8259 SF 50
ICU ADDITION IP CRITICAL CARE 3215 SF
IMAGING DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 14546 SF 88
IMAGING INT. SUITE DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 1282 SF
IT SUPPORT 9 SF
LABORATORY LAB 8485 SF 50
LOADING DOCK SUPPORT 1082 SF
MRI DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 2385 SF
OCC SURGERY 8130 SF 25
PACU SURGERY 2973 SF
PATIENT REP ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 257 SF 0
SECURITY & SAFETY ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 76 SF
SURGERY SURGERY 13298 SF 48
SURGERY SURGERY 896 SF 48
TEMP REFERENCE LAB LAB 2443 SF 50

104,240 GSF

FLOOR 1:

102,682 USABLE SF

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 87Packet Page 265



A
P  D

IC

IC

A

F I .

F

A I B S

C A
I

P I

FA

P I

AREA LEGEND

ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE

DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT

ELEC

ELEVATOR

IP ACUTE CARE

MECHANICAL

ORTHO/NEURO

STAIRS

VACANT

2 EST ORTHO/NEURO

2 NORTH MED SURG

VOLUNTEER SERVICES

CVC GYM

SURGERY

IMAGING MAMMO

2 CENTRAL ORTHO/NEURO

CARDIOVASCULAR
HUMAN RESOURCES

INPATIENT REHAB
PHYSICIANS

ANES. SLEEP ROOMS

MECH.

ER OFFICES

CASE MANAGMENT

VACANT

MECH.

Project Number:

Drawn By:

Date: Sheet Number:Boulder  Associates, Inc.
Architecture + Interior Design
1426 Pearl Street, Suite 300
Boulder, Colorado 80302
303.499.7775 F 303.499.7767

101745.20

A. Keil

6.7.10

A2.2

FLOOR 2

NORTH
1" = 40'-0"

Department Schedule (Fl r 2)
Name Department Type Area FTE

2 CENTRAL ORTHO/NEURO ORTHO/NEURO 6586 SF
2 NORTH MED SURG IP ACUTE CARE 9362 SF 34
2 EST ORTHO/NEURO ORTHO/NEURO 14986 SF 47
ANES. SLEEP ROOMS ORTHO/NEURO 496 SF 0
CARDIOVASCULAR DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 2451 SF
CASE MANAGMENT ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1886 SF 2
CVC GYM DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 3170 SF
ELEC ELEC 14 SF 0
ER OFFICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 290 SF 2
HUMAN RESOURCES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1857 SF 10
IMAGING MAMMO DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 346 SF
INPATIENT REHAB PHYSICIANS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 610 SF
MECH. MECHANICAL 1226 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 715 SF 0
SURGERY IP ACUTE CARE 560 SF
VACANT VACANT 837 SF 2
VOLUNTEER SERVICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 736 SF 2

66,050 GSF

FLOOR 2:

59,200 USABLE SF

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 88Packet Page 266



1

S P
D .  1 2

S
P

D
. 1

4

S
P

D .  1 2

S
P

D .  1 2

S A

I

C

AI I

S

FFIC

I AK

S AFF
U

U S
S A I

FFIC

P C D U

D. AS

K

S

S A

C P I

I
DA A

1,179 SF

1,560 SF

323

A  D I I
U P  K I C

325
A U D

327

P I A

327a
B A

329a
B A

329

P I A

331a
B A

331

S I  P I A

333
S C U S I

333

S C U S I
A

333a

S C U S I
B A

336a

S A I
S I B U

335
F FI C

334a

C  B A

334

C  P I A

332

P I A

332a
B A 330a

B A

330

P I A

328a
B A

328

P I A

337
C I D

326c

C A S  C D .
F FI C

326

C A S  C D .
F FI C

326
C .

326a

C
F FI C

324
S A

322a

D .  P P .

322

P

322

U S S
S A I

340
S A

339

S A
P

320
B B 319

S A F F

318

C A
U I I

316

I

315

S I D
U I I

314
S

312

D  D I C A I
I I

310
F FI C

308a
B A

308

S I  P I A  
 D  A S

306a
B A

306

P I A  
 D  A S

304a
S A

304

P A I  F A I
D U .  I B A

302
C  U B

338
C I D

301a

I S I  S A I
S I B U

301

I S I
S A I

303
S C U S I

303

S C U S I
A

303a

S C U S I
B A

305

S I  P I A

305a
B A

307a
B A

307

P I A

309

P I A

309a
B A

311

P I A  
 D  A S

311a
B A

313

P C
F FI C

313a
I

317

C .

321

D A  
K I C

336

I S I
S A I

315a
S I B U

341

A
B B

F
C

F
C

D

DN

DN

3 NORTH INPATIENT
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH

3 EST PROGRESSIVE CARE

AREA LEGEND

DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT

ELEC

ELEVATOR

IMA

MECHANICAL

PROGRESSIVE CARE

STAIRS

SUPPORT

VACANT

ECT

3  VACANT

IT IMA

ECT

IT
ELEC

MECH.

MECH.

SERVER

Project Number:

Drawn By:

Date: Sheet Number:Boulder  Associates, Inc.
Architecture + Interior Design
1426 Pearl Street, Suite 300
Boulder, Colorado 80302
303.499.7775 F 303.499.7767

101745.20

A. Keil

6.7.10

A2.3

FLOOR 3
1" = 40'-0"

NORTH

Department Schedule (Fl r 3)
Name Department Type Area FTE

3  VACANT VACANT 7937 SF 0
3 NORTH INPATIENT BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 9778 SF 27
3 EST PROGRESSIVE CARE PROGRESSIVE CARE 12906 SF 50
ECT DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 1650 SF 6
ECT DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 1414 SF
ELEC ELEC 49 SF
IMA IMA 3982 SF 12
IT SUPPORT 1589 SF 47
IT SUPPORT 57 SF
MECH. MECHANICAL 837 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 236 SF 0
SERVER SUPPORT 786 SF 47

56,556 GSF

FLOOR 3:

52,002 USABLE SF

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 89Packet Page 267



7
0

423

P I A

425
U

421
C F .

417

422

 P I A

418

S A

420

 P I A

414

P

412

P I A

424

A S I I

413

P I A

451
S C D U

445
 FA I

KI C

445DI I

443
C.

439AU D

450
B A

436
D S

436
P A A C

434
C P .

432A CC SS

430C AI

435
S CIA

K FFIC

437
P

.

C
.

440U I I

438
S

433C
S

411
P I A

410
P I A

404
S P

C
AP

408
P I A

407
P I A

406
S P

C
AP

415

P I A

418A
 I .

425A
 I .

420A
I .

422A
I .

412A
I .

441DIC
.

405
CA DIA C

P I . 

403
P I A

402
P I A

401
P I A

400
P I A

452
BA

409
P I A

423A
I .

415A
I .

413A
I .

409A
I.

411A
I.

407A
I.

405A
 I.

403A
I.

401A
I.

400A
I.

402A
I.

408A
I.

410A
I.417A

I .

424A
I .

416
C I D

419C
ID

433C
ID

431S IBU

4 NORTH INPATIENT REHAB

AREA LEGEND

ELEVATOR

INPATIENT REHAB

MECHANICAL

STAIRS

Project Number:

Drawn By:

Date: Sheet Number:Boulder  Associates, Inc.
Architecture + Interior Design
1426 Pearl Street, Suite 300
Boulder, Colorado 80302
303.499.7775 F 303.499.7767

101745.20

A. Keil

6.7.10

A2.4

FLOOR 4
1" = 40'-0"

NORTH

Department Schedule (Fl r 4)
Name Department Type Area FTE

4 NORTH INPATIENT REHAB INPATIENT REHAB 9864 SF 48
MECH. MECHANICAL 107 SF
MECH. MECHANICAL 355 SF

12,417 GSF

FLOOR 4:

11,960 USABLE SF

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 90Packet Page 268



UP DN

UP

DNUP

UP

U
P

UP

UP

UP

UP

UP

MECH.

FIT STOP

MEETING ROOM

ACCOUNTINGFOUNDATION

ADMIN.

AREA LEGEND

ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE

DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT

EDUCATION

ELEC

ELEVATOR

FOOD SERVICE

MECHANICAL

PHARMACY

STAIRS

SUPPORT

SURGERY
EVS

FOOD SERVICE

IT

VOLUNTEER SERVICES

FACILITIES MAINTENANCE

MORGUE

PHARMACY

MECH.
PURCHASING

IMAGING

IT

SURGERY STORAGE

MED. RECORD

LAUNDRY MECH.

FINANCE

ACCOUNTING

EVS

MECH.

STERILE PROCESSING

MED RECORDS

MEDICAL LIBRARY

MED RECORDS
ADMISSIONS

MECH.

MED RECORDS

PURCHASING

FOOD SERVICE

BIO-MED

SAFETY & SECURITY

V F

STAFF LOCKERS

PRE ADMISSIONS

FOUNDATION STORAGE

Project Number:

Drawn By:

Date: Sheet Number:Boulder  Associates, Inc.
Architecture + Interior Design
1426 Pearl Street, Suite 300
Boulder, Colorado 80302
303.499.7775 F 303.499.7767

101745.20

A. Keil

6.7.10

A2.0

BASEMENT

NORTH
1" = 40'-0"

Department Schedule (Basement)
Name Department Type Area FTE

ACCOUNTING ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 991 SF 12
ACCOUNTING ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1236 SF 13
ADMIN. ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 3977 SF 13
ADMISSIONS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1082 SF
BIO-MED ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1167 SF 4
ELEC ELEC 271 SF 0
ELEC ELEC 346 SF 0
EVS SUPPORT 1401 SF 39
EVS SUPPORT 511 SF
FACILITIES MAINTENANCE ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 2631 SF 12
FINANCE ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 921 SF
FIT STOP ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 733 SF 0
FOOD SERVICE FOOD SERVICE 6880 SF 35
FOOD SERVICE FOOD SERVICE 324 SF
FOOD SERVICE FOOD SERVICE 133 SF
FOUNDATION ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 810 SF 4
FOUNDATION ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 220 SF
FOUNDATION STORAGE ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 210 SF
IMAGING DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 2875 SF
IT SUPPORT 1315 SF
IT ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 267 SF
LAUNDRY SUPPORT 2443 SF 0
LAUNDRY SUPPORT 77 SF
MECH. MECHANICAL 5566 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 5015 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 3037 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 1099 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 1642 SF 0
MECH. SUPPORT 78 SF 12
MED RECORDS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 518 SF
MED RECORDS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 2678 SF 20
MED RECORDS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 336 SF
MED. RECORD ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1075 SF
MEDICAL LIBRARY EDUCATION 1165 SF 0
MEETING ROOM ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 2114 SF 0
MORGUE ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 890 SF 0
PHARMACY PHARMACY 2800 SF 22
PRE ADMISSIONS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1616 SF 0
PURCHASING ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 4032 SF 18
PURCHASING ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 2594 SF
RECYCLE SUPPORT 231 SF
SAFETY & SECURITY ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 82 SF 12
STAFF LOCKERS SUPPORT 1068 SF 39
STERILE PROCESSING SUPPORT 2950 SF 12
SURGERY STORAGE SURGERY 308 SF
VOLUNTEER SERVICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 428 SF
VOLUNTEER SERVICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 269 SF

92,407 GSF

       TIER 1     29,002 SF
       TIER 2       7,500 SF
       TIER 3     10,100 SF
       TIER 4     43,556 SF
      TOTAL      92,158 SF

       ELEVATOR SHAFT

(5250)

(5075)

(3800)

(5025) (18,327)

(4250)

(6875)(43,556)

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

EXISTING AREA SUMMARY

BASEMENT         92,158 SF
FLOOR 1           103,879 SF
FLOOR 2  61,992 SF
FLOOR 3  53,124 SF
FLOOR 4  12,422 SF
 TOTAL  323,575 SF

Appendix D

Agenda Item 5B     Page 91Packet Page 269



101A
CONSULT

104
ADMIT

103
TRIAGE

102
SECURITY

101
AITING

3

14 13 12 11 10 9 8

4 5 6 721

+44

+60

+44

+44

+44
+44

+44

+56

+44

+44

+44

+56 +56 +56 +56 +56 +56

+56

+48

+44

+56+56+56+56+56 +56

C

C

C

C

10

10

D D
S

C
P

FI
CAB

C
F

C P I

B
S

C
P

C
P

AB

D

D

S
P S

S

SPC

D

PCK
S D S

S
P S

S

AD ISSI

D
P

U  BA

S

P

PUS

PFA

S

S A

C
P

S

S

C
F

FI
CAB

C
S

AD

A D
C

P
A

B A
S

C
I

IC  A C

P
I CUB

F I

K

S A I

C
P

P
U

P
U

C

C
P

B
D
F I

P AS A

F

K

S A I

I

P

U D

C U
IS

A
F I

S
D U

F I

A BI

C

I
U

CAP

A UA

C

PUS

C
I

IK
C

I

C

P
AB

B
K

S
F

I
S

250

CI 1

AD IA

S A

S A

F I

A S
 B

AD IA

FUSI

CI 2

21A23A

P IS

F I .

I
CA

IC B A K
A UB  S A I

P U A IC

CA
C A S

P 4

P 6

P 4

P 5

I 2I 1

7  DI A.  C U  C
PI C  S I S 2000

 U I  P I  7

8 4

9 6

9 6

8 68 4

. . I
C SS D

 BU I I
IK

. .  I  C
A  U D

C

8 0

8 0

7 6

7 6

7 6

7 6

8 0

8 0

8 0

8 0

8 0

8 0

 A  B

S+30

S
+30

DN

UP DN

UP

DN

DN UP

C

D

101A

101

103A

103B

102102

104

AREA LEGEND

ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE

DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT

ELEC

ELEVATOR

EMERGENCY

IP CRITICAL CARE

LAB

STAIRS

SUPPORT

SURGERY

EMERGENCY DEPT. IMAGING

ADMISSIONS

MRI

LABORATORY

IMAGING INT. SUITE

SURGERY

CARDIOVASCULAR (CVC)

PACUICU

ADMISSIONS

ICU ADDITION

CMO

CHAPLAIN SERVICES

CHAPLAIN SERVICES

OCC

CARDIOVASCULAR
RECOVERY

CVC

SECURITY & SAFETY

LOADING DOCK

ELEC

EVS

ADMISSIONS

COFFEE KIOSK
TEMP REFERENCE LAB

PATIENT REP

Project Number:

Drawn By:

Date: Sheet Number:Boulder  Associates, Inc.
Architecture + Interior Design
1426 Pearl Street, Suite 300
Boulder, Colorado 80302
303.499.7775 F 303.499.7767

101745.20

A. Keil

6.7.10

A2.1

FLOOR 1
NORTH

1" = 40'-0"

Department Schedule (Fl r 1)
Name Department Type Area FTE

ADMISSIONS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 731 SF 36
ADMISSIONS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1949 SF
ADMISSIONS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 885 SF
CARDIOVASCULAR (CVC) DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 2301 SF 48
CARDIOVASCULAR RECOVERY DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 2590 SF
CHAPLAIN SERVICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 116 SF 2
CHAPLAIN SERVICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 170 SF
CMO ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 234 SF
COFFEE KIOSK ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 183 SF 36
CVC DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 844 SF
ELEC ELEC 115 SF
EMERGENCY DEPT. EMERGENCY 7713 SF 41
EVS SUPPORT 112 SF
ICU IP CRITICAL CARE 8259 SF 50
ICU ADDITION IP CRITICAL CARE 3215 SF
IMAGING DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 14546 SF 88
IMAGING INT. SUITE DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 1282 SF
IT SUPPORT 9 SF
LABORATORY LAB 8485 SF 50
LOADING DOCK SUPPORT 1082 SF
MRI DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 2385 SF
OCC SURGERY 8130 SF 25
PACU SURGERY 2973 SF
PATIENT REP ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 257 SF 0
SECURITY & SAFETY ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 76 SF
SURGERY SURGERY 13298 SF 48
SURGERY SURGERY 896 SF 48
TEMP REFERENCE LAB LAB 2443 SF 50

104,240 GSF

       TIER 1       1,082 SF
       TIER 2     13,565 SF
       TIER 3              0 SF
       TIER 4     89,232 SF
      TOTAL    103,879 SF

       ELEVATOR SHAFT

(10,000)(1082)

(89,232)

(3565)

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 92Packet Page 270



A
P  D

IC

IC

A

F I .

F

A I B S

C A
I

P I

FA

P I

AREA LEGEND

ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE

DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT

ELEC

ELEVATOR

IP ACUTE CARE

MECHANICAL

ORTHO/NEURO

STAIRS

VACANT

2 EST ORTHO/NEURO

2 NORTH MED SURG

VOLUNTEER SERVICES

CVC GYM

SURGERY

IMAGING MAMMO

2 CENTRAL ORTHO/NEURO

CARDIOVASCULAR
HUMAN RESOURCES

INPATIENT REHAB
PHYSICIANS

ANES. SLEEP ROOMS

MECH.

ER OFFICES

CASE MANAGMENT

VACANT

MECH.

Project Number:

Drawn By:

Date: Sheet Number:Boulder  Associates, Inc.
Architecture + Interior Design
1426 Pearl Street, Suite 300
Boulder, Colorado 80302
303.499.7775 F 303.499.7767

101745.20

A. Keil

6.7.10

A2.2

FLOOR 2

NORTH
1" = 40'-0"

Department Schedule (Fl r 2)
Name Department Type Area FTE

2 CENTRAL ORTHO/NEURO ORTHO/NEURO 6586 SF
2 NORTH MED SURG IP ACUTE CARE 9362 SF 34
2 EST ORTHO/NEURO ORTHO/NEURO 14986 SF 47
ANES. SLEEP ROOMS ORTHO/NEURO 496 SF 0
CARDIOVASCULAR DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 2451 SF
CASE MANAGMENT ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1886 SF 2
CVC GYM DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 3170 SF
ELEC ELEC 14 SF 0
ER OFFICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 290 SF 2
HUMAN RESOURCES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 1857 SF 10
IMAGING MAMMO DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 346 SF
INPATIENT REHAB PHYSICIANS ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 610 SF
MECH. MECHANICAL 1226 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 715 SF 0
SURGERY IP ACUTE CARE 560 SF
VACANT VACANT 837 SF 2
VOLUNTEER SERVICES ADMIN/PUBLIC SPACE 736 SF 2

66,050 GSF

       TIER 1 0 SF
       TIER 2     18,139 SF
       TIER 3     24,935 SF
       TIER 4     18,738 SF
      TOTAL     61,992 SF

(15,573)

(9,362)

       ELEVATOR SHAFT

(18,320)

(18,738)

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 93Packet Page 271



1

S P
D .  1 2

S
P

D
. 1

4

S
P

D .  1 2

S
P

D .  1 2

S A

I

C

AI I

S

FFIC

I AK

S AFF
U

U S
S A I

FFIC

P C D U

D. AS

K

S

S A

C P I

I
DA A

1,179 SF

1,560 SF

323

A  D I I
U P  K I C

325
A U D

327

P I A

327a
B A

329a
B A

329

P I A

331a
B A

331

S I  P I A

333
S C U S I

333

S C U S I
A

333a

S C U S I
B A

336a

S A I
S I B U

335
F FI C

334a

C  B A

334

C  P I A

332

P I A

332a
B A 330a

B A

330

P I A

328a
B A

328

P I A

337
C I D

326c

C A S  C D .
F FI C

326

C A S  C D .
F FI C

326
C .

326a

C
F FI C

324
S A

322a

D .  P P .

322

P

322

U S S
S A I

340
S A

339

S A
P

320
B B 319

S A F F

318

C A
U I I

316

I

315

S I D
U I I

314
S

312

D  D I C A I
I I

310
F FI C

308a
B A

308

S I  P I A  
 D  A S

306a
B A

306

P I A  
 D  A S

304a
S A

304

P A I  F A I
D U .  I B A

302
C  U B

338
C I D

301a

I S I  S A I
S I B U

301

I S I
S A I

303
S C U S I

303

S C U S I
A

303a

S C U S I
B A

305

S I  P I A

305a
B A

307a
B A

307

P I A

309

P I A

309a
B A

311

P I A  
 D  A S

311a
B A

313

P C
F FI C

313a
I

317

C .

321

D A  
K I C

336

I S I
S A I

315a
S I B U

341

A
B B

F
C

F
C

D

DN

DN

3 NORTH INPATIENT
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH

3 EST PROGRESSIVE CARE

AREA LEGEND

DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT

ELEC

ELEVATOR

IMA

MECHANICAL

PROGRESSIVE CARE

STAIRS

SUPPORT

VACANT

ECT

3  VACANT

IT IMA

ECT

IT
ELEC

MECH.

MECH.

SERVER

Project Number:

Drawn By:

Date: Sheet Number:Boulder  Associates, Inc.
Architecture + Interior Design
1426 Pearl Street, Suite 300
Boulder, Colorado 80302
303.499.7775 F 303.499.7767

101745.20

A. Keil

6.7.10

A2.3

FLOOR 3
1" = 40'-0"

NORTH

Department Schedule (Fl r 3)
Name Department Type Area FTE

3  VACANT VACANT 7937 SF 0
3 NORTH INPATIENT BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 9778 SF 27
3 EST PROGRESSIVE CARE PROGRESSIVE CARE 12906 SF 50
ECT DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 1650 SF 6
ECT DIAGNOSTIC & TREATMENT 1414 SF
ELEC ELEC 49 SF
IMA IMA 3982 SF 12
IT SUPPORT 1589 SF 47
IT SUPPORT 57 SF
MECH. MECHANICAL 837 SF 0
MECH. MECHANICAL 236 SF 0
SERVER SUPPORT 786 SF 47

56,556 GSF

       TIER 1     10,000 SF
TIER 2       8,317 SF

       TIER 3     23,200 SF
       TIER 4     11,597 SF
      TOTAL     53,124 SF

(5000)

(4783)

(2283)

(1300)

(14,000)

       ELEVATOR SHAFT

(4200)

(4119)

(8327)

(10,000)

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 94Packet Page 272



7
0

423

P I A

425
U

421
C F .

417

422

 P I A

418

S A

420

 P I A

414

P

412

P I A

424

A S I I

413

P I A

451
S C D U

445
 FA I

KI C

445DI I

443
C.

439AU D

450
B A

436
D S

436
P A A C

434
C P .

432A CC SS

430C AI

435
S CIA

K FFIC

437
P

.

C
.

440U I I

438
S

433C
S

411
P I A

410
P I A

404
S P

C
AP

408
P I A

407
P I A

406
S P

C
AP

415

P I A

418A
 I .

425A
 I .

420A
I .

422A
I .

412A
I .

441DIC
.

405
CA DIA C

P I . 

403
P I A

402
P I A

401
P I A

400
P I A

452
BA

409
P I A

423A
I .

415A
I .

413A
I .

409A
I.

411A
I.

407A
I.

405A
 I.

403A
I.

401A
I.

400A
I.

402A
I.

408A
I.

410A
I.417A

I .

424A
I .

416
C I D

419C
ID

433C
ID

431S IBU

4 NORTH INPATIENT REHAB

AREA LEGEND

ELEVATOR

INPATIENT REHAB

MECHANICAL

STAIRS

Project Number:

Drawn By:

Date: Sheet Number:Boulder  Associates, Inc.
Architecture + Interior Design
1426 Pearl Street, Suite 300
Boulder, Colorado 80302
303.499.7775 F 303.499.7767

101745.20

A. Keil

6.7.10

A2.4

FLOOR 4
1" = 40'-0"

NORTH

Department Schedule (Fl r 4)
Name Department Type Area FTE

4 NORTH INPATIENT REHAB INPATIENT REHAB 9864 SF 48
MECH. MECHANICAL 107 SF
MECH. MECHANICAL 355 SF

12,417 GSF

       TIER 1              0 SF
       TIER 2       7,639 SF
       TIER 3              0 SF
       TIER 4       4,783 SF
      TOTAL      12,422 SF

(6339)

(4783)

(1300)

       ELEVATOR SHAFT

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 95Packet Page 273



2"Jun"15

Location Address -Square-
footage-

Divisions-located-within Public-services-provided

#-of-Staff-
(not-

including-
vacancies*)

Functional-Services Category Civic-Area Civic-Area-or-
BCH

North-Campus-(BCH) OffGCampusGOther

1("(Community
2("Business/Commercial(

Services
3("(Internal(Service

((((((((((((((23,657( 86

CMO 2 ((((((((((((((((((((((((((9,720(

23 CAO 3 ((((((((((((((((((((((((10,800(

((((((((((((((((1,220( Central(Records 2 (((((((((((((((((1,500(

Finance( 3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((14,400(

UTB 2 (((((((((((((((((1,600(

2 Future(Leased(Space tbd ((((((((((((((((5,300(tbd tbd

3 Park(Central(Building 1739(Broadway ((((((((((((((20,910(PW,(CP&S Planning(review,(Building(
Permits

93 All(Park(Central 2 (((((((((((((((33,480(

CP&S((Energy(Future/LEAD) 2 (((((((((((((((((6,000(

Trans(Engr;(PW(Admin 3 (((((((((((((((((8,000(

Housing 2 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((((5,400(
Econ(Vitality 2 (((((((((((((((((1,440(

Civic(Area 3 ((((((((((((((((((((((((((1,080(
6 1301(Arapahoe 1301(Arapahoe ((((((((((((((((2,080(Finance"Risk(Management 5 Risk(Mgmt 3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((((1,500(

20

14 FAM 3 (Relocate(to(MSC(
6 Parks(Maintenance 3 2000

8 1720(14th(Street 1720(14th(Street ((((((((((((((((4,429(CP&S(Finance;(Building/ROW(
Inspectors

16 CP&S/PW(Finance(and(
Inspectors

3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((((5,000(

9 Justice(Center((Muni(Court) 1777(6th(Street ((((((((((((((((7,587(Municipal(Court;(Prosecutors Municipal(court 24 Muni(Court 1 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((12,000(
10 Center(Green 3065(Center(Green(Drive ((((((((((((((31,000(HR,(IT,(Fire,(IR Fire(plans(review 108 All(Center(Green 3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((31,000(

Human(Services 1 tbd
MOW tenant tbd

12 Children,(Youth,(And(Family(Services 2160(Spruce(Street ((((((((((((((((5,215(Human(Services CYF 14 CYF 1 tbd
13 Main(Library 1001(Arapahoe ((((((((((((((84,760(Library/Arts( Library 74 Library(/(Arts 1 Stay(in"place

14 Main(Library"north(section 1000(Canyon(Boulevard ((((((((((((((((3,185(Channel(8,(Communications 12 Channel(8(/(
Communications

3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((((7,520(

15 Library("(Carnegie(Branch 1125(Pine(Street ((((((((((((((((5,610(Library 3 1 Stay(in"place
16 Library("(George(Reynolds(Branch 3595(Table(Mesa(Drive ((((((((((((((10,371(Library 6 1 Stay(in"place
17 Library("(Meadows(Branch 4800(Baseline ((((((((((((((((7,812(Library 6 1 Stay(in"place
18 Library("(North(Boulder(Annex 4600(Broadway (((((((((((((((((((570(Library 0 1 Stay(in"place

19 D(U(H(M(D/(Parking(Services 1401(Walnut(Street (((((((((((100,000(DUHMD For(special(event,(mall(and(
parking(permits

44 2/3 Stay(in"place

20 11th(&(Spruce 1104(Spruce (((((((((((159,236(DUHMD 3 1 Stay(in"place

21 Iris(Center 3198(Broadway ((((((((((((((16,372(Parks(and(Recreation Reduced(Rate,(Shelter(
Rentals,(Class(registration

31 P&R(Staff 2/3 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((11,160(

22 Cherryvale(Open(Space(Operations(Center 66(S(Cherryvale(Road ((((((((((((((10,436(OSMP 77 2/3 (((((((((((((((27,720(
*(Average(vacancy(rate(for(the(city(at(any(given(time(is(13"
15%

Civic-Area Civic-Area-or-
BCH

North-Campus-(BCH) Muni-Court Total-Space-Need

Space-Needs-Totals-
(Min)

------------------------23,600- (((((((((((((((79,740( ---------------------------76,780- 12,000

G-Add-15%-due-to-
vacancies

------------------------27,140- (((((((((((((((91,701( ---------------------------88,297- 12,000 219,138 

Scenario North-Campus-(BCH)
Muni(Building East(Bookend West(Bookend

23,600 0 16,200 (((((((((((((((((((((((((195,538(
CMO,(CAO,(City(
Council

Human(Services,(
Senior(Services,(CYF

23,600((((((((((((((((((((((( 143,635(((((((((((( 16,200 (((((((((((((((((((((((((((63,503(

Muni(Courts Human(Services,(
Senior(Services,(CYF

((((((((((((((((((((((((23,600( (((((((((((((((39,123( 16,200 (((((((((((((((((((((((((180,015(

Community(Space Human(Services,(
Senior(Services,(CYF

1(North(Campus

2(East(Campus(+(BCH(
Pavilion

3(Split(Campus(+(
Muni((Comm.(Use)

Finance/UTB/CMO(((((((((
CMO/CAO/Central(Records

Utility(billing,(green(tag,(
dog(licensing,(sales(tax,(
MMJ,(RMJ,(Central(
Records,(City(Clerk

Public(Works,(P&R,(Conf(Room

CP&S,(Transportation4

5

7

((((((((((((((12,392( 19
Housing;(Economic(Vitality,(

Civic(Area,(P&R Housing,(EV

1720(13th,(Unit(N ((((((((((((((((5,750(

909(Arapahoe(Avenue

1

New(Britain(Building 1101(Arapahoe(Avenue ((((((((((((((13,851( 32

11 ((((((((((((((16,188( 15Human(Services,(MOW Senior(services,(MOW

Civic-Area

Future-Scenarios-for-North-Campus-at-BCH-G-DRAFT
Recommended(SF(and(Location

Municipal(Building

Atrium(Building

Building(Maintenance((FAM)(/(Parks(Maintenance((P&R)

West(Senior(Center

1777(Broadway

1300(Canyon(Boulevard

Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 96Packet Page 274



Attachment E - Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of Costs for Redevelopment, June 2015

Agenda Item 5B     Page 97Packet Page 275



June 16 
City Council 
Public Hearing & Action

May 21
Planning Board 
Public Hearing & Action

Nov. 2015
Parks & Rec Advisory 
Board
Public Hearing & Action

Dec. 2015
Planning Board
Public Hearing & Action

Jan. 2016
City Council
Public Hearing & Action

Construction Begins 2016

July 15 
Open House
Tentatively 6-8
BMoCA

June 10 & 11
Nature Play 
Workshops

July 30 
City Council
Briefing

May 28
Employee Open House

Fall 2015
Employee Check inAt

ri
um

 T
es

t F
it 

St
ud

y
At

ri
um

 T
es

t F
it 

St
ud

y

Park Site PlanP
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 S
pa

ce
 A

na
ly

si
s

M
ar

ke
t H

al
l F

ea
si

bi
lit

y 
St

ud
y

C
ivic A

rea D
esign

 In
spiration

M
as

te
rp

la
n

U
rb

an
 D

es
ig

n 
G

ui
de

lin
es

 T
es

t F
it

Parking/TDM Focus Groups

P
ilo

t T
D

M
 S

tr
at

eg
ie

s

P
ar

ki
ng

/A
cc

es
s 

Rec
co

mendations

2015/2016 Process & Timeline
Ongoing Studies Key Engagement 

Opportunities
Park Site Plan

Attachment F - Civic Area: 2015/2016 Process and Timeline

Agenda Item 5B     Page 98Packet Page 276



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE 

Report of the City Attorney Regarding February 19, 2015 Planning Board Meeting. 

PRESENTERS 

Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 

At the March 3, 2015, council meeting, council directed me to look into allegations that there 
were irregularities relating to the planning board’s recommendation on ordinance number 8028.  
There was a concern expressed that the motion may have been the result of a pre-agreement 
among several planning board members.  Such a meeting could have been a violation of the 
Colorado Open Meetings Act.  I have reviewed the video of the meeting and spoken with all 
planning board members.  In addition, I have asked for and reviewed all emails relating to the 
motion.  Based on all of the information that I have obtained, I am convinced that Crystal Gray 
drafted the motion herself, without the assistance or prior knowledge of any other planning board 
member. 

Based on all of the evidence that I have seen, I am convinced that there was no wrongdoing at 
the February 19, 2015 planning board meeting.  In fact, because much of the planning board’s 
work involves quasi-judicial matters, board members are scrupulous about not discussing matters 
with one another.  In my conversations with the planning board members, whether they 
supported or opposed the motion, there was unanimous agreement that there was nothing 
improper. 

Agenda Item 7A     Page 1Packet Page 277



Packet Page 278



Packet Page 279



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Project 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

CC: Open Access Transmission Tariff    

SS: Power Supply 
SS (2): Rates, Energy Services, Power 

Supply
Project update  Project update

 Budget update  Budget update  Budget update  Budget update
Staff Activities Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan

Council 
SS: Review interim goals, targets and 

strategies

Staff Activities Launch action plan 
Energy system transformation; blue 

print convening Implementation based on action plan Implementation based on action plan

Council Briefing SS (2)

Staff Activities
Housing Matters launch event, 

engagement activities 
Draft strategy development

Implementation based on adopted 
strategy

Implementation based on adopted 
strategy

SS: Direction of preferred scenario SS : Draft plan and action plan

Next Corridor - 30th St or Colorado

Staff Activities Develop East Arapahoe action plan
Council SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Develop scoping plan Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development
Council SS Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Issues identification Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development
Council Update and coordinate with BVCP Update and coordinate with BVCP

Staff Activities

Council Briefing Briefing
Staff Activities

SS : Review options & Update; 
including recommendations for TDM 

tool kit for new development

Council action on TDM Tool Kit for 
new development

Recommendations including planning 
code changes

SS: Review options and update 
Ongoing work plan in 7 focus areas Ongoing work plan Ongoing work plan Ongoing work plan
Alternatives analysis and specific 

option development

Specific option 

development/refinements
Joint Board workshop & public 

engagement
Joint Board workshop & public 

engagement

Council

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan

Sustainable Streets and Centers/ East Arapahoe

Council 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

C
li

m
a

te
 a

n
d

 
E

n
er

g
y

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy (Housing 
Boulder)

 Energy Future and Associated Projects 

H
o

u
si

n
g

/L
a

n
d

 U
se

 
P

la
n

n
in

g

Climate Commitment

Resilience

Transportation Master Plan Implementation

Staff and elected official activities ongoing 
Regional Travel

Access Management and Parking Strategy (AMPS)

Staff Activities

Council

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 1 3/26/2015
Packet Page 280



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Project 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council SS: Parkland Concepts Plan CC: Approval of Concept Plan
Outreach to community & partners; 

create delivery plan for spring, 
summer, fall events

Deliver spring events Deliver summer activities and events
Review 2015 activation; compare lessons 

from 2014 and revise for 2016

Draft of parkland concept plan options 
for public workshop, Boards, Council 

review 

Board/Commission input on Concept 
Plan

Begin detailed design work on park 
improvements

Complete detailed design work for 
bidding 

Develop overall site master plan 
concepts, begin to formulate major 

capital projects

Initial feasibility planning on major 
capital projects

Continue to develop capital projects, 
identify potential partners, explore 

financing options

Continue to develop capital projects, 
identify potential partners, explore 

financing options

Council IP and local meals for Council Pilot

Council consideration of Local Food 
Procurement Policy; Review and 

acceptance of Ag Resources 

Management Plan

Council consideration of Local Food 
Procurement Policy; Review and 

acceptance of Ag Resources Management 

Plan

Staff Activities

SS: Review options IP 
CC: Public Hearing and Decision                                                                                                          

Recommendation & development of 
ordinances, changes and recommend 

other strategies to address 
Moratorium goals 

Follow up on other strategies & 
coordination with Hill Reinvestment 
Strategy; incorporate strategies into 

other work plan

Board review & public engagement Board review & public engagement

 Direction  on 14th Street 
redevelopment proposal 

SS 

SS: Update on strategy 
Residential service district (RSD) pilot 

program
RSD pilot program RSD pilot program RSD pilot program

Work plan implementation Work plan implementation Work plan implementation On-going work plan  implementation

Establish benchmarks  and evaluation 
criteria

Commercial district: Eco Pass Study & 
Commercial bear dumpsters

Implement volunteer program for 
clean up

Evaluate existing programs

Integration of strategy 
recommendations from Moratorium

Research options for sustainable 
governance & funding

Develop options for sustainable 
governance & funding

14th Street Lot public/private 
partnership redevelopment options re: 

work force affordable housing

14th Street Lot public/private 
partnership redevelopment options 

re: work force affordable housing

Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement

Council IP: 2014 Accomplishments 
SS: As part of Human Services strategy 

update 
IP - Services and Regional coordination 

update
Staff Activities

Council 
Council update and input on testing 

phase
Briefing

SS: Adoption of Community Cultural 
Plan

Staff Activities
Research phase complete. Drafting 

phase complete. Testing phase begins
Testing phase complete. Certification 

phase begins
Implementation begins. New public art 

policy drafting
Public Art Policy drafting 

L
iv

a
b

il
it

y
L

o
ca

l 
F

o
o

d

Sustainable Agriculture and Local Foods 

Homeless Action Plan

C
iv

ic
 A

re
a

Community Cultural Plan 

Staff Activities

University Hill Moratorium

Council

Council

Staff Activities

 University Hill  Reinvestment Strategy 

Civic Area Implementation
Staff Activities

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 2 3/26/2015
Packet Page 281



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Projects 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council 

Staff Activities Ongoing redevelopment coordination
North Side of Pearl and Goose Creek 

bridge landscaping install. Bridge 
opens 

Depot Square opens 

Council Ongoing and Wastewater Collection 

System Rehabilitation program begins

Ongoing SS: 2016-2021 CIP Ongoing

Staff Activities

Council Report on 2015 City Events Summary of 2015 City Events

Staff Activities
Implement new events application and 

internal review process
Refine systems as needed Refine systems as needed

Improve events application for new 
online Landlinks System in 2016

Council SS SS

Staff Activities
Broadband Action Group formation 

and consultant assessment 
Consultant assessment continued Consultant assessment continued Present findings and recommendations 

Council
SS: Staff Recommendations design 

tools/process changes 
IP

CC: Draft recommendations/Adopt 
strategy 

Staff Activities
Issues identification/  preliminary  

work on design tools/ process changes
Technical analysis /develop options Draft recommendations

Public engagement Boards/public engagement Boards/public engagement 

Council

Staff Activities Flood Annexations - Individual Flood Annexations - Old Tale Rd Ongoing Ongoing

Council SS Public Hearing 
Staff Activities

Council

IP: Stormwater Master Plan and 
Wastewater Collection System Master 

Plan consideration

Staff
Stormwater Master Plan and 

Wastewater Collection System Master 
Plan updates continue

Stormwater Master Plan and 
Wastewater Collection System Master 

Plan updates continue

Council CC: Second reading 

Staff Activities Education campaign Enforcement begins Monitor Outcomes Monitor Outcomes

Council SS

Staff Activities
Research regulations and possible fees 

or taxes 

Human Services Strategy

O
th

er

 Boulder Junction

Capital Projects Activity 

CityWide Special Events 

Community Broadband

Design Excellence

 Flood-related  Annexations 

 Flood Management 

Smoking Ban - Implementation

Vacation Rental by Owner (VRBO)

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 3 3/26/2015
Packet Page 282



                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew Appelbaum  Mayor 
Suzanne Jones  Mayor Pro Tem 
Macon Cowles  Council Member 

George Karakehian  Council Member 
Lisa Morzel  Council Member 

Tim Plass  Council Member 
Andrew Shoemaker  Council Member 

Sam Weaver  Council Member 
Mary Young  Council Member 

                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Mary Ann Weideman 
Bob Eichem 

 Assistant City Manager 
Chief Financial Officer 

Alisa D. Lewis  City Clerk 
Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 

David Driskell  Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability and 
Acting Director of Housing 

Molly Winter  Downtown, University Hill Management & Parking Services 
Director 

Heather Bailey  Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 
Development  

Michael Calderazzo  Fire Chief 
Joyce Lira  Human Resources Director 

Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 
Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 

Eileen Gomez  Labor Relations Director 
David Farnan  Library and Arts Director 

James Cho  Municipal Court Administrator 
Tracy Winfree  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Yvette Bowden  Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa  Police Chief 

Maureen Rait  Executive Director of Public Works 
Cheryl Pattelli  Director of Fiscal Services 
Mike Sweeney  Acting Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 
 

Packet Page 283



 Approved   02-17-2015 

 
 

2015 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Young, Morzel (alternate) 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones,  Cowles (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Jones, Plass 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum, Cowles 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Morzel (at large seat), Plass 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU)/City Oversight Cowles, Shoemaker, Weaver 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum 
US36 Commuting Solutions Karakehian, Morzel (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Jones 

 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Young 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Plass, Cowles (alternate) 
Dairy Center for the Arts Jones 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board  Weaver, Young 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Cowles, Morzel, Shoemaker 
Boards and Commissions Committee Plass, Shoemaker 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)  
Mayoral Appointment 

Karakehian 

Charter Committee Karakehian, Morzel, Weaver 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Karakehian, Morzel, Young 
Council Employees Salary Review Cowles, Shoemaker 
Council Retreat Committee Jones, Morzel 
Evaluation Committee Morzel, Plass 
Housing Strategy Process Sub-Committee Morzel, Shoemaker, Young 
Legislative Committee Jones, Karakehian, Weaver 
School Issues Committee Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker 
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Weaver 
Yamagata, Japan Plass 
Mante, Mexico Young 
Yateras, Cuba Karakehian, Cowles (alternate) 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, , Karakehian 
 

Packet Page 284



2015 Study Session Calendar

6/11/20153:31 PM

1
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59

60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
7071
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84

85
86
87
88
89

A B C D E F G H I

Date Status Topic Location Contacts
Materials 

Due

Draft 
Summary 

Due

Final 
Summary 

Due

06/23/15
06/30/15

Approved Ballot Measures 6-7:30 PM Chambers Elena Lazarevska/Bob Eichem 07/02/15 07/23/15 07/29/15
Approved Discussion on Potential Head Tax 7:30-9 PM Chambers Elena Lazarevska/Bob Eichem

Approved Briefing: Civic Area Park Site Plan Update 5:30-6 PM Chambers Jeff Haley/Melinda Melton N/A N/A N/A
Approved Climate Commitment Goal and Strategy Proposal 6-7:30 PM Chambers Brett KenCairn/Melinda Melton 07/16/15 08/06/15 08/12/15
Approved West Fourmile area (Ponderosa MHP) planning grant 7:30-9 PM Chambers Chris Meschuk/Melinda Melton 07/16/15 08/06/15 08/12/15

Approved 2016 CIP Study Session 6-7:30 PM Chambers Elena Lazarevska/Bob Eichem 07/30/15 08/20/15 08/26/15
Approved Form-Based Code Pilot 7:30-9 PM Chambers Sam Assefa/Melinda Melton 07/30/15 08/20/15 08/26/15

OPEN Briefing: BVCP Update 5:30-6 PM Chambers Lesli Ellis/Melinda Melton N/A N/A N/A
Approved TMP Implementation Follow Up (pending first check-in on 2/24) 6-7:30 PM Chambers Randall Rutsch/Rene Lopez 08/13/15 09/03/15 09/09/15

Approved
 East Arapahoe Transportation Analysis and Phase II Medical 
Office Use 7:30-9 PM Chambers Randall Rutsch/Rene Lopez 08/13/15 09/03/15 09/09/15

Approved 2016 Budget Study Session 6-7:30 PM Chambers Elena Lazarevska/Bob Eichem 08/27/15 09/17/15 09/23/15
Approved Emerald Ash Borer 7:30-9 PM Chambers Kathleen Alexander/Sally Dieterich 08/27/15 09/17/15 09/23/15

OPEN Briefing: 5:30-6 PM Chambers N/A N/A N/A
Approved 2016 Budget Study Session 6-7:30 PM Chambers Elena Lazarevska/Bob Eichem 09/10/15 10/01/15 10/07/15
Approved Mobile Home Parks 7:30-9 PM Chambers 09/10/15 10/01/15 10/07/15

No Meeting 6-7:30 PM Chambers 09/17/15 10/08/15 10/14/15
7:30-9 PM Chambers

OPEN Briefing: 5:30-6 PM Chambers N/A N/A N/A
Approved Resilience Strategy Study Session 6-7:30 PM Chambers Greg Guibert/Melinda Melton 10/01/15 10/22/15 10/28/15
Approved 30th and Pearl City-owned Site Options (moved from 7/28, 9/29) 7:30-9 PM Chambers David Driskell/Melinda Melton 10/01/15 10/22/15 10/28/15

Approved Briefing: Boulder Energy Future 5:30-6 PM Chambers Heather Bailey/Heidi Joyce N/A N/A N/A
Human Services Strategy Update 6-7:30 PM chambers Karen Rahn 10/15/15 11/05/15 11/11/15
Homelessness 7:30-9 PM Chambers Karen Rahn 10/15/15 11/05/15 11/11/15

AMPS Update 6-7:30 PM Chambers Molly Winter/Ruth Weiss 10/29/15 11/19/15 11/25/15
Broadband Working Group Status Update 7:30-9 PM Chambers Don Ingle

11/24/15

Approved Utility Rate Study: Preliminary Findings 6-7:30 PM Chambers Eric Ameigh/Jeff Arthur/Rene Lopez 11/25/15 12/17/15 12/23/15
Hill Reinvestment Strategy Update 7:30-9 PM Chambers Molly Winters/Ruth Weiss 11/25/15 12/17/15 12/23/15

12/22/15
12/29/15

11/10/15

12/08/15

08/25/15

09/08/15

9/17/2015 
(tentative)

09/29/15

10/13/15

10/27/15

Christmas Holiday Week

Council Recess June 17-July 12

Thanksgiving Holiday Week

07/14/15

07/30/15

08/11/15

Council Recess June 17-July 12

New Years Holiday Week

Packet Page 285



CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Contact
Preliminary: 7/16 :: Final 7/22

Agenda Section Item Name Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Minutes
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT Study Session Summary for 6/9 BVCP/Resilience item 15 Minutes Lesli Ellis/Melinda Melton

Study Session summary for 4/28 AMPS Update Jay Sugnet/Ruth Weiss
1st rdg ord/agr for City water service 4400 Peach Court Jeff Hirt/Melinda Melton
1st rdg Landmark Designation ord 2245 Pine James Hewatt/Melinda Melton
Study Session Summary for 6/9 Housing Boulder item Jay Sugnet/Edy Urken

1st Rdg Ordinance re Short Term Rental Tax yes Tom Carr/Heather Hayward
1st Rdg Ordinance re Acquisition of prop 28th st fm Pearl to Glenwood for 
Transportation Improvement projects Noreen Walsh/Erin Raney
1st Rdg Ordinance vacating a sidewalk easement 2460 Iris Avenue Sloane Walbert/Melinda Melton
Ordinance #8053 re Charter Revisions for the Library yes Jennifer Miles/Carrie Mills
1st Rdg Ordinance re Occupancy Extension Tax yes Tom Carr/Heather Hayward

PUBLIC HEARINGS BVCP schedule, work plan, and process for landowners and the general public to 
submit requests for changes to the plan

45 Minutes no yes Lesli Ellis/Melinda Melton

OSMP purchase of Coleman property
10 Minutes no yes John D'Amico/Cecil Fenio

Flood Mapping Studies for Upper Goose and Twomile Canyon Creek and Skunk, 
King's Gulch and Bluebell Creeks

50 Minutes no yes Annie Noble/Erin Raney

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY Minutes
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL Minutes
CALL-UPS Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 2:45

July 28, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 286



CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Contact
Preliminary: 7/23 :: Final 7/31

Agenda Section Item Name Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 15 Minutes Carl Castillo/Dianne Marshall
OPEN COMMENT Frazier Meadows and Boulder Creek Action presentation (15 min) 45 Minutes
CONSENT 1st Rdg of the Building Performance Ordinance 15 Minutes yes no Elizabeth Vasatka/Melinda Melton

2nd rdg ordinance vacating sidwalk easement at 2460 Iris avenue yes no Sloane Walbert/Melinda Melton

PUBLIC HEARINGS South Boulder Creek Mitigation Plan 120 Minutes no yes Annie Noble/Erin Raney
Concept review plan for a proposed mixed-use development (Alexan Flatirons) 
located at McKenzie Junction, 3600 Hwy 119 90 minutes Elaine McLaughline/Melinda Melton
Ballot Measures Placeholder 90 Minutes yes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY Minutes
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL Minutes
CALL-UPS Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 6:15

CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Contact
Preliminary: 8/6 :: Final 8/12

Agenda Section Item Name Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Minutes
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT Water and Sewer Bonds Notice of Sale 15 Minutes Bob Eichem/Elena Lazarevska

Study Session Summary for July 28 Climate Commitment Brett KenCairn/Melinda Melton
Motion to approve 20 yr water lease to CU's Mountain research station na na Joe Taddeucci/Laurel Olsen-Horen

PUBLIC HEARINGS Final Reading Ballot measures 60 Minutes
2nd rdg ord for City water for 4400 Peach Ct 45 Minutes yes yes Jeff Hirt/Melinda melton
2nd rdg Landmark designation ord 2245 Pine 10 minutes yes yes James Hewat/Melinda Melton
2nd rdg ord for short term rentals 120 Minutes Tom Carr/Heather Hayward

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
Key Questions and Guiding Principles for the Utility Rate Structure Analysis 
(moved from 6/16)

45 Minutes no yes Eric Ameigh/Erin Raney

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY Minutes
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL Update from Council Employee Evaluation Committee 30 Minutes no no Aimee Kane
CALL-UPS Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 6:10

August 4, 2015 
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

August 18, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 287



CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Contact
Preliminary: 8/20 :: Final 8/26

Agenda Section Item Name Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Declaration recognizing Colorado Cities & Towns Minutes CMO - Dianne Marshall
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT Bond Ordinance for Sale of the Bonds - Water and Sewer Bonds 15 Minutes no Bob Eichem/Elena Lazarevska

Study Session Summary for 8/25: Envision East Arapahoe Transportation 
Analysis and Medical Office Use Randall Rutsch/Rene Lopez

Study Session Summary for 8/11:  Form-Based Code Pilot Sam Assefa/Melinda Melton
2nd Rdg Ordinance re: Property acquisition on 28th from Pearl to Glenwood for 
Transportation Improvement Project Noreen Walsh/Erin Raney

PUBLIC HEARINGS 2nd rdg of the Building Performance Ordinance 90 Minutes yes yes Elizabeth Vasatka/Melinda Melton
Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY Minutes
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL Minutes
CALL-UPS Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 2:30

September 1, 2015 
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

September 15, 2015 - Jewish Holiday Rosh Hashana
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting New Date TBD

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 288



 
                   

TO:  Members of Council 
FROM: Danielle Sears, City Clerk’s Office 
DATE: June 16, 2015 
SUBJECT: Information Packet 
 
 

1. CALL UPS 
 

A. Concept Plan Review 2465 48th Ct (LUR2015-00026) 
 

2. INFORMATION ITEMS 
 
A. Broadway and Yarmouth Intersection Safety Concerns 
B.    Requested Background Information Regarding Occupational Privilege Tax (OPT) aka   

Head Tax for Potential Ballot Item 
C.    Draft Neighborhood Partnership Grant Program 
D.    Update on the Transportation Report on Progress 
E.    Update on Regional Transportation District Items 
 

3.  BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
 
A. Beverage Licensing Authority – April 27, 2015 
B. Landmark’s Board—April 1, 2015 
C. Landmark’s Board—May 6, 2015 
D. Landmark’s Board—June 3,2015 
E. Planning Board—May 7,2015 
F. Parks and Recreation Advisory Board—April 27, 2015 
G. Transportation Advisory Board—February 23,2015 
H. Water Resource Advisory Board—February 23, 2015 
I. Water Resource Advisory Board—March 16, 2015 

 
4. DECLARATIONS 

 
None. 
 

 

Packet Page 289



 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM  

To:  Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
  David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
  Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
  Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
  Sloane Walbert, Planner I 
 
Date:   June 8, 2015 
 
Subject:  Call-Up Item: Concept Plan Review 2465 48th Court (LUR2015-00026)  
 
On June 4, 2015, the Planning Board reviewed and commented on a Concept Plan for an expanded and 
improved automobile sales and service center on an approximately six-acre site at 2465 48th Court. 
The dealership (Larry H. Miller Toyota) proposes to remodel and expand their operations to enhance 
the building character and increase customer service and sales potential in order to meet corporate 
requirements for Toyota sales. Specifcally, the proposal is to expand the existing two-story building by 
28,579 square feet on the north (rear) side of the building to provide a new showroom, customer 
service reception area, indoor vehicle delivery, service bays and car wash. The building addition  
would occupy the location of existing surface vehicle storage/parking spaces.. The project also 
includes relocating the existing access on 47th Street to alleviate cueing issues, a five-foot wide 
detached sidewalk on 47th Street, and building façade improvements.Outdoor lighting and landscaping 
will also be upgraded to be compliant with the city’s code   
 
City Council may vote to call-up the Concept Plan to review and discuss within 30 days of the 
Planning Board hearing. The call up period concludes on July 6, 2015 (the end of the 30-day call up 
period falls on a weekend and so is extended to the following Monday).  There is one City Council 
meetings within this time period for call-up consideration, on June 16, 2015.  The staff memorandum 
to Planning Board, minutes, meeting audio, and other related background materials are on the city 
website for Planning Board, available here (Follow the links: 201506 JUN 06.04.2015 PB 
Packet). The draft minutes from the Planning Board hearing are provided in Attachment A and the 
Concept Plan submittal package is provided in Attachment B. 
 
Staff received no public comment on the application and there were no neighborhood comments at the 
Planning Board hearing. Overall, the board found the proposal to be consistent with the policies of the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP). The Board made some recommendations on site and 
building improvements and providing connections to the broader bicycle network. In particular, the 
Board recommended that the applicant focus on providing a clear path for bicyclists to enter the site 

Packet Page 290

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/Browse.aspx?startid=47549&row=1&dbid=0


from Pearl Parkway and 47th Street and to provide connections for bicyclists to nearby multi-use paths 
and Boulder Junction. The Board had an interest in higher quality design for the building façade, 
innovative stormwater management design as well as for maximum building efficiency. Also, there 
was a recommendation for the use of visible solar panels as a design feature to power the proposed 
parking lot lighting. The Board recommended that the applicant include alternative fueling stations 
and provide loaner bikes as part of the Transportation Demand Management plan. 
 
Consistent with recently amended land use code section 9-2-13(a)(2), B.R.C. 1981 City Council has 
the opportunity to call up the application to review and comment on the concept plan within a 30-day 
call up period which expires on July 6, 2015. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A.  Draft June 4, 2015 Planning Board Minutes 
B.  Concept Plan Submittal 

 
 
 
 

Packet Page 291



 

 

CITY OF BOULDER 
PLANNING BOARD ACTION MINUTES 

June 4, 2015 
1777 Broadway, Council Chambers 

  
A permanent set of these minutes and a tape recording (maintained for a period of seven years) 
are retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-3043). Minutes and streaming audio are also 
available on the web at: http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 
  
PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Aaron Brockett, Chair 
Bryan Bowen 
John Putnam 
John Gerstle 
Leonard May 
Liz Payton 
 
PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT: 
 Crystal Gray 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of CP&S 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager for CP&S 
Hella Pannewig, Assistant City Attorney 
Susan Meissner, Administrative Assistant III 
Sloane Walbert- Planner I 
Karl Guiler- Planner II 
David Thompson, Transportation Engineer 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager for CP&S 
Jean Gatza, Community Sustainability Coordinator 
Courtland Hyser, Senior Planner 
Matt Chasansky, Arts and Cultural Services Manager 
 
 
Public Hearing Item 5A 
A. Public hearing and Concept Plan Review of a proposal for the expansion and renovation of 

an existing automobile sales and service facility at 2465 48th Court (Larry H. Miller Toyota), 
Case No. LUR2015-00026. Proposal includes various site improvements and an 
approximately 28,500 square foot addition to the north (rear) side of the building, which 
requires merging the two existing parcels. 

 
Applicant:  Alexandra Schuchter, John Mahoney Architects 
Property Owner:  Miller Family Real Estate LLC 

 
 

Staff Presentation: 

C. Ferro introduced the item. 
S. Walbert presented the item to the board. 
 
 

Attachment A - Draft June 4, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Packet Page 292

https://webmail.bouldercolorado.gov/owa/redir.aspx?C=I5NO4b26akWhgmZpN9k_L3ln-0EqYNAIb3BQVECXatq4pRtRPkpbxOOxLA_bEvetV-NSpTIFrBA.&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.bouldercolorado.gov%2f


 

 

Board Questions: 

S. Walbert answered questions from the board. 
 
Applicant Presentation and Questions: 

Alexandra Schuchter, the owners representative, presented the item to the board. 
 
Public Hearing: 

No one spoke. 
 
Board Comments: 

BVCP Plan 

 Board members agreed that the proposal generally complies with the BVCP. 
 
Architecture and Site Design 

 The board would prefer to see improved architecture, especially on the southwest corner, 
if possible. The current design is acceptable but a bit generic.  

 
 The board did not have strong feelings about the materials used in the design of the 

building; they did not feel that it would be permanent. 
 

 Landscaping upgrades will be triggered by the proposal. Integrate storm water swales 
into the landscape design. Consider trees and plant choices that are native to the area and 
that could act as rain gardens. They discouraged the use of sod. 

 
 Include and make conspicuous alternate forms of energy generation. Consider 

incorporating energy features into the building, carport and site design. 
 

 Include an electric vehicle charging station. 
 
Transportation and circulation 

 Improve the circulation for bikes and pedestrians. Provide a designated crossing from the 
sidewalk on 47th Street to the main building; give pedestrians and bikes precedence over 
cars. 

 
 Include a bike sharing program such as B-Cycle and make design accommodations for 

Lift, Uber or other alternative modes of transportation. 
 

 Talk with Go Boulder and Community Cycles to determine the best ways to connect the 
site with existing bike networks and to Boulder Junction. 

 
 Provide bike racks and other infrastructure to encourage employees to bike to work. 

 
 Though outside of the applicant’s purview, the board would like to see improved 

sidewalk connectivity at Pearl Parkway and 47th Street. Consider widening the sidewalk 
along 47th Street if possible and creating a pedestrian access point mid-block along Pearl 
Parkway.  

 
 The TDM plan will be an important tool to work out larger transportation issues. Include 

bike loans or shared bikes in the plan. 

Attachment A - Draft June 4, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Packet Page 293



Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 294



LOT 1
IS-2  ZONING

265,700  S.F.

ID #0030021

LOT 2
IS-1  ZONING

81,500  S.F.

ID #0514326

PEARL PARKWAY

48
TH

 S
TR

EE
T 

CO
UR

T

47TH  STREET

°

∆ °

°

∆ °

°

∆ °

° °

∆ °

°

∆ °

°

°

°

°

LA
RR

Y 
H.

 M
IL

LE
R

TO
YO

TA
24

65
 4

8T
H 

C
T

BO
UL

D
ER

, C
O

LO
RA

D
O

PROJECT NAME LARRY H. MILLER
BOULDER TOYOTA

PROJECT ADDRESS 2465 48TH CT

OWNER MILLER FAMILY REAL ESTATE
9350 S.  150 E
STE 1000
SANDY, UTAH 84070-2721

PROJECT DESCRIPTION ADDITION AND RENOVATION TO
EXISTING AUTOMOBILE SALES AND SERVICE FACILITY
AND RELATED SITE IMPROVEMENTS.  PROPERTY TO BE
RE-PLATTED

ZONING  (EXISTING) IS-2

SITE AREA 265,700 S.F. (6.0996 AC)

GROSS BUILDING AREA 64,654 S.F.
GROUND FLOOR AREA 58,274 S.F.
SECOND FLOOR AREA 6380 S.F.

FLOOR AREA RATIO 64,654/265,700 = .24
LOT COVERAGE 58,274/265,700 = 21.9%

OCCUPANCY B, S-1
CONSTRUCTION TYPE II-B  WITH AUTOMATIC FIRE

EXTINGUISHING SYSTEM

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT 32 FEET

PARKING CALCULATIONS

PARKING REQUIRED:  1/400  = 64,654 S.F./400 = 162

ACCESSIBLE PARKING REQUIRED = 6

PARKING PROVIDED = 176

ACCESSIBLE PARKING PROVIDED = 6

BICYCLE PARKING REQUIRED = 0

VEHICLE DISPLAY SPACES = 295

TYP ASPHALT PAVING

TYP ROLL TYPE CONCRETE CURB

DECORATIVE CONCRETE PLAZA

ACCESSIBLE PARKING PER ADA STANDARDS

9'
-0

"

9'
-0

"

20'-0" 25'-0" 20'-0"

20'-0" 25'-0" 20'-0"

9'
-0

"

9'
-0

"

TYPICAL PARKING LAYOUT
ALL LINES STRIPED

TYPICAL DISPLAY LAYOUT
DASHED LINES NOT STRIPED

6' HIGH PAINTED STEEL GATE W/ KNOX LOCK BOX

6' H. CMU WALL TO MATCH BUILDING

LANDSCAPING

EXISTING WALL/FENCE

EXISTING DRIVEWAY TO BE RELOCATED

PROJECT
SITE

FO
OT

HI
LL

S 
PA

RK
W

AY

PEARL PARKWAY
PEARL PARKWAY

48
TH

 C
RT

47TH ST

1" = 40'-0"

0 20' 40' 80'

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

IS-1
ZONING

IG
ZONING

IS-2
ZONING

IG
ZONING

48

12

36

3

15
4

5

9

21

23
7

48

24

34
46

33

EXISTING BUILDING

NEW  BUILDING AREA

REFUSE YARD PER CITY OF BOULDER WITH
CONCRETE APPROACH

10

MONUMENT SIGN (BY SEPARATE PERMIT)11

DIRECTIONAL SIGN (BY SEPARATE PERMIT)12

ACCESSIBLE ROUTE OF TRAVEL
RUNNING SLOPE SHALL NOT EXCEED 1:20
CROSS SLOPE SHALL NOT EXCEED 1:50
MINIMUM WIDTH 5'-0"
SURFACE SHALL BE FIRM, STABLE AND SLIP RESISTANT

13

EXISTING FENCE/WALL TO REMAIN14

NEW 5' WIDE CONCRETE SIDEWALK15

CONCRETE RAMP FOR VEHICLE ACCESS TO SHOWROOM16

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

2 2

2

2

2 2

3

10

5

5

6

6
7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

8

8

8

8

9

13

13

15

15

15

15

NEW DRIVEWAY
40'

7

UTIL
ITY

EA
SEM

EN
T

12
'

76
' P

CS
O 

RO
W

12
'

UT
ILI

TY
EA

SE
M

EN
T

11

12

12

EX
IS

T D
RI

VE
W

AY
TO

 R
EM

AI
N

8'

8'

65'-7"

82
'-2

"

91'-6"

193'-10"

16

9' TY
P

9'
TY

P

20'

VAN

7

TYPICAL PARKING LOT LIGHT FIXTURE ON CONCRETE BASE

EXISTING OVERHEAD POWER POLE17

17

CONCRETE PAVING - DRIP CONTAINMENT SLAB18

18 18

7

40

23

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 295



12 NEW SERVICE BAYS (14' X 28')

34 EXISTING BAYS

55 TOTAL SERVICE BAYS

PARTS

SHOWROOM

JAN DISPATCH

SERV
MGR

WOMEN

ASM (10)

CUSTOMER
CENTER

BOUTIQUE TECH
PARTS

GEN MGR

F & I

F & I

F & I

F & I

SALES

SALES

5360 S.F.
SALES
MGRS

BDC

DELIVERY

MEN

GREETER

SERVICE RECEPTION

6  NEW QUICK DRIVE-THRU SERVICE BAYS

CAR WASH

KITCHEN

SERV
BDC

DETAILING (4)

COMP

OIL

TOOLS

SPECIAL
TOOLS

WHOLESALE
PARTS

PARTS
MGR

KIDS

STOR

LUNCH

TRAINING
24 - 42

EXPRESS SERVICE ASM

1-HR STOR

MOTHER'S
ROOM

vv v

SCION

PARTS
4400 S.F.

BUSINESS
OFFICE

BUSINESS
MANAGER

FILE
STORAGE

OFFICE
SUPPLIES

OPEN TO
BELOW

LA
RR

Y 
H.

 M
IL

LE
R

TO
YO

TA
24

65
 4

8T
H 

C
T

BO
UL

D
ER

, C
O

LO
RA

D
O

0 4 8 16 32SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

0 4 8 16 32SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 296



T/O PORTAL
24' - 2"

T/O FASCIA
20' - 4"

F.F.E.
3' - 0"

T/O SERVICE
18' - 4"

T/O PORTAL
24' - 2"

T/O FASCIA
20' - 4"

F.F.E.
3' - 0"

F.F.E.
3' - 0"

T/O SERVICE
18' - 4"

T/O FASCIA
20' - 4"

F.F.E.
3' - 0"

T/O SERVICE
18' - 4"

LA
RR

Y 
H.

 M
IL

LE
R

TO
YO

TA
24

65
 4

8T
H 

C
T

BO
UL

D
ER

, C
O

LO
RA

D
O

SIGNAGE

WALL MOUNTED LIGHT FIXTURE

TYPICAL BOLLARD W/ COVER

PREFINISHED METAL COPING

ROOF-MOUNTED MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT

LINE OF ROOF

OPEN

ALIGN REVEAL WITH CENTER OF MULLION

ADDRESS NUMERALS BY G.C.

TRAFFIC CONTROL LIGHT

TYP ROOF DRAIN/OVERFLOW DRAIN NOZZLE

ROOF ACCESS LADDER

ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT - SEE ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS

INTAKE LOUVER WITH MILL FINISH ALUMINUM FINISH - SEE
MECHANICAL

MAIN ENTRY ELEMENT (ACM-1)

SCION ENTRY ELEMENT (ACM-3)

(ACM-3) BEHIND SCION LETTERS TO BE INCLUDED WITH
(ACM-1) FASCIA WORK)

MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT SCREEN

HORIZONTAL MOUNTED TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNAL:
SIGNAL-TECH NO. TCLH-RG.

GLASS OVERHEAD DOOR

METAL ROLL-UP DOOR, PAINT (P-7A)

CONTROL/EXPANSION JOINT

1.  ALL HOLLOW METAL DOORS AND FRAMES TO BE PAINTED TO
MATCH ADJACENT WALL, UNO.

2.  SEE STRUCTURAL FOR MASONRY CONTROL JOINT LOCATIONS.

3.  TYVEK TO BE FURNISHED AND INSTALLED BY ACM FABRICATOR
AND MEET AIR AND WATER INFILTRATION SPECIFICATIONS
WHEN ACM PANEL WAS TESTED TO MEET THE TOYOTA IMAGE
USA II ACM SPECIFICATIONS. TYVEK INSTALLATION SHALL BE
REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY TYVEK MANUFACTURER'S
REPRESENTATIVE PRIOR TO ACM INSTALLATION.

4.  ALL EXTERIOR SIGNAGE SHALL BE BY SEPARATE PERMIT.
EXTERIOR SIGNAGE SHALL BE BY PATTISON SIGN CO.

2

1

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

21

20

22

MATERIAL: ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL
MANUF: REYNOBOND OR ALPOLIC
SYSTEM: 4 MM THICK BONDED METAL PANEL - 3 4"

REVEALS TESTED DRY OR RAINSCREEN
SYSTEM WITH EXPOSED EXTRUSIONS TO
MATCH PANELS

COLOR: TOYOTA SILVER
NOTE: FLASHINGS TO MATCH ADJACENT WALL

PANELS

MATERIAL: ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL
MANUF: REYNOBOND OR ALPOLIC
SYSTEM: 4 MM THICK BONDED METAL PANEL - 3 4"

REVEALS TESTED DRY OR RAINSCREEN
SYSTEM WITH EXPOSED EXTRUSIONS TO
MATCH PANELS

COLOR: TOYOTA RED
NOTE: FLASHINGS TO MATCH ADJACENT WALL

PANELS

MATERIAL: ALUMINUM CURTAIN WALL SYSTEM
MANUF: KAWNEER
SYSTEM: 1600 SYSTEM 1
SIZE: VARIES - SEE WINDOW FRAME ELEVS
FINISH: PAINTED TOYOTA SILVER
ALT. FINISH: #14 CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM
GLASS: 1" INSULATED LOW-E PPG SOLARBAN 60

CLEAR SOLAR CONTROL

MATERIAL: ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL
MANUF: REYNOBOND OR ALPOLIC
SYSTEM: 4 MM THICK BONDED METAL PANEL - 3 4"

REVEALS TESTED DRY OR RAINSCREEN
SYSTEM WITH EXPOSED EXTRUSIONS TO
MATCH PANELS

COLOR: TOYOTA BLACK
NOTE: FLASHINGS TO MATCH ADJACENT WALL

PANELS

MATERIAL: GLASS PORTAL
MANUF: NOVUM STRUCTURES
SYSTEM: SOLERA TRANSLUCENT GLAZING SYSTEM

WITH STRUCTURAL STEEL SUPPORT
FRAMING & ACM SURROUND

MATERIAL: ALUMINUM STOREFRONT WINDOW
MANUF: KAWNEER
SYSTEM: TRIFAB 451T
SIZE: 2"X 41

2"  FRONT SET
FINISH: PAINTED TOYOTA SILVER
ALT. FINISH: #14 CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM
GLASS: 1" INSULATED LOW-E PPG SOLARBAN 60

CLEAR SOLAR CONTROL

MATERIAL: ALUMINUM STOREFRONT WINDOW
MANUF: KAWNEER
SYSTEM: TRIFAB 451T
SIZE: 2"X 41

2"  CENTER SET
FINISH: PAINTED TOYOTA SILVER
ALT. FINISH: #14 CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM

MATERIAL: EXTERIOR INSULATION & FINISH SYSTEM
MANUF: DRYVIT, SYNERGY, PLEKKO OR APPROVED

EQUAL
COLOR: TO MATCH DRYVIT MOONLIGHT WHITE

612, SANDPEBBLE TEXTURE  DRYVIT
REFERENCE NO. - TOYA061021 OR STO
NA05-0056 LIGHT GREY

3/32" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

3/32" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

3/32" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

3/32" = 1'-0"

0 4' 8' 16'

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 297



Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 298



Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 299



Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 300



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 
To:  City of Boulder Planning & Development Services   
 
From: Steve Tuttle, PE, PTOE; Cassie Slade, PE 
 
Date: January 28, 2015  
 
Project: Boulder Toyota Traffic Analysis (FTH #14060)  
 
Subject:  Traffic Assessment  

 

The existing Larry H. Miller Toyota in Boulder plans to remodel and expand the current operations to 
enhance the building character, increase customer services, and increase sales potential. The site is 
located in the northeast corner of Pearl Parkway and 47th Street, which is just east of Foothills Parkway. 
The project proposes to expand the existing building by approximately 28,000 square feet (sq. ft.) to 
provide a new showroom, customer service reception area, indoor vehicle delivery, service bays and car 
wash. The site is bounded by commercial/industrial businesses to the north and east, Pearl Parkway to 
the south, and 47th Street on the west.  A vicinity map is shown on Figure 1.  

In accordance with the City of Boulder site review process, an initial Traffic Assessment is required which 
includes an analysis of trip generation, distribution, and trip reduction assumptions for the project.  This 
memorandum summarizes this analysis for the subject project. 

Trip Generation 

To establish the volume of new trips that will be added to the area roadway network with expansion of 
the current Boulder Toyota, trip generation estimates were calculated based on rates contained in the 
Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual.   

The trip generation estimates are summarized on Table 1 for weekday daily, weekday AM, and weekday 
PM periods.  As shown on Table 1, the proposed development represents an increase in daily and hourly 
traffic to the adjacent roadway network.  

  
 

P.O. BOX 19768, BOULDER, COLORADO 80308-2768 
PHONE:  303.652.3571  |  WWW.FOXTUTTLE.COM 

 

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 301



Traffic Assessment – Boulder Toyota Expansion Project                                                      January 28, 2015                                                                                                                                          
Page 2

 
Auto Trip Reductions 

The project is located in an industrial area and surrounded by other automotive sales and repair service 
businesses. Pearl Parkway has the F, S, and 206 transit routes along it with bus stops near the southeast 
corner of the property.  Currently, there are multi-use paths on the south side of Pearl Parkway and on 
both sides of Foothills Parkway that link to local and regional pedestrian/bicycle facilities and lead to 
various destinations within the City of Boulder. There are no bicycle lanes on the roadways adjacent to 
the Boulder Toyota.  

Although there are multimodal facilities within close proximity to the project site, it is anticipated that 
only a small percentage of employees would utilize these alternative mode choices to get to the 
dealership. For the purposes of providing a conservative analysis of the site traffic impacts, it was assumed 
that all trips will be auto and no reductions will be applied.  

Trip Types 

Due to the nature of automobile sale and service centers, it is anticipated the majority of trips associated 
with the expansion project will be “new” trips. The following describes the types that will be evaluated 
for this study: 

• Primary Trips.  These trips are made specifically to visit the site and are considered “new” trips.  
Primary trips would not have been made if the proposed project did not exist.  Therefore, this is 
the only trip type that increases the total number of trips made on a regional basis. 

Proposed Access 

The Boulder Toyota currently has two accesses: (1) 47th Street approximately 170 feet north of Pearl 
Parkway and (2) at end of the 48th Court cul-de-sac. The expansion project proposes to relocate the main 
access on 47th Street by moving it north by approximately 50 feet. The access on 48th Court will remain 
the same. It is proposed to add a 3rd access by extending the existing gravel roadway that leads to Pearl 
Street. It is anticipated that this will serve vehicle and service deliveries.  

Site Trip Distribution 

Site trips will be distributed onto the study area roadway network as shown on Figure 2.  The distribution 
percentages are based on regional land use destinations, existing travel patterns, and other area traffic 
studies. The following assumptions were made:  

• 40 percent to/from Pearl Parkway to/from the west 
• 20 percent to/from Pearl Parkway to/from the east 

• 15 percent to/from Foothills Parkway to/from the north 

 

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 302



Traffic Assessment – Boulder Toyota Expansion Project                                                      January 28, 2015                                                                                                                                          
Page 3

 
• 20 percent to/from Foothills Parkway to/from the south 
• 5 percent to/from 47th Street to/from the north.  

The proposed distribution at the three accesses is as follows: 

• Access 1 on 47th Street: 60 percent 
• Access 2 on 49th Court: 35 percent 
• Access 3 on Pearl Street: 5 percent  

Traffic Impact Study 

Per the procedures outlined in the City of Boulder Design and Construction Standards, a full Traffic Impact 
Study may be required for this project.  This traffic assessment serves as a basis for the trip generation 
and distribution assumptions that would be incorporated into the Traffic Impact Study.   

/CRS 
 
 
Attachments:  
 
Figure 1 – Vicinity Map 
Figure 2 – Site Trip Distribution 
 
Table 1 – Trip Generation Summary  
 

 

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 303



Original ScaleProject # Date Drawn by Figure #

o purT r a n s p o r Gnoitt a

VICINITY MAP

LARRY H. MILLER BOULDER TOYOTA TRAFFIC ASSESSMENT

14060 1/27/15 CRS 1

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 304



Original ScaleProject # Date Drawn by Figure #

o purT r a n s p o r Gnoitt a

SITE TRIP DISTRIBUTION

LARRY H. MILLER BOULDER TOYOTA TRAFFIC ASSESSMENT

14060 NTS 1/27/15 CRS 2

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 305



FH#14060 Larry H. Miller Boulder Toyota
Traffic Assessment

1/27/2015

AM Peak Hour Trips PM Peak Hour Trips
Land Use Size Unit Rate Total In Out Rate Total In Out Rate Total In Out

ITE 841 ‐ Automobile Sales 28 1,000 sf 32.30 904 452 452 1.92 54 41 13 2.62 73 29 44

Daily > 904 452 452 AM > 54 41 13 PM > 73 29 44

Source:  ITE Trip Generation Manual, 9th Edition (2012)

Table 1 ‐ Trip Generation Summary

Average Daily  Trips

Total New Trips

14060_trip gen - Trip Generation

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 306



LOT 1
IS-2  ZONING

265,700  S.F.

ID #0030021

LOT 2
IS-1  ZONING

81,500  S.F.

ID #0514326

∆ °

°

∆ °

°

∆ °

°

∆ °

°

∆ °

°

°

LA
RR

Y 
H.

 M
IL

LE
R

TO
YO

TA
24

65
 4

8T
H 

C
T

BO
UL

D
ER

, C
O

LO
RA

D
O

1" = 40'-0"

0 20' 40' 80'

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 307



LOT 1
IS-2  ZONING

265,700  S.F.

ID #0030021

LOT 2
IS-1  ZONING

81,500  S.F.

ID #0514326

∆ °

°

∆ °

°

∆ °

°

∆ °

°

∆ °

°

°

Statistics
Description Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min Avg/Max
PROPERTY LINE 0.0 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A 0.0:1
SITE 3.8 fc 15.3 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A 0.2:1

Statistics
Description Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min Avg/Max
PROPERTY LINE 0.0 fc 0.2 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A 0.0:1
SITE 0.0 fc N/A N/A 0.2:1

1" = 40'-0"

0 20' 40' 80'

LA
RR

Y 
H.

 M
IL

LE
R

TO
YO

TA
24

65
 4

8T
H 

C
T

BO
UL

D
ER

, C
O

LO
RA

D
O

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 308



LA
RR

Y 
H.

 M
IL

LE
R

TO
YO

TA
24

65
 4

8T
H 

C
T

BO
UL

D
ER

, C
O

LO
RA

D
O

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Packet Page 309



 

 

INFORMATION PACKET 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Members of City Council 

From: Jane Brautigam, City Manager 

 Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 

 Mike Sweeney, Acting Director of Public Works for Transportation 

Joe Paulson, Transportation Engineer: Signals & Lighting 

Date: June 16, 2015  

Subject:  Information Item - Broadway and Yarmouth Intersection Update 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Staff provided council with an Information Item in its Feb. 3, 2015 packet in response to 

concerns that have been expressed by members of the community regarding the safety and 

operation of the Broadway and Yarmouth Avenue intersection in north Boulder.  The 

memorandum described the existing conditions at the intersection, as well as studies that had 

been completed to date regarding the appropriate pedestrian crossing treatment and the potential 

for installing a traffic signal at that location.  The memorandum outlined staff plans for 

additional data collection and analysis to be performed in the first quarter of 2015, resulting in a 

report back to council in May 2015. 

Using newly collected data, staff performed an updated traffic signal warrant study and found 

that the current conditions at the Broadway and Yarmouth intersection do not satisfy any of the 

national standard traffic signal warrants that identify conditions where the installation of a traffic 

signal should be considered.  However, the duration of delays to vehicles on Yarmouth Avenue 

(during the peak evening hours) has now reached a level that staff believes justifies further 

examination in the near future.  Therefore, staff will update the traffic signal warrant study again 

later in 2015. 

Information Packet 2A     Page 1Packet Page 310



Staff also completed an updated analysis of driver compliance with the requirement to yield to 

pedestrians crossing at Broadway and Yarmouth.   The data suggests that driver compliance on 

Broadway has improved, but remains lower than desired.  Staff has identified enhancements 

including, “Yield Here” signing and pavement markings placed in advance of the crosswalks that 

will be installed to improve yielding to pedestrians.  These enhancements require the removal of 

a parking space on Broadway, which will also provide increased sight distance for drivers on 

Yarmouth entering Broadway.  This will assist drivers with identifying and selecting gaps in 

traffic for turning movements onto Broadway. 

In September 2015, when schools are back in session, staff will again measure driver compliance 

as well as peak hour delays, to see if the intersection is performing adequately for all users.  Staff 

will report back to council on the outcome of those studies during the 4
th

 quarter of 2015. 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

Members of the north Boulder community have expressed concern about the safety and 

operational effectiveness of the Broadway and Yarmouth Avenue intersection.  A primary 

concern expressed is the safety of pedestrians crossing Broadway at Yarmouth, including people 

whose destination is the new North Boulder Library Annex on the northeast corner of the 

intersection.  In addition, there is concern about the vehicular movements from westbound 

Yarmouth turning left onto southbound Broadway, including delays due to conflicting traffic.  

There are also concerns related to available sight distance to view northbound traffic (including 

cyclists in the bike lane) due to the on-street parking on the southeast corner of the intersection. 

In 2003, staff evaluated the need for a pedestrian crossing treatment on Broadway at the 

Yarmouth intersection.  Using the City of Boulder Pedestrian Crossing Treatment Installation 

Guidelines, the city found that it met the criteria for a signed and marked crossing treatment, 

which was installed.  In an effort to improve driver compliance with the requirement to yield to 

pedestrians crossing Broadway, enhancements to the crosswalk signing were made in 2011, and 

again in 2014.  Data collected after the 2014 improvements shows that compliance at this 

location still remains lower than rates found at similar crosswalks in Boulder.   

The Broadway and Yarmouth intersection has also been identified as a potential location for a 

traffic signal, due to the combination of vehicular and pedestrian activity.  Since 2002, staff has 

periodically performed intersection studies to evaluate if a traffic signal would be beneficial.  

These studies involve analysis of the current conditions at the intersection using criteria 

determined by the Federal Highway Administration of the U.S. Department of Transportation.  

The analyses examine collision history, traffic volume and delay data to assess the safety and 

efficiency of the current intersection operations to determine if a traffic signal would make it 

safer or more efficient. 

Information Packet 2A     Page 2Packet Page 311



Traffic signal warrant studies performed to date at the Broadway and Yarmouth intersection, 

including one completed in 2014, have concluded that the installation of a traffic signal would 

not provide safety or efficiency benefits.  However, change continues to occur in north Boulder, 

including the construction of additional housing and the opening of the North Boulder Library 

Annex in 2014.  In response to these changes, staff performed an additional warrant study in the 

first quarter of 2015. 

 

ANALYSIS 

As of early 2015, the traffic conditions at Broadway and Yarmouth still do not satisfy any of the 

national standard traffic signal warrants.  Of particular interest, collision data at the intersection 

shows that there has not been a sufficient number of correctible collisions likely to be prevented 

by signal installation to offset the probable increase of rear-end collisions as a result from 

signalization.  In addition to other factors, the national collision standard specifies that there be 

five or more correctable collisions in a one-year period.  That condition has not been satisfied at 

Broadway and Yarmouth in previous years.  Through May 2015, there has only been one 

collision reported, which was not of a type correctable by a signal.  Based on the current 

collision analysis, it is not probable that signalization would increase the safety of the 

intersection. 

In 2014, peak hour delay for vehicles on Yarmouth waiting at Broadway was measured to be 1.1 

vehicle-hours.  In the 2015 update, peak hour delay was found to have increased to 1.98 vehicle-

hours during the evening peak.  The national peak hour delay warrant specifies delays exceeding 

5 vehicle-hours on two lane approaches (such as on Yarmouth at Broadway) as the level at which 

consideration should be given for potential signalization.  However, from past experience in 

Boulder, staff has found that delay levels exceeding 2 vehicle-hours may suggest further 

consideration of a traffic signal.  Staff examined the peak hour delay data and determined that 

the average delay per vehicle on Yarmouth was 42 seconds.  A traffic signal at Broadway and 

Yarmouth, operated in coordination with the existing signals on Broadway, would result in 

average wait times exceeding 42 seconds for vehicles on Yarmouth.  Due to this data, staff is not 

recommending the installation of a traffic signal at Broadway and Yarmouth. 

While the current conditions at the Broadway and Yarmouth intersection do not suggest that 

signalization would be beneficial, the level of driver compliance to pedestrians in the crosswalks 

remains lower than desired.  Therefore, staff has identified additional enhancements that will be 

installed in June 2015 in an effort to continue to increase yielding to pedestrians at this location.  

“Yield Here” signing will be installed in both directions of Broadway in advance of the 

crosswalks, and corresponding “sharks teeth” yield lines will be placed on the pavement.  The 

sign installation will require the removal of a parking space on the east side of Broadway, south 

of Yarmouth, in front of the Amante coffee shop.  This strategy has also been requested by some 

community members to provide increased sight distance for drivers on Yarmouth looking for 

gaps in traffic on Broadway. 

Information Packet 2A     Page 3Packet Page 312



Follow-up studies will be performed in September 2015 to determine if the improvements made 

have resulted in increased crosswalk compliance rates, and to determine what effects the 

intersection changes (and changes in north Boulder overall) have had on peak hour vehicle delay 

at Broadway and Yarmouth. 

NEXT STEPS 

 

Staff will continue to monitor the location and perform a follow up crosswalk compliance study 

and intersection delay study in September 2015.  Staff will report back to council on the outcome 

of those studies during the 4
th

 quarter of 2015. 

Information Packet 2A     Page 4Packet Page 313



 

 

 
 

 

INFORMATION PACKET 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 

To:  Members of City Council 

 

From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

  Tom Carr, City Attorney  

  David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 

  Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 

Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 

Patrick Brown, Revenue and Licensing Officer 

 

Date:  June 16, 2015 

 

Subject:  Requested Background Information regarding Occupational Privilege Tax 

(OPT) aka Head Tax for Potential Ballot Item 

   

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

At the April 14, 2014 study session it was requested that staff provide background 

information prior to the City Council recess regarding the Occupational Privilege Tax, 

often referred to as a Head Tax. The topic will be one of the items discussed at the July 

14 study session.  

 

QUESTIONS FOR COUNCIL THAT ARE PROPOSED TO BE ASKED AT THE 

JULY 14 STUDY SESSION 

 

Guidance is requested regarding, does council want staff to move forward with next steps 

to: 

  

1. Place the question of an OPT on the November 2015 ballot? 

2.  If it is placed on the ballot, what should the rate of the tax be? 

3. If it is placed on the ballot, what exemptions, if any should the city provide? 

4. If it is placed on the ballot should the revenue received be used for general 

purposes of the city, or be dedicated for specific purposes? 

 

Information Item 2B      Page 1Packet Page 314



 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

 

A. The Occupation Privilege Tax in Colorado 

Municipalities in Colorado are not permitted to collect an income tax. That right is 

reserved for the state. Cities may impose an occupational privilege tax (OPT). This is 

often referred to as a head tax because of the way it is imposed. Specifically, the OPT, in 

its pure form, imposes a flat dollar amount on each employee working within the 

boundaries of the municipality. In other words, it is a tax per head rather than a percent of 

income. 

 

An OPT is currently in place in Denver, Aurora, Greenwood Village, Sheridan and 

Glendale. Table 1 illustrates the OPT rates paid by employees in their corresponding 

municipalities. 

Table 1 

Rate Paid by Employee 

 

City/County 

Denver 

City of 

Aurora 

Greenwood 

Village Sheridan Glendale 

OPT Rate per 

Employee per 

Month $5.75 $2.00 $2.00 $3.00 $5.00 

 

In addition, the employer pays an equivalent tax for each employee they employ. For 

example, if an employer had a 100 employees and the OPT rate was $2 per month, the 

employer would deduct $2 per month from each employee’s pay and match it with an 

employer contribution of $2 per employee, for a total OPT of $400 each month.  

 

The OPT applies to anyone who works within the city. The OPT applies to all employees 

who are employed by the employer including contract employees.   

 

None of the five entities have any type of mechanism that adjusts the rate up or down in 

future years.  That is the rate does not change based on index of any kind. 

 

Table 2 illustrates the total OPT that would be collected based on the tax rates in various 

cities. For illustrative purposes no exemptions are used. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Information Item 2B      Page 2Packet Page 315



 

 

Table 2 

Example of Total Paid/ Month by Employee and Employer Based on Current Rates 

 City/County 

Denver 

City of 

Aurora 

Greenwood 

Village 

Sheridan Glendale 

# of Employees 

(for illustration 

only) 

100 100 100 100 100 

OPT Rate/Month $5.75 $2.00 $2.00 $3.00 $5.00 

Employee  

OPT/Month 

$575 $200 $200 $300 $500 

Employer  OPT 

Match 

$575 $200 $200 $300 $500 

Total OPT Paid  

to City/Month      $1,150 $400 $400 $600   $1,000 

 

The tax cannot be a disguised income tax therefore; the tax cannot vary based upon 

income level. However, a minimum income threshold can be imposed where no employee 

making less than a certain amount is charged the OPT (neither the employer nor 

employee would pay the tax).   

 

Table 3 provides the minimum monthly income threshold in each municipality that has 

the OPT: 

Table 3 

Income Threshold per Month Below Which No OPT is Collected 

 

City/County 

Denver 

City of 

Aurora 

Greenwood 

Village Sheridan Glendale 

Threshold 

Amount per 

Month $500 $250 $250 $500 $750 

 

Several of the aforementioned municipalities have exemptions in place for governmental 

employers. This is due to a previous Colorado Supreme Court case. Therefore, in the 

charts below the amount paid is the employee amount only and there is no governmental 

employers match.  

 

Table 4 provides a matrix of these exemptions: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Information Item 2B      Page 3Packet Page 316



 

 

Table 4 

Exemptions in Cities that Currently have an OPT 

Entity 

 Religious 

Exemption 

Governmental 

Exemption 

Charitable 

Organizations 

Exemption* 

City/County 

Denver 

Employee pays OPT 

Employer does not 

pay OPT 

Employee pays OPT 

Employer does not 

pay OPT 

Employee pays OPT 

Employer does not 

pay OPT 

City of Aurora 

Employee pays OPT 

Employer does not 

pay OPT 

No exemption** 

Employee pays OPT 

Employer does not 

pay OPT 

Greenwood 

Village 

Employee pays OPT 

Employer does not 

pay OPT 

No exemption** 

Employee pays OPT 

Employer does not 

pay OPT 

Sheridan 

No exemption 

Employee pays OPT 

Employer does not 

pay OPT 

Employee pays OPT 

Employer does not 

pay OPT 

Glendale No exemption No exemption** No exemption 

*If a non-profit organization is qualified by the United States Internal Revenue Service as 

a tax exempt organization under section 501(c)(3) of the United States Internal Revenue 

Code then it would be considered a Charitable Organization under the City’s municipal 

code. 

** In checking with the three cities that say they do not exempt government it was found 

that the federal government never pays the employer match.  For state and other local 

governments there is no clear line of what entity pays it and which do not.  It seems to be 

more based on what the entity decides to do.  City of Boulder staff feel the city should 

pay the employer match if an OPT is placed on the ballot and was approved by the voters. 

 

B. Implementation of Occupation Privilege Tax in Boulder 

 

While updated information has not been garnered from local businesses, the Blue Ribbon 

Commission I report stated that previous examinations of this tax in the City of Boulder 

identified three significant concerns that have been voiced: 

 

1. It would place Boulder businesses at a competitive disadvantage to those in the 

region. 

2. Governments do not have to pay the employer portion and Boulder has a 

significant government employment base. 

3. There would be a negative impact on non-profit organizations. 

 

Staff has also received some input that the stronger the correlation between the tax and 

what it pays for makes the tax more palatable. 

 

If the City Council decides to place some form of this item on the ballot in November of 

2015 there will be various opportunities to obtain updated input (council correspondence, 

letters, public hearings, etc.). Staff will also ensure that this memo is distributed and 

Information Item 2B      Page 4Packet Page 317



 

 

made available to those who will have an interest in the issue.  If the item moves forward 

staff will also include the community sustainability assessments and impacts. 

 

To project how much the tax would generate annually staff used employment information 

provided by the Colorado Department of Local Affairs (DOLA) Demography 

Department. A second resource used was information from the April 2015 Boulder 

Economic Council Market Profile. There is a difference in the number of jobs (375) in 

Boulder when comparing the two sources. Mainly it seems to be due to the timing of the 

reports. Staff has also been made aware of comments made by DOLA staff in meetings 

that there are closer to 80,000 jobs within the City of Boulder. To date staff has not been 

able to track down the backup documentation that supports this statement.  

Table 5 illustrates job data received from DOLA. The report is as of the end of the fourth 

quarter of 2013. The categories of religious and charitable are included in various 

categories (Health Care, Social Assistance, and Other Services).   

 

                                                  Table 5 

  Employees in Boulder per Industry Category 

City of Boulder Industry Employees 

% of 

Employees 

Agriculture, Mining, Utilities 313 0.3% 

Construction 1,566 1.7% 

Manufacturing 9,650 10.3% 

Wholesale 2,982 3.2% 

Retail 7,927 8.4% 

Transportation & Warehousing 877 0.9% 

Information 5,570 5.9% 

Finance and Insurance 3,352 3.6% 

Real Estate 1,279 1.4% 

Professional, Scientific & Tech 14,546 15.5% 

Mgt. of Companies 567 0.6% 

Admin, Support & Waste Mgmt 3,003 3.2% 

Educational Services 1,456 1.5% 

Health Care & Social Asst 8,463 9.0% 

Arts, Entertainment, & Recreation 1,864 2.0% 

Accommodation & Food Service 9,290 9.9% 

Other Services 2,745 2.9% 

Undefined 11 0.0% 

Federal Gov 652 0.7% 

State Gov 8,929 9.5% 

Local Gov 8,933 9.5% 

Total 93,972 100.0% 

 

 

 

 

Information Item 2B      Page 5Packet Page 318



 

 

Table 6 illustrates the annual estimated revenue stream from OPT by various OPT rates 

(rate is per employee/employer per month). The estimated OPT annual revenue is 

adjusted for exemptions and non-compliance (businesses that are not licensed and/or do 

not remit their tax).    

 

Staff has made revenue projections using the most conservative case.  That is, there is no 

employer match included for government, religious or non-profits when revenue 

projections were made to place in Table 6.  If Council would like to have staff add them 

back it can do so for the July 14 study session.  

 

      Table 6 

    Projected Revenue per Year at Various Rates 

OPT Rate 

# of 

Workers 

Employee 

Paid 

OPT  

Employer Paid OPT 

less Government-

Match 

Estimated 

Annual OPT 

Paid  

$2 93,972 $1,849,366 $1,485,010 $3,414,356 

$3 93,972 $2,774,049 $2,227,515 $5,121,534 

$4 93,972 $3,698,731 $2,970,020 $6,828,713 

$5 93,972 $4,623,414 $3,712,525 $8,535,891 

 

Based on the research completed by city staff the percent of total employees for which 

the OPT tax was paid ranged from 79 to 86 percent, with an average of 82 percent.  

Based on this data the estimated OPT revenue per $1 is projected to range from $825,000 

to $890,000 annually. The average would generate $850,000 annually.  

 

NEXT STEPS 

 

Based on council guidance provided at the July 14 study session, and questions received 

over the council recess staff will bring back more detailed information as requested.  As 

with all ballot questions for 2015, the date by which the final reading of any ballot issue 

needs to be done is September 1.  Due to the way the ballot calendar falls this year it is 

two weeks later than in most years.    

 

 

ATTACHMENTS    

Attachment A: Potential Uses for Occupational Privilege Tax 

Attachment B: Estimated OPT Revenue projection work papers 

 

Information Item 2B      Page 6Packet Page 319



  Attachment A: Potential Uses for Occupational Privilege Tax  

Transportation Division: 

 

Option 1: Use Head Tax for employee passes as part of Community-wide Eco Pass 

Program 

The Community-wide Eco Pass committees have discussed the use of a head tax to fund the 

employee portion of a city or county-wide Eco Pass program.  For the City of Boulder, it was 

estimated that an employee-only pass program would cost about $5.8m per year.  This cost 

includes both the Eco Passes and the additional transit service needed to meet the new 

demand and provide higher transit level of service. 

 

Option 2: Local and Regional Transit Improvements and Traffic Demand Management 

Programming in priority order: 

1. $1 million - Regional Transit Planning and Service Improvements, including arterial Bus 

Rapid Transit and other regional and inter-regional service. 

2. $1 million - Local Transit Service Buy-ups (improvements in level of service offered by 

RTD) and new Community Transit Network (CTN) routes 

3. $1 million - Additional Local Transit Service Buy-ups and new Community Transit 

Network (CTN) routes 

4. $1 million - Combination of First and Final Mile, multi-modal access improvements, and 

employer-based TDM Program expansion for existing and new developments. 

Housing Division: 
 

Revenues received from a head tax would allow the Division of Housing to continue to pursue 

the city’s goal of having 10% of its residences as permanently affordable to low- and moderate-

income persons through the creation and preservation of affordable units. Affordable housing 

continues to be a priority of the City of Boulder and additional funds will allow the city to 

continue to expand funding to nonprofit and for profit housing providers for the purchase, 

construction, and maintenance of affordable housing and for the costs of administering programs. 

 Funding decisions are made in accordance with current funding policies and practices including 

review of funding applications by staff and the City Manager-appointed Affordable Housing 

Technical Review Group with recommendations sent to the City Manager for approval.  Using 

the current average per unit subsidy of $69K each $1M in revenue would equate to 

approximately 14-15 new or preserved affordable housing units. 

 

Alternatively the city could dedicate additional revenue to pursue new affordable housing goals 

that result from the Housing Boulder discussion.  While specific impacts would depend on the 

goals, one example of a new program that could be implemented with new funding is a shared 

appreciation down payment assistance loan program for middle income households.  If $100,000 

per household were invested in this manner, 10 households could be served annually for each 

$1M in revenue.  Following city council's adoption of a new comprehensive housing strategy and 

the completion of a new nexus study for the recently adopted affordable housing linkage fee a 

more specific determination of funding impacts will be possible.   

Information Item 2B      Page 7Packet Page 320



  Attachment A: Potential Uses for Occupational Privilege Tax  

General Fund and Other Funds of the City – Capital Projects 

 

General Purpose Capital Projects: 

 

Additional revenues could be used to support debt financing or ongoing costs related to some 

major capital needs. While one year of revenues would not fund the following capital priorities, 

the new source of revenue could be accumulated for smaller projects until there were enough 

funds, or debt could be used to receive up front proceeds to pay for the project and the new 

source of revenue could be used to pay the annual debt service.  If debt were used it would 

require voter authorization. None of the following currently have a source of revenue to address 

the need. 

 

1. Fire Station #3 

The highest priority unfunded capital item identified is the relocation of Fire Station #3. The 

current strategy calls for relocating Fire Station #3 out of the 100-year floodplain, co-locating it 

with Fire Administration Offices, and constructing a separate storage facility for fire vehicles and 

equipment. In 2011, 13 sites were identified as potential locations for Station 3. After analyzing 

multiple criteria, six sites remained. Since that time, three of those six could still be possible, 

each with their own acquisition issues. The top site is still the Mapleton ball fields. This station 

needs to be 17,000 square feet to house a fire engine, ladder truck, LRV/Ambulance, Dive Team 

and crews plus a battalion chief, the administration building needs to be 7,500 square feet and the 

storage building 10,000 square feet. Costs are estimated as follows: One-time Buildings 

$11,412,500, Land up to $8,600,000, On-going $459,000. 

 

2. Citywide Radio Infrastructure 

Another high priority capital item identified is the citywide Radio Infrastructure. Over the next 5 

years, much of the city’s radio infrastructure will need to be replaced due both to age and new 

unfunded narrow-banding mandates from the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). This 

will include the need for new infrastructure as well as new radios, and radio pack sets for all 

departments using the radio system. Estimated cost $5 to 6 million. 

 

3. Valmont City Park Phase 2 

Phase 2 of Valmont City Park, which will include the design and development of the area south 

of Valmont Road, may encompass a new sports complex with multi-use athletic fields, 

baseball/softball fields, a sprayground/splashpark, lighted play courts and potentially utilizing 

artificial turf. A permanent 18-hole disc golf course could be developed in the northwest portion 

of the site as well as improvements to existing multi-use pathways with proposed connections to 

other park trails. A Universally Accessible Play Area has been proposed in conjunction with an 

adventure play area using enhanced landscaping with efficient, water-conserving irrigation. The 

existing poultry barn north of Valmont Road will be considered for remodeling for multi-use 

events. Additional park amenities may include picnic areas, parking areas, potential skate area 

and an outdoor performance area. The development will incorporate sustainable construction and 

infrastructure with prairie dog relocation, stormwater management and efficient water 

conservation. Estimated cost $48 million. 

Information Item 2B      Page 8Packet Page 321



Attachment B: Estimated OPT Revenues 

Industry 

# of 

Workers 

$2 monthly OPT 

rate for Employees 

(annual revenue) 

$2 monthly OPT 

rate for Employers 

(annual revenue) 

Estimated Annual OPT 

Revenue ($2+$2) without 

thresholds & exemptions 

Estimated Annual OPT Revenue 

($2+$2) with thresholds & 

exemptions (82%) 

Agriculture, Mining, Utilities 313 $7,512 $7,512 $15,024 $12,320 

Construction 1,566 $37,576 $37,576 $75,152 $61,625 

Manufacturing 9,650 $231,608 $231,608 $463,216 $379,837 

Wholesale 2,982 $71,562 $71,562 $143,124 $117,362 

Retail 7,927 $190,246 $190,246 $380,492 $312,003 

Transportation & Warehousing 877 $21,050 $21,050 $42,100 $34,522 

Information 5,570 $133,672 $133,672 $267,344 $219,222 

Finance & Insurance 3,352 $80,438 $80,438 $160,876 $131,918 

Real Estate 1,279 $30,706 $30,706 $61,412 $50,358 

Profession, Scientific & Tech 14,546 $349,096 $349,096 $698,192 $572,517 

Mgt. of Companies 567 $13,598 $13,598 $27,196 $22,301 

Admin, Support & Waste 

Mgmt 3,003 $72,064 $72,064 $144,128 $118,185 

Educational Services 1,456 $34,938 $34,938 $69,876 $57,298 

Health Care & Social Asst 8,463 $203,102 $203,102 $406,204 $333,087 

Arts, Entertainment, & Rec 1,864 $44,728 $44,728 $89,456 $73,354 

Accommodation & Food 

Services 9,290 $222,948 $222,948 $445,896 $365,635 

Other Services 2,745 $65,882 $65,882 $131,764 $108,046 

Undefined 11 $262 $262 $524 $430 

Federal Gov 652 $15,648 $0 $15,648 $15,648 

State Gov 8,929 $214,296 $0 $214,296 $214,296 

Local Gov 8,933 $214,392 $0 $214,392 $214,392 

Boulder City Total 93,972 $2,255,324 $1,810,988 $4,066,312 $3,414,356 

      OPT Revenue per $1  (82%) 

The average of entities 

contacted 

    

$853,589 

OPT Revenue per $1  (79%) 

    

$826,424 

OPT Revenue per $1  (86%) 

    

$889,809 

 

Information Item 2B      Page 9Packet Page 322



 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 16, 2015 

 
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Mary Ann Weideman, Assistant City Manager  
 Casey Earp, Assistant City Manager I  
 
Date:   June 16, 2015 
 
Subject: Information Item: Draft Neighborhood Partnership Grant Program 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
At the 2015 City Council retreat, several goals were discussed to support a more vibrant 
and livable Boulder. One specific goal raised was strengthening neighborhoods around 
the community through resilience and sustainability efforts. To support this goal, $50,000 
has been allocated through the supplemental budget, adopted at the May 19 Council 
meeting, to fund a program that would partner with neighborhoods to spark community 
based projects that are initiated, designed and completed by community groups. The draft 
Neighborhood Partnership Grant Program (Attachment A) has been developed to provide 
resources to neighborhoods to help create a stronger neighborhood identity and generally 
enhance the quality of life for the residents of the area. As the program continues to be 
developed in anticipation of an August 1 program start date, staff would welcome any 
council feedback by July 15. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The draft Neighborhood Partnership Grant Program is an inclusive program that provides 
active neighborhood groups, ad hoc groups, and community groups with the opportunity 
to apply for matching funds to complete a neighborhood based project.  
 
This program will be administered by the Neighborhood Liaison in the City Manager’s 
Office. An initial scoring criterion has been developed, based on similar programs from 
around the country, to evaluate projects at two grant levels. Groups can apply for up to 
$1000 under the Spark Funds program to initiate projects such as community organizing, 
developing communication channels (neighborhood newsletter, social media page, etc.), 

Information Packet 2C     Page 1Packet Page 323



host a neighborhood event, or an environmental cleanup project. Under the 
Neighborhood Enhancement Grant program groups can apply for up to $20,000 for 
projects that include but are not limited to physical improvements, public art, 
neighborhood planning and design, cultural attractions, environmental projects, or local 
food projects. Every idea that has the support of the neighborhoods will be considered 
under both categories of grants.    
 
To be competitive in the grant process these groups will have to meet program 
requirements of adhering to City Codes, receiving endorsements of the neighbors in the 
area, developing an on-going maintenance plan (if applicable), and providing a detailed 
project budget. The City is requiring a 25 percent match for larger “Neighborhood 
Enhancement” projects. Matching funds can be comprised of cash donations, material 
donations, in-kind labor, professional services and maintenance.  
 
Both tiers of grants will be considered by a group of city staff based on established 
criteria. For the smaller tier, Spark Grants, the Neighborhood Liaison and the applicable 
city department representative will evaluate the project based on the submitted 
application. For the larger Neighborhood Enhancement Grants a committee of city staff 
will all review the application and evaluate the projects.  There will be two application 
periods for the Neighborhood Enhancement Grants, while the Spark Grants can be 
applied for year round.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
The next steps for developing this program in anticipation of an August 1 program start 
date are: 
 

• Receive any council feedback by July 15 
• Create an application template 
• Establish the staff review committee 
• Determine insurance requirements  
• Create a project template  
• Create web and marketing material for the program. 

 
CONCLUSION 
Staff looks forward to partnering with neighborhoods during the implementation of this 
program to further support community needs and further enhance resilience and 
sustainability efforts. 
 
ATTACHMENT 
Attachment A: Draft Neighborhood Partnership Grant Program 
 
 

Information Packet 2C     Page 2Packet Page 324



 

Boulder’s Neighborhood Partnership Grant Program 

What is the Neighborhood Partnership Grant Program?   
 
Boulder’s community character and quality of life is supported by unique neighborhoods and engaged 
community members. The Neighborhood Partnership Program has been created to provide 
neighborhoods in Boulder with an opportunity to leverage City resources for community-driven projects 
that are planned and implemented by locally organized groups of residents.  
 
The Neighborhood Partnership Grant Program is an inclusive community program where groups of 
residents, formally recognized or not, can apply to receive funding for a project(s) that will help support 
and address specific area needs and create more sustainable neighborhoods.  Projects can range from 
public art to neighborhood gatherings to community planning. All an applicant really needs to apply is a 
great idea and the support of the neighborhood in which the project is taking place! 
 
Who can apply? 
 
Any group of community members may apply. Applicants need to have a proposal that enhances the 
quality of life in a Boulder neighborhood. Applications can come from neighborhood organizations, ad 
hoc groups (with a neighborhood issue in mind), non-profit organizations, community based groups and 
the like. Partnerships between various groups are encouraged. An individual member of the community 
cannot apply for these grants.  
 
What projects will the city fund? 
 
The City of Boulder is looking for projects that help promote the sense of community in a neighborhood, 
enhance quality of life, help increase engagement of residents in the neighborhood and support the 
sustainability, resilience, and inclusivity efforts of the City.  Each project should: 
 

• Support neighborhood sustainability and resilience 
• Generally enhance the quality of life and/or neighborhood identity  
• Provide a neighborhood/community benefit  
• Demonstrate neighborhood engagement through participation in the planning and 

implementation of the project 
 

What are some examples of possible projects? 
 

• Physical improvements to the neighborhood, like landscaping, street painting or public art 
• Neighborhood planning and design   
• Youth engagement opportunities  
• Community organizing 

Attachment A 
Neighborhood Partnership Program 

Information Packet 2C     Page 3Packet Page 325



 

• Local food efforts 
• Arts and Culture  
• Environmentally focused projects  
• Purchasing and installing additional park amenities 
• Developing athletic opportunities in parks 
• Hosting a community cultural event 
• Having a neighborhood concert 
• Support a neighborhood gathering 

 
What funding is available? 
 
There are two types of funds available to applicants, Neighborhood Spark Grants and Neighborhood 
Enhancement Grants. Both of these funding levels can be used for a wide range of projects. The smaller 
Spark funds can be applied for year round, while there are two application opportunities for the 
Neighborhood Enhancement Grants.  The total funds available in 2015 will be $50,000 and once the 
funding is allocated, applicants must wait until the following year to apply.  
 
 Neighborhood Spark Grant Neighborhood Enhancement 

Grant 
Awards Up to $1,000 Up to $20,000* 
Application Deadlines 
 

Year Round One each: September 1 and 
November 1st  for 2015  

Grant award 3 to 4 weeks after application 8 weeks after application  
Contract with City  Within one month of notice Within one month of notice 
 
*For the Neighborhood Enhancement Grants, each partnership requires that the applicant(s) 
neighborhood or community group donate a 25% match of the City’s contribution through volunteer 
labor, donated materials or services, and/or cash. The time spent developing the application for a 
project can go toward this match. Volunteer labor is valued at $20 per hour.  
 
How do I/we apply? 
 
Each applicant must submit a completed application (located here) to the Neighborhood Liaison 
outlining their project, the specific monetary amount requested, the steps they have taken to gather 
neighborhood support, the resources available for the project (include a project budget), and a 
proposed timeline.  It is encouraged that each applicant spend adequate time developing support for a 
project in the neighborhood before submitting an application. If an applicant is proposing a 
neighborhood engagement project, then the applicant needs to develop a clear outreach strategy and 
desired outcomes. Every project should have the support of the neighborhood; individuals are not 
eligible for these grants. If you are applying for the larger Neighborhood Enhancement Grant, there are 
two application periods, the first week in September and November for 2015. City staff is available to 

Attachment A 
Neighborhood Partnership Program 

Information Packet 2C     Page 4Packet Page 326



 

answer questions leading up to these application periods. If an application is not funded at any time, 
applicants may adjust and resubmit for the same project during the next application period.  
 
Here are suggested ways of gathering neighborhood support for a neighborhood enhancement project: 
 

• Hold a neighborhood meeting 
• Gather signatures  
• Produce flyers and collect emails 
• Have a meeting at the location of the proposed project 

o Gather input from neighbors on what they would like to see 
• See if you can partner with a locally based community organization, or non-profit  

 
Here are suggested ways of creating a community engagement project: 
 

• Develop an outreach strategy   
o Knock on doors, create a listserv, develop a social media page, create a neighborhood 

newsletter, etc. 
• Host a neighborhood party or event  

o Develop a goal for a project that enhances quality of life. This can be developing 
relationships with neighbors, discussing current issues, creating communication 
channels or discussing a vision for the neighborhood. 

• Create  a social  opportunity or neighborhood organization   
o Create a plan to develop a representative group of neighbors. 

 
How will our project be evaluated? 
 
Spark and Neighborhood Enhancement Grants are evaluated differently. The Neighborhood Liaison, 
along with a representative from any applicable department, will review Spark Grant applications based 
on the criteria outlined below and then issue grants when funds are available.  
 
For Neighborhood Enhancement Grant applications, there is a standing committee of City staff, 
representing a cross section of departments, who review and evaluate applications. Staff members will 
review each Neighborhood Enhancement Grant application based on the criteria below:  
  

• Project Idea & Geographic Equity (10 pts) – Points are awarded to underrepresented 
neighborhoods based on previous Neighborhood Partnership Projects.  

• Neighborhood/Community Participation (20 pts) – A project earns points based on the active 
participation of community members and neighborhood residents.  

• Project Resources and Readiness (20 pts) – Points are awarded based on the completeness of 
the application and by having every piece of the project requirements in place 

Attachment A 
Neighborhood Partnership Program 

Information Packet 2C     Page 5Packet Page 327



 

• Incorporates City Council Vision/Initiatives (25 pts) – Points are awarded to projects that take 
into account City Council Initiatives, address an unfunded or underfunded project, and that fit 
within the City’s Sustainability Framework. The neighborhood liaison can help applicants 
identify/locate these documents.  

• Quality of Life Outcomes (25 pts) – Points are awarded based on how the project enhances life 
for the residents of the neighborhood. Enhancement can be both through physical 
improvements or creating greater sense of neighborhood identity.  

 
Are there any items that do not qualify for funding? 

 
• Individuals 
• Organizations located outside of the city limits of Boulder 
• Applicants who have failed to successfully carry out contracted projects in the two preceding 

years 
• Duplication of public or private programs  
• Replacing lost funding 
• Purchasing land/buildings 
• Pay for traveling expenses  
• Pay for expenses already committed to before the contract with the City 

 
What are the contracting requirements for a Neighborhood Spark Grant? 
 

• Have an agreed upon work plan signed by the applicant and Neighborhood Liaison 
• Neighborhood Spark Grant waiver has to be agreed to and signed  
• Reporting requirements  

o Each project is required to submit reports to the neighborhood liaison on progress. 
 
What are the contracting requirements for a Neighborhood Enhancement Grant? 
 

• The award is paid out in installments on a reimbursement basis 
• The applicant needs to identify a fiscal sponsor 

o An example of a fiscal sponsor would be Play Boulder. Play Boulder can act as a fiscal 
sponsor for parks-related projects if the applicant does not have the necessary structure 
to manage the funds. There is a small administrative fee associated with using most 
fiscal sponsors. City staff can help identify fiscal sponsors if the applicants have not 
already identified one.  

• Insurance 
o Each project will need to have insurance for volunteers  
o Occasionally projects can be covered by a waiver agreeing to indemnify and hold 

harmless.  
• Contingency 

Attachment A 
Neighborhood Partnership Program 

Information Packet 2C     Page 6Packet Page 328



 

Projects can go over budget due to unforeseen circumstances while in the planning 
stages. Each applicant needs to budget a 5% contingency in the project plan for physical 
upgrades. 

• Reporting requirements  
o Each project is required to submit reports to the Neighborhood Liaison on progress. 

 
The City of Boulder is committed to helping applicants interested in this program work through the 
requirements. If you have questions about an idea or would like to understand the requirements 
further, please call the Neighborhood Liaison. 
 
It is as simple as 1, 2, 3.  
 
First, you need: 
 

• A great idea! 
• A simple sketch of your idea, with the location identified 
• An idea of the project budget 
• A plan to meet your cost-share through fundraisers, in-kind labor, cash donations, etc.  

 
Second, talk to your neighbors: show them the sketch, tell them about the cost-share, and earn their 
support! The City requires: 
 

• The endorsement of the commonly recognized neighborhood association, the homeowner’s 
association for your area (City staff can help you to identify this), or a group of committed 
neighbors. 

• An agreement to maintaining the project after installation. 
 
Third, send your application to the Neighborhood Partnership Grant Program. Please include in your 
email: 
 

• Your name, phone number, and organization you are representing. 
• A project location, a simple sketch, and a brief description of your idea. 

 
Staff Contacts 
 
 

 

 

 

Attachment A 
Neighborhood Partnership Program 

Information Packet 2C     Page 7Packet Page 329



 

 

 

FAQ 

What groups can apply? 
• All community or neighborhood based groups, non-profits and ad hoc groups can apply for 

these grants.  
Can an individual apply? 

• No, the program is intended to enhance the quality of life for the neighborhood not a single 
neighbor. Gathering support of community groups, neighbors,  and HOAs is very important to be 
competitive in this process.  

How do I get support from neighbors? 
• Gathering signatures and addresses is the easiest way to show you have the support of the 

neighboring properties. Get neighbors involved early in the process, the more willing supporters 
you have both on paper and in volunteers will make the project competitive.  

Do I need a permit? 
• Yes, in some instances. The Boulder Municipal Code Chapter 8-5 outlines the requirements for 

Right-of-Way permits. All physical improvements need a permit; general weeding or landscaping 
and community cleanup efforts need waivers but not a permit.  

Do I need insurance? 
• Yes, for some projects. The City of Boulder requires anyone performing work that could result in 

injury on public property to be covered by the contractors insurance. For simple public art 
projects or limited landscaping, the contractor needs to have each volunteer sign a waiver.   

Who can act as my fiscal sponsor? 
• Play Boulder is an example of a fiscal sponsor. Other non-profit organizations can act as a fiscal 

sponsor. There is an estimated administrative cost of 5% associated with using Play Boulder as 
the fiscal sponsor. 

Can I propose a project on private property? 
• Projects need to have public benefit. In some circumstances this can be achieved through a 

project on private property.  
Can I resubmit my application if it was previously unfunded? 

• Yes 
 

 
 
 

Attachment A 
Neighborhood Partnership Program 

Information Packet 2C     Page 8Packet Page 330



 
 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
 Mike Sweeney, Acting Director of Transportation for Public Works 
 Bill Cowern, Transportation Operations Engineer 
 Shannon Young, Transportation Engineer 
  
Date:   May 7, 2015 
 
Subject: Information Item: Update on the Transportation Report on Progress 
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
A critical component to the successful implementation of the Transportation Master Plan (TMP) 
is the measurement and monitoring of identified metrics tracking progress on TMP goals and 
associated measurable objectives. The biennial Transportation Report on Progress is currently 
under development and slated for release in fall 2015. This information item provides an update 
on the roadway performance metrics portion of the overall report on progress.  
 
The City of Boulder tracks the performance of the roadway system through a number of metrics, 
including annual traffic count programs, peak-hour intersection levels of service, and travel time 
studies on key east-west and north-south corridors. This information item compares the findings 
of these studies to the increase in trip-making potential within the City of Boulder, with both 
population and job growth estimates. 
 
The results of the roadway system metrics evaluation indicate that traffic conditions have 
remained stable, despite increases in population and employment. While the city’s population 
has been growing by an average of 0.4 percent annually and the number of jobs has been 
increasing by an average of 0.3 percent annually over the past 15 years (2000 to 2014), the city’s 
annual traffic count programs suggest that traffic volumes have decreased over the same time 
period.  Traffic volume on arterial roadways within the city has been decreasing by about 1.1 
percent annually. The recent peak-hour level of service analyses of signalized intersections 
indicate improvements in intersection operations over the last few years. Furthermore, the travel 
time studies on major corridors show that the time required to travel across the city has not 
increased in more than 25 years. 
 
Packet Page 331



 

FISCAL IMPACT 
The City of Boulder currently spends approximately $70,000 per year to collect traffic data and 
perform related studies that measure traffic and congestion on city roadways. There is no 
anticipated increase in cost at this time.     
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 
• Economic: Lack of good access to jobs and services from a congested transportation system 

can have a negative impact on a local economy. The roadway system evaluations and 
conclusions will help inform the city’s decisions about managing the transportation system.  

 
• Environmental: Traffic congestion can have negative environmental impacts, including air 

pollution and greenhouse gas emissions. The roadway system evaluations and conclusions 
will help inform the city’s decisions about managing traffic congestion.   

 
• Social: Congestion on multi-jurisdictional roadways is often a point of contention with 

intergovernmental relations. The roadway system evaluations and conclusions will help 
inform decisions by the city and its regional partners about managing traffic congestion.   

 
BACKGROUND 
The performance of the city’s roadway system is evaluated using several different metrics, 
including traffic volumes, peak-hour intersection levels of service, and travel time data collected 
on arterial roadways.   
 
Traffic volume data is collected by three yearly count programs: the Arterial Count Program, 
Boulder Valley Count Program, and Turning Movement Count Program. The Arterial Count 
Program has been used since 1982 to capture average daily traffic (ADT) volumes on a selection 
of 18 arterial roadway sections throughout the city. Data from this program is used to calculate 
trends in overall traffic volumes within the city and track progress towards the TMP goals. The 
Boulder Valley Count Program has been in place since 1993, and captures all traffic entering and 
exiting the city. The turning movement count program captures peak-hour intersection volumes 
for each specific turn movement at all signalized intersections in the city. Data is collected every 
three years on a rotational basis and includes morning, noon, and evening peak hours. Peak-hour 
turning movement volumes are a key factor used to determine intersection levels of service. 
 
Level of service is an operational analysis method that assigns a quantitative measure (level of 
service A through F) based on average vehicle control delay. Since the capacity and performance 
of arterial roadways are controlled by the signalized intersections, an operational analysis of 
these intersections is used to further evaluate the city’s roadway system. The level of service 
(LOS) analysis is conducted every three years for all signalized intersections within the city.  
This analysis is conducted by modeling the city’s transportation network, including intersection 
geometries and peak-hour turning movement volumes, to determine the average vehicle control 
delay per movement, approach, and intersection according to the Highway Capacity Manual 
(HCM) methodology. Based on the control delay, a LOS is assigned for each intersection and 
each turn movement. 

Packet Page 332



 

In addition to traffic volumes and levels of service, the city also tracks travel times when 
evaluating the roadway system. Travel time studies are conducted every three years for major 
east-west corridors and north-south corridors. These corridors include Arapahoe Avenue, 
Broadway, Valmont Road, 28th

 

 Street, Peal Street, and Foothills Parkway.  The travel time 
studies measure the time it takes to traverse the entire corridor across the city during the peak 
traffic hours (morning, noon, and evening) and provide direct quantitative insights into how the 
roadway system is performing over time. 

ANALYSIS  
The results of the roadway system evaluations indicate that traffic conditions and operational 
performance have remained stable over the past 15 years. Traffic volumes on the city’s arterial 
roadways have generally decreased over this time period, despite the fact that the trip-making 
potential from population and employment has increased. Additionally, the LOS evaluation and 
travel time studies show similar patterns, as vehicle delay and travel times have not increased. 
 
Traffic Volumes 
An analysis of 15-year traffic count volumes from the Arterial Count Program shows that, on 
average, traffic volumes on the city’s arterial roadways have been decreasing by about 1.1 
percent annually. Conversely, the city’s population has grown by an average of 0.4 percent 
annually and employment has increased by an average of0.3 percent each year. Additional 
population and jobs typically result in additional trip-making potential. However, this added trip 
potential has not resulted in increased traffic volume on Boulder’s arterial roadways. These 
trends are illustrated in Figure 1 below.   
 
For more detailed information, view the interactive map of the city’s vehicle traffic count data. 
 
 

Packet Page 333

http://gisweb.ci.boulder.co.us/agswebsites/pds/pds_traffic/�


 

 
Figure 1. Trends in Boulder Traffic Volumes, Population, and Employment 

 
Level of Service 
In 2015, staff completed an update of LOS at all signalized intersections, based on traffic 
volumes from 2012 through 2014. The results of the LOS analysis support the trends seen in the 
city’s arterial count program. The LOS at signalized intersections has not degraded, even as the 
city has grown in both population and employment. The number of intersections with an overall 
LOS of E or F during any peak hour is tracked for each update, and the percentage of 
intersections at overall LOS E or F has remained around 19 to 21 percent during the last several 
LOS updates and dropped to 11 percent in the 2015 report. This reflects the decrease in traffic 
volumes during the three previous years. The 2015 LOS update also began tracking the 
percentage of traffic in each peak period that experiences a movement of LOS E or F.  This is a 
baseline metric that staff will be tracking with all future LOS updates.  The results of the recent 
LOS analyses are summarized in Table 1. A copy of the draft 2015 LOS update is provided as 
Attachment A. 
 

Table 1. Summary of Level of Service Results 

Year 
Total Number of 

Signalized Intersections 
Number of Intersections at 
LOS E or F in Any Peak Hour 

Percent of 
Total 

2007 132 25 19% 
2009 133 25 19% 
2011 133 28 21% 
2015 138 15 11% 

 

0 

20,000 

40,000 

60,000 

80,000 

100,000 

120,000 

0 

100000 

200000 

300000 

400000 

500000 

600000 

700000 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Po
pu

la
tio

n/
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t 

Ar
te

ria
l C

ou
nt

 V
ol

um
es

 (v
pd

) 

Year 

Traffic Volume Trends vs. Population & Employment 

Traffic Volume Population Jobs Linear (Traffic Volume) 

Packet Page 334



 

Travel Times 
Travel time studies were completed for Broadway, 28th

 

 Street, and Foothills Parkway in 2012 
and for Arapahoe Avenue, Valmont Road, and Broadway in 2014. Changes in corridor travel 
times can be caused by a variety of factors, including intersection improvements, modifications 
to traffic signal timing, construction projects, and fluctuations in traffic volumes. Increased 
traffic congestion would likely adversely affect travel times. The latest travel time studies 
provided results consistent with past studies, revealing no significant changes to the time that it 
takes drivers to traverse these corridors. 

 
Figure 2. Travel Time Trends on Major Corridors 

 
As shown in Figure 2 above, travel times have remained relatively steady over the past 10 years.  
The sharp decrease in travel times on 28th

 

 Street between 2006 and 2008 was most likely a result 
of improvements at the Iris Avenue intersection. The latest travel time studies are provided as 
Attachment B and Attachment C, respectively. 

NEXT STEPS 
The city will continue to use these evaluation procedures to monitor the roadway system on a 
regular basis. The roadway metrics are an element of the overall TMP multimodal transportation 
system metrics. These results will be incorporated into the biennial Transportation Report on 

0.00  

2.00  

4.00  

6.00  

8.00  

10.00  

12.00  

14.00  

16.00  

18.00  

20.00  

1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 

Tr
av

el
 T

im
e 

(m
in

.) 

Year 

Major Arterial Corridor Travel Time 

Broadway 28th Street Foothills Parkway 

Arapahoe Avenue Edgewood/Valmont Pearl Street 

Packet Page 335



 

Progress (scheduled for the fourth quarter of 2015), providing a comprehensive reporting on the 
nine measurable objectives.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
• Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report 
• Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report 
• Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report 

Packet Page 336



 

  
P.O. BOX 19768, BOULDER, COLORADO 80308-2768 

PHONE:  303.652.3571  |  WWW.FOXTUTTLE.COM 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
To:    Joe Paulson, PE 

City of Boulder Signal Operations Engineer 
 
From:    Steve Tuttle, PE, PTOE 
 
Date:    March 4, 2015  
 
Project:  City of Boulder Signalized Intersection Level of Service 
 
Subject:  2015 Update 
 
 
Fox Tuttle has completed an update of the City of Boulder Signalized Intersection Level of Service (LOS) 
database.  The purpose of this memorandum is to summarize the results of the LOS analysis and compare 
to previous reports.   
 
Current intersection turning movement counts, timing/phasing modifications, and geometric information 
were obtained from the City and incorporated into the database.  The LOS calculations were performed 
using Synchro 8  software.   The  last  report was performed  in 2011.   As  the City generally  counts each 
intersection on a schedule of every 3 years, this current update incorporates new traffic volumes at most 
of the signalized intersections, along with timing plan changes and geometric improvement projects. 
 
The following Tables and Figures are attached: 
 
Table 1 ‐ LOS Summary Table: This table provides overall intersection and individual movement Levels of 
Service for each intersection and time period (AM, Noon, and PM peak hours) and includes the date that 
the turning movement count was performed. 
 
Figure 1 ‐ AM Peak Hour Levels of Service: This figure shows citywide Level of Service operations for the 
AM peak hour.  
 
Figure 2 ‐ Noon Peak Hour Levels of Service: This figure shows citywide Level of Service operations for the 
noon peak hour.  
 
Figure 3 ‐ PM Peak Hour Levels of Service: This figure shows citywide Level of Service operations for the PM 
peak hour.  

DRAFT 

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 337



City of Boulder Signalized Intersection Level of Service – 2015 Update 
March 4, 2015                                                                                                                                                        Page 2

 

 

Figure 4 – Critical Peak Hour Levels of Service: This figure shows citywide Level of Service operations for the 
peak hour which represents the most congested operations at each individual intersection.  
 
The  following  table summarizes  the overall  intersection LOS data  for  the current and previous reports.  
Some variations between data years may be attributable to differences in the methodologies used by the 
TEAPAC (used from 1998 to 2001) and Synchro software packages (currently using Synchro Version 8), as 
well as differences in traffic count technologies used which may affect volume accuracy.  
 

Table 1 ‐ Summary of Level of Service Results 
                     

Intersection Data 

Report 
Year 

Total 
# 

# at LOS 
E or F in 
Any 
Peak 
Hour 

% of 
Total 

# at LOS 
E or F in 
AM 
Peak 
Hour 

% of 
Total 

# at LOS 
E or F in 
Noon 
Peak 
Hour 

% of 
Total 

# at LOS 
E or F in 
PM 
Peak 
Hour 

% of 
Total  LOS Software Used 

                 

1998  126  29  23%  9  7%  11  9%  27  21%  TEAPAC/Signal97 

1999  126  32  25%  11  9%  12  10%  30  24%  TEAPAC/Signal97 

2000  127  36  28%  13  10%  16  13%  33  26%  TEAPAC/Signal2000 

2001  129  35  27%  13  10%  11  9%  31  24%  TEAPAC/Signal2000 

2002  130  31  24%  9  7%  12  9%  28  22%  Synchro 5 

2003/2004  131  25  19%  7  5%  9  7%  23  18%  Synchro 6 

2007  132  25  19%  8  6%  7  5%  25  19%  Synchro 7 

2009  133  25  19%  5  4%  4  3%  25  19%  Synchro 7 

2011  133  28  21%  6  5%  8  6%  24  18%  Synchro 8 

2015  138  15  11%  4  3%  4  3%  12  9%  Synchro 8 

                     

 
Per our recent discussions, we have included a new metric for the Year 2015 report which determines the 
percentage of drivers that experience LOS E or F at City of Boulder signalized intersection using the volume 
for each movement, the LOS letter grade that movement experienced per the calculations, and the total 
hourly entering volume for all intersections combined.   
 

Peak 
Hour 

Total 
Entering 
Volume 

# of 
Entering 
Vehicles 

Experiencing 
LOS E or F 

% of 
Entering 
Vehicles 

Experiencing 
LOS E or F 

           

AM  
            

275,116   18,128  7% 

Noon 
            

275,391   9,783  4% 

PM 
            

351,425   33,520  10% 

 

DRAFT 
Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 338



City of Boulder Signalized Intersection Level of Service – 2015 Update 
March 4, 2015                                                                                                                                                        Page 3

 

 

 
 
 
 
I hope that the information generated in this analysis and summarized in this memorandum are helpful.  
Please do not hesitate to call if you have any questions or would like to discuss. 

 
/sgt 
 
 
 

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 339



City of Boulder Signalized Intersection Level of Service Summary DRAFT

Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS

1  04/03/13 Broadway & 27th Way 13.2 B 12.5 B 15.6 B

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 437 33.5 C 422 28.4 C 759 26.7 C

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 17 35.4 D 33 49.1 D 36 19.0 B

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 1304 5.1 A 699 3.8 A 942 11.1 B

NBR 635 7.1 A 301 4.4 A 495 13.6 B

SBL 2 22.4 C 8 12.7 B 20 10.9 B

SBT 598 20.2 C 622 12.5 B 1208 12.2 B
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

2  04/02/13 Broadway & Baseline Rd. 30.1 C 29.1 C 39.8 D

EBL 9 32.3 C 18 35.6 D 21 28.6 C

EBT 373 42.2 D 291 42.4 D 380 39.2 D

EBR 147 14.8 B 98 15.4 B 209 10.7 B

WBL 40 47.7 D 53 32.1 C 73 64.0 E

WBT 404 64.1 E 309 40.6 D 327 54.8 D

WBR 685 0.8 A 439 0.5 A 527 0.5 A

NBL 196 71.9 E 168 56.8 E 180 33.9 C

NBT 1009 24.5 C 549 28.9 C 687 33.7 C

NBR 58 0.0 0 70 0.0 0 60 0.0 0

SBL 383 40.5 D 498 42.3 D 735 78.7 E

SBT 389 20.6 C 440 14.1 B 846 33.9 C
SBR 14 0.0 0 13 0.0 0 10 0.0 0

3  09/17/14 27th Way/US 36 W. Ramp & Baseline Rd. 25.1 C 20.3 C 26.0 C

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 754 27.2 C 894 14.4 B 1187 12.2 B

EBR 58 0.0 0 94 0.0 0 105 0.0 0

WBL 399 40.1 D 218 48.4 D 506 48.6 D

WBT 1171 14.1 B 754 4.9 A 900 17.9 B

WBR 66 0.0 0 89 0.0 0 174 0.0 0

NBL 63 65.1 E 66 58.6 E 92 68.8 E

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 824 23.9 C 477 20.8 C 697 17.8 B

SBL 37 46.7 D 70 58.7 E 101 40.6 D

SBT 225 29.6 C 232 33.3 C 526 48.0 D
SBR 89 27.2 C 161 32.2 C 167 39.3 D

4  04/25/13 US 36 E. Ramp & Baseline Rd. 30.8 C 20.4 C 26.3 C

EBL 239 46.3 D 330 43.3 D 345 52.5 D

EBT 960 10.4 B 774 7.3 A 1118 4.8 A

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 891 9.7 A 830 17.3 B 1255 23.7 C

WBR 41 0.0 0 81 0.0 0 86 0.0 0

NBL 704 82.0 F 386 32.5 C 442 54.4 D

NBT 14 77.0 E 10 32.5 C 22 55.2 E

NBR 268 35.2 D 130 28.9 C 184 40.3 D

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

5  04/04/13 30th St. & Baseline Rd. 30.7 C 24.0 C 23.2 C

EBL 644 46.3 D 372 22.6 C 420 16.7 B

EBT 546 20.0 C 517 22.6 C 714 16.3 B

EBR 28 0.0 0 42 0.0 0 68 0.0 0

WBL 30 22.2 C 68 24.0 C 80 12.2 B

WBT 653 37.6 D 512 27.3 C 608 19.6 B

WBR 250 27.8 C 195 23.1 C 180 15.2 B

NBL 48 23.6 C 96 23.0 C 157 32.8 C

NBT 37 26.4 C 72 27.4 C 79 37.6 D

NBR 21 0.0 0 47 0.0 0 56 0.0 0

SBL 155 22.0 C 177 21.8 C 369 36.4 D

SBT 44 25.7 C 105 28.4 C 149 43.0 D
SBR 225 16.5 B 259 20.8 C 483 25.4 C

Count 

Date

3/4/15

AM Noon PM
ID# Intersection & Movements

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 340



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

6 09/03/14 Broadway & 20th St./Regent 17.6 B 14.9 B 25.2 C

EBL 28 34.6 C 33 28.6 C 36 39.7 D

EBT 30 41.4 D 26 29.8 C 62 40.3 D

EBR 34 0.0 0 17 0.0 0 22 0.0 0

WBL 32 29.9 C 101 32.7 C 214 80.8 F

WBT 13 29.2 C 42 30.0 C 60 37.7 D

WBR 102 31.6 C 164 34.1 C 203 44.0 D

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 1418 21.7 C 919 7.2 A 1059 17.2 B

NBR 324 0.3 A 136 0.1 A 174 0.1 A

SBL 94 48.6 D 134 56.4 E 194 100.1 F

SBT 758 7.4 A 862 7.9 A 1486 10.6 B
SBR 24 0.0 0 30 0.0 0 37 0.0 0

7  04/28/10 Broadway & Euclid Ave 2.1 A 3.8 A 1.0 A

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 11 45.5 D 37 44.0 D 0 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 1319 1.9 A 1010 2.1 A 1274 1.7 A

NBR 40 0.9 A 68 1.4 A 46 0.8 A

SBL 48 4.4 A 82 2.3 A 99 1.9 A

SBT 796 0.2 A 967 0.2 A 1442 0.4 A
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

8  10/16/12 Broadway & College Ave. 2.9 A 5.8 A 8.6 A

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 62 43.2 D 115 40.0 D 139 51.4 D

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 47 40.1 D 95 42.6 D 94 65.7 E

NBT 1174 0.3 A 773 0.1 A 1021 1.6 A

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 709 0.4 A 740 0.9 A 1249 4.4 A
SBR 5 0.0 0 29 0.0 0 19 0.0 0

9  10/16/12 Broadway & Pennsylvania Ave. 6.3 A 8.2 A 9.1 A

EBL 66 35.4 D 141 33.2 C 140 43.3 D

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 14 0.0 0 48 0.0 0 62 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 1187 6.2 A 790 5.9 A 971 5.2 A

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 694 2.7 A 721 3.6 A 1057 4.9 A
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

10  10/17/12 Broadway & University Ave. 16.4 B 18.2 B 26.8 C

EBL 29 41.1 D 40 41.5 D 37 41.7 D

EBT 78 42.7 D 87 42.9 D 112 43.6 D

EBR 106 40.0 D 106 39.6 D 131 40.9 D

WBL 100 44.4 D 129 44.0 D 244 55.1 E

WBT 50 31.1 C 66 30.5 C 78 29.0 C

WBR 12 0.0 0 22 0.0 0 39 0.0 0

NBL 107 7.2 A 53 9.1 A 91 30.6 C

NBT 970 9.7 A 685 11.2 B 953 18.0 B

NBR 201 0.0 0 173 0.0 0 234 0.0 0

SBL 18 13.7 B 30 11.4 B 22 17.1 B

SBT 578 13.8 B 636 12.9 B 1047 25.1 C
SBR 38 0.0 0 35 0.0 0 29 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 341



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

11  10/17/12 Broadway & Arapahoe Rd. 17.0 B 15.8 B 27.2 C

EBL 31 19.4 B 69 17.5 B 102 25.4 C

EBT 131 25.6 C 177 23.8 C 238 40.8 D

EBR 21 0.0 0 48 0.0 0 79 0.0 0

WBL 48 18.1 B 91 10.7 B 137 31.2 C

WBT 145 23.8 C 196 17.7 B 276 36.4 D

WBR 70 25.9 C 98 22.5 C 109 97.5 F

NBL 42 16.7 B 53 17.2 B 67 19.9 B

NBT 814 23.3 C 586 21.0 C 835 22.9 C

NBR 114 0.0 0 118 0.0 0 145 0.0 0

SBL 110 10.2 B 109 9.2 A 72 18.9 B

SBT 564 4.5 A 560 7.4 A 854 16.1 B
SBR 58 0.0 0 117 0.0 0 107 0.0 0

12  10/21/14 Folsom Ave. & Arapahoe Rd. 25.5 C 22.1 C 26.6 C

EBL 91 9.7 A 70 10.4 B 99 14.9 B

EBT 422 10.1 B 468 14.7 B 749 17.0 B

EBR 39 0.0 0 48 0.0 0 73 0.0 0

WBL 46 10.5 B 80 5.4 A 96 21.9 C

WBT 467 10.8 B 488 8.0 A 623 16.2 B

WBR 252 16.8 B 263 11.0 B 293 3.9 A

NBL 52 38.3 D 65 39.8 D 109 40.2 D

NBT 231 38.4 D 192 39.8 D 302 39.3 D

NBR 61 0.0 0 89 0.0 0 118 0.0 0

SBL 278 65.0 E 293 48.8 D 463 61.3 E

SBT 169 46.8 D 131 32.7 C 313 30.0 C
SBR 63 0.0 0 65 0.0 0 85 0.0 0

13  09/16/14 26th St. & Arapahoe Rd. 7.9 A 15.8 A 16.5 B

EBL 18 8.7 A 42 16.4 B 62 14.9 B

EBT 708 9.9 A 788 21.6 C 1158 21.8 C

EBR 17 0.0 0 26 0.0 0 44 0.0 0

WBL 21 2.5 A 117 4.5 A 70 5.1 A

WBT 774 2.1 A 722 5.7 A 817 1.9 A

WBR 37 0.0 0 152 0.0 0 118 0.0 0

NBL 40 32.6 C 73 29.0 C 99 36.2 D

NBT 3 31.5 C 24 27.3 C 12 32.6 C

NBR 3 31.3 C 47 27.1 C 57 32.7 C

SBL 44 32.8 C 140 30.8 C 132 36.7 D

SBT 0 31.4 C 27 27.6 C 23 33.1 C
SBR 11 0.0 0 40 0.0 0 56 0.0 0

14  04/30/13 28th St. & Arapahoe Rd. 32.2 C 33.0 C 66.1 E

EBL 83 34.6 C 181 31.1 C 199 37.0 D

EBT 510 16.6 B 658 19.5 B 825 35.5 D

EBR 212 0.0 0 279 0.0 0 400 0.0 0

WBL 176 39.3 D 263 48.8 D 424 102.5 F

WBT 671 42.2 D 767 42.2 D 843 48.5 D

WBR 194 60.7 E 397 55.8 E 293 61.0 E

NBL 301 55.9 E 269 65.9 E 270 67.1 E

NBT 1301 16.5 B 1030 25.8 C 1241 26.1 C

NBR 137 0.0 0 166 0.0 0 150 0.0 0

SBL 205 92.4 F 396 48.1 D 320 52.6 D

SBT 934 33.6 C 981 22.5 C 1391 143.0 F
SBR 69 4.2 A 159 10.5 B 95 13.9 B

15  05/14/13 29th St. & Arapahoe Rd. 6.5 A 16.0 A 14.5 B

EBL 59 10.8 B 123 31.6 C 83 29.1 C

EBT 705 6.5 A 1080 15.6 B 1190 11.9 B

EBR 5 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 9 0.0 0

WBL 27 4.1 A 41 9.3 A 48 9.2 A

WBT 1046 4.4 A 1188 10.5 B 1522 10.7 B

WBR 55 0.0 0 223 0.0 0 193 0.0 0

NBL 4 0.0 0 14 0.0 0 21 0.0 0

NBT 0 32.7 C 4 29.0 C 7 35.2 D

NBR 11 0.0 0 15 0.0 0 21 0.0 0

SBL 22 0.0 0 166 0.0 0 138 0.0 0

SBT 2 33.4 C 12 36.0 D 8 39.8 D
SBR 27 32.7 C 133 29.2 C 136 35.2 D

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 342



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

16  04/08/14 30th St. & Arapahoe Rd. 24.2 C 31.5 C 36.4 D

EBL 116 65.4 E 180 64.2 E 185 52.6 D

EBT 530 9.6 A 941 13.5 B 915 19.3 B

EBR 107 0.0 0 153 0.0 0 214 0.0 0

WBL 74 20.4 C 137 26.6 C 256 27.1 C

WBT 932 6.4 A 1196 14.9 B 1165 31.3 C

WBR 173 0.0 0 200 0.0 0 192 0.0 0

NBL 153 62.7 E 218 62.5 E 224 53.4 D

NBT 826 35.2 D 488 31.7 C 743 47.4 D

NBR 118 0.0 0 107 0.0 0 83 0.0 0

SBL 152 90.1 F 346 137.2 F 319 70.6 E

SBT 371 9.7 A 349 26.9 C 633 29.6 C
SBR 98 25.8 C 185 19.1 B 193 56.6 E

17  04/15/14 33rd Ave./33rd St. & Arapahoe Rd. 15.0 B 19.0 B 8.5 A

EBL 79 7.7 A 107 36.6 D 65 17.3 B

EBT 770 6.3 A 1265 4.6 A 1182 0.7 A

EBR 1 0.0 0 14 0.0 0 10 0.0 0

WBL 2 10.9 B 20 15.2 B 10 4.6 A

WBT 1017 19.4 B 1421 25.2 C 1328 5.3 A

WBR 144 0.0 0 145 0.0 0 135 0.0 0

NBL 2 0.0 0 24 0.0 0 16 0.0 0

NBT 0 28.3 C 1 28.7 C 6 34.6 C

NBR 0 0.0 0 2 0.0 0 5 0.0 0

SBL 74 30.9 C 232 38.4 D 226 44.6 D

SBT 1 28.6 C 3 29.4 C 2 36.1 D
SBR 55 0.0 0 135 0.0 0 150 0.0 0

18  04/22/14 Marine St./38th St. & Arapahoe Rd. 10.4 B 11.6 B 14.7 B

EBL 46 8.9 A 91 17.0 B 48 4.5 A

EBT 740 7.1 A 1278 9.1 A 1346 3.8 A

EBR 16 0.0 0 41 0.0 0 15 0.0 0

WBL 116 9.4 A 42 10.8 B 25 7.6 A

WBT 1235 8.3 A 1427 8.6 A 1334 6.7 A

WBR 480 12.4 B 154 5.4 A 101 3.7 A

NBL 6 29.2 C 27 30.2 C 23 36.0 D

NBT 10 29.1 C 13 29.2 C 2 34.6 C

NBR 36 29.2 C 53 29.3 C 125 37.9 D

SBL 82 30.4 C 170 31.6 C 422 53.6 D

SBT 0 29.1 C 8 29.8 C 0 36.6 D
SBR 27 0.0 0 104 0.0 0 124 0.0 0

19  04/16/14 Foothills Pkwy & Arapahoe Rd. 47.5 D 23.3 D 62.5 E

EBL 149 44.0 D 252 90.7 F 354 159.1 F

EBT 505 24.2 C 985 26.6 C 1167 55.4 E

EBR 131 0.1 A 299 0.3 A 419 0.4 A

WBL 211 46.2 D 250 46.3 D 448 196.9 F

WBT 1076 26.1 C 1045 22.3 C 887 40.5 D

WBR 339 0.3 A 343 0.4 A 507 0.8 A

NBL 334 71.2 E 215 60.7 E 193 56.2 E

NBT 1388 97.9 F 894 19.6 B 1577 107.6 F

NBR 364 0.2 A 255 0.2 A 269 0.3 A

SBL 390 179.5 F 304 61.3 E 345 132.4 F

SBT 1355 17.7 B 977 16.4 B 1553 21.5 C
SBR 425 0.2 A 442 0.5 A 427 0.2 A

20  04/17/14 Eisenhower St./Commerce St. & Arapahoe Rd. 5.5 A 6.6 A 9.0 A

EBL 51 13.0 B 39 2.3 A 15 3.0 A

EBT 848 1.7 A 1343 2.9 A 1619 7.4 A

EBR 23 0.0 0 41 0.0 0 83 0.0 0

WBL 23 4.3 A 28 6.3 A 41 21.0 C

WBT 1392 4.4 A 1261 7.4 A 1265 6.9 A

WBR 86 0.0 0 13 0.0 0 7 0.0 0

NBL 53 33.6 C 45 33.4 C 27 34.1 C

NBT 3 32.4 C 0 32.1 C 1 33.3 C

NBR 49 0.0 0 24 0.0 0 30 0.0 0

SBL 5 0.0 0 18 0.0 0 53 0.0 0

SBT 0 32.1 C 0 32.8 C 1 34.9 C
SBR 21 32.0 C 35 32.2 C 46 33.3 C

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 343



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

21  04/23/14 55th St. & Arapahoe Rd. 41.4 D 28.6 D 36.6 D

EBL 216 37.9 D 333 53.1 D 244 105.1 F

EBT 408 20.9 C 756 21.9 C 1320 40.0 D

EBR 60 0.0 0 102 0.0 0 182 0.0 0

WBL 43 20.5 C 47 28.1 C 85 31.7 C

WBT 1167 59.0 E 764 30.3 C 725 17.4 B

WBR 391 0.0 0 173 0.0 0 196 0.0 0

NBL 224 33.3 C 141 24.1 C 111 40.5 D

NBT 551 33.1 C 172 28.1 C 176 28.6 C

NBR 54 0.0 0 33 0.0 0 49 0.0 0

SBL 159 25.3 C 205 24.5 C 633 31.4 C

SBT 141 29.9 C 138 30.0 C 458 47.1 D
SBR 178 18.1 B 320 22.5 C 292 26.2 C

22  04/24/14 Cherryvale Rd. & Arapahoe Rd. 50.5 D 13.7 D 12.8 B

EBL 58 31.4 C 66 14.8 B 29 6.6 A

EBT 426 18.7 B 750 14.8 B 1330 8.1 A

EBR 87 33.7 C 111 30.7 C 525 7.7 A

WBL 39 3.5 A 27 2.4 A 40 19.4 B

WBT 1050 7.1 A 699 2.1 A 633 9.8 A

WBR 27 0.0 0 14 0.0 0 10 0.0 0

NBL 585 0.0 0 151 0.0 0 144 0.0 0

NBT 34 168.3 F 9 33.6 C 6 45.2 D

NBR 75 20.0 B 43 28.4 C 49 33.9 C

SBL 13 0.0 0 20 0.0 0 42 0.0 0

SBT 7 19.7 B 5 28.6 C 39 38.9 D
SBR 40 19.3 B 60 28.2 C 66 34.2 C

23  10/31/12 28th St. & Canyon Blvd. 29.4 C 56.2 C 87.5 F

EBL 139 34.2 C 153 47.1 D 180 69.6 E

EBT 159 19.2 B 198 35.1 D 210 58.0 E

EBR 247 0.2 A 85 0.1 A 78 33.8 C

WBL 51 49.1 D 315 103.4 F 339 152.2 F

WBT 100 30.9 C 274 38.3 D 329 65.3 E

WBR 26 30.3 C 383 40.2 D 602 274.1 F

NBL 443 29.9 C 163 24.0 C 135 23.9 C

NBT 878 10.9 B 842 8.7 A 1043 7.3 A

NBR 62 0.0 0 248 0.0 0 292 0.0 0

SBL 56 36.4 D 323 214.6 F 323 250.3 F

SBT 825 42.0 D 946 52.8 D 1141 52.5 D
SBR 190 97.5 F 109 188.9 F 126 122.2 F

24  07/25/12 28th St. & Walnut St. 7.7 A 19.1 A 22.0 C

EBL 7 29.2 C 93 33.0 C 85 31.0 C

EBT 32 28.9 C 94 30.4 C 102 36.0 D

EBR 8 28.2 C 90 28.7 C 78 34.3 C

WBL 38 29.0 C 155 30.4 C 132 30.0 C

WBT 45 29.0 C 126 31.5 C 116 36.2 D

WBR 68 29.4 C 230 32.6 C 191 37.7 D

NBL 90 2.1 A 186 32.7 C 125 33.9 C

NBT 999 3.6 A 1346 15.4 B 1375 21.3 C

NBR 57 0.0 0 117 0.0 0 87 0.0 0

SBL 116 13.3 B 177 25.2 C 105 49.0 D

SBT 883 6.0 A 1128 11.2 B 1261 11.2 B
SBR 29 0.0 0 101 0.0 0 72 0.0 0

25  07/17/12 28th St. & Pearl St. 15.2 B 27.7 B 32.5 C

EBL 72 23.4 C 187 28.2 C 225 28.2 C

EBT 323 25.7 C 568 35.9 D 628 51.6 D

EBR 107 0.0 0 163 0.0 0 184 0.0 0

WBL 127 12.2 B 319 28.9 C 272 30.3 C

WBT 452 12.6 B 590 15.0 B 557 40.4 D

WBR 55 27.0 C 156 3.7 A 169 98.2 F

NBL 178 15.9 B 238 22.5 C 216 24.1 C

NBT 728 11.9 B 1089 25.3 C 1188 22.2 C

NBR 151 5.3 A 366 11.7 B 301 9.3 A

SBL 112 9.6 A 261 23.1 C 217 22.9 C

SBT 856 14.0 B 1028 36.6 D 1004 27.6 C

SBR 92 19.9 B 116 82.6 F 87 18.4 B

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 344



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

26  04/24/13 28th St. & Mapleton Ave. 7.1 A 8.2 A 12.8 B

EBL 29 37.3 D 55 35.0 D 87 56.0 E

EBT 19 37.4 D 18 33.3 C 42 40.3 D

EBR 30 0.0 0 14 0.0 0 29 0.0 0

WBL 17 37.8 D 47 35.5 D 54 40.9 D

WBT 23 37.3 D 32 34.0 C 57 43.1 D

WBR 32 0.0 0 82 0.0 0 116 0.0 0

NBL 29 5.7 A 27 2.0 A 43 4.3 A

NBT 753 5.4 A 1258 3.8 A 1483 9.5 A

NBR 24 0.0 0 65 0.0 0 70 0.0 0

SBL 55 2.9 A 43 7.4 A 69 22.6 C

SBT 1168 3.5 A 1156 6.5 A 1190 4.9 A
SBR 19 0.0 0 37 0.0 0 36 0.0 0

27  10/18/12 28th St. & Valmont Rd. 23.0 C 32.7 C 44.0 D

EBL 64 18.4 B 85 17.4 B 156 27.9 C

EBT 404 20.6 C 340 17.2 B 385 21.8 C

EBR 91 0.0 0 98 0.0 0 102 0.0 0

WBL 109 20.1 C 191 135.4 F 186 52.4 D

WBT 373 16.2 B 331 20.4 C 475 35.5 D

WBR 0 0.0 0 262 10.8 B 280 40.2 D

NBL 92 50.5 D 109 35.2 D 118 37.3 D

NBT 608 9.5 A 981 20.3 C 1262 72.6 E

NBR 112 0.0 0 184 0.0 0 101 0.0 0

SBL 192 17.0 B 192 99.2 F 164 59.7 E

SBT 1076 33.4 C 883 27.4 C 916 23.1 C
SBR 53 0.0 0 69 0.0 0 95 0.0 0

28 08/02/12 28th St. & Iris Ave./Diagonal Hwy 53.5 D 36.8 D 87.2 F

EBL 67 28.1 C 108 29.3 C 352 74.6 E

EBT 831 145.1 F 690 84.7 F 1157 266.8 F

EBR 234 0.0 0 251 0.0 0 133 0.0 0

WBL 400 39.5 D 275 40.7 D 302 40.5 D

WBT 767 28.7 C 619 30.6 C 691 50.1 D

WBR 43 0.0 A 128 0.1 A 245 0.2 A

NBL 112 17.1 B 278 15.3 B 389 32.5 C

NBT 237 13.4 B 416 13.1 B 759 28.2 C

NBR 222 0.3 A 323 0.3 A 511 0.6 A

SBL 397 25.2 C 245 27.0 C 314 40.6 D

SBT 898 36.0 D 584 34.0 C 679 41.0 D
SBR 196 0.2 A 99 0.1 A 125 0.1 A

29  11/06/12 30th St. & Canyon Blvd. 12.1 B 18.0 B 22.9 C

EBL 61 33.9 C 146 49.2 D 103 48.7 D

EBT 49 34.5 C 136 35.7 D 136 48.9 D

EBR 50 0.0 0 101 0.0 0 122 0.0 0

WBL 6 0.0 0 33 0.0 0 37 0.0 0

WBT 16 33.0 C 51 42.4 D 69 92.7 F

WBR 27 0.0 0 87 0.0 0 66 0.0 0

NBL 125 5.1 A 159 16.7 B 237 22.2 C

NBT 862 4.7 A 715 14.4 B 941 5.4 A

NBR 0 0.0 0 1 0.0 0 1 0.0 0

SBL 85 13.4 B 196 9.0 A 187 14.9 B

SBT 564 12.3 B 708 7.5 A 882 18.0 B

SBR 58 25.3 C 144 6.4 A 93 18.7 B

30  10/01/09 30th St. & Walnut St. 9.5 A 28.7 A 26.3 C

EBL 26 36.1 D 173 52.7 D 121 38.0 D

EBT 50 36.6 D 183 29.2 C 75 38.7 D

EBR 16 35.1 D 75 25.9 C 64 37.4 D

WBL 26 36.1 D 208 80.1 F 208 45.4 D

WBT 11 35.4 D 157 28.5 C 131 40.5 D

WBR 97 26.6 C 261 21.2 C 345 47.6 D

NBL 52 4.9 A 194 38.9 D 234 85.4 F

NBT 656 6.1 A 947 23.8 C 1170 17.5 B

NBR 93 0.0 0 152 0.0 0 80 0.0 0

SBL 289 8.4 A 367 30.4 C 251 18.0 B

SBT 630 6.0 A 945 20.0 B 1004 8.4 A
SBR 76 3.0 A 155 14.5 B 85 1.9 A

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 345



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

31  06/06/12 30th St. & Pearl St. 22.4 C 39.6 C 44.0 D

EBL 79 32.7 C 153 36.2 D 150 64.4 E

EBT 344 30.6 C 546 32.5 C 554 48.0 D

EBR 75 39.6 D 185 25.9 C 150 47.4 D

WBL 218 28.4 C 235 27.7 C 271 35.7 D

WBT 572 37.2 D 701 53.8 D 669 45.8 D

WBR 104 29.8 C 113 61.3 E 186 31.6 C

NBL 98 7.4 A 257 35.0 C 228 25.1 C

NBT 504 8.1 A 682 36.4 D 937 21.1 C

NBR 136 0.0 0 224 0.0 0 230 0.0 0

SBL 167 11.3 B 215 58.5 E 190 175.2 F

SBT 610 16.8 B 783 34.1 C 794 39.6 D
SBR 88 0.0 0 117 0.0 0 114 0.0 0

32  06/20/12 30th St. & Valmont Rd. 24.4 C 29.4 C 33.8 C

EBL 41 25.4 C 95 22.3 C 141 25.2 C

EBT 439 36.0 D 576 36.2 D 538 39.8 D

EBR 115 0.0 0 180 0.0 0 176 0.0 0

WBL 113 36.3 D 191 87.6 F 193 49.5 D

WBT 460 34.2 C 589 29.9 C 564 39.2 D

WBR 148 59.8 E 218 47.4 D 300 65.9 E

NBL 75 7.7 A 171 15.7 B 183 13.7 B

NBT 314 10.9 B 488 15.1 B 770 20.8 C

NBR 161 11.4 B 174 8.1 A 226 11.5 B

SBL 139 5.6 A 158 18.7 B 122 25.6 C

SBT 535 12.0 B 512 19.8 B 539 33.5 C
SBR 69 0.0 0 112 0.0 0 114 0.0 0

33  03/20/12 30th St. & Glenwood Dr. 11.0 B 11.9 B 11.1 B

EBL 31 47.0 D 48 49.3 D 50 17.4 B

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 120 82.8 F 114 83.7 F 103 22.0 C

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 37 0.0 0 75 0.0 0 94 0.0 0

NBT 539 2.5 A 753 3.4 A 1067 13.2 B

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 790 3.9 A 666 6.5 A 694 5.9 A
SBR 31 0.0 0 65 0.0 0 75 0.0 0

34  05/21/13 Broadway & Canyon Blvd. 31.1 C 29.4 C 61.4 E

EBL 94 27.6 C 72 21.6 C 112 24.0 C

EBT 499 40.6 D 467 35.9 D 527 27.0 C

EBR 64 0.0 0 83 0.0 0 91 0.0 0

WBL 97 34.8 C 141 32.5 C 234 50.9 D

WBT 481 23.1 C 513 40.0 D 681 30.2 C

WBR 144 0.0 0 156 0.0 0 134 0.0 0

NBL 183 19.2 B 157 16.6 B 163 41.8 D

NBT 741 17.7 B 615 17.8 B 693 57.6 E

NBR 68 0.0 0 102 0.0 0 106 0.0 0

SBL 123 63.7 E 163 29.4 C 181 116.7 F

SBT 659 40.3 D 592 28.1 C 753 120.8 F
SBR 101 0.0 0 76 0.0 0 122 0.0 0

35  08/12/14 13th St. & Canyon Blvd. 5.4 A 5.1 A 10.6 B

EBL 18 1.8 A 30 5.9 A 21 11.7 B

EBT 641 1.9 A 821 5.5 A 772 15.0 B

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 785 7.6 A 930 3.7 A 1037 6.5 A

WBR 111 0.0 0 108 0.0 0 93 0.0 0

NBL 9 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 11 0.0 0

NBT 8 25.4 C 9 20.7 C 13 30.4 C

NBR 9 25.0 C 27 20.5 C 15 29.8 C

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 346



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

36  05/22/13 14th St. & Canyon Blvd. 5.8 A 6.4 A 8.5 A

EBL 20 3.0 A 23 1.9 A 17 1.7 A

EBT 583 2.5 A 731 1.7 A 732 1.4 A

EBR 29 0.0 0 34 0.0 0 57 0.0 0

WBL 46 5.0 A 32 4.8 A 72 5.2 A

WBT 744 5.5 A 804 6.1 A 967 5.3 A

WBR 92 0.0 0 46 0.0 0 48 0.0 0

NBL 4 27.9 C 11 23.6 C 41 30.6 C

NBT 8 28.0 C 4 23.3 C 10 29.7 C

NBR 4 0.0 0 26 0.0 0 85 0.0 0

SBL 1 28.5 C 56 24.0 C 94 33.5 C

SBT 18 27.5 C 22 23.3 C 36 31.8 C
SBR 36 0.0 0 72 0.0 0 83 0.0 0

37  05/22/13 15th St. & Canyon Blvd. 8.6 A 13.0 A 10.1 B

EBL 19 3.1 A 26 4.8 A 30 3.6 A

EBT 559 3.5 A 780 4.8 A 828 3.0 A

EBR 28 0.0 0 28 0.0 0 55 0.0 0

WBL 85 9.0 A 43 16.2 B 81 8.0 A

WBT 808 8.2 A 803 19.6 B 989 7.8 A

WBR 68 0.0 0 38 0.0 0 67 0.0 0

NBL 31 0.0 0 36 0.0 0 63 0.0 0

NBT 47 27.1 C 36 24.3 C 38 38.2 D

NBR 34 25.4 C 49 29.3 C 59 29.4 C

SBL 32 0.0 0 40 0.0 0 72 0.0 0

SBT 26 14.8 B 30 5.1 A 48 19.3 B
SBR 16 2.8 A 46 1.5 A 63 31.8 C

38  05/23/13 17th St. & Canyon Blvd. 12.1 B 11.0 B 12.7 B

EBL 25 4.1 A 23 5.5 A 23 4.8 A

EBT 652 4.5 A 768 7.2 A 947 7.3 A

EBR 5 0.0 0 21 0.0 0 27 0.0 0

WBL 67 10.2 B 60 12.1 B 47 8.0 A

WBT 807 9.6 A 867 11.5 B 954 8.5 A

WBR 22 0.0 0 43 0.0 0 39 0.0 0

NBL 45 26.4 C 27 19.9 B 15 39.5 D

NBT 114 27.9 C 85 21.8 C 82 45.6 D

NBR 44 0.0 0 49 0.0 0 66 0.0 0

SBL 12 24.1 C 30 17.3 B 77 32.3 C

SBT 82 26.3 C 57 16.8 B 69 27.3 C
SBR 35 0.0 0 45 0.0 0 47 0.0 0

39  05/14/13 15th St. & Arapahoe Rd. 10.8 B 7.1 B 8.8 A

EBL 33 3.8 A 31 3.5 A 25 0.9 A

EBT 321 4.6 A 421 4.2 A 404 1.2 A

EBR 24 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 27 0.0 0

WBL 27 3.3 A 14 1.3 A 32 2.1 A

WBT 402 4.2 A 451 2.3 A 457 2.8 A

WBR 62 0.0 0 48 0.0 0 50 0.0 0

NBL 5 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 10 0.0 0

NBT 12 30.1 C 2 25.2 C 13 37.2 D

NBR 17 0.0 0 19 0.0 0 42 0.0 0

SBL 60 34.3 C 36 29.7 C 44 41.0 D

SBT 7 38.1 D 5 36.9 D 15 42.7 D
SBR 48 0.0 0 47 0.0 0 56 0.0 0

40  04/24/13 17th St. & Arapahoe Rd. 16.2 B 17.8 B 25.2 C

EBL 26 9.4 A 19 9.9 A 26 14.2 B

EBT 244 11.4 B 389 14.1 B 481 22.5 C

EBR 15 0.0 0 21 0.0 0 22 0.0 0

WBL 186 3.9 A 177 11.2 B 206 15.3 B

WBT 400 4.5 A 468 11.8 B 500 9.5 A

WBR 34 0.0 0 44 0.0 0 33 0.0 0

NBL 10 28.7 C 25 24.7 C 36 27.0 C

NBT 64 36.9 D 89 30.4 C 123 47.6 D

NBR 168 0.0 0 195 0.0 0 271 0.0 0

SBL 11 41.3 D 31 31.3 C 22 38.0 D

SBT 105 42.0 D 96 28.9 C 132 36.7 D
SBR 13 0.0 0 17 0.0 0 24 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 347



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

41  03/21/12 Broadway & Greenbriar Blvd. 22.2 C 9.2 C 14.3 B

EBL 331 31.1 C 141 42.4 D 230 44.7 D

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 8 26.5 C 9 39.7 D 20 41.2 D

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 37 17.0 B 9 5.9 A 25 10.1 B

NBT 1064 21.3 C 467 7.0 A 722 10.5 B

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 564 14.0 B 444 1.7 A 1116 10.0 B
SBR 207 27.1 C 156 0.6 A 288 11.2 B

42  05/15/12 Broadway & Hanover Ave.  14.2 B 8.0 B 9.2 A

EBL 125 28.6 C 87 31.9 C 121 39.6 D

EBT 56 25.9 C 25 30.0 C 44 36.1 D

EBR 24 0.0 0 25 0.0 0 33 0.0 0

WBL 130 41.5 D 20 30.0 C 35 35.9 D

WBT 49 26.6 C 22 30.1 C 23 35.4 D

WBR 54 0.0 0 27 0.0 0 22 0.0 0

NBL 30 8.7 A 25 7.1 A 38 20.4 C

NBT 1312 13.7 B 601 8.7 A 799 12.4 B

NBR 52 0.0 0 10 0.0 0 24 0.0 0

SBL 23 21.1 C 36 1.3 A 51 1.2 A

SBT 898 3.7 A 610 0.9 A 1393 1.0 A
SBR 32 0.0 0 46 0.0 0 51 0.0 0

43  05/07/14 Broadway & Table Mesa Dr. 57.3 E 23.3 E 34.2 C

EBL 541 137.3 F 339 46.9 D 390 82.7 F

EBT 586 39.6 D 357 27.9 C 484 42.7 D

EBR 31 0.0 0 30 0.0 0 62 0.0 0

WBL 409 38.8 D 296 30.6 C 467 48.3 D

WBT 398 51.5 D 270 13.4 B 431 26.6 C

WBR 357 0.0 0 150 0.0 0 153 0.0 0

NBL 49 30.8 C 33 21.2 C 66 35.7 D

NBT 1068 65.5 E 509 24.3 C 575 29.0 C

NBR 399 32.4 C 246 28.1 C 357 15.9 B

SBL 116 47.8 D 122 9.7 A 217 25.2 C

SBT 441 43.0 D 608 20.9 C 1244 40.3 D
SBR 229 0.2 A 279 0.2 A 536 0.7 A

44  05/20/14 Broadway & Dartmouth Ave. 9.8 A 3.5 A 6.1 A

EBL 86 0.0 0 56 0.0 0 59 0.0 0

EBT 2 34.7 C 2 34.0 C 3 38.8 D

EBR 7 0.0 0 4 0.0 0 7 0.0 0

WBL 35 0.0 0 14 0.0 0 37 0.0 0

WBT 3 32.1 C 1 31.4 C 5 37.9 D

WBR 1 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 2 0.0 0

NBL 20 6.4 A 16 1.6 A 13 12.9 B

NBT 1802 9.1 A 918 1.4 A 957 1.1 A

NBR 15 0.0 0 14 0.0 0 26 0.0 0

SBL 2 5.1 A 6 0.8 A 16 3.9 A

SBT 835 7.6 A 925 2.3 A 1965 6.3 A

SBR 48 0.0 0 59 0.0 0 88 0.0 0

45  06/21/11 Broadway & Alpine Ave. 7.2 A 8.9 A 10.5 B

EBL 27 28.1 C 48 24.3 C 79 41.1 D

EBT 71 28.8 C 88 24.1 C 109 33.6 C

EBR 33 27.4 C 70 22.8 C 73 30.9 C

WBL 44 29.2 C 63 24.4 C 52 34.3 C

WBT 62 28.9 C 90 25.3 C 69 33.6 C

WBR 38 0.0 0 58 0.0 0 63 0.0 0

NBL 76 4.7 A 56 3.6 A 20 2.1 A

NBT 451 3.1 A 577 2.9 A 813 2.7 A

NBR 37 0.0 0 61 0.0 0 53 0.0 0

SBL 86 2.3 A 114 6.4 A 61 4.0 A

SBT 753 1.8 A 656 4.6 A 753 3.2 A
SBR 89 0.0 0 43 0.0 0 25 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 348



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

46  03/29/11 Broadway & Balsam Ave. 13.0 B 18.8 B 18.3 B

EBL 107 21.9 C 125 17.5 B 234 41.3 D

EBT 86 27.4 C 99 22.4 C 142 32.1 C

EBR 29 0.0 0 40 0.0 0 51 0.0 0

WBL 72 23.2 C 80 18.7 B 85 28.5 C

WBT 93 28.8 C 120 25.0 C 162 47.4 D

WBR 24 0.0 0 47 0.0 0 76 0.0 0

NBL 30 15.3 B 29 12.0 B 47 8.0 A

NBT 382 15.4 B 553 11.4 B 875 9.5 A

NBR 54 0.0 0 74 0.0 0 70 0.0 0

SBL 48 5.9 A 49 22.7 C 43 8.1 A

SBT 817 6.0 A 647 23.1 C 670 7.8 A
SBR 137 0.0 0 73 0.0 0 84 0.0 0

47  04/01/14 Broadway & N. Boulder Rec. 6.2 A 8.5 A 12.3 B

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 18 28.8 C 29 27.1 C 89 40.8 D

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 19 28.2 C 26 26.5 C 66 34.3 C

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 751 4.4 A 749 10.1 B 1273 9.9 A

NBR 45 0.0 0 40 0.0 0 93 0.0 0

SBL 35 3.9 A 21 3.1 A 75 25.4 C

SBT 1323 6.5 A 796 4.9 A 959 7.9 A
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

48  05/28/14 Broadway & Iris Ave. 37.7 D 59.3 D 84.0 F

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 478 37.9 D 356 32.2 C 407 39.2 D

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 217 19.1 B 275 17.8 B 355 31.3 C

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 510 64.2 E 577 124.3 F 873 153.8 F

NBR 315 0.0 0 327 0.0 0 482 0.0 0

SBL 264 49.4 D 252 26.1 C 247 40.9 D

SBT 1014 17.3 B 605 10.2 B 632 10.8 B
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

49  04/04/12 Broadway & Linden Dr. 9.8 A 7.8 A 8.0 A

EBL 20 0.0 0 16 0.0 0 25 0.0 0

EBT 1 26.3 C 2 21.4 C 1 31.3 C

EBR 203 29.2 C 119 21.6 C 129 31.1 C

WBL 11 0.0 0 11 0.0 0 12 0.0 0

WBT 2 26.0 C 2 21.2 C 3 30.8 C

WBR 12 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 7 0.0 0

NBL 74 10.9 B 112 7.3 A 185 9.2 A

NBT 451 7.9 A 600 5.5 A 1061 5.2 A

NBR 10 0.0 0 14 0.0 0 20 0.0 0

SBL 6 3.4 A 7 4.3 A 12 4.8 A

SBT 969 5.0 A 493 5.3 A 661 4.8 A
SBR 16 0.0 0 17 0.0 0 34 0.0 0

50  03/09/11 17th St. & Walnut St. 9.3 A 21.0 A 10.2 B

EBL 9 0.0 0 84 0.0 0 17 0.0 0

EBT 63 8.8 A 206 35.5 D 207 11.2 B

EBR 10 12.9 B 41 29.9 C 52 16.4 B

WBL 46 0.0 0 39 0.0 0 53 0.0 0

WBT 32 16.1 B 64 22.3 C 48 12.6 B

WBR 1 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 16 0.0 0

NBL 13 0.0 0 18 0.0 0 10 0.0 0

NBT 101 7.6 A 115 7.8 A 152 8.7 A

NBR 22 0.0 0 24 0.0 0 40 0.0 0

SBL 2 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 12 0.0 0

SBT 71 4.0 A 100 8.7 A 128 6.2 A
SBR 9 0.0 0 30 0.0 0 9 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 349



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

51  06/23/11 17th St. & Pearl St. 6.4 A 8.7 A 9.8 A

EBL 7 3.3 A 5 5.8 A 5 5.4 A

EBT 114 3.7 A 243 9.9 A 360 8.4 A

EBR 7 0.0 0 11 0.0 0 25 0.0 0

WBL 54 3.6 A 69 6.5 A 88 9.1 A

WBT 234 4.7 A 354 11.0 B 310 10.7 B

WBR 17 0.0 0 38 0.0 0 46 0.0 0

NBL 3 0.0 0 12 0.0 0 13 0.0 0

NBT 26 13.6 B 65 3.9 A 71 10.2 B

NBR 34 0.0 0 69 0.0 0 79 0.0 0

SBL 7 0.0 0 20 0.0 0 24 0.0 0

SBT 27 13.5 B 29 7.6 A 36 12.4 B
SBR 4 0.0 0 12 0.0 0 10 0.0 0

52  06/04/14 20th St. & Pearl St. 9.9 A 10.9 A 14.5 B

EBL 11 3.9 A 19 2.3 A 28 7.8 A

EBT 160 4.7 A 281 3.6 A 485 16.8 B

EBR 5 0.0 0 10 0.0 0 3 0.0 0

WBL 16 3.8 A 23 4.7 A 25 8.4 A

WBT 341 6.3 A 454 8.3 A 417 15.1 B

WBR 31 0.0 0 48 0.0 0 73 0.0 0

NBL 5 0.0 0 2 0.0 0 3 0.0 0

NBT 19 13.9 B 21 24.5 C 33 10.5 B

NBR 4 0.0 0 12 0.0 0 18 0.0 0

SBL 58 0.0 0 108 0.0 0 120 0.0 0

SBT 39 20.2 C 41 26.3 C 63 12.2 B
SBR 22 68.0 E 38 25.6 C 31 9.6 A

53  08/26/14 20th St. & Pine St. 19.8 B 14.7 B 23.7 C

EBL 18 0.0 0 13 0.0 0 36 0.0 0

EBT 181 7.5 A 213 6.3 A 283 34.5 C

EBR 25 0.0 0 29 0.0 0 29 0.0 0

WBL 6 0.0 0 8 0.0 0 8 0.0 0

WBT 173 7.1 A 184 6.1 A 218 27.7 C

WBR 23 0.0 0 27 0.0 0 40 0.0 0

NBL 2 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 8 0.0 0

NBT 82 25.8 C 84 28.1 C 160 11.3 B

NBR 13 0.0 0 8 0.0 0 14 0.0 0

SBL 41 0.0 0 31 0.0 0 31 0.0 0

SBT 199 37.6 D 138 29.4 C 152 11.2 B
SBR 27 24.5 C 23 23.3 C 25 9.4 A

54  05/29/14 19th St. & Iris Ave. 22.1 C 15.9 C 22.4 C

EBL 27 13.4 B 15 7.1 A 31 16.1 B

EBT 586 13.1 B 647 8.7 A 724 15.6 B

EBR 23 0.0 0 18 0.0 0 30 0.0 0

WBL 169 25.4 C 73 10.1 B 71 13.8 B

WBT 748 19.6 B 607 10.7 B 801 17.0 B

WBR 94 0.0 0 167 0.0 0 194 0.0 0

NBL 18 31.1 C 23 29.3 C 26 36.3 D

NBT 84 34.8 C 84 32.1 C 113 52.9 D

NBR 80 0.0 0 66 0.0 0 122 0.0 0

SBL 239 37.8 D 173 43.9 D 168 35.6 D

SBT 168 26.0 C 76 30.7 C 82 26.4 C
SBR 51 0.0 0 23 0.0 0 31 0.0 0

55  08/07/14 Folsom Ave. & Canyon Blvd. 65.5 E 63.8 E 53.5 D

EBL 98 30.1 C 156 45.7 D 162 46.3 D

EBT 453 32.2 C 792 36.2 D 763 53.7 D

EBR 104 27.7 C 178 27.6 C 225 36.1 D

WBL 25 39.7 D 71 29.1 C 76 21.9 C

WBT 696 62.5 E 638 39.1 D 775 44.4 D

WBR 35 0.0 0 72 0.0 0 46 0.0 0

NBL 418 223.5 F 521 262.6 F 478 166.4 F

NBT 262 17.9 B 489 23.6 C 517 30.0 C

NBR 32 0.0 0 94 0.0 0 63 0.0 0

SBL 75 19.6 B 55 12.3 B 73 17.2 B

SBT 266 23.0 C 375 15.6 B 516 21.9 C
SBR 189 0.0 0 181 0.0 0 193 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 350



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

56  06/30/11 Folsom Ave. & Pearl St. 23.7 C 36.6 C 31.4 C

EBL 25 31.7 C 73 23.8 C 100 45.5 D

EBT 261 31.2 C 481 29.4 C 480 37.0 D

EBR 35 0.0 0 84 0.0 0 76 0.0 0

WBL 112 45.6 D 146 31.9 C 144 22.9 C

WBT 334 49.5 D 446 44.7 D 461 38.3 D

WBR 109 74.3 E 175 89.9 F 219 12.7 B

NBL 55 7.4 A 155 21.7 C 108 21.1 C

NBT 318 6.5 A 491 36.6 D 693 35.8 D

NBR 76 0.0 0 224 0.0 0 108 0.0 0

SBL 174 9.1 A 185 29.4 C 207 47.5 D

SBT 563 7.9 A 474 29.3 C 525 16.9 B
SBR 44 0.0 0 56 0.0 0 42 0.0 0

57  06/10/14 Folsom Ave. & Pine St. 13.2 B 13.5 B 20.5 C

EBL 37 0.0 0 50 0.0 0 119 0.0 0

EBT 46 40.3 D 86 43.0 D 86 72.0 E

EBR 100 37.2 D 128 37.7 D 154 38.7 D

WBL 8 0.0 0 13 0.0 0 15 0.0 0

WBT 70 38.5 D 62 38.0 D 95 39.2 D

WBR 21 36.3 D 25 35.8 D 40 36.3 D

NBL 73 0.0 0 118 0.0 0 123 0.0 0

NBT 255 3.4 A 504 4.4 A 685 7.5 A

NBR 4 0.0 0 17 0.0 0 9 0.0 0

SBL 12 0.0 0 24 0.0 0 15 0.0 0

SBT 641 5.7 A 488 5.4 A 573 11.1 B
SBR 61 0.0 0 52 0.0 0 55 0.0 0

58  07/09/13 Folsom Ave. & Valmont Rd. 25.6 C 24.3 C 31.4 C

EBL 18 32.2 C 53 34.9 C 45 42.2 D

EBT 290 35.7 D 291 36.0 D 398 46.2 D

EBR 36 0.0 0 54 0.0 0 54 0.0 0

WBL 132 40.5 D 181 40.4 D 182 49.8 D

WBT 289 45.5 D 320 42.8 D 350 52.4 D

WBR 42 0.0 0 59 0.0 0 76 0.0 0

NBL 36 8.6 A 77 8.9 A 119 13.1 B

NBT 158 8.9 A 378 10.6 B 591 19.7 B

NBR 111 8.4 A 158 6.0 A 229 14.7 B

SBL 45 10.6 B 42 11.8 B 42 16.5 B

SBT 437 10.9 B 282 10.5 B 328 15.2 B
SBR 36 0.0 0 43 0.0 0 44 0.0 0

59  06/11/14 Folsom Ave. & Iris Ave. 14.4 B 21.2 B 20.7 C

EBL 19 11.7 B 42 17.4 B 52 21.8 C

EBT 711 16.9 B 782 22.2 C 999 28.4 C

EBR 114 0.0 0 94 0.0 0 97 0.0 0

WBL 269 19.7 B 162 9.1 A 223 43.7 D

WBT 854 2.6 A 696 5.2 A 868 1.9 A

WBR 31 0.0 0 66 0.0 0 93 0.0 0

NBL 72 28.5 C 204 56.6 E 210 41.2 D

NBT 48 25.4 C 119 28.4 C 174 20.5 C

NBR 106 8.4 A 167 32.3 C 258 11.7 B

SBL 75 35.1 D 60 31.2 C 43 33.3 C

SBT 117 36.9 D 71 31.3 C 69 33.5 C

SBR 45 0.0 0 40 0.0 0 42 0.0 0

60  05/02/13 Colorado Ave. & Folsom Ave. 22.0 C 22.6 C 23.6 C

EBL 41 2.0 A 62 2.8 A 82 4.7 A

EBT 79 1.9 A 125 2.7 A 190 4.6 A

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 150 6.4 A 134 10.7 B 170 7.5 A

WBR 258 7.4 A 186 11.4 B 299 8.7 A

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 150 54.6 D 190 51.5 D 359 51.1 D

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 103 0.0 0 72 0.0 0 67 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 351



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

61  05/02/13 Regent Blvd. & Colorado Ave. 8.5 A 13.8 A 23.5 C

EBL 0 0.0 0 1 4.5 A 2 13.2 B

EBT 141 3.1 A 226 4.0 A 469 13.8 B

EBR 88 0.0 0 119 0.0 0 125 0.0 0

WBL 462 4.4 A 293 3.2 A 219 2.7 A

WBT 364 5.4 A 234 3.3 A 317 2.2 A

WBR 1 0.0 0 2 0.0 0 2 0.0 0

NBL 84 0.0 0 114 0.0 0 149 0.0 0

NBT 0 36.5 D 3 40.1 D 1 48.7 D

NBR 103 26.4 C 344 29.7 C 505 48.2 D

SBL 0 0.0 0 2 0.0 0 3 0.0 0

SBT 0 33.5 C 1 33.7 C 2 38.8 D
SBR 2 0.0 0 4 0.0 0 1 0.0 0

62  05/08/13 28th St. & Colorado Ave. 56.1 E 40.3 E 51.8 D

EBL 44 38.2 D 165 28.6 C 167 32.6 C

EBT 121 40.5 D 169 31.8 C 334 39.8 D

EBR 0 0.0 0 29 0.0 A 37 0.0 A

WBL 44 21.5 C 51 18.4 B 192 48.4 D

WBT 267 28.0 C 263 24.9 C 248 45.6 D

WBR 17 0.0 0 21 0.0 0 31 0.0 0

NBL 280 40.3 D 268 53.2 D 232 57.6 E

NBT 1767 92.1 F 1445 57.8 E 1478 60.6 E

NBR 52 0.0 0 55 0.0 0 88 0.0 0

SBL 57 40.3 D 93 39.6 D 105 46.4 D

SBT 1147 20.2 C 1359 29.6 C 2069 50.7 D
SBR 91 0.0 0 149 0.0 0 114 0.0 0

63  10/16/13 30th St. & Colorado Ave. 18.4 B 17.3 B 14.9 B

EBL 66 44.2 D 67 39.0 D 93 34.0 C

EBT 102 28.2 C 127 39.5 D 200 8.8 A

EBR 51 0.0 0 79 0.0 0 137 0.0 0

WBL 50 51.3 D 55 42.0 D 96 73.4 E

WBT 269 56.7 E 154 42.2 D 232 47.3 D

WBR 51 0.0 0 70 0.0 0 83 0.0 0

NBL 104 6.4 A 77 4.2 A 78 7.5 A

NBT 1075 8.1 A 574 3.6 A 760 4.4 A

NBR 66 0.0 0 43 0.0 0 42 0.0 0

SBL 34 9.6 A 64 9.7 A 39 6.6 A

SBT 412 4.0 A 525 10.8 B 884 7.2 A
SBR 63 0.0 0 59 0.0 0 110 0.0 0

64  07/16/14 30th St. & Aurora Ave. 9.2 A 8.4 A 8.4 A

EBL 31 0.0 0 32 0.0 0 28 0.0 0

EBT 2 35.8 D 3 36.4 D 2 41.4 D

EBR 33 0.0 0 34 0.0 0 47 0.0 0

WBL 16 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 15 0.0 0

WBT 4 35.6 D 4 35.2 D 3 41.4 D

WBR 78 0.0 0 67 0.0 0 85 0.0 0

NBL 20 4.4 A 22 4.7 A 26 5.6 A

NBT 821 6.2 A 694 5.7 A 682 5.8 A

NBR 27 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 20 0.0 0

SBL 50 4.4 A 61 4.6 A 109 4.3 A

SBT 340 2.8 A 595 4.1 A 929 4.3 A

SBR 19 0.0 0 45 0.0 0 61 0.0 0

65  07/31/14 Broadway & Walnut St. 7.3 A 9.1 A 14.3 B

EBL 17 0.0 0 64 0.0 0 104 0.0 0

EBT 91 27.9 C 209 19.8 B 265 34.0 C

EBR 46 28.6 C 156 20.7 C 206 27.4 C

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 669 7.0 A 678 9.4 A 831 14.2 B

NBR 170 4.0 A 161 2.3 A 150 17.8 B

SBL 88 3.7 A 146 9.9 A 108 4.8 A

SBT 649 3.1 A 784 3.5 A 917 3.0 A
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 352



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

66  06/11/13 Broadway & Pearl St. 4.2 A 4.6 A 2.8 A

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 717 5.1 A 571 5.1 A 860 2.8 A

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 810 3.4 A 795 4.3 A 957 2.8 A
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

67  05/23/13 Broadway & Spruce St. 9.3 A 8.1 A 9.7 A

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 47 0.0 0 111 0.0 0 157 0.0 0

WBT 156 21.8 C 230 17.4 B 230 25.2 C

WBR 58 0.0 0 109 0.0 0 158 0.0 0

NBL 57 7.2 A 139 9.6 A 154 13.5 B

NBT 761 2.8 A 708 3.9 A 852 2.7 A

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 821 10.7 B 683 6.0 A 771 6.1 A
SBR 116 0.0 0 104 0.0 0 148 0.0 0

68  06/05/13 Broadway & Pine St. 11.6 B 9.9 B 16.6 B

EBL 15 0.0 0 24 0.0 0 34 0.0 0

EBT 80 30.8 C 88 25.2 C 122 35.3 D

EBR 14 0.0 0 24 0.0 0 53 0.0 0

WBL 36 0.0 0 41 0.0 0 68 0.0 0

WBT 59 29.0 C 62 27.5 C 108 60.7 E

WBR 46 0.0 0 73 0.0 0 84 0.0 0

NBL 4 7.2 A 12 6.8 A 19 5.5 A

NBT 598 10.2 B 651 9.2 A 863 6.5 A

NBR 64 0.0 0 113 0.0 0 131 0.0 0

SBL 99 6.9 A 100 5.3 A 110 22.6 C

SBT 771 6.3 A 731 3.4 A 861 8.4 A
SBR 22 0.0 0 30 0.0 0 41 0.0 0

69  06/06/13 11th St. & Pearl St. 9.1 A 9.9 A 9.1 A

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 56 35.3 D 96 28.5 C 86 35.8 D

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 149 2.2 A 188 3.2 A 284 3.7 A

SBR 72 0.0 0 109 0.0 0 174 0.0 0

70  08/13/14 11th St. & Walnut St. 19.1 B 22.5 B 25.8 C

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 56 28.9 C 151 30.1 C 187 28.9 C

EBR 14 0.0 0 26 0.0 0 34 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 19 15.6 B 24 17.9 B 23 21.8 C

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 70 15.7 B 61 17.5 B 87 21.4 C

SBL 94 15.6 B 222 17.9 B 296 25.4 C

SBT 29 16.8 B 27 19.9 B 55 25.3 C
SBR 27 0.0 0 33 0.0 0 73 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 353



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

71  08/06/14 13th St. & Walnut St. 15.9 B 17.0 B 16.5 B

EBL 0 0.0 0 29 0.0 0 88 0.0 0

EBT 267 2.0 A 367 15.0 B 523 13.4 B

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 40 50.6 D 61 24.7 C 49 34.7 C

NBR 63 0.0 0 51 0.0 0 38 0.0 0

SBL 1 33.9 C 23 10.0 A 22 15.3 B

SBT 0 0.0 0 3 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

72  05/14/14 14th St. & Walnut St. 19.0 B 12.5 B 12.4 B

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 319 17.7 B 385 11.2 B 579 10.8 B

EBR 1 0.0 0 6 0.0 0 1 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 34 30.3 C 15 32.6 C 28 39.0 D

SBL 0 0.0 0 8 21.8 C 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 1 19.0 B 1 21.5 C
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

73  08/19/14 15th St. & Walnut St. 10.1 B 13.6 B 9.2 A

EBL 158 2.0 A 237 0.4 A 296 0.6 A

EBT 65 3.1 A 176 18.2 B 224 8.4 A

EBR 68 0.0 0 135 0.0 0 181 0.0 0

WBL 10 15.0 B 26 29.8 C 33 18.8 B

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 28 17.1 B 42 19.3 B 29 15.4 B

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 86 28.5 C 74 18.9 B 99 30.0 C

NBR 12 25.8 C 18 21.2 C 16 30.7 C

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

74  06/12/13 15th St. & Pearl St. 20.1 C 16.4 C 26.5 C

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 173 25.5 C 242 20.5 C 265 47.9 D

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 122 10.5 B 166 12.6 B 216 8.5 A

NBR 91 24.3 C 254 14.2 B 330 19.0 B

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

75  06/12/13 14th St. & Spruce St. 9.4 A 10.5 A 11.4 B

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 56 0.0 0 62 0.0 0 140 0.0 0

WBT 248 6.6 A 449 8.3 A 575 8.1 A

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 42 25.4 C 31 20.8 C 56 30.2 C
SBR 13 24.4 C 43 20.1 C 30 27.8 C

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 354



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

76  06/13/13 13th St. & Spruce St. 10.4 B 10.1 B 13.1 B

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 208 3.3 A 391 4.3 A 443 12.0 B

WBR 31 0.0 0 69 0.0 0 68 0.0 0

NBL 20 28.6 C 61 19.7 B 57 15.0 B

NBT 23 29.0 C 89 20.9 C 77 15.9 B

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 42 28.7 C 77 20.0 B 70 15.2 B

77 03/16/10 Mohawk Dr. & Baseline Rd. 13.7 B 17.0 B 21.0 C

EBL 17 13.3 B 41 14.4 B 67 16.7 B

EBT 518 14.8 B 737 17.1 B 874 17.8 B

EBR 86 12.6 B 145 13.5 B 152 17.8 B

WBL 209 4.5 A 169 10.5 B 209 27.7 C

WBT 629 3.6 A 606 4.2 A 599 10.5 B

WBR 41 0.0 0 42 0.0 0 84 0.0 0

NBL 187 34.1 C 251 39.8 D 191 42.0 D

NBT 8 26.9 C 41 27.9 C 47 33.8 C

NBR 142 27.6 C 182 27.8 C 162 33.5 C

SBL 83 28.9 C 41 28.1 C 91 35.5 D

SBT 13 27.4 C 21 27.4 C 21 33.2 C
SBR 22 0.0 0 19 0.0 0 24 0.0 0

78  07/10/12 Foothills Pkwy & Baseline Rd. 60.6 E 30.8 E 65.3 E

EBL 274 161.1 F 280 61.6 E 367 256.0 F

EBT 286 15.6 B 354 17.0 B 541 29.1 C

EBR 138 1.3 A 199 2.9 A 248 17.9 B

WBL 177 64.5 E 136 39.1 D 257 110.4 F

WBT 465 22.9 C 350 28.0 C 344 34.0 C

WBR 210 10.5 B 129 72.4 E 101 101.3 F

NBL 147 51.0 D 135 48.7 D 150 112.2 F

NBT 1637 116.9 F 1051 36.2 D 1297 71.5 E

NBR 260 22.3 C 125 21.5 C 161 23.0 C

SBL 88 80.3 F 134 105.3 F 239 114.7 F

SBT 1025 14.8 B 1115 17.4 B 1491 27.5 C
SBR 259 13.1 B 267 12.4 B 222 4.6 A

79  05/15/14 Manhattan Dr./Crescent Dr. & Baseline Rd. 18.6 B 10.9 B 8.7 A

EBL 56 9.6 A 40 7.1 A 126 3.1 A

EBT 562 10.2 B 425 7.8 A 620 1.6 A

EBR 157 0.0 0 64 0.0 0 209 0.0 0

WBL 32 4.6 A 25 3.8 A 45 4.5 A

WBT 691 5.9 A 412 4.2 A 546 4.6 A

WBR 12 0.0 0 2 0.0 0 11 0.0 0

NBL 252 69.2 E 100 34.3 C 122 39.8 D

NBT 32 30.3 C 4 31.7 C 29 35.1 D

NBR 52 0.0 0 35 0.0 0 34 0.0 0

SBL 4 29.0 C 7 31.9 C 12 34.4 C

SBT 12 29.4 C 10 32.1 C 24 34.8 C

SBR 34 0.0 0 21 0.0 0 27 0.0 0

80  04/03/12 9th St. & Arapahoe Rd. 10.6 B 11.4 B 12.9 B

EBL 19 30.5 C 14 25.4 C 22 35.1 D

EBT 45 30.9 C 50 26.0 C 57 33.8 C

EBR 7 0.0 0 17 0.0 0 18 0.0 0

WBL 14 21.2 C 37 22.6 C 80 24.3 C

WBT 54 20.6 C 67 23.5 C 78 24.8 C

WBR 58 0.0 0 98 0.0 0 140 0.0 0

NBL 15 3.6 A 14 4.1 A 13 4.1 A

NBT 307 5.0 A 256 5.3 A 292 5.7 A

NBR 31 0.0 0 39 0.0 0 50 0.0 0

SBL 50 6.0 A 69 5.3 A 87 4.4 A

SBT 183 6.3 A 225 6.0 A 371 5.1 A
SBR 10 0.0 0 19 0.0 0 22 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 355



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

81  08/20/14 9th St. & Canyon Blvd. 16.9 B 12.1 B 27.3 C

EBL 46 36.7 D 59 37.3 D 53 52.0 D

EBT 451 23.4 C 436 19.9 B 486 26.1 C

EBR 118 17.9 B 71 13.2 B 110 21.8 C

WBL 35 16.6 B 91 16.4 B 122 56.3 E

WBT 408 19.0 B 364 9.2 A 463 46.8 D

WBR 170 0.0 0 223 0.0 0 263 0.0 0

NBL 30 5.3 A 34 5.4 A 62 8.5 A

NBT 254 6.4 A 259 6.5 A 437 11.1 B

NBR 42 4.3 A 100 3.7 A 100 6.6 A

SBL 118 12.2 B 141 9.8 A 127 15.6 B

SBT 179 13.1 B 255 10.2 B 383 16.1 B
SBR 60 0.0 0 51 0.0 0 61 0.0 0

82  04/21/09 9th St. & Pearl St. 13.6 B 15.1 B 25.1 C

EBL 67 0.0 0 84 0.0 0 117 0.0 0

EBT 22 36.4 D 42 35.8 D 41 76.4 E

EBR 59 0.0 0 63 0.0 0 71 0.0 0

WBL 26 0.0 0 57 0.0 0 61 0.0 0

WBT 29 28.8 C 53 25.1 C 48 40.0 D

WBR 11 0.0 0 32 0.0 0 29 0.0 0

NBL 35 6.9 A 69 6.6 A 45 8.6 A

NBT 329 9.2 A 411 10.9 B 546 14.8 B

NBR 50 0.0 0 89 0.0 0 147 0.0 0

SBL 14 4.2 A 47 6.3 A 42 7.8 A

SBT 528 8.7 A 479 10.1 B 591 14.3 B
SBR 65 0.0 0 55 0.0 0 76 0.0 0

83  04/11/12 9th St. & College Ave. 6.3 A 5.3 A 5.8 A

EBL 45 0.0 0 18 0.0 0 31 0.0 0

EBT 25 12.5 B 16 11.5 B 21 14.1 B

EBR 14 0.0 0 5 0.0 0 20 0.0 0

WBL 5 0.0 0 8 0.0 0 9 0.0 0

WBT 13 11.6 B 19 11.5 B 25 13.8 B

WBR 30 0.0 0 63 0.0 0 58 0.0 0

NBL 33 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 8 0.0 0

NBT 367 5.0 A 226 3.3 A 307 3.2 A

NBR 11 0.0 0 10 0.0 0 10 0.0 0

SBL 27 0.0 0 48 0.0 0 47 0.0 0

SBT 320 4.9 A 216 3.5 A 420 3.9 A
SBR 25 0.0 0 19 0.0 0 11 0.0 0

84  04/12/12 9th St. & Walnut St. 7.0 A 9.2 A 10.4 B

EBL 10 0.0 0 19 0.0 0 20 0.0 0

EBT 12 34.2 C 29 27.6 C 35 38.8 D

EBR 26 0.0 0 71 0.0 0 94 0.0 0

WBL 5 27.2 C 29 23.3 C 32 24.9 C

WBT 7 23.2 C 7 16.1 B 13 10.1 B

WBR 12 0.0 0 34 0.0 0 36 0.0 0

NBL 65 2.5 A 83 3.4 A 68 4.2 A

NBT 425 3.4 A 421 5.2 A 461 5.8 A

NBR 103 0.0 0 100 0.0 0 156 0.0 0

SBL 43 5.4 A 46 6.0 A 66 6.0 A

SBT 387 7.0 A 339 6.3 A 508 7.9 A
SBR 16 0.0 0 15 0.0 0 32 0.0 0

85  06/05/13 6th St. & Canyon Blvd. 15.7 B 14.0 B 14.3 B

EBL 9 6.7 A 9 7.4 A 7 6.1 A

EBT 509 8.0 A 356 8.4 A 471 7.3 A

EBR 32 0.0 0 25 0.0 0 61 0.0 0

WBL 184 23.6 C 132 17.4 B 114 14.7 B

WBT 266 17.3 B 314 15.3 B 573 13.3 B

WBR 19 0.0 0 33 0.0 0 69 0.0 0

NBL 70 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 33 0.0 0

NBT 14 25.1 C 18 18.8 B 14 28.9 C

NBR 75 23.2 C 143 18.9 B 163 28.4 C

SBL 12 0.0 0 14 0.0 0 33 0.0 0

SBT 18 23.5 C 12 18.7 B 12 28.8 C
SBR 3 0.0 0 6 0.0 0 14 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 356



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

86  04/05/12 26th St. & Pearl St. 5.1 A 10.0 A 10.2 B

EBL 11 2.8 A 42 7.5 A 25 4.8 A

EBT 484 3.0 A 712 7.5 A 898 6.1 A

EBR 33 0.0 0 55 0.0 0 74 0.0 0

WBL 90 2.3 A 109 2.7 A 102 9.0 A

WBT 639 2.4 A 725 1.1 A 812 3.5 A

WBR 30 0.0 0 47 0.0 0 20 0.0 0

NBL 18 32.6 C 64 34.6 C 57 40.1 D

NBT 4 32.2 C 51 34.4 C 38 39.6 D

NBR 24 0.0 0 103 0.0 0 89 0.0 0

SBL 12 33.1 C 65 36.6 D 55 41.1 D

SBT 10 32.5 C 24 32.9 C 22 38.4 D
SBR 18 0.0 0 41 0.0 0 36 0.0 0

87  07/08/14 30th St. & Iris Ave. 12.9 B 17.7 B 6.6 A

EBL 25 0.0 0 70 0.0 0 103 0.0 0

EBT 5 32.9 C 14 35.7 D 15 15.0 B

EBR 31 31.9 C 114 32.4 C 109 13.4 B

WBL 89 0.0 0 122 0.0 0 132 0.0 0

WBT 2 34.9 C 7 36.8 D 8 15.2 B

WBR 26 32.0 C 43 31.9 C 70 13.3 B

NBL 50 11.0 B 90 12.0 B 67 3.6 A

NBT 322 10.2 B 470 13.6 B 753 3.7 A

NBR 96 0.0 0 115 0.0 0 151 0.0 0

SBL 15 6.6 A 27 8.8 A 22 5.8 A

SBT 581 8.6 A 336 9.3 A 381 5.0 A
SBR 55 0.0 0 53 0.0 0 80 0.0 0

88 08/02/12 30th St. & Diagonal Hwy/Diagonal Pkwy 22.0 C 14.8 C 38.4 D

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 736 15.8 B 802 13.2 B 1125 6.1 A

EBR 201 0.0 0 172 0.0 0 152 0.0 0

WBL 430 63.5 E 313 21.5 C 264 92.4 F

WBT 976 9.0 A 746 7.5 A 1083 18.8 B

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 207 27.3 C 336 29.5 C 521 135.5 F

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 232 11.6 B 316 15.8 B 534 46.4 D

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

89  07/30/14 47th St & Diagonal Pkwy 10.6 B 9.4 B 12.6 B

EBL 21 2.0 A 63 1.8 A 90 2.2 A

EBT 494 2.4 A 735 2.0 A 1215 3.0 A

EBR 132 0.5 A 76 0.1 A 66 0.1 A

WBL 17 8.9 A 8 8.5 A 5 8.5 A

WBT 184 8.6 A 152 8.5 A 177 7.7 A

WBR 2 8.0 A 0 0.0 0 2 7.3 A

NBL 54 27.6 C 90 27.8 C 149 38.4 D

NBT 48 27.0 C 63 27.6 C 129 38.6 D

NBR 37 0.0 0 46 0.0 0 105 0.0 0

SBL 2 25.7 C 0 0.0 0 2 31.3 C

SBT 83 27.4 C 42 26.6 C 39 31.9 C
SBR 120 26.7 C 99 26.3 C 73 31.6 C

90  07/06/11 Foothills E. Ramp & Pearl Pkwy 13.8 B 12.3 B 16.7 B

EBL 122 4.1 A 216 9.0 A 253 26.2 C

EBT 417 2.7 A 586 1.0 A 584 2.0 A

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 593 9.6 A 856 11.0 B 854 15.3 B

WBR 29 6.1 A 75 6.7 A 117 11.0 B

NBL 145 34.8 C 181 35.5 D 195 42.4 D

NBT 0 34.8 C 5 35.5 D 0 42.4 D

NBR 261 34.8 C 233 34.4 C 122 39.7 D

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 357



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

91  06/06/13 Moorhead Ave & Table Mesa Dr. 9.2 A 9.3 A 9.4 A

EBL 29 2.0 A 26 3.8 A 36 1.7 A

EBT 995 3.2 A 784 4.9 A 1020 2.4 A

EBR 60 0.0 0 40 0.0 0 36 0.0 0

WBL 105 16.5 B 58 7.1 A 45 4.6 A

WBT 778 9.8 A 758 9.1 A 1242 7.9 A

WBR 61 9.9 A 82 4.7 A 128 1.0 A

NBL 28 25.3 C 33 25.3 C 28 35.0 D

NBT 5 25.2 C 11 25.2 C 11 35.0 D

NBR 93 0.0 0 74 0.0 0 92 0.0 0

SBL 105 27.1 C 76 26.4 C 120 40.6 D

SBT 15 25.2 C 11 25.1 C 12 34.6 C
SBR 22 0.0 0 35 0.0 0 56 0.0 0

92  04/29/14 US 36 W. Ramp & Table Mesa Dr. 11.6 B 9.1 B 12.6 B

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 1595 5.8 A 866 2.1 A 1380 4.6 A

EBR 14 0.0 A 11 0.0 A 23 2.3 A

WBL 8 7.9 A 8 10.3 B 11 5.9 A

WBT 1210 16.5 B 722 12.0 B 1183 9.7 A

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 2 29.0 C 3 29.1 C 10 39.1 D

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 12 29.0 C 17 29.0 C 27 38.6 D

SBL 151 30.5 C 53 29.4 C 229 42.2 D

SBT 3 30.5 C 2 29.4 C 8 42.2 D
SBR 98 0.1 A 109 30.3 C 177 42.9 D

93  10/29/14 Foothills W. Ramp (RTD) & Table Mesa Dr. 28.2 C 18.5 C 116.6 F

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 1060 22.7 C 627 14.5 B 1316 36.9 D

EBR 36 32.3 C 9 10.8 B 15 14.6 B

WBL 10 14.7 B 4 9.2 A 8 27.1 C

WBT 1266 28.4 C 654 10.9 B 1032 25.4 C

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 33 46.3 D 20 46.3 D 75 390.1 F

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 8 44.4 D 7 45.0 D 67 45.9 D

SBL 203 21.8 C 223 27.4 C 480 44.4 D

SBT 51 21.8 C 10 27.4 C 17 44.6 D
SBR 479 39.6 D 396 29.4 C 727 425.5 F

94  05/01/14 US 36 E. Ramp & Table Mesa Dr. 10.6 B 10.6 B 10.6 B

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 1060 22.7 C 627 14.5 B 1316 36.9 D

EBR 36 32.3 C 9 10.8 B 15 14.6 B

WBL 10 14.7 B 4 9.2 A 8 27.1 C

WBT 1266 28.4 C 654 10.9 B 1032 25.4 C

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 33 46.3 D 20 46.3 D 75 390.1 F

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 8 44.4 D 7 45.0 D 67 45.9 D

SBL 203 21.8 C 223 27.4 C 480 44.4 D

SBT 51 21.8 C 10 27.4 C 17 44.6 D

SBR 479 39.6 D 396 29.4 C 727 425.5 F

95  04/17/12 17th St. & Baseline Rd. 4.9 A 4.0 A 7.3 A

EBL 2 0.0 0 4 0.0 0 4 0.0 0

EBT 523 4.0 A 458 3.8 A 705 10.3 B

EBR 1 0.0 0 5 0.0 0 5 0.0 0

WBL 9 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 6 0.0 0

WBT 608 3.6 A 514 2.2 A 637 2.9 A

WBR 49 0.0 0 30 0.0 0 22 0.0 0

NBL 7 0.0 0 6 0.0 0 6 0.0 0

NBT 0 19.3 B 1 19.5 B 0 17.7 B

NBR 10 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 4 0.0 0

SBL 28 0.0 0 18 0.0 0 33 0.0 0

SBT 1 20.2 C 1 19.8 B 0 17.9 B
SBR 4 0.0 0 5 0.0 0 6 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 358



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

96  10/18/12 20th St. & Baseline Rd. 13.1 B 16.8 B 16.1 B

EBL 16 0.0 0 10 0.0 0 8 0.0 0

EBT 545 3.8 A 515 8.4 A 713 13.8 B

EBR 9 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 6 0.0 0

WBL 28 0.0 0 26 0.0 0 33 0.0 0

WBT 689 18.1 B 511 26.5 C 656 17.0 B

WBR 58 0.0 0 41 0.0 0 74 0.0 0

NBL 15 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 16 0.0 0

NBT 20 18.7 B 16 12.6 B 16 17.6 B

NBR 40 0.0 0 37 0.0 0 42 0.0 0

SBL 15 0.0 0 20 0.0 0 58 0.0 0

SBT 6 24.5 C 5 5.6 A 19 21.3 C
SBR 15 0.0 0 24 0.0 0 19 0.0 0

97  07/11/13 Foothills Pkwy & Colorado Ave. 8.3 A 7.7 A 19.8 B

EBL 154 41.5 D 147 36.7 D 228 47.8 D

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 69 0.1 A 80 0.1 A 115 0.1 A

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 121 10.1 B 52 9.4 A 52 39.1 D

NBT 1957 6.3 A 1341 2.3 A 1605 15.7 B

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 1223 9.2 A 1354 11.5 B 2018 22.1 C
SBR 289 1.5 A 184 0.3 A 289 11.5 B

98  04/24/12 63rd St. & Lookout Rd. 21.7 C 18.0 C 26.0 C

EBL 34 43.5 D 54 22.2 C 120 63.1 E

EBT 19 41.1 D 76 22.1 C 136 47.0 D

EBR 4 40.5 D 7 20.9 C 14 40.4 D

WBL 132 53.7 D 70 19.6 B 61 48.4 D

WBT 132 47.7 D 85 19.0 B 23 43.4 D

WBR 324 64.4 E 343 47.2 D 407 42.5 D

NBL 32 9.7 A 5 8.2 A 0 0.0 0

NBT 240 9.2 A 217 8.9 A 569 12.7 B

NBR 61 0.0 0 60 0.0 0 140 0.0 0

SBL 354 5.3 A 301 6.1 A 321 13.3 B

SBT 602 5.3 A 209 5.0 A 175 4.0 A
SBR 140 0.0 0 47 0.0 0 20 0.0 0

99  04/25/12 55th St. & Central Ave. 8.9 A 9.2 A 11.4 B

EBL 4 36.1 D 0 0.0 0 3 24.5 C

EBT 4 36.0 D 0 20.9 C 0 24.3 C

EBR 3 0.0 0 4 0.0 0 4 0.0 0

WBL 55 39.5 D 143 24.0 C 265 37.1 D

WBT 1 35.9 D 0 21.1 C 1 25.0 C

WBR 19 0.0 0 42 0.0 0 107 0.0 0

NBL 8 4.7 A 7 5.8 A 0 0.0 0

NBT 741 7.4 A 534 7.5 A 486 7.2 A

NBR 258 0.0 0 138 0.0 0 40 0.0 0

SBL 103 8.7 A 40 6.0 A 21 3.7 A

SBT 514 4.8 A 535 6.1 A 922 5.2 A
SBR 4 0.0 0 3 0.0 0 3 0.0 0

100  05/06/14 Tantra Dr. & Table Mesa Dr. 12.7 B 7.5 B 9.7 A

EBL 2 10.7 B 3 6.1 A 1 7.9 A

EBT 1276 16.6 B 750 7.8 A 1047 12.8 B

EBR 41 0.0 0 47 0.0 0 60 0.0 0

WBL 53 15.0 B 56 3.1 A 132 10.7 B

WBT 1114 4.8 A 637 1.9 A 1219 1.7 A

WBR 2 0.0 0 4 0.0 0 3 0.0 0

NBL 60 0.0 0 58 0.0 0 66 0.0 0

NBT 1 31.2 C 1 30.7 C 0 41.1 D

NBR 129 29.8 C 58 29.3 C 83 39.0 D

SBL 2 29.0 C 3 29.1 C 4 38.8 D

SBT 0 28.9 C 1 28.9 C 1 38.5 D
SBR 1 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 1 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 359



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

101  04/26/12 Valmont Rd. & Airport Rd. 13.2 B 12.3 B 20.4 C

EBL 337 21.1 C 252 6.3 A 148 6.3 A

EBT 551 8.5 A 482 3.6 A 658 6.0 A

EBR 6 0.0 0 20 0.0 0 8 0.0 0

WBL 1 4.9 A 11 5.1 A 3 5.0 A

WBT 505 7.2 A 417 6.6 A 606 8.1 A

WBR 155 5.2 A 69 4.6 A 49 4.7 A

NBL 1 35.2 D 8 39.7 D 5 41.1 D

NBT 1 35.2 D 0 35.1 D 1 39.4 D

NBR 3 0.0 0 5 0.0 0 9 0.0 0

SBL 45 35.4 D 48 35.5 D 145 56.4 E

SBT 0 35.7 D 2 36.8 D 1 49.1 D
SBR 128 0.0 0 240 0.0 0 362 0.0 0

102  07/09/14 47th St. & Valmont Rd. 14.9 B 12.3 B 19.0 B

EBL 125 2.6 A 141 3.0 A 199 27.6 C

EBT 663 2.0 A 632 1.5 A 652 4.0 A

EBR 150 0.0 0 94 0.0 0 42 0.0 0

WBL 17 11.7 B 20 11.0 B 18 11.5 B

WBT 541 15.2 B 564 13.6 B 710 16.6 B

WBR 102 0.0 0 100 0.0 0 158 0.0 0

NBL 44 35.1 D 69 36.6 D 81 48.0 D

NBT 29 33.7 C 34 33.9 C 54 40.1 D

NBR 22 0.0 0 43 0.0 0 34 0.0 0

SBL 156 44.8 D 57 34.5 C 96 42.9 D

SBT 43 35.9 D 21 34.2 C 17 39.4 D
SBR 102 0.0 0 125 0.0 0 159 0.0 0

103  07/10/13 Foothills Pkwy & Valmont Rd. 49.3 D 42.9 D 62.5 E

EBL 74 72.2 E 128 75.6 E 250 95.2 F

EBT 367 19.9 B 487 31.0 C 589 47.8 D

EBR 239 6.8 A 290 28.6 C 438 96.2 F

WBL 161 66.3 E 189 62.9 E 246 97.6 F

WBT 444 24.0 C 570 35.9 D 564 87.5 F

WBR 64 0.0 0 62 0.0 0 188 0.0 0

NBL 351 129.7 F 368 78.5 E 469 128.6 F

NBT 882 32.5 C 825 39.2 D 1328 28.7 C

NBR 296 48.5 D 237 85.3 F 314 33.8 C

SBL 230 41.8 D 147 39.5 D 159 55.3 E

SBT 1455 64.0 E 1027 30.7 C 1261 45.6 D
SBR 179 18.7 B 127 20.0 B 148 22.3 C

104  07/10/14 55th St. & Pearl Pkwy 24.9 C 22.8 C 41.0 D

EBL 30 27.8 C 46 14.1 B 58 18.0 B

EBT 104 32.3 C 154 17.8 B 481 25.9 C

EBR 91 31.4 C 158 17.9 B 137 22.6 C

WBL 529 21.1 C 135 13.2 B 173 18.9 B

WBT 410 26.0 C 196 16.8 B 192 22.9 C

WBR 405 24.8 C 174 16.6 B 164 22.4 C

NBL 98 49.6 D 151 37.9 D 135 41.9 D

NBT 242 12.5 B 298 23.2 C 366 40.5 D

NBR 79 17.6 B 148 16.2 B 509 58.8 E

SBL 121 39.2 D 182 37.2 D 500 78.6 E

SBT 346 23.2 C 286 30.5 C 323 27.8 C
SBR 45 16.9 B 35 21.3 C 78 20.1 C

105  05/01/12 13th St. & Pine St. 18.2 B 11.4 B 35.6 D

EBL 25 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 17 0.0 0

EBT 222 8.4 A 176 5.4 A 233 6.2 A

EBR 18 0.0 0 29 0.0 0 45 0.0 0

WBL 13 0.0 0 15 0.0 0 18 0.0 0

WBT 139 6.3 A 139 4.2 A 204 5.8 A

WBR 61 0.0 0 29 0.0 0 63 0.0 0

NBL 6 0.0 0 6 0.0 0 4 0.0 0

NBT 80 26.1 C 49 16.1 B 132 34.8 C

NBR 23 0.0 0 49 0.0 0 73 0.0 0

SBL 60 0.0 0 46 0.0 0 78 0.0 0

SBT 90 38.4 D 34 29.2 C 29 153.4 F

SBR 18 0.0 0 23 0.0 0 28 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 360



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

106  08/21/14 Foothills W. Ramp & Diagonal Pkwy 7.6 A 8.9 A 7.1 A

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 844 4.9 A 955 8.9 A 1491 7.5 A

EBR 307 5.0 A 326 20.5 C 358 0.4 A

WBL 98 15.0 B 54 14.2 B 53 52.4 D

WBT 388 9.0 A 376 9.8 A 410 11.5 B

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 38 0.0 0 18 0.0 0 15 0.0 0

SBT 5 28.7 C 4 28.3 C 3 33.8 C
SBR 1298 8.0 A 720 1.0 A 794 1.3 A

107  06/05/12 Meadows Dr. & Baseline Rd. 9.4 A 8.6 A 7.7 A

EBL 1 10.6 B 3 8.7 A 4 7.2 A

EBT 580 12.6 B 601 9.4 A 890 8.6 A

EBR 63 6.8 A 113 2.0 A 116 2.8 A

WBL 122 7.6 A 226 8.8 A 209 11.7 B

WBT 693 7.9 A 562 9.0 A 650 6.0 A

WBR 0 0.0 0 4 0.0 0 1 0.0 0

NBL 29 0.0 0 91 0.0 0 81 0.0 0

NBT 0 24.0 C 2 25.8 C 0 31.2 C

NBR 107 0.1 A 229 0.2 A 262 0.3 A

SBL 0 0.0 0 2 0.0 0 2 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 23.4 C 0 28.9 C
SBR 0 0.0 0 3 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

108  07/31/12 26th St. & Canyon Blvd. 7.6 A 12.7 A 21.6 C

EBL 20 0.5 A 74 3.0 A 86 3.9 A

EBT 564 2.2 A 957 5.2 A 999 3.5 A

EBR 14 0.0 0 29 0.0 0 42 0.0 0

WBL 68 3.6 A 137 8.9 A 141 18.4 B

WBT 688 3.5 A 678 3.3 A 766 2.9 A

WBR 51 0.0 0 73 0.0 0 63 0.0 0

NBL 17 33.4 C 41 36.5 D 39 42.8 D

NBT 21 33.9 C 63 38.0 D 62 46.1 D

NBR 55 0.0 0 155 0.0 0 145 0.0 0

SBL 19 34.1 C 74 53.4 D 95 238.6 F

SBT 27 33.8 C 77 36.8 D 69 44.9 D
SBR 39 0.0 0 92 0.0 0 102 0.0 0

109  07/15/14 55th St. & Baseline Rd. 22.0 C 17.2 C 60.3 E

EBL 311 24.1 C 188 2.8 A 152 8.7 A

EBT 168 10.6 B 217 2.8 A 402 12.0 B

EBR 52 24.3 C 52 0.7 A 71 12.3 B

WBL 16 12.7 B 20 10.4 B 15 11.2 B

WBT 429 16.7 B 196 11.0 B 196 11.8 B

WBR 349 0.0 0 62 0.0 0 57 0.0 0

NBL 47 33.1 C 73 34.7 C 48 35.9 D

NBT 56 32.8 C 31 32.3 C 27 34.3 C

NBR 16 31.6 C 16 31.5 C 19 33.9 C

SBL 47 31.4 C 79 32.1 C 230 73.5 E

SBT 33 30.8 C 23 29.9 C 86 53.0 D
SBR 135 45.6 D 171 45.4 D 335 185.1 F

110  05/08/14 Stephens Rd. & Table Mesa Dr. 3.3 A 2.8 A 3.6 A

EBL 2 0.0 0 1 0.0 0 1 0.0 0

EBT 165 2.1 A 80 1.5 A 132 2.1 A

EBR 4 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0.0 0

WBL 31 0.0 0 4 0.0 0 11 0.0 0

WBT 169 2.2 A 90 1.5 A 111 2.1 A

WBR 3 0.0 0 3 0.0 0 3 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0.0 0

NBT 0 14.0 B 0 15.7 B 0 13.6 B

NBR 5 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 16 0.0 0

SBL 13 0.0 0 6 0.0 0 7 0.0 0

SBT 0 14.0 B 0 16.0 B 0 13.8 B
SBR 1 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 361



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

111  06/20/13 55th St. & Flatiron Pkwy 5.6 A 10.7 A 16.8 B

EBL 1 37.4 D 8 22.5 C 41 26.8 C

EBT 0 37.3 D 4 22.5 C 1 25.6 C

EBR 3 0.0 0 19 0.0 0 9 0.0 0

WBL 33 39.5 D 127 26.5 C 244 50.3 D

WBT 2 37.4 D 3 22.3 C 0 0.0 0

WBR 53 37.5 D 114 22.8 C 302 33.5 C

NBL 30 4.4 A 25 9.5 A 4 5.0 A

NBT 448 4.6 A 459 10.4 B 650 6.7 A

NBR 198 0.0 0 89 0.0 0 20 0.0 0

SBL 332 5.3 A 147 3.4 A 63 3.4 A

SBT 659 0.6 A 398 2.8 A 535 3.2 A
SBR 36 0.0 0 18 0.0 0 4 0.0 0

112  05/08/14 Lehigh St. & Heidelberg Dr. 2.7 A 2.9 A 2.4 A

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 7 16.0 B 3 16.6 B 6 16.6 B

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 12 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 5 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 191 1.8 A 97 1.5 A 98 1.6 A

NBR 18 0.0 0 4 0.0 0 7 0.0 0

SBL 30 1.6 A 10 1.4 A 12 1.4 A

SBT 125 1.6 A 74 1.4 A 138 1.6 A
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

113  05/13/14 Gilpin Dr. & Aurora Ave. 6.5 A 8.7 A 8.0 A

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 109 6.5 A 38 9.4 A 69 8.2 A

EBR 24 0.0 0 10 0.0 0 12 0.0 0

WBL 4 0.0 0 2 0.0 0 1 0.0 0

WBT 122 6.7 A 34 9.4 A 63 8.2 A

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 32 5.7 A 8 3.6 A 8 4.1 A

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 5 0.0 0 1 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

114  05/13/14 Eisenhower Dr. & Harrison Ave. 2.8 A 4.2 A 3.0 A

EBL 11 16.1 B 5 15.5 B 0 15.9 B

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 8 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 17 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 12 0.0 0 9 0.0 0 9 0.0 0

NBT 132 1.8 A 46 1.6 A 69 1.5 A

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 115 1.6 A 48 1.6 A 96 1.5 A

SBR 6 0.0 0 6 0.0 0 6 0.0 0

115  07/22/14 Broadway & Violet Ave. 9.0 A 7.9 A 11.3 B

EBL 9 32.1 C 19 27.6 C 13 33.0 C

EBT 37 32.9 C 20 27.7 C 28 33.5 C

EBR 16 0.0 0 15 0.0 0 11 0.0 0

WBL 72 34.5 C 41 28.3 C 62 34.4 C

WBT 21 32.8 C 13 27.6 C 19 33.3 C

WBR 49 0.0 0 63 0.0 0 76 0.0 0

NBL 9 1.0 A 26 1.3 A 22 1.7 A

NBT 336 2.5 A 441 1.9 A 770 8.8 A

NBR 42 0.0 0 41 0.0 0 45 0.0 0

SBL 43 2.7 A 61 3.8 A 58 6.0 A

SBT 686 4.5 A 437 4.8 A 491 5.5 A
SBR 13 0.0 0 20 0.0 0 13 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 362



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

116  05/15/14 19th St. & Floral Dr. 5.9 A 2.8 A 2.8 A

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 38 13.3 B 7 16.1 B 15 16.0 B

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 49 0.0 0 11 0.0 0 14 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 154 3.3 A 139 1.6 A 250 1.8 A

NBR 35 0.0 0 14 0.0 0 8 0.0 0

SBL 66 0.0 0 5 0.0 0 4 0.0 0

SBT 334 5.0 A 147 1.6 A 191 1.8 A
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

117  07/24/12 28th St. & Jay Rd. 16.7 B 14.3 B 52.7 D

EBL 11 0.0 0 30 0.0 0 34 0.0 0

EBT 54 34.3 C 31 34.2 C 60 39.8 D

EBR 46 32.3 C 23 32.3 C 33 34.8 C

WBL 79 0.0 0 70 0.0 0 88 0.0 0

WBT 48 37.2 D 43 36.8 D 74 49.4 D

WBR 274 33.6 C 270 33.9 C 411 56.4 E

NBL 23 5.2 A 24 2.9 A 34 9.3 A

NBT 307 5.6 A 604 4.3 A 892 37.3 D

NBR 51 4.1 A 85 4.0 A 79 12.3 B

SBL 377 13.5 B 218 15.5 B 281 194.5 F

SBT 746 12.5 B 528 9.0 A 656 10.9 B
SBR 14 5.1 A 9 5.0 A 16 5.8 A

118  08/02/12 28th St. & Winding Tr./Palo Pkwy 12.6 B 9.7 B 16.0 B

EBL 9 28.4 C 7 32.8 C 6 34.2 C

EBT 6 28.4 C 1 32.6 C 1 33.8 C

EBR 55 28.5 C 46 32.8 C 42 34.0 C

WBL 110 31.5 C 88 35.3 D 82 36.7 D

WBT 4 28.3 C 1 32.6 C 5 34.0 C

WBR 18 28.3 C 20 32.7 C 14 33.9 C

NBL 26 5.4 A 35 2.7 A 62 3.4 A

NBT 408 4.9 A 676 6.4 A 938 16.7 B

NBR 51 0.3 A 103 0.4 A 129 0.3 A

SBL 15 3.9 A 12 3.1 A 13 9.1 A

SBT 889 12.9 B 710 8.0 A 751 14.8 B
SBR 6 1.1 A 10 1.9 A 12 3.4 A

119  06/27/13 Conestoga St. & Arapahoe Rd. 7.9 A 10.7 A 8.6 A

EBL 89 32.1 C 116 23.0 C 42 3.0 A

EBT 621 3.0 A 1004 1.9 A 1319 2.3 A

EBR 31 0.0 0 128 0.0 0 74 0.0 0

WBL 68 5.4 A 126 34.5 C 89 41.3 D

WBT 1198 5.5 A 1033 8.5 A 888 7.1 A

WBR 66 0.0 0 49 0.0 0 12 0.0 0

NBL 31 0.0 0 94 0.0 0 45 0.0 0

NBT 7 25.2 C 25 27.5 C 0 30.7 C

NBR 39 24.3 C 159 26.0 C 88 30.7 C

SBL 15 0.0 0 33 0.0 0 62 0.0 0

SBT 7 24.6 C 43 25.7 C 14 32.1 C
SBR 48 24.7 C 104 25.2 C 100 30.2 C

120 07/28/11 Broadway & North St. 8.0 A 8.1 A 9.1 A

EBL 23 0.0 0 49 0.0 0 59 0.0 0

EBT 42 30.7 C 26 25.6 C 35 41.3 D

EBR 21 0.0 0 42 0.0 0 69 0.0 0

WBL 60 0.0 0 64 0.0 0 47 0.0 0

WBT 40 34.6 C 38 26.6 C 29 37.6 D

WBR 24 0.0 0 33 0.0 0 17 0.0 0

NBL 85 15.2 B 34 5.1 A 46 4.0 A

NBT 643 3.1 A 716 4.8 A 1003 4.7 A

NBR 49 0.0 0 45 0.0 0 24 0.0 0

SBL 48 3.6 A 26 4.0 A 30 4.6 A

SBT 1058 4.5 A 813 5.3 A 961 3.6 A
SBR 70 0.0 0 45 0.0 0 43 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 363



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

121  06/25/13 28th St. & Kalmia Ave. 11.6 B 11.7 B 12.1 B

EBL 11 27.4 C 18 27.7 C 31 33.6 C

EBT 5 28.9 C 9 27.7 C 11 33.2 C

EBR 122 0.0 0 55 0.0 0 57 0.0 0

WBL 110 32.7 C 152 32.5 C 107 36.5 D

WBT 6 27.3 C 4 27.4 C 2 32.8 C

WBR 6 0.0 0 19 0.0 0 20 0.0 0

NBL 38 8.9 A 52 8.3 A 94 12.2 B

NBT 500 6.2 A 763 9.1 A 1279 11.7 B

NBR 43 1.9 A 61 10.0 B 124 14.7 B

SBL 6 7.5 A 6 5.7 A 9 4.7 A

SBT 1155 9.4 A 789 7.1 A 858 5.4 A
SBR 18 0.0 0 11 0.0 0 15 0.0 0

122  06/25/09 Foothills W. Ramp & Pearl Pkwy 8.3 A 13.3 A 13.3 B

EBL 11 27.4 C 18 27.7 C 31 33.6 C

EBT 5 28.9 C 9 27.7 C 11 33.2 C

EBR 122 0.0 0 55 0.0 0 57 0.0 0

WBL 110 32.7 C 152 32.5 C 107 36.5 D

WBT 6 27.3 C 4 27.4 C 2 32.8 C

WBR 6 0.0 0 19 0.0 0 20 0.0 0

NBL 38 8.9 A 52 8.3 A 94 12.2 B

NBT 500 6.2 A 763 9.1 A 1279 11.7 B

NBR 43 1.9 A 61 10.0 B 124 14.7 B

SBL 6 7.5 A 6 5.7 A 9 4.7 A

SBT 1155 9.4 A 789 7.1 A 858 5.4 A
SBR 18 0.0 0 11 0.0 0 15 0.0 0

123  07/23/14 Broadway & Quince Ave. 7.7 A 7.8 A 17.8 B

EBL 4 31.1 C 3 26.3 C 6 31.1 C

EBT 3 31.2 C 2 26.2 C 5 30.7 C

EBR 23 0.0 0 17 0.0 0 8 0.0 0

WBL 51 33.3 C 76 28.5 C 69 32.9 C

WBT 1 31.1 C 4 26.6 C 6 31.4 C

WBR 35 0.0 0 69 0.0 0 98 0.0 0

NBL 11 1.8 A 14 1.6 A 23 7.7 A

NBT 358 3.5 A 479 4.5 A 805 19.3 B

NBR 31 0.0 0 36 0.0 0 34 0.0 0

SBL 70 2.5 A 63 2.9 A 70 11.6 B

SBT 730 5.7 A 489 4.1 A 510 9.2 A
SBR 5 0.0 0 5 0.0 0 6 0.0 0

124  04/19/12 49th St. & Pearl Pkwy 7.1 A 11.6 A 15.3 B

EBL 69 3.5 A 84 5.3 A 49 5.2 A

EBT 306 3.7 A 471 5.7 A 609 7.5 A

EBR 142 1.8 A 83 5.1 A 16 4.0 A

WBL 120 6.0 A 34 5.6 A 4 6.6 A

WBT 667 6.4 A 492 6.0 A 482 8.1 A

WBR 45 0.0 0 36 0.0 0 19 0.0 0

NBL 12 33.1 C 78 37.0 D 101 42.6 D

NBT 0 0.0 0 6 32.8 C 2 33.1 C

NBR 6 32.7 C 33 32.9 C 125 34.4 C

SBL 12 33.2 C 29 33.7 C 59 36.6 D

SBT 3 33.2 C 2 33.6 C 0 34.0 C
SBR 50 0.0 0 129 0.0 0 89 0.0 0

125  05/22/12 63rd St. & Spine Rd. 11.5 B 11.5 B 11.5 B

EBL 22 14.6 B 29 20.1 C 74 15.7 B

EBT 35 14.6 B 57 20.2 C 94 15.7 B

EBR 5 0.0 0 22 0.0 0 60 0.0 0

WBL 258 27.4 C 194 25.1 C 172 18.5 B

WBT 75 15.5 B 56 20.4 C 33 15.1 B

WBR 86 0.0 0 64 0.0 0 93 0.0 0

NBL 47 8.1 A 15 5.4 A 5 6.1 A

NBT 200 7.0 A 198 6.1 A 582 8.8 A

NBR 153 0.0 0 185 0.0 0 281 0.0 0

SBL 114 7.5 A 55 4.8 A 57 13.2 B

SBT 566 6.9 A 194 4.0 A 196 7.9 A
SBR 56 0.0 0 22 0.0 0 11 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 364



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

126  07/12/12 Spine Rd. & Lookout Rd. 9.6 A 10.7 A 13.5 B

EBL 45 8.4 A 17 4.6 A 20 6.8 A

EBT 161 7.8 A 215 5.5 A 507 11.4 B

EBR 87 9.7 A 169 3.1 A 128 12.3 B

WBL 258 8.1 A 101 5.5 A 81 10.2 B

WBT 496 9.3 A 245 5.8 A 216 8.9 A

WBR 44 0.0 0 20 0.0 0 3 0.0 0

NBL 68 14.8 B 150 22.7 C 140 15.9 B

NBT 7 14.2 B 25 20.4 C 8 17.2 B

NBR 47 0.0 0 135 0.0 0 366 0.0 0

SBL 11 14.2 B 22 20.0 C 60 22.7 C

SBT 4 14.0 B 21 19.7 B 21 14.5 B
SBR 11 0.0 0 23 0.0 0 52 0.0 0

127  05/10/12 Lookout Rd. & 71st St. 15.1 B 10.1 B 13.3 B

EBL 59 15.7 B 167 5.7 A 331 14.6 B

EBT 222 6.8 A 311 4.9 A 751 12.4 B

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 712 16.2 B 248 5.4 A 262 7.1 A

WBR 106 0.0 0 42 0.0 0 52 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 37 18.6 B 39 23.6 C 120 21.1 C

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBR 252 0.0 0 155 0.0 0 160 0.0 0

128  10/16/14 19th St. & Arapahoe Rd. 8.3 A 5.7 A 7.6 A

EBL 1 1.7 A 3 1.2 A 6 2.5 A

EBT 423 4.1 A 557 5.0 A 746 6.0 A

EBR 3 0.0 0 7 0.0 0 3 0.0 0

WBL 31 3.9 A 22 1.6 A 21 3.1 A

WBT 517 6.3 A 573 2.8 A 636 5.3 A

WBR 5 0.0 0 19 0.0 0 13 0.0 0

NBL 6 0.0 0 3 0.0 0 5 0.0 0

NBT 0 31.7 C 3 34.2 C 0 36.4 D

NBR 60 31.7 C 33 33.8 C 58 36.4 D

SBL 12 0.0 0 10 0.0 0 12 0.0 0

SBT 1 31.8 C 2 34.2 C 0 36.4 D
SBR 3 0.0 0 5 0.0 0 2 0.0 0

129  06/19/13 Broadway & Lee Hill Dr. 15.0 B 11.7 B 14.6 B

EBL 7 0.0 0 22 0.0 0 17 0.0 0

EBT 202 31.5 C 119 24.7 C 99 38.8 D

EBR 177 27.5 C 121 22.8 C 129 33.5 C

WBL 40 28.6 C 27 23.3 C 30 34.2 C

WBT 70 28.2 C 101 24.2 C 182 43.1 D

WBR 9 0.0 0 14 0.0 0 26 0.0 0

NBL 97 5.2 A 145 4.3 A 213 2.8 A

NBT 190 2.7 A 251 4.1 A 549 2.8 A

NBR 32 0.0 0 47 0.0 0 49 0.0 0

SBL 41 5.0 A 21 5.3 A 68 5.0 A

SBT 495 8.4 A 212 6.2 A 244 5.0 A
SBR 16 0.0 0 16 0.0 0 26 0.0 0

130  10/23/13 28th St. & Glenwood Dr. 6.5 A 9.3 A 8.2 A

EBL 33 32.2 C 52 33.1 C 82 41.7 D

EBT 29 32.3 C 42 32.6 C 48 39.2 D

EBR 63 0.0 0 73 0.0 0 76 0.0 0

WBL 23 28.6 C 42 34.8 C 30 39.1 D

WBT 33 27.2 C 51 34.4 C 78 41.6 D

WBR 32 0.0 0 45 0.0 0 46 0.0 0

NBL 41 10.8 B 66 7.0 A 77 3.5 A

NBT 770 6.0 A 1115 9.2 A 1397 3.5 A

NBR 21 0.0 0 65 0.0 0 50 0.0 0

SBL 53 1.8 A 49 3.9 A 34 2.8 A

SBT 1237 1.9 A 941 1.2 A 985 1.4 A
SBR 22 0.0 0 26 0.0 0 31 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 365



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

131  07/17/14 Wilderness & Valmont Rd. 7.7 A 8.7 A 7.9 A

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 690 9.7 A 899 11.1 B 1035 4.8 A

EBR 106 0.0 0 100 0.0 0 53 0.0 0

WBL 180 11.7 B 75 5.5 A 60 1.9 A

WBT 843 1.9 A 1009 1.9 A 1160 1.6 A

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 24 35.8 D 84 37.4 D 99 44.5 D

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 31 35.3 D 76 35.6 D 185 43.2 D

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

132  08/05/14 48th Street & Arapahoe Rd. 15.3 B 14.2 B 10.1 B

EBL 185 26.3 C 174 19.7 B 74 4.9 A

EBT 932 18.2 B 1335 15.2 B 1534 7.8 A

EBR 31 0.0 0 55 0.0 0 121 0.0 0

WBL 5 8.0 A 11 7.3 A 14 7.0 A

WBT 1291 9.8 A 1435 9.2 A 1270 4.9 A

WBR 89 0.0 0 48 0.0 0 16 0.0 0

NBL 105 31.6 C 86 30.8 C 88 36.5 D

NBT 12 28.5 C 4 28.4 C 3 34.0 C

NBR 3 0.0 0 1 0.0 0 6 0.0 0

SBL 16 28.5 C 51 29.8 C 113 38.9 D

SBT 1 28.2 C 5 28.4 C 9 34.0 C
SBR 28 28.4 C 102 28.8 C 109 34.6 C

133  07/29/14 Broadway & Rayleigh 3.4 A 12.6 A 16.2 B

EBL 26 37.0 D 71 34.6 C 177 47.3 D

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 11 36.2 D 30 32.2 C 141 38.7 D

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 114 1.4 A 37 12.6 B 16 16.8 B

NBT 1519 2.0 A 984 9.5 A 1105 6.6 A

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 627 4.0 A 967 12.6 B 2088 15.9 B
SBR 188 0.0 0 81 0.0 0 26 0.0 0

134  09/20/12 Broadway & 16th St. 7.8 A 6.4 A 5.2 A

EBL 57 44.8 D 38 44.9 D 53 53.0 D

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 31 42.4 D 51 44.2 D 74 51.5 D

WBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 58 4.2 A 68 2.3 A 118 4.0 A

NBT 1162 2.8 A 909 1.8 A 1107 1.6 A

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 628 9.7 A 772 7.7 A 1325 2.8 A
SBR 48 0.0 0 30 0.0 0 50 0.0 0

135  08/27/14 Broadway & 18th St 28.9 C 18.8 C 13.9 B

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBL 0 34.9 C 0 34.8 C 0 47.3 D

WBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

WBR 172 0.0 0 108 0.0 0 64 0.0 0

NBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 38 0.0 0 83 0.0 0 152 0.0 0

SBT 0 2.1 A 0 1.9 A 0 0.8 A
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 366



Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS Volume Delay (s) LOS
Count 

Date
AM Noon PM

ID# Intersection & Movements

136  10/23/14 63rd Street & Arapahoe Rd. 12.1 B 17.8 B 61.3 E

EBL 62 4.4 A 95 12.3 B 78 6.9 A

EBT 418 5.1 A 702 19.8 B 1332 91.1 F

EBR 32 2.3 A 22 20.8 C 33 7.1 A

WBL 0 0.0 0 4 9.5 A 4 12.4 B

WBT 1310 13.0 B 668 11.2 B 536 10.1 B

WBR 22 0.0 0 30 0.0 0 17 0.0 0

NBL 21 40.9 D 10 32.6 C 19 39.0 D

NBT 0 39.9 D 3 32.3 C 0 37.7 D

NBR 2 0.0 0 6 0.0 0 7 0.0 0

SBL 12 40.8 D 28 33.7 C 50 43.7 D

SBT 0 40.2 D 0 33.3 C 0 38.4 D
SBR 34 0.0 0 112 0.0 0 79 0.0 0

137  10/28/14 66th St & Arapahoe Rd. 40.2 D 13.2 D 78.3 E

EBL 1 11.4 B 1 11.4 B 3 8.4 A

EBT 357 11.5 B 640 14.5 B 1375 113.6 F

EBR 58 10.8 B 44 16.5 B 13 19.6 B

WBL 67 5.6 A 31 7.4 A 10 32.9 C

WBT 1281 54.5 D 587 7.8 A 557 7.3 A

WBR 2 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

NBL 43 38.9 D 55 38.7 D 40 44.6 D

NBT 0 36.0 D 0 36.0 D 0 41.9 D

NBR 16 0.0 0 19 0.0 0 29 0.0 0

SBL 1 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBT 0 36.0 D 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

138  07/29/14 Broadway & US 36 12.7 B 14.2 B 28.5 C

EBL 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

EBT 387 10.7 B 227 14.2 B 255 40.4 D

EBR 398 12.6 B 189 14.4 B 165 37.8 D

WBL 53 5.4 A 68 8.2 A 97 34.3 C

WBT 181 5.3 A 271 8.4 A 468 34.4 C

WBR

NBL

NBT 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0

NBR 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0

SBL 165 27.0 C 187 21.0 C 497 15.5 B

SBT 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0 0
SBR 58 10.0 B 62 15.7 B 52 12.4 B

Attachment A: Draft 2015 Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report

Packet Page 367



City of Boulder 

DRIVE TIME 2014 
Arapahoe Avenue   ●   Valmont Road    ●  Broadway 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 
Fox Tuttle Hernandez Transportation Group, LLC 

and 
Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc. 

 

April 2014 

DRAFT

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 368



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page i 
City of Boulder   

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0 Background ........................................................................................................... 1 

2.0 Comparison of Drive Time by Street ..................................................................... 2 

3.0 Comparison of Drive Times by Street and Direction ............................................. 6 

4.0 “Worst” Lights ...................................................................................................... 10 

5.0 Methodology ........................................................................................................ 13 

 

LIST OF TABLES 

Table 1 – Comparison of Arapahoe Ave, Valmont Rd, and Broadway ............................. 4 

Table 2 – Comparison of Arapahoe Ave, East and West .................................................. 7 

Table 3 – Comparison of Valmont Road, East and West .................................................. 9 

Table 4 – Comparison of Broadway, North and South .................................................... 11 

Table 5 – Worst Lights .................................................................................................... 13 

 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 1 – Comparison of Total Trip Time and Time Stopped .......................................... 3 

Figure 2 – Arapahoe Ave, Percent Change in Total Trip Times and Stopped Times ....... 5 

Figure 3 – Valmont Rd, Percent Change in Total Trip Times and Stopped Times ........... 6 

Figure 4 – Broadway, Percent Change in Total Trip Times and Stopped Times .............. 6 

Figure 5 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Arapahoe Ave, Eastbound) ........... 8 

Figure 6 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Arapahoe Ave, Westbound) .......... 8 

Figure 7 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Valmont Rd, Eastbound) ............. 10 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 369



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page ii 
City of Boulder   

Figure 8 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Valmont Rd, Westbound) ............ 10 

Figure 9 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Broadway, Northbound) .............. 12 

Figure 10 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Broadway, Southbound) ........... 12 

Figure 11 – Corridor Map ................................................................................................ 15 

Figure 12 – Drive Time Map for Study Routes ................................................................ 16 

 

APPENDIX 

Appendix I:  Drive Time Comparison for All East-West Years 

Appendix II:  Drive Time 2014 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 370



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 1 
City of Boulder   

1.0 Background 

A drive time study measuring the time it takes to get across the City of Boulder during peak 
traffic hours (7:30am, 12:00pm, and 5:00 pm) has been performed each year since 1986.  The 
purpose of these annual studies is to determine how congestion on the major arteries in Boulder 
is changing over time.     

Historically, in even-numbered years, the north/south routes (Broadway, 28th Street, and 
recently Foothills Parkway) have been studied and in odd-numbered years, the east/west routes 
(Arapahoe Avenue, Valmont Road, and Pearl Street) have been studied (see Methodology 
section for exact routes).  This report focuses on the results from 2014 for the following studied 
routes: 

1. Arapahoe Avenue (east/west) 

2. Valmont Road (east/west) 

3. Broadway (north/south) 

This year Pearl Street was under construction and the data would not be accurately 
representative if collected. Therefore, Pearl Street was replaced by Broadway. Appendix I 
contains comparison summaries of drive time information by street and direction for all years.  
Appendix II contains the results in detail for data collected in 2014.  Refer to older reports for 
detailed results of past study years. 

The frequency of travel time and delay studies in the City has been reduced in the past few 
years due to budgetary constraints.  Thus, the previous east-west travel time evaluations were 
performed in 2010 and the north-south in 2012.  Prior to 2004, these studies were performed by 
staff of the City of Boulder Audit and Evaluation Division. Since 2004, data has been collected 
by a consultant team consisting of Fox Tuttle Hernandez Transportation Group, LLC and Short 
Elliott Hendrickson, Inc.   

In 2004, a significant change in study methodology was made: travel time runs were aborted 
any time there were conditions along the corridor that were considered atypical.  This may have 
been due to construction, lane closures, traffic accidents, or severe weather.  Since these runs, 
which are typically much longer and experience greater delays, were removed from the data 
set, the average trip times after 2004 are generally shorter than previous years and direct 
comparisons between new data and previous study years may not be relevant.  This change 
was made to provide a more direct evaluation of the performance of the corridor signal system 
by only collecting data in typical conditions.   

Note:  Prior to 2004, the travel time and delay study areas on Broadway and Arapahoe Avenue 
were shorter than today’s corridor. Broadway used to terminate at Violet Avenue on the north 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 371



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 2 
City of Boulder   

end and has been extended to Lee Hill Road. Arapahoe Avenue used to terminate at 55th Street 
on the east end and has been extended to 65th Street.  This year Arapahoe Avenue was 
extended even further east to 75th Street, which is included in the results of the full corridor.  
Throughout this report, where comparisons are made to pre-2004 data in this report, only the 
original study area segments were included in the calculations to provide a consistent basis for 
comparison.  When tables are not comparing historical data, the results from the full corridor is 
reported.  

2.0 Comparison of Drive Time by Street 

The average trip times and average time spent stopped (or “stopped time”) on Arapahoe 
Avenue, Valmont Road, and Broadway from 1986/87 to 2014 are displayed in Figure 1.  In 
Summary: 

 Arapahoe Avenue: The total travel times remained fairly constant between 1987 and 
1999 and then experienced a dramatic spike in travel time in 2001.  After a slight 
decrease in travel time in 2003, travel times on Arapahoe Avenue dropped significantly 
in 2005.  This decrease may be partially attributable to the change in data collection 
methods discussed in previously in this report.  Since 2005, travel times and stopped 
times have remained consistent.   

The 2001 report did not provide potential reasoning for the spike that occurred in that 
year along Arapahoe Avenue, though the Broadway construction project may have 
contributed to these results.  The Broadway project heavily affected the Arapahoe 
Avenue / Broadway intersection and would have been expected to result in increased 
delays there.  The Broadway project did not extend to the Valmont Road corridor.  
Considering that the Valmont Road corridor did not experience the same increases as 
the Arapahoe Avenue corridor did in 2001, the theory that the Broadway project 
contributed to the increased travel times on Arapahoe Avenue is plausible.   

 Valmont Road: The total trip times have remained relatively constant, with the 2014 
mean total trip time within seven seconds of the 1987 value.  Stopped times have also 
remained relatively constant from 1987 to 2014 along Valmont Road with 2014 matching 
the stopped time from 1987. 

 Broadway: The average trip times and stopped time on Broadway have increased 
steadily between 1986 and 1998, with a sharp increase between 1998 and 2000.  After 
2000, total trip times decreased steadily to a 12-year low-point in 2004.  Recent data 
shows similar rates of increase in travel and stop times as pre-1998 data.  There were 
no significant changes to travel or stopped times in 2014.  The most recent travel time 
results are nearly identical to those reported in 2012.  

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 372



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 3 
City of Boulder   

As discussed in previous reports, the Skunk Creek underpass project on Broadway may 
have contributed to the spike in 2000.  The dip in 2004 was most likely due to a change 
in the study methodology which excluded travel time runs during atypical conditions 
(construction, lane closures, traffic accidents, severe weather).  The reduction in travel 
times in 2004 may also have been partially attributable to corridor signal timing and 
roadway improvements, completion of the Broadway reconstruction project between 
University Avenue & Pine Street (both from decreases in construction-related delays and 
some diversion of traffic to other parallel corridors), and overall decrease in traffic 
volumes on this corridor compared to previous years. 

 

 

 

Table 1 (next page) shows the mean trip times, mean time spent stopped, and the mean 
percent of time spent stopped by year.  Differences between each study year and the first year 
the corridor was studied (1987 for Arapahoe Avenue and Valmont Road, 1986 for Broadway) 
are presented as well.   

 

Figure 1.  Comparison of Total Trip Time and Time Stopped (1986/87 to 2014) 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 373



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 4 
City of Boulder   

Table 1.  Comparison of Mean Total Trip Time, Mean Total Time Stopped, and Mean Percent of 
Time Stopped for Arapahoe Avenue, Valmont Road, and Broadway 

Trip Time Time Stopped
Percent of 

Time 
Stopped

1987 09 min 07 sec 02 min 46 sec 30%

1989 10 min 11 sec +  01 min 04 sec 03 min 27 sec +  00 min 41 sec 33% + 3%

1991 10 min 04 sec +  00 min 57 sec 03 min 30 sec +  00 min 44 sec 34% + 4%

1993 11 min 03 sec +  01 min 56 sec 04 min 31 sec +  01 min 45 sec 38% + 8%

1995 10 min 45 sec +  01 min 38 sec 04 min 08 sec +  01 min 22 sec 37% + 7%

1997 09 min 43 sec +  00 min 36 sec 03 min 10 sec +  00 min 24 sec 33% + 3%

1999 10 min 23 sec +  01 min 16 sec 03 min 59 sec +  01 min 13 sec 36% + 6%

2001 17 min 47 sec +  08 min 40 sec 05 min 18 sec +  02 min 32 sec 30% - no change

2003 17 min 14 sec +  08 min 07 sec 04 min 53 sec +  02 min 07 sec 29% - 1%

2005 09 min 35 sec +  00 min 28 sec 03 min 18 sec +  00 min 32 sec 33% + 3%

2007 09 min 06 sec -  00 min 01 sec 02 min 50 sec +  00 min 04 sec 30% - no change

2010 09 min 38 sec +  00 min 31 sec 03 min 13 sec +  00 min 27 sec 32% + 2%

2014 09 min 26 sec +  00 min 19 sec 03 min 03 sec +  00 min 17 sec 31% + 1%

1987 10 min 23 sec 03 min 10 sec 30%

1989 09 min 52 sec -  00 min 31 sec 03 min 02 sec -  00 min 08 sec 30% - no change

1991 09 min 36 sec -  00 min 47 sec 02 min 52 sec -  00 min 18 sec 29% - 1%

1993 10 min 14 sec -  00 min 09 sec 03 min 16 sec +  00 min 06 sec 31% + 1%

1995 10 min 16 sec -  00 min 07 sec 03 min 24 sec +  00 min 14 sec 32% + 2%

1997 10 min 00 sec -  00 min 23 sec 03 min 07 sec -  00 min 03 sec 31% + 1%

1999 09 min 50 sec -  00 min 33 sec 03 min 07 sec -  00 min 03 sec 31% + 1%

2001 08 min 57 sec -  01 min 26 sec 02 min 51 sec -  00 min 19 sec 31% + 1%

2003 08 min 12 sec -  02 min 11 sec 02 min 23 sec -  00 min 47 sec 25% - 5%

2005 10 min 13 sec -  00 min 10 sec 03 min 05 sec -  00 min 05 sec 29% - 1%

2007 10 min 12 sec -  00 min 11 sec 03 min 02 sec -  00 min 08 sec 28% - 2%

2010 10 min 04 sec -  00 min 19 sec 03 min 03 sec -  00 min 07 sec 29% - 1%

2014 10 min 16 sec -  00 min 07 sec 03 min 10 sec -  00 min 00 sec 30% - no change

1986 13 min 56 sec 02 min 02 sec 14%

1988 14 min 33 sec +  00 min 37 sec 02 min 25 sec +  00 min 23 sec 16% + 2%

1990 14 min 30 sec +  00 min 34 sec 02 min 35 sec +  00 min 33 sec 18% + 4%

1992 14 min 47 sec +  00 min 51 sec 03 min 42 sec +  01 min 40 sec 24% + 10%

1994 15 min 22 sec +  01 min 26 sec 03 min 28 sec +  01 min 26 sec 22% + 8%

1996 15 min 06 sec +  01 min 10 sec 03 min 29 sec +  01 min 27 sec 23% + 9%

1998 15 min 09 sec +  01 min 13 sec 03 min 57 sec +  01 min 55 sec 26% + 12%

2000 18 min 20 sec +  04 min 24 sec 07 min 34 sec +  05 min 32 sec 38% + 24%

2002 17 min 49 sec +  03 min 53 sec 06 min 33 sec +  04 min 31 sec 35% + 21%

2004 15 min 01 sec +  01 min 05 sec 03 min 17 sec +  01 min 15 sec 21% + 7%

2006 15 min 19 sec +  01 min 23 sec 02 min 50 sec +  00 min 48 sec 18% + 4%

2008 16 min 14 sec +  02 min 18 sec 04 min 12 sec +  02 min 10 sec 25% + 11%

2012 15 min 36 sec +  01 min 40 sec 03 min 24 sec +  01 min 22 sec 21% + 7%

2014 15 min 38 sec +  01 min 42 sec 03 min 33 sec +  01 min 31 sec 22% + 8%

Difference 
from First 

Year of Data

Difference 
from First Year 

of Data

Difference from 
First Year of 

Data

n/an/a

n/an/an/a

Mean Total Trip Time Mean Total Time Stopped

Street Year

Mean % of Time Stopped
B

ro
ad

w
ay

n/a n/a n/a

Va
lm

on
t R

oa
d

A
ra

pa
ho

e 
A

ve
nn

ue

n/a

 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 374



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 5 
City of Boulder   

Figures 2 through 4 show the percent change in mean total trip times and stopped times since 
1987 for each of the studied corridors.  In summary: 

 Arapahoe Avenue:  The mean total trip time in 2014 is 2% less than 2010 and 3% more 
than 1987.  The mean total time stopped decreased by 5% since 2012 and increased by 
10% from 1987.   

 Valmont Road:  Both the total trip and stopped times are nearly the same as 1987 with 
the total trip time increasing by 1% and the stopped time being the exact same.  
Compared to 2010 the total trip time is roughly 2% more and the stopped time is roughly 
4% more.  

 Broadway:  The mean total travel time and stopped time has consistently been greater 
than the reported results from 1986.  Compared to 2012 the travel time is nearly the 
same with a 0.2% increase; however, the stopped time increased by 4%.  The mean 
total trip time is 12% more than in 1987 and the mean stopped time has increased by 
75%. 

Figure 2.  Arapahoe Avenue: Percent Change in Total Trip Times and Stopped Times from 1987

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 375



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 6 
City of Boulder   

 

Figure 3.  Valmont Road: Percent Change in Total Trip Times and Stopped Times from 1987

Figure 4.  Broadway: Percent Change in Total Trip Times and Stopped Times from 1986

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 376



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 7 
City of Boulder   

3.0 Comparison of Drive Times by Street and Direction 

Mean trip time, time stopped, and percent of time stopped were examined for each street by 
direction.  Table 2 shows the eastbound and westbound directions on Arapahoe Avenue are 
fairly balanced year-to-year with respect to total trip and total stopped times.  Neither direction 
has shown to be predominantly faster or slower over the study years.  In 2014 the westbound 
direction became approximately one minute faster than eastbound, which is the largest 
difference since 1993.  Figures 5 and 6 (on the following page) provide an historic breakdown 
of mean travel times between nodes to provide some sense of where the changes in travel time 
have occurred within the corridor over time.  Note: node data is only available for years in which 
the GPS data collection has been used (2004 to present). 

Table 2.  Comparison of Arapahoe Avenue, East and West  
(Mean Total Trip Time, Mean Total Time Stopped, and Mean Percent of Time Stopped) 

Trip Time Time Stopped
Percent of 

Time 
Stopped

1987 09 min 50 sec 03 min 00 sec 30%

1989 10 min 18 sec +  00 min 28 sec 03 min 37 sec +  00 min 37 sec 33% + 3%

1991 10 min 05 sec +  00 min 15 sec 03 min 35 sec +  00 min 35 sec 35% + 5%

1993 10 min 00 sec +  00 min 10 sec 03 min 46 sec +  00 min 46 sec 38% + 8%

1995 11 min 04 sec +  01 min 14 sec 04 min 23 sec +  01 min 23 sec 38% + 8%

1997 09 min 49 sec -  00 min 01 sec 03 min 28 sec +  00 min 28 sec 35% + 5%

1999 10 min 30 sec +  00 min 40 sec 04 min 07 sec +  01 min 07 sec 36% + 6%

2001 17 min 32 sec +  07 min 42 sec 05 min 12 sec +  02 min 12 sec 29% - 1%

2003 16 min 51 sec +  07 min 01 sec 04 min 57 sec +  01 min 57 sec 29% - 1%

2005 09 min 52 sec +  00 min 02 sec 03 min 40 sec +  00 min 40 sec 35% + 5%

2007 09 min 19 sec -  00 min 31 sec 03 min 05 sec +  00 min 05 sec 32% + 2%

2010 09 min 48 sec -  00 min 02 sec 03 min 28 sec +  00 min 28 sec 33% + 3%

2014 09 min 58 sec +  00 min 08 sec 03 min 38 sec +  00 min 38 sec 34% + 4%

1987 08 min 24 sec 02 min 34 sec 30%

1989 10 min 04 sec +  01 min 40 sec 03 min 18 sec +  00 min 44 sec 32% + 2%

1991 10 min 03 sec +  01 min 39 sec 03 min 22 sec +  00 min 48 sec 32% + 2%

1993 12 min 06 sec +  03 min 42 sec 05 min 00 sec +  02 min 26 sec 38% + 8%

1995 10 min 26 sec +  02 min 02 sec 03 min 45 sec +  01 min 11 sec 35% + 5%

1997 09 min 36 sec +  01 min 12 sec 02 min 53 sec +  00 min 19 sec 30% 0%

1999 10 min 18 sec +  01 min 54 sec 03 min 51 sec +  01 min 17 sec 36% + 6%

2001 18 min 01 sec +  09 min 37 sec 05 min 25 sec +  02 min 51 sec 29% - 1%

2003 17 min 37 sec +  09 min 13 sec 04 min 48 sec +  02 min 14 sec 29% - 1%

2005 09 min 15 sec +  00 min 51 sec 02 min 53 sec +  00 min 19 sec 30% 0%

2007 08 min 51 sec +  00 min 27 sec 02 min 33 sec -  00 min 01 sec 28% - 2%

2010 09 min 28 sec +  01 min 04 sec 02 min 59 sec +  00 min 25 sec 31% + 1%

2014 08 min 55 sec +  00 min 31 sec 02 min 30 sec -  00 min 04 sec 27% - 3%

Street Year Difference 
from 1987

n/an/a

Mean Total Time Stopped

Difference 
from 1987

n/a

Mean % of Time Stopped

A
ra

pa
ho

e 
A

ve
nu

e 
Ea

st

Mean Total Trip Time

A
ra

pa
ho

e 
A

ve
nu

e
W

es
t

n/a n/a n/a

Difference 
from 1987

 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 377



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 8 
City of Boulder   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1.   Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Arapahoe Avenue, Eastbound) 
(2014 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

Figure 6.   Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Arapahoe Avenue, Westbound) 
(2014 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 378



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 9 
City of Boulder   

As shown on Table 3 below, Valmont experienced minimal changes in eastbound and 
westbound total trip and stopped times between 2005 and 2014.  Figures 7 and 8 (on the 
following page) provide an historic breakdown of mean travel times between nodes, to provide 
some sense of where the changes in travel time have occurred within the corridor over time.  
Note: node data is only available for years in which the GPS data collection has been used 
(2004 to present).   

Table 3.  Comparison of Valmont Road, East and West  
(Mean Total Trip Time, Mean Total Time Stopped, and Mean Percent of Time Stopped) 

Trip Time Time Stopped
Percent of 

Time 
Stopped

1987 10 min 12 sec 02 min 31 sec 24%

1989 09 min 54 sec -  00 min 18 sec 02 min 58 sec +  00 min 27 sec 30% + 6%

1991 09 min 14 sec -  00 min 58 sec 02 min 41 sec +  00 min 10 sec 29% + 5%

1993 10 min 03 sec -  00 min 09 sec 03 min 02 sec +  00 min 31 sec 31% + 7%

1995 10 min 27 sec +  00 min 15 sec 03 min 48 sec +  01 min 17 sec 35% + 11%

1997 09 min 48 sec -  00 min 24 sec 02 min 59 sec +  00 min 28 sec 30% + 6%

1999 09 min 34 sec -  00 min 38 sec 03 min 05 sec +  00 min 34 sec 32% + 8%

2001 08 min 55 sec -  01 min 17 sec 05 min 37 sec +  03 min 06 sec 32% + 8%

2003 08 min 12 sec -  02 min 00 sec 02 min 58 sec +  00 min 27 sec 31% + 7%

2005 09 min 48 sec -  00 min 24 sec 02 min 47 sec +  00 min 16 sec 27% + 3%

2007 09 min 57 sec -  00 min 15 sec 02 min 49 sec +  00 min 18 sec 27% + 3%

2010 09 min 47 sec -  00 min 25 sec 02 min 49 sec +  00 min 18 sec 27% + 3%

2014 10 min 09 sec -  00 min 03 sec 03 min 07 sec +  00 min 36 sec 30% + 6%

1987 10 min 34 sec 03 min 49 sec 35%

1989 09 min 50 sec -  00 min 44 sec 03 min 06 sec -  00 min 43 sec 30% - 5%

1991 09 min 57 sec -  00 min 37 sec 03 min 03 sec -  00 min 46 sec 30% - 5%

1993 10 min 26 sec -  00 min 08 sec 03 min 30 sec -  00 min 19 sec 32% - 3%

1995 10 min 04 sec -  00 min 30 sec 02 min 59 sec -  00 min 50 sec 28% - 7%

1997 10 min 11 sec -  00 min 23 sec 03 min 16 sec -  00 min 33 sec 31% - 4%

1999 10 min 05 sec -  00 min 29 sec 03 min 08 sec -  00 min 41 sec 30% - 5%

2001 08 min 59 sec -  01 min 35 sec 02 min 44 sec -  01 min 05 sec 30% - 5%

2003 08 min 02 sec -  02 min 32 sec 02 min 13 sec -  01 min 36 sec 28% - 7%

2005 10 min 37 sec +  00 min 03 sec 03 min 23 sec -  00 min 26 sec 30% - 5%

2007 10 min 28 sec -  00 min 06 sec 03 min 17 sec -  00 min 32 sec 30% - 5%

2010 10 min 20 sec -  00 min 14 sec 03 min 16 sec -  00 min 33 sec 30% - 5%

2014 10 min 24 sec -  00 min 10 sec 03 min 13 sec -  00 min 36 sec 30% - 5%

n/a

Mean % of Time Stopped

Street Year Difference 
from 1987

Va
lm

on
t R

oa
d 

W
es

t

n/a n/a n/a

Difference 
from 1987

Mean Total Trip Time

Va
lm

on
t R

oa
d 

Ea
st

n/an/a

Mean Total Time Stopped

Difference 
from 1987

 

 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 379



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 10 
City of Boulder   

 

 
 
 

Figure 7.   Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Valmont Road, Eastbound) 
(2014 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

Figure 8.   Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Valmont Road, Westbound) 
(2014 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 380



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 11 
City of Boulder   

 

The directional data for the Broadway corridor is summarized in Table 4.  Travel times, stopped 
times, and percent time stopped were all higher in 2014 than in 1986 for both directions along 
the Broadway corridor.  The northbound direction times are slightly less than in 2012; however, 
southbound is slightly greater than in 2012. Figures 9 and 10 provide an historic breakdown of 
mean travel times between nodes, to provide some sense of where the changes in travel time 
have occurred within the corridor data years.  Note: node data is only available for years in 
which the GPS data collection has been used (2004 to present). 

Table 4.  Comparison of Broadway, East and West 
(Mean Total Trip Time, Mean Total Time Stopped, and Mean Percent of Time Stopped) 

Trip Time Time Stopped
Percent of 

Time 
Stopped

1986 13 min 43 sec 01 min 46 sec 12%

1988 15 min 24 sec +  01 min 41 sec 02 min 57 sec +  01 min 11 sec 18% + 6%

1990 14 min 53 sec +  01 min 10 sec 02 min 50 sec +  01 min 04 sec 19% + 7%

1992 15 min 20 sec +  01 min 37 sec 03 min 51 sec +  02 min 05 sec 23% + 11%

1994 15 min 52 sec +  02 min 09 sec 03 min 46 sec +  02 min 00 sec 23% + 11%

1996 15 min 39 sec +  01 min 56 sec 03 min 52 sec +  02 min 06 sec 24% + 12%

1998 15 min 09 sec +  01 min 26 sec 04 min 02 sec +  02 min 16 sec 27% + 15%

2000 18 min 29 sec +  04 min 46 sec 07 min 26 sec +  05 min 40 sec 37% + 25%

2002 18 min 45 sec +  05 min 02 sec 07 min 02 sec +  05 min 16 sec 37% + 25%

2004 15 min 51 sec +  02 min 08 sec 03 min 46 sec +  02 min 00 sec 23% + 11%

2006 16 min 00 sec +  02 min 17 sec 03 min 06 sec +  01 min 20 sec 19% + 7%

2008 17 min 08 sec +  03 min 25 sec 05 min 08 sec +  03 min 22 sec 28% + 16%

2012 16 min 20 sec +  02 min 37 sec 04 min 03 sec +  02 min 17 sec 24% + 12%

2014 16 min 06 sec +  02 min 23 sec 03 min 45 sec +  01 min 59 sec 23% + 11%

1986 14 min 08 sec 02 min 19 sec 16%

1988 13 min 42 sec -  00 min 26 sec 01 min 54 sec -  00 min 25 sec 14% - 2%

1990 14 min 08 sec -  00 min 00 sec 02 min 20 sec +  00 min 01 sec 16% - 0%

1992 14 min 15 sec +  00 min 07 sec 03 min 33 sec +  01 min 14 sec 25% + 9%

1994 14 min 52 sec +  00 min 44 sec 03 min 10 sec +  00 min 51 sec 21% + 5%

1996 14 min 34 sec +  00 min 26 sec 03 min 05 sec +  00 min 46 sec 21% + 5%

1998 15 min 10 sec +  01 min 02 sec 03 min 53 sec +  01 min 34 sec 25% + 9%

2000 18 min 11 sec +  04 min 03 sec 07 min 43 sec +  05 min 24 sec 40% + 24%

2002 16 min 59 sec +  02 min 51 sec 06 min 04 sec +  03 min 45 sec 34% + 18%

2004 14 min 05 sec -  00 min 03 sec 02 min 43 sec +  00 min 24 sec 19% + 3%

2006 14 min 33 sec +  00 min 25 sec 02 min 32 sec +  00 min 13 sec 17% + 1%

2008 15 min 19 sec +  01 min 11 sec 03 min 16 sec +  00 min 57 sec 21% + 5%

2012 14 min 51 sec +  00 min 43 sec 02 min 46 sec +  00 min 27 sec 18% + 2%

2014 15 min 07 sec +  00 min 59 sec 03 min 19 sec +  01 min 00 sec 21% + 5%

n/a n/a n/a

Mean Total Time Stopped Mean % of Time Stopped

Difference 
from 1986

Difference 
from 1986

Difference 
from 1986

B
ro

ad
w

ay
 

So
ut

h

n/a n/a n/a

B
ro

ad
w

ay
N

or
th

Street Year

Mean Total Trip Time

 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 381



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 12 
City of Boulder   

  

Figure 9.   Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Broadway, Northbound) 
(2014 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

Figure 10.   Historic Travel Time from Previous Node (Broadway, Southbound) 
(2014 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 382



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 13 
City of Boulder   

4.0 “Worst” Lights 

Each year, the data collected in the Drive Time study are used to determine the ten most 
frequently stopped-at traffic signals in a given year.  These results are categorized into a “ten 
worst” lights list (worst lights by chance of hitting the red traffic light).  Appendix II displays the 
complete list along with lists of the “ten best” lights. 

As shown in Table 5 below, a red light was experienced during all westbound runs at the 
Arapahoe Avenue at 28th Street and Valmont Road at Folsom Street and during all eastbound 
runs at Valmont Road at 30th Street.   

Table 5.  “Worst” Lights 

Intersection, Direction
Mean Chance in 

2014

Arapahoe Ave at 28th St, Westbound 100%
Valmont St at 30th St, Eastbound 100%
Valmont St at Folsom St, Westbound 100%
Valmont St at 19th St, Eastbound 93%
Valmont St at 19th St, Westbound 87%
Arapahoe Ave at Broadway, Eastbound 86%
Valmont St at Foothills Pkwy, Westbound 80%
Arapahoe Ave at Folsom St, Eastbound 79%
Arapahoe Ave at 55th St, Eastbound 79%
Broadway at Iris Ave, Northbound 73%

Worst Lights by Chance of Hitting the Traffic Light

 

5.0 Methodology 

A similar methodology is used each year for the drive time studies, although the routes alternate 
from north/south to east/west.  In 2004, a new data collection methodology was adopted which 
utilizes a hand-held GPS device, a laptop computer, and Tru-Traffic software (formerly known 
as TS-PP Draft) to record the travel time and delay data.  This replaced the manual stop-watch 
method previously used by City staff from 1986 to 2003.  Both the old and new methods involve 
one person who operates the vehicle and performs the data collection simultaneously.  In 
contrast to the old method, however, the new GPS/laptop method does not require any effort on 
the part of the driver once the study has begun. 

GPS coordinates for each traffic signal were mapped into the Tru-Traffic software prior to 
beginning travel time runs for the new year.  Since there is an inherent margin of error in the 
GPS locations, several mapping runs were performed along each of the corridors to provide the 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 383



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 14 
City of Boulder   

most accurate locations possible.  Even so, there is generally a margin of error of 15 feet in all 
calculations.  However, over many runs, the significance of these errors is diminished.   

In 2014, 30 total runs were performed on each of the three study corridors per year (15 runs per 
direction per corridor per year).   Trips are made at 7:30 am, 12:00pm, or 5:00pm to correspond 
with peak traffic periods.  During an outing, a trip is made in one direction and then back in the 
opposite direction on the same corridor.  During the 2014 data processing, it was discovered 
that there was one run during the noon period in the eastbound direction on Arapahoe Avenue 
and one morning run in the southbound direction on Broadway that had missing data and were 
removed from the evaluation. Prior to 2006, 60 runs were performed on each corridor per year.  
Standard deviation calculations indicate that the reduced number of runs has not affected 
annual result tabulations.  

Previous to 2004, it is believed that travel time runs were collected by the City of Boulder on 
each corridor regardless of roadway construction, traffic accidents, severe weather, and all 
other factors.  Travel time runs were not aborted under any of these conditions.  Since 2004, 
this practice was changed.  Now, travel time runs are aborted if there are any uncommon 
conditions that would cause delays typically not experienced along the corridor.  This change 
was made to provide a more useful evaluation of the corridor signal system under the conditions 
it is designed to operate.  Since lane closures, construction, accidents, etc. are special 
circumstances which significantly affect traffic flow, speeds, and delays, incorporating these 
conditions into the data set disables the ability to effectively evaluate corridor timing plans. 

Routes 

The east-west streets were historically studied in odd years (between 1987 and 2007).  Due to 
recent budgetary considerations, the east-west streets were not studied in 2009, but were in 
2010 and 2014.  The north-south streets historically were studied in even years (up to 2008). 
Due to the budgetary considerations, they were not studied in 2010, but were in 2012 and 2014. 
The endpoints of the studied corridors are as follows: 

 Arapahoe Avenue: 9th Street on the west and 65th Street on the east1. 

 Valmont Road: 9th Street on the west to 55th Street on the east.   

 Broadway: Greenbriar Boulevard on the south and Lee Hill Road on the north2.   

                                            

1  The section from 55th Street to 65th Street was removed from any historical comparisons in this report since the 

Arapahoe corridor studies did not include the Cherryvale, 63rd, and 65th Street intersections prior to 2005. 
2  Prior to 2004, the north end of the timing runs terminated at Violet Avenue.  For this reason, the data from Violet 

Avenue to Lee Hill Road is excluded from historical comparisons. 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 384



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 15 
City of Boulder   

Figure 11 provides a map showing the study corridor limits and indicates the traffic control per 
intersections.  Figure 12 illustrates the traffic control at every control point per corridor. 

Figure 11.  Corridor Map 

 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 385



 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway  Page 16 
City of Boulder   

Figure 12.  Drive Time Map for Study Routes 

 

Note:  Historical comparisons in this report were compiled with the Arapahoe Avenue corridor 
terminating at 55th Street on the east end to be consistent with previous years.  However, 
between 2005 and 2010, travel time runs have extended east to 65th Street and in 2014 it was 
extended to 75th Street.  Historical comparisons for the Broadway corridor terminated at Violet 
Avenue on the north end to be consistent with previous years.  However, since 2004, travel time 
runs have extended north to Lee Hill Road.  Travel time data for the Arapahoe Avenue from 55th 
Street to 75th Street nodes and Broadway north of Violet Avenue is included in the Appendix. 

Weighting 

In 1992, 1993, and 2004 not all the scheduled drive time trips for the year were completed.  In 
1992 there was a major construction project on Broadway which if included in the study would 
unfairly bias the results for 1992.  In 1993, misunderstandings with research assistants resulted 
in missed trips.  In 2004, budget constraints resulted in no data collected for the first four 
months of the year.  Thus, to compensate for the missing data, the results were weighted 
statistically. 

The data were weighted by street driven, direction of trip, and start time so that there were an 
equal number of trips in each direction on each street for each time of day across all the years.  
This counterbalances the effect these variables may have had on the average trip time.   

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 386



   

 

Appendix I:   
Drive Time Comparison for All Studied Years 

 

 

 

Table I-1 Comparison of Drive Time by Street across All Years 

Table I-2 Comparison of Drive Time by Street and Direction across All Years 

Table I-3 Mean Time Stopped at Four Boulder Intersections 

Table I-4 Probability of Being Stopped at Four Boulder Intersections

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 387



Street Year Distance
Mean Total Trip 

Time
Mean Speed 

(mph)
Total Stops 

Possible
Mean Number 

of Stops
Mean Total 

Time Stopped

Mean Percent 
of Time 
Stopped

Number 
of Trips

1987 3.1 miles 09 min 07 sec 20.1 13 5.8 02 min 46 sec 30% 42

1989 3.1 miles 10 min 11 sec 18.2 13 5.6 03 min 27 sec 33% 48

1991 3.1 miles 10 min 04 sec 18.3 14 5.9 03 min 30 sec 34% 59

1993 3.1 miles 11 min 03 sec 17.0 14 6.0 04 min 31 sec 38% 26

1995 3.1 miles 10 min 45 sec 17.3 15 6.3 04 min 08 sec 37% 61

1997 3.1 miles 09 min 43 sec 18.9 15 5.2 03 min 10 sec 33% 59

1999 3.1 miles 10 min 23 sec 18.1 16 4.8 03 min 59 sec 36% 58

2001 3.1 miles 17 min 47 sec 10.4 16 8.8 05 min 18 sec 30% 60

2003 3.1 miles 17 min 14 sec 10.5 17 8.3 data not avail. 29% 60

2005 3.1 miles 09 min 35 sec 19.4 17 5.1 03 min 18 sec 33% 49

2007 3.1 miles 09 min 06 sec 20.2 17 4.6 02 min 50 sec 30% 31

2010 3.1 miles 09 min 38 sec 19.9 17 5.0 03 min 13 sec 32% 30

2014 3.1 miles 09 min 26 sec 20.3 17 4.6 03 min 03 sec 31% 29

1987 3.2 miles 10 min 23 sec 18.9 8 6.0 03 min 10 sec 30% 42

1989 3.2 miles 09 min 52 sec 19.9 8 5.5 03 min 02 sec 30% 48

1991 3.2 miles 09 min 36 sec 20.3 8 5.3 02 min 52 sec 29% 59

1993 3.2 miles 10 min 14 sec 19.2 8 5.6 03 min 16 sec 31% 22

1995 3.2 miles 10 min 16 sec 19.1 9 6.7 03 min 24 sec 32% 62

1997 3.2 miles 10 min 00 sec 19.5 9 6.0 03 min 07 sec 31% 60

1999 3.2 miles 09 min 50 sec 19.9 9 5.5 03 min 07 sec 31% 58

2001 3.2 miles 08 min 57 sec 21.8 10 / 11 5.0 02 min 51 sec 31% 60

2003 3.2 miles 08 min 12 sec 23.5 11 4.7 02 min 23 sec 25% 60

2005 3.2 miles 10 min 13 sec 19.5 11 6.8 03 min 05 sec 29% 52

2007 3.2 miles 10 min 12 sec 21.6 11 6.6 03 min 02 sec 28% 31

2010 3.2 miles 10 min 04 sec 22.2 11 6.3 03 min 03 sec 29% 30

2014 3.2 miles 10 min 16 sec 21.7 11 6.4 03 min 10 sec 30% 30

1986 6.0 miles 13 min 56 sec 26.2 22 6.4 02 min 02 sec 14% 54

1988 6.0 miles 14 min 33 sec 25.3 22 6.1 02 min 25 sec 16% 41

1990 6.0 miles 14 min 30 sec 25.1 22 5.9 02 min 35 sec 18% 57

1992 6.0 miles 14 min 47 sec 25.0 22 / 21 6.5 03 min 42 sec 24% 47

1994 6.0 miles 15 min 22 sec 23.7 21 / 22 / 23 6.7 03 min 28 sec 22% 57

1996 6.0 miles 15 min 06 sec 24.2 24 / 23 6.9 03 min 29 sec 23% 59

1998 6.0 miles 15 min 09 sec 24.0 22 / 23 7.1 03 min 57 sec 26% 61

2000 6.0 miles 18 min 20 sec 21.4 23 10.2 07 min 34 sec 38% 59

2002 6.0 miles 17 min 49 sec 28.1 24 8.6 06 min 33 sec 35% 60

2004 6.2 miles 15 min 01 sec 25.1 24 / 25 7.6 03 min 17 sec 21% 28

2006 6.2 miles 15 min 19 sec 24.9 24 / 25 7.1 02 min 50 sec 18% 28

2008 6.2 miles 16 min 14 sec 26.2 24 / 25 7.5 04 min 12 sec 25% 30

2012 6.2 miles 15 min 36 sec 26.1 26* 7.5 03 min 24 sec 21% 30

2014 6.2 miles 15 min 38 sec 26.2 26* 7.1 03 min 33 sec 22% 29

Table I-1
Comparison of Drive Time by Street Across all Years [SHORT]

Arapahoe 
Avenue

Valmont 
Road

Broadway

*  Additional signals (potential stops) at 18th (NB and SB), 17th (NB & SB), and Euclid (NB only) were added in 2012 with the completion of the Broadway (Euclid to 
18th) transportation improvements project.

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix I

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 388



Street Year Distance
Mean Total Trip 

Time
Mean Speed 

(mph)

Total Stops 
Possible at 

Signals

Mean Number 
of Stops

Mean Total 
Time Stopped

Mean Percent 
of Time 
Stopped

Number 
of Trips

1987 3.1 miles 09 min 50 sec 18.5 13 6.1 03 min 00 sec 30% 21
1989 3.1 miles 10 min 18 sec 18.2 13 5.8 03 min 37 sec 33% 27
1991 3.1 miles 10 min 05 sec 18.1 14 6.3 03 min 35 sec 35% 28
1993 3.1 miles 10 min 00 sec 18.1 14 6.2 03 min 46 sec 38% 15
1995 3.1 miles 11 min 04 sec 16.8 15 6.8 04 min 23 sec 38% 28
1997 3.1 miles 09 min 49 sec 18.6 15 5.5 03 min 28 sec 35% 34
1999 3.1 miles 10 min 30 sec 18.0 16 4.6 04 min 07 sec 36% 29
2001 3.1 miles 17 min 32 sec 10.6 16 8.9 05 min 12 sec 29% 30
2003 3.1 miles 16 min 51 sec 10.7 17 8.2 04 min 57 sec 29% 30
2005 3.1 miles 09 min 52 sec 18.8 17 5.4 03 min 40 sec 35% 26
2007 3.1 miles 09 min 19 sec 19.7 17 4.4 03 min 05 sec 32% 16
2010 3.1 miles 09 min 48 sec 20.0 17 4.7 03 min 28 sec 33% 15
2014 3.1 miles 09 min 58 sec 19.4 17 4.4 03 min 38 sec 34% 14

1987 3.1 miles 08 min 24 sec 21.8 13 5.6 02 min 34 sec 30% 22
1989 3.1 miles 10 min 04 sec 18.2 13 5.4 03 min 18 sec 32% 21
1991 3.1 miles 10 min 03 sec 18.4 14 5.5 03 min 22 sec 32% 31
1993 3.1 miles 12 min 06 sec 16.0 14 5.8 05 min 00 sec 38% 9
1995 3.1 miles 10 min 26 sec 17.9 15 5.8 03 min 45 sec 35% 33
1997 3.1 miles 09 min 36 sec 19.2 15 4.9 02 min 53 sec 30% 25
1999 3.1 miles 10 min 18 sec 18.1 16 5.1 03 min 51 sec 36% 29
2001 3.1 miles 18 min 01 sec 10.1 16 8.7 05 min 25 sec 29% 30
2003 3.1 miles 17 min 37 sec 10.4 17 8.5 04 min 48 sec 29% 30
2005 3.1 miles 09 min 15 sec 20.0 17 4.8 02 min 53 sec 30% 23
2007 3.1 miles 08 min 51 sec 20.7 17 4.9 02 min 33 sec 28% 15
2010 3.1 miles 09 min 28 sec 19.9 17 5.2 02 min 59 sec 31% 15
2014 3.1 miles 08 min 55 sec 21.1 17 4.7 02 min 30 sec 27% 15

Table I-2a
Comparison of Drive Time by Street and Direction Across all Years [SHORT]

Arapahoe 
Avenue 

East

Arapahoe 
Avenue

West

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix I

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 389



Street Year Distance
Mean Total Trip 

Time
Mean Speed 

(mph)
Total Stops 

Possible
Mean Number 

of Stops
Mean Total 

Time Stopped

Mean Percent 
of Time 
Stopped

Number 
of Trips

1987 3.2 miles 10 min 12 sec 19.0 8 5.1 02 min 31 sec 24% 22
1989 3.2 miles 09 min 54 sec 19.7 8 5.5 02 min 58 sec 30% 21
1991 3.2 miles 09 min 14 sec 20.9 8 5.2 02 min 41 sec 29% 31
1993 3.2 miles 10 min 03 sec 19.3 8 5.7 03 min 02 sec 31% 8
1995 3.2 miles 10 min 27 sec 18.6 9 7.0 03 min 48 sec 35% 33
1997 3.2 miles 09 min 48 sec 19.8 9 6.2 02 min 59 sec 30% 24
1999 3.2 miles 09 min 34 sec 20.4 9 5.3 03 min 05 sec 32% 28
2001 3.2 miles 08 min 55 sec 21.8 10 5.0 05 min 37 sec 32% 30
2003 3.2 miles 08 min 12 sec 23.4 11 4.1 02 min 58 sec 31% 30
2005 3.2 miles 09 min 48 sec 20.2 11 6.5 02 min 47 sec 27% 26
2007 3.2 miles 09 min 57 sec 22.2 11 6.4 02 min 49 sec 27% 16
2010 3.2 miles 09 min 47 sec 22.6 11 6.5 02 min 49 sec 27% 15
2014 3.2 miles 10 min 09 sec 22.2 11 5.9 03 min 07 sec 30% 15

1987 3.2 miles 10 min 34 sec 18.9 8 6.9 03 min 49 sec 35% 21
1989 3.2 miles 09 min 50 sec 20.0 8 5.6 03 min 06 sec 30% 27
1991 3.2 miles 09 min 57 sec 19.6 8 5.3 03 min 03 sec 30% 28
1993 3.2 miles 10 min 26 sec 19.0 8 5.6 03 min 30 sec 32% 14
1995 3.2 miles 10 min 04 sec 19.5 9 6.4 02 min 59 sec 28% 29
1997 3.2 miles 10 min 11 sec 19.2 9 5.8 03 min 16 sec 31% 36
1999 3.2 miles 10 min 05 sec 19.4 9 5.6 03 min 08 sec 30% 30
2001 3.2 miles 08 min 59 sec 21.8 10 / 11 4.9 02 min 44 sec 30% 30
2003 3.2 miles 08 min 02 sec 23.8 11 4.3 02 min 13 sec 28% 30
2005 3.2 miles 10 min 37 sec 18.8 11 7.0 03 min 23 sec 30% 26
2007 3.2 miles 10 min 28 sec 21.0 11 6.9 03 min 17 sec 30% 15
2010 3.2 miles 10 min 20 sec 21.7 11 6.1 03 min 16 sec 30% 15
2014 3.2 miles 10 min 24 sec 21.1 11 6.8 03 min 13 sec 30% 15

Table I-2b
Comparison of Drive Time by Street and Direction Across all Years

Valmont 
Road   
 East

Valmont 
Road
West

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix I

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 390



Street Year Distance
Mean Total Trip 

Time
Mean Speed 

(mph)

Total Stops 
Possible at 

Signals

Mean Number 
of Stops

Mean Total 
Time Stopped

Mean Percent 
of Time 
Stopped

Number 
of Trips

1986 6.0 miles 13 min 43 sec 26.6 22 5.5 01 min 46 sec 12% 27

1988 6.0 miles 15 min 24 sec 24.0 2 6.6 02 min 57 sec 18% 19

1990 6.0 miles 14 min 53 sec 24.5 22 6.0 02 min 50 sec 19% 30

1992 6.0 miles 15 min 20 sec 24.1 22 / 21 6.2 03 min 51 sec 23% 28

1994 6.0 miles 15 min 52 sec 23.0 21 / 22 7.1 03 min 46 sec 23% 30

1996 6.0 miles 15 min 39 sec 23.4 23 7.1 03 min 52 sec 24% 29

1998 6.0 miles 15 min 09 sec 24.0 23 7.0 04 min 02 sec 27% 33

2000 6.0 miles 18 min 29 sec 20.8 24 10.0 07 min 26 sec 37% 31

2002 6.0 miles 18 min 45 sec 26.8 24 9.2 07 min 02 sec 37% 30

2004 6.2 miles 15 min 51 sec 24.2 24 8.8 03 min 46 sec 23% 15

2006 6.2 miles 16 min 00 sec 24.8 24 8.2 03 min 06 sec 18% 15

2008 6.2 miles 17 min 08 sec 25.7 24 8.3 05 min 08 sec 28% 15

2012 6.2 miles 16 min 20 sec 25.4 26 8.1 04 min 03 sec 24% 15

2014 6.2 miles 16 min 06 sec 25.9 26 7.4 03 min 45 sec 23% 15

1986 6.0 miles 14 min 08 sec 25.8 22 7.3 02 min 19 sec 16% 27

1988 6.0 miles 13 min 42 sec 26.5 22 5.6 01 min 54 sec 14% 22

1990 6.0 miles 14 min 08 sec 25.7 22 5.7 02 min 20 sec 16% 27

1992 6.0 miles 14 min 15 sec 25.9 22 6.8 03 min 33 sec 25% 19

1994 6.0 miles 14 min 52 sec 24.5 22 / 23 6.3 03 min 10 sec 21% 27

1996 6.0 miles 14 min 34 sec 24.9 24 6.7 03 min 05 sec 21% 30

1998 6.0 miles 15 min 10 sec 24.1 24 7.3 03 min 53 sec 25% 28

2000 6.0 miles 18 min 11 sec 22.0 24 10.4 07 min 43 sec 40% 28

2002 6.0 miles 16 min 59 sec 29.3 24 7.6 06 min 04 sec 34% 30

2004 6.2 miles 14 min 05 sec 26.1 25 6.2 02 min 43 sec 19% 13

2006 6.2 miles 14 min 33 sec 25.0 25 5.8 02 min 32 sec 17% 13

2008 6.2 miles 15 min 19 sec 26.7 25 6.5 03 min 16 sec 21% 15

2012 6.2 miles 14 min 51 sec 26.7 26 7.0 02 min 46 sec 18% 15

2014 6.2 miles 15 min 07 sec 26.5 26 6.9 03 min 19 sec 21% 14

Broadway   
North

Broadway  
South

Table I-2c
Comparison of Drive Time by Street and Direction Across all Years [SHORT]

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix I

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 391



1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2010 2012 2014 Mean

East 45 41 45 34 41 40 75 37 35 54 26 47 36 43

West 44 38 46 46 36 36 61 37 34 35 39 36 33 40

North 7 27 35 56 22 32 47 54 74 38 29 52 38 50 40

South 31 20 21 18 34 43 42 55 69 41 45 35 49 34 38

East 28 23 31 25 29 30 31 33 32 39 42 37 32

West 30 30 32 30 29 36 34 30 31 41 36 36 33

North 12 22 28 26 27 28 29 31 51 33 19 0 28 19 25

South 13 11 31 26 28 22 28 29 64 23 17 29 15 41 27

East 38 54 43 51 39 52 66 46 43 58 62 58 71 52

West 61 64 62 66 48 48 64 49 47 40 49 53 27 52

North 27 27 37 38 50 38 52 51 65 50 84 70 77 51

South 38 36 65 71 56 58 61 61 59 29 50 38 31 50

East 39 50 40 30 41 34 59 39 37 48 79 38 23 43

West 41 54 39 64 42 47 56 41 40 55 74 60 30 49

North 20 21 37 47 43 43 72 71 56 38 47 33 58 45

South 26 26 37 39 34 36 47 47 53 37 44 39 40 39

1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2010 2012 2014 Mean

East 90% 81% 82% 87% 82% 97% 62% 45% 43% 76% 50% 53% 86% 72%

West 77% 86% 77% 56% 70% 88% 93% 42% 41% 67% 93% 73% 67% 72%

North 15% 42% 13% 54% 27% 59% 61% 66% 77% 80% 80% 67% 80% 53% 55%

South 26% 36% 37% 47% 33% 60% 61% 88% 76% 15% 23% 20% 27% 21% 41%

East 77% 76% 65% 38% 76% 79% 68% 28% 27% 85% 63% 80% 64%

West 81% 93% 79% 71% 83% 75% 80% 28% 26% 88% 93% 67% 72%

North 26% 26% 33% 36% 33% 31% 30% 36% 27% 33% 40% 0% 53% 27% 31%

South 41% 9% 41% 42% 56% 50% 50% 28% 23% 62% 38% 40% 60% 50% 42%

East 33% 52% 68% 73% 71% 68% 69% 43% 41% 72% 88% 73% 50% 62%

West 18% 48% 58% 78% 64% 48% 38% 43% 40% 50% 53% 53% 100% 53%

North 75% 61% 81% 75% 65% 71% 77% 86% 70% 33% 80% 40% 67% 68%

South 93% 82% 67% 67% 77% 75% 77% 67% 56% 53% 63% 47% 47% 67%

East 68% 81% 84% 100% 88% 83% 71% 25% 24% 54% 50% 47% 33% 62%

West 90% 81% 82% 64% 72% 75% 57% 32% 31% 65% 53% 60% 60% 63%

North 61% 22% 44% 40% 54% 58% 65% 81% 86% 40% 55% 60% 47% 55%

South 89% 71% 67% 63% 74% 50% 54% 86% 83% 13% 19% 13% 33% 55%

Table I-3

28th St  
and   

Valmont Rd

Intersection Direction
Chance of Stopping at the Intersection (percent)

28th St  
and   

Valmont Rd

Mean Time Spent Stopped at Intersection (seconds)

Broadway 
and 

Arapahoe 
Ave

Intersection Direction

28th St 
and   

Arapahoe 
Ave

28th St 
and   

Arapahoe 
Ave

Broadway 
and 

Balsam Ave

Mean Time Stopped at Four Boulder Intersections

Table I-4

Probability of Being Stopped at Four Boulder Intersections

Broadway 
and 

Arapahoe 
Ave

Broadway 
and 

Balsam Ave

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix I

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 392



   

 

Appendix II:  
Drive Time 2014 

 

 

 

Table II.1 Time Traveled (2014) 

Table II.2 Number of Stops (2014) 

Table II.3 Time Stopped (2014) 

Table II.4 Drive Time by Time of Day (2014) 

Table II.5 Ten Worst Intersections by Chances of Being Stopped (2014) 

Table II.6 Ten Worst Intersections by Length of Stop (2014) 

Table II.7 Ten Best Intersections by Chances of Being Stopped (2014) 

Table II.8 Ten Best Intersections by Length of Stop (2014) 

Table II.9 Drive Time and Speed between Intersections, Arapahoe Avenue (2014) 

Table II.10 Drive Time and Speed between Intersections, Valmont Road (2014) 

Table II.11 Drive Time and Speed between Intersections, Broadway (2014) 

 

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 393



Mean Total Shortest Longest Trip Distance Average Speed
Trip Time Trip Time Trip Time (miles) (mph)

Arapahoe Ave
East 14 min 00 sec 10 min 27 sec 17 min 43 sec 5.6 28.4
West 13 min 09 sec 11 min 30 sec 16 min 08 sec 5.6 28.8

Valmont Rd
East 10 min 09 sec 08 min 36 sec 11 min 30 sec 3.2 22.2
West 10 min 24 sec 08 min 42 sec 16 min 42 sec 3.2 21.1

Broadway
North 17 min 17 sec 14 min 43 sec 20 min 21 sec 6.7 25.9
South 16 min 21 sec 13 min 44 sec 19 min 21 sec 6.7 27.1

Mean
Total Stops Number of Fewest Most Mean Chance Number of

Possible Stops Stops Stops of Stopping Trips

Arapahoe Ave
East 21 6.2 2 12 30% 14
West 21 5.9 3 9 28% 15

Valmont Rd
East 11 5.9 3 11 54% 15
West 11 6.8 4 11 62% 15

Broadway
North 26 7.7 4 12 31% 15
South 26 6.9 4 11 27% 14

Table II.1:  Time Traveled (2014)

Note :  
Arapahoe Avenue - The above data includes 63rd, 65th, and 75th Streets intersections whereas Table 1  within the 
report text does not extend east of 55th Street, for historical comparison purposes.The extension to 75th Street was 
added in 2014, which added 1.2 miles to the corridor length. 
Broadway - The above data includes Lee Hill Drive whereas Table 1 does not extend north of Violet Avenue, for 
historical comparison purposes. 

Table II.2:  Number of Stops (2014)

Note :  
Arapahoe Avenue - The above data includes 63rd, 65th, and 75th Streets intersections whereas Table 1 within the report text 
does not extend east of 55th Street, for historical comparison purposes.The extension to 75th Street was added in 2014, which 
added 1.2 miles to the corridor length. 
Broadway - The above data includes Lee Hill Drive whereas Table 1 does not extend north of Violet Avenue, for historical 
comparison purposes. 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix II

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 394



Mean Percent of Mean Total Shortest Longest
Time Stopped Time Stopped Time Stopped Time Stopped

Arapahoe Ave
East 27% 04 min 01 sec 01 min 22 sec 07 min 18 sec
West 22% 03 min 02 sec 01 min 36 sec 05 min 17 sec

Valmont Rd
East 30% 03 min 07 sec 01 min 40 sec 04 min 24 sec
West 30% 03 min 13 sec 01 min 36 sec 09 min 14 sec

Broadway
North 22% 03 min 51 sec 02 min 03 sec 06 min 03 sec
South 20% 03 min 19 sec 01 min 10 sec 05 min 57 sec

Table II.3:  Time Stopped (2014)

Note :  
Arapahoe Avenue - The above data includes 63rd, 65th, and 75th Streets intersections whereas Table 1  within 
the report text does not extend east of 55th Street, for historical comparison purposes.The extension to 75th 
Street was added in 2014, which added 1.2 miles to the corridor length. 
Broadway - The above data includes Lee Hill Drive whereas Table 1 does not extend north of Violet Avenue, for 
historical comparison purposes. 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix II

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 395



Mean Total Mean Number Mean Time
Trip Time of Stops Stopped

Arapahoe Ave,  East
7:30 AM 12 min 19 sec 4.6 02 min 59 sec

12:00 Noon 12 min 53 sec 5.0 02 min 46 sec
5:00 PM 16 min 35 sec 8.8 06 min 02 sec

Arapahoe Ave, West
7:30 AM 12 min 36 sec 5.5 02 min 34 sec

12:00 Noon 12 min 25 sec 5.8 02 min 22 sec
5:00 PM 14 min 29 sec 6.4 04 min 13 sec

Valmont Rd, East
7:30 AM 09 min 58 sec 6.6 03 min 00 sec

12:00 Noon 09 min 48 sec 4.6 02 min 45 sec
5:00 PM 10 min 40 sec 6.6 03 min 35 sec

Valmont Rd, West
7:30 AM 09 min 54 sec 6.0 02 min 48 sec

12:00 Noon 09 min 29 sec 6.6 02 min 24 sec
5:00 PM 11 min 48 sec 7.8 04 min 28 sec

Broadway, North
7:30 AM 15 min 57 sec 6.2 02 min 52 sec

12:00 Noon 16 min 53 sec 7.0 03 min 37 sec
5:00 PM 19 min 00 sec 10.0 05 min 05 sec

Broadway, South
7:30 AM 17 min 49 sec 8.5 04 min 11 sec

12:00 Noon 14 min 59 sec 5.8 02 min 20 sec
5:00 PM 16 min 31 sec 6.6 03 min 37 sec

Table II.4:  Drive Time by Time of Day (2014)

Note :  
Arapahoe Avenue - The above data includes 63rd, 65th, and 75th Streets intersections whereas Table 
1 within the report text does not extend east of 55th Street, for historical comparison purposes.The 
extension to 75th Street was added in 2014, which added 1.2 miles to the corridor length. 
Broadway - The above data includes Lee Hill Avenue whereas Table 1 does not extend north of Violet 
Avenue, for historical comparison purposes. 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix II

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 396



Intersection Direction Chances of Being Stopped

Arapahoe Ave at 28th St Westbound 100%
Valmont St at 30th St Eastbound 100%

Valmont St at Folsom St Westbound 100%
Valmont St at 19th St Eastbound 93%
Valmont St at 19th St Westbound 87%

Arapahoe Ave at Broadway Eastbound 86%
Valmont St at Foothills Pkwy Westbound 80%
Arapahoe Ave at Folsom St Eastbound 79%

Arapahoe Ave at 55th St Eastbound 79%
Broadway at Iris Ave Northbound 73%

Note :  List above does not include all-way stop intersections.

Intersection Direction Mean Length of Stop

Arapahoe Ave at 30th St Westbound 01 min 15 sec
Arapahoe Ave at 28th St Eastbound 01 min 11 sec

Valmont St at Foothills Pkwy Eastbound 01 min 10 sec
Arapahoe Ave at Foothills Pkwy Westbound 01 min 06 sec

Arapahoe Ave at 15th St Eastbound 01 min 04 sec
Arapahoe Ave at 63rd St Eastbound 01 min 02 sec

Arapahoe Ave at Folsom St Westbound 01 min 00 sec
Arapahoe Ave at 55th St Eastbound 00 min 58 sec
Valmont St at Folsom St Eastbound 00 min 58 sec

Broadway at Canyon Blvd Northbound 00 min 53 sec

Intersection Direction Mean Length of Stop

Valmont St at Foothills Pkwy Eastbound 00 min 47 sec
Valmont St at Folsom St Westbound 00 min 46 sec
Arapahoe Ave at 55th St Eastbound 00 min 46 sec
Valmont St at Folsom St Eastbound 00 min 42 sec

Valmont St at 30th St Eastbound 00 min 38 sec
Broadway at Canyon Blvd Northbound 00 min 36 sec
Arapahoe Ave at 28th St Eastbound 00 min 35 sec

Broadway at Table Mesa Drive Northbound 00 min 35 sec
Arapahoe Ave at Folsom Eastbound 00 min 31 sec

Arapahoe Ave at Broadway Eastbound 00 min 30 sec

* Table II.6a calculations include stopped time only for runs where a stop at this intersection occurred.

Table II.5:  Ten Worst Intersections by Chances of Being Stopped (2014)

Table II.6a:  Ten Worst Intersections by Length of Stop (2014)*

Table II.6b:  Ten Worst Intersections by Length of Stop (2014)**

** Table II.6b includes ALL runs in averaged stopped times, including runs where no stop occurred (thus 0:00 
stopped time included in mean calculation) 

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix II

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 397



Intersection Direction Chances of Being Stopped

Arapahoe Ave at 26th St East and West 0%
Arapahoe Ave at 29th St Eastbound 0%
Arapahoe Ave at 30th St Eastbound 0%
Arapahoe Ave at 33rd St Eastbound 0%
Arapahoe Ave at 48th St Eastbound 0%

Arapahoe Ave at Eisenhower Dr East and West 0%
Arapahoe Ave at Conestoga St Westbound 0%

Arapahoe Ave at 38th St Westbound 0%
Broadway at College Ave North and South 0%

Broadway at Pennsylvania Ave Northbound 0%
7 others tied - 0%

Intersection Direction Mean Length of Stop

Arapahoe Ave at 26th St East and West 00 min 00 sec
Arapahoe Ave at 29th St Eastbound 00 min 00 sec
Arapahoe Ave at 30th St Eastbound 00 min 00 sec
Arapahoe Ave at 33rd St Eastbound 00 min 00 sec
Arapahoe Ave at 48th St Eastbound 00 min 00 sec

Arapahoe Ave at Eisenhower Dr East and West 00 min 00 sec
Arapahoe Ave at Conestoga St Westbound 00 min 00 sec

Arapahoe Ave at 38th St Westbound 00 min 00 sec
Broadway at College Ave North and South 00 min 00 sec

Broadway at Pennsylvania Ave Northbound 00 min 00 sec
7 others tied - 00 min 00 sec

Table II.7:  Ten Best Intersections by Chances of Being Stopped (2014)

Table II.8:  Ten Best Intersections by Length of Stop (2014)

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix II

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 398



Mean Speed
From Previous Mean Time
Intersections from

Street Intersection (mph) Previous Intersection

9th Street n/a n/a
Broadway 16.0 00 min 16 sec

15th Street 18.3 00 min 18 sec
17th Street 13.5 00 min 13 sec
19th Street 21.3 00 min 21 sec

Naropa Ped Crossing 22.4 00 min 22 sec
Folsom Street 14.6 00 min 15 sec

26th Street 30.6 00 min 31 sec
28th Street 19.2 00 min 19 sec
29th Street 28.5 00 min 29 sec
30th Street 31.7 00 min 32 sec
33rd Street 34.3 00 min 34 sec
38th Street 36.2 00 min 36 sec

Foothills Parkway 29.2 00 min 29 sec
48th Street 36.1 00 min 36 sec

Commerce St/Eisenhower Dr 37.8 00 min 38 sec
Conestoga Street 36.8 00 min 37 sec

55th Street 14.3 00 min 14 sec
Cherryvale Road 41.2 00 min 41 sec

63rd Street 38.5 00 min 38 sec
65th Street 37.3 00 min 37 sec
75th Street 39.2 00 min 39 sec

75th Street n/a n/a
65th Street 39.9 00 min 40 sec
63rd Street 36.8 00 min 37 sec

Cherryvale Road 41.1 00 min 41 sec
55th Street 32.0 00 min 32 sec

Conestoga Street 33.3 00 min 33 sec
Commerce St/Eisenhower Dr 41.8 00 min 42 sec

48th Street 40.1 00 min 40 sec
Foothills Parkway 34.4 00 min 34 sec

38th Street 36.1 00 min 36 sec
33rd Street 34.1 00 min 34 sec
30th Street 25.3 00 min 25 sec
29th Street 28.7 00 min 29 sec
28th Street 10.1 00 min 10 sec
26th Street 27.2 00 min 27 sec

Folsom Street 19.9 00 min 20 sec
Naropa Ped Crossing 21.7 00 min 22 sec

19th Street 21.5 00 min 22 sec
17th Street 19.8 00 min 20 sec
15th Street 23.4 00 min 23 sec
Broadway 17.6 00 min 18 sec
9th Street 19.9 00 min 20 sec

Table II.9:  Drive Time and Speed Between Intersections, Arapahoe Avenue (2014)

Arapahoe Avenue
East

Arapahoe Avenue
West

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix II

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 399



Mean Speed
From Previous Mean Time
Intersections from

Street Intersection (mph) Previous Intersection

9th Street n/a n/a
Broadway 16.2 00 min 51 sec

13th Street 14.2 00 min 26 sec
19th Street 20.1 01 min 14 sec

Folsom Street 17.2 02 min 04 sec
28th Street 24.9 00 min 42 sec
30th Street 13.6 01 min 09 sec

Wilderness Place 27.3 00 min 46 sec
Foothills Parkway 12.5 01 min 08 sec

47th Street 28.3 00 min 12 sec
Airport Road 35.3 00 min 45 sec

55th Street 34.6 00 min 51 sec

55th Street n/a n/a
Airport Road 30.5 00 min 59 sec

47th Street 29.7 01 min 08 sec
Foothills Parkway 13.7 00 min 32 sec
Wilderness Place 29.0 00 min 19 sec

30th Street 23.3 01 min 02 sec
28th Street 21.8 00 min 49 sec

Folsom Street 11.7 01 min 22 sec
19th Street 19.3 01 min 48 sec
13th Street 21.5 01 min 09 sec
Broadway 12.5 00 min 41 sec
9th Street 19.8 00 min 36 sec

Table II.10:  Drive Time and Speed Between Intersections, Valmont Road (2014)

Valmont Road
East

Valmont Road
West

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix II

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 400



Mean Speed
From Previous Mean Time
Intersections from

Street Intersection (mph) Previous Intersection

Greenbriar Boulevard n/a n/a
Hanover Avenue 37.8 00 min 56 sec

Table Mesa Drive 19.4 01 min 08 sec
Dartmouth Avenue 38.1 00 min 42 sec

27th Way 34.2 01 min 02 sec
Baseline Road 27.7 00 min 44 sec

Regent Drive 29.6 00 min 44 sec
Euclid Avenue 23.7 00 min 44 sec

College Avenue 31.4 00 min 18 sec
Pennsylvania Avenue 24.8 00 min 20 sec

University Avenue 23.0 00 min 27 sec
Arapahoe Avenue 20.0 01 min 01 sec
Canyon Boulevard 12.0 00 min 58 sec

Walnut Street 24.0 00 min 13 sec
Pearl Street 19.8 00 min 22 sec

Spruce Street 21.1 00 min 20 sec
Pine Street 18.4 00 min 22 sec

North Street 25.5 00 min 45 sec
Alpine Avenue 27.7 00 min 12 sec

Balsam Avenue 23.7 00 min 19 sec
North Boulder Rec. 27.9 00 min 49 sec

Iris Avenue 19.3 01 min 06 sec
Linden Avenue 30.9 00 min 39 sec
Quince Avenue 28.8 01 min 04 sec

Violet Avenue 32.0 00 min 51 sec
Lee Hill Road 26.7 01 min 11 sec

Lee Hill Road n/a n/a
Violet Avenue 25.7 01 min 13 sec

Quince Avenue 30.9 00 min 55 sec
Linden Avenue 31.0 00 min 59 sec

Iris Avenue 27.4 00 min 44 sec
North Boulder Rec. 28.2 00 min 40 sec

Balsam Avenue 23.4 01 min 07 sec
Alpine Avenue 29.0 00 min 11 sec

North Street 30.8 00 min 09 sec
Pine Street 23.8 00 min 55 sec

Spruce Street 23.4 00 min 14 sec
Pearl Street 22.0 00 min 16 sec

Walnut Street 17.1 00 min 28 sec
Canyon Boulevard 12.7 00 min 38 sec
Arapahoe Avenue 21.9 00 min 26 sec
University Avenue 19.9 00 min 56 sec

Pennsylvania Avenue 25.1 00 min 20 sec
College Avenue 27.5 00 min 16 sec

Euclid Avenue 29.8 00 min 20 sec
Regent Drive 25.1 00 min 46 sec

Baseline Road 25.5 00 min 53 sec
27th Way 32.8 00 min 34 sec

Dartmouth Avenue 35.4 01 min 02 sec
Table Mesa Drive 28.9 01 min 04 sec
Hanover Avenue 38.9 00 min 26 sec

Greenbriar Boulevard 40.8 00 min 50 sec

Table II.11:  Drive Time and Speed Between Intersections, Broadway (2014)

Broadway 
North

Broadway 
South

Drive Time 2014 – Travel Time Report for Arapahoe, Valmont, and Broadway
City of Boulder

Appendix II

Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report

Packet Page 401



 

City of Boulder 

DRIVE TIME 2012 
Broadway • 28th Street • Foothills Parkway 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 

Fox Higgins Transportation Group, LLC 
and 

Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc. 
 

July 2013 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 402



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page i  
City of Boulder   

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0 Background ........................................................................................................... 1 

2.0 Comparison of Drive Time by Street ..................................................................... 2 

3.0 Comparison of Drive Times by Street and Direction ............................................. 5 

4.0 “Worst” Lights ...................................................................................................... 10 

5.0 Methodology ........................................................................................................ 11 

 
 
 
 

LIST OF TABLES 
 

Table 1 – Comparison of Broadway, 28th Street, and Foothills Parkway 
Table 2 – Comparison of Broadway North and South 
Table 3 – Comparison of 28th Street North and South 
Table 4 – Comparison of Foothills Parkway North and South 
Table 5 – “Worst” Lights 2012 
 
 

 
LIST OF FIGURES 

 
 
Figure 1 – Comparison of Total Trip Time and Time Stopped 
Figure 2 – 28th Street, % Change in Total Trip Times and Stopped Times from 1987 
Figure 3 – Broadway, % Change in Total Trip Times and Stopped Times from 1987 
Figure 4 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, Broadway Northbound 
Figure 5 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, Broadway Southbound 
Figure 6 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, 28th Street Northbound 
Figure 7 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, 28th Street Southbound 
Figure 8 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, Foothills Northbound 
Figure 9 – Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, Foothills Southbound 

 
 
 

Appendix I:  Drive Time Comparison for All North-South Years 
 
Appendix II:  Drive Time 2012 
 
 

 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 403



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 1  
City of Boulder   

1.0 Background 
 
A drive time study measuring the time it takes to get across town in Boulder during peak 
traffic hours (7:30am, 12:00 noon and 5:00 pm) has been performed each year since 
1986.  The purpose of these annual studies is to determine how congestion on the major 
arteries in Boulder is changing over time.  Historically, in even-numbered years, the 
north/south routes (Broadway, 28th Street, and recently Foothills Parkway) have been 
studied and in odd-numbered years, the east/west routes (Valmont and Arapahoe) have 
been studied (see Methodology section for exact routes).  The frequency of travel time 
and delay studies in the City has been reduced in the past few years due to budgetary 
constraints.  Thus, the previous east-west travel time evaluations were performed in 
2008.  Before 2004 these studies were performed by staff of the City of Boulder Audit 
and Evaluation Division. Since 2004, data has been collected by a consultant team 
consisting of the Fox Tuttle Transportation Group, LLC and Short Elliott Hendrickson, 
Inc.  Foothills Parkway was added to the data collection in 2006 as a third north-south 
corridor.   
 
This report focuses on the results from 2012 when the north-south routes of Broadway, 
28th Street, and Foothills Parkway were studied.  Appendix I contains comparison 
summaries of drive time information by street and direction for all years when data was 
collected.  Appendix II contains the results in detail for data collected in 2012.  Refer to 
older reports for detailed results of past study years. 
 
In 2004, a significant change in study methodology was made:  travel time runs were 
aborted any time there were conditions along the corridor that were considered atypical.  
This may have been due to construction, lane closures, traffic accidents, or severe 
weather.  Since these runs, which are typically much longer and experience greater 
delays, were removed from the data set, the average trip times in subsequent years are 
generally shorter than previous years.  For this reason, direct comparisons between new 
data and previous study years should be used with some caution.  The change in data 
collection methodology was made to provide a more direct evaluation of the 
performance of the corridor signal system by only collecting data in typical conditions.   
 
Note:  Prior to 2004, the north end of the travel time and delay study areas terminated at 
Violet Avenue along Broadway and at Kalmia Avenue along 28th Street.  Data collected 
in 2004 and since has extended both of these corridors:  north to Lee Hill Road along 
Broadway and north to Jay Road along 28th Street.  Where comparisons are made to 
pre-2004 data in this report, only the original study area segments were included in the 
calculations to provide a consistent basis for comparison. 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 404



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 2  
City of Boulder   

2.0 Comparison of Drive Time by Street 
 
The average trip times and the average time spent stopped (or “stopped time”) on 
Broadway, 28th Street, and Foothills Parkway over all of the years studied are displayed 
in Figure 1.  On both Broadway and 28th , total travel times and stopped times have 
increased steadily between 1986 and 1998, with a sharp increase between 1998 and 
2000.  After 2000, total trip times decreased steadily to a 12-year low-point in 2004.  
Recent data (2006, 2008, and 2012) shows similar rates of increase in travel and stop 
times as pre-1998 data.  There we no significant changes to travel or stopped times in 
2012.   
 
As discussed in previous reports, the Skunk Creek underpass project on Broadway and 
the Goose Creek underpass project on 28th Street may have contributed to the spike in 
2000.  The dip in 2004 was most likely due to a change in the study methodology which 
excluded travel time runs during atypical conditions (construction, lane closures, traffic 
accidents, severe weather).  The reduction in travel times in 2004 may also have been 
partially attributable to corridor signal timing and roadway improvements, completion of 
the Broadway reconstruction project between University Avenue & Pine Street (both 
from decreases in construction-related delays and some diversion of traffic to other 
parallel corridors), and overall decrease in traffic volumes on these corridors than in 
previous years.  More recently on 28th Street, the completion of improvements at the Iris 
intersection have likely contributed to the decreased in travel times along this corridor. 
 

 
Table 1 shows the mean trip times, mean time spent stopped, and the mean percent of 
time spent stopped by year.  Differences between each study year and the first year of 
data collection (1986 for Broadway and 28th Street, 2006 for Foothills) are also provided. 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 405



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 3  
City of Boulder   

Table 1 
Comparison of Broadway, 28th Street, and Foothills Parkway 

Mean Total Trip Time, Mean Total Time Stopped, and Mean Percent of Time Stopped 

Street Year 

Mean Total Trip Time Mean Total Time Stopped Mean % of Time Stopped 

Trip Time Difference from 
1986 Time Stopped Difference from 

1986 
Percent of 

Time Stopped 
Difference 
from 1986 

Broadway 

1986 13 min 56 sec n/a 02 min 02 sec n/a 14% n/a 

1988 14 min 33 sec +  00 min 37 sec 02 min 25 sec +  00 min 23 sec 16% + 2% 

1990 14 min 30 sec +  00 min 34 sec 02 min 35 sec +  00 min 33 sec 18% + 4% 

1992 14 min 47 sec +  00 min 51 sec 03 min 42 sec +  01 min 40 sec 24% + 10% 

1994 15 min 22 sec +  01 min 26 sec 03 min 28 sec +  01 min 26 sec 22% + 8% 

1996 15 min 06 sec +  01 min 10 sec 03 min 29 sec +  01 min 27 sec 23% + 9% 

1998 15 min 09 sec +  01 min 13 sec 03 min 57 sec +  01 min 55 sec 26% + 12% 

2000 18 min 20 sec +  04 min 24 sec 07 min 34 sec +  05 min 32 sec 38% + 24% 

2002 17 min 49 sec +  03 min 53 sec 06 min 33 sec +  04 min 31 sec 35% + 21% 

2004 15 min 01 sec +  01 min 05 sec 03 min 17 sec +  01 min 15 sec 21% + 7% 

2006 15 min 19 sec +  01 min 23 sec 02 min 50 sec +  00 min 48 sec 18% + 4% 

2008 16 min 14 sec +  02 min 18 sec 04 min 12 sec +  02 min 10 sec 25% + 11% 

2012 15 min 36 sec +  01 min 40 sec 03 min 24 sec +  01 min 22 sec 21% + 7% 

28th Street 

1986 09 min 07 sec n/a 01 min 43 sec n/a 18% n/a 

1988 08 min 49 sec -  00 min 18 sec 01 min 25 sec -  00 min 18 sec 16% - 2% 

1990 09 min 24 sec +  00 min 17 sec 02 min 22 sec +  00 min 39 sec 24% + 6% 

1992 09 min 55 sec +  00 min 48 sec 02 min 22 sec +  00 min 39 sec 23% + 5% 

1994 09 min 57 sec +  00 min 50 sec 02 min 52 sec +  01 min 09 sec 26% + 8% 

1996 10 min 19 sec +  01 min 12 sec 03 min 13 sec +  01 min 30 sec 30% + 12% 

1998 10 min 27 sec +  01 min 20 sec 03 min 46 sec +  02 min 03 sec 32% + 14% 

2000 14 min 56 sec +  05 min 49 sec 05 min 16 sec +  03 min 33 sec 32% + 14% 

2002 14 min 05 sec +  04 min 58 sec 04 min 13 sec +  02 min 30 sec 28% + 10% 

2004 08 min 42 sec -  00 min 25 sec 01 min 35 sec -  00 min 08 sec 16% - 2% 

2006 10 min 51 sec +  01 min 44 sec 03 min 24 sec +  01 min 41 sec 29% + 11% 

2008 09 min 00 sec -  00 min 07 sec 02 min 09 sec +  00 min 26 sec 22% + 4% 

2012 09 min 34 sec -  00 min 27 sec 02 min 34 sec +  00 min 51 sec 25% + 7% 

Foothills 
Pkwy 

**** No data prior to 2006 **** 

2006 07 min 04 sec   n/a 01 min 38 sec   n/a 20%   n/a 

2008 06 min 21 sec -  00 min 43 sec 01 min 04 sec -  00 min 34 sec 16% - 4% 

2012 06 min 38 sec -  00 min 26 sec 01 min 07 sec -  00 min 31 sec 15% + 5% 

 
 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 406



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 4  
City of Boulder   

Figure 2 and Figure 3 show the percent change in mean total trip times and stopped 
times since 1986.   

 

 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 407



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 5  
City of Boulder   

3.0 Comparison of Drive Times by Street and Direction 
 
Mean trip time, time stopped, and percent of time stopped were examined for each 
street by direction.  Table 2 provides a summary of Mean Total Trip Time, Mean Total 
Stopped Time, and Mean % of Time Stopped for Broadway by direction.  Figure 4 and 
Figure 5 (on the following page) provide an historic breakdown of mean travel times 
between nodes, to provide some sense of where the changes in travel time have 
occurred within the corridor over time.  Note: node data is only available for years in 
which the GPS data collection has been used (2004 to present). 

Table 2 
Comparison of Broadway North and South 

Mean Total Trip Time, Mean Total Time Stopped, and Mean Percent of Time Stopped 

Street Year 

Mean Total Trip Time Mean Total Time Stopped Mean % of Time Stopped 

Trip Time Difference from 
1986 Time Stopped Difference from 

1986 
Percent of 

Time Stopped 
Difference 
from 1986 

Broadway 
North 

1986 13 min 43 sec n/a 01 min 46 sec n/a 12% n/a 

1988 15 min 24 sec +  01 min 41 sec 02 min 57 sec +  01 min 11 sec 18% + 6% 

1990 14 min 53 sec +  01 min 10 sec 02 min 50 sec +  01 min 04 sec 19% + 7% 

1992 15 min 20 sec +  01 min 37 sec 03 min 51 sec +  02 min 05 sec 23% + 11% 

1994 15 min 52 sec +  02 min 09 sec 03 min 46 sec +  02 min 00 sec 23% + 11% 

1996 15 min 39 sec +  01 min 56 sec 03 min 52 sec +  02 min 06 sec 24% + 12% 

1998 15 min 09 sec +  01 min 26 sec 04 min 02 sec +  02 min 16 sec 27% + 15% 

2000 18 min 29 sec +  04 min 46 sec 07 min 26 sec +  05 min 40 sec 37% + 25% 

2002 18 min 45 sec +  05 min 02 sec 07 min 02 sec +  05 min 16 sec 37% + 25% 

2004 15 min 51 sec +  02 min 08 sec 03 min 46 sec +  02 min 00 sec 23% + 11% 

2006 16 min 00 sec +  02 min 17 sec 03 min 06 sec +  01 min 20 sec 19% + 7% 

2008 17 min 08 sec +  03 min 25 sec 05 min 08 sec +  03 min 22 sec 28% + 16% 

2012 16 min 20 sec +  02 min 37 sec 04 min 03 sec +  02 min 17 sec 24% + 12% 

Broadway 
South 

1986 14 min 08 sec n/a 02 min 19 sec n/a 16% n/a 

1988 13 min 42 sec -  00 min 26 sec 01 min 54 sec -  00 min 25 sec 14% - 2% 

1990 14 min 08 sec -  00 min 00 sec 02 min 20 sec +  00 min 01 sec 16% - 0% 

1992 14 min 15 sec +  00 min 07 sec 03 min 33 sec +  01 min 14 sec 25% + 9% 

1994 14 min 52 sec +  00 min 44 sec 03 min 10 sec +  00 min 51 sec 21% + 5% 

1996 14 min 34 sec +  00 min 26 sec 03 min 05 sec +  00 min 46 sec 21% + 5% 

1998 15 min 10 sec +  01 min 02 sec 03 min 53 sec +  01 min 34 sec 25% + 9% 

2000 18 min 11 sec +  04 min 03 sec 07 min 43 sec +  05 min 24 sec 40% + 24% 

2002 16 min 59 sec +  02 min 51 sec 06 min 04 sec +  03 min 45 sec 34% + 18% 

2004 14 min 05 sec -  00 min 03 sec 02 min 43 sec +  00 min 24 sec 19% + 3% 

2006 14 min 33 sec +  00 min 25 sec 02 min 32 sec +  00 min 13 sec 17% + 1% 

2008 15 min 19 sec +  01 min 11 sec 03 min 16 sec +  00 min 57 sec 21% + 5% 

2012 14 min 51 sec +  00 min 43 sec 02 min 46 sec +  00 min 27 sec 18% + 2% 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 408



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 6  
City of Boulder   

Figure 4.  Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, Broadway Northbound 
(2012 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

 
 

Figure 5.  Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, Broadway Southbound 
(2012 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

 
 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 409



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 7  
City of Boulder   

Table 3 provides a summary of Mean Total Trip Time, Mean Total Stopped Time, and 
Mean % of Time Stopped for 28th Street by direction.  Figure 6 and Figure 7 (on the 
following page) provide an historic breakdown of mean travel times between nodes, to 
provide some sense of where the changes in travel time have occurred within the 
corridor over time.  Note: node data is only available for years in which the GPS data 
collection has been used (2004 to present). 
 

Table 3 
Comparison of 28th Street North and South 

Mean Total Trip Time, Mean Total Time Stopped, and Mean Percent of Time Stopped 

Street Year 

Mean Total Trip Time Mean Total Time Stopped Mean % of Time Stopped 

Trip Time Difference from 
1986 Time Stopped Difference from 

1986 
Percent of 

Time 
Stopped 

Difference 
from 1986 

28th 
Street 
North 

1986 08 min 51 sec n/a 01 min 27 sec n/a 16% n/a 

1988 09 min 04 sec +  00 min 13 sec 01 min 31 sec +  00 min 04 sec 16% - 0% 

1990 08 min 59 sec +  00 min 08 sec 01 min 58 sec +  00 min 31 sec 21% + 5% 

1992 09 min 42 sec +  00 min 51 sec 01 min 56 sec +  00 min 29 sec 20% + 4% 

1994 09 min 22 sec +  00 min 31 sec 02 min 32 sec +  01 min 05 sec 22% + 6% 

1996 10 min 00 sec +  01 min 09 sec 02 min 59 sec +  01 min 32 sec 28% + 12% 

1998 11 min 03 sec +  02 min 12 sec 04 min 24 sec +  02 min 57 sec 34% + 18% 

2000 15 min 10 sec +  06 min 19 sec 05 min 37 sec +  04 min 10 sec 34% + 18% 

2002 13 min 46 sec +  04 min 55 sec 03 min 58 sec +  02 min 31 sec 27% + 11% 

2004 08 min 21 sec -  00 min 30 sec 01 min 21 sec -  00 min 06 sec 15% - 1% 

2006 10 min 36 sec +  01 min 45 sec 03 min 35 sec +  02 min 08 sec 31% + 15% 

2008 09 min 16 sec +  00 min 25 sec 02 min 17 sec +  00 min 50 sec 23% + 7% 

2012 09 min 53 sec +  01 min 02 sec 02 min 45 sec +  01 min 18 sec 26% + 10% 

28th 
Street 
South 

1986 09 min 24 sec n/a 01 min 58 sec n/a 20% n/a 

1988 08 min 33 sec -  00 min 51 sec 01 min 19 sec -  00 min 39 sec 15% - 5% 

1990 09 min 50 sec +  00 min 26 sec 02 min 46 sec +  00 min 48 sec 26% + 6% 

1992 10 min 08 sec +  00 min 44 sec 02 min 48 sec +  00 min 50 sec 27% + 7% 

1994 10 min 33 sec +  01 min 09 sec 03 min 13 sec +  01 min 15 sec 29% + 9% 

1996 10 min 40 sec +  01 min 16 sec 03 min 26 sec +  01 min 28 sec 31% + 11% 

1998 09 min 51 sec +  00 min 27 sec 03 min 07 sec +  01 min 09 sec 30% + 10% 

2000 14 min 43 sec +  05 min 19 sec 04 min 54 sec +  02 min 56 sec 31% + 11% 

2002 14 min 26 sec +  05 min 02 sec 04 min 28 sec +  02 min 30 sec 28% + 8% 

2004 09 min 00 sec -  00 min 24 sec 01 min 48 sec -  00 min 10 sec 17% - 3% 

2006 10 min 11 sec +  00 min 47 sec 03 min 06 sec +  01 min 08 sec 29% + 9% 

2008 08 min 43 sec -  00 min 41 sec 02 min 00 sec +  00 min 02 sec 22% + 2% 

2012 09 min 15 sec -  00 min 09 sec 02 min 23 sec +  00 min 25 sec 24% + 4% 

 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 410



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 8  
City of Boulder   

Figure 6.  Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, 28th Street Northbound 
(2012 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

 
Figure 7 .  Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, 28th Street Southbound 

(2012 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 411



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 9  
City of Boulder   

The 2012 data for the Foothills Parkway corridor is summarized in Table 4, below, with 
comparisons to 2006 (the first year that the Foothills Parkway corridor was studied). 
Figure 8 and Figure 9 provide an historic breakdown of mean travel times between 
nodes, to provide some sense of where the changes in travel time have occurred within 
the corridor data years. 
 

Table 4 
Comparison of Foothills Pkwy North and South 

Mean Total Trip Time, Mean Total Time Stopped, and Mean Percent of Time Stopped 

Street Year 

Mean Total Trip Time Mean Total Time Stopped Mean % of Time Stopped 

Trip Time Difference from 
1986 Time Stopped Difference from 

1986 
Percent of 

Time Stopped 
Difference 
from 1986 

Foothills 
North 

**** No data prior to 2006 **** 

2006 06 min 24 sec   n/a 01 min 10 sec   n/a 17%   n/a 

2008 06 min 15 sec -  00 min 09 sec 01 min 10 sec -  00 min 00 sec 17% - 0% 

2012 06 min 31 sec +  00 min 07 sec 01 min 13 sec +  00 min 03 sec 17% - 0% 

Foothills 
South 

**** No data prior to 2006 **** 

2006 07 min 45 sec   n/a 02 min 07 sec   n/a 23%   n/a 

2008 06 min 28 sec -  01 min 17 sec 00 min 59 sec -  01 min 08 sec 14% - 9% 

2012 06 min 45 sec -  01 min 00 sec 01 min 01 sec -  01 min 06 sec 14% - 9% 

 
 

Figure 8.  Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, Foothills Northbound 
(2012 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 412



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 10  
City of Boulder   

Figure 9.  Historic Travel Time from Previous Node, Foothills Southbound 
(2012 data in Green, Previous Years in Grey) 

4.0 “Worst” Lights 
 
Each year, the data collected in the Drive Time study are used to determine the ten most 
frequently stopped-at traffic signals in a given year.  These results are categorized into a 
“ten worst” lights list (worst lights by chance of hitting the red traffic light).  Appendix II 
displays the complete list along with lists of the “ten best” lights. 
 
As shown in Table 5 below, a red light was experienced during all northbound runs at 
the Iris & Broadway intersection.  This was the “worst” light with respect to chances of 
hitting a red light.    
 

Table 5 - "Worst" Lights 2012 
Worst Lights by Chance of Hitting the Traffic Light 

Intersection, Direction 
Mean Chance 

in 2012 
    
Foothills @ Valmont, Southbound 87% 
28th @ Colorado, Northbound 80% 
28th @ Canyon, Southbound 80% 
Broadway @ Arapahoe, Northbound 80% 
Broadway @ University, Southbound 80% 
Broadway @ Table Mesa, Northbound 73% 
28th @ Arapahoe, Northbound 67% 
28th @ Iris/Diagonal, Northbound 67% 
28th @ Iris/Diagonal, Southbound 67% 
Broadway @ Iris, Northbound 67% 
    

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 413



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 11  
City of Boulder   

5.0 Methodology 
 
A similar methodology is used every year for the drive time studies, although the routes 
alternate from north/south to east/west.  In 2004, a new data collection methodology was 
adopted which utilizes a hand-held GPS device, a laptop computer, and TS-PP Draft 
software to record the travel time and delay data.  This replaced the manual stop-watch 
method previously used by City staff from 1986 to 2003.  Both the old and new methods 
involve one person who operates the vehicle and performs the data collection 
simultaneously.  In contrast to the old method, however, the new GPS/laptop method 
does not require any effort on the part of the driver once the study has begun. 
 
GPS coordinates for each traffic signal were mapped into the TS-PP Draft software prior 
to beginning travel time runs for the new year.  Since there is an inherent margin of error 
in the GPS locations, several mapping runs were performed along each of the corridors 
to provide the most accurate locations possible.  Even so, there is generally a margin of 
error of 15 feet in all calculations.  However, over many runs, the significance of these 
errors is diminished.   
 
In 2012, 30 total runs were performed on each of the three study corridors per year, with 
one corridor being studied in both directions during a signal outing (15 runs per direction 
per corridor per year).   Trips are made at 7:30 am, 12:00 noon, or 5:00 pm to 
correspond with peak traffic periods.  During an outing, a trip is made in one direction 
and then back in the opposite direction on the same corridor.  Prior to 2006, 60 runs 
were performed on each corridor per year.  Standard deviation calculations indicate that 
the reduced number of runs has not affected annual result tabulations.  
 
Previous to 2004, it is believed that travel time runs were collected by the City of Boulder 
on each corridor regardless of roadway construction, traffic accidents, severe weather, 
and all other factors.  Travel time runs were not aborted under any of these conditions.  
Since 2004, this practice has been changed.  Now, travel time runs are aborted if there 
any uncommon conditions that would cause delays typically not experienced along the 
corridor.  This change was made to provide a more useful evaluation of the corridor 
signal system under the conditions it is designed to operate.  Since lane closures, 
construction, accidents, etc. are special circumstances which significantly affect traffic 
flow, speeds, and delays, incorporating these conditions into the data set disables the 
ability to effectively evaluate corridor timing plans. 
 
Routes 
 
The endpoints of the timed portion Broadway are Greenbriar Blvd. on the north and Lee 
Hill Road on the north.  Prior to 2004, the north end of the timing runs terminated at 
Violet Avenue.  For this reason, the data from Violet Avenue to Lee Hill Road is excluded 
from historical comparisons. 
 
The timed segment of 28th Street extends from Table Mesa on the south to Jay Road on 
the north.  The data from Kalmia Avenue to Jay Road is not included in historical 
comparisons since this section was only recently added in 2004.   
 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 414



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 12  
City of Boulder   

The Foothills Parkway corridor, added in 2006, extends from South Boulder Road on the 
south to Iris / Diagonal on the north.  Figure 10 provides a map showing the three north-
south corridor study limits and signalized intersections. 
 

Figure 10.  North-South Corridor Study Limits 

Study Corridor
KEY

Study Corridor Traffic Signal
Study Corridor (Data Excluded for Historical Comparison )

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 415



 

 
Drive Time 2012 – Travel Time Report for North-South Corridors Page 13  
City of Boulder   

Drive Time Map for North-South Routes 
 

Broadway:

Gree
nb

ria
r B

lvd
.

Han
ov

er 
Ave

.

Ta
ble

 M
es

a D
r.

Dart
mou

th 
Ave

.

NIST
27

th 
Way

Reg
en

t D
r.

Euc
lid

 Ave
.

Coll
eg

e A
ve

.

Plea
sa

nt 
St. 

(P
ed

)

Univ
ers

ity
 Ave

.

Arap
ah

oe
 Ave

.

Can
yo

n B
lvd

.

Waln
ut 

St.

Spru
ce

 St.

Pine
 St.

Port
lan

d P
l. 

(P
ed

)

Pea
rl S

t. 
(P

ed
)

Start /
Finish

Start /
Finish

Nort
h S

t.

Alpi
ne

 Ave
.

Bals
am

 Ave
.

Ced
ar/

Dell
woo

d 
(P

ed
)

N. B
ldr

. R
ec

 C
en

ter

Iris
 Ave

.

Quin
ce

 Ave
.

Lin
de

n A
ve

.

Viol
et 

Ave
.

Le
e H

ill R
d.

28th Street:

Ta
ble

 M
es

a D
r.

Colo
rad

o A
ve

.

Arap
ah

oe
 Ave

.

Can
yo

n B
lvd

.

Waln
ut 

St.

Pea
rl S

t.

Map
let

on
 Ave

.

Valm
on

t R
d.

Glen
woo

d D
r.

Iris
 Ave

.

Kalm
ia 

Ave
.

Palo
 Pkw

y

Ja
y R

d.

Start /
Finish

Start /
Finish

Foothills Pkwy:

Sou
th 

Bou
lde

r R
d. 

(S
B)

Bas
eli

ne
 R

d.

Colo
rad

o A
ve

.

Arap
ah

oe
 Ave

.

Valm
on

t R
d.

Iris
 / D

iag
on

al 
(N

B)

Start /
Finish

Start /
Finish

 
 

Weighting 
 
In 1992, 1993, and 2004 not all the scheduled drive time trips for the year were 
completed.  In 1992 there was a major construction project on Broadway which if 
included in the study would unfairly bias the results for 1992.  In 1993, 
misunderstandings with research assistants resulted in missed trips.  In 2004, budget 
constraints resulted in no data collected for the first four months of the year.  Thus, to 
compensate for the missing data, the results were weighted statistically. 
 
The data were weighted by street driven, direction of trip, and start time so that there 
were an equal number of trips in each direction on each street for each time of day 
across all the years.  This counterbalances the effect these variables may have on the 
average trip time.   

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 416



 

   

Appendix I:  Drive Time Comparison for All North-South Years 
 
 
 
 

Table I-1 Comparison of Drive Time by Street across All Years 
 
Table I-2 Comparison of Drive Time by Street and Direction across All Years 
 
Table I-3 Mean Time Stopped at Four Boulder Intersections 
 
Table I-4 Probability of Being Stopped at Four Boulder Intersections

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 417



Street Year Distance Mean Total Trip 
Time

Mean Speed 
(mph)

Total Stops 
Possible at 

Signals (NB/SB)

Mean Number 
of Stops

Mean Total 
Time Stopped

Mean Percent 
of Time 
Stopped

Number 
of Trips

1986 6.0 miles 13 min 56 sec 26.2 22 6.4 02 min 02 sec 14% 54

1988 6.0 miles 14 min 33 sec 25.3 22 6.1 02 min 25 sec 16% 41

1990 6.0 miles 14 min 30 sec 25.1 22 5.9 02 min 35 sec 18% 57

1992 6.0 miles 14 min 47 sec 25.0 22 / 21 6.5 03 min 42 sec 24% 47

1994 6.0 miles 15 min 22 sec 23.7 21 / 22 / 23 6.7 03 min 28 sec 22% 57

1996 6.0 miles 15 min 06 sec 24.2 24 / 23 6.9 03 min 29 sec 23% 59

1998 6.0 miles 15 min 09 sec 24.0 22 / 23 7.1 03 min 57 sec 26% 61

2000 6.0 miles 18 min 20 sec 21.4 23 10.2 07 min 34 sec 38% 59

2002 6.0 miles 17 min 49 sec 28.1 24 8.6 06 min 33 sec 35% 60

2004 6.2 miles 15 min 01 sec 25.1 24 / 25 7.6 03 min 17 sec 21% 28

2006 6.2 miles 15 min 19 sec 24.9 24 / 25 7.1 02 min 50 sec 18% 28

2008 6.2 miles 16 min 14 sec 26.2 24 / 25 7.5 04 min 12 sec 25% 30

2012 6.2 miles 15 min 36 sec 26.1 26* 7.5 03 min 24 sec 21% 30

1986 4.0 miles 09 min 07 sec 26.9 8 3.8 01 min 43 sec 18% 56

1988 4.0 miles 08 min 49 sec 27.7 8 3.0 01 min 25 sec 16% 40

1990 4.0 miles 09 min 24 sec 26.2 8 3.4 02 min 22 sec 24% 57

1992 4.0 miles 09 min 55 sec 25.0 8 3.5 02 min 22 sec 23% 47

1994 4.0 miles 09 min 57 sec 24.7 8 3.7 02 min 52 sec 26% 57

1996 4.0 miles 10 min 19 sec 24.0 8 4.2 03 min 13 sec 30% 59

1998 4.0 miles 10 min 27 sec 24.0 8 4.2 03 min 46 sec 32% 61

2000 4.0 miles 14 min 56 sec 17.6 8 / 9 5.1 05 min 16 sec 32% 59

2002 4.0 miles 14 min 05 sec 23.9 9 4.0 04 min 13 sec 28% 60

2004 4.4 miles 08 min 42 sec 28.5 9 2.8 01 min 35 sec 17% 19

2006 4.4 miles 10 min 25 sec 26.8 9 4.9 03 min 28 sec 28% 36

2008 4.4 miles 09 min 00 sec 29.9 9 3.7 02 min 09 sec 22% 30

2012 4.4 miles 09 min 34 sec 28.8 9 4.6 02 min 34 sec 25% 30

2006 3.5 miles 07 min 29 sec 35.1 5 2.4 01 min 38 sec 20% 30

2008 3.5 miles 06 min 21 sec 36.2 5 2.0 01 min 04 sec 16% 30

2012 3.5 miles 06 min 28 sec 35.4 5 2.2 01 min 07 sec 15% 30

*  Additional signals (potential stops) at 18th (NB and SB), 17th (NB & SB), and Euclid (NB only) were added in 2012 with the completion of the Broadway (Euclid to 
18th) transportation improvements project.

Table I-1
Comparison of Drive Time by Street Across all Years

Broadway

28th Street

Foothills 
Pkwy

**** No data prior to 2006 ****

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 418



Street Year Distance Mean Total Trip 
Time

Mean Speed 
(mph)

Total Stops 
Possible at 

Signals

Mean Number 
of Stops

Mean Total 
Time Stopped

Mean Percent 
of Time 
Stopped

Number 
of Trips

1986 6.0 miles 13 min 43 sec 26.6 22 5.5 01 min 46 sec 12% 27

1988 6.0 miles 15 min 24 sec 24.0 2 6.6 02 min 57 sec 18% 19

1990 6.0 miles 14 min 53 sec 24.5 22 6.0 02 min 50 sec 19% 30

1992 6.0 miles 15 min 20 sec 24.1 22 / 21 6.2 03 min 51 sec 23% 28

1994 6.0 miles 15 min 52 sec 23.0 21 / 22 7.1 03 min 46 sec 23% 30

1996 6.0 miles 15 min 39 sec 23.4 23 7.1 03 min 52 sec 24% 29

1998 6.0 miles 15 min 09 sec 24.0 23 7.0 04 min 02 sec 27% 33

2000 6.0 miles 18 min 29 sec 20.8 24 10.0 07 min 26 sec 37% 31

2002 6.0 miles 18 min 45 sec 26.8 24 9.2 07 min 02 sec 37% 30

2004 6.2 miles 15 min 51 sec 24.2 24 8.8 03 min 46 sec 23% 15

2006 6.2 miles 16 min 00 sec 24.8 24 8.2 03 min 06 sec 18% 15

2008 6.2 miles 17 min 08 sec 25.7 24 8.3 05 min 08 sec 28% 15

2012 6.2 miles 16 min 20 sec 25.4 26 8.1 04 min 03 sec 24% 15

1986 6.0 miles 14 min 08 sec 25.8 22 7.3 02 min 19 sec 16% 27

1988 6.0 miles 13 min 42 sec 26.5 22 5.6 01 min 54 sec 14% 22

1990 6.0 miles 14 min 08 sec 25.7 22 5.7 02 min 20 sec 16% 27

1992 6.0 miles 14 min 15 sec 25.9 22 6.8 03 min 33 sec 25% 19

1994 6.0 miles 14 min 52 sec 24.5 22 / 23 6.3 03 min 10 sec 21% 27

1996 6.0 miles 14 min 34 sec 24.9 24 6.7 03 min 05 sec 21% 30

1998 6.0 miles 15 min 10 sec 24.1 24 7.3 03 min 53 sec 25% 28

2000 6.0 miles 18 min 11 sec 22.0 24 10.4 07 min 43 sec 40% 28

2002 6.0 miles 16 min 59 sec 29.3 24 7.6 06 min 04 sec 34% 30

2004 6.2 miles 14 min 05 sec 26.1 25 6.2 02 min 43 sec 19% 13

2006 6.2 miles 14 min 33 sec 25.0 25 5.8 02 min 32 sec 17% 13

2008 6.2 miles 15 min 19 sec 26.7 25 6.5 03 min 16 sec 21% 15

2012 6.2 miles 14 min 51 sec 26.7 26 7.0 02 min 46 sec 18% 15

Table I-2a
Comparison of Drive Time by Street and Direction Across all Years

Broadway   
North

Broadway  
South

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 419



Street Year Distance Mean Total Trip 
Time

Mean Speed 
(mph)

Total Stops 
Possible at 

Signals

Mean 
Number of 

Stops

Mean Total 
Time Stopped

Mean Percent 
of Time 
Stopped

Number 
of Trips

1986 4.0 miles 08 min 51 sec 27.5 8 3.7 01 min 27 sec 16% 28

1988 4.0 miles 09 min 04 sec 27.0 8 3.3 01 min 31 sec 16% 23

1990 4.0 miles 08 min 59 sec 27.1 8 2.9 01 min 58 sec 21% 27

1992 4.0 miles 09 min 42 sec 25.6 8 3.3 01 min 56 sec 20% 20

1994 4.0 miles 09 min 22 sec 26.1 8 3.1 02 min 32 sec 22% 26

1996 4.0 miles 10 min 00 sec 25.0 8 4.1 02 min 59 sec 28% 31

1998 4.0 miles 11 min 03 sec 23.8 8 4.2 04 min 24 sec 34% 26

2000 4.0 miles 15 min 10 sec 17.2 8 / 9 5.3 05 min 16 sec 34% 27

2002 4.0 miles 13 min 46 sec 26.8 9 3.7 03 min 58 sec 27% 30

2004 4.4 miles 08 min 21 sec 32.4 9 2.3 01 min 21 sec 15% 9

2006 4.4 miles 10 min 36 sec 27.2 9 5.1 03 min 35 sec 31% 20

2008 4.4 miles 09 min 16 sec 29.8 9 4.1 02 min 17 sec 23% 15

2012 4.4 miles 09 min 53 sec 29.2 9 4.7 02 min 45 sec 26% 15

1986 4.0 miles 09 min 24 sec 26.2 8 3.8 01 min 58 sec 20% 28

1988 4.0 miles 08 min 33 sec 28.3 8 2.6 01 min 19 sec 15% 17

1990 4.0 miles 09 min 50 sec 25.4 8 3.8 02 min 46 sec 26% 30

1992 4.0 miles 10 min 08 sec 24.5 8 3.7 02 min 48 sec 27% 27

1994 4.0 miles 10 min 33 sec 23.4 8 4.4 03 min 13 sec 29% 31

1996 4.0 miles 10 min 40 sec 23.1 8 4.4 03 min 26 sec 31% 28

1998 4.0 miles 09 min 51 sec 25.0 8 4.1 03 min 07 sec 30% 35

2000 4.0 miles 14 min 43 sec 18.1 8 / 9 4.9 05 min 14 sec 31% 32

2002 4.0 miles 14 min 26 sec 28.2 9 4.4 04 min 28 sec 28% 30

2004 4.4 miles 09 min 00 sec 25.1 9 3.2 01 min 48 sec 17% 11

2006 4.4 miles 10 min 11 sec 26.2 9 4.7 03 min 06 sec 29% 16

2008 4.4 miles 08 min 43 sec 30.0 9 3.3 03 min 06 sec 29% 15

2012 4.4 miles 09 min 15 sec 28.5 9 4.5 02 min 23 sec 24% 15

Street Year Distance Mean Total Trip 
Time

Mean Speed 
(mph)

Total Stops 
Possible at 

Signals

Mean 
Number of 

Stops

Mean Total 
Time Stopped

Mean Percent 
of Time 
Stopped

Number 
of Trips

2006 3.5 miles 06 min 24 sec 37.1 5 1.9 01 min 10 sec 17% 15

2008 3.5 miles 06 min 15 sec 37.5 5 1.8 01 min 10 sec 17% 15

2012 3.5 miles 06 min 31 sec 36.3 5 1.9 01 min 13 sec 17% 15

2006 3.5 miles 07 min 45 sec 33.1 5 2.9 02 min 07 sec 23% 15

2008 3.5 miles 06 min 28 sec 35.0 5 2.3 00 min 59 sec 15% 15

2012 3.5 miles 06 min 45 sec 34.5 5 2.4 01 min 01 sec 14% 15

Foothills 
South

**** No data prior to 2006 ****

Table I-2c
Comparison of Drive Time by Street and Direction Across all Years

Table I-2b
Comparison of Drive Time by Street and Direction Across all Years

28th Street   
North

28th Street  
South

Foothills 
North

**** No data prior to 2006 ****

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 420



1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2010 2012 Mean
East 45 41 45 34 41 40 75 37 35 54 26 47 43
West 44 38 46 46 36 36 61 37 34 35 39 36 41
North 7 27 35 56 22 32 47 54 74 38 29 52 38 39
South 31 20 21 18 34 43 42 55 69 41 45 35 49 39
East 28 23 31 25 29 30 31 33 32 39 42 37 32
West 30 30 32 30 29 36 34 30 31 41 36 36 33
North 12 22 28 26 27 28 29 31 51 33 19 0 28 26
South 13 11 31 26 28 22 28 29 64 23 17 29 15 26
East 38 54 43 51 39 52 66 46 43 58 62 58 51
West 61 64 62 66 48 48 64 49 47 40 49 53 54
North 27 27 37 38 50 38 52 51 65 50 84 70 77 51
South 38 36 65 71 56 58 61 61 59 29 50 38 31 50
East 39 50 40 30 41 34 59 39 37 48 79 38 45
West 41 54 39 64 42 47 56 41 40 55 74 60 51
North 20 21 37 47 43 43 72 71 56 38 47 33 58 45
South 26 26 37 39 34 36 47 47 53 37 44 39 40 39

1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2010 2012 Mean
East 90% 81% 82% 87% 82% 97% 62% 45% 43% 76% 50% 53% 71%
West 77% 86% 77% 56% 70% 88% 93% 42% 41% 67% 93% 73% 72%
North 15% 42% 13% 54% 27% 59% 61% 66% 77% 80% 80% 67% 80% 55%
South 26% 36% 37% 47% 33% 60% 61% 88% 76% 15% 23% 20% 27% 42%
East 77% 76% 65% 38% 76% 79% 68% 28% 27% 85% 63% 80% 64%
West 81% 93% 79% 71% 83% 75% 80% 28% 26% 88% 93% 67% 72%
North 26% 26% 33% 36% 33% 31% 30% 36% 27% 33% 40% 0% 53% 31%
South 41% 9% 41% 42% 56% 50% 50% 28% 23% 62% 38% 40% 60% 42%
East 33% 52% 68% 73% 71% 68% 69% 43% 41% 72% 88% 73% 63%
West 18% 48% 58% 78% 64% 48% 38% 43% 40% 50% 53% 53% 49%
North 75% 61% 81% 75% 65% 71% 77% 86% 70% 33% 80% 40% 67% 68%
South 93% 82% 67% 67% 77% 75% 77% 67% 56% 53% 63% 47% 47% 67%
East 68% 81% 84% 100% 88% 83% 71% 25% 24% 54% 50% 47% 65%
West 90% 81% 82% 64% 72% 75% 57% 32% 31% 65% 53% 60% 64%
North 61% 22% 44% 40% 54% 58% 65% 81% 86% 40% 55% 60% 47% 55%
South 89% 71% 67% 63% 74% 50% 54% 86% 83% 13% 19% 13% 33% 55%

28th Street  
and   

Arapahoe

28th Street  
and   Valmont

Table I-4

Intersection Direction Chance of Stopping at the Intersection (percent)

Broadway 
and Arapahoe

Broadway 
and     

Balsam

Mean Time Stopped at Four Boulder Intersections

28th Street  
and   Valmont

Mean Time Spent Stopped at Intersection (seconds)

Broadway 
and Arapahoe

Intersection Direction

Broadway 
and     

Balsam

28th Street  
and   

Arapahoe

Table I-3

Probability of Being Stopped at Four Boulder Intersections

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 421



 

   

Appendix II:  Drive Time 2012 
 
 
 
 

Table II.1 Time Traveled on North-South Corridors, 2012 
 
Table II.2 Stops on North-South Corridors, 2012 
 
Table II.3 Time Stopped on North-South Corridors, 2012 
 
Table II.4 Drive Time by Time of Day, 2012 
 
Table II.5 Ten Worst Intersections by Chances of Being Stopped, 2012 
 
Table II.6 Ten Worst Intersections by Length of Stop, 2012 
 
Table II.7 Ten Best Intersections by Chances of Being Stopped, 2012 
 
Table II.8 Ten Best Intersections by Length of Stop, 2012 
 
Table II.9 Drive Time and Speed between Intersections, 2012 (Broadway North) 
 
Table II.10 Drive Time and Speed between Intersections, 2012 (Broadway South) 
 
Table II.11 Drive Time and Speed between Intersections, 2012 (28th Street North) 
 
Table II.12 Drive Time and Speed between Intersections, 2012 (28th Street South) 
 
Table II.13 Drive Time and Speed between Intersections, 2012 (Foothills North) 
 
Table II.14 Drive Time and Speed between Intersections, 2012 (Foothills South) 
 
 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 422



Mean Total Shortest Longest Trip Distance Average Speed
Trip Time Trip Time Trip Time (miles) (mph)

Broadway
North 16 min 20 sec 13 min 39 sec 21 min 00 sec 6.2 25.4
South 14 min 51 sec 12 min 48 sec 18 min 28 sec 6.2 26.7

28th Street
North 09 min 53 sec 06 min 41 sec 14 min 10 sec 4.2 29.2
South 09 min 15 sec 06 min 31 sec 12 min 16 sec 4.2 28.5

Foothills
North 06 min 31 sec 04 min 54 sec 08 min 09 sec 3.5 35.4
South 06 min 45 sec 04 min 55 sec 08 min 42 sec 3.5 36.3

Mean
Number of Fewest Most Mean Chance Number of

Stops Stops Stops of Stopping Trips

Broadway
North 8.1 4 16 34% 15
South 7.0 5 13 29% 15

28th Street
North 4.7 2 8 47% 15
South 4.5 0 7 45% 15

Foothills
North 1.9 0 4 39% 15
South 2.4 0 6 48% 15

Table II.1:  Time Traveled on North-South Corridors, 2012

Table II.2:  Stops on North-South Corridors, 2012

Note:  For historic comparison, Tables II.1 and II.2 use the historic (shorter) corridor lengths and do not include 
recently added nodes. 

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 423



Mean Percent of Mean Total Shortest Longest
Time Stopped Time Stopped Time Stopped Time Stopped

Broadway
North 24% 04 min 03 sec 01 min 30 sec 08 min 28 sec
South 18% 02 min 46 sec 01 min 14 sec 05 min 29 sec

28th Street
North 26% 02 min 45 sec 00 min 19 sec 05 min 47 sec
South 24% 02 min 23 sec 00 min 00 sec 05 min 09 sec

Foothills
North 17% 01 min 13 sec 00 min 00 sec 02 min 35 sec
South 14% 01 min 01 sec 00 min 00 sec 02 min 30 sec

Table II.3:  Time Stopped on North-South Corridors, 2012

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 424



Mean Total Mean Number Mean Time
Trip Time of Stops Stopped

Broadway North
7:30 AM 14 min 58 sec 5.8 02 min 42 sec

12:00 Noon 15 min 15 sec 7.0 03 min 12 sec
5:00 PM 18 min 47 sec 11.4 06 min 16 sec

Braodway South
7:30 AM 15 min 27 sec 7.8 03 min 02 sec

12:00 Noon 13 min 35 sec 6.0 01 min 59 sec
5:00 PM 15 min 30 sec 7.2 03 min 16 sec

28th Street North
7:30 AM 07 min 48 sec 2.6 01 min 12 sec

12:00 Noon 11 min 21 sec 6.0 03 min 48 sec
5:00 PM 10 min 29 sec 5.6 03 min 14 sec

28th Street South
7:30 AM 07 min 44 sec 3.4 01 min 12 sec

12:00 Noon 09 min 08 sec 4.0 02 min 12 sec
5:00 PM 10 min 54 sec 6.0 03 min 44 sec

Foothills North
7:30 AM 07 min 02 sec 2.8 01 min 30 sec

12:00 Noon 05 min 16 sec 0.6 00 min 16 sec
5:00 PM 07 min 14 sec 2.4 01 min 53 sec

Foothills South
7:30 AM 06 min 26 sec 2.0 00 min 43 sec

12:00 Noon 05 min 43 sec 1.4 00 min 30 sec
5:00 PM 08 min 06 sec 3.8 01 min 50 sec

Table II.4:  Drive Time by Time of Day, 2012

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 425



Intersection Direction Chances of Being Stopped

Foothills @ Valmont Southbound 87%
28th @ Colorado Northbound 80%
28th @ Canyon Southbound 80%
Broadway @ Arapahoe Northbound 80%
Broadway @ University Southbound 80%
Broadway @ Table Mesa Northbound 73%
28th @ Arapahoe Northbound 67%
28th @ Iris/Diagonal Northbound 67%
28th @ Iris/Diagonal Southbound 67%
Broadway @ Iris Northbound 67%

Intersection Direction Mean Length of Stop

28th @ Arapahoe Northbound 01 min 17 sec
28th @ Valmont Northbound 00 min 58 sec
Broadway @ Table Mesa Northbound 00 min 56 sec
Broadway @ Canyon Northbound 00 min 55 sec
28th @ Canyon Southbound 00 min 54 sec
Broadway @ University Northbound 00 min 49 sec
Broadway @ Arapahoe Southbound 00 min 49 sec
Foothills @ Baseline Southbound 00 min 48 sec
28th @ Canyon Northbound 00 min 47 sec
Broadway @ Spruce Southbound 00 min 46 sec

Table II.5:  Ten Worst Intersections by Chances of Being Stopped, 2012

Table II.6:  Ten Worst Intersections by Length of Stop, 2012

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 426



Intersection Direction Chances of Being Stopped

28th @ Kalmia Northbound 0%
28th @ Winding Trail Northbound 0%

28th @ Jay Road Northbound 0%
28th @ Mapleton Southbound 0%
28th @ Walnut Southbound 0%

28th @ Table Mesa Southbound 0%
Broadway @ Dartmouth Northbound 0%

Broadway @ Pennsylvania Northbound 0%
Broadway @ Linden Northbound 0%
Broadway @ Alpine Southbound 0%

Intersection Direction Mean Length of Stop

28th @ Kalmia Northbound 00 min 00 sec
28th @ Winding Trail Northbound 00 min 00 sec

28th @ Jay Road Northbound 00 min 00 sec
28th @ Mapleton Southbound 00 min 00 sec
28th @ Walnut Southbound 00 min 00 sec

28th @ Table Mesa Southbound 00 min 00 sec
Broadway @ Dartmouth Northbound 00 min 00 sec

Broadway @ Pennsylvania Northbound 00 min 00 sec
Broadway @ Linden Northbound 00 min 00 sec
Broadway @ Alpine Southbound 00 min 00 sec

Table II.7:  Ten Best Intersections by Chances of Being Stopped, 2012

Table II.8:  Ten Best Intersections by Length of Stop, 2012

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 427



Mean Speed
From Previous Mean Time
Intersections from

Street Intersection (mph) Previous Intersection

Greenbriar Boulevard n/a n/a
Hanover Avenue 36.2 00 min 56 sec

Table Mesa Drive 18.8 01 min 13 sec
Dartmouth Avenue 38.0 00 min 38 sec

27th Way 32.7 01 min 04 sec
Baseline Road 27.5 00 min 49 sec

Regent Drive 31.7 00 min 38 sec
Euclid Avenue 25.2 00 min 43 sec

College Avenue 28.7 00 min 21 sec
Pennsylvania Avenue 24.9 00 min 17 sec

University Avenue 21.4 00 min 32 sec
Arapahoe Avenue 16.5 01 min 07 sec
Canyon Boulevard 16.0 00 min 47 sec

Walnut Street 21.4 00 min 19 sec
Pearl Street 14.8 00 min 30 sec

Spruce Street 21.5 00 min 16 sec
Pine Street 24.8 00 min 14 sec

North Street 22.6 00 min 53 sec
Alpine Avenue 24.1 00 min 14 sec

Balsam Avenue 17.0 00 min 27 sec
North Boulder Rec. 27.3 00 min 50 sec

Iris Avenue 19.3 01 min 10 sec
Linden Avenue 32.4 00 min 35 sec
Quince Avenue 33.3 00 min 54 sec

Violet Avenue 33.0 00 min 52 sec
Lee Hill Road 25.0 01 min 14 sec

Table II.9:  Drive Time and Speed Between Intersections, 2012

Broadway North

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 428



Mean Speed
From Previous Mean Time
Intersections from

Street Intersection (mph) Previous Intersection

Lee Hill Road n/a n/a
Violet Avenue 26.7 01 min 08 sec

Quince Avenue 30.8 00 min 54 sec
Linden Avenue 31.6 00 min 57 sec

Iris Avenue 30.0 00 min 38 sec
North Boulder Rec. 25.9 00 min 44 sec

Balsam Avenue 24.1 00 min 58 sec
Alpine Avenue 27.8 00 min 11 sec

North Street 26.5 00 min 12 sec
Pine Street 23.6 00 min 53 sec

Spruce Street 20.9 00 min 20 sec
Pearl Street 20.8 00 min 13 sec

Walnut Street 13.2 00 min 31 sec
Canyon Boulevard 12.5 00 min 32 sec
Arapahoe Avenue 20.5 00 min 33 sec
University Avenue 17.4 01 min 04 sec

Pennsylvania Avenue 25.6 00 min 20 sec
College Avenue 27.3 00 min 16 sec

Euclid Avenue 29.7 00 min 20 sec
Regent Drive 27.2 00 min 40 sec

Baseline Road 25.8 00 min 55 sec
27th Way 36.1 00 min 28 sec

Dartmouth Avenue 37.8 00 min 55 sec
Table Mesa Drive 28.4 00 min 58 sec
Hanover Avenue 37.5 00 min 26 sec

Greenbriar Boulevard 40.3 00 min 51 sec

Table II.10:  Drive Time and Speed Between Intersections, 2012

Broadway South

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 429



Mean Speed
From Previous Mean Time
Intersections from

Street Intersection (mph) Previous Intersection

Table Mesa Drive n/a n/a
Colorado Avenue 40.4 02 min 59 sec
Arapahoe Avenue 20.5 01 min 50 sec
Canyon Boulevard 24.3 00 min 40 sec

Walnut Street 31.5 00 min 26 sec
Pearl Street 21.3 00 min 27 sec

Mapleton Avenue 27.9 00 min 29 sec
Valmont Road 20.8 00 min 59 sec

Glenwood Drive 29.7 00 min 32 sec
Iris Avenue 17.3 01 min 05 sec

Kalmia Avenue 35.5 00 min 26 sec
Winding Trail Drive 39.1 00 min 22 sec

Jay Road 40.9 00 min 47 sec

Mean Speed
From Previous Mean Time
Intersections from

Street Intersection (mph) Previous Intersection

Jay Road n/a n/a
Winding Trail Drive 39.2 00 min 50 sec

Kalmia Avenue 32.8 00 min 29 sec
Iris Avenue 21.2 00 min 57 sec

Glenwood Drive 27.7 00 min 34 sec
Valmont Road 25.7 00 min 45 sec

Mapleton Avenue 30.5 00 min 30 sec
Pearl Street 19.4 00 min 50 sec

Walnut Street 28.0 00 min 16 sec
Canyon Boulevard 15.5 01 min 15 sec
Arapahoe Avenue 22.4 00 min 40 sec
Colorado Avenue 27.2 01 min 11 sec
Table Mesa Drive 52.3 02 min 17 sec

Table II.11:  Drive Time and Speed Between Intersections, 2012

28th Street North

Table II.12:  Drive Time and Speed Between Intersections, 2012

28th Street South

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 430



Mean Speed
From Previous Mean Time
Intersections from

Street Intersection (mph) Previous Intersection

Table Mesa Drive n/a n/a
Baseline Drive 33.1 01 min 41 sec

Colorado Avenue 40.1 01 min 03 sec
Arapahoe Avenue 28.3 01 min 09 sec

Valmont Road 34.9 01 min 58 sec
Iris Avenue 44.9 00 min 39 sec

Mean Speed
From Previous Mean Time
Intersections from

Street Intersection (mph) Previous Intersection

Iris Avenue n/a n/a
Valmont Road 23.7 01 min 31 sec

Arapahoe Avenue 38.5 01 min 39 sec
Colorado Avenue 37.5 00 min 46 sec

Baseline Drive 33.6 01 min 29 sec
Table Mesa Drive 39.3 01 min 20 sec

Table II.13:  Drive Time and Speed Between Intersections, 2012

Foothills Parkway 
North

Table II.14:  Drive Time and Speed Between Intersections, 2012

Foothills Parkway 
South

Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

Packet Page 431



 

 

 
 

 

INFORMATION PACKET 

MEMORANDUM 
  

To: Members of City Council 

 

From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

 Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 

 Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 

 Mike Sweeney, Acting Director of Transportation for Public Works 

 Kathleen Bracke, GO Boulder Manager 

 Natalie Stiffler, Transportation Planner II, GO Boulder 

  

Date:   June 16, 2015 

 

Subject: Information Item: Update on Regional Transportation District items 
  

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

The purpose of this Information Item is to provide a brief summary of transit-related items that 

the city is working on with the Regional Transportation District (RTD). City Council members 

and city staff have been coordinating with RTD Board members and staff, along with partner 

agencies (including the US 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition and 36 Commuting 

Solutions), to advance the city’s Transportation Master Plan (TMP) goals. Recent discussion 

topics have included updates on RTD’s fare structure policy and proposed US 36 Bus Rapid 

Transit (BRT) service plan. Additional updates included the changes associated with the opening 

of the Boulder Junction transit station this summer; status of RTD’s work to deploy real-time 

transit information; availability of smart card data; new interregional FLEX Express service; and 

progress to-date on the Communitywide Eco Pass program with Boulder County.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

 

City staff continue to work with RTD to quantify fiscal impacts to community residents, 

businesses and the city organization in response to specific issues and proposals.    

 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 

 Economic: Transportation costs are a significant portion of household expenses and 

important to business competitiveness and employee retention. Providing regional transit 

options is a particularly important for non-resident in-commuters, as it provides alternatives 

to long-distance, single-occupant vehicle (SOV) travel and increases access to jobs for low- 

and moderate-income families. 

Information Packet 2E     Page 1Packet Page 432

https://bouldercolorado.gov/transportation/tmp


 

 Environmental: Regional transit options have the potential to help the city achieve the 

environmental objectives of the TMP objectives by reducing mid- and long-distance SOV 

trips; managing traffic congestion; and significantly reducing air pollution emissions, 

including greenhouse gases (GHGs).  

 Social: Equitable access to mobility is an important goal of the TMP. Improved transit access 

is particularly important to seniors, people with low incomes, and people with disabilities. 

Recent research shows that transit riders tend to walk more and be healthier than auto 

commuters, while neighborhood accessibility is an increasing focus related to public health 

for both children and adults.  

 

BACKGROUND 

 

The City of Boulder continues to partner with RTD to advance the TMP goals and enhance 

access to/from the Boulder community and surrounding region. Working in collaboration with 

the US 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition (MCC)  and 36 Commuting Solutions, the city 

continues to press RTD to provide high-quality local and regional transit service. Ongoing work 

continues to focus on creating world-class Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) infrastructure and service 

along the US 36 corridor that connects to both the downtown Boulder Transit Center and the new 

Boulder Junction transit station. The city continues to push for enhancements to other local, 

regional, and interregional transit routes, as identified in the TMP. 

 

ANALYSIS  

 

RTD Fare Structure Policy 

 

Through the efforts of Mayor Appelbaum and other members of City Council, along with the US 

36 MCC, the RTD Board recently approved an updated fare structure policy that creates better 

alignment among the bus and rail transit fares. Prior versions of the fare policy would have 

disadvantaged local and regional bus service patrons compared with rail patrons. RTD’s new 

distance-based fare policy more equitably sets fares for both rail and bus patrons. The city 

continues to work with RTD to follow through on the next steps in RTD’s fare policy discussions 

regarding updates to the business, neighborhood, and student Eco Pass programs.  

 

RTD’s Proposed US 36 BRT Service Plan 

 

The city, US 36 MCC, and 36 Commuting Solutions are working together to encourage RTD to 

revise the proposed US 36 BRT service plan prior to opening day in January 2016. While RTD’s 

proposed service plan enhances frequency along the US 36 corridor overall, it diminishes 

existing midday express service to/from Denver and downtown Boulder along Broadway, as well 

as reduces Route S service to/from Denver and east Boulder employment areas.   

 

The city, US 36 MCC, and 36 Commuting Solutions are pressing RTD to increase the allocation 

of operating resources from FasTracks funding to the US 36 corridor service so that all existing 

service levels can be maintained, as well as adding new services. In addition, the corridor 

partners are requesting that new service be added to/from Denver and Boulder Junction to 

Information Packet 2E     Page 2Packet Page 433



 

support a wider array of trips by transit, including commute trips as well as off–peak trips and 

service to/from Denver International Airport. So far, the RTD staff has not been supportive of 

the service requests from the US 36 corridor communities. Outreach is continuing with the RTD 

Board members, in particular with RTD Board Chair Chuck Sisk. The RTD Board will be voting 

on the US 36 BRT service plan at their July 28 board meeting. Visit www.GOBoulder.net for 

more information about RTD’s proposed BRT service plan and to view the comments provided 

to-date by the City of Boulder and US 36 MCC. 

  

Boulder Junction Transit Station – Scheduled Opening August 2015 

An exciting milestone for Boulder Junction is the opening of the new underground transit station 

at Depot Square planned for mid-August. Existing transit routes such as the S and HX will begin 

using this underground station when it opens.   

 

This new Boulder Junction transit station includes short-term and long-term bicycle parking and 

other passenger amenities. The city continues to work with Boulder County, RTD, Boulder 

Junction property owners, and Community Cycles to identify the most appropriate site for a 

secure Bus-then-Bike shelter at Boulder Junction to further enhance bicycle parking for transit 

patrons.   

 

A grand opening celebration for Boulder Junction’s transit station is planned for Oct. 24, 2016, 

in coordination with RTD’s other “transit station parties” at each of the BRT stations along the 

US 36 corridor to celebrate the opening day of the US 36 BRT service in January 2016. 

 

Additional RTD Updates 

 

 RTD operations staff continues to work on deploying real-time information to enhance the 

passenger experience. Real-time information will be available through Google Trip Planner 

and RTD’s website in the first and second quarters of 2016. In the second and third quarters 

of 2016, RTD plans to deploy real-time information to RTD’s public information displays, 

which includes the Boulder Junction and downtown Boulder Transit Center stations. The city 

continues to work with RTD and partners to include real-time data for the local HOP bus. 

 RTD introduced smartcards in 2013, using a card-based system provided by Xerox. The 

smartcard system did not have adequate database capacity for the number of cards issued. 

There are currently other issues with recharging cards and inactive cards. RTD is working to 

address these issues with the database and software. RTD plans to implement stored value on 

the smart cards in January 2016. RTD’s smartcard data is anticipated to be available to 

partner agencies by the second half of 2016. 

 The city is working with Boulder County, Longmont, Loveland, Fort Collins/Transfort, and 

RTD to launch a new interregional “FLEX Express” transit service from Fort Collins to 

Boulder, beginning in January 2016. Funding for this new service is being provided through 

Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) grant funding, with Boulder County 

and local jurisdictions jointly contributing to the local match. 

 The city is continuing to work with Boulder County, neighboring communities, and RTD to 

advance analysis of the Communitywide Eco Pass program. More detailed information will 

be provided to council as part of the TMP update in August 2015. 

Information Packet 2E     Page 3Packet Page 434

http://www.goboulder.net/


 

NEXT STEPS 

 

The city will continue working in partnership with RTD and other agency partners to advance 

work in all of these areas. More detailed information will be provided to City Council as part of 

the TMP progress update in August 2015.   

 

The RTD Board meeting regarding the US 36 BRT service plan is scheduled for July 28, 2015. 

Information Packet 2E     Page 4Packet Page 435



 BLA 5.20.2015 DRAFT Minutes 
 Page 1 of 10 

CITY OF BOULDER 
BEVERAGE LICENSING AUTHORITY 

* * * MINUTES * * * 
WEDNESDAY, MAY 20, 2015, 3:00 P.M. 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING – 2ND FLOOR 

1777 BROADWAY, BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION:   Beverage Licensing Authority (BLA) 

DATE OF MEETING:    May 20, 2015 

NAME & PHONE OF PERSON     Mishawn Cook, Licensing Manager (303-441-3010) 
PREPARING SUMMARY:      Kristen Huber, Licensing Specialist (303-441-3034) 
 

NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF, AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 

Board Members: David Timken, Harriet Barker, Lisa Spalding, and Matthew Califano 

Staff Present:  Sandra Llanes, Assistant City Attorney, Mishawn Cook, Licensing Manager, and 
Kristen Huber, Licensing Specialist 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL MEETING OUTLINE OF AGENDA 

 

1. Administrative Board Matters 

i) Member Roll Call 
 
Roll call was taken. A quorum of four BLA members attended with Chair Wallace absent.  
Kristen Huber noted in Chair Wallace’s absence that Vice Chair Timken would conduct 
the hearing. 
 
ii) Election of BLA Chair and Vice Chair 
 
The BLA Members decided to move the election to the hearing on June 17, 2015. 
 
iii) Approval of BLA minutes from April 15, 2015 
 
Member Spalding moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to approve the April 15, 2015 
minutes. Motion approved 4:0. 
 
iv) Hearing agenda issues from licensing clerk 

Packet Page 436



 BLA 5.20.2015 DRAFT Minutes 
 Page 2 of 10 

 
Ms. Huber stated that city licensing staff anticipated a request from JW RAON, LLC d/b/a 
A-OK Liquor to be heard earlier in the agenda order. 
 
Ms. Huber also stated that Bradford Heap, Co-Owner and Managing Member of Pearl 
Dive LLC d/b/a Oyster Road, would not be at the hearing until 6:00 PM. 
 
Member Barker requested to change the agenda order so that Agenda Item 14 could be 
heard after Agenda Item 8 as both agenda items are related to Chau Tam Pho 75 Inc. 
d/b/a Black Pepper Pho. Vice Chair Timken moved, Member Califano seconded, to move 
Agenda Item 14 after Agenda Item 8. 

 
2. Matters from the Boulder Police Department (BPD). 

Officer Daniel Bergh appeared on behalf of the BPD and discussed summons issued for 
fraudulent identification cards in 2014.  

3. Matters from the Responsible Hospitality Group (RHG). 

Mike Absalom provided an update to the BLA on behalf of the RHG. The RHG attendance list 
for April was entered as Agenda Item 3, Exhibit 1. 

4. Show cause hearing concerning a February 13, 2015 violation and whether the Retail 
Liquor Store type liquor license held by Integrity Retail Partners LLC d/b/a Hazel’s 
Beverage World, 1955 28th Street, Boulder, CO 80301, should be suspended or revoked. 

Bruce Dierking, Member/Manager, James Dean, Store Manager, and Carleen Dierking, 
Accountant, were sworn in. Hearing procedures were read. No BLA members disclosed ex-
parte communications or conflicts of interest.  

Lucas Markley, Assistant City Attorney, stated that a stipulation to the facts in this matter 
had been reached. Member Barker moved, Spalding seconded, to accept the stipulation. 
Motion approved 4:0. 

Mr. Dierking, Mr. Dean, and Ms. Dierking provided testimony regarding mitigating evidence. 

The BLA noted substantial mitigating evidence and some aggravating factors. Member 
Barker moved, Califano seconded, to set this violation penalty at 1 suspension day served 
with 8 days held in abeyance. Motion approved 3:1 with Vice Chair Timken opposed. 
 
The licensee requested to serve the 1 suspension day on June 15, 2015. Member Califano 
moved, Spalding seconded, to accept the requested 1 suspension day on June 15, 2015. 
Motion approved 4:0. 
 

Packet Page 437



 BLA 5.20.2015 DRAFT Minutes 
 Page 3 of 10 

5. Show cause hearing concerning a February 13, 2015 violation and whether the Retail 
Liquor Store type liquor license held by Do Sook Kim d/b/a Williams Village Liquors, 655 
30th Street, Boulder, CO 80303, should be suspended or revoked. 

Do Sook Kim, Owner, and So Jeong Kim, employee, were sworn in. Hearing procedures were 
waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest.  

Mr. Markley stated that a stipulation to the facts in this matter had been reached. Member 
Spalding moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to accept the stipulation. Motion approved 
4:0. 

Ms. Do Sook Kim and Ms. So Jeong Kim provided testimony regarding mitigating evidence. 
Copies of TIPS cards were entered as Agenda Item 5, Exhibit 1. 

The BLA noted mitigating and aggravating factors. Member Barker moved, Califano 
seconded, to set this violation penalty at 3 suspension days served with 6 days held in 
abeyance. Motion approved 4:0. 

The licensee requested to serve the 3 suspension days from June 8 to June 10, 2015. 
Member Barker moved, Spalding seconded, to accept the requested 3 suspension days from 
June 8 to June 10, 2015. Motion approved 4:0. 

6. Show cause hearing concerning a February 13, 2015 violation and whether the 3.2% Beer 
Off Premise type liquor license held by Rhymer Retail Inc. & 7 Eleven Inc. d/b/a 7-Eleven 
Store 35069 A, 1091 13th Street, Boulder, CO 80302, should be suspended or revoked. 

Brock Rhymer, President and Registered Manager, was sworn in. Hearing procedures were 
waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest.  

Mr. Markley stated that a stipulation to the facts in this matter had been reached. Member 
Barker moved, Califano seconded, to accept the stipulation. Motion approved 4:0.  

Mr. Rhymer provided testimony regarding mitigating evidence. 

The BLA noted mitigating and aggravating factors. Member Spalding moved, Vice Chair 
Timken seconded, to set this violation penalty at 4 suspension days served with 10 days held 
in abeyance. Motion approved 4:0. 

The licensee requested to serve the 4 suspension days from June 1 to June 4, 2015. The BLA 
moved to accept the requested 4 suspension days from June 1 to June 4, 2015. Motion 
approved 4:0. 

7. Show cause hearing concerning a February 13, 2015 violation and whether the Retail 
Liquor Store type liquor license held by Boulder Wine Merchants, Ltd d/b/a Boulder Wine 
Merchant, 2690 Broadway, Boulder, CO 80304, should be suspended or revoked. 

Packet Page 438



 BLA 5.20.2015 DRAFT Minutes 
 Page 4 of 10 

Brett Zimmerman, Co-Owner, and Jennifer Zimmerman, Co-Owner, were sworn in. Hearing 
procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts 
of interest.  

Mr. Markley stated that a stipulation to the facts in this matter had been reached. Member 
Spalding moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to accept the stipulation. Motion approved 
4:0.  

Mr. Zimmerman and Ms. Zimmerman provided testimony regarding mitigating evidence. 

The BLA noted substantial mitigating and some aggravating factors. Member Barker moved, 
Member Califano seconded, to set this violation penalty at 1 suspension day served with 8 
days held in abeyance. Motion approved 3:1 with Vice Chair Timken opposed. 

The licensee requested to serve the 1 suspension day on June 1, 2015. Member Spalding 
moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to accept the requested 1 suspension day on June 1, 
2015. Motion approved 4:0. 

8. Show cause hearing concerning a February 20, 2015 violation and whether the Temporary 
Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license held by Chau Tam Pho 75 Inc. d/b/a Black Pepper 
Pho, 2770 Pearl Street, Suite B, Boulder, CO 80302, should be suspended or revoked. 

Hong Tam Nguyen, President, and Chau Ta, Vice President, were sworn in. Hearing 
procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts 
of interest.  
 
Mr. Markley stated that a stipulation to the facts in this matter had been reached. Member 
Barker moved, Califano seconded, to accept the stipulation. Motion approved 4:0.  
 
Mr. Nguyen and Ms. Ta provided testimony regarding mitigating evidence. 
 
The BLA noted mitigating and aggravating factors. Member Barker moved, Spalding 
seconded, to set this violation penalty at 3 suspension days served with 11 days held in 
abeyance. Motion approved 3:1 with Vice Chair Timken opposed. 
 
The licensee requested to serve the 3 suspension days from June 1 to June 3, 2015. Member 
Barker moved, Spalding seconded, to accept the requested 3 suspension days from June 1 to 
June 3, 2015. Motion approved 4:0. 

 
9. Public Hearing and Continued Consideration of whether there is good cause for a non-

renewal of a January 15, 2015 application from Running Deer LLC d/b/a Volta, 2480 
Canyon Boulevard, Unit M-1, Boulder, CO 80301; Jonathan Deering, Co-owner, Managing 
Member and Registered Manager, Eleni Deering, Co-owner and Managing Member, 
Robert Deering, Co-owner and Managing Member, Bonnie Deering, Co-owner and 
Managing Member, with no other owners over a 10% interest; with a premise business 
mailing address, for a renewal of a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license. 

Packet Page 439



 BLA 5.20.2015 DRAFT Minutes 
 Page 5 of 10 

The licensee did not appear for the hearing. Member Spalding moved, Califano seconded, to 
continue this Agenda Item to the BLA hearing on June 17, 2015. Motion approved 4:0. 

10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a July 21, 2014 application from JTR Boulder, LLC 
d/b/a World of Beer, 921 Pearl Street, Boulder, CO 80302; Jason Rappaport, 50% Co-
owner, Member, and Registered Manager, and Alexander Rappaport, 50% Co-owner and 
Member; with a business mailing address of 660 S. Colorado Blvd., Denver, CO 80246, for a 
Transfer of a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license.   

Ms. Huber stated that a memorandum from Jon Stonbraker regarding the Preliminary 
Findings was entered as Agenda Item 10, Exhibit 1 and a premise diagram was entered as 
Agenda Item 10, Exhibit 2. Ms. Huber noted that licensing staff received an updated lease 
agreement. Ms. Huber also noted that the BLA packet included an email from a neighbor of 
the applicant. 

Jon Stonbraker appeared as the licensee’s attorney and requested that the evidence for 
Agenda Item 10 and Agenda Item 11 be heard concurrently. 

Jason Rappaport, Co-owner and Registered Manager, and Tina Scott, petitioner with 
Oedipus Inc., were sworn in and confirmed the ten day premise posting under oath. Hearing 
procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts 
of interest. No third parties requested interested party status and no public comments were 
received. 

Mr. Rappaport provided testimony regarding the transfer and modification applications. Ms. 
Scott provided testimony regarding the neighborhood petition results for the modification 
application. 

Ms. Llanes noted that the zoning form for the modification application would supersede the 
zoning form for the transfer application. 

Member Barker moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to approve this transfer application for 
a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 

11. Public Hearing and Consideration of a July 21, 2014 application from JTR Boulder, LLC 
d/b/a World of Beer, 921 Pearl Street, Boulder, CO 80302; Jason Rappaport, 50% Co-
owner, Member, and Registered Manager, and Alexander Rappaport, 50% Co-owner and 
Member; with a business mailing address of 660 S. Colorado Blvd., Denver, CO 80246, for a 
Permanent Modification of a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license.  

Jon Stonbraker appeared as the licensee’s attorney and the evidence for this Agenda Item 
was heard concurrently with Agenda Item 10. 

Ms. Huber stated that an email from City of Boulder Planning and Development Services 
regarding the Use Review disposition was entered as Agenda Item 11, Exhibit 1. 

Packet Page 440



 BLA 5.20.2015 DRAFT Minutes 
 Page 6 of 10 

Member Barker moved, Califano seconded, to approve this application for a Permanent 
Modification of a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 

12. Public Hearing and Consideration of a December 15, 2014 application from Boulder Beer 
Inc. d/b/a Boulder Beer Company, 2880 Wilderness Place, Boulder, CO 80301; Jeffrey 
Brown, President, Co-owner and Registered Manager, Diane Greenlee, Vice President and 
Co-owner, Gina Day, Co-owner, and David Zuckerman, Co-owner; with a premise business 
mailing address, for a Permanent Modification of a Brew Pub type liquor license.   

Jeff Brown, President and Co-owner, was sworn in and confirmed the ten day premise 
posting under oath. Tina Scott remained sworn in for Agenda Item 10 and 11. Hearing 
procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts 
of interest. No third parties requested interested party status and no public comments were 
received. 

Mr. Brown provided testimony regarding the modification application. Ms. Scott provided 
testimony regarding the neighborhood petition results. 

Member Spalding moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to approve this application for a 
Permanent Modification of a Brew Pub type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 

13. Public Hearing and Continued Consideration of a December 22, 2014 application from 
Green Rush Café, LLC d/b/a Green Rush Café, 2018 Broadway, Boulder, CO 80302; Gregory 
DiSilvestri, CEO and Co-owner, Rod Feiner, COO, Co-owner, and Registered Manager, and 
Stephen Replin, Investor, with no other owners over a 10% interest; with a premise 
business mailing address, for a Transfer of a Beer & Wine type liquor license.   

Ms. Huber stated that the applicant had submitted an amended state application, financial 
statement, Individual History Record, and corporate documents due to a change in 
ownership and these documents were entered as Agenda Item 13, Exhibit 1. Ms. Huber also 
stated that licensing staff had not received a fingerprint card for the new owner or a 
complete lease agreement and therefore the application was incomplete. 

Rod Feiner, COO, Co-owner, and Registered Manager, was sworn in and confirmed the ten 
day premise posting under oath. Hearing procedures were waived. No BLA members 
disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest. No third parties requested 
interested party status and no public comments were received. 

Mr. Feiner requested that this Agenda Item be heard later in the hearing so that he could 
contact the co-owners and decide whether to request a continuance or withdraw the 
application.  

This Agenda Item was heard after Agenda Item 18. Mr. Feiner remained sworn in and 
requested a continuance to the BLA hearing on June 17, 2015.  

Member Spalding moved, Califano seconded, to continue this Agenda Item to the BLA 
hearing on June 17, 2015. Motion approved 4:0. 

Packet Page 441



 BLA 5.20.2015 DRAFT Minutes 
 Page 7 of 10 

14. Public Hearing and Consideration of a January 29, 2015 application from Chau Tam Pho 75 
Inc. d/b/a Black Pepper Pho, 2770 Pearl Street, Suite B, Boulder, CO 80302; Hong Tam 
Nguyen, President, 50% Owner, and Registered Manager, and Chau Ngoc Ta, Vice 
President and 50% Owner; with a premise business mailing address, for a Transfer of a 
Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license.   

This Agenda Item was heard after Agenda Item 8. 

Hong Tam Nguyen, President, and Chau Ta, Vice President, continued being sworn in from 
Agenda Item 8 and confirmed the ten day premise posting under oath. Hearing procedures 
were read. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest. No 
third parties requested interested party status and no public comments were received. 

Mr. Nguyen and Ms. Ta provided testimony regarding the transfer application. 

Member Barker moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to approve this transfer application for 
a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 

15. Public Hearing and Consideration of a February 17, 2015 application from Makin Moves 
LLC d/b/a Cheba Hut Toasted Subs, 1315 College Avenue, Boulder, CO 80302; Seth Larsen, 
Member and Registered Manager, and Matthew Clark-Johnson, Member; with a premise 
business mailing address, for a Permanent Modification of a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor 
license.   

Seth Larsen, Member and Registered Manager, Matthew Clark-Johnson, Member, and Carol 
Johnson, petitioner with Esquire Petitioning Services, were sworn in and confirmed the ten 
day premise posting under oath. Hearing procedures were waived. No BLA members 
disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest. No third parties requested 
interested party status and no public comments were received. 

Mr. Larsen and Mr. Clark-Johnson provided testimony regarding the modification 
application. Ms. Johnson provided testimony regarding the neighborhood petition results. 

Member Barker moved, Member Califano seconded, to approve this application for a 
Permanent Modification of a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 

16. Public Hearing and Consideration of a March 16, 2015 application from JW RAON, LLC 
d/b/a A-OK Liquor, 2690 28th Street, Unit A, Boulder, CO 80301; Jin Hee Kim, Owner, 
Member, and Registered Manager; with a premise business mailing address, for a Transfer 
of a Retail Liquor Store type liquor license. 

Jin Hee Kim, Owner, Member, and Registered Manager, and Cheor Le, Interpreter, were 
sworn in and confirmed the ten day premise posting under oath. Hearing procedures were 
waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest. No 
third parties requested interested party status and no public comments were received. 

Ms. Kim provided testimony regarding the transfer application.  

Packet Page 442



 BLA 5.20.2015 DRAFT Minutes 
 Page 8 of 10 

Member Spalding moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to approve this application for a 
transfer of a Retail Liquor Store type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 

17. Public Hearing and Consideration of a March 16, 2015 application from Food Lab LLC d/b/a 
Food Lab, 1825 Pearl Street, Unit A, Boulder, CO 80302; Casey Easton, 100% Owner and 
Manager; with a business mailing address of 2100 Orchard Avenue, Boulder, CO 80304, for 
a New Beer and Wine type liquor license. 

Casey Easton, Owner and Manager, was sworn in and confirmed the ten day premise posting 
under oath. Hearing procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte 
communications or conflicts of interest. No third parties requested interested party status 
and no public comments were received. 

Ms. Easton provided testimony regarding the application and petition results.  

Member Spalding moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to approve this application for a 
New Beer and Wine type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 

18. Public hearing and consideration of a March 25, 2015 application from Pearl Dive, LLC 
d/b/a Oyster Road, 1043 Pearl Street, Boulder, CO 80302; Bradford Heap, Co-owner and 
Managing Member, Carol Vilate, Co-owner and Member, and Camille Bradbury, Registered 
Manager; with a premise business mailing address, for a Permanent Modification of  
Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license. 

Bradford Heap, Co-Owner and Managing Member, was sworn in and confirmed the ten day 
premise posting under oath. Hearing procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed 
ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest. No third parties requested interested party 
status and no public comments were received. 

Mr. Heap provided testimony regarding the modification application and petition results.  

Member Barker moved, Member Califano seconded, to approve this application for a 
Permanent Modification of a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 

19. Matters from the Assistant City Attorney 
 
No matters were discussed. 

 
20. Matters from the Licensing Clerk 
 

Ms. Huber stated that an email from Mishawn Cook regarding House Bill 15-1217 was 
entered as Agenda Item 20, Exhibit 1, and an email from Chair Wallace regarding his 
absence from the hearing was entered as Agenda Item 20, Exhibit 2.  
 
A. Neighborhood boundary settings for application for June 17, 2015 BLA hearing 

 

Packet Page 443



 BLA 5.20.2015 DRAFT Minutes 
 Page 9 of 10 

i) 4871 Broadway, Inc. d/b/a The Bustop – Permanent Modification of a 
Tavern type liquor license at 4871 N Broadway, Boulder, CO 80304 
 
The following neighborhood boundaries were discussed: Boulder city limits 
on the North, Linden Avenue on the South, US Highway 36 on the East, and 
Boulder city limits on the West. Member Spalding moved, Barker seconded, 
to set the neighborhood boundaries for this application as described above. 
Motion approved 4:0. 

ii) Voss Home LLC d/b/a Voss Art & Home – New Art Gallery Permit type 
liquor license at 1537 Pearl Street, Boulder, CO 80302 
 
The following neighborhood boundaries were discussed: Maxwell Avenue 
Extended on the North, Arapahoe Avenue on the South, Folsom Street on 
the East, and 9th Street on the West. Member Spalding moved, Barker 
seconded, to set the neighborhood boundaries for this application as 
described above. Motion approved 4:0. 

B. Informational items 
 

i) May Special Events and Temporary Modifications 
 
This material was stated to be in the hearing packet. 

ii) May Liquor License renewal mailing list 
 
This material was stated to be in the hearing packet. 

iii) Email from Kelly Haralson regarding compliance checks conducted by the 
Liquor Enforcement Division 
 
This material was stated to be in the hearing packet. 

iv) Emails from Michele Lamb regarding tentative dates and topics for the 
BLA retreat to be held on Thursday, June 11, 1-5 pm 
 
This material was stated to be in the hearing packet. 

v) Letters from Mishawn Cook and copies of state inspection reports for 
the following licensees: Amante Uptown, North Boulder Liquor, Reds 
Liquor, and Pupusas Sabor Hispano 
 
This material was stated to be in the hearing packet. 

Packet Page 444



 BLA 5.20.2015 DRAFT Minutes 
 Page 10 of 10 

vi) Emails and letters from Mishawn Cook and city residents regarding an 
event at Voodoo Hair Lounge on April 25, 2015 
 
This material was stated to be in the hearing packet. The BLA requested to 
schedule Voodoo Hair Lounge for non-administrative processing at the 
time of their next renewal. 

vii) Email from Mishawn Cook regarding new Distillery Pub license class and 
a copy of the Distillery Pub Bill 
 
This material was stated to be in the hearing packet. Ms. Cook noted that 
for state license applications such as breweries, wineries, and distilleries, 
local licensing authorities could provide input to the state regarding these 
applications but it appears that a local public hearing would not be 
allowed.  

21. Matters from the Chair and Members of the Authority   
 
Member Timken discussed the Felony DUI bill and a bill allowing people on probation to 
obtain and use medical marijuana cards. 

The BLA discussed agenda topics for the BLA retreat on June 11, 2015.  

ADJOURNMENT   

Member Spalding moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to adjourn the meeting. Motion 
approved 4:0, thus the hearing was adjourned at 8:15 p.m.  

TIME AND LOCATION OF FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL HEARINGS: 

3rd Wednesday of every Month at 3PM in City Council Chambers for 2015. 
 

Attested:  Approved: 
 

 
 

 

Mishawn J. Cook, Tax and License Manager     Vice Chair of Beverage Licensing Authority 
 

Packet Page 445



Packet Page 446



Packet Page 447



Packet Page 448



Packet Page 449



Packet Page 450



Packet Page 451



Packet Page 452



Packet Page 453



Packet Page 454



 

 

CITY OF BOULDER  
LANDMARKS BOARD  

June 3, 2015 
1777 Broadway, Council Chambers Room 

6 p.m. 
 
The following are the “unapproved and unsigned” action minutes of the June 3, 2015 City of 
Boulder Landmarks Board meeting. A digital recording and a permanent set of these minutes 
(maintained for a period of seven years) are retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-
3043).  You may also listen to the recording on-line at: www.boulderplandevelop.net. 
 
BOARD MEMBERS:   
Kate Remley, Acting Chair 
Mike Schreiner 
Fran Sheets 
Deborah Yin 
*John Gerstle  *Planning Board representative without a vote 
  
STAFF MEMBERS: 
Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 The roll having been called, Acting Chair K. Remley declared a quorum at 6:03 p.m. and the 
 following business was conducted.  
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

On a motion by K. Remley, seconded by M. Schreiner, the Landmarks Board approved (4-
0) the minutes of the May 6, 2015 board meeting.  
 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 

4. DISCUSSION OF LANDMARK ALTERATION AND DEMOLITION 
APPLICATIONS ISSUED AND PENDING 
• Statistical Report 

 
5.   ACTION ITEMS 
A.  Public hearing and consideration of an application to designate the building and 

property at 2245 Pine St. as a local historic landmark per Section 9-11-5 of the Boulder 
Revised Code, 1981 (HIS2013-00206).  Applicant/Owner: Kegan and Suzanna Paisley. 

 
Motion  
On a motion by M. Schreiner, seconded by  F. Sheets, the Landmarks Board voted (4-0) with a 
recommendation to designate the property at 2245 Pine St. as a local historic landmark, to be 

Packet Page 455

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/


 

 

known as the Ravenscraft House, finding that it meets the standards for individual landmark 
designation in Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 1981, and adopts the staff memorandum dated 
August 6, 2014 as the findings of the board.  
 
 
B. Public hearing and consideration of issuance of a demolition permit for the house 

located at 1420 Bluebell Ave., a non-landmarked building over 50 years old, pursuant 
to Section 9-11-23 of the Boulder Revised Code (HIS2015-00050).  Applicant/Owner: 
John and Denise Frontczak. 

 
Motion 
On a motion by F. Sheets, seconded by D. Yin to impose a stay-of-demolition, the vote failed 
(2-2) (K. Remley and M. Schreiner opposed) and, as a result, the permit to demolish the house 
will issue once architectural documentation of the building is undertaken, and certified as 
complete. 
 
6. MATTERS FROM THE LANDMARKS BOARD, PLANNING DEPARTMENT AND 

CITY ATTORNEY 
A. Draft Administrative Rule Clarifying the Demolition Review Process (move forward 

with) 
B. Update Memo 
C.  Subcommittee Update 

1) Demolition Ordinance  
2) Outreach 
3) Potential Historic Districts and Landmarks 
4) Design Guidelines 

 
7. DEBRIEF MEETING/CALENDAR CHECK 
   
8. ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting adjourned at 9:28 p.m. 
 
 
 

Packet Page 456



Packet Page 457



Packet Page 458



Packet Page 459



Packet Page 460



Packet Page 461



Packet Page 462



Packet Page 463



 

CITY OF BOULDER 
BOULDER, COLORADO 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING MINUTES 
To listen to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board meetings in their entirety, please go to the following link: 

www.boulderparks-rec.org 

Name of Board/Commission: Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 
Date of Meeting: April 27, 2015 
Contact Information Preparing Summary: Sally Dieterich 303-413-7242 
Board Members Present: Mike Conroy, Mike Guzek, Marty Gorce, Valerie Yates, Jennifer Kovarik 
Board Members Absent: Kelly Wyatt, Tom Klenow 
Staff Present: Yvette Bowden, Alison Rhodes, Lisa Martin, Kathleen Alexander 
Guests Present: None 
Type of Meeting: Advisory/Regular 
Agenda Item 1: Call to Order  
The meeting was called to order at 6:05 p.m. and the agenda was approved.                                                    
Agenda Item 2: New PRAB Member Introduction and Election of Officers 
Valerie Yates and Jennifer Kovarik were introduced as newly appointed PRAB members. Each was 
administered the oath of office on March 31, 2015 by PRAB secretary Sally Dieterich. 
 
Guzek nominated Conroy for board chair. Gorce seconded the motion. There were no additional 
nominations. The motion passed 5-0 with Wyatt and Klenow absent. 
Gorce nominated Guzek for vice chair. Conroy seconded the motion. There were no additional 
nominations. The motion passed 5-0 with Wyatt and Klenow absent. 
Agenda Item 3: Future Board Items and Tours 

 5/18 PRAB meeting – Greenways CIP for board comment    
 5/18 PRAB meeting – Parks & Recreation Department fees 
 5/18 PRAB meeting – Operating budget update   
 Community touches are listed on page 3 of agenda 
 Update on upcoming tours will be available in the months to come                                              

Agenda Item 4: Public Participation 
1. Charlotte Soreneon, resident, spoke of her belief that the Boulder Parks and Recreation will 

reaffirm its commitment to serve all members of the Boulder community with appropriate 
exercise facilities by ensuring availability of a warm water wellness pool for its “most 
vulnerable” population. 

2. Mary Hey, resident, spoke on the necessity of warm water pool therapy in Boulder. She said the 
message continues to be the same. Boulder needs a pool size warm water pool. She added that the 
Mapleton pool users group have provided a proposal to Parks and Recreation that they urge 
PRAB to consider.  

3. Elizabeth Burr, resident, spoke of her experience using Mapleton pool as part of her physical 
therapy for years. She said the warm water permits her to exercise when she otherwise could not. 
She supports continuation of a warm water therapy pool in Boulder. 

4. Colette Bruegel, non-resident, said she has used the Mapleton warm water therapy pool for years 
to help with back injuries and a degenerative condition of her spine. She also provided a hand out 
to PRAB detailing numerous warm water therapy pools operated by cities throughout the U.S. 
and Canada. 

5. Amy Howard, resident, began using the Mapleton warm water therapy pool after a life 
threatening accident. She said research shows that warm water therapy results in improvability 
and strength across all populations. She urged staff to consider a warm water pool as an element 

Packet Page 464



 

in any parks and recreation strategy. 
6. Nona Gandleman, resident, shared her history of being a tennis pro, backpacker, skier and hiker 

in Boulder since the early 1970’s. All changed in 1999 with a ruptured disc and surgeries. She 
said she began using the Mapleton therapy pool a few years ago which changed her life. She 
added that she hopes there is a way to save this very important resource. 

7. Els Slater, resident, said that all the open space around town is being bought by developers to 
build houses and just on that money it should be possible to keep the therapy pool open. 

8. Dianne Curlette, resident, spoke on the Mapleton therapy pool. She said the Aquatics Feasibility 
Plan as written does not address all parts of the community, but instead has a narrow focus with 
emphasis on the lap swimmers. She said Boulder has a large number of people who need warm 
water therapy pool. She added that a few sentences have been added to the plan that 
acknowledges warm water needs, but the demographics are incorrect in her opinion as they 
include the CU population.  

9. Bill Cohen, resident, explained that he used to play basketball, softball, skied, hiked and biked, 
but now can do none of those activities. He added his only exercise is in the warm water therapy 
pool at Mapleton. He said the user group has submitted a proposed resolution to staff with all 
information derived from the Aquatics Feasibility Plan. He added that the resolution asks staff to 
approach council expressing the need for a warm water therapy pool.  

       
Agenda Item 5: Consent Agenda 

A. Approval of Minutes from March 23, 2015 
Minutes from March 23, 2015 were approved as written. 

B. Parks and Recreation Development Update 
C. Parks and Recreation Operations Update 

Agenda Item 6: Items for Action 
There were no Items for Action. 
Agenda Item 7: Items for Discussion/Information 
There were no Items for Discussion/Information 
 
Agenda Item 8: Matters from the Department 

A. Emerald Ash Borer Update (EAB) 
City Forester Alexander provided this timeline update for 2015.  

 Emerald Ash Borer is an invasive pest 
 Came to the United States from China 
 EAB has killed 70,000,000 ash trees primarily in the Midwest 
 EAB detected in Boulder in fall 2013 
 Boulder County quarantine in place 
 45,000 ash trees in City of Boulder  
 Ash trees not treated with pesticides will eventually die from EAB 
 EAB populations expand exponentially  
 Removal difficult due to fast spreading disease 
 Map provided to PRAB detailing EAB locations in Boulder 
 Treatment with pesticides is necessary with EAB response plan – goals are to slow the spread, 

preserve significant trees and to stage removals over a longer time period 
 Strict treatment criteria - ash trees must be in good health and less than 10” in diameter  
 Long term plan is to treat 25-30% of public ash trees in a three year rotation – approximately 450 

trees per year 
 Goal is to reduce the numbers of trees treated every time there is a new rotation 
B. Aquatics Feasibility Plan Update 

Packet Page 465



 

Rhodes provided this update which included plan goals, needs and recommendations. 
Goals were to establish a condition assessment of existing facilities, determine demand for aquatics 
facilities, and generate studies for aquatics facility development and management/cost estimations. The 
process included online survey, public open houses and workshops that were held in late 2014 and PRAB 
appointment of a liaison to be included in stakeholder meetings. The consultants analysis determined the 
following aquatics needs: 

 An efficient, sustainable and green system 
 Develop a pool allocation policy 
 Increase open lap swimming 
 Offer training facilities 
 Offer competitive facilities 
 Increase entertainment in pools – existing and new 
 Increase warm water wellness opportunities 

In response to increased interest in the City of Boulder providing warm water pool therapy alternatives, 
Rhodes spoke on warm water pool accessibility and how this need might be met in the community. She 
said the pool at the East Boulder Community Center is 90 degrees and currently offers more than ten 
classes per week for warm water fitness.  
 
Bowden added that the Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan was specific in terms of the types 
of facilities that are considered public facilities that we should be managing and that they should be 
flexible spaces that do multiple things. She said that what staff has learned from the process is that 
temperature and depth do matter, which prevents other kinds of programming with the possibility of 
compromised flexibility. She assured all that the department is listening and doing all it can to continue to 
participate in the conversation, address the needs of the community and take care of what we have. 
 
Agenda Item 9: Matters from Board Members 

A. PRAB Member Appointment to the Greenways Advisory Committee (GAC) 
PRAB member Klenow, who previously expressed interest in becoming the PRAB GAC representative, 
was not present at this meeting. Board chair Conroy deferred appointment, giving Klenow first right of 
refusal with the final decision and appointment to be made at the May 18, 2015 meeting. 
Next Board Meeting: May 18, 2015 
Adjourn: There being no further business to come before the board at this time; the meeting was 
adjourned at 8:16 p.m. 
 

Approved by:        Attested: 

_________________________      ________________________ 

Mike Conroy        Sally Dieterich 
Board Chair        Board Secretary   
      

Date _____________________      Date ____________________ 

Packet Page 466



Packet Page 467



Packet Page 468



Packet Page 469



 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING MINUTES 

Name of Board / Commission:  Water Resources Advisory Board 

Date of Meeting: 23 February 2015 

Contact Information of Person Preparing Minutes:  Andrea Flanagan 303.413.7372 
Board Members Present: Vicki Scharnhorst, Mark Squillace, Dan Johnson, Lesley Smith, Ed Clancy 
Board Members Absent: None 
Staff Present:   Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
                          Bob Harberg, Principal Engineer-Utilities 
                          Annie Nobel, Flood and Greenways Engineering Program Coordinator 
                          Bret Linenfelser, Water Quality and Environmental Services Manager 
                          Kurt Bauer, Engineering Project Manager 
                          Russ Sands, Watershed Sustainability and Outreach Supervisor 
                          MaryAnn Nason, Water Conservation Outreach Coordinator 
                          Heidi Hansen, Floodplain and Wetlands Administrator/ Civil Engineer  
                          Edward Stafford, Development Review Manager 
                         Andrea Flanagan, Board Secretary 
Cooperating Agencies Present:  
Monica Bortolini, Consultant with Leonard Rice Engineers, Inc.  
Meeting Type:  Regular  
Agenda Item 1 – Call to Order                                                                                                [7:05 p.m.] 
Agenda Item 2 – Approval of the 26 January 2015 Meeting Minutes:                                [7:06 p.m.]                                                                                                                                                                                                 
Motion to approve minutes as amended from January 26 as presented.  
Moved by: Johnson; Seconded by: Squillace 
Vote: 4:0 (Ed Clancy abstaining) 
Agenda Item 3 – Public Participation and Comment                                                            [7:10 p.m.]  
Public Comment:  
 
Patrick McAteer 
Chief Financial Officer at Frasier Meadows Retirement Community. Campus severely impacted by 2013 
floods, lost about 40% of operating capacity, only half-way returned to normalcy.  Requesting advocacy for 
Frasier Meadows, which is in its 55th year assisting seniors in Boulder. Lost entire bottom level of skilled 
nursing and entire assisted living wing, and much more infrastructure, including independent living 
structures, approximately $7.5 to 10 million in loss.  Here for long-term needs for seniors in Boulder 
community.  They are coming out of the flood and recreating what the organization will provide in the long 
run. Would appreciate continued advocacy of the Board.  
 
Chuck Howe 
Emphasized how severe the effects of the flood were on Frasier Meadows and is here to ask Board to 
promote maximum flood control off Highway 36 and any other alternatives.  Qualla Drive area was badly 
impacted with 100 damaged homes, as well as Frasier Meadows.  On the basis of FEMA’s first ruling, 
Frasier Meadows would be out of the floodplain if they built a retaining wall around its campus.  FEMA 
recently reversed their decision, saying that they would still fall in the floodplain due to two structures 
being out of compliance with construction regulations.  All residents would then be subject to flood 
insurance, with current rates quoted, causing a tremendous impact to residents.  Feels that adequate storage 
around Hwy. 36 would protect the Qualla Drive area and would give grounds for appealing FEMA ruling, 
which has severe implications for Frasier.  Hopes Board will consider the alternative, which would provide 
a legitimate argument to FEMA to have them reconsider their decision.  Final recommendation is to 
consider other alternatives on the other side of Highway 36.   
 
Tom LeMire  
President HOA of 100-unit, 5 building complex, which is about 15 years old, north of Frasier Meadows 
Manner.  As with Frasier, their building was under water during flood, small fraction of loss compared to 
what Frasier endured.  $42,000 worth of electrical damage to meters, with biggest issue being with 
settlement with insurance company.  In their 80-page umbrella insurance document, they didn’t see 
exemption that insurance company found, which stated that they should not be covered for upgrading 
electric meters even though City of Boulder says that meters should be upgraded, per the 2011code.  The 

Packet Page 470



 

insurance company does not cover upgrading, which is a catch-22.  
 
There were so much mechanical repairs and now years of frustrating efforts that require very expensive 
insurance policy. Experienced 3 feet of water that probably came from Bear Creek/ NCAR area.  Asks that 
Board please work with CU to open South Campus for natural retention in large low-lying areas around 
CU.  
 
Rick Mahan  
Member South Boulder Creek Action Group. Wants to reemphasize that the group’s main priority is to stop 
the overtopping of US36 during floods. 
 
Agenda Item 4 - Matters From Staff:                                                                                      [7:21 p.m.]                                                                                                                                                                                                      

a) Update on South Boulder Creek Mitigation Study  
b) Update on National Flood Insurance Program – Community Rating System  
c) 2015 Flood Outreach Program  
d) Water Conservation Program  

Agenda Item 5 – Matters from the Board:                                                                              [8:55 p.m.]                                                                  
 
Board Member Smith brought up the below matter(s): 
• Attended Watershed Forum, which was fantastic and thought-provoking. 
• Feels that the more our public can be educated about water use and average per-capita consumption, 

and the more information people have, the more they may realize that it is a critical resource.  
 
Board Member Johnson brought up the below matter(s): 
• Thanked Board Secretary for receiving the meeting packet in one succinct package this month, as 

opposed to separate documents and attachments.   
• Stated that he will miss April meeting and questioned whether date could be changed?   
• Questioned status of snowpack in the watershed? 

 
Board Member Clancy brought up the below matter(s): 
• Questioned whether the city’s water supply lines’ range of leakage falls between 7% and 14%. 
• Discussed email that was sent to Board about study regarding “submarines” that were sent through 

collection systems and that it would be nice to see this subject revisited by city staff.  
• Questioned if we are going to be doubling our existing collection system rehabilitation efforts. 
• Questions about flow meters that were put in sewage lines and what current infiltration rate is? 
• Questioned if Frasier Meadows is an area that would be metered to determine flows? 
• Questioned conditioning monitors and the status of the “big pipes” in the city’s sewer mains. 
• Questioned if the problem with Casey Middle School is related to sewer main issues?    
 
Agenda Item 6 – Future Schedule                                                                                           [ 9:05 p.m.]  
Several board members expressed interest in rescheduling future meetings due to conflicts.  Staff will 
follow up.   

Adjournment                                                                                                                              [9:07 p.m.]    
There being no further business to come before the Board at this time, by motion regularly adopted, the 
meeting was adjourned at 9:07 p.m. 
Motion to adjourn by: Johnson; Seconded by: Squillace 
Motion Passes 5:0  
Date, Time, and Location of Next Meeting: 
The next WRAB meeting will be Monday, 16 March 2015 at 7:00 p.m., at the City's Municipal Services 
Center, 5050 Pearl St., Boulder, CO 80301 

 
APPROVED BY:      ATTESTED BY: 
_______________________________   __________________________________ 
Board Chair      Board Secretary 
_____________________________                 ___________________________________ 
Date         Date 
 

Packet Page 471



 

An audio recording of the full meeting for which these minutes are a summary, is available on the Water 
Resources Advisory Board web page.  
https://bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/water-resources-advisory-board-next-meeting-agenda-and-packet 
 
 
 

Packet Page 472

https://bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/water-resources-advisory-board-next-meeting-agenda-and-packet


 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING MINUTES 

Name of Board / Commission:  Water Resources Advisory Board 

Date of Meeting: 16 March 2015 

Contact Information of Person Preparing Minutes:  Andrea Flanagan 303.413.7372 

Board Members Present: Vicki Scharnhorst, Mark Squillace, Dan Johnson, Lesley Smith, Ed Clancy 

Board Members Absent: None 

Staff Present:   Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 

                          Bob Harberg, Principal Engineer-Utilities 

                          Annie Nobel, Flood and Greenways Engineering Program Coordinator 

                          Bret Linenfelser, Water Quality and Environmental Services Manager 

                          Kurt Bauer, Engineering Project Manager 

                          Kristin Dean, Utilities Planner 

                          Christin Shepherd, Civil Engineer 

                         Andrea Flanagan, Board Secretary 

Cooperating Agencies Present:  

Craig Jacobson, Consultant with ICON Engineering, Inc.  

Brian Ledoux, Consultant with ICON Engineering, Inc.  

Shea Thomas, Urban Drainage and Flood Control District 

Meeting Type:  Regular  

Agenda Item 1 – Call to Order                                                                                                [7:00 p.m.] 

Agenda Item 2 – Approval of the 23 February 2015 Meeting Minutes:                              [7:01 p.m.]                                                                                                                                                                                                 

Motion to approve minutes as amended from February 23 as presented.  

Moved by: Squillace; Seconded by: Johnson  

Vote: 5:0  

Agenda Item 3 – Public Participation and Comment                                                            [7:05 p.m.]  

Public Comment:  

 

Carl Norby 

Resident of Frasier Meadows. Provided a letter to board secretary that he read aloud to the Board.  August 

28
th

, 2014 the supervisor for C&L to install the last section of sewer line for Frasier Meadows lining 

project. Carl showed the inspector the ground water level line, which is 22 inches below the basement floor 

in his home. The inspector said he would replace the line but not cure it until he was certain that the 

basement would not flood. The pump was turned on and working every few minutes in order to maintain 

the 17 inch water level The ground water level has been stable for the past 40 years. He has experienced 

minimal moisture in the basement area since flood event.  It was recently discovered that groundwater is 

leaking into the base of a nearby manhole due to the increased groundwater levels, causing the water level 

to rise another five inches.  One week ago neighbor’s basement flooded, water entered between wall and 

floor.  Seems logical for something like this to happen again. He requests that a Hydrologist evaluate the 

groundwater in the Frasier Meadows area. 

 

Fleet White 

Basement flooded a week ago. No question in his mind based on behavior of sump pump that ground water 

has risen significantly since last summer.  Likely cause is lining of neighborhood’s sanitary sewer system.  

He attributes rise in groundwater to this.  With recent rapid melt of heavy snow, they had dramatic rise in 

groundwater, as clearly indicated by operation of sump pump.  His understanding is that there was no 

analysis or study on what the hydrological impact would be in the area with the lining of the sanitary sewer.  

Suggests that the city look into this issue further.  Lining the sewer to the homes will likely will have 

further impact on level of ground water.  Requests city give consideration to this impact.  He has a deep 

basement and it’s likely they will experience flooding again in the future. 

 

Rick Mahan 

Representing South Boulder Creek Action Group 

Would like to thank board members who have seen the group’s presentation.  Primary goal is to prevent 

issues to the health and public safety to residents with regard to US36.  Extends invitation to board 

members to view group’s presentation that discusses the overtopping in 2013 at US36 and addresses health 

and public safety concerns.  The presentation’s primary goal is to prevent this from happening again in the 

Packet Page 473



 

future.   

Agenda Item 4 –                                                                                                                         [7:12 p.m.] 

                                                                                                                 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Recommendation to City Council regarding the Upper Goose 

Creek and Twomile Canyon Creek Floodplain Mapping Update  
 

Kurt Bauer and Utilities staff presented the item to the board. 

 

Executive Summary from the Packet Materials: 

The purpose of this memorandum is to provide a brief summary of the history and revised results of the 

Upper Goose Creek and Twomile Canyon Creek floodplain remapping study and request a motion from the 

WRAB to recommend to City Council to adopt the mapping.  The study includes the area located west of 

Folsom Street to the city limits as shown by the blue areas in the figure below: 

 

 
 

The Upper Goose Creek and Twomile Canyon Creek floodplain mapping update began in 2011.  The initial 

draft revised mapping was presented to WRAB in May 2013.   Based on a WRAB recommendation, the 

mapping was remodeled using the new city LiDAR topographic mapping information and presented to 

WRAB on November 17, 2014.    The maps have been further revisited and revised to address issues raised 

by the public and the WRAB including changes to the High Hazard Zone, Conveyance Zone and limited 

changes to the 100-year floodplain.  As a result of these changes, no structures would be located in the 

revised draft High Hazard Zone, 13 structures would no longer be added to the Conveyance Zone and 15 

structures would no longer be added to the 100-year floodplain.  The proposed Upper Goose Creek and 

Twomile Canyon Creek floodplain mapping would result in a net: 

 Decrease of 130 structures identified in the 100-year floodplain; 

 Decrease of 97 structures identified in the Conveyance Zone and; 

 Decrease of 64 structures identified in the High Hazard Zone. 

 

The WRAB review of the floodplain mapping update does not require board members to verify the analysis 

and calculations, but accepts the overall mapping study process and that results are reasonable and 

acceptable.  The WRAB is being asked to make a recommendation to City Council on whether to adopt the 

mapping update and forward it for consideration by FEMA.  

 

WRAB Discussion Included:  

 Commented that staff has listened well to residents’ questions, which is appreciated. 

 Requested further clarification on “roughness coefficient” and how they were developed. 

 Questioned if GIS and standard approaches were used to make selections without doing onsite 

mapping. Asked whether or not fences are mapped. 

 Commented that surprised that the models were one-dimensional and asked if that is the 

recommended approach to mapping for regulatory purposes.   

 Curious about changes with Crestview and Foothills Elementary School and what that means for 

the school with regard to expansion.   

 Reminded audience that the 2013 flood event was a very different scenario then what is being 

mapped in the current study. 

 Questioned related to policy updates that would include the new technology and modeling and 

what that would look like.  

 Questioned whether the model includes the berm in front of Foothills and Crestview Elementary 

Packet Page 474



 

Schools.  

 Questioned whether additional input was received from other firms and incorporated into the 

study. 

 Requested clarification on changes to the high hazard zone with regard to Blue Bell and Gregory 

Canyon models and if they were in fact 1-D models? Questioned if it is likely for a 2-D model to 

be requested as well.   

 Commends staff and feels that the continuous discussions about Twomile Creek mapping has been 

productive and staff has been very responsive throughout this process.  These discussions have put 

us in a much better place to make better informed decisions regarding these important changes.   

 Questioned how the city should proceed with providing information about flood risk, even if they 

are no longer in the floodplain 

 Question about Urban Drainage and if other agencies have experience using the 1-D vs. 2-D 

modeling. Recommends reporting this feedback to FEMA on other agencies’ responses.   

 Question about suggestion by audience member about adding sidewalks on Juniper, Kalmia and 

Linden Ave. and about the possibility of using streets as conveyances?  Requests also doing this 

on Evergreen, if so.     

 Stated that there are multiple ways that residents can collaborate with staff regarding the process 

of tweaking individual site parcels.  

 

Public Comment:  

 

Len Berg 

Has been following procedures over the past 2 years.  Property is not in new flood zone.  Impact financially 

is significant.  Has spent $17,400 on flood insurance over the past 14 years.  Considering the scientific 

research that has been conducted, he implores the Board to get this approved and on to Council so he can 

move on.  He is interested in updating his 16-year old house, but he is experiencing restrictions as to what 

he can do to update it due to this designation. 

 

Jonathan Hager 

Is part of the 275 residents who are being removed from the floodplain mapping.  Excited because there is 

light at the end of the tunnel.  His employer uses LiDAR mapping on transmission lines, which is 

incredibly accurate and cutting edge.  He feels intuitively that his home is not in the floodplain and feels it 

would be unfair to pay flood insurance, so he appreciates Board taking burden off of these 275 residents.   

 

Kirk R. Vincent, PhD 

Has experience as hazard geologist and hydrologist. States that the Two-mile Creek area, west of 

Broadway, between Linden and past Juniper is unique area in town and most resembles an un-urbanized 

state because it does not have any sidewalks or culverts. Uncertainty in knowing where floodwaters will 

actually go. The results could most resemble terrible flood of 1909, as well as in 2013. Floodwaters took up 

a much larger area than what was depicted on the map.  Objection is that the section of the acting channel 

between Kalmia and Broadway is being excluded from the floodplain.  Feels that this would be a nationally 

unprecedented policy change. Encourages the city to designate Linden, Kalmia and Juniper to be the flood 

overflow channel and shunt the water to Broadway, rather than letting floodwater flow through people’s 

back yards and homes. 

 

Peter Mayer 

Spoke to Board in November. Home was touched by water in 2013 and then removed from high hazard 

zone in the reanalysis.  Feels this is a much more fair assessment and is very grateful for the revision. Feels 

that there is still a discrepancy with what he observed in 2013 from what was mapped.  Did research on 1-

dimensional modeling verses 2-dimensional and urges city to utilize both models.  Does not feel there are 

fatal flaws and does not feel this is ever going to be a perfect process.  

 

 

 

John Gerstle 

Has had a variety interactions with staff with regard to this process.  House remained completely dry during 

the flood.  Was interested to find out how their home would be classified in the revised modeling.  Staff 

visited in February and maps were provided showing the status of his house in relationship to the floodplain 

and conveyance zone. He was pleased with the findings, but then in March, they were told that the status 

Packet Page 475



 

had changed and that his home was now in the floodplain again.  Not enough time to act, as he was out of 

town.  Feels it would be premature to adopt these plans now without the ability for those affected to have 

more interaction with staff about these revisions. Requests the option be considered for these residents to 

have more time.   

 

Steve Silberman 

Feels the revised maps are fantastic and his home is now being removed from high hazard and conveyance 

zones.  Residents have not had a chance to talk about the event with each other.  Debris blocked easement 

during the flood.  Residents dug channel so water could drain, which it did once cleared.  Water then 

drained within hours.  Concerned that conveyance drawn for Alpine is too broad on these maps.  It is in the 

city’s best interest to look at the grading in this area and take this into consideration. 

 

Tim Martin 

Lives behind Columbine Elementary.  Received letters in 2013 that their home fell in flood zone. Did not 

observe flooding in the areas of 19
th

, Floral and 20
th

 during the 2013 event.  Based on his experience, his 

home is not in the flood zone.  Thanks the Board for volunteering for this effort.  It is important that people 

know accurately whether or not they fall in the flood zone. Read comments on previous minutes and 

questions whether or not those comments have been addressed.  The majority of the people affected want to 

move forward.  Concerned that FEMA may take up to 3 years to approve this data.  Recommends moving it 

forward quickly.  Heart goes out to residents whose homes are now in the flood zone.   

 

Luciano Mazzaro 

Was in the 100-year floodplain.  Thanks everyone for being honest, as it is very important to say where we 

were before and where we are now.  As an engineer, he knows that this simulation is just a model that will 

never be perfect.  Has no hesitation that a 2-D model would be better than a 1-dimensional model.  States 

that residents should feel good that this process has happened.  This is about safety and he appreciates all 

that the Board has done throughout this process.    

 

Patrick Cameron 

Thanks Board and Kurt for their efforts.  Deck was originally mapped in high hazard zone. Resident 

feedback was very helpful to help mitigate issues on property. The recent decision to remove the deck from 

the high hazard zone makes sense and is impactful.   

 

Julia Hicks 

Huge amount of repairs were done to home due to flood damage.  Experienced massive river in backyard 

and in street, which is partially due to high grade of backyard.  Home is now out of flood zone, which 

makes them happy they don’t have to pay flood insurance, but may be something to consider that their 

home actually did flood during this event. 

 

Jane Monson 

Home was in high hazard zone in the 2014 zoning map.  Received notice right before Christmas that they 

were removed from the high hazard zone as a result of models not correlating.  Would like to remind the 

Board that Wright Water did a study after the flood event and even though this was close-to a 100-year 

flood, their home experienced nothing close to what would be a high hazard experience on their property.  

Very happy to hear that high hazard was taken off property and urges Board to approve this motion.  

 

Motion by: Johnson; Seconded: Squillace 

Vote: 5:0, Motion Passes  

 

Motion to recommend that City Council adopt the Upper Goose Creek and Twomile Canyon Creek 

floodplain mapping update. 

 

Agenda Item 6 – Matters from Staff:                                                                                      [8:48 p.m.]  

 March 17, Council will hold elections for newly appointed WRAB member.   

 Bob Harberg has agreed to take on temporary position with Boulder’s Energy Future project. 

 Douglas Sullivan will become Acting Principal Engineer for Water, Wastewater, and Stormwater  

and Annie Noble will become Acting Principal Engineer for Flood and Greenways, splitting Bob’s 

previous duties. 

 Discussion on future scheduled WRAB meetings and upcoming availability.   

Packet Page 476



 

 Eric Ameigh approached board about public engagement process and requested feedback from 

Board about memos that were sent in February.  Two open house events will be scheduled, with 

the intention of gathering feedback from the public about their utility bills, as well as other general 

feedback.  An additional opportunity for obtaining feedback online for residents who cannot attend 

open houses will be provided.    

Agenda Item 7 – Future Schedule                                                                                            [9:18 p.m.]  

 Due to a high volume of information items projected for the next couple of months, some items 

will be presented only as memos and questions will be discussed under matters.   

April:  

 Annual drought status and water supply update will be presented in the form of a memo 

 Presentation on Capital Improvements Overview 

 Board recommendation on Gregory Creek Mitigation 

 Bear Creek Mitigation will be presented in the form of a memo 

 April will be first meeting for new board member 

 Board will be contacted to determine if a quorum will be met for forthcoming spring and summer 

meetings, otherwise may need to reschedule meetings.   

Adjournment                                                                                                                              [9:22 p.m.]    

There being no further business to come before the Board at this time, by motion regularly adopted, the 

meeting was adjourned at 9:22 p.m. 

Motion to adjourn by: Squillace; Seconded by: Smith 

Motion Passes 5:0  

Date, Time, and Location of Next Meeting: 

The next WRAB meeting will be Monday, 27 April 2015 at 7:00 p.m., at the City's Municipal Services 

Center, 5050 Pearl St., Boulder, CO 80301 

 

APPROVED BY:      ATTESTED BY: 

_______________________________   __________________________________ 

Board Chair      Board Secretary 

_____________________________                 ___________________________________ 

Date         Date 

 

An audio recording of the full meeting for which these minutes are a summary, is available on the Water 

Resources Advisory Board web page.  
https://bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/water-resources-advisory-board-next-meeting-agenda-and-packet 

 

 

 

Packet Page 477

https://bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/water-resources-advisory-board-next-meeting-agenda-and-packet

	00_Agenda  20150616 final 
	3A_20150115_Special Meeting Minutes
	Call to Order
	Public Hearing
	Adjournment

	3B_SS Summary- Financial update
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation
	Attachment A- CC Study Session Summary

	3C_SS Summary- Univ HIll
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation 
	Attachment A- 4/28/15 CC Study Session Summary

	3D_SS-Boulder Energy Future
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation
	Next Steps
	Attachment A- CC Study Session Summary

	3E_SS Summary - Commercial Industrial energy ord
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation, Next Steps
	Attachment A- CC Study Session Summary

	3F_SS Sumary- Resilient Boulder
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation, Background, next Steps
	Attachment A- CC Study Session Summary

	3H_Agr -Museum of Boulder
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Proposed Agreement
	Attachment B- Letter

	3I_Easement disposal of THPThomas Lane 
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Feedback
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Vicinity Map
	Attachment B- Location Map
	Attachment C- PSCo Access- Lower Big Bluestem Trail
	Attachment D- Legal Description

	3J_Water and Wastewater Bonds Reimbrusement Res
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Background, Analysis
	Attachment A- Res No. 1161

	3K_3rd reading Zero Waste Ord
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback, Next Steps
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8045 amended
	Attachment B- City Manager's Rule Outline

	3L_Stormwater Bond Sale Ordinance 
	Agenda Title
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Additional Bond Information
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8051

	3M_ Council Compensation
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Feedback, Background, Analysis
	Matrix of Options
	Untitled
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8052
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8025 Option 2
	Attachment C- Ord No. 8052 Option 3
	Attachment D- Charter Compensation 
	Attachment E- Matrix of Options
	Attachment F- Compensation Survey
	Attachment G- Median Income in Boulder County

	5A_Mobile Home Ordinance 8043
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Input, Background
	Attachment A- Proposed Ord No. 8043
	Proposed Emergency Ord No. 8043
	Attachment C- COB Baseline Inspection Checklist

	5B_Civic Area Master Plan
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback
	Public Process
	Background
	Part I Civic Area MP
	Park Site Plan Update
	Part II Boulder Community Health Broadway Campus
	Future Scenarios Overview
	Next Steps
	Attachment A- Boulder Civic Area Master Plan draft
	Attachment B- Updated Park Site Plan
	Attachment C- Map of COB Facilities
	Attachment D- COB Space Needs Analysis
	Attachment E- Boulder Community Hospital Estimate of costs
	Attachment F- Process and Timeline

	7A_February 19, 2015 Planning Board Meeting-
	Agenda Title

	99_Reference Material for June 16
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. 2015 Work Plan
	3. Key Staff
	4. Council Assignments
	5.  Master Calendar for June 16
	2015 Study Sessions
	July '15
	August '15
	September '15


	20150616_IP_Web
	00 Cover Sheet
	1A  Call Ups 2465 48th Court
	2A Broadway and Yarmouth Intersection Update
	Executive Summary
	Background
	Analysis
	Next Steps

	2B  Occupational Privilege Tax (OPT) aka Head Tax
	Executive Summary
	Questions
	Background and Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A Occupational Privilege Tax
	Attachment B Estemated OPT Revenues

	2C Neighborhood Partnership Grant Program
	Executive Summary
	Background
	Next Steps
	Conclusion
	Attachment A Neighborhood Partnership Program

	2D Update on the Transportation Report on Progress
	Executive Summary
	Impacts and Background
	Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A: Signalized Intersection Level of Service Report
	Attachment B: Drive Time 2014 Report
	Attachment C: Drive Time 2012 Report

	2E  Update on Regional Transportation District items
	Executive Summary
	Fiscal Impact
	Background
	Next Steps

	3A  BLA 20150520
	QUASI-JUDICIAL MEETING OUTLINE OF AGENDA

	3B  Landmark's 20150401
	3C  Landmark's 20150506
	3D  Landmark's 20150603
	1777 Broadway, Council Chambers Room
	6 p.m.
	BOARD MEMBERS:
	STAFF MEMBERS:
	Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney
	James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner
	Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner
	UMotion
	UMotion
	On a motion by UF. SheetsU, seconded by UD. Yin Uto impose a stay-of-demolition, the vote failed (2-2) (K. Remley and M. Schreiner opposed) and, as a result, the permit to demolish the house will issue once architectural documentation of the building ...

	3E  Planning 20150507
	3F  PRAB 20150427
	3G TAB 20150413
	3H  WRAB 20150223
	CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO
	APPROVED BY:      ATTESTED BY:

	3I  WRAB 201503016




